Chinnappan Baskar Shikha Baskar Ranjit S. Dhillon *Editors*

Biomass Conversion

The Interface of Biotechnology, Chemistry and Materials Science



Biomass Conversion

Chinnappan Baskar · Shikha Baskar Ranjit S. Dhillon Editors

Biomass Conversion

The Interface of Biotechnology, Chemistry and Materials Science



Editors Chinnappan Baskar Department of Environmental Engineering and Biotechnology Myongji University San 38-2 Namdong, Cheoin-gu Yongin 449-728 South Korea

Shikha Baskar THDC Institute of Hydropower Engineering and Technology, Tehri Uttarakhand Technical University Dehradun, Uttarakhand India Ranjit S. Dhillon Department of Chemistry Punjab Agricultural University Ludhiana 141004 Punjab, India

ISBN 978-3-642-28417-5 ISBN 978-3-642-28418-2 (eBook) DOI 10.1007/978-3-642-28418-2 Springer Heidelberg New York Dordrecht London

Library of Congress Control Number: 2012933321

© Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg 2012

This work is subject to copyright. All rights are reserved by the Publisher, whether the whole or part of the material is concerned, specifically the rights of translation, reprinting, reuse of illustrations, recitation, broadcasting, reproduction on microfilms or in any other physical way, and transmission or information storage and retrieval, electronic adaptation, computer software, or by similar or dissimilar methodology now known or hereafter developed. Exempted from this legal reservation are brief excerpts in connection with reviews or scholarly analysis or material supplied specifically for the purpose of being entered and executed on a computer system, for exclusive use by the purchaser of the work. Duplication of this publication or parts thereof is permitted only under the provisions of the Copyright Law of the Publisher's location, in its current version, and permission for use must always be obtained from Springer. Permissions for use may be obtained through RightsLink at the Copyright Law.

The use of general descriptive names, registered names, trademarks, service marks, etc. in this publication does not imply, even in the absence of a specific statement, that such names are exempt from the relevant protective laws and regulations and therefore free for general use.

While the advice and information in this book are believed to be true and accurate at the date of publication, neither the authors nor the editors nor the publisher can accept any legal responsibility for any errors or omissions that may be made. The publisher makes no warranty, express or implied, with respect to the material contained herein.

Printed on acid-free paper

Springer is part of Springer Science+Business Media (www.springer.com)

This book is dedicated to our beloved parents Mr. S. Chinnappan & Mrs. Mariya Chinnappan and Mr. Pawan Kumar Sambher & Mrs. Sudesh Sambher

Foreword

Souring prices of petroleum, concern over secured supply beside climate change are major drivers in the search for alternative renewable energy sources. The use of biomass to produce energy is an alternative source of renewable energy that can be utilized to reduce the adverse impact of energy production on the global environment.

Current biomass resources comprise primarily industrial waste materials such as sawdust or pulp process wastes, hog fuel, forest residues, clean wood waste from landfills, and agricultural prunings and residues from plants such as lignocellulosic materials. The increased use of biomass fuels would diversify the nation's fuel supply while reducing net CO_2 production (because CO_2 is withdrawn from the atmosphere during plant growth) and reduce the amount of waste material that eventually ends up in landfills. It is important that biomass uses have a high process efficiency to increase the overall resource productivity from past commercial applications. Biomass is considered carbon neutral because the amount of carbon it can release is equivalent to the amount it absorbed during its lifetime. There is no net increase of carbon to the environment in the long term when combusting the lignocellulosic materials. Therefore, biomass is expected to have a significant contribution to the world energy and environment demand in the foreseeable future.

This new book entitled "Biomass Conversion: The Interface of Biotechnology, Chemistry and Materials Science" assembles 14 chapters authored by renowned specialists. This book provides an important review of the main issues and technologies that are essential to the future success of the production of biofuels, bioenergy, and fine-chemicals from biomass, and the editors and authors are to be applauded for constructing this high quality collection. The scientific and engineering breakthroughs contained in this book are the essential building blocks that construct the foundation and future development of biomass conversion with interface of biotechnology, bioengineering, chemistry, and materials science.

This book therefore reviews the state of the art of biomass conversion, along with their advantages and drawbacks. By disseminating this information more widely, this book can help bring about a surge in investment in the use of these technologies and thus enable developing countries to exploit their biomass resources better and help close the gap between their energy needs and their energy supply.

I am delighted that the editors, Dr. Baskar, Dr. Shikha, and Dr. Dhillon, took their strong involvement in this enterprise, and the authors, whose liberally contributed expertise made it possible and will guarantee success.

March 2012

Prof. D. S. Chauhan Vice Chancellor Uttarakhand Technical University Dehradun, Uttarakhand India

Foreword

High worldwide demand for energy, unstable and uncertain petroleum sources, and concern over global climate change has led to resurgence in the development of alternative energy that can displace fossil transportation fuel. Biomass is considered to be an important renewable source for securing future energy supply, production of fine chemicals and sustainable development.

Having looked at a lot of integrated multi-disciplinary research on biomass conversion into energy and fine chemicals, I was delighted to find that this book does exactly what it says on the cover - it provides a guide to conversion of biomass into energy, biofuels and fine chemicals. This timely book covers many different topics: from biomass conversion to energy, the concept of green chemistry (the applications of ionic liquids for biomass conversion), catalysts in thermochemical biomass conversion, production of biobutanol, bioethanol, bio-oil, biohydrogen and fine chemicals, the perceptive of biorefinery processing and bioextraction. The majority of chapters survey topics that will allow the reader to obtain a greater understanding about biomass conversion and the role of multidisciplinary subjects which include biotechnology, microbiology, green chemistry, materials science and engineering.

I am pleased that the editors took on the challenge to give an excellent overview of the different techniques for biomass conversion applied in academia and industry. Their expertise and their valuable network of contributors have made this volume a highly respected work that has a central place in this series on renewable resources.

National University of Singapore Singapore, February 2012 Dr. Seeram Ramakrishna Professor of Mechanical Engineering and Bioengineering Vice-President (Research Strategy)

Preface

Conventional resources, mainly fossil fuels, are becoming limited because of the rapid increase in energy demand. This imbalance in energy demand and supply has placed immense pressure not only on consumer prices but also on the environment, prompting mankind to look for sustainable energy resources. Biomass is one of the few resources that has the potential to meet the challenges of sustainable and green energy systems. Biomass can be converted into three main products such as energy, biofuels and fine-chemicals using a number of different processes. Today, its a great challenge for researchers to find new environmentally benign methodologies for biomass conversion, which are industrially profitable as well.

This book aims to offer the state-of-the-art reviews, current research and the future developments of biomass conversion to bioenergy, biofuels, fatty acids, and fine chemicals with the integration of multi-disciplinary subjects which include biotechnology, microbiology, energy technology, chemistry, materials science, and engineering.

The chapters are organized as follows: Chaps. 1 and 2 provide an overview of biomass conversion into energy. Chapters 3 and 4 cover the application of ionic liquids for the production of bioenergy and biofuels from biomass (Green chemistry approach towards the biomass conversion). Chapter 5 focuses on the role of catalysts in thermochemical biomass conversion. This chapter also describes the role of nanoparticles for biomass conversion. Chapter 6 gives an overview of catalytic deoxygenation of fatty acids, their esters, and triglycerides for production of green diesel fuel. This new technology is an alternative route for production of carboxyl groups over sulfided catalysts as well as decarboxylation/decarbonylation over noble metal supported catalysts, and catalytic cracking of fatty acids and their derivatives.

The common examples of biofuels are biobutanol, bioethanol, and biodiesel. Biobutanol continuously draws the attention of researchers and industrialists because of its several advantages such as high energy contents, high hydrophobicity, good blending ability, and because it does not require modification in present combustion engines, and is less corrosive than other biofuels. Unfortunately, the economic feasibility of biobutanol fermentation is suffering due to low butanol titer as butanol itself acts as inhibitor during fermentation. To overcome this problem, several genetic and metabolic engineering strategies are being tested. In this direction, Chap. 7 outlines the overview of the conversion of cheaper lignocellulosic biomass into biobutanol.

Chapter 8 discusses some of the strategies to genetically improve biofuel plant species in order to produce more biomass for future lignocellulosic ethanol production. Chapter 9 describes the production of bioethanol from food industry waste. Hydrogen is an attractive future clean, renewable energy carrier. Biological hydrogen production from wastes could be an environmentally friendly and economically viable way to produce hydrogen compared with present production technologies. Chapter 10 reviews the current research on bio-hydrogen production using two-stage systems that combine dark fermentation by mixed cultures and photo-fermentation by purple non-sulfur bacteria.

Organosolv fractionation, one of the most promising fractionation approaches, has been performed to separate lignocellulosic feedstocks into cellulose, hemicelluloses, and lignin via organic solvent under mild conditions in a biorefinery manner. Chapter 11 focuses particularly on new research on the process of organosolv fractionation and utilization of the prepared products in the field of fuels, chemicals, and materials. Production and separation of high-added value compounds from renewable resources are emergent areas of science and technology with relevance to both scientific and industrial communities. Lignin is one of the raw materials with high potential due to its chemistry and properties. The types, availability, and characteristics of lignins as well as the production and separation processes for the recovery of vanillin and syringaldehyde are described in Chap. 12.

The production of consistent renewable-based hydrocarbons from woody biomass involves the efficient conversion into stable product streams. Supercritical methanol treatment is a new approach to efficiently convert woody biomass into bio-oil at modest processing temperatures and pressures. The resulting bio-oil consisted of partially methylated lignin-derived monomers and sugar derivatives which results in a stable and consistent product platform that can be followed by catalytic upgrading into a drop-in-fuel. The broader implications of this novel approach to obtain sustainable bioenergy and biofuel infrastructure is discussed in Chap. 13.

Industrialization and globalization is causing numerous fluctuations in our ecosystem including increased level of heavy metals. Bioextraction is an alternative to the existing chemical processes for better efficiency with least amount of by-products at optimum utilization of energy. The last chapter provides an overview of bioextraction methodology and its associated biological processes, and discusses the approaches that have been used successfully for withdrawal of heavy metals using metal selective high biomass transgenic plants and microbes from contaminated sites and sub grade ores.

This book is intended to serve as a valuable reference for academic and industrial professionals engaged in research and development activities in the emerging field of biomass conversion. Some review chapters are written at an introductory level to attract newcomers including senior undergraduate and graduate students and to serve as a reference book for professionals from all disciplines. Since this book is the first of its kind devoted solely to biomass conversion, it is hoped that it will be sought after by a broader technical audience. The book may even be adopted as a textbook/reference book for researchers pursuing energy technology courses that deal with biomass conversion.

All chapters were contributed by renowned professionals from academia and government laboratories from various countries and were peer reviewed. The editors would like to thank all contributors for believing in this endeavor, sharing their views and precious time, and obtaining supporting documents. Finally, the editors would like to express their gratitude to the external reviewers whose contributions helped improve the quality of this book.

February 2012

Dr. Chinnappan Baskar Dr. Shikha Baskar Dr. Ranjit S. Dhillon

Acknowledgments

Words are compendious in expressing our deep gratitude and profound indebtedness to Prof. D. S. Chauhan, Vice Chancellor, Uttarakhand Technical University, Dehradun for his dexterous guidance, invaluable suggestions and perceptive enthusiasm which enabled us to accomplish this project. His association, inspiration, constructive criticism and encouragement throughout the period of our academic and our personal life, especially for the time spent in informal discussions have all been a valuable part of our learning experience.

We accord our cordial thanks to Prof. Wook-Jin Chung (Director, Energy and Environment Fusion Technology Center, Myongji University, South Korea) and Prof. Hern Kim (Department of Environmental Engineering and Energy, Myongji University, South Korea) for their timely support and suggestions during our stay at Myongji University.

We owe our sincere thanks to Prof. Seeram Ramakrishna, Vice-President (Research Strategy), National University of Singapore for his motivation. Our heartfelt thanks to Mr. A. L. Shah, Director, THDC Institute of Hydropower Engineering and Technology, Tehri (Constitute Institute of Uttarakhand Technical University) for his encouragement.

We would like to thank the production team at Springer-Verlag Heidelberg, particularly Dr. Marion Hertel, Beate Siek, Elizabeth Hawkins, Birgit Münch and Tobias Wassermann for their patience, help and suggestions.

We extend our sincere gratitude, love, and appreciation to our family members, especially parents, Mr. Chinnappan, Mrs. Mariya, Mr. Pawan Kumar Sambher and Mrs. Sudesh Sambher, brother Doss Chinnappan, and sister Amutha Chinnappan (Department of Environmental Engineering and Energy, Myongji University, South Korea) for their support throughout this book project. We are also indebted to our sons Suvir Baskar and Yavin Baskar, who missed our company in many days, we were working on this project. We hope they will appreciate this effort when they grow up. This book is also dedicated to my late brother, Julian Chinnappan.

As editors we bear responsibility for all interpretations, opinions and errors in this work. We welcome valuable comments and suggestions from our readers.

February 2012

Dr. Chinnappan Baskar E-mail: baskarc@yahoo.com; Website: www.baskarc.com

Dr. Shikha Baskar

Contents

1	Bion	nass Conversion to Energy	1
	1.1	Introduction	1
	1.2	Biomass and Energy Generation	4
		1.2.1 Methods of Biomass Conversion	7
		1.2.2 Conversion of Biomass to Biofuels:	
		The Biorefinery Concept	56
		1.2.3 Biomass Conversion into Electricity	79
	1.3	Economics and Modeling of Biomass Conversion Processes	
		to Energy	84
	1.4	Future of Biomass Conversion into Energy	87
	Refe	rences	38
2	Bion	nass Energy	91
	2.1	Introduction	91
	2.2	Energy Plantation	93
	2.3	Biomass Production Techniques	94
	2.4	Biomass Conversion Processes	95
		2.4.1 Direct Combustion Processes	96
		2.4.2 Thermochemical Process	97
	2.5	Types of Gasifiers 10	02
		2.5.1 Updraught or Counter Current Gasifier 10	02
		2.5.2 Downdraught or Co-Current Gasifiers 10	02
		2.5.3 Cross-Draught Gasifier 10	03
		2.5.4 Fluidized Bed Gasifier 10	03
		2.5.5 Other Types of Gasifiers 10	04
	2.6	Briquetting	04
		2.6.1 Screw Press and Piston Press Technologies 10	04
		2.6.2 Compaction Characteristics of Biomass and	
		Their Significance 10	07

	2.7	Anaerobic Digestion	109
		2.7.1 Batch or Continuous	112
		2.7.2 Temperature	113
		2.7.3 Solids	113
		2.7.4 Number of Stages	114
		2.7.5 Residence	115
		2.7.6 Feedstocks	115
	2.8	Methane Production in Landfills.	116
	2.9	Ethanol Fermentation	117
	2.10	Biodiesel	119
	2.11	First-Generation Versus Second-Generation Technologies	120
	2.12	Conclusion.	121
	Refer	ences	122
2	Tion	andlulars Dustriation of the Issuid of A Duswising Start	
3	Doint	tor Bio operate Production	122
	2 1		123
	3.1	Innoduction	123
	5.2	3.2.1 Relationship Retween Ionic Liquids' Structure	124
		and Solubility	125
		3.2.2 Molecular Level Understanding of the Interaction	125
		of Ionic Liquids and Lignocellulose: The Key	
		for Lignocellulose Pretreatment	126
	33	Toward Better Understanding of the Wood Chemistry	120
	5.5	in Ionic Liquids	128
	34	Ionic Liquids Pretreatment Technology for Enzymatic	120
	5.1	Production of Monosugars	130
	35	Ionic Liquids Pretreatment Technology for Chemical	150
	5.5	Production of Monosugars	132
	36	Enzymatic Compatible Ionic Liquids for Biomass	102
	010	Pretreatment	138
	3.7	Conclusions and Prospects.	140
	Refer	ences	140
4	Appli	ication of Ionic Liquids in the Conversion of Native	
	Ligno	ocellulosic Biomass to Biofuels	145
	4.1	Introduction	145
	4.2	Pretreatment of Native Biomass	146
		4.2.1 Cellulose and Lignin Composition in Biomass	146
		4.2.2 Dissolution of Biomass in Ionic Liquids	147
		4.2.3 Effect of Ionic Liquid Chemical Composition	149
		4.2.4 Effect of Temperature	150
		4.2.5 Effect of Density	151
		4.2.6 V1scosity	151

5

	4.2.7	Acid Hydrolysis	152
	4.2.8	Catalysts	153
	4.2.9	Pretreatment with Ammonia	153
	4.2.10	Microwave Heating and Ultrasounds	154
	4.2.11	Biomass Size Reduction	154
	4.2.12	Comparison with Other Pretreatments	155
	4.2.13	Water Adsorption as an Issue.	155
	4.2.14	Presence of Impurities	156
4.3	Mecha	nism of Delignification and Cellulose Dissolution	157
	4.3.1	Analytical Techniques	157
	4.3.2	Purified Cellulose Substrates and Lignin Models	159
	4.3.3	Swelling	160
	4.3.4	Regeneration and Reduction of Cellulose	
		Crystallinity	160
	4.3.5	Hydrogen Bonding	161
	4.3.6	Empirical Solvent Polarity Scales	163
4.4	Compa	atibility with Cellulases.	165
	4.4.1	General Toxicity of Ionic Liquids.	165
	4.4.2	Deactivation of Cellulases in ILs	165
	4.4.3	Temperature and pH Dependence of Cellulase	
		Activity.	167
	4.4.4	Effect of High Pressure	168
	4.4.5	Identification of Cellulases Resistant	
		to Ionic Liquids	169
	4.4.6	Designing New Ionic Liquids Suitable for	
		Cellulose Dissolution and Cellulase Activity	169
	4.4.7	Stabilization of Cellulases in Microemulsions	
		and by Immobilization	170
4.5	Recycl	ing	171
	4.5.1	How Green are ILs?	171
	4.5.2	Recycling Attempts	171
	4.5.3	Biodegradability.	173
4.6	Applic	ations	173
	4.6.1	Applications of Purified Cellulose Substrates	173
	4.6.2	Applications of Native Biomass	174
4.7	Conclu	isions	177
Refe	rences .		177
Cata	lysts in	Thermochemical Biomass Conversion	187
5.1	Therm	ochemical Biomass Conversion	187
5.2	Types	of Catalysts in the Thermochemical Biomass	
	Conver	rsion	188
	5.2.1	Known Catalyst Types for Biomass Gasification	188
	5.2.2	Catalyst Types for Biomass Pyrolysis	191

		5.2.3	Nanocatalysts for Biomass Conversion	194
	5.3	Conclu	usion	196
	Refe	rences .		196
6	Fatt	y Acids-I	Derived Fuels from Biomass via Catalytic	
	Deox	xygenatio	on	199
	6.1	Introdu	action	199
	6.2	Deoxy	genation Processes.	201
		6.2.1	Hydrodeoxygenation of Fatty Acids	201
		6.2.2	Decarboxylation/Decarbonylation of Fatty Acids	207
		6.2.3	Deoxygenation of Fatty Acids via Catalytic	
			Cracking	214
		6.2.4	Comparison of Deoxygenation Methods	215
	6.3	Conclu	usions	217
	Refe	rences .		218
7	Biob	utanol:	The Future Biofuel	221
	7.1	Introdu	action	221
	7.2	Microb	biology of ABE Fermentation	223
	7.3	Bioma	ss as Feedstock	223
	7.4	Improv	vements in Fermentation Processes.	225
		7.4.1	Batch and Fed-Batch Fermentation Processes	226
		7.4.2	Continuous Fermentation Process	229
	7.5	Recove	ery Techniques Integrated with Fermentation Process	229
	7.6	Econor	mic Aspects	231
	7.7	Prospe	ctive	232
	Refe	rences.		232
8	Mole	ecular G	enetic Strategies for Enhancing Plant Biomass for	
	Cellu	ulosic Et	hanol Production	237
	8.1	Introdu	action	237
	8.2	Strateg	gies for Enhancement of Biomass.	239
		8.2.1	Genetic Basis of Plant Architecture	239
		8.2.2	Phytohormone-Related Genes and Developmental	
			Regulation	241
		8.2.3	Functional Genomics Approaches for Identification	
			of Useful Genes	244
		8.2.4	Plant Breeding	244
		8.2.5	Biotechnological Approaches to Further Improve	
			Biofuel Crops.	245
	8.3	Conclu	isions and Future Perspectives.	246
	Refe	rences .	L	247

Prod	luction o	f Bioethanol from Food Industry Waste:	
Micı	robiology	, Biochemistry and Technology	251
9.1	Introdu	ction	251
9.2	Raw M	Iaterials	254
	9.2.1	Wheat Straw	254
	9.2.2	Sugarcane Bagasse	255
	9.2.3	Rice Straw	256
	9.2.4	Fruit and Vegetable Waste.	256
	9.2.5	Coffee Waste	259
	9.2.6	Cheese Whey	259
	9.2.7	Spent Sulfite Liquor	259
	9.2.8	Bioethanol from Algae	260
9.3	Microo	organisms for Bioethanol Production	260
	9.3.1	Microorganisms and Their Characteristics	260
	9.3.2	Substrate and Microorganisms	260
	9.3.3	Lignocellulosic Material for Ethanolic	
		Fermentation	261
	9.3.4	Fermentation of Syngas into Ethanol	263
9.4	Bioche	mistry of Fermentation	263
	9.4.1	Fermentation of Carbohydrates.	263
	9.4.2	Efficiency of Ethanol Formation.	271
	9.4.3	Metabolic Engineering for the Production of	
		Advanced Fuels	272
9.5	Genetic	cally Modified Microorganisms for Bioethanol	
	Produc	tion	275
	9.5.1	Escherichia coli	276
	9.5.2	Zvmomonas mobilis	276
	9.5.3	Pichia stipitis	277
	9.5.4	Kloeckera oxytoca	277
	9.5.5	Saccharomyces cerevisiae	278
96	Fermer	ntation	279
	961	Fermentation Kinetics	279
	962	Fermentation Process for Bioethanol	283
9.7	Techno	blogy of Bioethanol Production	286
	971	Sugar Molasses	286
	972	Apple Pomace	287
	973	Orange Waste	289
	974	Banana Waste	290
	975	Potato Waste	291
	976	Wheat Straw	201
	977	Rice Straw	201
	978	Rice Husk	291
	9.7.0	Race Husk	292
	9.7.9	Whey	292
	2.1.10	willey	ムフム

		9.7.11	Cassava Roots	293
		9.7.12	Hydrolysed Cellulosic Biomass	293
		9.7.13	Recent Advances in Bioethanol Production Process	300
		9.7.14	Boiethanol Refinery	300
	9.8	Future P	erspectives and Conclusions	301
	Refer	ences	•	302
10	F		- f D' - Lou - Lou - Door door - A' - or Lou - Toore - G4 Good	
10	Enna Dork	and Phot	of Bionydrogen Production by Two-Stage Systems:	313
	10 1	Introduct	tion	313
	10.1	Dark Fer	mentation	314
	10.2	10.2.1	Dark Fermentation with Pure Cultures	317
		10.2.1	Dark Fermentation with Mixed Cultures	318
		10.2.2	Substrates for Dark Fermentation	320
		10.2.5	Factors Influencing Dark Fermentation	320
		10.2.4	Pre-treatment of Mixed Culture	321
		10.2.5	nH and Temperature	322
		10.2.0	Dartial Drassura of Droduced Hydrogen	322
		10.2.7	Pagetor Configuration	323
	10.3	Dhotofer	mentation	323
	10.5	10.3.1	Substrates for Distofermentation	324
		10.3.1	Factors Influencing Photofermentation	320
		10.3.2	C/N Datio	227
		10.3.3		270
		10.3.4	Light Source and Light Intensity	220
		10.3.5	nH and Tomporature	220
		10.3.0	Pri and Temperature	229
	10.4	10.5.7 Two Sto		229
	10.4	Two-Sta		220
	10.5 Defen	Conclusi	οπ	222
	Refer	ences		333
11	Orga	nosolv Fr	actionation of Lignocelluloses for Fuels, Chemicals	
	and I	Materials:	A Biorefinery Processing Perspective	341
	11.1	Introduct	tion	341
	11.2	Overview	v of Organosolv Fractionation	342
	11.3	Ethanol 1	Fractionation	343
		11.3.1	Effect of Treatment on the Structure of	
			Lignocellulosic Material	343
		11.3.2	Process of Ethanol Fractionation and Lignin	
			Recovery	347
		11.3.3	Applications of the Products	350
	11.4	Organic	Acid Fractionation	355
		0		

Contents

		11.4.1	Effect of Treatment on the Structure of	
			Lignocellulosic Material	355
		11.4.2	Process of Organic Acid Fractionation and Lignin	
			Recovery	358
		11.4.3	Applications of the Products	360
	11.5	Other H	Fractionation Processes Using Organic Solvents	364
		11.5.1	Methanol.	364
		11.5.2	Ethylene Glycol	367
		11.5.3	Ethanolamine	367
		11.5.4	Acetone	368
		11.5.5	Dimethyl Formamide	369
	11.6	Conclu	ding Remarks	370
	Refer	ences .	~	370
12	Ligni	n as Sou	urce of Fine Chemicals: Vanillin	
	and S	Syringal	dehyde	381
	12.1	Lignin,	a Fascinating Complex Polymer	381
	12.2	Main L	ignin Types: Origin, Producers, End Users	
		and Ch	aracteristics	383
		12.2.1	Kraft Lignins	384
		12.2.2	Lignosulfonates	385
		12.2.3	Organosolv Lignins	388
		12.2.4	Other Lignins.	390
	12.3	Lignin	as Source of Monomeric Compounds	390
		12.3.1	General Overview.	390
		12.3.2	Industrial Vanillin Production	390
	12.4	Product	tion of Vanillin and Syringaldehyde by Lignin	
		Oxidati	on	394
		12.4.1	Reaction Conditions	394
		12.4.2	Evolution of Products and Temperature During	
			Lignin Oxidation	399
		12.4.3	Influence of the Parameters in Lignin Oxidation	
			and Vanillin Oxidation	400
		12.4.4	Catalysts	405
		12.4.5	The Continuous Process of Lignin Oxidation	406
		12.4.6	Perspectives	408
	12.5	Separat	tion Processes for Oxidation Products of Lignin	408
		12.5.1	Conventional Process of Extraction.	409
		12.5.2	Ion Exchange Processes	409
		12.5.3	Membrane Processes.	410
		12.5.4	Supercritical Extraction and Crystallization	410
		12.5.5	The Integrated Process for Vanillin Production	411
	Refer	ences .		413

13	Liqu	efaction of Softwoods and Hardwoods in Supercritical	
	Meth	anol: A Novel Approach to Bio-Oil Production	421
	13.1	Introduction	421
	13.2	Materials and Methods	423
		13.2.1 Supercritical Fluid Processing	423
		13.2.2 Chemical Characterization	424
	13.3	Results and Discussion	424
		13.3.1 Biochar Characterization	425
		13.3.2 Bio-Oil Characterization	427
	13.4	Conclusion.	431
	Refer	ences	432
14	Bioey	xtraction: The Interface of Biotechnology	
	and	Green Chemistry	435
	14.1	Disadvantages of Metal Extraction Process, its Environmental	
		Concerns and Need of Bioextraction	436
	14.2	Brief Description of Bioextraction Process	436
		14.2.1 Phytoextraction	437
		14.2.2 Biomining	441
	14.3	Contribution of Microbes/Microorganisms in Bioextraction	444
		14.3.1 Role of Microbes in Biomining	445
		14.3.2 Role of Fungi in Biomining.	446
	14.4	Various Chemical Processes for Extraction	
		of Heavy Metals	447
		14.4.1 Concentration of the Ore (Removal of Unwanted	
		Metals and Gangue to Purify the Ore)	447
		14.4.2 Conversion into Metal Oxide	447
		14.4.3 Reduction of Metal Oxide to Metal	448
		14.4.4 Refining of Impure Metal into Pure Metals	449
	14.5	Development of Metal Specific Chelating Resins	
		to Extract Metal lons	451
	14.6	Applications of Bioextraction.	451
	14.7	Economization of Bioextraction	454
	14.8	Flow Diagram to Summarize the Chapter	
		and the Process of Bioextraction	455
	14.9	Conclusion	456
	Refer	rences	456
Ab	out the	e Editors	459
Ind	ex		461

Contributors

Alok Adholeya Biotechnology and Management of Bioresources Division, The Energy and Resources Institute, New Delhi 110003, India

J. Andres Soria Agricultural and Forestry Experiment Station, University of Alaska Fairbanks, Palmer, AK 99645, USA; School of Engineering, University of Alaska Anchorage, Palmer, AK 99645, USA, e-mail: jasoria@alaska.edu

Ashok N. Bhaskarwar Department of Chemical Engineering, Indian Institute of Technology, Hauz Khas, New Delhi 110016, India, e-mail: anbhaskarwar@gmail.com

Eduardo A. Borges da Silva Laboratory of Separation and Reaction Engineering—LSRE, Associate Laboratory LSRE/LCM, Department of Chemical Engineering, Faculty of Engineering, University of Porto, Rua Dr. Roberto Frias s/n, 4200-465 Porto, Portugal

Manab Das Biotechnology and Management of Bioresources Division, The Energy and Resources Institute, New Delhi 110003, India

Kalyan Gayen Department of Chemical Engineering, Indian Institute of Technology Gandhinagar, VGEC Campus, Chandkheda, Ahmedabad 382424, Gujarat, India, e-mail: gkalyan@iitgn.ac.in

Patrick C. Hallenbeck Département de Microbiologie et Immunologie, Université de Montréal, CP 6128 Succursale Centre-ville, Montréal, QC H3C 3J7, Canada, e-mail: patrick.hallenbeck@umontreal.ca

V. K. Joshi Department of Food Science and Technology, Dr. Y.S. Parmar University of Horticulture and Forestry, Nauni, Solan, Himachal Pradesh, India, e-mail: vkjoshipht@rediffmail.com

Tugba Keskin Département de Microbiologie et Immunologie, Université de Montréal, CP 6128 Succursale Centre-ville, Montréal, QC H3C 3J7, Canada; Environmental Biotechnology and Bioenergy Laboratory, Bioengineering Department, Ege University, 35100 Bornova, Izmir, Turkey **Manish Kumar** Department of Chemical Engineering, Indian Institute of Technology Gandhinagar, VGEC Campus, Chandkheda, Ahmedabad 382424, Gujarat, India

Prakash P. Kumar Department of Biological Sciences and Temasek Life Sciences Laboratory, National University of Singapore, 10 Science Drive 4, Singapore 117543, Singapore, e-mail: dbskumar@nus.edu.sg

A. K. Kurchania Renewable Energy Sources Department, College of Technology and Engineering, Maharana Pratap University of Agriculture and Technology, Udaipur, India, e-mail: kurchania@rediffmail.com

Ming-Fei Li Institute of Biomass Chemistry and Technology, Beijing Forestry University, Qinghua Road No. 35, Haidian District, 100083 Beijing, China

Wujun Liu Dalian National Laboratory for Clean Energy, Dalian Institute of Chemical Physics, CAS, Dalian 116023, People's Republic of China

Marcel Lucas Chemistry Division, Los Alamos National Laboratory, Los Alamos, NM 87545, USA

Päivi Mäki-Arvela Laboratory of Industrial Chemistry and Reaction Engineering, Process Chemistry Centre, Åbo Akademi University, 20500 Turku/Åbo, Finland

Armando G. McDonald Renewable Materials Program, College of Natural Resources, University of Idaho, Moscow, ID 83844-1132, USA, e-mail: armandm@uidaho.edu

Dmitry Yu. Murzin Laboratory of Industrial Chemistry and Reaction Engineering, Process Chemistry Centre, Åbo Akademi University, 20500 Turku/Åbo, Finland, e-mail: dmurzin@abo.fi

Maneesha Pande Department of Chemical Engineering, Indian Institute of Technology, Hauz Khas, New Delhi 110016, India

Aditi Puri Green Chemistry Network Centre, Department of Chemistry, University of Delhi, Delhi 110007, India

Rengasamy Ramamoorthy Department of Biological Sciences and Temasek Life Sciences Laboratory, National University of Singapore, 10 Science Drive 4, Singapore 117543, Singapore

Neerja S. Rana Department of Basic Sciences, Dr. Y.S. Parmar University of Horticulture and Forestry, Nauni, Solan, Himachal Pradesh, India

Kirk D. Rector Chemistry Division, Los Alamos National Laboratory, Los Alamos, NM 87545, USA, e-mail: kdr@lanl.gov

Alírio E. Rodrigues Laboratory of Separation and Reaction Engineering—LSRE, Associate Laboratory LSRE/LCM, Department of Chemical Engineering, Faculty of Engineering, University of Porto, Rua Dr. Roberto Frias s/n, 4200–465 Porto, Portugal, e-mail: arodrig@fe.up.pt

Paula C. Rodrigues Pinto Laboratory of Separation and Reaction Engineering— LSRE, Associate Laboratory LSRE/LCM, Department of Chemical Engineering, Faculty of Engineering, University of Porto, Rua Dr. Roberto Frias s/n, 4200–465 Porto, Portugal

Bartosz Rozmysłowicz Laboratory of Industrial Chemistry and Reaction Engineering, Process Chemistry Centre, Åbo Akademi University, 20500 Turku/Åbo, Finland

Rakesh Kumar Sharma Green Chemistry Network Centre, Department of Chemistry, University of Delhi, Delhi 110007, India, e-mail: rksharmagreenchem @hotmail.com

Ali Sınağ Department of Chemistry, Science Faculty, Ankara University, Beşevler-Ankara 06100, Turkey, e-mail: sinag@science.ankara.edu.tr

Run-Cang Sun Institute of Biomass Chemistry and Technology, Beijing Forestry University, Qinghua Road No. 35, Haidian District, 100083 Beijing, China; State Key Laboratory of Pulp and Paper Engineering, South China University of Technology, Wushan Road No. 381, Tianhe District, 510640 Guangzhou, China, e-mail: rcsun3@bjfu.edu.cn, e-mail: xfx315@bjfu.edu.cn

Shao-Ni Sun Institute of Biomass Chemistry and Technology, Beijing Forestry University, Qinghua Road No. 35, Haidian District, 100083 Beijing, China

Gregory L. Wagner Chemistry Division, Los Alamos National Laboratory, Los Alamos, NM 87545, USA

Abhishek Walia Department of Basic Sciences, Dr. Y.S. Parmar University of Horticulture and Forestry, Nauni, Solan, Himachal Pradesh, India

Haibo Xie Dalian National Laboratory for Clean Energy, Dalian Institute of Chemical Physics, CAS, Dalian 116023, People's Republic of China, e-mail: hbxie@dicp.ac.cn

Feng Xu Institute of Biomass Chemistry and Technology, Beijing Forestry University, Qinghua Road No. 35, Haidian District, 100083 Beijing, China

Zongbao K. Zhao Dalian National Laboratory for Clean Energy, Dalian Institute of Chemical Physics, CAS, Dalian 116023, People's Republic of China

Chapter 1 Biomass Conversion to Energy

Maneesha Pande and Ashok N. Bhaskarwar

Rapid depletion of fossil fuels, compounded by the accompanying environmental hazards, has prompted the need for alternative sources of energy. Energy from biomass, wind energy, solar energy, and geothermal energy are some of the most promising alternatives which are currently being explored. Among these, biomass is an abundant, renewable, and relatively a clean energy resource which can be used for the generation of different forms of energy, viz. heat, electrical, and chemical energy. There are a number of established methods available for the conversion of biomass into different forms of energy which can be categorized into thermochemical, biochemical, and biotechnological methods. These methods have further been integrated into the concept of a biorefinery wherein, as in a petroleum refinery, a variety of biomass-based raw materials can be processed to obtain a range of products including biofuels, chemicals, and other value-added products. We present here an overview of how biomass can be used for the generation of different forms of energy and useful material products in an efficient and economical manner.

1.1 Introduction

The current major source of energy/fuel is fossil fuel, which, for all practical purposes can be considered to be nonrenewable. Fossil fuels are all petroleum derivatives and the use of these fossil fuels leads to the generation of greenhouse gases such as CO_2 , CH_4 , N_2O . The transportation sector is responsible for the

M. Pande · A. N. Bhaskarwar (🖂)

Department of Chemical Engineering, Indian Institute of Technology, Hauz Khas, New Delhi 110016, India

e-mail: anbhaskarwar@gmail.com



Fig. 1.1 Sources of biomass for conversion to energy

highest rate of growth in greenhouse gas emissions (GHG) among all sectors. This concern as well as the current concern over the rapid depletion of fossil fuel, accompanied by the ongoing price increase of fossil resources and uncertain availability, combined with environmental concerns such as global warming has propelled research efforts toward generating alternative means of energy production using renewable resources. The solution to this problem seems to emerge in the form of bioenergy, i.e., energy generated from biomass.

Biomass is the only renewable organic resource. It is also one of the most abundant resources. It comprises all biological materials including living, or recently living organisms, and is a huge storehouse of energy. The dead biomass or the biological waste can be used as a direct source of energy like heat and electricity or as an indirect source of energy like various types of fuels. The living biomass, or components thereof, like microorganisms, algae, and enzymes can be used to convert one form of energy into another using biofuel cells. Figure 1.1 gives the various sources of biomass which can be used for biomass conversion into energy. In the entire process of conversion of biomass into energy, a dual purpose of energy generation and environmental clean-up is achieved.

Sunlight is an infinitely abundant source of energy on this earth and all energy on this planet, in principle, is renewable. However, considering the factor of time frame, the present sources of energy such as coal, oil, and natural gas take millennia to renew. Therefore, it is imperative that research in the field of energy generation should focus on reducing this time frame by cutting short the time required to turn sunlight into usable energy. Biomass is an excellent source of renewable energy and serves as an effective carbon sink. Plants and trees which constitute biomass can be considered as perpetual powerhouses capable of continuously tapping the energy from sunlight and converting it via photosynthesis



Fig. 1.2 Renewable nature of biomass conversion into energy

into carbon-rich compounds. These carbon-rich compounds which constitute the biomass can then be exploited as and when required to release the energy trapped from sunlight (Fig. 1.2).

It can be seen from Fig. 1.2 that the carbon which is released into the atmosphere as a result of burning biomass, returns to the biomass by way of photosynthesis, which is again converted into carbon-rich compounds for reconversion into energy. This, process can thus be considered to be carbon neutral unlike fossil fuel, which is carbon positive, i.e., burning fossil fuel releases CO_2 into the atmosphere which remains in the atmosphere, thus increasing the amount of CO_2 indefinitely.

The current technology of biomass to energy conversion is at the most, carbon neutral but the amount of CO_2 already present in the atmosphere as a result of use of fossil fuel for so many years, is so high that it cannot be absorbed by conventional sinks such as trees and soils. Thus there is a dire need to reduce the global CO_2 emissions by energy generation technologies that are carbon negative in nature. These technologies, which are commonly termed as "Bioenergy with Carbon Capture and Storage" (BECCS) are expected to achieve the goal of creating a global system of net negative carbon emissions. This carbon capture and storage (CCS) technology, serves to intercept the release of CO_2 into the atmosphere and redirect it into geological storage locations. A similar alternative to achieve carbon negativity lies in fourth-generation fuels which are those fuels based on high solar efficiency cultivation. This chapter gives an overview of conversion of biomass into energy with special reference to the biorefinery concept. The recent developments in the area are also highlighted.



1.2 Biomass and Energy Generation

Biomass can be used to generate different forms of energy (Fig. 1.3). It can be either burnt directly to generate heat, or the flue gases generated during the burning of biomass can be used to provide process heat. The heat generated from biomass can be used to generate steam which can again be used either directly to provide process heat or it can be converted into electricity via steam turbines. As such, biomass is very low in terms of energy density. It can be upgraded into high energy density fuels such as charcoal, liquid fuels (mainly transportation fuels), and gaseous fuels such as hydrogen, producer gas, or biogas. These biofuels form the major, most important product of the bioconversion processes.

Biofuels are classified into four categories depending on the nature of biomass used to produce it. Table 1.1 gives a concise classification of biofuels with representative examples for each category.

First-generation biofuels are already commercially produced, and an established technology is available for their production. However, the major problem with first-generation biofuels is that their production largely depends on raw material feedstock that could otherwise be used for food and feed purposes. This food versus fuel controversy gave rise to the development of second-generation biofuels which are produced from non-feed crops, forest residues, agricultural, industrial, and domestic waste. Second-generation biofuels are produced mainly by thermochemical and biochemical methods. The thermochemical methods are more amenable to commercialization as these are based on technologies established over a number of years. The biochemical methods have not yet been commercialized but these methods have a greater potential for cost reduction. Research efforts toward their optimization are currently ongoing and may soon result in commercialized, low cost alternatives to first-generation biofuels.

Although second-generation biofuels are able to circumvent the food versus fuel controversy, they still need arable land for the generation of feedstock required for their production. Thus land which would otherwise have been used for growing of food crops would still be required. This gave rise to third-

Type of biofuel	Description	Examples
First-generation biofuels	Biofuels produced from raw materials in competition with food and feed industry	• Bioethanol from sugarcane, sugar beet and starch crops(corn and wheat)
		 Biodiesel from oil-based crops like rapeseed, sunflower, soyabean, palm oil, and waste edible oils Starch-derived biogas
Second- generation	Biofuels produced from non-food crops (energy crops), or raw	 Biogas derived from waste and residues
biofuels	material based on waste residues	• Biofuels from lignocellulosic materials like residues from agriculture, forestry, and industry
		• Biofuels from energy crops such as sorghum
Third- generation biofuels	Biofuels produced using aquatic microorganisms like algae	Biodiesel produced using algaeAlgal hydrogen
Fourth- generation biofuels	Biofuels based on high solar efficiency cultivation	Carbon-negative technologyTechnology of the future

 Table 1.1 Classification of transportation-based biofuels

generation biofuels such as biofuels produced from seaweeds and algae. This algal biomass is capable of flourishing in marshy land, sea water, and land which is totally unproductive with respect to cultivation of agricultural crops. Concerted efforts are underway to bring out successful technologies which produce biofuels from algae.

Fourth-generation biofuels are still at a conceptual stage and many more years may be required for these types of biofuels to become a reality. These biofuels are produced by technologies which are able to successfully convert biomass into fuel in such a manner that the CO_2 consumed in their generation is much more than that produced as a result of their burning or use. Hence, these biofuels would be instrumental in reducing atmospheric GHGs, thus mitigating the problem of global warming to a significant extent. The technologies for the production of fuels other than first-generation biofuels are yet to prove themselves as commercially viable alternatives to fossil fuels and are under various stages of development. The following section gives an overview of the different biomass conversion technologies developed till date. These are broadly classified as shown in Fig. 1.4.

An important aspect about the use of biomass as an alternative to fossil fuel for generation of energy is that biomass has a high volatility compared to fossil fuels due to the high levels of volatile constituents present in biomass. This reduces the ignition temperature of biomass compared to that of fossil fuel such as coal. However, biomass contains much less carbon and more oxygen. The presence of oxygen reduces the heat content of the molecules and gives them high polarity.



Fig. 1.4 Processes for biomass conversion into energy

 Table 1.2 Comparison of physicochemical and fuel properties of biomass and coal

Property	Biomass	Coal
Fuel density (Kg/m ³)	~ 500	~1,300
Particle size	$\sim 3 \text{ mm}$	~100 μm
Carbon content ^a	42–54	65-85
Oxygen content ^a	35–45	2-15
Sulfur content ^a	Max. 0.5	0.5 - 7.5
Nitrogen content ^b	0.1-0.2	1.5 - 2.0
SiO ₂ content ^b	23–49	40-60
K ₂ O content ^b	4-48	2-6
Al ₂ O ₃ content ^b	2.4-9.5	15-25
Fe ₂ O ₃ content ^b	1.5-8.5	8-18
Ignition temperature (K)	418-426	490–595
Peak temperature (K)	560-575	-
Friability	Low	High
Dry heating value(MJ/kg)	14–21	23-28

Reproduced with permission from [1]

^a wt% of dry fuel

b wt% of dry ash

Hence, the energy efficiency of biomass is lower than that of coal and the higher polarity of the biofuel which is obtained from biomass causes blending with fossil fuel difficult. Table 1.2 gives a comparison between the physicochemical and fuel properties of biomass and coal.

It can be seen from Table 1.2 that the properties of biomass and fossil fuel vary significantly. Although biomass has a lower heating value, the emission problems especially, emission of CO_2 , NO_x , SO_x for biomass are much less than those for coal due to the lower carbon, sulfur, and nitrogen contents of biomass.



Fig. 1.5 Thermochemical processes for biomass conversion

1.2.1 Methods of Biomass Conversion

1.2.1.1 Thermochemical Processes

Biomass conversion technologies can be broadly classified into primary conversion technologies and secondary conversion technologies. The primary conversion technologies such as combustion, gasification and pyrolysis involve the conversion of biomass either directly into heat, or into a more convenient form which can serve as an energy carrier such as gases like methane and hydrogen, liquid fuels like methanol and ethanol, and solids like char. The secondary technologies convert these products of primary conversion into the desired form which may be an energy product such as transportation fuel or a form of energy such as electricity. The different thermochemical conversion processes are given in Fig. 1.5.

These processes involve high temperature and sometimes high pressure processing of biomass. The combustion process for generation of heat and/or power involves heating the biomass in the presence of excess oxygen. It is responsible for over 97% of the world's bioenergy production [1]. The other processes such as torrefaction, pyrolysis and gasification involve heating in the presence of restricted or controlled oxygen to produce liquid fuels, heat, and power.

The thermochemical processing of biomass produces gas, liquid, and solid. The gas produced primarily comprises carbon monoxide, carbon dioxide, methane, hydrogen, and some impurities such as nitrogen. This gas is called synthesis gas which can be used as fuel, or can be upgraded or converted to more valuable and/or useful products such as methanol or methane. The liquid product contains mainly noxious and a highly complex mixture of oxygenated organic chemicals consisting of volatile components and non-volatile tars. The solid contains ash and carbon or char.

The suitability of biomass for thermal/thermochemical conversion processes, and the products obtained as a result of these biomass conversion processes, depend greatly on the composition and properties of the biomass used. Physicochemical characterization of biomass is therefore an important step in biomass conversion. This involves the determination of particle size and bulk density; proximate analyses such as determination of moisture content, volatile matter, fixed carbon, ash content; ultimate analysis such as determination of carbon, hydrogen and oxygen content; determination of ash deformation and fusion temperature; calorific value; biomass composition; equilibrium and saturation moisture content; and biomass pyrolysis characteristics. There have been a number of projects undertaken the world over, wherein a systematic characterization of different varieties of biomass and species has been undertaken. The output of these systematic studies has, in many cases, resulted in a database on biomass fuel characteristics. Biobank is a set of three databases giving the chemical composition of biomass fuels, ashes, and condensates from flue gas condensers from actual installations. The data set was originally compiled by Biosenergiesysteme GmbH, Graz, Austria. It is continuously expanding, using data inputs from other member countries of IEA Bioenergy Task 32. It currently contains approximately 1,000 biomass samples, 560 ash samples, and 30 condensate samples [2]. Another database-BIOBIB has been developed by the Institute of Chemical Engineering, Fuel and Environmental Technology, Vienna, Austria, which gives similar data for European plants. This database covers different types of biomass such as energy crops, straw, wood, wood waste from wood processing industries, pulp and paper industry, and other cellulosic waste such as that from the food industry. It currently has 331 different biomass fuels listed [3]. Phyllis is yet another database which is designed and maintained by the Netherlands Energy Research Foundation containing information about composition of biomass and waste fuels [4]. Over 250 biomass species from different parts of India have been characterized with respect to the above properties under the MNES sponsored Gasifier Action Research Project at the Biomass Conversion Laboratory of the Chemical Engineering Department at the Indian Institute of Technology Delhi [5]. An overview of the different thermal and thermochemical conversion processes is given in the following sections.

Direct Combustion

The process of combustion can be considered as an interaction between fuel, energy and environment. Fuel is burnt in excess air to produce heat. The excess air



serves as a source of oxygen which initiates a chemical reaction between the fuel and oxygen, as a result of which, energy is liberated. Volatilization of combustible vapors from the biomass occurs which then burns as flames. This volatile degradation product consists of three fractions: gaseous fraction containing CO, CO₂, some hydrocarbons, and H₂; a condensable fraction consisting of water and low molecular weight organic compounds such as aldehydes, ketones, and alcohols; and tar fraction containing higher molecular weight sugar residues, furan derivatives, and phenolic compounds. The proportion of these volatiles and residue is determined by thermal analysis methods. The residual material which remains is the carbon char which is subsequently burnt when more air is added. Demirbas [1] gives some important combustion properties of selected biomass samples. The combustion processes, in generation of electricity (Fig. 1.6).

The open fire at home or the small domestic stove is the simplest example of the use of the combustion process to generate energy/heat. However, this process has an efficiency of only 10–15% as most of the volatile oils released go into the environment along with most heat. More sophisticated combustion technologies have been developed to give increased efficiencies. The use of more efficient wood stove designs results in greatly increased efficiencies of up to 60%. The combustion technologies were originally designed for production of energy from coal or fossil fuel. However, the rapid depletion of fossil fuel and the search for renewable source of energy have directed all efforts toward adapting these technologies to the use of biomass in place of fossil fuels for the generation of energy.

Indeed, the efforts required are enormous as the nature of biomass is radically different from that of fossil fuels. Also, the composition of biomass varies widely depending on its source. In case of biomass, the biomass, directly fed into the combustion furnace, is first converted into a mixture of volatiles and a carbonaceous char which burn with entirely different combustion characteristics as compared to fossil fuels. The heat of combustion ΔH for any combustion process is calculated on the basis of the standard equation:

$$\Delta G = \Delta H - T \Delta S$$

where G is the free energy, H is enthalpy, T is the absolute temperature, and S is the entropy. While using this equation for biomass, the change in entropy or the energy lost in converting the solid fuel into gaseous combustion products must be included [6]. This correction factor may vary greatly depending on the characteristics of the biomass used. When biomass is used as the fuel for the combustion process, there are a number of factors which are responsible for lowering the efficiency of the process and the net usable energy that could be obtained from the process. Some of the important factors are, the variable nature of the biomass, the variable moisture content and ash content present in the biomass, the dissipation of some of the heat of combustion by the combustion products of the biomass, and the incomplete combustion of biomass. The moisture content in biomass varies from an equilibrium moisture content of 10-12% in agricultural residue such as straw to as high as about 50% in biomass such as wood residue and bagasse. This moisture content acts as a heat sink and has to be dried up before it can be used for direct combustion. The extra energy required for this will reduce the net energy output of the process. Therefore the combustion process is best suited for biomass with a moisture content lower than 50%. Biomass containing moisture contents higher than this is better suited for biochemical/biological conversion processes. The proportion of volatile matter and fixed carbon present in the biomass also differs depending on the source [7]. Softwoods contain about 76.6% of volatile matter, whereas hardwood contains 80.2% of volatile matter. As compared to these values, bituminous black coal contains only 37.4% of volatile matter. As most of the combustion process is characterized by the volatile fraction, this difference is of great significance. The mineral content in biomass also varies from 0.5% in woody biomass to 18% in cereal straws. The wood ash mainly consists of alkali and alkali earth cations present as carbonates, carboxylic acids, and some silica crystals. The silica and insoluble organic compounds act as a heat sink, whereas the soluble organic compounds may have a catalytic effect in gasification and combustion of biomass. Complete combustion of biomass releases CO₂ and water which are harmless. However, incomplete combustion leaves carbonaceous residue (fly ash), smoke, and other odorous and noxious gases (containing carbonyl derivatives, unsaturated compounds and CO) which are detrimental to the environment. In addition to this, a considerable amount of biomass is wasted. Figure 1.7 shows a typical combustion plant using municipal solid waste as biomass feed.



Fig. 1.7 MSW combustion plant (Source Open University, UK)

Forms of combustion

Direct combustion of solid biomass occurs through evaporation combustion, decomposition combustion, surface combustion, and smoldering combustion. Components in the biomass which have a relatively simple structure and a low fusion temperature, fuse and evaporate when heated, and burn by reacting with oxygen in the gas phase. This is called evaporation combustion. The heavy oils present in the biomass first decompose due to the high temperatures encountered during combustion. The gas produced from thermal decomposition by heating reacts with oxygen in gas phase, flames, and then burns. This is called decomposition combustion. The char which remains after these forms of combustion, burns by surface combustion. Smoldering combustion is the thermal combustion reaction at temperature lower than the ignition temperature of the volatile components of the reactive fuels such as wood. If the ignition is forced to smoke, or temperature exceeds ignition point, flammable combustion occurs. In industrial direct combustion of biomass, decomposition combustion and surface combustion are the main forms of combustion [8].

The combustion process

The combustion process comprises four basic phases: heating and drying, distillation of volatile gases, combustion of these volatile gases, and combustion of the residual fixed carbon. Prior to the actual combustion process, the biomass is first subjected to pelletizing and/or briquetting in order to increase the density of the biomass and simultaneously reduce the moisture content. This also increases the calorific value of the biomass and increases the easy handling of the biomass during transportation and processing. The following steps are involved in pelletizing of biomass [9]:

- 1. Drying. The biomass is dried to a moisture content of about 8–12% (weight basis) before pelletizing.
- 2. Milling. Size reduction of the biomass is done in hammer mills.
- 3. Conditioning. Conditioning of the biomass is done by addition of steam, whereby the particles are covered with a thin liquid layer to improve adhesion.
- 4. Pelletizing. Flat die or Ring die pelletizers are used to convert the above material into compact pellets.
- 5. Cooling. The temperature of the pellets increases during the densification process. Therefore, careful cooling of the pellets is required before the pellets leave the press, to ensure high durability of the pellets.

Pelletization is expensive compared to briquetting where the biomass is compressed and extruded in heavy duty extruders into solid cylinders. This pelletized or briquetted biomass is subjected to heat, which breaks down the plant cells. The volatile matter is driven off from the compacted biomass and instead of being released directly into the atmosphere, it is made to pass through a high temperature zone (above 630°C) in presence of secondary air. Here, the gases are combusted and release more heat. A carbonaceous residue called char, containing the mineral components is left behind.

After briquetting or pelletizing, the biomass is fed into the combustion furnace after which combustion proceeds in four phases [7]:

Phase 1: Heating and drying

Moisture in the biomass varies from 10 to 50% of the total weight (wet basis). This moisture reduces the dry heat value of the biomass and slows down the heating and drying process. It is therefore essential to remove this moisture in order to increase the efficiency of the combustion process. The size of the feed particles is also important because most biomass is woody in nature and wood is a poor conductor of heat. The larger the particle size, the lower the rate of heat transmission through the feed bed. The biomass is hence reduced in size so that the maximum distance from the center of the particle of the feed to the surface does not exceed 20–30 mm. Thus, wood chips, sawdust, shredded straw, and pulverized biomass fuels such as bagasse are preferred.

Phase 2: Distillation of volatiles

After the evaporation of moisture is complete, the heat supplied gets used in volatilization of the liquid constituents present in the biomass. This occurs between 180 and 530°C. Distillation occurs during this phase. The gases released comprise complex saturated and unsaturated organic compounds such as paraffin, phenols, esters, and fatty acids. These distill at different distillation temperatures thus making the concept of "biorefinery" possible.
Phase 3: Combustion of volatiles

Ignition of the volatilized components takes place at temperatures between 630 and 730°C. This involves an exothermic reaction between the volatilized gases and oxygen, as a result of which, heat is produced and CO_2 and water vapor are released. The flame temperature in this phase depends on the amount of excess air present and the amount of moisture initially present in the biomass (because this evaporated moisture is present as water vapor in this gas phase). Here, supply of excess oxygen in the form of secondary air supply is essential because this will maintain high temperatures during this phase. In absence of this, incomplete combustion will result in lower process efficiency. The unburnt carbonaceous part is called soot. This soot absorbs volatile components which condense in the cooler parts of the furnace and form an oily product called tar.

Phase 4: Combustion of residual fixed carbon

After the moisture and volatiles have been removed, the fixed carbon component of the biomass remains as char. This char begins to burn as oxygen is now available, and carbon monoxide is released which, in the presence of oxygen gets converted into CO_2 . This CO_2 is finally emitted from the furnace.

Types of combustion systems [7]

The design of a combustion system is important for achieving optimum efficiency from the process. During the combustion process, slagging and fouling of the furnace and the boiler occurs. This is more serious when biomass contains a high proportion of alkali metals. The alkalis volatilize during combustion and condense as alkali metal salts on the relatively cool furnace walls. These elements react with other compounds to form a sticky lining on the furnace and boiler wall surface. Regular cleaning of these deposits is required which usually involves process shutdown, reducing the efficiency of the process. The design of the combustion equipment should be such that a minimum of fouling takes place. A number of different designs of combustion systems have evolved in an attempt to get maximum combustion efficiency with minimum fouling. These are summarized along with the salient features of each design in Table 1.3.

Fixed-bed combustion

In this type of combustion system, the biomass is fed in the form of a bed on grates at the bottom of a furnace. The grates may be either inclined or horizontal. Air is passed through the grate (on which the fuel is present) at a restricted rate such that the fuel is not stirred and there is no relative movement of the fuel solids. The stokers used for feeding the fuel may be either overfeed stokers or spreader stokers.

The overfeed stokers were originally designed for firing coal. These feed the fuel by gravity onto the moving grate at one end. The grate travels slowly across the furnace, carrying the fuel along, as combustion takes place. The residual ash and slag are continuously discharged at the opposite end.

Table 1.3 Designs	of combustion systems [7, 8]		
Combustion method			Salient features
Fixed bed	Horizontal grate:	Overfeed	Grate is level and moving in different manners. Biomass is fed by gravity onto the moving
combustion	- Forward moving grate	stokers	grate at one end. It ignites and burns as surface combustion. Residual ash and slag is
	- Reverse moving grate		continuously discharged at the opposite end.
	 Reciprocating grate 	Spreader	Grate is level and moving in different manners. Stokers distribute the comminuted
	- Step grate	stokers	biomass onto the furnace above an ignited fuel bed on an air cooled travelling grate.
	 Louvre grate 		Suspension firing occurs partially. Fine particles tend to burn in suspension while larger particles fall onto the travelling grate where they are burnt.
	Inclined grate		Most common design selected for biomass combustion systems. Biomass is fed at the
			upper part of the grate. Pre-drying of fuel occurs at the upper part of the furnace after which it slowly tumbles down under gravity onto a reciprocating grate lower in the
			furnace where combustion takes place. The grate is either water cooled or air cooled. Suitable for biomass fuels with lower ash contents.
Fluidized	Bubbling fluidized bed		Finely comminuted biomass particles fed onto a bed of sand at the bottom of the furnace
	combustion		and subjected to an evenly upward flow of air which fluidizes the biomass. Initial
	Circulation fluidized bed combustion		drying followed by ignition takes place.
Rotary hearth	Kiln furnace		Suitable for combustion of high moisture fuel such as liquid organic sludge and food
furnace			residue.
combustion			
Burner combustion	Burner		Used for burning wood powder and fine powder such as bagasse and pith.

Spreader stokers distribute the comminuted and dried biomass fuel over an ignited fuel bed on an air cooled traveling grate. These stokers can be made responsive to heat load changes by automatic adjustment of grate travel speed, fuel feed rate, and air intake. A major disadvantage with this type of a system is that an ash layer needs to be maintained on the grate in order to protect it from thermal degradation. Biomass ash may have a high silica content which may cause a greater abrasion of the grate, resulting in a higher maintenance cost of the grate. Another disadvantage with this type of a combustion design is that there can be a significant amount of fly ash and unburned carbon in the flue gas, resulting in lower combustion and boiler efficiencies and higher costs of emission controls.

Inclined grate furnace

This is the most common design used in biomass combustion systems. The biomass fuel is fed at the upper part of the furnace where pre-drying of the biomass takes place. The dried biomass slowly tumbles down over the sloping grate onto a reciprocating grate in the lower portion of the furnace, where combustion takes place. The grate is either water cooled or air cooled which obviates the requirement of an insulating ash layer in order to protect it from abrasion. Thus, this type of a combustion design is suitable for biomass with a lower ash content.

Fluidized-bed combustion

In this type of system, finely comminuted biomass particles are fed onto a bed of coarse sand particles present at the bottom of the furnace. Fluidizing air is passed through this bed in an upward direction through uniformly distributed perforations on which this bed rests. The velocity of this air is critically controlled such that it is just sufficient to fluidize the fuel particles in the air above the bed. The bed appears like a bubbling liquid at this air velocity. The coarse sand particles assist the mixing of the fuel with the air and also increase the heat transfer to the fuel for initial drying and subsequent ignition. Figure 1.8 shows a schematic diagram of a typical fluidized- bed combustion system designed for a boiler. The critical air velocity or the minimum fluidization velocity at which fluidization occurs is a function of the biomass particle size, density and pressure drop across the bed. An increase in air velocity beyond the minimum fluidization velocity causes the bed to become turbulent, and subsequently to circulating. This results in increased recycling rates of the material in suspension. Commercial designs are either bubbling fluidized-bed or (BFB) or, circulating fluidized-bed (CFB). The entire system may operate at atmospheric pressure or may be pressurized. Air or oxygen may be used for fluidization.

BFB system uses air velocities of 1-3 m/s. The primary air supply is through nozzles beneath the bed, whereas the secondary air flow enters the furnace above the bed. The ratio of the primary to secondary air supply controls the bed temperature. The bed temperature can also be controlled by recirculating some of the flue gases that are formed as a result of combustion of the biomass.

In the CFB systems, a higher air velocity of 4–9 m/s is employed. This causes the bed material to circulate within the furnace. As in BFB, here also, there are



Fig. 1.8 Fluidized-bed combustion system (Adapted from [7])

primary and secondary air supplies. Due to the higher air velocities used, the smaller biomass particles tend to get entrained along with the flue gases generated as a result of combustion. Cyclone separators are provided to collect the biomass and sand particles which are then returned to the feed bed. CFB designs are more expensive than the BFB ones. However, CFBs operate at lower operating temperatures than the BFBs, which reduces the NO_x emissions significantly.

Fluidized-bed combustion systems are much more versatile compared to fixedbed design systems. A wide range of biomass with varying compositions such as higher moisture contents and varying ash properties can be handled without encountering slagging problems. Varying loads, ranging from full capacity to as low as 35% of full capacity can be handled. At any given time, compared to the fixed-bed design, only a small quantity of fuel is present in the combustion chamber, hence, giving good conversion efficiencies. However, the fluidized-bed designs are costly compared to the fixed-bed designs and are suitable for largescale operations only.



Fig. 1.9 Pyrolysis for biomass conversion

Pyrolysis

Pyrolysis is the thermochemical decomposition of organic material at high temperatures in the absence of oxygen, producing gas and liquid products and leaving behind a carbon-rich residue. It is invariably the first step in combustion and gasification of biomass. If sufficient oxygen is provided subsequent to initial pyrolysis, it can proceed to combustion or gasification. The liquid products obtained from pyrolysis include water and oils, whereas the gaseous products include carbon monoxide, carbon dioxide, and methane. A solid residue that is left behind is a carbonaceous solid, i.e., charcoal. The solid residue can be used as such for heating. The gas produced can be processed through a gas burner and under a restricted air supply can be used as a heat source for the pyrolyzer, or it can be used in gas turbines or gas boilers for production of electricity. The liquid product, bio-oil can have multiple uses: it can be used as such for heating, or for power generation, or it can be upgraded to transportation fuel, or can be used for conversion into suitable chemicals. Figure 1.9 shows the different energy products/forms that can be obtained from pyrolysis. Figure 1.10 shows a general schematic diagram of a pyrolysis process.

The fact that one of the products of pyrolysis is a liquid product (viz. bio-oil) makes this process very important because liquid fuels are easy to transport and hence, it is possible to have the conversion plant remote from the point of use, which is not possible in case of the combustion process. Pyrolysis is not an exothermic process like combustion. It is an endothermic process where heat is required to be supplied for the process. Different types of pyrolysis processes, resulting in different types of products, are possible depending on the temperature and the rate of heating employed. The nature of the biomass also largely affects the



Fig. 1.10 Schematic diagram of a pyrolysis process (Adapted from [11])

yield of pyrolysis, as the rate of heating depends on the nature of biomass. Typically, lignocellulosic materials such as wood, stalks, straw, etc. are poor heat conductors. Hence these materials require pretreatment such as size reduction before they can be used for pyrolysis, so that an acceptable yield can be obtained. Lower processing temperatures and longer vapor residence times are favorable for production of charcoal (solid product); higher processing temperatures and longer vapor residence times favor production of gas, whereas under moderate temperatures and short vapor residence times, a liquid product is obtained. The product dependence on the processing conditions and vapor residence times can be explained on the basis of the composition of the biomass and the chemical nature of pyrolysis [10]. Biomass mainly comprises polymers in which large chains of carbon atoms are linked with each other, or to oxygen atoms, or sometimes to other elements like nitrogen or sulfur, to form macromolecules. The most commonly occurring macromolecules in biomass are hemicelluloses.

Mode/type of pyrolysis process	Residence time of vapor in pyrolysis zone	Rate of heating	Temperature (°C)	Product
<i>Slow pyrolysis</i> Torrefaction	~30 min	Slow	~290	Char, gas (80, 20%) (vapors are burned)
Carbonization	Days	Slow	~ 400	Char, liquid, gas(35, 30, 35% respectively)
Fast pyrolysis	<2 s	Very high	~ 500	Char, liquid, gas (12, 75, 13% respectively)
Flash pyrolysis	<1 s	High	<650	Bio-oils, chemicals, gas
Ultra-rapid pyrolysis	<0.5 s	Very high	~1,000	Chemicals, gas
Intermediate pyrolysis	~10–30 s	Medium	~ 500	Char, liquid-two phases, gas (25, 50, 25% respectively)
Vacuum pyrolysis	∼2–30 s	Medium	400	Bio-oil
Hydropyrolysis	<10 s	High	<500	Char, liquid, gas (12, 78, 10% respectively)
Methano- pyrolysis	<10 s	High	>700	Chemicals

Table 1.4 Types of pyrolysis processes, processing conditions, and products obtained

Unprocessed biomass consists of a small number of such large polymers or macromolecules. Cellulose is a linear chain polymer, whereas hemicellulose is a branched chain polymer with side chains or branches present at random locations along the chain. As heat is supplied, the chemical bonds linking the monomer units in the large polymer begin to break off. In cellulose, the bonds are broken randomly along the chain whereas in hemicelluloses, first the side chain or branches break off followed by breaking of the straight chains. As more heat is supplied, a large number of smaller molecules are generated i.e. the degree of polymerization (Dp) reduces. When Dp reduces to <10, the polymer is no longer a polymer but an oligomer. These oligomers (especially those having Dp less than around 8), are volatile. These are generated at typical pyrolysis temperatures between 400 and 800°C. These oligomers, comprising anhydro sugars, evaporate from the solid mass as volatiles. These are required to be removed from the solid biomass. If they are not removed, under continued influence of high temperature, they undergo thermal fragmentation to produce highly reactive, small intermediates. These fragments, if removed and quenched immediately, can be used as such as chemicals or as fuels. If, again, these are not removed from the solid biomass, they undergo chemical reaction with the remaining solid material to form new polymers or, accelerate breakdown of original chains. These reactions are exothermic and thus accelerate the overall pyrolysis reaction. Thus, depending on the processing conditions and vapor residence times, different types of pyrolysis processes have been developed, which result in a different product mix. These are summarized in Table 1.4.

A brief description of the different variants of the pyrolysis process is given below.

Types of pyrolysis processes

Pyrolysis processes can be classified on the basis of the rate of heating as: Slow pyrolysis, fast pyrolysis, and intermediate pyrolysis. All these types of pyrolysis processes are carried out in the absence of oxygen. Depending on the medium in which it is carried out, it is classified as either hydrous pyrolysis (carried out in presence of water) or hydropyrolysis (carried out in presence of hydrogen).

Slow pyrolysis

The process of slow pyrolysis is used mainly for production of char and involves slow heating of the biomass over long periods of time (ranging from minutes to days).

Torrefaction is a slow pyrolysis process carried out at low temperatures (230–300°C) in the absence of oxygen. It is a form of pretreatment of biomass to improve its energy density, reduce the oxygen/carbon and hydrogen/carbon ratio, and reduce its hygroscopicity. This pretreatment makes the biomass more suitable for other biomass conversion processes. For example, the high oxygen content of biomass increases thermodynamic losses during the gasification process. Reduction of the oxygen/carbon ratio as a result of torrefaction reduces the thermodynamic losses during the gasification process. The microfibrils in biomass, comprising cellulose, are supported or bound together by hemicellulose. The process of torrefaction depolymerizes this hemicellulose, causing a consequent reduction in binding of cellulose fibrils. This causes the structure to become friable and brittle, reducing the energy requirement for size reduction process which precedes most bioconversion processes. Torrefaction is also accompanied with a color change in most cases. The process of roasting of coffee beans by heating the green beans to 200–300°C over a long period of time is the most popular example of the torrefaction process. During the process of torrefaction, there is some reduction in the energy content of the biomass due to the partial devolatilization occurring during the process. However, this reduction in energy content is compensated by the increase in energy density of the biomass during the process. Basu [11] gives details of the changes in terms of energy density, heating value, etc. in bagasse after torrefaction.

Carbonization

Carbonization is a slow pyrolysis process where biomass is heated slowly to temperatures of around 400°C in the absence of oxygen and maintained for several days. The long heating duration allows adequate time for condensable vapor to be converted into char and non-condensable gases. It is the oldest form of pyrolysis and is generally used as a cheap and inexpensive alternative for making charcoal. Tar, pyroligenous acid, and combustible gases are the by-products of this process. As in torrefaction, here also, dehydration and depolymerization of hemicellulose

takes place. The breaking and reforming of intermolecular and intramolecular bonds result in formation of high molecular weight and low molecular weight compounds, where the low molecular weight fragments are cracked into liquid and gaseous products and the high molecular weight fragments formed as a result of rebonding, char together to form the solid char product. The product distribution depends on the size of feed, heating rate, and temperature at which the process is maintained. The yield of liquid (tar) increases with decrease in size of the feed and a simultaneous increase in the rate of heating. The general scheme of the carbonization process (the Modified Broide-Shafizadeh scheme), and an example of a continuous carbonization process of pine bark and sawdust (the Tech-Air pyrolysis system) is described in the Asian Biomass Handbook [8]. The predominant product of the carbonization process, i.e., charcoal, besides being used as a solid fuel for cooking, has recently acquired new uses such as use of charcoal for soil improvement. The by-products of the process, i.e., the pyroligenous acid has applications in agriculture and as a deodorant. The gas fraction can be used as a supplementary fuel for the process.

Fast pyrolysis

Fast pyrolysis is usually the process of choice for the production of liquid biofuels such as bio-oil. It involves heating of biomass at temperatures of 300–1,300°C under steam or other non-oxidizing gases at pressures ranging from atmospheric pressure to pressures up to 3 MPa, to produce pyrolytic oils and/or medium to high energy value gases. The product of pyrolysis comprises a dark brown homogeneous liquid. This liquid has a heating value which is about half of that of conventional fuel oil. The process of fast pyrolysis thus "concentrates" the biomass to a higher energy density liquid product which can significantly improve the logistics (because liquids can be easily transported from one place to another), and the economics (because energy density of biomass increases) of biomass conversion. The process parameters can be adjusted to give different types of process variants and consequently, different proportions of liquid solid and gas.

In the process of fast pyrolysis, high liquid yields can be obtained under the following process conditions:

- high heating and heat transfer rates
- careful control of pyrolysis reaction temperature of $\sim 500^{\circ}$ C and vapor phase temperature of $\sim 400-500^{\circ}$ C
- short hot vapor residence time (<2 s)
- rapid cooling of pyrolysis vapors to give liquid bio-fuel.

As can be seen from the above conditions, fast pyrolysis requires rapid heating as well as rapid cooling, i.e., it requires efficient heat transfer. Therefore, the reactor equipment, process, and raw material should be such that efficient heat transfer is possible. Lower temperatures favor formation of charcoal hence, this is to be avoided. Table 1.5 gives the different process variants of fast pyrolysis with respect to their reactor systems and their salient features.

S.No.	Reactor	Salient features
1.	Bubbling fluid bed reactor	 Simple in construction and operation, good temperature control, efficient heat transfer, good control of vapor residence time. Liquid yields of 70–75% obtained. Rate of heating is the rate limiting step therefore, small- (2–3 mm) sized biomass particles are required.
2.	Circulating fluid bed and transported bed reactor system	 Features similar to bubbling fluid bed reactor system, except that it is more complex, and higher char contents are obtained in the bio-oil compared to 1. Separate process for recovery of char is required. Suitable for larger throughputs.
3.	Ablative fast pyrolysis reactor	 Mechanism of heat transfer different from 1 and 2. Heat transfer from hot reactor wall to "melt" wood that is in contact with it under pressure. Molten wood vaporizes to product similar to that from 1 and 2. Heat transfer not a rate limiting factor therefore large particles can be used. Process limited to rate of heat supply to reactor which can be more easily controlled and maintained. No requirement of fluidizing gas therefore equipment is more compact and reaction system more efficient. Absence of fluidizing gas increases partial pressure of condensable vapors which increases vapor collection and subsequent condensation efficiency. Process is surface area controlled therefore scaling is a more serious problem.
4.	Entrained flow reactor system	 Equipment simple but poor heat transfer between hot gas and solid particle. High gas flows required for efficient heat transfer therefore, larger plant sizes. Low partial vapor pressure causes liquid collection difficult. Liquid yield is lower than that in 1 and 2. 50–60% w/w liquid yield on dry basis reported.
5.	Rotating cone reactor system	 Similar to transported bed reactor system but transport effected by centrifugal forces in a rotating cone. Recent development. Carrier gas requirement much less than that in 1 and 2. Complex integrated operation required. Liquid yields 60–70% on dry feed basis.

 Table 1.5
 Variants of fast pyrolysis reactor systems

A detailed description of these systems, and the locations where these are operational on an industrial scale, are given by Bridgewater [12]. Pyrolysis, being an endothermic process requires process heat to be provided by some means. A commercial process design typically provides this heat from by-products obtained from within the process. About 50–75% of the energy content of feed-stock is required to drive the process. The energy content in char—one of the by-products of fast pyrolysis is about 25% of the energy in the feedstock, whereas gas—the other byproduct, contains only about 5% of the energy in the feed. Thus, the net heat content of the by-products is insufficient to provide the heat of pyrolysis hence, process heat for fast pyrolysis is required to be provided by other external means:

- hot reactor wall
- tubes through which hot char and air are circulated
- hot fluidizing gas
- · recycled hot sand
- addition of hot air.

The internal utilization of energy from within the process, i.e., utilization of char, or gas or utilizing energy from fresh biomass, or from the product itself, for providing process heat can be done by the following ways:

- combustion of fresh biomass to provide process heat, instead of using the energy content in the by-product—char (especially where there is a good market for char)
- gasification of the by-product char and subsequent combustion of the resultant synthesis gas
- use of the by-product—gas along with external supplementation (because the energy content of the process by-product gas would be insufficient in itself)
- use of the main product of the process, i.e., bio-oil.

The use of fossil fuel can also be done to supplement the above sources of energy to get by-products with high energy value. A properly designed fast pyrolysis process and process equipment has no waste products other than clean flue gas and ash [12].

The liquid product of the fast pyrolysis process can be obtained by condensing the gaseous products of the process which are in the form of aerosols, true vapors and non-condensable gases, by rapid cooling of the gases. The aerosols may be coalesced or agglomerated to obtain the liquid product. Usually, the char gets entrained in the gaseous product of fast pyrolysis and acts as a vapor-cracking catalyst. This char is removed from the vapor by means of cyclones. In spite of the use of cyclones to remove char from the gases, some char still gets away in the vapor, and on condensation of this vapor, remains in the liquid product. The liquid product of fast pyrolysis is hence a microemulsion, and the char remaining in the liquid product causes destabilization of this microemulsion. The elaborate nature of this liquid microemulsion and its characteristics has been described by Bridgewater [12]. The char remaining in the liquid product is removed by a modified pressure filtration process where the particulates up to $<5 \mu m$ can be removed. Balat et al. [14] give the chemical composition of fast pyrolysis liquid and list the chemicals obtained from biomass oil produced by a fast pyrolysis process.

Flash pyrolysis

Flash pyrolysis involves heating of biomass rapidly to temperatures around 450-600°C at very high heating rates, in the absence of oxygen. The product obtained depends on the conditions of pyrolysis. Temperatures of around 500°C with high heating rates and short vapor residence times (1 s or 500 ms) maximizes liquid yield at up to 80% on weight basis with minimum gas and char production, whereas very rapid heating to temperatures around 700°C and vapor residence times similar to the above maximize the gas yields (up to 80% on weight basis), with minimum liquid and char production. The liquid produced from the flash pyrolysis process has a relatively low viscosity (51 cp) and a high water miscibility capacity (up to 35-50% w/w water can be mixed). The characteristics of bio-oil obtained from flash pyrolysis process are given by Bridgewater [13]. The conversion efficiency of biomass conversion into crude oil in a flash pyrolysis process can reach up to 70%. However, the quality and stability of the oil produced as a result of pyrolysis is a major problem with the flash pyrolysis process as flash pyrolysis of biomass invariably results in the production of pyrolysis water [14]. The gaseous product obtained from flash pyrolysis has a low to medium heating value (5-15 MJ/Nm³). This gas has a relatively high oil content. It is either used as such for drying feedstock or as a fluidizing medium in fluid bed reactors (however, its specific energy content is somewhat low). The gas from high temperature flash pyrolysis can also give nonequilibrium products such as alkenes. However, the yields (of around 15%) are not very economical.

Ultra- rapid pyrolysis

In ultra-rapid pyrolysis, very high heating rates and temperatures of around 1,000°C with short vapor residence times gives predominantly a gaseous product. A rapid quenching of the primary product is done following pyrolysis. The heating is done using a heat carrier solid such as sand. A gas–solid separator separates the gas from the heat carrier solid.

Hydrouspyrolysis and Hydropyrolysis

Hydrouspyrolysis and hydropyrolysis involve thermal decomposition of biomass in the presence of water or hydrogen respectively, under high pressure conditions. The process usually takes place in two stages. The first stage involves treating biomass with water or hydrogen at 200–300°C under pressure; the second stage involves cracking of the hydrocarbon produced in the first stage into lighter hydrocarbons at a temperature of around 500°C. The bio-oil produced by this type of pyrolysis method has reduced oxygen content which is a desirable characteristic.

Vacuum pyrolysis

In vacuum pyrolysis, biomass is heated in vacuum in order to decrease the boiling point and avoid undesirable chemical reactions. Vacuum pyrolysis is carried out at temperatures of 400–500°C and at total pressure of 2–20 kPa. Under these conditions, the product of pyrolysis can be rapidly withdrawn from the hot reaction chamber enabling preservation of the primary fragments originating from the thermal decomposition of biomass. Heat transfer, which is a rate limiting factor in pyrolysis, is the major limitation in vacuum pyrolysis. In an actual pilot plant reactor developed by a company called Pyrovac, this has been effected by passing molten salts through hollow heating plates on which the biomass is placed inside the vacuum pyrolysis reactor. The biomass gets heated by conduction as well as radiation thus increasing the heat transfer efficiency. The details of vacuum pyrolysis, with particular reference to the theoretical aspects of heat transfer in vacuum pyrolysis, has been described at length by Roy et al. [15].

The pyrolysis technology is less developed than the combustion or gasification technologies. This is probably due to the fact that the bio-oil obtained from the pyrolysis process costs 10-100% more than fossil fuel and its availability is limited; it is unstable due to the presence of entrained fines of char particles; dedicated liquid handling such as modified pressure filtration is required for removal of these fines; the kinematic viscosity of the pyrolysis oils varies over a wide range depending on the nature of feedstock and temperature of pyrolysis among other factors; bio-oil is acidic in nature with a pH of around 2.5–3.0, making it corrosive to the commonly used construction materials such as carbon, steel, and aluminum. Some of the sealants used may also be affected; bio-oil has a water content of around 15-30% by weight of oil mass, which contributes to the low energy density of the oil-this cannot be removed by conventional methods like distillation. All the above properties of the bio-oil obtained from pyrolysis make it unsuitable for direct application as a transport fuel, as a precursor for generation of chemicals, etc. Upgrading of the bio-oil by methods such as catalytic upgrading, needs to be done before it can be used for the various applications. These are described in detail by Bridgwater [13]. However, fast pyrolysis and flash pyrolysis is advancing very rapidly with a number of commercial level plants being set up across the globe.

Gasification

Gasification of biomass is the thermochemical transformation of biomass at high temperature in the presence of restricted supply of oxygen, which may be supplied as such, or in form of air or steam. It is the latest biomass conversion technology among the thermochemical methods for biomass conversion. The product of gasification is a gaseous product which has applications in electric power generation, manufacturing of liquid fuels, and production of chemicals from biomass. Gasification can be said to be an extension of pyrolysis, and has been optimized to give a maximum of the gas phase at the cost of char or liquid. The gas produced



from the gasification process is a mixture of carbon monoxide, hydrogen, and methane along with carbon dioxide and nitrogen also produced to some extent, and is called producer gas as it can be used as synthesis gas to produce ammonia or methanol, which, in turn, are used to produce synthetic fuel (synthetic petrol) or as a source of hydrogen. It can also be used as such as a heat source, or to generate electricity through gas turbines. Up to 50% efficiency with respect to electricity generation can be obtained if the gas turbine is integrated with a steam turbine in combined cycle gas turbine system (also called biomass integrated gasification combined cycle—BIGCC). In this system the waste gas from the gas turbine is recovered and used to generate steam in a steam turbine. Figure 1.11 shows a schematic flow sheet for such a system. With such a type of integration, biomass gasification plants can be as economical as coal-fired plants for electricity generation.

However, the power output is limited by economic supply of biomass and is generally limited to around 80 MW of electricity [16]. The medium used for gasification, i.e., oxygen, air, steam, etc. greatly affects the heating value of the product obtained. Gasification in the presence of steam has the highest heating value, followed by oxygen and air in that order. Although the product of gasification in the presence of steam has the higher operating temperatures are required for vaporization of water, increasing the cost of the process. Usually, a mixture of air and steam, with variable inlet ratio is employed. Commercial gasifiers are available in a wide range of sizes and a variety of types

which are capable of using a variety of biomass feedstock such as charcoal, wood, rice husk, and coconut shells. The newer gasification processes such as plasma gasification and hydrothermal gasification are also capable of processing municipal solid waste (MSW). The following sections describe the mechanisms and chemistry of the biomass gasification process and the various types of gasifier designs developed for getting optimum product yields for a given biomass feedstock.

The gasification process increases the H/C ratio of the biomass by adding hydrogen to and removing carbon from the biomass.

Gasification consists of four main stages: preheating and drying, pyrolysis, char gasification, and combustion (also called flaming pyrolysis). These stages may take place either in specific regions or zones of the gasifier equipment (especially in moving bed gasifier designs), or these may take place at a microscopic level, within a particle (especially in the fluidized-bed gasifier designs). As in all thermochemical conversion methods, drying of the biomass is a very important step in the gasification process. Moisture contents in biomass vary over a very wide range (from 30 to 60%, and in some cases, even up to 90%). Every kilogram of moisture in the biomass can consume a minimum of 2,260 kJ of extra energy from the gasifier to vaporize the water, which is not recoverable [11]. Hence, pre-heating of biomass is done where the moisture content of the biomass is brought down to about 25%. The pre-heated biomass further dries in the gasifier when temperatures in the range of 100-200°C are encountered. The surface moisture as well as the inherent moisture present in the biomass is removed. The stage of drying is followed by pyrolysis as the temperature increases to 200-700°C. Pyrolysis is the first step in the gasification of biomass. In this stage, large molecules are broken down to smaller gas molecules (condensable as well as non-condensable), carbon char, and tars/oils. This stage is endothermic and does not involve reactions with oxygen or air or any medium. Following the initial pyrolysis of biomass, a number of secondary reactions occur where the products of pyrolysis react with each other and with the medium used for pyrolysis (oxygen, air, or steam), to give CO, CO₂, H₂, H₂O and CH₄. The carbon char is further gasified in the presence of restricted air, oxygen or steam to produce additional combustible gases, giving producer gas. The updraft gasifier and the downdraft gasifier designs (Fig. 1.12, 1.13) illustrate the different stages in a gasification process.

The overall reactions occurring after the initial pyrolysis of biomass in the gasification process are shown below (*source* Ref. [11]): Carbon reactions:

 $\begin{array}{ll} \mathsf{C} + \mathsf{CO}_2 \leftrightarrow 2\mathsf{CO} & \Delta H^o_r = +172 \, \mathrm{kJ/mol} \\ \mathsf{C} + \mathsf{H}_2\mathsf{O} \leftrightarrow \mathsf{CO} + \mathsf{H}_2 & \Delta H^o_r = +131 \, \mathrm{kJ/mol} \\ \mathsf{C} + 2\mathsf{H}_2 \leftrightarrow \mathsf{CH}_4 & \Delta H^o_r = -74.8 \, \mathrm{kJ/mol} \\ \mathsf{C} + \frac{1}{2}\mathsf{O}_2 \rightarrow \mathsf{CO} & \Delta H^o_r = -111 \, \mathrm{kJ/mol} \end{array}$



Fig. 1.12 Schematic of a downdraft gasifier

Oxidation reactions:

$$\begin{array}{ll} \mathsf{C} + \mathsf{O}_2 \to \mathsf{CO}_2 & \Delta H_r^o = -394 \, \mathrm{kJ/mol} \\ \mathsf{CO} + \frac{1}{2} \mathsf{O}_2 \to \mathsf{CO}_2 & \Delta H_r^o = -284 \, \mathrm{kJ/mol} \\ \mathsf{CH}_4 + 2\mathsf{O}_2 \leftrightarrow \mathsf{CO}_2 + 2\mathsf{H}_2\mathsf{O} & \Delta H_r^o = -803 \, \mathrm{kJ/mol} \\ \mathsf{H}_2 + \frac{1}{2} \mathsf{O}_2 \to \mathsf{H}_2\mathsf{O} & \Delta H_r^o = -242 \, \mathrm{kJ/mol} \end{array}$$

Water-gas shift reaction:

$$\rm CO + H_2O \leftrightarrow \rm CO_2 + H_2 \quad \Delta H_r^o = -41.2 \, kJ/mol$$

Methanation reactions:

$2CO + 2H_2 \rightarrow CH_4 + CO_2$	$\Delta H_r^o = -247 \text{kJ/mol}$
$\rm CO + 3H_2 \leftrightarrow CH_4 + H_2O$	$\Delta H_r^o = -206 \text{kJ/mol}$
$CO_2 + 4H_2 \rightarrow CH_4 + 2H_2O$	$\Delta H_r^o = -165 \text{kJ/mol}$

Steam reforming reaction:

$$\begin{array}{ll} \text{CH}_4 + \text{H}_2\text{O} \leftrightarrow \text{CO} + 3\text{H}_2 & \Delta H_r^o = +206 \,\text{kJ/mol} \\ \text{CH}_4 + \frac{1}{2}\text{O}_2 \rightarrow \text{CO} + 2\text{H}_2 & \Delta H_r^o = -36 \,\text{kJ/mol} \end{array}$$

The kinetics of the above reactions is discussed at length by Basu [11]. The above reactions occur in different zones in the reactor or in different regions of the biomass



Fig. 1.13 Schematic of an updraft gasifier

particle depending on the surrounding temperature and the presence or absence of air/oxygen.

To summarize, gasification produces volatile gases and carbon char. The volatile gases are converted to CO, H_2 and CH_4 , whereas the carbon char is combusted to produce CO. In case of low temperatures and short residence times in the hot zone, medium-sized molecules may escape and condense as undesirable tars and oils. This tar, being viscous, creates problems of fouling in the gasifier, and needs to be removed. This can be done by catalytic cracking of the tar, which gives CO, H_2 , and H_2O . The role of catalysis in cracking is discussed in detail by Bridgwater [13].

The performance efficiency of a gasifier process or a gasifier unit is described in terms of "% cold gas efficiency" which is defined as follows:

% cold gas efficiency =
$$\left[\frac{\text{HHV}_{\text{gas}} \times v_{\text{gas}}}{\text{HHV}_{\text{fuel}} \times m_{\text{fuel}}}\right] \times 100$$

The extent of carbon conversion or fuel utilization can also be determined and related to the production efficiency of the gasifier process.

% carbon conversion =
$$\left[1 - \frac{m_{\text{ash}} \times \frac{\% \text{ C}_{\text{ash}}}{100}}{m_{\text{fuel}} \times \frac{\% \text{ C}_{\text{fuel}}}{100}}\right] \times 100$$

where

HHV_{gas} = higher heating value of the producer gas, kJ/m³ HHV_{fuel} = higher heating value of the biomass feedstock, kJ/m³ v_{gas} = volumetric rate of producer gas, m³/h m_{fuel} = input mass rate of biomass fuel, kg/h m_{ash} = mass rate of gas residue exiting the gasifier, kg/h % C_{ash} = weight percent of carbon in the ash residue, % % C_{fuel} = weight percent of carbon in the biomass fuel, %

In general, operating the gasifier with 100% carbon utilization, with simultaneous maximization of cold gas efficiency, is not possible. The carbon efficiency has to be always sacrificed in order to achieve producer gas of the desired specifications [17].

Gasifier Designs

A variety of gasifier designs have been developed depending upon the nature of the gasification process involved, nature of feedstock used, scale of operation, and the product specifications required. These designs can be classified either on the basis of the manner in which the feedstock is handled in the gasifier or, on the basis of the manner in which heat is supplied to the gasifier. The first category of gasifiers are the fixed-bed gasifiers, fluidized-bed gasifiers, and the entrained flow gasifiers. The salient features of each of these are summarized in Table 1.6. The oxidation reactions taking place in the gasifier are generally exothermic reactions.

In most gasifiers the energy released as a result of these reactions is used to serve a dual purpose: first, to fuel the endothermic reactions taking place in the gasifier, and second, to maintain the high temperatures required in the gasifier. Such a gasification process, in which the heat released in one portion of the gasifier is partly or fully utilized to propel other endothermic gasification reactions taking place in the equipment, is a called direct gasification process. If no oxidizing agent is added, there will be no exothermic reactions taking place in the gasifier, and the heat required for the gasification processes will have to be supplied from some external source of heat. Such systems where the heat requirements for the gasification process are supplied externally are called indirect gasification systems or allothermal gasification. Figure 1.14 shows a schematic diagram of the direct and indirect gasification systems. As the direct gasifiers use a part of their input stream to drive other reactions taking place in the system, the overall efficiency of such systems is reduced.

On the other hand, as the indirect gasifiers use an external source of energy for the purpose, such gasifiers are expected to be more energy efficient, especially if solar energy is used as the source. Use of sunlight to drive an endothermic gasification reaction increases the calorific value of the initial biomass, with an added advantage of being a renewable source. An optimized design of such an indirect gasification system may even increase the energy content of the product stream beyond that of the feedstock. The gasification systems in which the heat producing processes or reactions are separated from the processes which consume heat are

 Table 1.6 Types of gasifier systems

Based on	Fixed bed gasifier	Updraft gasifier
handling	• Can handle large and coarse	• Can tolerate more moisture in feedstock
of	particles	• Producer gas exits from top and at
feedstock	• Distinct gasifier zones are present at	lower temperature (130-150°C)
	a macroscopic level	• Product contaminated with tars, oils and
	• Release lower temperature gas	particulate matter from incoming fuel
	product	• Suitable for direct heating applications
	• High particulate content in gas	only
	product stream	Downdraft gasifier
	• High gasifying agent consumption	• Radiant and conductive heat transfer
	 Ash is removed as slag or dry 	from lower pyrolysis and combustion
		zones provide heat for drying of
		biomass
		 Properly designed and positioned
		"throat" increase velocity of gas and
		promote heat and mass transfer
		• Gives least amount of tar
		• Widely used for small-scale
		applications
		Cross-flow gasifier
		• High temperature (>1,500°C) reached
		in the combustion zone
		• Reaction zone is small with low thermal
		capacity
		• Short start-up time and response time
		• Tar production is low
		• Generally used for gasification of
		charcoal (with very low ash content)
		• Suitable for small-scale biomass
		gasification units
	Fluidized bed gasifier	Bubbling fluidized bed gasifier
	• Uses inert material such as sand to	• Exit gas temperatures usually
	mix solid fuel with gas phase	700–800°C
	• High operating temperatures	• Residence time is short
	(1,000–1,200°C)	• Suitable for medium-sized units
	• Gasifier zones at microscopic levels	(<25MWth)
	in individual particle	• Suitable for treated MSW blomass
	• Uniform temperature distribution	Circulating fluidized bed gasifier
	• Better solid–gas contact and neat	• Provides long residence time
	• Equipped with evaluate concreters at	• Suitable for fuels with high volatiles
	• Equipped with cyclone separators at	• Capacity of 60 Wiwth achieved
	from product	
	• Suitable for feedstocks with low ash	
	fusion temperature	
	• Ash removed as slag or dry	
	Ten tente ted us shug of dry	
		(continued)

Table 1.6 (continued)

Entrained flow gasifier

- Operate at higher temperatures (1.200-1.600°C) and higher pressures (2-8 MPa)
- High oxygen demand
- Require small and uniform particle size distribution (<0.4 mm) in feedstock (not suitable for fibrous materials)
- High reactivities and high capacities
- Low higher hydrocarbons and low tar formation
- · Product low in methane content hence, better suited for synthesis gas • Opposing jets of fuel and gasifying production
- · High operating temperatures causes ash to get converted into slag which may be corrosive
- Not suitable for high ash content feedstocks
- Preferred for IGCC plants

Based on Direct gasifiers

heat supply

- method of Use portion of product or input stream Using pure oxygen makes the process to drive gasification reactions
 - Indirect gasifiers
 - The combustion process is separated from the gasification process
 - Energy efficiency greater than direct gasifiers
 - Produces medium calorific value product and flue gases
 - Complete conversion of biomass is possible
 - High investment and maintenance cost

Top-feed entrained flow gasifier

- Vertically cylindrical reactor vessel
- Pulverized biomass fed along with oxygen through a centrally mounted jet burner at the top of reactor
- · Flow of all reactants occurs from single burner
- Product, gas, and slag flow in the same direction
- Side-feed entrained flow gasifier
- Fuel injected through horizontal nozzles set opposite to each other at the lower part of gasifier
- agent improve degree of mixing
- High oxygen availability in mixing zone accelerates exothermic reactions
- · Product gas moves upwards and exits from top
- High temperatures (above ash-melting points) prevent ash entrainment with product
- Reduced overall efficiency
- comparable to indirect gasification however, cost efficiency reduces
- Char indirect gasifier
- · Residual char is combusted to provide energy for gasification
- · Gives very high throughputs and vields of gas
- Gas indirect gasifier
- Fraction of combustible process gas burned to provide heat for gasification
- · Versatile and can use a wide variety of feedstock

Gasifier using solar energy

- · Uses concentrated solar energy as external energy source which is renewable
- Calorific value of biomass feedstock increases
- Energy content of exit stream can exceed that of feedstock
- Reactor design is a major challenge



Fig. 1.14 Schematic of direct and indirect gasification process

also categorized under indirect gasification systems. Such systems therefore consist of two reactors connected by an energy flow. Typically, the oxidation or combustion reactions which are exothermic in nature are separated from the pyrolysis and gasification reactions which require heat. The heat from the combustion reactor is provided to the gasification reactor by means of hot sand which is circulated between the two reactors. The different designs of gasifiers, along with their salient features, advantages and disadvantages, have been reviewed by a number of authors [10, 11, 17–19]. A summary of these is given in Table 1.6.

In addition to the gasifier designs summarized in Table 1.6, there are other gasifiers which are modifications of the existing designs. Transport gasifier, twin reactor system, and chemical looping gasifier designs are modifications of the circulating fluidized-bed gasifier. The transport gasifier is a hybrid of entrained flow and fluidized-bed gasifier systems. Its construction and process design attributes to it, a higher throughput, better mixing and consequently, higher heat and mass transfer rates. However, it is more suitable for gasification of coal; its suitability for gasification of biomass is yet to be proven [11]. The twin reactor system is a dual fluidized-bed gasifier where the combustion process in the gasification of biomass is separated from the gasification process using separate fluidized-bed reactors. Such a design prevents the dilution of the product mix by nitrogen which is released subsequent to air combustion in normal fluidized-bed gasification process. These are used for gasification of coal as well as biomass.

industrial-scale units are described by Basu [11]. The chemical looping gasifier process is a relatively recent development in which a bubbling fluidized-bed gasifier is coupled with a circulating fluid bed regenerator to obtain a continuous stream of hydrogen from agricultural feedstock. In- situ sequestration of carbon dioxide, formed during the gasification process, is done by using calcium oxide which reacts with carbon dioxide to form calcium carbonate, which is then reconverted into calcium oxide in the circulating bed regenerator [20].

Plasma gasification technology is a newly developed self-sustaining technology which is used especially for conversion of municipal solid waste into electric power. It is relatively insensitive to the quality of feedstock which is the most desired feature for MSW processing. The garbage is converted into a finely shredded mass and is then fed into a plasma chamber which consists of a sealed stainless steel vessel which is filled with either ordinary air or nitrogen. A 650 V electric current is passed between two electrodes which tears off electrons from air to create plasma. The energy generated in the process is sufficient to disintegrate the garbage into its constituent elements, forming syngas along with other by-products depending on the nature of MSW used as feedstock. The syngas, which leaves the plasma chamber at a temperature of $\sim 1,200$ °C is fed to a cooling system, where the heat transferred from the syngas to the cooling water generates steam, which can be used in a steam turbine to generate electricity. The gas, after appropriate clean-up, can be used either for the usual applications of syngas, or in a gas generator to generate electricity. Part of the electricity generated is used to generate plasma in the plasma chamber. Figure 1.15 shows a schematic of the process.

Hydrothermal gasification involves gasification of biomass in an aqueous medium using supercritical water, i.e., water at a temperature and pressure beyond the critical point of water (374.29°C and 22.089 MPa). The conventional thermal methods of biomass conversion are cost-effective only when the moisture content of biomass feedstock is low. However, certain biomass such as aquatic biomass and MSW may contain moisture even up to 90% weight basis. In such cases, either the biomass has to be dried separately or, process heat is used to dry the excess moisture, both of which reduce the efficiency of the process. Another alternative in such cases is the use of biochemical methods for biomass conversion. However, these methods suffer from a major disadvantage of being very slow, having a low efficiency and producing only methane and no hydrogen. In order to get hydrogen, steam reforming process is required to be carried out. In contrast, the hydrothermal gasification process is relatively rapid and can tolerate very high moisture contents without compromising on the efficiency of the process [21]. Supercritical water has some unique properties which make it suitable for biomass gasification:

- it causes rapid hydrolysis of biomass
- the intermediate reaction products, including gases have a high solubility
- single-phase reactions are possible, thus eliminating interphase barriers for mass transfer
- being non-polar, supercritical water is a good solvent for substances like lignin which show low solubility in ordinary water.



Fig. 1.15 Schematic of plasma gasification unit

Hydrothermal gasification causes splitting of the organic molecules present in the biomass by hydrolysis and oxidation reactions. The biomass gets broken down to methane, hydrogen, carbon monoxide, and carbon dioxide. The major advantages of hydrothermal gasification are that it is suitable for biomass with high moisture contents; the product formed is rich in hydrogen; char and tar formation is low; the tar that is formed gets cracked and dissolves in the supercritical water. In addition, automatic separation of the product gas from the liquid containing char and tar takes place which obviates the need for a separate gas cleaning process which is usually required for all the conventional gasification or, for that matter for all thermochemical conversion processes. Elements such as sulfur, nitrogen, halogens, etc. leave the process along with the aqueous effluents. However, due to this, corrosion of the reactor is a major problem as the presence of water causes the elemental by-products to get converted into acids which can corrode the reactor. Products such as bio-oil, methanol, hydrogen and a range of chemicals including phenol can be obtained from hydrothermal gasification of biomass. Hydrothermal gasification is most suitable for processing of MSW, and other biomass having very high moisture content as the efficiency of this process is independent of moisture content.

Downstream processing in gasification

An ideal gasification process converts biomass completely into carbon monoxide and hydrogen, i.e., syngas. This syngas can be used directly for the generation of electricity via internal or external combustion engines or for synthesis of liquid biofuel and other chemicals. However, the hot syngas from the gasifier may be contaminated to a varying degree, depending on the design of the gasifier used, process controls exerted, medium of gasification (oxygen, air, steam, etc.), and nature of biomass feedstock used. The product, instead of pure syngas may consist of a mixture of syn-gas and carbon dioxide, methane, water, and smaller hydrocarbons-condensable and non-condensable. This gaseous product may be further contaminated by contaminants comprising particulate matter, alkali compounds, nitrogen compounds, sulfur compounds, and condensable tars. Hence, syngas cleaning is an important component of downstream processing in the gasification process. Cold cleaning (at temperatures <30°C), warm cleaning (at temperatures between 30 and 300°C) and hot cleaning (at temperatures >300°C) may be done depending on the final application of the syngas. The particulate matter in the syngas is removed through physical means by using ceramic or metal based filters. Particle agglomeration techniques may precede the physical filtration process in order to facilitate the filtration process and prevent the clogging of the filter surface by fine ash deposits. High porosity nanoparticle membrane filters are also being developed for removal of sticky materials from the gaseous product. The alkali and elemental contaminants may be removed by passing the gas through a bed of suitable high capacity sorbents. Tar formation is one of the major issues in the gasification process. The tar present in the syngas can condense into a thick viscous liquid which can stick on the various surfaces of the process equipment such as turbines and engines. Primary tar formation, i.e., the tar formation in the gasifier can be controlled by using optimum operating conditions as well as by use of appropriate catalysts which cause cracking of the tar. Secondary tar removal, i.e., removal of tar present in the syn-gas already collected from the gasifier can be done by filtering, gas scrubbing, passing through cyclone separators, catalytic cracking, steam reforming, or by thermal cracking methods. Kumar et al. [22] have reviewed the various aspects of downstream processing in gasification. The main methods for tar removal are steam reforming and catalyst cracking. In steam reforming, the tar is reacted with at temperatures of around 650–700°C where the tar gets converted to syngas:

$$C_xH_y + xH_2O \leftrightarrow xCO + \left(x + \frac{y}{2}\right)H_2$$

For obtaining hydrogen as the major product, the above reaction is followed by water–gas shift reaction:

$$CO + H_2O \leftrightarrow CO_2 + H_2$$

Steam reforming may be a part of the gasification process or may be performed separately after the gasification. Tar cracking involves thermal cracking of the long

chain hydrocarbons in the tar into smaller molecules, finally forming CO and H_2 . This can also be performed in situ, in the gasifier or separately. Bridgwater [13] describes the use of catalysts such as dolomite, fluid catalytic cracking catalysts, and metal catalysts for removal of tar from the gasification product.

Biomass gasification is the latest generation of thermochemical biomass-toenergy conversion processes. A number of commercial gasifiers, based on the various types described previously in this section, are operational, and some of them have successfully completed several years of operation. The Atlanta-based Future Energy Resources Corporation (FERCO) has commercialized the Silva-Gas TM gasification technology in partnership with the US Department of Energy and the Burlington Electric Department at Vermont, USA. This facility, which was operational in 2001, is a low inlet gas velocity, high throughput biomass gasification process, which can convert more than 285 tons of biomass such as forest residue, MSW, agricultural waste, and energy crops into SilvaGas, a medium Btu gas. This gas is piped directly to Burlington Electric Department's McNeil generating plant, where it produces more than 140 MWh of electric power. Another circulating fluidized-bed gasifier developed by Foster Wheeler at Lahiti Kymijarvi, Finland, has completed several years of operation and can produce 60 MWth energy. It uses paper, textiles, wood, and peat fuels with an average moisture content of about 50%. It provides hot but low calorific value gas around 2 MJ/Nm³ which can be used for heating purposes only. A demonstration plant with a bubbling fluidized-bed gasifier design has been developed as a part of the Carbona Project, at Skive, Denmark, and commissioned in late 2007. It uses wood-based biomass and has an efficiency of 90%. The product generated is a mixture of carbon monoxide, hydrogen, and methane, having a heating value of 5 MJ/kg, which is used for CHP application and generates 6,000 kW of power. Plasma gasification plants, mainly for the processing of MSW have also been developed, one of them being the Hitachi demonstration plant set up at Yoshii, Japan, commissioned in 1999. This plant was developed as a solution to dioxin, ash, and energy recovery problems from incineration-towaste energy plants in Japan. It processes 20 tons/day of MSW and produces steam for industrial use. The plant emissions are much reduced, and the slag produced is a glassy product which can be used as a construction material. Another plasma gasification plant-the Hitachi combined MSW and Sewage Sludge gasification plant, is a commercial scale plant, Mihama and Mikdata, Japan, and commissioned in 2002. This plant treats 24 tons/day MSW and 4 tons/day sewage sludge to generate energy which is used in the municipal wastewater treatment facility. The same company has a 200 tons/day plasma gasification plant which has been fully operational since 2003, at Utashinai, Japan which uses automobile shredder residue as feed. The syngas produced is used to generate power and process steam. The hydrothermal gasification process is still at the development stage, but considering the numerous advantages it offers over other conventional gasification processes, it will not be long before commercial-scale plants see the light of the day.



Fig. 1.16 Feedstock for biochemical conversion processes



Fig. 1.17 Biochemical conversion of cellulosic and lignocellulosic feedstock

1.2.1.2 Biochemical Conversion Processes

The biochemical methods of conversion of biomass are more environment friendly than the thermochemical processes described above. These processes are mainly used for conversion of organic wastes, both agricultural and municipal solid waste (Fig. 1.16), which are relatively difficult to process due to their very low energy density and, difficulty in handling. The schemes for processing the two types of wastes are outlined in Figs. 1.17 and 1.18.

In principle, these methods can be considered to be the reverse of photosynthesis. The products of biochemical conversion methods comprise biogas and



landfill gas; liquid biofuels such as biodiesels, bioethanol, biomethanol, and pyrolysis oils; and hydrogen. Biogas is a mixture of methane and carbon dioxide, generated as a result of the decay of sewage or animal waste. A similar product generated at landfill sites is called landfill gas. The landfill gas generated from landfill sites, if it is not collected, escapes into the atmosphere. Pipelines laid at the landfill gas which can be used to generate electricity with the help of large internal combustion engines. The output of the landfill gas can be as high as 1,000 m³/h [16]. Processing lignocellulosic feedstock, including lignocellulosic waste gives liquid biofuels such as ethanol which can be used as a transport fuel by mixing with gasoline. A host of other products such as methane, producer gas, esters, and other chemicals having a cellulosic origin can also be obtained. Hydrogen is going to be an important energy carrier of the future. The biochemical processes can be classified into three categories:

- *Aerobic fermentation* (which can also be considered as biogasification of biomass), which produces compost, carbon dioxide, and water.
- Anaerobic digestion which produces fertilizer gas and biogas.
- Alcoholic fermentation which produces ethanol, carbon dioxide, and waste.

The main disadvantage of biochemical processes is that they are slow, involving very long time periods.

Aerobic Fermentation

The production of landfill gas from landfill sites is carried out by a complex process involving a succession of microbial population. The initial fermentation is aerobic fermentation which is carried out by bacteria already present in waste. This stage is followed by an anaerobic digestion stage. During the aerobic fermentation stage, the carbon in the biomass is converted into carbon dioxide and water. These reactions are strongly exothermic and increase the temperature of the landfill waste, consequently increasing the activity of the other microorganisms. If this stage continues for long, the amount of methane, which is the product of the anaerobic digestion stage, decreases. In order to shorten the aerobic fermentation stage, and consequently prevent the reduction in methane yield, the landfill waste is made to pass through compactors, which serves a dual purpose of increasing the density of the landfill waste and simultaneously removing a substantial amount of oxygen from the waste. After an initial phase of aerobic fermentation, the waste gradually becomes anaerobic as oxygen is depleted from it. The subsequent fermentation causes the breakdown of complex polymeric components in the biomass into simpler compounds, followed by volatile fatty acids, followed by carbon dioxide, hydrogen, and acetic acid.

Anaerobic Digestion

Anaerobic digestion involves the microbial fermentation of cellulosic/lignocellulosic biomass in the absence of oxygen for about 2–8 weeks. A similar process involving municipal solid waste, which may, in addition to cellulosic components, contain polymeric substances, fats, proteins, etc. is termed as anaerobic digestion. This is the most commonly used, commercially viable process under the biochemical methods of biomass conversion. The product of anaerobic fermentation comprises 65–70% methane, 30–35% carbon dioxide, and traces of other gases such as H_2S and hydrogen. This product has a heating value of 26 MJ/m³ [23].

Lignocellulose is very refractory in nature and requires harsh pretreatment procedures before it can be used for fermentation. The pretreatment procedures usually used are described in "Forest Biorefinery". Following the pretreatment procedure, lignocellulose breaks down to cellulose, hemicellulose, and lignin. The cellulose and hemicellulose subsequently undergo anaerobic, or alcoholic fermentation to give biogas or ethanol. Alcoholic fermentation is discussed in the following section.

Anaerobic fermentation/digestion is also called biomethanation as methane is the major end product of the process. It can be carried out according to a two-stage scheme or a four-stage scheme. The two-stage scheme originated in the 1930s and involves two major metabolic groups of bacteria- the acid forming and the methane forming bacteria. The acid forming bacteria are a complex species of bacteria which hydrolyze the primary substrate polymers such as polysaccharides, proteins, and lipids, and ferment these to mainly fatty acids and other organic acids, alcohols, ammonia, sulfide, carbon dioxide, and methane. The methane forming bacteria involve a group of bacteria which degrade the products of the first stage to methane and carbon dioxide.

The current processes used (Fig. 1.19), involve four stages which are executed by four different groups of organisms, and end up with different end products [24].

The *first phase* involves facultative, or strictly anaerobic bacteria such as *Streptococcus, Peptococcus, Micrococcus, and Clostridium* (a thermophilic species). These convert the polymers/polysaccharides into the biomass to small monomers or oligomers such as glucose, cellobiose, amino acids, short chain fatty acids, and glycerol. Carbon dioxide and hydrogen are released in the process. In



Fig. 1.19 Anaerobic digestion process

other words, in this phase, the biomass is hydrolyzed to give smaller fragments, which are then processed further by other groups of microbes. This process is catalyzed by extracellular hydrolases such as cellulase, xylanase, protease, and lipase. This stage is relatively slow and may often be the rate limiting stage in the process.

The *second phase* is the acidogenesis phase which again involves facultative and strictly anaerobic microbes such as *Bacteriodes, Clostridium, Butyribacterium, Propionibacterium, Pseudomonas, and Ruminococcus.* Some of these are hydrolytic and others, non-hydrolytic. The products of this phase are short chain fatty acids such as formate, acetate, butyrate, isobutyrate, and succinate. Among these, acetate is the major short chain fatty acid. Small quantities of alcohols (methanol, ethanol, glycerol, and butanol) and acetone may also be produced depending on the nature of the initial feedstock and the anaerobic digestion process used. This stage of fermentative acidogenesis is rapid and often leads to accumulation of the short chain fatty acids. If this happens, it usually leads to reduced methane formation, followed by methanation failure in the subsequent methanation stage. This usually happens when the feedstock contains large amounts of readily fermentable carbohydrates, and when the loading rate is high.

The *third phase* involves strictly anaerobic bacteria, which are syntrophic acetogens—*Syntrophomonas wolfei and Syntrophobacteri wolinii*. They are called syntrophs because they are in close proximity to methanogens, the group of microbes that are responsible for methanogenesis, which is the fourth phase of anaerobic digestion (the syntrophy occurs through interspecies hydrogen transfer). The syntrophic acetogens convert substances such as ethanol, and esters such as propionate, butyrate, valerate, and other short chain fatty acids containing three or more than three carbons to acetate, hydrogen, and carbon dioxide. The hydrogen produced is rapidly consumed by the methanogens, which reduces the partial pressure of hydrogen and takes the processes forward toward generation of methane in the next phase. Syntrophic acetogens grow very slowly (require more than one week to grow to sufficient numbers), making this stage another possible rate limiting step (in addition to the first hydrolytic stage).

In case of inefficiency of this acetogenesis phase, accumulation of the nonacetic acid small chain fatty acids, i.e., the products of the second phase occurs, which reduces the pH of the fermentation reactor. This inhibits the methanogens, thus reducing the formation of methane, which eventually ceases completely.

The *fourth phase* involves a group of microbes called the methanogens that are completely different from bacteria and belong to a class called Archaea. These are strict anaerobes, which require a very narrow range of environmental conditions of pH and temperature and a reduction potential of <300 mV. These are present naturally in anaerobic environments such as swamps and wetlands and grow slowly. Hence, this is a third possible rate limiting step in the process of anaerobic digestion. These microbes use acetate, hydrogen, carbon dioxide (the products of the third phase), in addition to methanol, formate, methylamines, and methyl sulfides as their substrate. Depending on the substrate specificity and methanogenesis pathway, these microorganisms are classified into two categories-the Hydrogenotrophic methanogens and the Acetoclastic or acetotrophic methanogens. The Hydrogenotrophic methanogens use hydrogen produced by both the acidogens, as well as the syntrophic acetogens to reduce carbon dioxide to methane or to convert methanol, methylamines and methyl sulfides to methane. A wide diversity of species is found in this category. Acetoclastic or acetotrophic methanogens convert acetate to methane. As acetate is the major product of the preceding stage of anaerobic digestion, two-thirds of the methane produced is by this class of microorganisms. Only two genera in this category have been identified-Methanosaeta (formerly called methanothrix) and Methanosarcina. The latter is both acetotrophic as well as hydrogenotrophic. All these processes are endothermic processes. The yield of the anaerobic digestion processes depend on the nature of feedstock used. Yu Zhongtang et al. [24] have listed the Biochemical methane potential (BMP) of a variety of feedstock such as livestock manure, foodprocessing wastes, municipal solid wastes, crop residues, and energy crops. From among the livestock manure evaluated, poultry manure had the highest BMP of 460 m³/dry ton, whereas beef and dairy cattle manure had a BMP of 148–250 m³/dry ton. Among the food-producing wastes, fresh fruit and vegetable waste had a BMP of 228–495 m³/dry ton and municipal solid (organic fraction) waste had a BMP of 300–550 m³/dry ton. Agricultural residue such as corn stover and wheat straw had a BMP of 250 and 161–241 m³/dry ton, respectively. Energy crops such as sugar beet and grass silage had a BMP of 380 and 390 m³/dry ton respectively. The technologies currently used for anaerobic fermentation/ digestion, along with their salient features are shown in Table 1.7.

Alcoholic Fermentation

Alcoholic fermentation involves the production of alcohols such as ethanol and butanol from biomass. Fermentation has been used since ages to produce alcohol from carbohydrate substrates. The feedstock for this fermentation has been agricultural commodities such as sugarcane, beet sugar and corn starch-the more common one being starch. The microorganism used for this fermentation has been mainly, yeast. The technology for such fermentations is very well established and has been commercially used for production of ethanol, with state-of-the art fermentation plants, the world over. However, the food versus fuel controversy has prompted the search for other feedstocks such as cellulosic/lignocellulosic biomass for use as substrate for fermentation to ethanol. The bioethanol so produced can be used as a fuel as such or, more appropriately, as an admixture in diesel, as gasohol. The use of such substrates, especially lignocellulosic substrates, for successful commercial fermentation, is still a challenging task mainly due to the highly refractory nature of lignocellulose. In addition to physicochemical methods for efficient hydrolysis of lignocellulose, enzymatic hydrolysis methods are also being researched the latter having an advantage of being carried out in situ in the fermenter. Persistent research efforts in this area have resulted in the development of efficient and economic fermentation processes and technologies even for such a refractory material. The world's first cellulosic ethanol demonstration plant has been set up at Yonroe-Tennesee and has begun operations since January 2010.

The biochemistry of lignocellulose/cellulose conversion into easily fermentable sugars has been studied exhaustively and a multitude of reviews and treatises on the subject is available in the literature. This section will discuss the recent advances that have taken place in the area. Lignocellulose consists of cellulose which is a glucose polymer; hemicellulose, which consists of mixed hexoses and pentoses; and xylan which is a xylose polymer. All these substances need to be essentially converted into monosaccharides before they can be fermented by the usual fermentation process. This process of breaking down the complex polysaccharides into simple soluble sugars is called saccharification. *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* was the predominantly used species for this conversion. However, this microorganism, which is conventionally used for conversion of starch into ethanol,

Table 1.7 Anaerobic digestion s	ystems and technologies	
Type of reactor/technology	Salient features	Applications
Continuous Stirred Tank Reactor (CSTR)	- First type of anaerobic digestion reactor developed; still in use	Batch CSTR produces 4,000 m ³ of biogas per day in biomethanation plant at Karlsruhe, Germany
	- Good mass transfer	Centralized biogas plant operating three thermophilic
	 Cannot be operated at high hydraulic loading rates Not suitable for biomass with low concentration of readily 	CSTRs with a total volume of $7,000 \text{ m}^3$ in Lemvig, Demmark
	biodegradable substances	
Completely Mixed Contact	- Can handle high-strength feedstocks with large amounts	
Anaerobic Contact Reactor	– High loading rates possible	
(ACR)	- Active microbial mass retained in reactor	
• Sand Filter bed reactor	- Can handle high-strength feedstocks	Pilot scale reactor developed, large scale reactor not yet
	- Active microbial mass retained in reactor	developed
	 High loading rates possible 	
	- Less susceptible to upsets	
	- Capable of digesting high-fat feedstocks	
	 High conversion capacity 	
	- Vulnerable to clogging	
Mixed Plug Flow Loop Reactor	- Tank reactor with U-shape design	Suitable for medium to high solid content feedstock
(MPFLR)	- Biomass enters at one end, flows forward, and loops back	Industrial-scale MPFLR plant at Herrema Dairy Farm,
	and exits from the same end through a separate outlet	Indiana digests more than 400 m^3 of manure slurry with
	Contents mixed by means of gas or water jets in	about 8% solids
	direction perpendicular to the plug flow of the reactor	
	Solids separated from the effluent may be recycled	
		(continued)

44

Table 1.7 (continued)		
Type of reactor/technology	Salient features	Applications
Anaerobic Filter Reactor (AFR)	 Comprises a tank filled with rocks, gravel, or plastic granules which act as a filter medium as well as a substrate on which most microbes adhere and grow as a biofilm Some microbes grow as clusters/granules within the void spaces Hydraulic residence time(HRT) and solids retention time (SRT) are separated Suitable for feedstocks where phases 3 and 4 are prolonged, requiring long (≥20 days) SRT 	Suitable for feedstocks rich in carbohydrates Not suitable for feedstock with high separated solids(SS) such as manure slurry unless SS is removed
 Anaerobic expanded bed reactor(AEBR) 	 Design is a variant of AFR, similar in all aspects except that the filter medium is fluidized instead of immobilized 	
• Amaerobic fluidized bed reactor (AFBR)	 Large surface area is provided for digestion reaction Friction between fluidized particles promotes transfer of substrates, nutrients, and metabolic products across biofilms, simultaneously preventing excessive build-up of bio-film Effluent is re-circulated High organic loading rates possible High organic loading rates possible High S (up to 10%) can be treated Energy consumption is higher compared to AFR Scale-up is more difficult Requires longer start-up time and uniform distribution of influent 	
		(continued)

Table 1.7 (continued)		
Type of reactor/technology	Salient features	Applications
Upflow Anaerobic Sludge Blanket Reactor (UASB)	 Microbial biomass is kept as suspension and forms a blanket of sludge at the bottom of the reactor Mixing between the sludge and the influent is achieved by high up-flow velocity of influent and rising biogas Solid–liquid–gas separator at the upper part of the reactor separates the biogas from the sludge granules No recirculation of solids separated from the effluent is required Operational costs are low High loading rates possible Not suitable for influents containing large amounts of SS 	Most common anaerobic digestion reactors used worldwide, suitable for medium strength waste streams such as waste from brewery, food processing, beverage, bioethanol, pulp and paper, fermentation, chemical, and pharmaceutical industries
Anaerobic Baffled Reactor (ABR)	 Consists of several baffled USAB reactors connected in series A settler is provided at the inlet where the SS in the influent settles Influent passes over and under the baffles as it flows toward the outlet Compartmentalized configuration facilitates spatial separation of acidogenic and methanogenic processes Reduced risk of microbial biomass washout, hence, effluent has a low COD Shallow reactors necessary so that sufficient liquid and gas up-flow velocities can be maintained Even distribution of influent difficult to maintain 	Suitable for treating waste waters of any organic strength
		(continued)

Table 1.7 (continued)		
Type of reactor/technology	Salient features	Applications
Expanded Granular Sludge Blanket Reactor (EGSB) Internal Circulation Reactor	 Latest development in anaerobic digesters It is a USAB reactor with a greater height to diameter ratio, enabling greater up-flow velocity (>4 m/h) Part of effluent is re-circulated Increase in up-flow velocity expands the sludge bed and eliminates dead zones, thus improving mass transfer and digestion rates High loading rates possible (HRT < 2 h) It is a combination of USAB and EGSB reactors—design 	Suitable for high strength feedstocks Suitable for treatment of a variety of industrial waste
(IC)	 and similar to two USAB reactors stacked one on top on the other Lower portion has an expanded granular sludge bed Influent enters at the bottom through a distribution system and is mixed with the effluent which is recirculated from the top to the bottom through a down pipe Due to the presence of the sludge bed at the bottom, most of the microbiological reactions of anaerobic digestion processes occur in this lower compartment The reactor has a down pipe (from bottom to top of the reactor) and a rise pipe (in the upper compartment of the reactor) and a rise pipe (in the upper compartment of the sector), which cause internal circulation of the water and sludge in the reactor-the rising gas causes a gas-lift, carrying water and sludge to drain downward through the down pipe 	waters
		(continued)

Table 1.7 (continued)		
Type of reactor/technology	Salient features	Applications
Anaerobic Hybrid Reactor (AHR) Anaerobic Sequencing Batch Reactor (ASBR)	 The undigested portion from the lower compartment is continued in the upper phase separator The effluent leaves the reactor through an overflow weir in the upper portion of the reactor Improved efficiency No energy required for recirculation Biogas has an increased methane content It is a combination of EGSB and AFR reactors Upper portion contains a packed zone of microbial biomass carrier and the lower portion contains a sludge blanket Hydrolysis and acidogenesis takes place in the packed zones Packed zone reduces microbial washout even at high upflanket Start-up period required to reach stable operation is very long (several months) A fill-and-draw cycle employed Anarobic digestion takes place during mixing Mixing stopped after completion of biogas production Sludge allowed to settle at bottom Liquid supermant removed by floating pump until liquid level drops to a pre-set level 	Laboratory-scale demonstrates suitability and efficiency of AFR to treat high strength industrial waste waters including cheese whey, molasses waste water, dairy manure slurry, wood fiber waste water, and palm mill oil waste water. Very few industrial-scale reactors exist, one of which is an AHR installed at a cheese factory in Turkey to treat cheese wheys Used to produce methane from winery waste water and swine slurry manure
		(continued)

48
Table 1.7 (continued)		
Type of reactor/technology	Salient features	Applications
Covered Lagoon Digester	 Comprises a large waste lagoon covered with a flexible or floating gas-impermeable cover Long retention time and high dilution rate Suitable for low solids feedstock (0.5–2%) Operates at ambient temperature Suitable for tropical regions where temperature is high throughout the year Simple and cheap to construct, operate and maintain Low biogas output 	Can be used to generate sufficient power to fulfill in-house power requirements
'Dry' Anaerobic Digestion Technologies (DRANCO technology)	 Comprises of a large tank with a separate mixing compartment at the bottom Shredded organic solid waste (<40 mm diameter) added and mixed (ratio 6:1 to 8:1) with digested sludge in the mixing compartment Steam added to the mixture to raise temperature to required temperature Pre-heated mixture pumped to the top portion of the digester Counter current movement of feed stock and biogas Biogas collected from top Average retention time of 20 days Offers advantages of high loading rates, construction simplicity, smaller digester volumes with no accumulation in digester 	Suitable for low moisture, high solid content (>15%) organic waste, energy crops and crop residues DRANCO digester in Victoria, Spain, with a volume of 1,770 m ³ has a capacity of 120,750 tons per year, producing 5,962 tons of biogas, 6,000 MWh electricity, and 12,580 tons of compost per year
Two-Stage Digester	 Hydrolysis and acidogenesis stages separated from syntrophic acetogenesis and methanogenesis stages by carrying them out in two different reactors Both reactors optimized respectively with respect to feeding rate, HRT, SRT, pH, and mixing 	An industrial-scale mesophilic two-stage CSTR digester, operating at 39° C installed in a farm in Lower Austria has a capacity of $2,000 \text{ m}^3$ each, capable of digesting a variety of feedstock including pig manure, energy crops, and residue from vegetable and sugar processing
		(continued)

Table 1.7 (continued)		
Type of reactor/technology	Salient features	Applications
Temperature-Phased Anaerobic Digester (TPAD)	 Enhanced stability, reduced reactor volumes, increased loading rates and improved yield Construction and operation costs higher than the single stage reactors Any of the above reactors can be used, CSTR and CMCR are the most commonly used ones It is a two-stage digester system, the First one is thermophilic and the second is mesophilic Enhanced hydrolysis and acidogenesis in first reactor Efficient and stable syntrophic acetogenesis and methanogenesis in the second reactor Due to the thermophilic digestion in the first stage, sanitation of waste streams occurs 	industry. It produces a total of 1MWh of electricity and 1.2 MWh of heat. Co-digestion of primary sludge and organic fraction of MSW successfully done in TPAD Suitable for dairy cattle manure and food processing wastes
Source Ref. [24]		

is not suitable for lignocellulosic-based ethanol production because Saccharomyces is capable of fermenting glucose alone to ethanol, whereas lignocellulosic biomass hydrolysate usually consists of a mixture of oligosaccharides. A number of novel enzymes and improved microbial strains, which have been specifically engineered to convert such a recalcitrant substance like lignocellulose into easily fermentable sugars, have been successfully developed. Some of the microbial strains developed are Scheffersomyces stiptis, Candida shehatae, Kluvveromyces marxianus, Escherichia coli and Zymonas mobilis [25]. The enzymes responsible for breaking down cellulose from lignocellulosic biomass comprise a multitude of enzymes which fall into the category of glycosyl hydrolases which exist in the form of a complex assembly of enzymes called "cellulosome". These glycosyl hydrolases include both cellulases and non-cellulosic structural polysaccharidases. The details of the different modules of enzymes comprising the cellulosome are discussed in detail by Berg Miller et al. [26]. The true cellulases, present in the glycosyl hydrolases, cleave the β -1,4-glucosidic bonds of cellulose, resulting in the production of cellobiose. A number of other enzymes, having varying degrees of specificities, are responsible for hydrolyzing different forms of cellulose present in the cellulosic plant material. Non-cellulosic structural polysaccharidases are a diverse group of enzymes that are capable of cleaving the different types of bonds present in the main chain backbone (xylanases and mannanases) and the side chain constituents (arabinofuranosidases, glucuronidases, acetyl esterases, xylosidases, and mannosidases) of the substrate. Ladisch et al. [27] provide an elaborate description of the cellulose enzyme system and the mode of action of fungal cellulases. Current research efforts in the field of enzymatic hydrolysis of cellulosic plant material are going increasingly toward identifying newer glycosyl hydrolases. The currently followed approach for accomplishing this is by attempting to genetically modify the most efficient existing microbial systems such as those found in the grass eating ruminant animals, e.g., Fibronobacter succinogenes, Ruminococcus albus, and Ruminococcus flavefaciens into making newer and more efficient glycosyl hydrolases by using molecular engineering concepts. The research progress in the field is comprehensively outlined by Berg Miller et al. [26].

An alternative to the above-mentioned enzymatic hydrolysis of lignocellulosic biomass is acid hydrolysis, which has a few advantages over enzymatic hydrolysis in that, it is quick, no dedicated support of enzyme production system is required, and high temperatures can be used, allowing lower acid concentrations. However, the major drawback of acid hydrolysis process is the degradation of the hexoses and pentoses to acids such as hydroxymethyl furfural (HMF) from glucose and furfural from xylose, in addition to some other acids produced. These acids reduce the activity of the ethanol producing microorganisms. HMF further breaks down to formic acid which may lead to a total inhibition of ethanol formation. Figure 1.20 shows a schematic of the various acids produced during pretreatment/acid hydrolysis of lignocellulosic biomass.

In addition to these acids, metals leached out from the hydrolysis equipments and other SO_2 inhibitors released from additives also retard microbial growth and other metabolic activity. More than a 100 such inhibitors have been detected. Liu



Fig. 1.20 Fermentation inhibitors produced during degradation of lignocellulosic biomass (Adapted from [28])

et al. [28] have classified such inhibitory compounds on the basis of the functional group present on the inhibitor agent. These degradation products have an inhibitory effect on the ethanol producing organisms, reducing the yield of ethanol from the process. An obvious solution to this problem lies in the removal of the aldehyde and/or other inhibitory agents at regular intervals. This can be carried out by physicochemical processes such as vacuum evaporation to reduce the volatile inhibitors; alkali treatment, using Ca(OH)2 or NaOH to precipitate out substances having aldehyde and ketone functional groups; and adding activated charcoal or diatomaceous earth to physically adsorb the inhibitory agents, thus improving the yield of ethanol. Use of anion- and cation- exchange resins has also been investigated with results more favorable than all the other methods mentioned above. A combination of two or more methods is preferred depending on the nature of inhibitors present. Enzymatic treatment using peroxidases and laccases obtained from the lignolytic fungus Trametes versicolor has been found to improve the yield of ethanol by removing the phenolic inhibitors from the substrate. Alternatively, in situ 'detoxification' solutions to this problem are being explored. One such solution comprises development of inhibitor-tolerant strains of yeast or bacteria that can withstand the presence of the inhibitors. The inhibitor conversion pathways and mechanisms of in situ detoxification have been reviewed by Liu et al. [28].

Using recombinant yeast for improved ethanol production is yet another area in which ongoing research efforts are likely give good returns. The improvement of cellulase expression in *S. cerevisiae* has also been exploited. The contribution of a number of researchers in developing strains with improved cellulose expression has been compiled by Liu et al. [28]. Similarly, hemicellulase expression in *S. cerevisiae* has also been studied.

The above developments, along with simultaneous advances in fermentation technologies, are certainly expected to take ethanol production from the more economical lignocellulosic biomass to new heights.

The fermentation technologies used for fermentations have also advanced rapidly, with many progressive modifications in the conventional batch and continuous fermentation processes. Combination of both, the batch and continuous process, called the fed-batch processes have also been developed. Fermentations using novel immobilized cell systems have been used to enhance the efficiency and productivity of the fermentation processes. Methods such as "growth arrested process" have been developed, where a high productivity of intermediate metabolic products such as lactate and succinate, as well as other organic acids, has been achieved by arresting the growth of the microorganisms at the particular stage at which the target products are produced, by maintaining the conditions in the reactor which stop further growth of the organisms [29].

1.2.1.3 Processes Based on Algal Biomass

Life on earth is believed to have started with algae. Algae are photosynthetic organisms capable of converting solar energy into chemical energy and in the process, consume CO_2 and release O_2 . With the advent of fossil fuels, the focus shifted from tapping solar energy via photosynthesis toward burning the fossil fuel to generate energy. The predominant use of fossil fuels over several years has made us realize the dangers that the GHGs released from burning these fuels, pose to the environment. The rapid depletion of these fuels and the millennia required for their renewal have now forced us to look for safer and renewable alternatives to the fossil fuels. Thus, we have now come a full circle toward again reverting to biomass, the unlimited solar energy and photosynthesis, to meet our ever increasing energy demands. Algae are considered to be the most photosynthetically efficient plants on the earth. There is a large variety of algae ranging from small unicellular organisms to fairly complex and differentiated forms of multicellular organisms. They thrive on land as well as in water, using sunlight, CO₂, and water for growth. Like other plants, algae use photosynthesis to convert solar energy into chemical energy and store it in the form of high energy substances such as oils, carbohydrates, and proteins. In other plants, the predominant storehouse of this chemical energy is carbohydrates, whereas in algae, this energy is stored in the form of oils. A one-hectare algae farm on wasteland can produce over 10–100 times the oil produced by any other oil crop known till date [30]. The lipid content in different species of microalgae was found to vary from as low as 12-14% of dry weight in Scenedesmus obliquus, to as high as 80% of dry weight in Botyococcus braunii [31]. Algal energy is becoming increasingly popular because algae can be grown on wastelands and unarable lands, thus enabling all agricultural land completely available for growing food crops. Thus, third-generation biofuels, free from the food versus fuel controversy, can be obtained in abundance by efficient cultivation and harvesting of algae.

Algae can be classified on the basis of their fundamental cellular structure, life cycle, and pigmentation. According to the cellular structure, algae may be either unicellular or multicellular. The multicellular algae growing mainly in saltwater or freshwater are called macroalgae or "seaweeds". There are three different types of pigmentations seen in macroalgae: (1) green seaweed (*Chlorophyceae*), (2) red seaweed (*Rhodophyceae*), and (3) brown seaweed (*Phaeophyceae*). Microalgae which are microscopic photosynthetic organisms growing in both marine and freshwater environments are called microalgae (*Cyanophyceae* or blue-green algae).

Cultivation and harvesting of algae

Algae can be cultivated in open ponds, photobioreactors, or in closed and hybrid systems. Open pond systems for cultivation of algae are cheap and economical, but suffer from the obvious disadvantages. In that, they require a large expanse of land and water and are susceptible to contamination by other microorganisms, and to climatic changes.

Photobioreactors are closed tank systems, where most of the disadvantages stated under open pond systems can be obviated. These systems, though they involve higher infrastructure costs, are more efficient and offer higher biomass concentrations, high surface-to-volume ratios, and shorter harvest times. A major advantage with these reactors is that along with cultivation of algae, they can be used for simultaneous scrubbing of power plant flue gases and removing nutrients from wastewater. A variety of designs is available to give higher productivity and reproducibility as better control of cultivation conditions is possible. Demirbas et al. [30] have described the different types of systems available for cultivation of algae and the comparative costs involved for each system.

Harvesting of algae can be done by a number of different methods such as centrifugation, foam fractionation, flocculation, membrane filtration, and ultrasonic separation. The harvesting costs may contribute to about 20–30% of the total cost of cultivation.

Products obtained from algal biomass

The products obtained from algal biomass include bio-oil, biodiesel, bioethanol, biomethane, biohydrogen, and other value-added products. Table 1.8 lists the different products obtained from algal biomass and the conversion technologies used for their production.

Algal biomass is very rich in oil content. This oil can be extracted from the algal biomass by solvent extraction methods. It can be used as such as fuel, or it can be converted to biodiesel, by the process of transesterification, for use as a

Conversion technology		Product
Biochemical conversion methods	Dark fermentation	Ethanol, hydrogen
	Anaerobic digestion	Methane, hydrogen
	Photo-fermentation	Ethanol, hydrogen
	Biophotolysis	Hydrogen
Thermochemical conversion methods	Gasification	Hydrocarbon gas
	Pyrolysis	Oil, gas, charcoal
	Liquifaction	Oil
Chemical separation methods	Solvent extraction	Oil
Direct combustion	Power generation	Electricity or power

Table 1.8 Conversion technologies used and products obtained from algal biomass

Source Ref. [32]

transportation fuel. Biodiesel, used as a transportation fuel, has a distinct advantage where it can be used directly in any diesel engine, without modification. Bioalcohol is the most widely used liquid fuel. It can be generated from microalgae by two methods: (1) the conventional yeast-mediated fermentation of carbohydrate rich algal biomass such as starch containing green algae, glycogen containing cyanobacteria, and glycerol-rich Dunaliella, and (2) "self-fermentation" of carbohydrates contained in algae by endogenous algal enzymes induced under anaerobic conditions. This has been reported for *Chlamydomonas* [28]. Both these processes give a product yield that is uneconomical. However, there are many companies which are attempting to devise economically viable methods for ethanol production from algal biomass. One such company Algenol Biofuels Inc. has successfully developed the Direct to Ethanol® algae technology. In this technology, overexpression of the genes responsible for converting carbohydrates to ethanol is achieved by genetic modification techniques, resulting in metabolically hybrid algae which have an increased photosynthetic ability. These hybrid algae use CO₂ from the surroundings (collected from industrial emissions), and produce ethanol within the algal cells. This ethanol diffuses through the cell wall into the culture medium and evaporates along with water into the head space provided for it in an enclosed, sealed photobioreactor. The ethanol-water vapor mixture condenses on the inner surface of the photobioreactor and is collected as liquid, which is further concentrated and distilled into fuel ethanol. Optimization of cultivation and productivity of the hybrid algae is being evaluated. This technology is expected to provide an 80% reduction in GHGs compared to gasoline. Biomethane is produced by the usual anaerobic fermentation methods described in "Anaerobic Digestion". The yield of methane is again lower with algal biomass due to the natural tendency of most species of algal biomass to resist biodegradation. In addition to this, the ammonia which is released from the algal biomass acts as an inhibitor in the microbiological conversion process. The problem of resistance of the algal biomass toward biodegradation has been addressed by using thermochemical and mechanical pretreatment techniques which solubilize the biomass by breaking down the recalcitrant cell walls. This has been found to increase the methane production rates by about 30% for microalgal biomass harvested from sewage ponds [28].

The second problem posed by the inhibitory effect of ammonia has been circumvented by adding carbon-rich wastes to the microalgal biomass. The additional bacterial biomass added by way of this carbon-rich waste reduces ammonia levels through nitrogen sequestration, thus improving the methane yields. Biotechnology-based approaches such as developing bacterial cultures that are more resistant to ammonia inhibition are also being explored. Hydrogen can be generated from algal biomass by mainly three ways; (1) Dark fermentation, where anaerobic fermentation of carbohydrate products such as starch, glycogen, and glycerol is carried out by anaerobic bacteria, in absence of light. This process yields hydrogen, solvents, and mixed acids, (2) Light-driven fermentations, also called photofermentations, where the organic acids formed during dark fermentation are converted into hydrogen by nitrogen-fixing photosynthetic bacteria, and (3) Biophotolysis, which involves the splitting of water into hydrogen and oxygen by microalgae.

The other value-added products obtained from algae include, small molecules such as iodine, algin, mannitol, and lignin-related fractions; polymers such as alginates, carrageenans, agars, and sulfated polysaccharides; high value oils such as long-chain polyunsaturated fatty acids (PUFA) which include substances having a high nutraceutical value, e.g., arachidonic acid, docosahexanoic acid, eicosapentanoic acid, etc. Research in algal methods of conversion merits special attention because it provides third-generation biofuels which do not compete with food crops nor with the arable land required for their cultivation and hence remains excluded from the food versus fuel controversy. Algal biorefineries are now being set up which are expected to give multiple products in a cost-effective manner using the different biomass conversion technologies mentioned above (Table 1.8). These are discussed in "Aquaculture-Based Biorefinery (Algae and Seaweed Based Biorefinery)".

1.2.2 Conversion of Biomass to Biofuels: The Biorefinery Concept

A biorefinery is a facility that integrates biomass conversion process and equipments to produce fuel, power, heat, and value-added chemicals from all types of feedstock comprising of biowaste and/or renewable biomass in a manner that it is zero waste producing. Thus, the bioconversion methods discussed in the previous sections are integrated to give multiple products. Biorefineries, since 1990s have evolved through a number of stages: The first stage of development can be considered to be the Phase I biorefinery which used a single feedstock and was processed to give a single product. The Phase II biorefinery uses again a single feedstock but has flexible processing capabilities which finally result in a range of products. A conventional sugar plant, which produces sugar, ethanol, and biodegradable plastics is an example of this type of a biorefinery. Thus, a phase II biorefinery incorporates a flexibility in terms of processing methods as well as products. A phase III biorefinery is the present "integrated biorefinery", where a variety of feedstocks can be handled via different conversion processes simultaneously to produce a range of products. A Phase III biorefinery offers complete flexibility in terms of type of feedstock that can be used, conversion processes as well as product mix. Feedstock flexibility has, however, the first priority [33]. A present biorefinery can be considered to be analogous to a petroleum refinery which produces multiple fuels and products from petroleum. An excellent analogy with respect to the flow chart for both types of biorefineries is given in a report by the U.S. Department of Energy [34].

In the interest of mankind, it is absolutely essential that dependence on fossil fuels be reduced.

Integration of green chemistry into biorefineries and use of low environmental impact technology is the focus of all research efforts in the area of biorefinery. This, in concurrence with economically viable processes, will successfully replace petroleum refinery and products resulting from it, by biorefinery products.

1.2.2.1 Products of Biorefinery

Bio-based products can be classified into three categories: Biofuels (biodiesel, bioethanol, biogas), bioenergy (heat and power), and bio-based chemicals and materials (fine chemicals, cosmetics, polymers, plastics, composites). In a biore-finery, the biomass conversion processes are integrated in such a manner that almost all types of feedstocks can be converted to the above-mentioned products. Biofuels are produced in higher volumes and are responsible for increasing the carbon credits of the industry, whereas other products such as fine chemicals, pharmaceuticals, and polymers are produced in comparatively lower quantities, but, being high value products, increase the profitability of the biorefinery.

Biomass processing in a biorefinery involves two major transformations [3] the first transformation involves a bulk separation or extraction of the biomass using processes such as grinding, followed by fractionation or cracking by biological or physicochemical techniques. This step leads to release of such molecules from the biomass which are capable of undergoing second transformation involving processes such as fictionalization to yield a variety of molecules. These transformations give rise to a large number of bio-based products in which the most important one can be considered to be biofuels/energy (Fig. 1.21).

Integrated biorefineries employ various combinations of feedstocks and conversion technologies to produce a variety of products, with the main focus on producing biofuels. Side products can include chemicals (or other materials) and heat and power.

This section focuses only on the energy aspects of biorefinery, though, other valuable products are also available from biorefinery [36, 37].



Fig. 1.21 General scheme for biomass conversion in a Biorefinery (Adapted from [35])

1.2.2.2 Feedstock for Biorefinery/Types of Biorefinery

Biorefineries can be classified into a number of categories depending on the feedstock used.

- 1. Biorefinery based on agriculture sector feedstock (dedicated crops and residue) including oilseed biorefinery
- 2. Forest biorefinery (forest residue mainly lignocellulosic feedstock)

Type of biorefinery	Characteristic features	Resultant Products
Biorefinery based on agriculture and non-agriculture sector feedstock (dedicated crops and residue) including oilseed biorefinery		
Cereal biorefinery	Uses dedicated starch crops, sugar crops, and grains	Bioethanol
• Oilseed biorefinery	Uses oil seed crops and oil plants	Vegetable oils and biodiesel
Green biorefinery	Uses grasses and green plants	Bioethanol
Lignocellulosic biorefinery	Uses agriculture wastes and crop residues	Bioethanol (lignocellulosic)
Forest biorefinery (forest residue mainly lignocellulosic feedstock)	Uses forest residues, barks, saw dust, pulping liquors ,and fibers	Fuels, energy, chemicals, and materials
Biorefinery based on industry (process residues and leftovers) and municipal solid waste and waste water (domestic waste)	Uses all types of wastes including forest generated waste, industrial waste, and municipal solid waste	Methane, hydrogen, biofuels, energy, chemicals, and materials
Aquaculture-based biorefinery (algae- and seaweed-based biorefinery)	Uses different types of aquatic biomass capable of tapping the unlimited energy from sun	Third-generation bioethanol, energy, pharmaceutical products

Table 1.9 Classification of biorefinery based on feedstock

- 3. Biorefinery based on industry (process residues and leftovers), and municipal solid waste and waste water (domestic waste)
- 4. Aquaculture-based biorefinery (algae- and seaweed-based biorefinery).

The salient features of all these types of biorefineries are given in Table 1.9.

Biorefinery Based on Agriculture Sector Feedstock (Including Dedicated Crops and Residue, and Oilseed Feedstock)

These biorefineries use as their feedstock, dedicated crops (food or non-food crops), such as cereal crops, oilseed crops, grasses, and other non-food green plants, or residues generated from the agricultural crops. The first- and second-generation biofuels can be produced from this type of biorefinery. Presently, biodiesel, bioethanol, and biogas are the main types of biofuels which are produced by commercially viable technologies. An overview of the conversion processes for these biorefineries is shown in Fig. 1.22.

These biofuels are presently produced from agriculture sector feedstock. The agriculture sector feedstock mainly contains sugar, starch, and cellulosic biomass which can be converted to biofuel (bioethanol) mainly by fermentation processes.



Fig. 1.22 Overview of conversion processes for agriculture sector feedstocks to biofuels (*Source* Ref. [38])

For this purpose, the macromolecular starch and cellulose is first hydrolyzed by enzymatic hydrolysis into smaller molecules like glucose. Fermentation of these sugars by either aerobic or anaerobic fermentation processes converts them to ethanol. The process details are already discussed in Sect. 1.2.1.2. The alcohol produced from food crops is called grain alcohol and that produced from lignocellulosic feedstock such as agricultural residues (wheat straw, rice straw, etc.), grasses (switch grass) is called biomass ethanol or bioethanol or lignocellulosic ethanol. The agriculture-based feedstock, which was, until recent times used as the major source for biofuel generation, is gradually being replaced by agriculture sector residue such as wheat straw.

Agricultural residue-based biorefinery

Prasad Kaparaju et al. [39] investigated the production of biofuels—bioethanol (from cellulose), biohydrogen (from hemicelluloses), and biogas (from effluents from bioethanol and biohydrogen production) from wheat straw in an effort to

establish an energy-efficient and economical process within a biorefinery network. Part of the wheat straw was used as such without pretreatment and part of it was pretreated using hydrothermal pretreatment techniques. The pretreated wheat straw resulted in a liquid fraction hydrolysate which contained mainly hemicelluloses and a solid fraction which was rich in cellulose. Six different scenarios were studied: (1) untreated wheat straw was incinerated as such and energy was generated, (2) untreated wheat straw was anaerobically digested to generate biogas, (3) pre-treated wheat straw was used for conversion into biogas, (4) pretreated wheat straw was converted to bioethanol alone, via fermentation, (5) pretreated wheat straw was converted to bioethanol and biogas, and lastly, (6) pretreated wheat straw was converted to bioethanol, biohydrogen, and biogas. From among all six cases, they showed that the use of wheat straw for production of biogas alone, or for production of multiple biofuels, were the most energy-efficient processes as compared to production of monofuel such as bioethanol by fermenting hexose sugars alone. Thus, in other words, the biorefinery concept was more energy efficient rather than using biomass conversion technologies for generation of any one fuel.

Whole crop biorefinery

Parallel to the use of agriculture residues instead of whole food crops as feedstock for biofuel generation, the use of whole non-food crops is also gaining popularity as feedstock for biomass conversion. Dedicated non-food crops which can be grown on unproductive lands are being considered as a more practical and economical option to even agricultural residues, as feedstock for biorefineries (whole crop biorefineries), as these would not use agricultural land for their generation as also, the entire plant could be used as feedstock. Such a whole crop biorefinery using the Jatropha plant for sustainable production of biodiesel has been described by Naik et al. [40]. Such a biorefinery can produce biodiesel as the main product, along with the production of other valuable chemicals as by-products from the solid residue obtained from the production of biodiesel. The oil cake remaining after removal of oil can be used to generate second-generation biofuelsand other important chemicals. The scheme for such a whole crop biorefinery using dedicated oil crops is shown in Fig. 1.23.

Takara et al. [41] investigated the suitability of banagrass for production of biofuel in a biorefinery concept. Banagrass (*Pennisetum purpureum*) is a perennial grass which is a good source of lignocellulosic biomass. Banagrass resembles sugarcane but shows a yield double to that of sugarcane and switchgrass in terms of biomass. A new concept of wet or green processing has been proposed. The biomass is taken as such without drying and subjected to dilute acid hydrolysis. It was found that the yield of fermentable sugars after the wet, juice processing was the maximum compared to dry, juice processing. This hydrolysate can be processed further for serving as a substrate for fermentation to ethanol. The process has a particular advantage in regions where banagrass can be grown throughout the year in that, it will reduce the time and cost of drying the biomass prior to pretreatment for extraction of cellulose. Co-products can also be obtained from the



Fig. 1.23 Whole crop biorefinery (Adapted from Ref. [40])

nutrient-rich liquid substrates generated out of wet processing, which would be otherwise destroyed during downstream processing of the biomass. The biorefinery concept in this case offers a unique flexibility such that in times when the commodity value of ethanol is less, the process can be adapted such that the nitrogen-rich juice is utilized for the production of fungal biomass and aquaculture feed. The nitrogen-free clean fiber can be used for heat/steam electricity generation via gasification, whereas in times of high demand for ethanol, the process is used for the generation of ethanol.

Oilseed biorefinery

The conversion of oil crops to biofuels—Fatty Acid Methyl Esters (FAME), more commonly known as biodiesel involves processes like transesterification, where the vegetable oil is chemically reacted with an alcohol, in presence of a homogenous or a heterogenous catalyst. In the catalytic conversion process, in turn the catalyst plays an important role in an oil seed biorefinery. Catalysts that selectively convert a particular substrate to the desired product and the catalytic reactor



Fig. 1.24 Conceptual palm oil-based biorefinery (Adapted from Ref. [42])

parameters related to the design, operation, and control of the catalytic reactor are the key factors responsible for the development of an economically viable process. Chew et al. [42] have proposed a biorefinery based on palm oil and palm biomass for the production of biofuels. The conceptual biorefinery would consist of two plants. One plant would treat the solid portions of the Palm tree biomass whereas the other plant would treat the expressed oil portion. The solids processing plant will carry out liquefaction using supercritical water, pyrolysis, and gasification of the biomass, and the liquid/oil processing plant will carry out transesterification and catalytic cracking of the expressed oil portion of the palm biomass. The products of the biorefinery would comprise of different biofuels, gaseous hydrocarbons, hydrogen, glycerine, olefinic, and aromatic compounds. Figure 1.24 shows the scheme for such a biorefinery along with the various products obtained therein.

The catalytic processes proposed by them for the purpose include (a) catalytic cracking of palm oil for production of biodiesel, (b) production of hydrogen and



syngas from biomass gasification, (c) Fischer-Tropsh synthesis for conversion of syngas into liquid fuels, and (d) upgrading of liquid fuels obtained from lique-faction/pyrolysis of biomass. Catalyst plays a key role in all the above processes in terms of economy and product distribution. They have reviewed a number of catalysts which can be used for the palm oil-based biorefinery.

The biorefinery approach has been used for the valorization of coconut oil by Abderrahim Bouaid et al. [43]. Coconut oil, the main substrate for obtaining biodiesel by a process of transesterification, is a very costly raw material. The high cost of this substrate makes the process of obtaining biodiesel from coconut oil economically unviable. Hence, a process outlined in Fig. 1.25 has been proposed to get multiple products from coconut oil which would then make the process of conversion of coconut oil to biodiesel economically effective. Coconut oil contains 42–49% lauric acid. This lauric acid can be converted to methyl laurate, by a transesterification process. Methyl laurate forms the basis for the production of a number of products like lauryl sulfate (biodegradable surfactants), coconut estolide esters (LMWME's) which serve as a base for biodegradable lubricants, and recently, biodiesel (methyl ester) a HMWME, which is emerging as a promising substitute for conventional fuels. The proposed biorefinery approach uses an integrated process for generation of HMWME (biodiesel) and LMWME (laurate and myristate methyl esters which can used as biolubricants and biosolvents). The lauric fraction has importance in the detergent industry as it is the preferred material for the manufacture of soaps and detergents due to its exceptional

Forest product	Example
Forest residue or forestry waste generated in forests	Dead trees, forest-fire remains ,and waste generated while culling and logging
Industrial or manufacturing waste (waste generated during manufacture of wood products)	Residue from pulp and paper manufacture, bark or outer layer of pulpwood which is removed at the pulp mill, spent cooking liquor (called black liquor), or liquid waste generated in the pulping process and is characterized by a heavy concentration of dissolved organic chemicals

Table 1.10 Feedstock obtained from forest biomass

cleansing properties. Under optimum conditions, a yield of 77.54% for HMWME's and 20.63% for LMWME's was obtained.

Gary Luo et al. [44] proposed a novel biorefinery concept for the production of biofuels (biodiesel and bioethanol) from rapeseed and straw. The process effluents from this process were further used for additional production of biofuels (biohydrogen and biomethane). The overall bioenergy recovery was found to increase to 60% compared to an energy recovery of 20% in case of a conventional biodiesel conversion process.

Forest Biorefinery

A biorefinery using forest residues as its feedstock is called a forest biorefinery. The enormous scope of using biomass generated from forests for energy generation has been excellently highlighted by Klass [45] by way of the statistics presented in his book titled "Biomass for renewable energy, fuels and chemicals". According to this statistics, forests cover only about 9.5% of the earth's surface or about 32% of the total land area but account for 89.3% of the total standing biomass and 42.9% of total annual biomass production. In terms of energy, forests alone could produce 1,030 quadrillion BTU/year which is equivalent to more than double the world's total primary consumption of about 460 quadrillion BTU in 2005. Thus, forest biomass can be considered to be a very important source for feedstock of a biorefinery. Forest biomass can be categorized into two categories as shown in Table 1.10.

The use of forest biomass for energy generation had taken a back seat until a few years ago due to the depletion of forests as a result of felling trees for producing forest products like lumber, paper, and other items. However, this excellent source of fuel has again gained importance since the development of biorefinery concept as it is now being recognized as an attractive alternative for pulp and paper mills which see in it, the incentive of increasing their revenue by producing biofuels and other chemicals in addition to their core products, as also the forest waste can be processed in a typical forest biorefinery to yield a number of valuable products including biofuels, without jeopardizing the forest vegetation.

Table 1.11 Lignocellulosic pretreatment to	echniques		
Type of pretreatment	Process involved		Comments
Methods involving conversion of lingocellulosic feedstock into a form which can be effectively hydrolyzed	Physical methods Chemical methods	 Mechanical comminution Ultrasonic comminution Ultrasonic comminution Irradiation using gamma, electron beam,microwave radiation Acid solubilization of hemicellulose Alkali treatment for delignification and removal of hemicellulose Oxidative H₂O₂ delignification Organosolv processes (using organic or aqueous/organic solvent mixed with an inorganic 	Lower performance and higher costs involved Show high degree of selectivity but involve harsh reaction conditions which may not be suitable for biorefinery scheme due to adverse effects on later downstream biological processing
	Physicochemical/ or thermo- chemical methods	 acid catalyst Hydrothermolysis Aqueous or steam/aqueous uncatalyzed solvolysis Ammonia fiber explosion CO2 explosion Steam explosion 	Milder chemical conditions but extreme operational conditions (elevated pressure and temperature) Increased cost of biorefinery
Methods involving conversion of lignocellulosic feedstock into a form which can be effectively hydrolyzed	Biological methods		Low energy inputs Low equipment requirements Resultant cost saving No environmentally damaging waste products generated Hazardous chemicals and conditions avoided Lengthy pretreatment times and degradation of polysaccharides, reducing total fermentable substrate

66

(continued)

Table 1.11 (continued)		
Type of pretreatment	Process involved	Comments
Methods involving fractionation of Lignocellulosic feedstock into its core	Acid-based fractionation	Process can be carried out at relatively low temperature (50°C) and atmospheric pressure
components viz. lignin, cellulose and hemicellulose		Process is independent of biomass type It is a capital intensive technology
	Ionic liquid-based fractionation	Better downstream processing possible More environmentally banicm technique
		Better than most physical and chemical
		pretreatment methods

Forest biomass is mainly lignocellulosic in nature. Lignocellulose consists of cellulose (40–47%), hemicellulose (25–35%), lignin (16–31%), and other extractives (2–8%), where the polysaccharides cellulose and hemicellulose are tightly cross-linked with lignin via ester and ether linkages with the purpose of providing structural rigidity to higher plants and trees and protecting the cell walls of plants from various external physical and chemical hazards. Therefore lignocellulose, in its native form, is highly refractory in nature and resistant to most hydrolytic processes which aim at extracting cellulose for further hydrolyzing it to fermentable sugars which can be converted to biofuels. Hence, pretreatment of lignocellulose is essential before it can be used for other conversion processes in a biorefinery. Table 1.11 gives a list of the types of pretreatment that can be done on lignocellulose before it can be used in a biorefinery [46, 47].

The pretreatment of lignocellulosic feed stock serves the basic purpose of converting the native lignocellulosic biomass into a form where hydrolysis can be effectively achieved. Among these, the biological methods of pretreatment have a number of advantages in that, the equipment requirement is modest, no environmentally damaging waste products are generated, and hazardous chemicals and conditions are avoided. All this results in a significant amount of cost saving. However, the total pretreatment time required is very lengthy and there are chances of degradation of polysaccharide which may reduce the total fermentable substrate. Newer methods of pretreatment aim at not only improving hydrolysis but also carrying out fractionation, where the lignocellulosic biomass is converted to its core components—cellulose, hemicelluloses, and lignin. A lot of work still needs to be done, however, to carry out fractionation of lignocelluloses in a manner that is technically feasible and at the same time, economically viable. The conceptual ideas for the purpose have been proposed by a number of researchers. FitzPatrick et al. [47] have reviewed these techniques at length.

A majority of lignocellulosic biomass including forest biomass is used in a kraft mill where the lignocellulosic feedstock is processed to paper pulp, which serves as an important intermediate material for the generation of a variety of paper products. Figure 1.26a and b shows a schematic of a typical Kraft mill and how the biorefinery concept can be integrated into such a kraft mill to get multiple products including energy products and other value-added products [48].

The key requirement of integrating the biorefinery concept into a kraft mill is the recovery of hemicellulose which will enable its conversion into ethanol and/or other products. Mao et al. [49] introduced a "near neutral" process prior to pulping, for extraction of hemicellulose which otherwise ends up in the black liquor. However, this "near neutral" process modifies the energy balance of the kraft pulp mill. During the pretreatment process, approximately 10% of hemicellulose and lignin is extracted. This reduces the calorific value of the black liquor which is used for production of steam. Thus, less steam is produced whereas the steam consumed in the extraction process is greater. Marinova et al. [48] studied the effect of introducing a hemicellulose extraction and conversion stage into a Canadian hardwood Kraft pulp mill on the energy supply and demand of the mill. On the basis of their studies, they have proposed process optimization methods



Fig. 1.26 a Schematic diagram of a conventional Kraft mill (Adapted from [48]) b Integration of the biorefinery concept with the conventional Kraft mill (Adapted from [48])

such as internal heat recovery; optimization of water reutilization within a process so that treated water consumption is reduced; replacement of steam injection systems by heat exchangers which increases condensate recovery rate and decreases steam consumption, and integration of absorption heat pumps which are expected to reduce the cooling and heating utilities requirements. These measures have been shown to reduce the steam consumption in a Kraft mill by 5.04 GJ/Adt, thus making the process more cost-effective and economical.

The lignin, which remains after processing has the potential to serve as an important precursor for a wide variety of products. The US DOE gives a comprehensive data regarding the possible products that can be obtained out of processing of this residual lignin [37]. Presently, very few Kraft mills separate and use lignin for products.

Biorefinery Based on Industry (Process Residues and Leftovers), and Municipal Solid Waste

Residues and wastes comprise of the following:

- Municipal solid waste
- Municipal sewage sludge
- Animal waste
- Crop residues
- Industrial waste
- Forest waste.

Use of crop residues and forest waste for biomass conversion has already been discussed in the earlier sections. This section will focus specifically on the major source of biorefinery feedstock viz. municipal solid waste and industrial waste. Municipal solid waste also includes municipal green waste such as tree trimmings and gardening wastes, waste wood, and paper component of domestic rubbish.

Municipal solid waste can be defined as a combination of domestic, light industrial, and demolition solid waste generated within a community [6]. There are established priorities so far as disposal of municipal solid waste is concerned. Recycling, if it is economical to do so, enjoys the first priority. The green component of MSW can be separated out and used for compost or as mulch. The use of municipal green waste for energy production has the advantage that it reduces the waste load to municipal landfills which consequently reduces GHG methane arising from its decomposition. The anaerobic conversion process used for such conversions has already been discussed in "Anaerobic Digestion" The biorefinery integration into the waste conversion process is described in Fig. 1.27 which shows a current waste biorefinery and how an advanced future biorefinery could be developed to maximally tap the potential of waste-to-energy technology.

Aquaculture-Based Biorefinery (Algae and Seaweed Based Biorefinery)

Though the second-generation biofuels overcome the disadvantages of using edible food crops as feedstock, the cultivation of non-edible crops—which serves as the feedstock for the second-generation biofuels—still require land and other resources which could otherwise be used for cultivation of food crops. Hence, the



third- generation of biofuels offers an excellent alternative to the first- and secondgeneration biofuels in that they do not use arable land for their generation but use algae and seaweeds, which can be cultivated on completely nonproductive land and use significantly less water than terrestrial crops. Sea weeds/algae thrive on sea water using merely sunlight and some simple nutrients present in the sea water. About 75% of the earth's surface is covered by water, and seawater comprises about 97% of total water present on the earth. Hence, there is an immense potential for cultivation of algae/seaweeds. Algae as feedstock for production of biofuels include all unicellular and simple multicellular organisms such as prokaryotic microalgae (e.g. cyanobacteria), eukaryotic microalgae (e.g., green and red algae), and diatoms. Millions of years of evolution have enabled algae to develop an efficient system which is capable of capturing unlimited amounts of solar energy continuously via photosynthesis and converting simple inorganic molecules to complex organic compounds such as carbohydrates, fats, and proteins. The photosynthetic efficiencies of algae are much higher than most terrestrial plants, hence algae can absorb higher amounts of CO2 from atmosphere and as a result, provide higher amounts of these complex molecules, which can be converted to biofuels (bioethanol) and other molecules. Figure 1.28 shows the variety of compounds that can be obtained from algae.

Singh et al. [51] have comprehensively reviewed all the aspects of using algae as a potential feedstock for the generation of third- generation biofuels. Other than the advantages of higher photosynthetic efficiencies and nonrequirement of arable land, use of algae as feedstock for biorefineries offer many other advantages



Fig. 1.28 Products obtained from an algal biorefinery (Adapted from Ref. [51])

compared to plant biomass feedstock. Algae have an almost exponential growth potential-doubling of biomass in as short a time as 3.5 h can be possible. In addition, more than five harvests can be obtained in a year [52]. Another major advantage of algae is that they thrive on nutrients such as nitrogen and phosphorous, which can be obtained from wastewater, and on organic effluent from agro-food industry, thus serving a dual advantage of utilization of waste water and enhanced cultivation of algal feedstock. Algae also do not require fertilizers, herbicides, and pesticides like their plant counterparts for their sustained cultivation.



Fig. 1.29 Flow chart for conversion of seaweeds into third-generation biofuels using the algal biorefinery concept. (Adapted from [52])

Microalgae are rich in carbohydrates. These can be fermented to produce bioethanol. Chung Sheng et al. [52] have reviewed the potential of such a biore-finery in playing the role of a sustainable energy provider for efficient production of bioethanol. A number of flow charts have been proposed for efficient production of biofuel from algae.

The common steps in all processes involve collection of algae, extraction, purification, and separation of polysaccharides, hydrolysis, fermentation, and final purification (Fig. 1.29).

In order to successfully compete with a petroleum refinery, the efficiency of biofuel production of an algal biorefinery can be enhanced significantly by developing good strains of algae with increased carbohydrate content which will give a high yield on fermentation. Simultaneous production of biogas using methane fermentation technique is also possible. The residual biomass can be reprocessed to make fertilizers.

Algae also contain a lipid fraction which can be used for production of biodiesel. Microalgal lipids are neutral lipids having a lower degree of unsaturation (similar to fossil fuels). By integrating processes such as transesterification, cracking, etc., into an algal biorefinery, a range of products other than bioethanol, which is normally obtained by hydrolysis and fermentation of carbohydrates, can be obtained [51]. Such an integrated algal biorefinery is shown in Fig. 1.28.

In addition to the biofuels viz. bioethanol, biodiesel, and biogas, other products such as food supplements, pigments, etc. can also be obtained from an algal biorefinery. There are a number of algae-based biorefineries in different regions of the world, producing the products stated above. Mussgnug et al. [53] have investigated six species of freshwater and saltwater algae and cyanobacteria for their suitability as substrates for production of biogas. They showed that the methane content of biogas from microalgae was 7-13% higher compared to that obtained out of maize fermentation. They also reported that drying as pretreatment step decreased the amount of biogas production to approximately 80%. Chlamydomonas reinhardtii has the ability to produce hydrogen via hydrolysis of water during illumination. The hydrogen production cycle induces an increase in the amount of starch and lipids within the cells which increase the fermentative potential of the algal biomass. Thus, a two-step biorefinery process where hydrogen is produced in the first step by sulfur deprivation method, and subsequently, the remaining biomass, after production of hydrogen is used as substrate for anaerobic fermentation was found to increase the biogas production to 123%, compared to the use of fresh algal biomass. This synergistic effect gives a dual advantage of providing an environment friendly gaseous fuel hydrogen, and an increased amount of biogas.

1.2.2.3 Integrated Biorefinery

Most biorefineries have the capability to produce biofuels as well as high value chemicals. An important question that is obviously expected to arise in this context is, whether a biorefinery should be energy oriented or product oriented. A hybrid biorefinery or, as it is more commonly called, an integrated biorefinery, which can produce both category products efficiently, and has the capability of switching over to alternative feedstocks as and when required, is the answer to this question. An integrated biorefinery employs various combinations of feedstocks and conversion technologies to produce a variety of products with a main focus on producing biofuels. Thus an integrated biorefinery would involve the integration of all the above-mentioned biorefineries with respect to feedstock used and biomass

conversion processes employed, in order to get maximum benefits from the biorefinery concept. The World's first integrated biorefinery project was launched in October 2003 as a joint effort between the U.S. Department of Energy's National Renewable Energy Laboratory (NREL) and Du Pont. Since then, a large number of such integrated biorefineries, at various stages of development, and operating with a variety of feedstock, yielding a range of products, have been successfully set up globally. Table 1.12 gives a list of integrated biorefineries operating in the US [54]. There are other such biorefineries being set up in the UK [55] and other parts of the world, which progressively incorporate state-of-the-art biomass conversion technologies and produce biofuels and other products in an effort to reduce GHG emissions and provide for a viable alternative to the fossil fuels.

For an integrated biorefinery to become a reality, it should be cost-effective. The logistics of feedstock availability, its generation and utilization will need to be very carefully planned for the purpose. Simultaneously, the bioconversion processes will also have to be integrated in a manner that is technically and economically feasible. The U.S. Department of Energy—Energy Efficiency and Renewable Energy has proposed a comprehensive outline for such a project (Fig. 1.30).

1.2.2.4 Comparison of Biorefinery with Petroleum Refinery

The chemical industry today is coming a full circle on its raw material resources. Till the early twentieth century, most industrial products were made from vegetable plants and crops. This situation changed after the 1970s when most of these natural products started being replaced by petroleum-based organic chemicals, and petroleum refineries acquired unprecedented importance. However, with rapid depletion of fossil fuels and the imminent danger of running out of fossil fuels completely, the biomass resources are once again gaining importance globally. Biorefineries, the counterpart of petroleum refineries, for generation of transportation fuels and other chemicals are being set up and technologies for their improvement are being developed. However, there are some fundamental differences between the two (Table 1.13), which need to be clearly defined and understood, if the future biorefineries are to completely replace the petroleum refineries.

The first and foremost difference is in the nature of the raw material used as feedstock. Raw material for an oil refinery, i.e., crude oil is usually rich in hydrocarbons and consists of mixture of different organic hydrocarbons, but has essentially no oxygen. Biomass, the raw material for biorefinery, on the other hand, consists of too little hydrogen, too much oxygen, and lower fraction of carbon compared to the crude oil. The presence of oxygen reduces the heat content of molecules and gives them high polarity, which makes blending with fossil fuel difficult. This becomes important while considering the power requirement and the cost efficiency of the processes used. Also, the composition of biomass varies with the source of feedstock. This has an advantage in that, this variety in composition

Table 1.12 Integrated bi	orefineries in USA				
Name of company	Feedstock used	Conversion technology	Primary product	Scale of operation	Location
Lignol	Woody biomass, forest resources	Biochemical	Ethanol	Demonstration plant (2,500,000 ga/year)	Washington
Pacific Biogasol	Hybrid Poplar, stover, wheat straw	Biochemical	Ethanol	Demonstration plant (2,700,000 ga/year)	Oregon
Zeachem Inc.	Hybrid poplar, stover, and corn cobbs	Hybrid	Ethanol	Pilot plant (250,000 ga/ year)	Oregon
Amyris Biotechnologies Inc.	Sweet sorghum (energy crop)	Biochemical	Biodiesel	Pilot plant (1,370 ga/year)	California
Logos technologies	Corn stover, wood grass and wood chips	Biochemical	Ethanol	Pilot plant (50,000 ga/year)	California
Sapphire Energy Inc.	Algae	Algae	Algal lipids	Demonstration plant (1,000,000 ga/year)	New Mexico
UOP LLC	Forest residue, corn stover, bagasse, switch grass, algae	Thermochemical, pyrolysis	Biodiesel, gasoline	Pilot plant (60,000 ga/year)	Hawaii
Clear Fuels Technology	Woody waste, and bagasse	Thermochemical, gasification	Biodiesel jet fuel	Pilot plant (151,000 ga/ year)	Colorado
Abengoa	Stover, switch-grass, woody biomass	Biochemical	Ethanol	Commercial (15,000,000 ga/year)	Kansas
POET	Corn cobbs	Biochemical	Ethanol	Commercial plant (25,000,000 ga/year)	Iowa
ICM Inc.	Corn fiber, switch-grass, energy sorghum	Biochemical	Ethanol	Pilot plant (345,000 ga/ year)	Missouri
Flambeau River Biofuels	Mill residues, forest residues, other woody biomass	Thermochemical, gasification	Biodiesel, Fischer– Tropsch waxes	Commercial plant (9,000,000 ga/year)	Wisconsin
New page	Mill residues, forest residues, other woody biomass	Thermochemical, gasification	Renewable Fischer- Tropsch liquids	Demonstration plant (8,200,000 ga/year)	Wisconsin
					(continued)

Table 1.12 (continued)					
Name of company	Feedstock used	Conversion technology	Primary product	Scale of operation	Location
Haldor Topsoe Inc.	Wood waste, forest residue	Thermochemical, gasification	Renewable gasoline	Pilot plant (345,000 ga/ year)	Illinois
Gas technology institute	Wood waste, corn stover, algae	Thermochemical, Pyrolysis	Renewable gasoline, biodiesel	R & D scale	Illinois
Elevance Renewable Sciences	Algae oils, plant and animal oils	Chemical	Renewable diesel, jet fuel	R & D scale	Illinois
Archer Daniel Midland	Corn stover	Biochemical	Ethanol	Pilot plant (25,800 ga/year)	Illinois
Blue fire LLC	Wood waste, sorted MSW	Biochemical	Ethanol	Commercial plant (19,000,000 ga/year)	Mississippi
EverKem	MSW, forest residues	Thermochemical Gasification	Ethanol	Demonstration plant (10,000,000 ga/year)	Mississippi
Myriant	Sorghum	Biochemical	Bioproducts	Demonstration plant	Louisiana
Verenium	Sugarcane bagasse, sorghum	Biochemical	Ethanol	Demonstration plant (1,400,000 ga/year)	Louisiana
Mascoma	Aspen	Biochemical	Ethanol	Commercial plant (20,000,000 ga/year)	Michigan
American Process Inc.	Hardwood derived hydrolyzate	Biochemical	Ethanol	Pilot plant (894,000 ga/ year)	Michigan
Range Fuels	Woody biomass, forest residues, thinnings	Thermochemical gasification	Ethanol, methanol	Commercial plant (20,000,000 ga/year)	Georgia
Renewable Energy Institute	Rice hulls and forest residues	Thermochemical gasification	Renewable diesel	Pilot plant (625,000 ga/ year)	Ohio
INEOS New Planet Bioenergy LLC	MSW	Hybrid	Ethanol	Demonstration (8,000,000 ga/year)	Florida
Algenol Biofuels	Algae	Algae	Ethanol	Pilot plant (100,000 ga/ year)	Florida
Solazyme Inc	Algae	Algae	Algal lipids	Pilot plant (300,000 ga/ year)	Pennsylvania
RSA	Forest resources	Bio-chemical	Biobutanol	Demonstration plant (1,500,000 ga/year)	Maine



Fig. 1.30 Integrated biorefinery project (*Source* http://www1.eere.energy.gov/biomass/ biorefineries_development.html)

can be exploited to facilitate formation of more classes of products compared to those that can be obtained from an oil refinery. However, an associated disadvantage is that a larger range of processing technology is needed for a biorefinery. Thus it is essential that a biorefinery be equipped to cope up with such drastic changes in the feedstock composition. The integrated biorefineries already discussed above are a step toward this objective. The second fundamental difference lies in the availability of the feedstock. Feedstock for a petroleum refinery is available throughout the year whereas the biorefinery feedstock, especially that required for the first- and second-generation biofuels, is seasonal. Thus, a petroleum refinery can be operated throughout the year, whereas a biorefinery has to essentially operate in a seasonal time frame. Again, the integrated biorefineries are a remedy to this limitation. Biorefineries which can switch over from one feedstock to another, depending on its availability, without compromising on the efficiency and cost-effectiveness need to be developed. A third aspect, which goes in favor of biorefineries, is the fact that it is possible to set up these biorefineries in rural areas, and as dispersed industrial complexes, so that the feedstock is locally available, thus avoiding the complex logistics of feedstock transportation and associated costs. Petroleum refineries, on the other hand, are essentially large industrial complexes set up at locations distant from the oil resources, making the transportation costs of its raw material to the refinery location, indispensable. Lastly, though the products of both the refineries are almost comparable, the intermediate products, or the chemical and biorefinery platforms, which enable further processing of the intermediate products to other value-added chemicals differ [56]. Figures 1.31 and 1.32 give an overview of the chemical and biorefinery platforms and the products obtained from them.

Biorefinery	Petroleum refinery
Lower carbon content than petroleum feedstock, lesser amounts of hydrogen, and higher amounts of oxygen	Mixture of different hydrocarbons—rich in hydrocarbons content than biorefinery feedstock
Presence of oxygen reduces the heat content of molecules and gives them high polarity	Amount of oxygen being less, higher heat content of molecules, and lower polarity
Higher polarity makes blending with fossil fuel difficult	Different products of oil refinery can be easily blended with each other
Biorefinery can be set up in close vicinity of feedstock required for it hence possibility of local availability of feedstock reduces transportation costs	Oil resources located at specific locations not necessarily near the oil refinery thus increasing transportation costs
Composition of feedstock is variable	Lower variations in composition of raw material compared to biomass feedstock
Capable of processing a varied composition of raw material	Not designed for wide variation in raw material composition
Facilitates formation of more classes of products	Product range is limited compared to biorefinery
Larger range of processing technology is required	Comparatively narrower range of processing technology required
Can be developed as dispersed industrial complexes of various sizes	Essentially consists of a single large industrial complex
Usually set up in rural areas, thus contributing in the economic development of these areas	Essentially set up in urban areas
Earns carbon credits	Depletes carbon resources
Possibility of developing carbon negative fuels	No such possibility exists
Feedstock composition and availability is dependent on seasonal changes thus bringing in variability in nature and yield of products	No such variability exists, hence can be run throughout the year with a fixed product spectrum
Long-term storage facility for feedstock required	No such requirement
Biorefinery platform is different from an oil refinery platform in terms of product range	Oil refinery platform is different from a biorefinery platform in terms of product range

 Table 1.13
 Comparison between a biorefinery and a petroleum refinery

1.2.3 Biomass Conversion into Electricity

Biomass can be used to generate various forms of energy. Biomass conversion into biofuels (which serve as a source of energy when burnt) has already been discussed in the earlier sections. This section focuses on the use of biomass for electricity generation. The conventional sources of electricity generation include the nonrenewable sources such as coal, natural gas, nuclear energy, hydroelectric power, petroleum and other fossil fuels, and the renewable sources such as biomass, wind energy, solar energy, and geothermal source of energy. Currently, the world over, nuclear energy, fossil fuel, and natural gas are the major sources of commercial generation of electricity. The prospective shortage of fossil fuel and



Fig. 1.31 Biorefinery platform

the adverse health and environmental effects of these sources (e.g., emission of GHGs and adverse effects related to the electricity generation from nuclear sources) have made it imperative that a transition be made from these to more safe and environment friendly sources such as renewable sources for the generation of electricity. Presently, a very small proportion of electricity generation is from renewable sources. Biomass is a very significant source of energy which can be tapped for the generation of electricity. The most common types of biomass used for electricity generation are agricultural residues, forest residues, and dedicated energy crops. The use of biomass for electricity generation has been increasing



Fig. 1.32 Petroleum refinery platform

gradually by an average of about 13 TWh per year between 2000 and 2008, and constitutes about 2% of the total global generation of electricity over the last 20 years [57]. Figure 1.33 shows the contribution of biomass toward electricity generation at the global level.



Fig. 1.33 Global contribution of biomass toward generation of electricity (Reproduced with permission from [57])

The US is the major producer of electricity from biomass (producing 26% of the global electricity production from biomass), followed by Germany (15%), Brazil (7%), and Japan (7%).

Projects are being undertaken where combined heat and power generation (CHP) systems are developed which have the capacity to fulfill the energy and power requirements of large populations using biomass energy. In this context, it is worthwhile to mention an experimental model bioenergy village-Jühunde (Fig. 1.34) which has been developed by the International Centre for Sustainable Development in Göttingen, Germany under the leadership of Professor Hans Ruppert of the University of Göttingen. A large biomass fermenter converts the waste biomass collected from the surroundings into methane. A combined heat and power station burns this gas to either provide heating through a combined village heating grid or provides electricity through a public grid. The energy produced by this plant is sufficient to satisfy all the energy needs of the Jühunde village which has about 770 inhabitants. The post-fermentation residue is used as a fertilizer for growing further biomass. Delegations from Japan and China have since visited this bioenergy village to study the technology involved therein and the possibility of scaling up the project to suit larger requirements [58]. The economics and scalability of such projects need to be studied critically so that more such selfsustaining localities can be developed.

Evans et al. [57] have enlisted the cost of power production from biomass cited in the literature. There is a considerable variation in the cost of power which depends mainly on the feedstock factors such as cost of generating/procuring the



Fig. 1.34 Model Bioenergy Village—Jühunde. (Adapted from [58])

feedstock and energy density of the feedstock, transportation factors such as cost of transportation of the biomass, other factors such as conversion technology used.

1.2.3.1 Current Technologies for Electricity Generation from Biomass

There are currently three established technologies for the production of electricity from biomass-pyrolysis, gasification, and direct combustion. These are already discussed at length in Sect. 1.2.1.1 Direct combustion is the oldest method for electricity generation from biomass where complete oxidation of biomass in presence of excess air is done to produce carbon dioxide and water. Hot flue gases are used to heat the process water to steam, which can be used to drive a turbine resulting in production of electricity. This is not a very efficient method of electricity generation when compared to pyrolysis and gasification. Pyrolysis involves the thermal destruction of biomass under anaerobic conditions without the addition of steam or air resulting in the production of gases and condensable vapors. Combustion of these gases is done in a gas turbine resulting in generation of electricity. This method is more efficient than direct combustion but requires more process control and investment. The gasification method comprises controlled addition of steam to the biomass resulting in partial oxidation of the biomass to produce combustible gases which have a high calorific value. These gases are fed to a combined gas turbine to produce electricity. This method, like pyrolysis is more efficient than direct combustion but requires more process control and investment. The carbon emissions produced as a result of electricity generation from biomass are much lower than the other energy counterparts. The highest carbon emissions during electricity generation from biomass is reported to be 60 g CO_2 equivalent/kWh, which is less than one-third of the lowest CO_2 emission during electricity produced from natural gas and one-fifth of the lowest CO_2 emissions produced from a coal- fired power station [57].

1.3 Economics and Modeling of Biomass Conversion Processes to Energy

The technology for conversion of biomass to first generation biofuels is well established and also commercialized. The technologies for second-, third- and fourth- generation biofuels are still at research stage. Hence, the production of second-, third-, and fourth-generation biofuels is presently costlier than the firstgeneration biofuels. In general, the overall cost of production decreases as the scale of the production unit increases. As the newer biomass conversion technologies reach the stage of maturity required for large-scale production, the costs of production of these second-, third-, and fourth-generation biofuels is likely to become comparable to the first-generation biofuels. The current focus of research is therefore aimed at economizing the production technologies by way of reducing various costs, integrating various technologies on the basis of pinch analysis, increasing the scale of production and diversifying the product range to include value-added products wherever possible. Techno-economic analysis of the different individual biomass conversion processes has been carried out. Comparative studies of the different biomass conversion technologies have also been done. Points of cost reduction can be identified and the scope of process integration can studied for the production of biofuels. As there are no commercial-scale production units for second-generation onwards biofuels, in most cases, the production costs are estimated on the basis of models developed using different production technologies. The entire life cycle right from generation of the biomass to its collection and transportation to the biorefinery/power plant to waste disposal subsequent to the generation of energy is considered for the economic assessment of the biomass conversion process.

Dwivedi et al. [59] have reviewed the economics of ethanol production from cellulose using different conversion technologies. The conversion technology used has a greater impact on the cost of production compared to the type of feedstock used hence, such a study is expected to bring the cost of ethanol production from cellulose feedstock comparable to that from starch-based feedstock. In other words, proper selection and integration of conversion technology is likely to bring the production of second-generation bioethanol comparable in cost to the first-generation bioethanol. The economics of several hydrolysis-based conversion
Process	Cost of biomass used				
	\$ 50/dry ton		\$ 108/dry ton		
	Cost of ethanol (\$/gal) for 25 Mgal/year	Cost of ethanol (\$/gal) for 5 Mgal/year	Cost of ethanol (\$/gal) for 25 Mgal/year	Cost of ethanol (\$/gal) for 5 Mgal/year	
Simultaneous saccharification and fermentation	1.48	1.88	2.11	2.51	
Concentrated acid hydrolysis, neutralization, and fermentation	2.28	2.76	3.01	3.49	
Ammonia disruption, hydrolysis and fermentation	1.81	2.4	2.48	3.06	
Steam disruption, hydrolysis and fermentation	1.63	2.15	2.25	2.77	
Acid disruption and transgenic microorganism fermentation	1.86	2.45	2.5	3.1	
Concentrated acid hydrolysis, acid recycle, and fermentation	1.86	2.19	2.5	2.83	
Acidified acetone extraction, hydrolysis, and fermentation	1.7	2.13	2.3	2.72	

 Table 1.14
 Cost comparison of hydrolysis-based conversion technologies for ethanol production from cellulose

Reproduced with permission from [59]

technologies show that the cost is highest for concentrated acid hydrolysis, neutralization, and fermentation technology and lowest for simultaneous saccharification and fermentation technology (Table 1.14).

Thermoeconomic modeling is carried out to evaluate the various available technologies for a process and select the most suitable one from among them, and to establish optimum operating conditions for the process after identifying critical parameters which will affect the economy of the selected process. This will enable one to assess the competitiveness of different processes and select that or those processes which are likely to offer the greatest economic advantage, energy production and are at the same time environment friendly and sustainable. Tock et al. [60] have carried out thermo-economic modeling for thermochemical production of liquid fuels (FT fuels, methanol, and dimethyl ether) from biomass with respect to process description and process integration. A thermodynamic model has been developed and used to calculate liquid–vapor and chemical equilibrium; an energy

model has been developed to minimize the energy consumption taking place in a process, by carrying out thermodynamic calculations to get feasible energy targets which can be achieved by optimizing the process operating conditions, heat recovery, and energy conversion. This is based on identification and definition of hot and cold streams, temperature-enthalpy profiles, and their minimum approach temperature. Economic model is developed considering the size of all such equipments required and type of construction material required for fabricating them that are responsible for the productivity of the overall process. The cost of equipment is estimated from capacity-based correlations. For evaluating the production costs, the total annual costs for the system, which include the annual investment cost, cost of operation and maintenance, cost of raw material, and electricity supply and demand are divided by the amount of fuel produced. The electricity and fuel sale price is calculated using the biomass break-even cost (expressed in terms of the expenditure per MWh of biomass) that defines the maximum resource price for which the process is profitable.

Caputo Antonio et al. [61] studied the economics of biomass to energy conversion in combustion and gasification plants with specific reference to the effect of logistics variables with the aim of assessing the feasibility/profitability of direct production of electric energy from biomass. The study was carried out on combustion and gasification plants in the capacity range of 5-50 MW. The scale effects were found to be very significant in that profitability of both combustion and gasification systems increased with scale-up of plant size. Also, the influence of logistics on economic performance reduced with increasing plant size. The logistics included purchase and transport cost of biomass, operating labor, maintenance, and ash transport/disposal costs. The effects of these on the total capital investment and total operating cost were evaluated. In terms of capital and operating costs, combustion-based process showed a lower total capital investment but a higher total operating cost compared to the gasification system. The gasification system has a lower biomass consumption compared to combustion system and thus, has a lower operating cost. However, in spite of the lower operating cost, the high capital investment, especially in absence of fiscal incentives and adequate financial support, makes the gasification system less profitable than the combustion system. The biomass purchase cost and biomass transportation cost for a gasification process is much more significant compared to the operational labor, maintenance, and ash transport/disposal costs. It is therefore possible to improve the performance and profitability of a gasification-based approach to the extent that it is comparable to the combustion-based approach by taking advantage of the technological advances and by improving the logistics of biomass procurement and transportation.

With advances in technology and ever increasing fossil fuel and electricity costs, the profits incurred by biorefineries and other biomass conversion technologies is likely to increase enormously due to an added advantage of value-added products generated during the conversion plus the carbon credits earned due the environment friendly processes used, which would give additional monetary and non-monetary benefits to the company. However, the advanced efficient conversion technologies would require a concurrent improvement in the biomass generation collection and transportation efficiencies and improved fuel/energy transport efficiencies. We are gradually moving from carbon neutrality toward carbon negativity, where the amount of carbon generated as a result of consumption of the fuel/energy would be significantly less than that used up by the biomass during its generation.

1.4 Future of Biomass Conversion into Energy

Biomass is the only renewable organic resource available in great abundance. If exploited to its fullest extent, it has the capacity to completely replace fossil fuels for energy generation, simultaneously maintaining a clean environment, free from the greenhouse gases. Technologies for the production of the third- and fourthgeneration biofuels are likely to have a very great impact on reducing the problem of global warming caused by the GHGs and in taking us from an era of carbon neutral environment to a carbon-negative environment. These include biofuels produced by upgraded pyrolysis and gasification technologies and solar-to-fuel technologies. The concept of biorefineries has already made the biomass conversion technology a great attraction among industry investors because biorefineries have the potential of reaping great profits by generating costly fuels as the main product, and in addition to this, costlier value-added products such as chemicals, as by-products, the original cost of the initial raw material being almost negligible. The future biorefineries would use efficient feedstock upgrading processes, where the raw materials are continuously upgraded and refined. Fractionating the biomass into its core constituents before using it as feedstock will give the much lacking uniformity in the biomass, making the processing in a biorefinery all the more efficient. Only the residue remaining after all the useful components are converted, should be used for generation of heat and electricity. This will ensure complete usage of the biomass. The catalytic cracking/upgrading technologies used in the thermochemical conversion methods are likely to improve with the use of nanoparticle-based catalysts. Simultaneously, the development of biocatalysts will enable biomass conversions under milder conditions, and with greater efficiencies, leading to more environment friendly "green" processes. Bioethanol and biodiesel are the two biofuels that have the potential of replacing gasoline. The rapid advances and the unlimited scope of the biochemical conversion technologies and the algal conversion processes are likely to make this a reality in the near future. Genetic manipulation of microorganisms to improve production of efficient cellulases and hemicellulases will go a long way in improving yields and reducing conversion times in the biochemical conversion of lignocellulosic biomass. Recombinant DNA technology is being applied to bacteria and fungi in order to achieve this. Strains of microorganisms which have the ability to co-ferment different types of substrates simultaneously, will improve the economy and efficiency of the biochemical conversion processes. On the other hand, transgenically

modified plants can be grown which will have a reduced lignin content and an upregulated cellulose biosynthesis. "Plant factories" can be set up, where such genetically modified plants can be grown which have the capacity to capture and store more carbon so that the overall energy density of the biomass increases. The bright future of biomass conversion into energy is clearly evident from the large number of integrated biorefineries which have already come up in different parts of the world.

References

- 1. Demirbas A (2004) Combustion characteristics of different biomass fuels. Progress in energy and combustion science 30:219–230
- 2. www.ieabcc.nl
- 3. www.vt.tuwien.ac.at/biobib/biobib/html
- 4. www.ecn.nl/Phyllis
- 5. Iyer PVR, Rao TR, Grover PD (2002) Biomass: thermo-chemical characterization. Indian Institute of Technology, New Delhi
- 6. Sofer SS, Zaborsky OR (1981) Biomass conversion processes for energy and fuels. Plenum Press, New York
- 7. Sims R (2002) The brilliance of bioenergy: in business and in practice. James & James, London
- 8. Yokoyama S (2008) The Asian biomass handbook. Japan Institute of Energy, Japan
- 9. Loo S, Koppejan J (2008) The handbook of biomass combustion and co-firing. Earthscan, UK, USA
- Overend RP (2004) Thermochemical conversion of biomass, in renewable energy sources charged with energy from the sun and originated from earth-moon interaction. In: Shpilrain EE (ed) Encyclopedia of Life Support Systems (EOLSS), Eolss Publishers, UK (http:// www.eolss.net)
- 11. Basu P (2010) Biomass gasification and pyrolysis: practical design and theory. Academic Press, USA
- 12. Bridgewater AV (2010) Fast pyrolysis of biomass for energy and fuels. In: Crocker M (ed) Thermochemical conversion of biomass to liquid fuels and chemicals, RSC energy and environment series no. 1, Royal Society of Chemistry, UK
- 13. Bridgewater AV (1994) Catalysis in thermal biomass conversion. Appl Catal A Gen 116:5–47
- 14. Balat M et al (2009) Main routes for the thermo-conversion of biomass into fuels and chemicals. Part 1: pyrolysis systems. Energy Convers Manag 50:3147–3157
- 15. Roy C, Yang J, et al (1997) Development of a novel vacuum pyrolysis reactor with improved heat transfer potential. In: Bridgewater AV (ed) Developments in thermochemical biomass conversion, vol. 1, Chapman & Hall, UK
- Demirbas A (2001) Biomass resource facilities and biomass conversion processing for fuels and chemicals. Energy Convers Manag 42:1357–1378
- Neathery JK (2010) Biomass gasification. In: Crocker M (ed) Thermochemical conversion of biomass to liquid fuels and chemicals, RSC energy and environment series no. 1, Royal Society of Chemistry, UK
- Damartzis T, Zabaniotou A (2011) Thermochemical conversion of biomass to second generation biofuels through integrated process design—A review. Renew Sustain Energy Rev 15:366–378

- 1 Biomass Conversion to Energy
- Belgiorno V, De Feo G, Della Rocca C, Napoli RMA (2003) Energy from gasification of solid wastes. Waste Manag 23:1–15
- Acharya B, Dutta A, Basu P (2009) Chemical-looping gasification of biomass for hydrogenenriched gas production with in-process carbon dioxide capture. Energy Fuels 23(10):5077–5083
- 21. Yoshidaa Y et al (2003) Comprehensive comparison of efficiency and CO2 emissions between biomass energy conversion technologies—position of supercritical water gasification in biomass technologies. Biomass Bioenergy 25:257–272
- 22. Kumar A, Jones DD, Hanna MA (2009) Thermochemical biomass gasification: a review of the current status of the technology. Energies 2:556–581
- Küçük MM, Demirbas A (1997) Biomass conversion processes. Energy Convers Mgmt 38(2):151–165
- 24. Yu Z, Morrison M, Schanbacher FL (2010) Production and utilization of methane biogas as renewable fuel. In: Vertis AA, Qureshi N, Blaschek HP, Yukawa H (eds) Biomass to biofuels: strategies for global industries. Wiley, UK
- 25. Hughes SR, Qureshi N (2010) Biofuel demand realization. In: Vertis AA, Qureshi N, Blaschek HP, Yukawa H (eds) Biomass to biofuels : strategies for global industries. Wiley, UK
- 26. Berg Miller ME, Brulc JM, Bayer EA et al (2010) Advanced technologies for biomass hydrolysis and saccharafication using novel enzymes. In: Vertis AA, Qureshi N, Blaschek HP, Yukawa H (eds) Biomass to biofuels: strategies for global industries. Wiley, UK
- 27. Ladisch MR, Lin KW, Voloch M, Tsao GT (1983) Process considerations in the enzymatic hydrolysis of biomass. Enzyme Microb Technol 5:82–102
- Liu ZL, Blaschek HP (2010) Biomass conversion inhibitors and in situ detoxification. In: Vertis AA, Qureshi N, Blaschek HP, Yukawa H (eds) Biomass to biofuels: strategies for global industries. Wiley, UK
- 29. Inui M, Vertès AA, Yukawa H (2010) Advanced fermentation technologies. In: Vertis AA, Qureshi N, Blaschek HP, Yukawa H (eds) Biomass to biofuels: strategies for global industries. Wiley, UK
- 30. Demirbas A, Demirbas MF (2010) Algae energy: algae as a new source of biodiesel. Springer, London
- Packer M (2009) Algal capture of carbon dioxide; biomass generation as a tool for greenhouse gas mitigation with reference to New Zealand energy strategy and policy. Energy Policy 37(9):3428–3437
- 32. Huesemann M, Roesjadi G, Benemann J, Metting FB (2010) Biofuels from microalgae and seaweeds. In: Vertis AA, Qureshi N, Blaschek HP, Yukawa H (eds) Biomass to biofuels: strategies for global industries. Wiley, UK
- Kamm B, Kamm M (2004) Principles of biorefineries. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 64:137–145
- 34. http://www1.eere.energy.gov/biomass/pdfs/35523.pdf
- 35. Octave S, Thomas D (2009) Biorefinery: toward an industrial metabolism. Biochimie 91:659-664
- 36. http://www1.eere.energy.gov/biomass/pdfs/35523.pdf
- 37. http://www1.eere.energy.gov/biomass/pdfs/pnnl-16983.pdf
- 38. Demirbas A (2010) Biorefineries: for biomass upgrading facilities. Springer, London
- Kaparaju P, Serrano M, Thomsen AB, Kongjan P, Angelidaki I (2009) Bioethanol, biohydrogen and biogas production from wheat straw in a biorefinery concept. Bioresour Technol 100:2562–2568
- 40. Naik SN, Goud VV, Rout PK, Dalai AK (2010) Production of first and second generation biofuels: a comprehensive review. Renew Sustain Energy Rev 14:578–597
- 41. Takara D, Khanal SK (2011) Green processing of tropical banagrass into biofuel and biobased products: an innovative biorefinery approach. Bioresour Technol 102(2):1587–1592
- 42. Chew TL, Bhatia S (2008) Catalytic processes towards the production of biofuels in a palm oil and oil palm biomass-based biorefinery. Bioresour Technol 99:7911–7922

- Bouaid A, Martínez M, Aracil J (2010) Biorefinery approach for coconut oil valorisation: A statistical study. Bioresour Technol 101:4006–4012
- 44. Luo G, Talebnia F, Karakashev D, Xie L, Zhou Q, Angelidaki I (2011) Enhanced bioenergy recovery from rapeseed plant in a biorefinery concept. Bioresour Technol 102(2):1433–1439
- 45. Klass DL (1998) Biomass for renewable energy, fuels and chemicals. Academic Press, San Diego
- 46. Mousdale DM (2008) Biofuels: biotechnology, chemistry and sustainable development. CRC Press, Boca Raton
- 47. FitzPatrick M, Champagne P, Cunningham MF, Whitney RA (2010) A biorefinery processing perspective: treatment of lignocellulosic materials for the production of value-added products. Bioresour Technol 101:8915–8922
- Marinova M, Mateos-Espejel E, Jemaaa N, Paris J (2009) Addressing the increased energy demand of a Kraft mill biorefinery: the hemicellulose extraction case. Chem Eng Res Des 87:1269–1275
- 49. Mao H, Genco JM, Yoon S-H, Van Heiningen A, Pendse H (2008) Technical economic evaluation of a hardwood biorefinery using the "near-neutral" hemicellulose pre-extraction process. J Biobased Mater Bioenergy 2(2):177–185
- 50. www.biorefinery.euroview.eu
- Singh J, Gu S (2010) Commercialization potential of microalgae for biofuels production. Renew Sustain Energy Rev 14:2596–2610
- 52. Goh CS, Lee KT (2010) A visionary and conceptual macroalgae-based third-generation bioethanol (TGB) biorefinery in Sabah, Malaysia as an underlay for renewable and sustainable development. Renew Sustain Energy Rev 14:842–848
- Mussgnug JH, Klassen V, Schlüter A, Kruse O (2010) Microalgae as substrates for fermentative biogas production in a combined biorefinery concept. J Biotechnol 150:51–56
- 54. http://www1.eere.energy.gov/biomass/integrated_biorefineries.html
- 55. www.nnfcc.co.uk/publications/NNFCC-position-paper-biorefineries-definitions-examplesof-current-activities-and-suggestions-for-UK-development/at_download/file
- 56. Cherubini F (2010) The biorefinery concept: using biomass instead of oil for producing energy and chemicals. Energy Convers Manag 51:1412-1421
- 57. Evans A, Strezov V, Evans TJ (2010) Sustainability considerations for electricity generation from biomass. Renew Sustain Energy Rev 14:1419–1427
- 58. Moore A (2005) Short-circuiting our fossil fuel habits. EMBO Reports 6(3):205-206
- Dwivedi P, Alavalapati JRR, Lal P (2009) Cellulosic ethanol production in the United States: conversion technologies, current production status, economics, and emerging developments. Energy Sustain Dev 13:174–182
- Tock L, Gassner M, Maréchal F (2010) Thermochemical production of liquid fuels from biomass: thermo-economic modeling, process design and process integration analysis. Biomass Bioenergy 34:1838–1854
- Caputo AC, Palumbo M, Pelagagge PM, Scacchia F (2005) Economics of biomass energy utilization in combustion and gasification plants: effects of logistic variables. Biomass Bioenergy 28:35–51

Chapter 2 Biomass Energy

A. K. Kurchania

2.1 Introduction

Biomass energy or "bioenergy" includes any solid, liquid or gaseous fuel, or any electric power or useful chemical product derived from organic matter, whether directly from plants or indirectly from plant-derived industrial, commercial or urban wastes, or agricultural and forestry residues. Thus bioenergy can be derived from a wide range of raw materials and produced in a variety of ways. Because of the wide range of potential feedstocks and the variety of technologies to produce them and process them, bioenergy is usually considered as a series of many different feedstock/technology combinations. In practice, we tend to use different terms for different end uses—e.g., electric power or transportation.

The term "biopower" describe biomass power systems that use biomass feedstocks instead of the usual fossil fuels (natural gas or coal) to produce electricity, and the term "biofuel" is used mostly for liquid transportation fuels which substitute for petroleum products such as gasoline or diesel. "Biofuel" is short for biomass fuel.

The term "biomass" generally refers to renewable organic matter generated by plants through photosynthesis. During photosynthesis, plants combine carbon dioxide from the air and water from the ground to form carbohydrates, which form the biochemical "building blocks" of biomass. The solar energy that drives photosynthesis is stored in the chemical bonds of the carbohydrates and other molecules contained in the biomass. If biomass is cultivated and harvested in a way that allows further growth without depleting nutrient and water resources, it is

A. K. Kurchania (🖂)

Renewable Energy Sources Department, College of Technology and Engineering, Maharana Pratap University of Agriculture and Technology, Udaipur, India e-mail: kurchania@rediffmail.com

a renewable resource that can be used to generate energy on demand, with little net additional contributions to global greenhouse gas emissions [1].

Materials having organic combustible matter are also referred under biomass. Biomass can be directly utilized as fuel or can be converted through different routes into useful forms of fuel. Biomass is a scientific term for living matter, but the word biomass is also used to denote products derived from living organisms wood from trees, harvested grasses, plant parts and residues such as twigs, stems and leaves, as well as aquatic plants and animal wastes.

Burning biomass efficiently results in little or no net emission of carbon dioxide to the atmosphere, since the bioenergy crop plants actually took up an equal amount of carbon dioxide from the air when they grew. However, burning conventional fossil fuels such as gasoline, oil, coal or natural gas results in an increase in carbon dioxide in the atmosphere, the major greenhouse gas which is thought to be responsible for global climate change. Some nitrogen oxides inevitably result from biomass burning (as with all combustion processes) but these are comparable to emissions from natural wildfires, and generally lower than those from burning fossil fuels. Other greenhouse gas emissions are associated with the use of fossil fuels by farm equipment, and with the application of inorganic fertilizers to the bioenergy crop. However, these may be offset by the increase in carbon storage in soil organic matter compared with conventional crops. Utilization of biomass residues which would otherwise have been dumped in landfills (e.g. urban and industrial residues) greatly reduces greenhouse gas emissions by preventing the formation of methane.

All the Earth's biomass exists in a thin surface layer called the biosphere. This represents only a tiny fraction of the total mass of the Earth, but in human terms it is an enormous store of energy—as fuel and as food. More importantly, it is a store which is being replenished continually. The source which supplies the energy is of course the Sun, and although only a tiny fraction of the solar energy reaching the Earth each year is converted into biomass, it is nevertheless equivalent to over five times the total world. The annual world of biomass is estimated at 146 billion metric tons, mostly from uncontrolled plant growth. The current world demand for oil and gas can be met with about 6% of the global production of biomass. Biomass is significant as heating fuel, and in some parts of the world the fuel is most widely used for cooking [2]. An advantage of this source of energy is that use of biomass for fuel would not add any net carbon dioxide to the atmosphere.

The Earth's land-based production which is used by the human population worldwide ranges from a low figure of about 5% to a high of over 30% (including food, animal fodder, timber and other products, as well as bioenergy). The higher estimates include a lot of wasted material and inefficient activities such as forest clearance, as well as losses of productivity due to human activity. Globally biomass energy use has been independently estimated at about 55 exajoules per year, or about 2% of annual biomass production on land.

2 Biomass Energy

Biomass has the following advantages:

- It is widely available.
- Its technology for production and conversion is well understood.
- It is suitable for small or large applications.
- Its production and utilization requires only low light intensity and low temperature (535°C).
- It incorporates advantage of storage and transportation.
- Comparatively, it is associated with low or negligible pollution.

Biomass can be classified as:

- Agricultural and forestry residues. They include silvicultural crops.
- Herbaceous crops. Include weeds, Napier grass.
- Aquatic and marine biomass. This category include algae, water hyacinth, aquatic weeds, plants, sea grass beds, kelp and coral reap, etc.
- *Wastes*. Various wastes such as municipal solid waste, municipal sewage sludge, animal waste and industrial waste, etc.

Worldwide, biomass is the fourth largest energy resource after coal, oil and natural gas—estimated at about 14% of global primary energy (and much higher in many developing countries). In the US, biomass today provides about 3–4% of primary energy (depending on the method of calculation). Biomass is used for *heating* (such as wood stoves in homes and for process heat in bioprocess industries), *cooking* (especially in many parts of the developing world), *transportation* (fuels such as ethanol) and, increasingly, for *electric power production*. The installed capacity of biomass power generation worldwide is about 35,000 MW, with about 7,000 MW in the US derived from forest-product-industry and agricultural residues (plus an additional 2,500 MW of municipal solid waste-fired capacity, which is often not counted as part of biomass power, and 500 MW of landfill gas-fired and other capacity). Much of this 7,000 MW capacity is presently found in the pulp and paper industry, in combined heat and power (cogeneration) systems.

2.2 Energy Plantation

This term refers to an area that is used to grow biomass for energy purposes. The idea behind energy plantation programme is to grow selected strains of tree and plant species on a short rotation system on waste or arable land. The sources of energy plantation depend on the availability of land and water and careful management of the plants. Energy crops, also called "bioenergy crops", are fast-growing crops that are grown for the specific purpose of producing energy (electricity or liquid fuels) from all or part of the resulting plant. They are selected for their advantageous environmental qualities such as erosion control, soil organic

matter build-up and reduced fertilizer and pesticide requirements. As far as suitability of land for energy plantation is concerned the following criterion is used:

(1) It should have a minimum of 60-cm annual precipitation and (2) arable land having slope equal to or less than 30% is suitable for energy plantation.

The economics of energy plantation depends on the cost of planting and availability of market for fuel. Whereas these two factors are location specific, they vary from place to place. Further productivity of this programme depends on the microclimate of the locality, the choice of the species, the planting spacing, the inputs available and the age of harvest. There are many suitable species for energy plantation, for example, *Acacia nilotica*. There are many other perennial plant species which could be used for energy crops. In addition, some parts of traditional agricultural crops such as the stems or stalks of alfalfa, corn or sorghum may be used for energy production.

2.3 Biomass Production Techniques

Careful planning is required for biomass production, which consists of integration of different techniques and improved methods. The general sequence for biomass production is the integration of different techniques and improved methods starting from site survey, nursery techniques, transplanting techniques and maintenance of the plantation. The production techniques include:

- Site survey
- Planting site selection
- Species selection
- Preparation of the planting site
- Preparation of the soil mixture
- Sowing of seed
- Method of sowing
- Transplanting of seedling into containers
- Transport of seedlings to the planting site
- Maintenance of the plantations

After successful plantation of biomass it is harvested by various methods such as:

• Coppicing

It is one of the most widely used harvesting methods in which the tree is cut at the base, usually between 15 and 75 cm above the ground level. New shoots develop from the stamp or root. These shoots are sometimes referred to as sucker or sprouts. Management of sprouts should be carried out according to use. For fuel wood the number of sprouts allowed to grow, should depend on the desired sizes of fuel wood. If many sprouts are allowed to grow for a long period, the weight of the sprouts may cause the sprouts to tear away from the

2 Biomass Energy

main trunk. Several rotations of coppicing are usually possible with many species. The length of the rotation period depends on the required tree products from the plantation. It is a suitable method for production of fuel wood. Most eucalyptus species and many species of the leguminous family, mainly naturally accessing shrubs can be harvested by coppicing.

• Pollarding

It is the harvesting system in which the branches including the top of the tree are cut, at a height of about 2 m above the ground and the main trunk is allowed to stand. The new shoots emerge from the main stem to develop a new crown. This results into a continuous increase in the diameter of the main stem although not in height. Finally, when the tree loses its sprouting vigor, the main stem is also cut for use as large diameter poles. An advantage of this method over coppicing is that the new shoots are high enough off the ground so that they are out of reach of most grazing animals. The neem tree (*Azadirachta indica*) is usually harvested in this manner. The branches may be used for poles and fuel wood.

• Lopping

In this method most of the branches of the tree are cut. The fresh foliage starts sprouting from the bottom to the top of the denuded stem in spite of severe defoliation, surprisingly quickly. The crown also re-grows and after a few years, the tree is lopped again. The lopped trunk continues to grow and increases in height, unless this is deliberately prevented by pruning it at the top.

• Pruning

It is a very common harvesting method. It involves the cutting of smaller branches and stems. The clipped materials constitute a major source of biomass for fuel and other purposes, such as fodder mulching between tree rows. It is also often required for the maintenance of fruit and forage trees, alley cropping and live fences. The process of pruning also increases the business of trees and shrubs for bio fencing. Root pruning at a required distance from the hole is effective to reduce border tree competition with crops for water and nutrients.

• Thinning

It is a traditional forestry practice and in fuel wood plantation, it can also be of importance. The primary objectives of thinning are to enhance diametric growth of some specific trees through early removal of poor and diseased trees to improve the plantation by reducing the competition for light and nutrients. Depending on initial plant density, initial thinning can be used for fuel wood or pole production.

2.4 Biomass Conversion Processes

There are a number of technological options available to make use of a wide variety of biomass types as a renewable energy source. Conversion technologies may release the energy directly, in the form of heat or electricity, or may convert it into another form, such as liquid biofuel or combustible biogas. Various methods of conversion of biomass into useful energy gain can be explained as follows:

2.4.1 Direct Combustion Processes

Feedstocks used are often residues such as woodchips, sawdust, bark, bagasse, straw, municipal solid waste (MSW) and wastes from the food industry. Direct combustion furnaces can be divided into two broad categories and are used for producing either direct heat or steam. Dutch ovens, spreader-stoker and fuel cell furnaces employ two stages. The first stage is for drying and possible partial gasification, and the second is for complete combustion. More advanced versions of these systems use rotating or vibrating grates to facilitate ash removal, with some requiring water cooling.

2.4.1.1 Co-Firing

A modern practice which has allowed biomass feedstocks an early and cheap entry point into the energy market is the practice of co-firing a fossil fuel (usually coal) with a biomass feedstock. It refers to the blending of biomass with coal in the furnace of a conventional coal-fired steam cycle electric power plant. This is currently one of the simplest ways of utilizing biomass to displace fossil fuels, requiring no new investment or specialized technology. Between 5 and 15% biomass (by heat content) may be used in such facilities at an additional cost estimated at <0.5 cents/kWh (compared with coal-firing alone). Co-firing is known to reduce carbon dioxide emissions, sulfur dioxide (SO_x) emissions, and potentially some emissions of nitrogen oxides (NO_x) as well. Many electric utilities around the US have experimented successfully with co-firing, using wood chips, urban waste wood and forestry residues.

Co-firing has a number of advantages, especially where electricity production is an output. First, where the conversion facility is situated near an agro-industrial or forestry product processing plant, large quantities of low-cost biomass residues are available. These residues can represent a low-cost fuel feedstock although there may be other opportunity costs. Second, it is now widely accepted that fossil-fuel power plants are usually highly polluting in terms of sulfur, CO₂ and other GHGs. Using the existing equipment, perhaps with some modifications, and co-firing with biomass may represent a cost-effective means for meeting more stringent emissions targets. Biomass fuel's low sulfur and nitrogen (relative to coal) content and nearly zero net CO₂ emission levels allows biomass to offset the higher sulfur and carbon contents of the fossil fuel. Third, if an agro-industrial or forestry processing plant wishes to make more efficient use of the residues generated by co-producing electricity, but has a highly seasonal component to its operating schedule, co-firing with a fossil fuel may allow the economic generation of electricity all the year round. Agro-industrial processors such as the sugarcane sugar industry can produce large amounts of electricity during the harvesting and processing season; however, during the off-season the plant will remain idle. This has two drawbacks, first, it is an inefficient use of equipment which has a limited lifetime, and second, electrical distribution utilities will not pay the full premium for electrical supplies which cannot be relied on for year-round production. In other words the distribution utility needs to guarantee year-round supply and may therefore have to invest in its own production capacity to cover the off-season gap in supply with associated costs in equipment and fuel. If however, the agro-processor can guarantee electrical supply year-round through the burning of alternative fuel supplies, then it will make efficient use of its equipment and will receive premium payments for its electricity by the distribution facility.

2.4.2 Thermochemical Process

2.4.2.1 Pyrolysis

Pyrolysis is a thermochemical decomposition of organic material at elevated temperatures in the absence of oxygen. Pyrolysis typically occurs under pressure and at operating temperatures above 430°C (800°F). In general, pyrolysis of organic substances produces gas and liquid products and leaves a solid residue richer in carbon content. Extreme pyrolysis, which leaves mostly carbon as the residue, is called carbonization.

The biomass feedstock is subjected to high temperatures at low oxygen levels, thus inhibiting complete combustion, and may be carried out under pressure. Biomass is degraded to single carbon molecules (CH₄ and CO) and H₂ producing a gaseous mixture called "producer gas". Carbon dioxide may be produced as well, but under the pyrolytic conditions of the reactor it is reduced back to CO and H₂O; this water further aids the reaction. Liquid-phase products result from temperatures which are too low to crack all the long chain carbon molecules thus resulting in the production of tars, oils, methanol, acetone, etc. Once all the volatiles have been driven off, the residual biomass is in the form of char which is virtually pure carbon. Pyrolysis has received attention recently for the production of liquid fuels from cellulosic feedstocks by "fast" and "flash" pyrolysis in which the biomass has a short residence time in the reactor. A more detailed understanding of the physical and chemical properties governing the pyrolytic reactions has allowed the optimization of reactor conditions necessary for these types of pyrolysis. Further work is now concentrating on the use of high-pressure reactor conditions to produce hydrogen and on low-pressure catalytic techniques (requiring zeolites) for alcohol production from the pyrolytic oil [3].

The pyrolysis process is used heavily in the chemical industry, for example, to produce charcoal, activated carbon, methanol and other chemicals from wood, to convert ethylene dichloride into vinyl chloride to make PVC, to produce coke from

coal, to convert biomass into syngas, to turn waste into safely disposable substances, and for transforming medium-weight hydrocarbons from oil into lighter ones like gasoline. These specialized uses of pyrolysis are called by various names, such as dry distillation, destructive distillation or cracking.

Pyrolysis differs from other high-temperature processes like combustion and hydrolysis in that it does not involve reactions with oxygen, water or any other reagents. In practice, it is not possible to achieve a completely oxygen-free atmosphere. Because some oxygen is present in any pyrolysis system, a small amount of oxidation occurs. The term has also been applied to the decomposition of organic material in the presence of superheated water or steam (hydrous pyrolysis), for example, in the steam cracking of oil. Pyrolysis is the basis of several methods that are being developed for producing fuel from biomass, which may include either crops grown for the purpose or biological waste products from other industries. Fuel bio-oil resembling light crude oil can also be produced by hydrous pyrolysis from many kinds of feedstock by a process called thermal depolymerization (which may however include other reactions besides pyrolysis).

2.4.2.2 Torrefaction

Biomass can be an important energy source to create a more sustainable society. However, nature has created a large diversity of biomass with varying specifications. In order to create highly efficient biomass-to-energy chains, torrefaction of biomass in combination with densification (pelletization/briquetting), is a promising step to overcome logistic economics in large scale green energy solutions. Torrefaction of biomass can be described as a mild form of pyrolysis at temperatures typically ranging between 200 and 320°C. During torrefaction the biomass properties are changed to obtain a much better fuel quality for combustion and gasification applications. Torrefaction combined with densification leads to a very energy dense fuel carrier of 20–25 GJ/ton [4].

Torrefaction is a thermochemical treatment of biomass at 200–320°C. It is carried out under atmospheric conditions and in the absence of oxygen. During the process, the water contained in the biomass as well as superfluous volatiles are removed, and the biopolymers (cellulose, hemicellulose and lignin) partly decompose giving off various types of volatiles. The final product is the remaining solid, dry, blackened material which is referred to as "torrefied biomass" or "bio-coal".

During the process, the biomass loses typically 20% of its mass (dry bone basis), while only 10% of the energy content in the biomass is lost. This energy (the volatiles) can be used as a heating fuel for the torrefaction process. After the biomass is torrefied it can be densified, usually into briquettes or pellets using conventional densification equipment, to further increase the density of the material and to improve its hydrophobic properties. With regard to brewing and food products, torrefication occurs when a cereal (barley, maize, oats, wheat, etc.) is cooked at high temperature to gelatinize the starch endosperm creating the

expansion of the grain and creating a puffed appearance. The cereal can then be used whole or flaked. In brewing, the use of small quantities of torrefied wheat or barley in the mashing process aids in head retention and clings to the glass. Additionally, torrefied cereals are generally less expensive than equal amounts of malted products.

Torrefied and densified biomass has several advantages which makes it a competitive option compared to conventional biomass (wood) pellets:

- Higher energy density.
- Energy density of 18–20 GJ/m³ compared to 10–11 GJ/m³ driving a 40–50% reduction in transportation costs.
- More homogeneous composition.

Torrefied biomass can be produced from a wide variety of raw biomass feedstocks while yielding similar product properties. The main reason for this is that about all biomass are built from the same polymers (lignocelluloses). In general (woody and herbaceous) biomass consists of three main polymeric structures: cellulose, hemicellulose and lignin. Together, these are called lignocelluloses. Torrefaction of biomass leads to improved grindability of biomass. This leads to more efficient co-firing in existing coal-fired power stations or entrained-flow gasification for the production of chemicals and transportation fuels.

Fischer–Tropsch process (or Fischer–Tropsch Synthesis) is a set of chemical reactions that convert a mixture of carbon monoxide and hydrogen into liquid hydrocarbons. The process, a key component of gas to liquids technology, produces a petroleum substitute, typically from coal, natural gas or biomass for use as synthetic lubrication oil and as synthetic fuel. The F–T process has received intermittent attention as a source of low-sulfur diesel fuel and to address the supply or cost of petroleum-derived hydrocarbons.

Generally, the Fischer–Tropsch process is operated in the temperature range of 150–300°C (302–572°F). Higher temperatures lead to faster reactions and higher conversion rates but also tend to favor methane production. As a result, the temperature is usually maintained at the low to middle part of the range. Increasing the pressure leads to higher conversion rates and also favors formation of long-chained alkanes both of which are desirable. Typical pressures range from one to several tens of atmospheres. Even higher pressures would be favorable, but the benefits may not justify the additional costs of high-pressure equipment. A variety of catalysts can be used for the Fischer–Tropsch process, but the most common are the transition metals cobalt, iron and ruthenium. Nickel can also be used, but tends to favor methane formation.

2.4.2.3 Carbonization

This is an age old pyrolytic process optimized for the production of charcoal. Traditional methods of charcoal production have centered on the use of earth mounds or covered pits into which the wood is piled. Control of the reaction conditions is often crude and relies heavily on experience. During carbonization most of the volatile components of the wood are eliminated; this process is also called "dry wood distillation". Carbon accumulates mainly due to a reduction in the levels of hydrogen and oxygen in the wood. The wood undergoes a number of physico-chemical changes as the temperature rises. Between 100 and 170°C most of the water is evaporated; between 170 and 270°C gases develop containing condensable vapors, CO and CO₂. These condensable vapors (long chain carbon molecules) form pyrolysis oil, which can then be used for the production of chemicals or as a fuel after cooling and scrubbing. Between 270 and 280°C an exothermic reaction develops which can be detected by the spontaneous generation of heat.

There are three basic types of charcoal-making: (a) internally heated (by controlled combustion of the raw material), (b) externally heated (using fuelwood or fossil fuels) and (c) hot circulating gas (retort or converter gas, used for the production of chemicals). Internally heated charcoal kilns are the most common form of charcoal kiln. It is estimated that 10–20% of the wood (by weight) is sacrificed; a further 60% (by weight) is lost through the conversion to, and release of, gases to the atmosphere from these kilns. Externally heated reactors allow oxygen to be completely excluded, and thus provide better quality charcoal on a larger scale. They do, however, require the use of an external fuel source, which may be provided from the "producer gas" once pyrolysis is initiated. Recirculating heated gas systems offer the potential to generate large quantities of charcoal and associated by-products, but are presently limited by high investment costs for large-scale plants.

2.4.2.4 Gasification

High temperatures and a controlled environment lead to virtually all the raw material being converted into gas. This takes place in two stages. In the first stage, the biomass is partially combusted to form producer gas and charcoal. In the second stage, the CO₂ and H₂O produced in the first stage are chemically reduced by the charcoal, forming CO and H_2 . The composition of the gas is 18–20% H_2 , an equal portion of CO, 2-3% CH₄, 8-10% CO₂ and the rest nitrogen. These stages are spatially separated in the gasifier, with gasifier design very much dependant on the feedstock characteristics. Gasification requires temperatures of about 800°C and is carried out in closed top or open top gasifiers. These gasifiers can be operated at atmospheric pressure or higher. The energy density of the gas is generally <5.6 MJ/m³, which is low in comparison to natural gas at 38 MJ/m³, providing only 60% of the power rating of diesel when used in a modified diesel engine. Gasification technology has existed since the turn of the century when coal was extensively gasified in the UK and elsewhere for use in power generation and in houses for cooking and lighting. Gasifiers were used extensively for transport in Europe during World War II due to shortages of oil, with a closed top design predominating.

	Steam turbine (cents/kWh)	Advanced gasification (cents/kWh)
Capital	3.0-5.0	2.63
Operating (excluding fuel)	2.2–2.8	0.4
Biomass feedstock	1.2–3.5	1.62
Total	6.4–11.3	4.65

 Table 2.1 Cost analysis for biomass-fired power plants

A major future role is envisaged for electricity production from biomass plantations and agricultural residues using large-scale gasifiers with direct coupling to gas turbines. The potential gains in efficiency using such hybrid gasifier/ gas turbine systems make them extremely attractive for electricity generation once commercial viability has been demonstrated. Such systems take advantage of low grade and cheap feedstocks (residues and wood produced using short rotation techniques) and the high efficiencies of modern gas turbines to produce electricity at comparable or less cost than fossil fuel-derived electricity. Net atmospheric CO₂ emissions are avoided if growth of the biomass is managed to match consumption. The use of BIG/STIG (biomass integrated gasifier steam injected gas turbine) initially and BIG/GTCC (biomass integrated gasifier gas turbine combined cycle) as the technology matures, is predicted to allow energy conversion efficiencies of 40-55%. Modern coal electrical plants have efficiencies of about 35% or less. Combined heat and power systems could eventually provide energy at efficiencies of from 50 to 80%. The use of low-grade feedstocks combined with high conversion efficiencies makes these systems economically competitive with cheap coal-based plants and energetically competitive with natural gas-based plants.

It has been observed that it takes a little under 1,000 acres (400 ha) of poplar (grown as a short-rotation crop at a usable yield of 5 dry U.S. tons/acre, or 11 metric tons/ha) to supply an electric power plant with a capacity of one megawatt (1 MW). A typical small biomass-fired power plant (25 MW) with 80% availability (i.e., actually operating 80% of the time) would produce about 175 million kWh per year, or approximately the electricity needs of 25,000 people. The required 25,000 acres of land (about 10,000 ha) would occupy about 2% of the total land area within a radius of 25 miles (40 km). These calculations are based on a 30% conversion efficiency from heat to electricity, and an energy content for dry poplar wood of 17 Btu/U.S. ton (19.7 GJ/metric ton).

The cost of electricity from two contrasting technologies (one present-day, one future), for a biomass-fired power plant from 10 to 50 MW in size are given in Table 2.1.

2.4.2.5 Catalytic Liquefaction

This technology has the potential to produce higher quality products of greater energy density. These products should also require less processing to produce marketable products. Catalytic liquefaction is a low temperature, high pressure thermochemical conversion process carried out in the liquid phase. It requires either a catalyst or a high hydrogen partial pressure. Technical problems have so far limited the opportunities of this technology.

2.5 Types of Gasifiers

2.5.1 Updraught or Counter Current Gasifier

The oldest and simplest type of gasifier is the counter current or updraught gasifier where the air intake is at the bottom and the gas leaves at the top. The combustion reactions occur near the grate at the bottom, which are followed by reduction reactions somewhat higher up in the gasifier. In the upper part of the gasifier, heating and pyrolysis of the feedstock occur as a result of heat transfer by forced convection and radiation from the lower zones. The tars and volatiles produced during this process are carried in the gas stream. Ashes are removed from the bottom of the gasifier. The major advantages of this type of gasifier are its simplicity, high charcoal burn-out and internal heat exchange leading to low gas exit temperatures and high equipment efficiency, as well as the possibility of operation with many types of feedstock (sawdust, cereal hulls, etc.).

Major drawbacks result from the possibility of "channeling" in the equipment, which can lead to oxygen breakthrough and dangerous, explosive situations and the necessity to install automatic moving grates, as well as from the problems associated with disposal of the tar-containing condensates that result from the gas cleaning operations. The latter is of minor importance if the gas is used for direct heat applications, in which case the tars are simply burnt.

2.5.2 Downdraught or Co-Current Gasifiers

A solution to the problem of tar entrainment in the gas stream has been found by designing co-current or downdraught gasifiers, in which primary gasification air is introduced at or above the oxidation zone in the gasifier. The producer gas is removed at the bottom of the apparatus, so that fuel and gas move in the same direction.

On their way down the acid and tarry distillation products from the fuel must pass through a glowing bed of charcoal and therefore are converted into permanent gases hydrogen, carbon dioxide, carbon monoxide and methane. Depending on the temperature of the hot zone and the residence time of the tarry vapors, a more or less complete breakdown of the tars is achieved. The main advantage of downdraught gasifiers lies in the possibility of producing a tar-free gas suitable for engine applications. In practice, however, a tar-free gas is seldom if ever achieved over the whole operating range of the equipment: tar-free operating turn-down ratios of a factor 3 are considered standard; a factor 5–6 is considered excellent. Because of the lower level of organic components in the condensate, downdraught gasifiers suffer less from environmental objections than updraught gasifiers.

A major drawback of downdraught equipment lies in its inability to operate on a number of unprocessed fuels. In particular, fluffy, low density materials give rise to flow problems and excessive pressure drop, and the solid fuel must be pelletized or briquetted before use. Downdraught gasifiers also suffer from the problems associated with high ash content fuels to a larger extent than updraught gasifiers. Minor drawbacks of the downdraught system, as compared to updraught, are somewhat of lower efficiency resulting from the lack of internal heat exchange as well as the lower heating value of the gas. Besides this, the necessity to maintain uniform high temperatures over a given cross-sectional area makes impractical the use of downdraught gasifiers in a power range above about 350 kW (shaft power).

2.5.3 Cross-Draught Gasifier

Cross-draught gasifiers are an adaptation for the use of charcoal. Charcoal gasification results in very high temperatures (1500 °C and higher) in the oxidation zone which can lead to material problems. In cross-draught gasifiers insulation against these high temperatures is provided by the fuel (charcoal) itself. Advantages of the system lie in the very small scale at which it can be operated. Installations below 10 kW (shaft power) can under certain conditions be economically feasible. The reason is the very simple gas-cleaning train (only a cyclone and a hot filter) which can be employed when using this type of a gasifier in conjunction with small engines.

A disadvantage of cross-draught gasifiers is their minimal tar-converting capabilities and the consequent need for high quality (low volatile content) charcoal. It is because of the uncertainty of charcoal quality that a number of charcoal gasifiers employ the downdraught principle, in order to maintain at least a minimal tar-cracking capability.

2.5.4 Fluidized Bed Gasifier

The operation of both up- and downdraught gasifiers is influenced by the morphological, physical and chemical properties of the fuel. Problems commonly encountered are: lack of bunker flow, slagging and extreme pressure drop over the gasifier. Air is blown through a bed of solid particles at a sufficient velocity to keep these in a state of suspension. The bed is originally externally heated and the feedstock is introduced as soon as a sufficiently high temperature is reached. The fuel particles are introduced at the bottom of the reactor, very quickly mixed with the bed material and almost instantaneously heated up to the bed temperature. As a result of this treatment the fuel is pyrolyzed very fast, resulting in a component mix with a relatively large amount of gaseous materials. Further gasification and tar-conversion reactions occur in the gas phase. Most systems are equipped with an internal cyclone in order to minimize char blow-out as much as possible. Ash particles are also carried over the top of the reactor and have to be removed from the gas stream if the gas is used in engine applications [5].

2.5.5 Other Types of Gasifiers

A number of other biomass gasifier systems (double fired, entrained bed, molten bath), which are partly spin-offs from the coal gasification technology, are currently under development. In some cases these systems incorporate unnecessary refinements and complications, in others both the size and sophistication of the equipment make near-term application in developing countries unlikely.

2.6 Briquetting

2.6.1 Screw Press and Piston Press Technologies

High compaction technology or binderless technology consists of the piston press and the screw press. Most of the units currently installed, are the reciprocating type, where the biomass is pressed in a die by a reciprocating ram at a very high pressure. In a screw extruder press, the biomass is extruded continuously by a screw through a heated taper die. In a piston press the wear of the contact parts e.g., the ram and die is less compared to the wear of the screw and die in a screw extruder press. The power consumption in the former is less than that of the latter. But in terms of briquette quality and production procedure screw press is definitely superior to the piston press technology. The central hole incorporated into the briquettes produced by a screw extruder helps to achieve uniform and efficient combustion and, also, these briquettes can be carbonized. Table 2.2 shows a comparison between a screw extruder and a piston press.

2.6.1.1 Piston Press

The piston presses which are currently in operation, are also known as ram and die technology. In this case the biomass is punched into a die by a reciprocating ram with a very high pressure thereby compressing the mass to obtain a briquette.

	Piston press	Screw extruder
Optimum moisture content of raw material	10–15%	8–9%
Wear of contact parts	Low in case of ram and die	High in case of screw
Output from the machine	In strokes	Continuous
Power consumption	50 kWh/ton	60 kWh/ton
Density of briquette	$1-1.2 \text{ gm/cm}^{3}$	$1-1.4 \text{ gm/cm}^{3}$
Maintenance	High	Low
Combustion performance of briquettes	Not so good	Very good
Carbonization to charcoal	Not possible	Makes good charcoal
Suitability in gasifiers	Not suitable	Suitable
Homogeneity of briquettes	Non-homogeneous	Homogeneous

Table 2.2 Comparison of a screw extruder and a prison press

The briquette produced is 60 mm in external diameter. This machine has a 700 kg/ h capacity and the power requirement is 25 kW. The ram moves approximately 270 times/min in this process.

Merits and Demerits of Piston Press Technology

- 1. There is less relative motion between the ram and the biomass hence, the wear of the ram is considerably reduced.
- 2. It is the most cost-effective technology currently offered.
- 3. Some operational experience has now been gained using different types of biomass.
- 4. The moisture content of the raw material should be less than 12% for the best results.
- 5. The quality of the briquettes goes down with an increase in production for the same power.
- 6. Carbonization of the outer layer is not possible. Briquettes are somewhat brittle.

2.6.1.2 Screw Press Technology

In the screw press technology, the biomass is extruded continuously by a screw through a taper die which is heated externally to reduce the friction.

Merits and Demerits of this Technology

- 1. The output is continuous and the briquette is uniform in size.
- 2. The outer surface of the briquette is partially carbonized facilitating easy ignition and combustion. This also protects the briquettes from ambient moisture.

- 3. A concentric hole in the briquette helps in combustion because of sufficient circulation of air.
- 4. The machine runs very smoothly without any shock load.
- 5. The machine is lightweight compared to the piston press because of the absence of reciprocating parts and flywheel. The machine parts and the oil used in the machine are free from dust or raw material contamination.
- 6. The power requirement of the machine is high compared to that of piston press.

At present, screw press and piston press technologies are becoming more important commercially. As the piston press technology is comparatively older than the screw press technology, more piston presses are operating today. However, the screw press technology is also rapidly gaining in importance. The lack of basic research to improve the piston press and the manufacturers' inability to understand the technology are the two prime reasons that these presses are not performing satisfactorily on a commercial basis [6]. Entrepreneurs face many problems due to frequent wear in the ram and the die. The life of the ram has been observed from 33 to 300 h. This is the most frequently used briquetting equipment and is manufactured throughout the world. It consists of a flywheel that operates a piston, which presses the material through a tapered die where the briquette is formed. But piston presses have not been successful due to a lack of understanding of the characteristics of raw material which in turn affects machine design parameters like flywheel size and speed, crank shaft size and piston stroke length. The feeding mechanism also needs to be perfected, in this case according to the bulk density of the raw material.

2.6.1.3 Other Briquetting Technologies

Another type of briquetting machine is the hydraulic piston press. This is different from the mechanical piston press in that the energy to the piston is transmitted from an electric motor via a high pressure hydraulic oil system. This machine is compact and light. Because of the slower press cylinder compared to that of the mechanical machine, it results in lower outputs. The briquettes produced have a bulk density lower than 1,000 kg/m³ due to the fact that pressure is limited to 40–135 kg/h. This machine can tolerate higher moisture content than the usually accepted 15% moisture content for mechanical piston presses. Pelletizing is closely related to briquetting except that it uses smaller dies (approximately 30 mm) so that the smaller products produced are called pellets. The pelletizer has a number of dies arranged as holes bored on a thick steel disk or ring and the material is forced into the dies by means of two or three rollers. The two main types of pellet presses are: flat and ring types.

Large capacity pelletizers are available in the range of 200 kg/h–8 ton/h. Thus, pellet press capacity is not restricted by the density of the raw material as in the case of piston or screw presses. Power consumption falls within the range of 15–40 kWh/ton.

2.6.2 Compaction Characteristics of Biomass and Their Significance

In order to produce good quality briquettes, feed preparation is very important. For densification of biomass, it is important to know the feed parameters that influence the extrusion process. For different briquetting machines, the required parameters of raw materials like their particle size, moisture content, temperature are different. These are discussed below.

2.6.2.1 Effect of Particle Size

Particle size and shape are of great importance for densification. It is generally agreed that biomass material of 6–8 mm size with 10–20% powdery component (<4 mesh) gives the best results. Although the screw extruder which employs high pressure (1,000–1,500 bar), is capable of briquetting material of oversized particles, the briquetting will not be smooth and clogging might take place at the entrance of the die resulting in jamming of the machine. The larger particles which are not conveyed through the screw start accumulating at the entry point and the steam produced due to high temperature (due to rotation of screw, heat conducted from the die and also if the material is preheated) inside the barrel of the machine starts condensing afresh. Cold feed results in the formation of lumps and leads to jamming. That is why the processing conditions should be changed to suit the requirements of each particular biomass. Therefore, it is desirable to crush larger particles to get a random distribution of particle size so that an adequate amount of sufficiently small particles is present for embedding into the larger particles.

The presence of different size particles improves the packing dynamics and also contributes to high static strength. Only fine and powdered particles of size <1 mm are not suitable for a screw extruder because they are less dense, more cohesive, non-free flowing entities.

2.6.2.2 Effect of Moisture

The percentage of moisture in the feed biomass to extruder machine is a very critical factor. In general, it has been found that when the feed moisture content is 8-10%, the briquettes will have 6-8% moisture. At this moisture content, the briquettes are strong and free of cracks and the briquetting process is smooth. But when the moisture content is more than 10%, the briquettes are poor and weak and the briquetting operation is erratic. Excess steam is produced at higher moisture content leading to the blockage of incoming feed from the hopper, and sometimes it shoots out the briquettes from the die. Therefore, it is necessary to maintain optimum moisture content.

In the briquetting process water also acts as a film type binder by strengthening the bonding in briquettes. In the case of organic and cellular products, water helps in promoting bonding by van der Walls' forces by increasing the true area of contact of the particles. In fact, the surface effects of water are so pronounced that the success or failure of the compaction process depends solely upon the moisture content of the material. The right amount of moisture develops self-bonding properties in lignocellulose substances at elevated temperatures and pressures prevalent in briquetting machines. It is important to establish the initial moisture content of the biomass feed so that the briquettes produced have moisture content greater than the equilibrium value, otherwise the briquettes may swell during storage and transportation and disintegrate when exposed to humid atmospheric conditions.

2.6.2.3 Effect of Temperature of Biomass

By varying the temperature of biomass the briquette density, briquette crushing strength and moisture stability can be varied. In a screw extruder, the temperature does not remain constant in the axial direction of the press but gradually increases. Internal and external friction causes local heating and the material develops self-bonding properties at elevated temperatures. It can also be assumed that the moisture present in the material forms steam under high pressure conditions which then hydrolyses the hemicellulose and lignin portions of biomass into lower molecular carbohydrates, lignin products, sugar polymers and other derivatives. These products, when subjected to heat and pressure in the die, act as adhesive binders and provide a bonding effect "in situ". The addition of heat also relaxes the inherent fibers in biomass and apparently softens its structure, thereby reducing their resistance to briquetting which in turn results in decreased specific power consumption and a corresponding increase in production rate and reduction in wear of the contact parts. However, the temperature should not be increased beyond the decomposition temperature of biomass which is around 300°C.

2.6.2.4 Effect of Temperature of the Die

The distinctive feature of a screw type briquetting machine is that heat is applied to the die 'bush' section of the cylinder. This brings about two important operational advantages. The machine can be operated with less power and the life of the die is prolonged. Further, the surface of the briquette is partially carbonized/torrified to a dark brown color making the briquette resistant to atmospheric moisture during storage. The temperature of the die should be kept at about 280–290°C. If the die temperature is more than the required one, the friction between the raw material and the die wall decreases such that compaction occurs at lower pressure which results in poor densification and inferior strength. Conversely, low temperature will result in higher pressure and power consumption and lower production rate.

2.6.2.5 Effect of External Additives

The briquetting process does not add to the calorific value of the base biomass. In order to upgrade the specific heating value and combustibility of the briquette, certain additives like charcoal and coal in very fine form can be added. About 10–20% char fines can be employed in briquetting without impairing their quality. Further, only screw pressed briquettes can be carbonized. When carbonized with additives in the briquette to make dense charcoal, the yield is remarkably increased. However, depending upon the quality of charcoal and coal powder, various formulations can be evolved for optimal results.

In piston press technology the effect of particle size and moisture content is similar to that of the screw press. But in this case preheating of raw material is not employed and the die is not heated. In fact the die needs cooling for smooth briquetting.

2.6.2.6 Unit Operations

The above factors illustrate that biomass feed preparation is very important and forms an integral part of the briquetting process. The unit operations of the piston press and the screw press are similar except where the latest development in screw press technology has been adopted, i.e., where a preheating system has been incorporated to preheat the raw material for briquetting to give better performance commercially and economically to suit local conditions. In the present piston press operating briquetting plants, the biomass is briquetted after pre-processing the raw material but no preheating is carried out. Depending upon the type of biomass, three processes are generally required involving the following steps:

- A. Sieving—Drying—Preheating—Densification—Cooling—Packing
- B. Sieving—Crushing—Preheating—Densification—Cooling—Packing
- C. Drying—Crushing—Preheating—Densification—Cooling—Packing

When sawdust is used, process A is adopted. Process B is for agro- and millresidues which are normally dry. These materials are coffee husk, rice husk, groundnut shells, etc. Process C is for materials like bagasse, coir pith (which needs sieving), mustard and other cereal stalks.

2.7 Anaerobic Digestion

Anaerobic reactors are generally used for the production of methane-rich biogas from manure (human and animal) and crop residues. Anaerobic digestion is a series of processes in which microorganisms break down biodegradable material in the absence of oxygen, used for industrial or domestic purposes to manage waste and/or to release energy. They utilize mixed methanogenic bacterial cultures which are characterized by defined optimal temperature ranges for growth. These mixed cultures allow digesters to be operated over a wide temperature range, i.e., above 0°C up to 60°C. When functioning well, the bacteria convert about 90% of the feedstock energy content into biogas (containing about 55% methane), which is a readily useable energy source for cooking and lighting. The sludge produced after the manure has passed through the digester is non-toxic and odorless. Also, it has lost relatively little of its nitrogen or other nutrients during the digestion process thus, making a good fertilizer. In fact, compared to cattle manure left to dry in the field the digester sludge has higher nitrogen content; many of the nitrogen compounds in fresh manure become volatized while drying in the sun. On the other hand, in the digested sludge little of the nitrogen is volatized, and the nitrogen is more readily accessible by plants than many of the nitrogen compounds found in dung, and thus the fertilizer value of the sludge may actually be higher than that of fresh dung.

Pressure from environmentally related legislation on solid waste disposal methods in developed countries has increased the application of anaerobic digestion as a process for reducing waste volumes and generating useful by-products. Anaerobic digestion may either be used to process the source separated fraction of municipal waste, or alternatively combined with mechanical sorting systems, to process residual mixed municipal waste. These facilities are called mechanical biological treatment plants.

Utilizing anaerobic digestion technologies can help to reduce the emission of greenhouse gases in a number of key ways:

- Replacement of fossil fuels.
- Reducing or eliminating the energy footprint of waste treatment plants.
- Reducing methane emission from landfills.
- Displacing industrially produced chemical fertilizers.
- Reducing vehicle movements.
- Reducing electric grid transportation losses.

If the putrescible waste processed in anaerobic digesters was disposed of in a landfill, it would break down naturally and often anaerobically. In this case the gas will eventually escape into the atmosphere. As methane is about 20 times more potent as a greenhouse gas than carbon dioxide this has significant negative environmental effects.

The most common and popular on-farm use of biogas is to fuel an enginegenerator (generator-set or genset) to produce electricity for on-farm use, or, less commonly, for off-farm sale or under a net-metered arrangement with the utility. Heat recovered from combustion of the biogas (whether in boilers or internal combustion engines) can be used to maintain the operating temperature of the anaerobic digester or for other on-farm uses. Burners and boilers used to produce heat and steam can be fueled by biogas. The direct substitution of biogas for natural gas or LPG, however, will not work for most standard commercially available burners. At the given fuel gas feed pressures, gas must flow into combustion in the right stoichiometric ratio with air. Because of its high CO_2 content, if biogas flows through the burner orifice at the pressure intended for feeding methane or propane, the fuel-to-air ratio is insufficient to ensure flame stability.

A relatively simple option is to provide the combustion equipment with a second "as is" biogas burner that operates in parallel with the first. In this case, regardless of the fuel used, air flow is kept constant. Burner orifices for the respective burners can be set such that each burner meters the proper amount of gas to meet combustion stoichiometry. This could require other control measures such as (for simplest control) complete switchovers from pure biogas fuel to the fossil alternative, and modest (a few hours' worth) backup biogas storage, but is otherwise straightforward [7].

Digester liquor can be used as a fertilizer supplying vital nutrients to soils. The solid, fibrous component of the digested material can be used as a soil conditioner to increase the organic content of soils. The liquor can be used instead of chemical fertilizers which require large amounts of energy to produce and transport. The use of manufactured fertilizers is therefore more carbon intensive than the use of anaerobic digester liquor fertilizer.

In countries that collect household waste, the utilization of local anaerobic digestion facilities can help to reduce the amount of waste that requires transportation to centralized landfill sites or incineration facilities. This reduced burden on transportation reduces carbon emissions from the collection vehicles. If localized anaerobic digestion facilities are embedded within an electrical distribution network, they can help in reducing the electrical losses that are associated with transporting electricity over a national grid.

There are four key biological and chemical stages of anaerobic digestion:

- 1. Hydrolysis
- 2. Acidogenesis
- 3. Acetogenesis
- 4. Methanogenesis

In most cases biomass is made up of large organic polymers. In order for the bacteria in anaerobic digesters to access the energy potential of the material, these chains must first be broken down into their smaller constituent parts. These constituent parts or monomers such as sugars are readily available by other bacteria. The process of breaking these chains and dissolving the smaller molecules into solution is called hydrolysis. Therefore, hydrolysis of these high molecular weight polymeric components is the necessary first step in anaerobic digestion. Through hydrolysis the complex organic molecules are broken down into simple sugars, amino acids and fatty acids.

Acetate and hydrogen produced in the first stages can be used directly by methanogens. Other molecules such as volatile fatty acids (VFAs) with a chain length that is greater than acetate must first be catabolized into compounds that can be directly utilized by methanogens. The biological process of acidogenesis is where there is further breakdown of the remaining components by acidogenic (fermentative) bacteria. Here, VFAs are created along with ammonia, carbon dioxide and hydrogen sulfide as well as other by-products. The process of acidogenesis is similar to the way that milk sours. The third stage of anaerobic digestion is acetogenesis. Here, simple molecules created through the acidogenesis phase are further digested by acetogens to produce largely acetic acid as well as carbon dioxide and hydrogen [8].

The terminal stage of anaerobic digestion is the biological process of methanogenesis. Here, methanogens utilize the intermediate products of the preceding stages and convert them into methane, carbon dioxide and water. It is these components that make up the majority of the biogas emitted from the system. Methanogenesis is sensitive to both high and low pHs and occurs between pH 6.5 and 8. The remaining, non-digestible material which the microbes cannot feed upon, along with any dead bacterial remains constitutes the digestate.

The end products of biological treatment are:

- *Biogas* (methane not less than 55%, carbon dioxide not more than 45%, hydrogen sulfide not more than 2%, hydrogen not more than 1%);
- *fermented substrate as fermentation residue*, consisting of water, cellulose residues, small quantity of bacteria and organic nutrients (nitrogen, phosphorus, potassium, etc.).

Anaerobic digesters can be designed and engineered to operate using a number of different process configurations:

- Batch or continuous.
- Temperature: mesophilic or thermophilic.
- Solids content: high solids or low solids.
- Complexity: single stage or multistage.

2.7.1 Batch or Continuous

A batch system is the simplest form of digestion. Biomass is added to the reactor at the start of the process in a batch and is sealed for the duration of the process. Batch reactors suffer from odor issues that can be a severe problem when they are emptied. Typically, biogas production will be formed with a normal distribution pattern over time. The operator can use this fact to determine when they believe the process of digestion of the organic matter has completed. As the batch digestion is simple and requires less equipment and lower levels of design work it is typically a cheaper form of digestion.

In continuous digestion processes organic matter is constantly added (continuous complete mixed) or added in stages to the reactor (continuous plug flow; first in–first out). Here the end products are constantly or periodically removed, resulting in constant production of biogas. Single or multiple digesters in sequence may be used. Examples of this form of anaerobic digestion include continuous stirred-tank reactors (CSTRs), upflow anaerobic sludge blanket (UASB), expanded granular sludge bed (EGSB) and internal circulation reactors (IC).

2.7.2 Temperature

There are two conventional operational temperature levels for anaerobic digesters, which are determined by the species of methanogens in the digesters:

- Mesophilic which takes place optimally around 30–38°C or at ambient temperatures between 20 and 45°C where mesophiles are the primary microorganism present.
- Thermophilic which takes place optimally around 49–57°C at elevated temperatures up to 70°C where thermophiles are the primary microorganisms present.

There are a greater number of species of mesophiles than thermophiles. These bacteria are also more tolerant to changes in environmental conditions than thermophiles. Mesophilic systems are therefore considered to be more stable than thermophilic digestion systems.

As mentioned above, thermophilic digestion systems are considered to be less stable, the energy input is higher and more energy is removed from the organic matter. However, the increased temperatures facilitate faster reaction rates and hence faster gas yields. Operation at higher temperatures facilitates greater sterilization of the end digestate.

2.7.3 Solids

Typically, there are three different operational parameters associated with the solids content of the feedstock to the digesters:

- High-solids (dry—stackable substrate)
- High-solids (wet—pumpable substrate)
- Low-solids (wet—pumpable substrate)

High-solids (dry) digesters are designed to process materials with high-solids content between ~25 and 40%. Unlike wet digesters that process pumpable slurries, high solids (dry—stackable substrate) digesters are designed to process solid substrates deposited in tunnel-like chambers with a gas-tight door. They typically have few moving parts, require minimal or no pre-grinding or shredding, and do not use water addition. Solid state digestion of cattle dung is a suitable technology in which fresh cattle dung is anaerobically digested. Solid degradation of about 40–48% is observed in the effluent slurry that provides easy flowability to the oulet slurry [9].

Wet digesters can either be designed to operate in high solids content, with a total suspended solids (TSS) concentration greater than $\sim 20\%$, or a low solids concentration less than $\sim 15\%$. High-solids (wet) digesters process a thick slurry that requires more energy input to move and process the feedstock. The thickness

of the material may also lead to associated problems with abrasion. High-solids digesters will typically have a lower land requirement due to the lower volumes associated with the moisture.

Low-solids (wet) digesters can transport material through the system using standard pumps that require significantly lower energy input. Low-solids digesters require a larger amount of land than high-solids due to the increase volumes associated with the increased liquid-to-feedstock ratio of the digesters. There are benefits associated with operation in a liquid environment as it enables more thorough circulation of materials and contact between the bacteria and their food. This enables the bacteria to more readily access the substances they are feeding off and increases the speed of gas yields.

2.7.4 Number of Stages

Digestion systems can be configured with different levels of complexity:

- One-stage or single-stage
- Two-stage or multistage

A single-stage digestion system is one in which all of the biological reactions occur within a single sealed reactor or holding tank. Utilizing a single stage reduces construction costs; however, it facilitates less control of the reactions occurring within the system. Acidogenic bacteria, through the production of acids, reduce the pH of the tank. Methanogenic bacteria, as outlined earlier, operate in a strictly defined pH range. Therefore, the biological reactions of the different species in a single stage reactor can be in direct competition with each other. Another one-stage reaction system is an anaerobic lagoon. These lagoons are pond-like earthen basins used for the treatment and long-term storage of manures. Here, the anaerobic reactions are contained within the natural anaerobic sludge contained in the pool.

In a two-stage or multistage digestion system different digestion vessels are optimized to bring maximum control over the bacterial communities living within the digesters. Acidogenic bacteria produce organic acids and grow and reproduce more quickly than methanogenic bacteria. Methanogenic bacteria require stable pH and temperature in order to optimize their performance.

Typically hydrolysis, acetogenesis and acidogenesis occur within the first reaction vessel. The organic material is then heated to the required operational temperature (either mesophilic or thermophilic) prior to being pumped into a methanogenic reactor. The initial hydrolysis or acidogenesis tanks prior to the methanogenic reactor can provide a buffer to the rate at which feedstock is added. It should be noted that it is not possible to completely isolate the different reaction phases and often there is some biogas that is produced in the hydrolysis or acidogenesis tanks.

2.7.5 Residence

The residence time in a digester varies with the amount and type of feed material, the configuration of the digestion system and whether it be one-stage or two-stage. In the case of single-stage thermophilic digestion residence times may be in the region of 14 days, which compared to mesophilic digestion is relatively fast. The plug-flow nature of some of these systems will mean that the full degradation of the material may not have been realized in this timescale. In two-stage mesophilic digestion, residence time may vary between 15 and 40 days. In the case of mesophilic UASB digestion hydraulic residence times can be (1 h-1 day) and solid retention times can be up to 90 days. In this manner the UASB system is able to separate solid and hydraulic retention times with the utilization of a sludge blanket.

Continuous digesters have mechanical or hydraulic devices, depending on the level of solids in the material, to mix the contents enabling the bacteria and the food to be in contact. They also allow excess material to be continuously extracted to maintain a reasonably constant volume within the digestion tanks.

2.7.6 Feedstocks

The most important initial issue when considering the application of anaerobic digestion systems is the feedstock to the process. Digesters typically can accept any biodegradable material; however, if biogas production is the aim, the level of putrescibility is the key factor in its successful application. The more putrescible the material the higher the gas yields possible from the system. Substrate composition is a major factor in determining the methane yield and methane production rates from the digestion of biomass. Techniques are available to determine the compositional characteristics of the feedstock, while parameters such as solids, elemental and organic analyses are important for digester design and operation.

Anaerobes can break down material to varying degrees of success from readily in the case of short chain hydrocarbons such as sugars, to over longer periods of time in the case of cellulose and hemicellulose. Anaerobic microorganisms are unable to break down long chain woody molecules such as lignin. Anaerobic digesters were originally designed for operation using sewage sludge and manures. Sewage and manure are not, however, the material with the most potential for anaerobic digestion as the biodegradable material has already had much of the energy content taken out by the animal that produced it. Therefore, many digesters operate with *co-digestion* of two or more types of feedstock. For example, in a farm-based digester that uses dairy manure as the primary feedstock the gas production may be significantly increased by adding a second feedstock; e.g. *grass* and *corn* (typical on-site feedstock), or various organic by-products, such as *slaughterhouse waste, fats oils and grease* from restaurants, *organic household waste*, etc. (typical off-site feedstock). A second consideration related to the feedstock is moisture content. Dryer, stackable substrates, such as food and yard wastes, are suitable for digestion in tunnel-like chambers. Tunnel style systems typically have near-zero wastewater discharge as well so this style system has advantages where the discharge of digester liquids are a liability. The wetter the material the more suitable it will be for handling with standard pumps instead of energy intensive concrete pumps and physical means of movement. Also the wetter the material, the more volume and area it takes up relative to the levels of gas that are produced. The moisture content of the target feedstock will also affect what type of system is applied to its treatment. In order to use a high solids anaerobic digester for dilute feedstocks, bulking agents such as compost should be applied to increase the solid content of the input material. Another key consideration is the carbon:nitrogen ratio of the input material. This ratio is the balance of food a microbe requires in order to grow. The optimal C:N ratio for the 'food' of a microbe is 20–30:1. Excess N can lead to ammonia inhibition of digestion.

The level of contamination of the feedstock material is a key consideration. If the feedstock to the digesters has significant levels of physical contaminants such as plastic, glass or metals, then pre-processing will be required in order for the material to be used. If it is not removed then the digesters can be blocked and will not function efficiently. It is with this that mechanical biological treatment plants are designed. The higher the level of pre-treatment a feedstock requires, the more processing machinery will be required and hence the project will have higher capital costs.

2.8 Methane Production in Landfills

Anaerobic digestion in landfills is brought about by the microbial decomposition of the organic matter in refuse. The levels of organic matter produced per capita vary considerably from developed to developing countries. Worldwide, the urban population is growing at twice the rate of the total population growth, creating unprecedented demands for goods and services as well as increasing pressure on the environment and on safe waste disposal [10]. Landfill-generated gas is on average half methane and half carbon dioxide with energy content from 18 to 19 MJ/m³. Its production does not occur under pressure, and thus recovery processes must be active. Commercial production of land-gas can also aid with the leaching problems now increasingly associated with landfill sites. Local communities neighboring landfill sites are becoming more aware of the potential for heavy metals and nutrients to leach into aquifers. Landfill processing reduces the volume of sludge to be disposed of, and the nutrient content, thus facilitating proper disposal. Methane is a powerful greenhouse gas, with substantial amounts being derived from unutilized methane production from landfill sites. Its recovery therefore, not only results in the stabilization of the landfill site, allowing faster reuse of the land, but also serves to lessen the impact of biosphere methane emissions on global warming.

2.9 Ethanol Fermentation

Ethanol is mainly used as a substitute for imported oil in order to reduce their dependence on imported energy supplies. The substantial gains made in fermentation technologies now make the production of ethanol for use as a petroleum substitute and fuel enhancer, both economically competitive (given certain assumptions) and environmentally beneficial. The most commonly used feedstock in developing countries is sugarcane, due to its high productivity when supplied with sufficient water. Where water availability is limited, sweet sorghum or cassava may become the preferred feedstocks. Other advantages of sugarcane feedstock include the high residue energy potential and modern management practices which make sustainable and environmentally benign production possible while at the same time allowing continued production of sugar. Other feedstocks include saccharide-rich sugarbeet, and carbohydrate-rich potatoes, wheat and maize.

Ethanol fermentation, also referred to as alcoholic fermentation, is a biological process in which sugars such as glucose, fructose and sucrose are converted into cellular energy and thereby produce ethanol and carbon dioxide as metabolic waste products. Because yeasts perform this process in the absence of oxygen, ethanol fermentation is classified as anaerobic. Ethanol fermentation occurs in the production of alcoholic beverages and ethanol fuel, and in the rising of bread dough.

Typically, sugars are extracted from the biomass feedstock by crushing and washing (or in the case of starchy feedstocks like corn, by breakdown of starch to sugars). The sugar syrup is then mixed with yeast and kept warm, so that the yeast breaks down the sugars into ethanol. However, the fermented product is only about 10% ethanol, so a further stage of distillation is required to concentrate the ethanol to 95%. If the ethanol is intended for blending with gasoline, a "dehydration" phase may be required to make 100% pure ethanol. In the near future, ethanol may be made from cellulose, again by breakdown into sugars for fermentation. Cellulose is widely and cheaply available from many other biomass feedstocks, energy crops, agricultural and forestry residues [11].

One of the most promising fermentation technologies to be identified recently is the "Biostil" process which uses centrifugal yeast reclamation, and continuous evaporative removal of the ethanol. This allows the fermentation medium to be continuously sterilized and minimizes water use. The Biostil process markedly lowers the production of stillage, while the non-stop nature of the fermentation process allows substrate concentrations to be constantly kept at optimal levels and therefore fermentation efficiency is maximized. Improved varieties of yeast, produced through clonal selection techniques have also raised the tolerance levels of the yeast to alcohol concentrations, again improving efficiency. Ethanol or ethyl alcohol, CH_3CH_2OH , has been described as one of the most exotic synthetic oxygen-containing organic chemicals because of its unique combination of properties as a solvent, a germicide, a beverage, an antifreeze, a fuel, a depressant and especially because of its versatility as a chemical intermediate for other organic chemicals.

A great number of bacteria are capable of ethanol formation. Many of these microorganisms, however, generate multiple end products in addition to ethyl alcohol. These include other alcohols (butanol, isopropylalcohol, 2, 3-butanediol), organic acid (acetic acid, formic acid, and lactic acids), polyols (arabitol, glycerol and xylitol), ketones (acetone) or various gases (methane, carbon dioxide, hydrogen). Many bacteria (i.e. *Enterobacteriaceas, Spirochaeta, Bacteroides*, etc.) metabolize glucose by the Embden-Meyerhof pathway. Briefly, this path utilizes 1 mol of glucose to yield 2 mol of pyruvate which are then decarboxylated to acetaldehyde and reduced to ethanol. Besides that the Entner–Doudoroff pathway is an additional means of glucose consumption in many bacteria.

The organisms of primary interest to industrial operations in fermentation of ethanol include *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*, *S. uvarum*, *Schizosaccharomyces pombe* and *Kluyueromyces sp*. Yeast, under anaerobic conditions, metabolize glucose to ethanol primarily by way of the Embden–Meyerhof pathway. The overall net reaction involves the production of 2 mol each of ethanol, but the yield attained in practical fermentations however does not usually exceed 90–95% in theory. This is partly due to the *requirement* for some nutrient to be utilized in the synthesis of new biomass and other cell maintenance related reactions.

A small concentration of oxygen must be provided to the fermenting yeast as it is a necessary component in the biosynthesis of polyunsaturated fats and lipids. Typical amounts of O₂ maintained in the broth are 0.05–0.10 mm Hg oxygen tension. Yeast is highly susceptible to ethanol inhibition. Concentration of 1–2% (w/v) is sufficient to retard microbial growth and at 10% (w/v) alcohol, the growth rate of the organism is nearly halted.

Based on a capital cost of \$2.50–3.00 per U.S. gallon of annual capacity (for production plants of around 50 million gallons/year), the fixed costs are about 60 cents/gallon. Operating costs are expected to be about 35 cents/gallon and feedstock costs in the range of 30–50 cents/gallon. Assuming an electricity co-product credit equivalent to 10–15 cents/gallon, total costs could range from about \$1.10 to 1.35/gallon. Currently, ethanol is produced from corn, and sells for around \$1.20–1.50/gallon. Other options for producing ethanol, such as with thermal gasification instead of biological breakdown of cellulose, might reduce the cost further. Costs are also expected to decline over time with improvements in technology and operating experience.

The bioconversion of biomass to mixed alcohol fuels can be accomplished using the MixAlco process. Through bioconversion of biomass to a mixed alcohol, more energy from the biomass will end up as liquid fuels than in converting biomass into ethanol by yeast fermentation. The process involves a biological/ chemical method for converting any biodegradable material (e.g., urban wastes, such as municipal solid waste, biodegradable, and sewage sludge, agricultural residues such as corn stover, sugarcane bagasse, cotton gin trash, manure) into useful chemicals, such as carboxylic acids (e.g., acetic, propionic, butyric acid), ketones (e.g., acetone, methyl ethyl ketone, diethyl ketone) and biofuels, such as a mixture of primary alcohols (e.g., ethanol, propanol, *n*-butanol) and/or a mixture of secondary alcohols (e.g., isopropanol, 2-butanol, 3-pentanol). Because of the many products that can be economically produced, this process is a true biorefinery.

2.10 Biodiesel

Another form of liquid fuel from biomass is "biodiesel", which is derived from the vegetable oils extracted by crushing oilseeds, although waste cooking oil or animal fats (tallow) can also be used. The oil is strained and usually "esterified", by combining the fatty acid molecules in the oil with methanol or ethanol. Vegetable oil esters have been shown to make good-quality clean-burning diesel fuel.

The use of vegetable oils for combustion in diesel engines has occurred for over 100 years. In fact, Rudolf Diesel tested his first prototype on vegetable oils, which can be used, "raw", in an emergency. While it is feasible to run diesel engines on raw vegetable oils, in general the oils must first be chemically transformed to resemble petroleum-based diesel more closely. The raw oil can be obtained from a variety of annual and perennial plant species. Perennials include oil palms, coconut palms, physica nut and Chinese tallow tree. Annuals include sunflower, groundnut, soybean and rapeseed. Many of these plants can produce high yields of oil, with positive energy and carbon balances. Transformation of the raw oil is necessary to avoid problems associated with variations in feedstock. The oil can undergo thermal or catalytic cracking, Kolbe electrolysis, or transesterification processes in order to obtain better characteristics. Untreated oil causes problems through incomplete combustion, resulting in the buildup of sooty residues, waxes, gums, etc.

Biodiesel refers to a vegetable oil- or animal fat-based diesel fuel consisting of long-chain alkyl (methyl, propyl or ethyl) esters. Biodiesel is typically made by chemically reacting lipids (e.g., vegetable oil, animal fat (tallow)) with an alcohol. Biodiesel is meant to be used in standard diesel engines and is thus distinct from the vegetable and waste oils used to fuel *converted* diesel engines. Biodiesel can be used alone, or blended with petrodiesel.

Blends of biodiesel and conventional hydrocarbon-based diesel products are most commonly distributed for use in the retail diesel fuel marketplace. Much of the world uses a system known as the "B" factor to state the amount of biodiesel in any fuel mix:

- 100% biodiesel is referred to as **B100**, while
- 20% biodiesel is labeled **B20**
- 5% biodiesel is labeled **B5**
- 2% biodiesel is labeled **B2**.

Obviously, the higher the percentage of biodiesel, the more ecology-friendly the fuel is. Blends of 20% biodiesel with 80% petroleum diesel (B20) can generally be used in unmodified diesel engines. Biodiesel can also be used in its pure form (B100), but may require certain engine modifications to avoid maintenance and performance problems. Blending B100 with petroleum diesel may be accomplished by:

- Mixing in tanks at manufacturing point prior to delivery to tanker truck.
- Splash mixing in the tanker truck (adding specific percentages of biodiesel and petroleum diesel).
- In-line mixing, two components arrive at tanker truck simultaneously.
- Metered pump mixing, petroleum diesel and biodiesel meters are set to X total volume, transfer pump pulls from two points and mix is complete on leaving pump.

There is ongoing research into finding more suitable crops and improving oil yield. Using the current yields, vast amounts of land and fresh water would be needed to produce enough oil to completely replace fossil fuel usage. It would require twice the land area of the US to be devoted to soybean production, or two-thirds to be devoted to rapeseed production, to meet the current US heating and transportation needs. Specially bred mustard varieties can produce reasonably high oil yields and are very useful in crop rotation with cereals, and have the added benefit that the meal leftover after the oil has been pressed out can act as an effective and biodegradable pesticide.

It was experimented with using algae as a biodiesel source and it was found that these oil-rich algae can be processed into biodiesel, with the dried remainder further reprocessed to create ethanol. In addition to its projected high yield, algaculture—unlike crop-based biofuels—does not entail a decrease in food production, since it requires neither farmland nor fresh water. Many companies are pursuing algae bio-reactors for various purposes, including scaling up biodiesel production to commercial levels.

2.11 First-Generation Versus Second-Generation Technologies

First-generation technologies are well established, these include transesterification of plant oils, fermentation of plant sugars and starch for liquid biofuel production, anaerobic fermentation of organic residues to generate biogas, combustion of organic materials for heat recovery or combined heat and power (CHP) systems for the production of both heat and electrical power. Second-generation or advanced technologies often refer to the conversion of lignocellulose materials into fuels. These technologies comprise a range of alternatives such as enzymatic production of lignocellulose ethanol, syngas-based fuels, pyrolysis-oil based biofuels, gasification and others, but are not yet economically viable and technical aspects are still under development.
Much attention is currently focused on the production of liquid biofuels that are manufactured with first-generation technologies because they rely on feedstocks derived from food-crops, the so-called first-generation biofuel. Thus, this has heightened the needs to identify and work on agronomic potential of alternative bioenergy crops including non-edible oil crops such as jatropha, castor bean, jojoba, karanja that can be grown on land unsuitable for food crops and multipurpose crops like sweet sorghum that can yield food in the form of grain, fuel in the form of ethanol from its stem juice, and fodder from its leaves and bagasse.

Deployment of second-generation technologies offers an opportunity to expand the type of feedstock and to take advantage of currently unused lignocellulose sources. It also facilitates the use of energy crops that can be grown on land unsuitable for food crops. These technologies offer a more efficient production making use of the entire plant beyond the carbohydrate component. Further research and development on bioenergy conversion technologies is required to overcome the technical barriers for them to become a viable option.

2.12 Conclusion

Various technology options are available from biomass which can serve many different energy needs from large-scale industrial applications to small-scale, rural end uses. Different types of solid, liquid or gaseous fuels exist in bioenergy. Such fuels can be utilized in transportation and also in engine and turbine electrical power generation. Chemical products can also be obtained from all organic matter produced. There are various conversion technologies that can convert biomass resources into power, heat and fuels for potential use. Biorefinery integrates biomass conversion processes and equipment to produce fuels, power and valueadded chemicals from biomass.

First-generation biofuels can be derived from sources such as starch, sugar, animal fats and vegetable oil and can be produced through well-known processes such as cold pressing/extraction, transesterification, hydrolysis and fermentation, and chemical synthesis. The most popular types of first-generation biofuels are biodiesel, vegetable oil, bioethanol and biogas. Second-generation biofuels are not yet commercial on a large scale as their conversion technologies are still in the research and/or development stage. Second-generation biofuels are produced through more advanced processes, including hydro treatment, advanced hydrolysis and fermentation, and gasification and synthesis. A wide range of feedstocks can be used in the production of these biofuels, including lignocellulosic sources such as short-rotation woody crops. These produce biodiesel, bioethanol, synthetic fuels and bio-hydrogen.

References

- Hall DO, Rosillo-Calle F, Groot P (1992) Biomass energy: lessons from case studies in developing countries. Energy Policy 20:62–73
- 2. Wereko-Brobby CY, Hagan EB (1996) Biomass conversion and technology. Wiley, New York
- Ayhan D (2005) Thermochemical conversion of biomass to liquid products in the aqueous medium. Energy Sour 27(13):1235–1243
- Bergman PCA (2005) Combined torrefaction and pelletisation—the TOP process. ECN Report, ECN-C—05-073
- 5. Warnecle R (2000) Gasification of biomass: comparison of fixed bed and fluidized bed gasifier. J. Biomass and Bio-energy 18:489–497
- Bhattacharya SC, Jungtiynont S, Santibuppakul P, Singamsetti VM (1996) Some aspect of screw press briquetting. Food and Agriculture Organization of United Nations, Bankok, pp 48–54
- Kurchania AK, Panwar NL, Pagar SD (2010) Design and performance evaluation of biogas stove for community cooking application. Int J Sustain Energy 29(2):116–123
- 8. Rathore NS, Kurchania AK (2006) Biomethanation technology. Apex Publications, Udaipur
- Kurchania AK, Rathore NS, Nafisa Ali (2004) Dry fermentation technology based modified biogas plant for arid areas. Natural resources engineering and management & agroenvironmental engineering. Anamaya Publishers, New Delhi, pp 451–455
- Midmore DJ, Jansen HGP (2003) Supplying vegetables to Asian cities: is there a case for peri-urban foundation? Food Policy 28:13–27
- Gunasekaran P, Chandra KR (1999) Ethanol fermentation technology—Zymomonas mobilis. Current Sci 77:56–68

Chapter 3 Lignocellulose Pretreatment by Ionic Liquids: A Promising Start Point for Bio-energy Production

Haibo Xie, Wujun Liu and Zongbao K. Zhao

3.1 Introduction

The impacts of climate change are forcing governments to limit greenhouse gas (GHG) emission through the utilization of sustainable energy, such as solar energy, wind energy, hydrogen energy, etc. Being well recognized as one of the sustainable energy alternatives to petroleum fuels, biofuels are developed from biomass, which are storage of solar energy via photosynthesis by nature. All countries have put the development of biofuels at the top of their agenda on the road to a clean energy system. Traditionally, biofuels were usually produced from corn, sugarcane, and so on. They are recognized as food sources for human and animals. Recently, the overdevelopment of biofuels has simulated concerns about food-based biofuels, and it was regarded as potential threat of food security and strains on natural resources [1]. As the most abundant biomass on the planet, lignocellulose is mainly consisted of cellulose, hemicellulose, and lignin [2]. The utilization of lignocellulosic resources was regarded as one pathway for production of biofuels without occupying plowland and contributing to the greenhouse effect. Additionally, nowadays almost all alternative energy sources have low-energy return on investment (EROI) values, because they require high-energy input [3]. Therefore, the development of energy-efficient conversion technologies is a challenge during the biofuel industrialization process.

Lignocellulosic biomass, primarily being a complex mixture of cellulose, hemicellulose, and lignin, is naturally resistant to breakdown by pests, disease, and weather. This inherent recalcitrance makes the production of monosugars or other valuable chemicals from lignocellulose expensive and inefficient. It is well

H. Xie (🖂) · W. Liu · Z. K. Zhao

Dalian National Laboratory for Clean Energy, Dalian Institute of Chemical Physics, CAS, Dalian 116023, People's Republic of China

e-mail: hbxie@dicp.ac.cn

recognized that cellulose crystallinity, covalent interactions between lignin and polysaccharides, and robust hydrogen bond in cellulose microfibrils must be broken before cellulose and hemicellulose are converted to sugars efficiently through pretreatment processes [4]. Lignocellulose pretreatment, which involves many physical, chemical, structural, and compositional changes, is considered to be a central unit in an efficient and economic conversion of lignocellulosic biomass into fuels and chemicals. Presently, there are quite a lot of various physical-, chemical- and biological-based pretreatment technologies for lignocellulosic biomass available [5]. However, they still suffer from different problems, such as hash conditions, high cost, and low efficiency. Sometimes, an integration of different pretreatment.

The full dissolution of cellulose and lignocellulose in ionic liquids (ILs) was accompanied by the destruction of cellulose crystallinity and inter (or inner) hydrogen-bonding network, partially deconstruction of covalent bonds between carbohydrate and lignin, and decrease in the lignin content in cellulose rich products, all of which are beneficial factors for further chemical or biological conversion of carbohydrates into monosugars and chemicals. This chapter aims to provide an up-to-date progress in the understanding of the fundamental sciences and its relation to enzymatic hydrolysis with the ILs-based strategies at this start point of lignocellulose biorefinery.

3.2 Ionic Liquids: Good Solvents for Biomass

For a long time, the full dissolution biomass is one of the biggest barriers for the homogeneous utilization of biomass. In 2002, Rogers et al. first reported that 1methyl-3-butyl-imidazlium chloride was able to dissolve cellulose with capability of 10-25 wt% depending on heating methods [6]. Since then, the soluble behaviors of most of carbohydrates and biopolymers have been studied [7], such as chitin, chitosan [8, 9], lignin [10], silk fibroin [11], and wool keratin [12]. In 2007, Kilpelainen et al. first investigated the details of woody lignocellulosic materials in ILs. It was found that the lignocellulosic materials were harder to dissolve compared to the soluble behavior of cellulose by ILs, which needed higher temperature, longer time, and more intense stirring. As a result, a 7 wt% spruce wood solution was achieved at 130°C in 8 h. Further study showed that the 1-methyl-3ethyl-imidazolium acetate was a better solvent for lignocellulosic materials. After the dissolution of cellulose or wood in ILs, it was anticipated that all the chemical bonds and functional groups on these biopolymers are totally open to external chemicals and catalysts, which rationally facilitates the conversion of chemical bonds and functional groups. All of the pioneering work has stimulated a growing research effort in this field to investigate the potential of this new homogenous platform [13]. Another reason for the passion in biomass utilization in ILs is that the process is the combination of the application of biorenewable resources as raw materials and sustainable solvents for the production of valuable materials and chemicals, which will contribute to the foundation of bio-based sustainable chemical industry [14].

3.2.1 Relationship Between Ionic Liquids' Structure and Solubility

Cellulose is a polysaccharide consisting of linear chains of several 100–10,000 $\beta(1-4)$ linked D-glucose units [2]. The chains are assembled in both parallel and anti-parallel ways via hydrogen bonds, which adds more rigidity to the structure, and a subsequent packaging of bound-chains into microfibrils forms the ultimate building materials of nature. The formed rigid structure determines the insolubility characteristic in conventional solvents and thus limits its full exploitation of the potential of cellulose as feedstock. The story of dissolution of cellulose in ionic liquids may go back to a published patent by Charles Graenacher [15], in which they reported that molten benzylpyridinium chloride or N-ethylpyridinium chloride in the presence of nitrogen-containing bases was able to dissolve cellulose. However, the potential of ILs for biomass processing was only recognized seriously till the discovery of imidazonium-based ionic liquids by Rogers et al. in 2002 [6]. It was found that the solubility of ionic liquids to cellulose is related to the anions in ILs, with the order of solubility of $Cl^- > Br^- > SCN^-$, all of which have the same cation of 1-methyl-3-butyl imidazonium, and the BF_4^- , PF_6^- based ILs cannot dissolve cellulose. Furthermore, microwave irradiation could promote the dissolution both in dissolving rates and solubility of ILs [6]. Since then, with the aim to develop more efficient, economic and 'greener' ionic liquids for cellulose processing, a lot of ILs have been synthesized and screened for the dissolution of cellulose and other biopolymers through tuning the structure of cations or anions, and using cheap and renewable resource as raw materials for the ILs synthesis [7]. Whereas, the imidazonium cation-based ILs companied with Cl⁻, acetate, formate, and dimethyl phosphate anions present better performance than that of quaternary ammonium, pyrrolidinium, phosphonium-based ILs [16]. For example, Zhang et al. reported that 1-allyl-3-methylimidazolium chloride ([Amim]Cl) was a high-efficient ILs for cellulose dissolution and derivation with advantages of low melting point and low viscosity [17]. Ohno et al. reported low viscosity, polar and halogen-free 1,3-dialkylimidazolium formats, and acetate ionic liquids which have superior solubility of various polysaccharides under mild conditions (10 wt% at even 60°C) [18]. Fukaya et al. found that alkylimidazolium salts containing dimethyl phosphate, methyl methylphosphonate, or methyl phosphonate have the potential to dissolve cellulose under mild conditions. Especially, N-ethyl-N-methylimidazolium methylphosphonate enabled the preparation of cellulose solution (10 wt%) and rendered soluble cellulose (2-4 wt%) without pretreatments and heating [19]. Due to the excellent solubility of phosphonate-derived ionic liquids to cellulose, it was found that 1-ethyl-3-methylimidazolium phosphinate could extract polysaccharides (or cellulose) from bran even without heating [20].

Lignocellulose, mainly composed of cellulose, lignin, hemicellulose, and extractives, represents an abundant carbon-neutral renewable resource. The threedimensional cross-linked lignin network binds the whole wood architecture together, which determines their comparatively harder solubility in solvents than cellulose [2]. In 2007, Kilpelainen et al. first reported the details of the dissolution of woody lignocellulosic materials and defined the various variables that determine its solubilization efficiency in ILs [21, 22]. By stirring the mixtures mechanically, an up to 8 wt% wood solution was obtained by simple mixing of dried wood sawdust and thermo-mechanical fiber samples with the ILs ([Amim]Cl or [Bmim]Cl) at 80-120°C. The results showed that the solubility of wood-based lignocellulosic material is related to several key factors, such as ILs' structure, size of lignocellulosic materials, water content of both the ILs and lignocellulosic materials, etc. Interestingly, an introduction of a phenyl group into ionic liquids ([Benzlymim]Cl) could result in a completely transparent, amber-colored but viscous solution. It was estimated that coulombic interactions, such as H bonding, p-p stacking, and van der Waals interactions in ILs can be up to 600 kJ/mol, whereas H-bonds (for water) or van der Waals forces are generally around 40 kJ/ mol [23]. It was proposed that a cationic moiety with an electro-rich aromatic π -system may create stronger interactions for polymers capable of undergoing π - π and n- π interactions according to the Abraham salvation equation [16, 21].

Further in-depth study of the influence of ionic liquids' structure on their solubility by Doherty et al., especially, on the effect of anions, demonstrated the relationship between the Kamlet–Taft α , β , and π^* solvent polarity parameters of different ILs ([Emim][OAc], [Bmim][OAc], and [Bmim][MeSO₄]) and effective pretreatments of lignocellulosic biomass. The β parameter provides an excellent predictor for fermentable sugar yields ($\beta > 1.0$, resulting in >65% glucose yields after 12 h cellulose hydrolysis following pretreatment) [24]. The hydrogen bond accepting ability of the anions of the ILs, as characterized by ¹H NMR and the β parameter of the ILs, are closely linked to the solubility of cellulose, which was also supported by other work [25, 26].

3.2.2 Molecular Level Understanding of the Interaction of Ionic Liquids and Lignocellulose: The Key for Lignocellulose Pretreatment

Although ILs have been demonstrated to be highly effective solvents for the dissolution of cellulose and lignocellulosic biomass, to date, the mechanism of this dissolution process remains not well understood. There is no definitive rationale for selecting ionic liquids that are capable of dissolving these biopolymers. Most current work is based on the hypothesis that cellulose insolubility is due to the strong intermolecular hydrogen bonds between cellulose chains. The dissolution of cellulose by a solvent is dependent on the destruction of these hydrogen bonds.

The outstanding solubility of ionic liquids to cellulose is due to the hydrogen basicity of anions, which can disrupt the hydrogen-bonding network among cellulose and lead to the dissolution. So far, there have been a few theoretical and experimental studies, including molecular dynamic studies and NMR analyses.

In 2007, Remsing et al. reported that ^{35/37}Cl NMR relaxation measurements could be employed to study Cl-H hydrogen bonds in [Bmim] Cl [27]. It was found that the solvation of cellulose by the ionic liquid 1-n-butyl-3-methylimidazolium chloride ([Bmim]Cl) involves hydrogen bonding between the carbohydrate hydroxyl proton and the chloride ion in a 1:1 stoichiometry. Their further study demonstrated that the anions in these ILs are involved in specific interactions with the solutes, and govern the solvation process by analysis of ^{35/37}Cl and ¹³C relaxation data for sugar solutions in both imidazolium chlorides and [Emim] [OAc] [28]. Variable-temperature NMR spectroscopy was also applied in the investigation on the dissolution mechanism of cellulose in 1-ethyl-3-methylimidazolium acetate ([Emim] [OAc]) in DMSO-d₆. The results confirmed that the hydrogen bonding of hydroxyls with the acetate anion and imidazolium cation of EmimAc is the major force for cellulose dissolution in the ILs. The relatively small acetate anion favors the formation of a hydrogen bond with the hydrogen atoms of the hydroxyls, while the aromatic protons in the bulky cation imidazolium, especially H₂, prefer to associate with the oxygen atoms of hydroxyls with less steric hindrance [29].

Since glucose is one of the main repeating units of polysaccharides, a better understanding of the interaction mechanism of glucose with ILs will provide in-depth understanding of the interaction of ILs and polysaccharides. In 2006, Youngs et al. investigated the molecular dynamics simulations of the solvation environment of isolated glucose monomers in a chloride-based IL (1, 3-dimethylimidazolium chloride); the results revealed that the sugar prefers to bind to four chloride anions. Coordination shells involve only three anions, two of which are bridging chlorides. The low value of chloride: glucose ratio explains the unexpected high solvation degree of glucose in ILs [30]. Few glucose–glucose hydrogen bonds, but chloride anions hydrogen bonding to different glucose molecules simultaneously were found, partially explain the high solubility of glucose/cellulose in ILs [31].

As a natural polymer, cellulose is significantly amphiphilic and hydrophobic interactions are important for explaining the solubility pattern of cellulose. Lindman et al. presented strong evidence that cellulose is amphiphilic and that the low aqueous solubility must have a marked contribution from hydrophobic interactions [32]. Thus, we should reconsider the molecule interaction between lignocellulosic biomass and ILs. Liu et al. developed an all-atom force field for 1-ethyl-3-methylimidazolium acetate [Emim][OAc] and the behavior of cellulose in this IL was examined using molecular dynamics simulations of a series of (1–4) linked β -D-glucose oligomers (degree of polymerization n = 5, 6, 10, and 20). They found that there is strong interaction energy between the polysaccharide chain and the IL, and the conformation (β -(1, 4)-glycosidic linkage) of the cellulose was altered. The anion acetate formed strong hydrogen bonds with hydroxyl

groups of the cellulose, and some of the cations were found to be in close contact with the polysaccharides through hydrophobic interactions. These results supported the fact that the cations play a significant role in the dissolution of cellulose in anion acetate ILs [33]. Guo et al. calculated geometries, energies, IR characteristics, and electronic properties of the cellulose-anion (acetate, alkyl phosphate, tetrafluoroborate and hexafluorophosphate) complexes using density functional theory calculations (DFT). They found that the strength of interactions of anions with cellulose follows the order: acetate anion > alkyl phosphate anion > tetrafluoroborate anion > hexafluorophosphate anion, and the favorable sites of cellulose for the chloride anion attack are around the O_2 and O_3 hydroxyls [34].

Singh et al. reported that autofluorescent mapping of plant cell walls was used to visualize cellulose and lignin in pristine switchgrass (*Panicum virgatum*) stems to determine the mechanisms of biomass dissolution during ionic liquid pretreatment. Swelling of the plant cell wall, attributed to the disruption of inter- and intra-molecular hydrogen bonding between cellulose fibrils and lignin, followed by complete dissolution of biomass, was observed without using imaging techniques that require staining, embedding, and processing of biomass [35]. This could be applied to the elucidation of structural information of wood and wood components.

3.3 Toward Better Understanding of the Wood Chemistry in Ionic Liquids

The increasing research attention onto the utilization of biomass as feedstock for the production of sustainable materials and chemicals has been directed toward an in-depth understanding of plant cell wall natural structures and their constituents, which are consisted mainly with cellulose, hemicellulose, and lignin. A better understanding of these issues, on one hand, can guide the development of new efficient pretreatment technologies and robust catalysts for the catalytic separation and conversion of biopolymers; on the other hand, can provide new avenues to rationally designing of bio-energy crops with improved processing properties by either reducing the amounts of lignin present or providing a lignin that is easier to degrade. Traditionally, the elucidation of wood structure (lignin) usually follows the destruction-analysis process (e.g. Klason method) due to the insolubility of lignocellulose in conventional organic solvents, and the information obtained does not represent the natural structure of lignin.

Lignin is a complex aromatic chemical polymer present most commonly in wood. As an integral part of the secondary cell walls of plants, it is one of the most abundant organic polymers on the earth, exceeded only by cellulose. In 2007, Jiang et al. investigated the solubility of lignin in different ionic liquids, and the results showed that the order of lignin solubility for varying anions was: $[MeSO_4]^- > Cl^- > Br^- \gg [PF_6]^-$. This result indicated that the solubility of lignin is principally influenced by the anions of ILs [36]. Further ¹³C NMR

analysis of lignin and lignin model compounds presented that ¹³C signals using ILs as the solvent is shifted up-field by δ 0.1–1.9 ppm in comparison to ¹³C NMR data acquired using dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO) as the solvent.

The full dissolution of lignocellulosic materials in ILs provided a new homogeneous media without degradation of their components for the structural analysis of plant cell wall and lignin. Kilpelainen et al. demonstrated that the fully acetylated Norway spruce in ionic liquids was soluble in CDCl₃, which allowed the first recording of the solution state ¹H NMR spectra of intact acetylated wood. The careful integration of β –O–4 signals for lignin in the ¹H NMR spectrum yielded a value of 7.3%, which was in good agreement with the anticipated value of 8% [21]. Further in situ quantitative ³¹P NMR analysis of spruce dissolved in ionic liquids showed the presence of 13.3 mmol/g hydroxyl groups. This value was close to the theoretically calculated value of 15.7 mmol/g based on traditional methods [37]. Analysis of different pulverization degrees provided semi-empirical data to chart the solubility of Norway spruce in IL [amim] Cl, and further method refinement afforded an optimized method of analysis of the lignin phenolic functionalities, without prior isolation of the lignin from the wood fiber [38, 39].

ILs not only can be used as solvents for catalysis and biomass dissolution, but also can be used as solvents for nuclear magnetic resonance analysis directly. Ragauskas et al. synthesized a series of perdeuterated pyridinium ILs for the direct dissolution and NMR analysis of plant cell walls. Due to the high melting point of pyridinium salts, a co-solvent DMSO- d_6 was used to reduce the viscosity of the resulting mixtures, for example, a mixture of 1:2 [Hpyr] Cl-d₆/DMSO-d₆ was able to dissolve Poplar up to 8 wt% at 80°C in 6 h. Further in situ ¹H NMR and ¹³C NMR analysis showed the full structural map of signals from cellulose, hemicellulose, and lignin. For example, the signals at δ 61.5, 74.1, 75.8, 76.9, 80.1, and 103.0 ppm were in part attributed to cellulose. Whereas, the lignin methoxyl group corresponding to the signals at δ 57 ppm and δ 58–88 ppm could be attributed, in part, to C_{β} in β -O-4, C_{γ}/C_{α} in β -O-4, β -5, and β - β . The signal at δ 106 ppm was attributed to C2/6 resonance of syringyl-like lignin structures, and between 110 and 120 ppm to C2, C5, and C6 resonance of guaiacyl-like lignin structures. The properties and easy preparation of perdeuterated pyridium molten salt [Hpyr]Cl-d₆ offer significant benefits over imidazolium molten salts for NMR analysis of plant cell walls; furthermore, the use of non-ball-milled samples in this study can provide a more efficient and accurate characterization of lignin in the plant cell walls compared with the results from traditional methods [40]. Although lignin can provide a renewable source of phenolic polymers, a high lignin content has proved to be a major obstacle not only in the processing of plant biomass to biofuels, but also in other processes such as chemical pulping and forage digestibility. Therefore, precise analytic techniques for efficient lignin content assessment of a large number of samples are in high demand. Further study from Ragauskas's group reported a linear extrapolation method for the measurement of lignin content by the addition of a specific amount of isolated switchgrass lignin to the biomass solution, and the integration ratio changes could be measured in the quantitative ¹H NMR spectra with non-deuterated DMSO as the internal standard. The results showed comparable lignin contents as the traditional Klason lignin contents. They demonstrated that this direct dissolution and NMR analysis of biomass provided a new venue for rapidly assessing the lignin contents in large numbers of "new" plants in biofuel research [41].

3.4 Ionic Liquids Pretreatment Technology for Enzymatic Production of Monosugars

Lignocellulose provides a key sustainable source of biomass for transformation into biofuels and bioenergy products. However, lignocellulosic biomass is recalcitrant to biotransformation to sugars and other value-added products by microbial or enzymatic methods, which limits its use and the economically viable bioconversion [4]. The main goal of pretreatments is to increase the enzyme accessibility and improve the digestibility of cellulose and hemicellulose. Thus, different pretreatment methods and conditions (milling, irradiation, microwave, steam explosion, ammonia fiber explosion, supercritical CO_2 and its explosion, alkaline hydrolysis, liquid hot-water pretreatment, organosolv processes, wet oxidation, ozonolysis, dilute- and concentrated-acid hydrolyses, biological and green ILs pretreatments) should be investigated according to the process configuration selected for the subsequent hydrolysis and fermentation steps at low-energy consumption [42]. The lignocellulose crystalline should be accessible to enzymatic surface reactive area, and lignin is the main obstructive factors on enzymatic hydrolysis [43–45].

After the dissolution of cellulose and lignocellulosic materials into ILs, it is possible to recover the samples by simply adding a nonsolvent, such as water or ethanol into the solution. The X-ray spectra of the regenerated material showed that the X-ray diffraction signals from the crystalline regions of cellulose disappeared after the dissolution–regeneration process with a fully amorphous material obtained, and the crystalline form of cellulose was transformed completely from cellulose I to cellulose II after regeneration from ILs. Such a transformation is anticipated to allow a greater accessibility for the hydrolytic enzymes to rapidly penetrate and hydrolyze the cellulose and hemicellulose. Therefore, the ILs-based pretreatment technologies for monosugars production have received much attention recently. Pioneering investigations in this field suggest that cellulose regenerated from IL solutions is subject to faster saccharification than untreated substrates, and it was found that the initial enzymatic hydrolysis rates were approximately 50-fold higher for regenerated cellulose as compared to untreated cellulose (Avicel PH-101) [46–49].

This pretreatment technology has also been applied to lignocellulosic materials. It was found that under unoptimized conditions, about 60% of the theoretical amount of glucose was enzymatically released from spruce when predissolved in [Amim] Cl and regenerated by the addition of water as an anti-solvent [21]. Since

then, with the aim to develop an economic and efficient pretreatment technology, a lot of efforts have been devoted into optimizing this new technology by modifying the structures of ILs, using different origins of lignocellulosic materials and simplifying the sample regeneration and ILs recycle processes.

Due to the good solubility of 1-ethyl-3-methyl-imidazolium diethyl phosphate to cellulose and lignocellulose, Li et al. reported that the enzymatic hydrolysis of wheat straw pretreated by 1-ethyl-3-methyl-imidazolium diethyl phosphate at 130°C for 30 min is enhanced significantly, and the yield of reducing sugars reached 54.8% [50]. In 2010, Nguyen demonstrated that the integration of ammonia and [Emim][OAc] for rice straw pretreatment could reduce the cost of pure ILs pretreatment technology, which may make this emerging technology more adaptable to industrial application in enzymatic hydrolysis of different biomass. It was found that the combination treatment exhibited a synergy effect for rice straw with 82% of the cellulose recovery and 97% of the enzymatic glucose conversion. This cooperative effect showed over 90% of the glucose conversion even with a reduced enzyme usage and incubation time. Furthermore, the ILs could be recycled more than 20 times. Compared with the conventional pretreatments of ILs, this combined method for lignocellulosic biomass pretreatment was more economical and ecofriendly [51].

Besides using different ILs for the pretreatment, the integration of energyefficient heating ways into the pretreatment will increase the efficiency, such as ultrasonic and microwave technology, which are widely used in chemistry reaction and biology researches. In 2010, Yang et al. reported that a new approach for in situ enzymatic saccharification of cellulose in ILs (ILs)-aqueous media was presented in which ultrasonic pretreatment was used to enhance the conversion of cellulose. Under optimized reactive conditions, higher conversion (95.48%) of cellulose was obtained in the media of aqueous-[Mmim] [DMP] by conducting the pretreatment of cellulose with ultrasonic heating, whereas the conversion of untreated cellulose was 42.77%. Further analysis of the pretreated sample showed that the application of ultrasonic resulted in the depolymerization of cellulose, which led to more efficient saccharification [52]. Microwave irradiation on cellulose dissolution pretreatment with ILs can not only enhance the solubility of cellulose in ILs, but significantly decrease the degree of polymerization of regenerated cellulose after IL dissolution pretreatment as well. The rate of enzymatic hydrolysis of cotton cellulose was increased by at least 12-fold after IL dissolution pretreatment at 110°C and by 50-fold after IL dissolution pretreatment with microwave irradiation [53]. Accordingly, the amount of reducing sugars released from regenerated cellulose and [Bmim] [Cl] and [Emim] [OAc] with microwave irradiation were 17.1 and 15.6 mg/ml after 24 h, respectively. This implied that an approximately threefold enhancement in the cellulose hydrolysis yield could be achieved using IL dissolution pretreatment associated with microwave irradiation compared to that of untreated cotton cellulose (5.0 mg/ml after 24 h).

It is essential to minimize sugar losses, to increase solids concentration, and to decrease the cost of the pretreatment step in the biomass conversion. In order to

increase sugar yields, efficient conversion and utilization of hemicellulosic sugars have become an important task and an opportunity to reduce the cost of bioenergy production [54]. It is also one of the biggest challenges for biomass pretreatment with ionic liquids, because the IL-pretreated xylan did not show distinct advantages on its enzymatic saccharification. On the contrary, some ILs may cause xylan degradation and loss during the dissolution and regeneration steps [55].

Lignin is not only one of the important components in lignocellulosic materials, but also a main barrier for enzymatic hydrolysis of lignocellulose biomass. One main purpose of biomass pretreatment is to partially remove lignin from the lignocellulosic materials. In 2009, Tan et al. demonstrated that 1-ethyl-3-methylimidazolium alkylbenzenesulfonates IL ([Emim] [ABS]) could extract lignin from sugarcane plant waste, and a 93% extraction yield was achieved [56]. Further study by Lee et al. showed that IL [Emim] [OAc] could effectively extract lignin from triticale straw, flax shives, and wheat straw, and in the meantime cellulose digestibility of the recovered residues was significantly enhanced. The ionic liquid [Bmim] Cl was less efficient than [Emim] [OAc] for delignification of straw. It was found that higher temperatures and longer extraction time are beneficial for improved lignin extraction and cellulose hydrolysis of the residues, for example, 52.7% of acid insoluble lignin in triticale straw was extracted by [Emim][OAc] at 150°C after 90 min, yielding >95% cellulose digestibility of the residue in only 2 h. The results implied that the outstanding performance of ionic liquids-based pretreatment technology for enzymatic hydrolysis of lignocellulose is attributed to both the deconstruction of crystal structure of cellulose and the delignification during the dissolution and regeneration process.

Despite the efficiency of ILs-based pretreatment technology, the high cost of ILs and their recycle ability are the main challenges regarding to the scale-up industry application of this emerging technology. Most recently, Shill et al. successfully developed a three-phase system consisting of [Emim] [OAc], water, and cellulose forms following dissolution of biomass in the IL and subsequent addition of an aqueous concentrated phosphate solution. This process partially separated lignin from the cellulose in Miscanthus, and enhanced the rate of hydrolysis of the precipitated cellulose. ILs and concentrated phosphate solution were recycled and reused [57]. The design presented an ideal concept process for the biomass pre-treatment with ionic liquids.

3.5 Ionic Liquids Pretreatment Technology for Chemical Production of Monosugars

Hydrolysis of cellulose to glucose is virtually an essential step in any practical cellulosic biofuel production via a biological route. However, for a long time, the heterogeneous acidic hydrolysis of cellulose to the production of glucose took the dominant position due to the limit of cellulose solvent. However, the traditional

acid hydrolysis of lignocellulose was inefficient and cost-intensive. Considering the full dissolution of cellulose in ILs, it is rational to expect that the dissolution process could break internal and external supramolecular structures among the cellulosic fibers, which will facilitate the interaction between the cellulose and external catalysts and reactants, thus a new hydrolysis behavior of cellulose will be envisioned in ILs.

In 2007, Li et al. first reported the hydrolysis behavior of cellulose in ILs in the presence of mineral acids [58]. The results showed that catalytic amounts of mineral acid were sufficient to stimulate the hydrolysis reaction. For example, when the acid/cellulose mass ratio was set to 0.46, yields of total reducing sugar (TRS) and glucose were 64 and 36%, respectively, after 42 min at 100°C. In fact, excess acid loading in the ILs system was detrimental in terms of sugar yields because side reaction tended to occur which consumed the hydrolysis products. Preliminary kinetic study indicated that the cellulose hydrolysis catalyzed by H_2SO_4 followed a consecutive first-order reaction sequence, where k1 for TRS formation and k2 for TRS degradation were 0.073 min^{-1} and 0.007 min^{-1} . respectively. Their further study on the hydrolysis behavior of lignocellulose in ILs demonstrated that hydrochloric acid was also an effective catalyst [59]. TRS yields were up to 66, 74, 81, and 68% for hydrolysis of corn stalk, rice straw, pine wood, and bagasse, respectively, in the presence of only 7 wt% catalyst at 100° C under an atmospheric pressure within 60 min. Under those conditions, the constants for k1 and k2 were 0.068 and 0.007 \min^{-1} , respectively, for the hydrolysis of corn stalk. Similar work was also done by Li et al. using different woody lignocellulosic materials, and it was found that the acidic pretreatment of woody biomass species (Eucalyptus grandis, Southern pine and Norway spruce) in [Amim] Cl resulted in the near-complete hydrolysis of cellulose, hemicellulose and a significant amount of lignin [60]. Acid-catalyzed conversion of loblolly pine wood was also investigated in [Bmim] Cl and almost identical results were achieved [61].

Toward a better understanding of the acidic hydrolysis behavior of cellulose in ILs, Vanove et al. investigated the kinetics of the acid-catalyzed hydrolysis of cellobiose in the ILs 1-ethyl-3-methylimidazolium chloride ([Emim]Cl), which was usually studied as a model for general lignocellulosic biomass hydrolysis in ILs systems. The results showed that the rates of the two competitive reactions, polysaccharide hydrolysis, and sugar decomposition, varied with acid strength, and that for acids with an aqueous pKa below approximately zero. It was found that the hydrolysis reaction was significantly faster than the degradation of glucose, thus allowing hydrolysis to be performed with a high selectivity in glucose, which was consisted with the results obtained in Li's work [62]. It was expected that the higher the degree of polymerization (DP) value of cellulose, the longer the reaction time will be required for a satisfactory glucose yield, while more TRS will be observed with a shorter reaction time in ILs, which implies that cellulose hydrolysis in ILs catalyzed by mineral acids most likely follows a random hydrolysis mechanism, as observed with the concentrated-acid system [58]. It was proposed that both endoglycosidic and exoglycosidic scissions occur during the hydrolysis process, but the endoglycosidic product, oligoglucoses, is the major one at the initial stage, which was usually observed in traditional heterogeneous hydrolytic systems. Since then, a lot of mineral acids, organic acids, and solid acids have been applied for the homogeneous hydrolysis of cellulose and lignocellulosic materials in ionic liquids. The results have been summarized in Table 3.1 [63, 64].

Among all these significant contributions into the production of monosugars from biomass with the ILs platform, it is worthy of mention that, in 2010, Zhang et al. demonstrated that under relatively mild conditions ($<140^{\circ}$ C, 1 atm) and in the absence of acid catalysts, such as HCl, H₂SO₄, the dissolved cellulose in [Emim] Cl could be converted into reducing sugars in up to 97% yield. Their combined study of experimental methods and ab initio calculations demonstrated that the K_w value of water in the mixture was up to three orders of magnitude higher than that of the pure water under ambient conditions. Such high K_w values are typically achievable under high temperature or subcritical conditions, which is responsible for the remarkable performance in the absence of acid catalysts. They hypothesized that the increased [H⁺] was attributed to the enhanced water auto ionization by ionic liquids. This process will be affected by the electrostatic environment of the solution, the broad dielectric medium of the solvent, and the temperature. Comparative ab initio calculations based on the thermodynamic cycle shows that IL-water mixture exhibits higher concentrations of both $[H^+]$ and [OH⁻] than pure water, thus enabling the acid- and base-catalyzed reactions [70].

Under homogeneous conditions, the physical barriers of cellulose (such as crystallinity, morphology, surface area, and other physical features) are not present. But the recycling of the acidic catalysts is one of the main drawbacks of the conventional acid-catalyzed reaction processes. Separation processes represent more than half of the total investment in equipment for the chemical and fuel industries, while the introduction of heterogeneous catalysis made the catalyst separation easy after the reaction for industrial processes [72]. After the dissolution of cellulose in ionic liquids, different solid acid catalysts have also been investigated for the hydrolysis of cellulose. In 2008, Rinaldi et al. reported that a solid acid (Amberlyst 15 DRY) catalyzed hydrolysis of cellulose and (ligno)cellulose in ILs [73, 74]. In these studies, depolymerized cellulose was precipitated and recovered by addition of water to the hydrolytic system, and the DP value was estimated by gel-permeation chromatography. It was found that the size of recovered cellulose fibers became successively smaller over time, resulting in a colloidal dispersion for the material recovered after 5 h. The depolymerization of cellulose proceeded progressively, resulting in the formation of soluble oligosaccharides if the reaction was carried out over a long time. For example, cellooligomers consisted of approximately 10 anhydroglucose units (AGU) which were seen after 5 h. The phenomena observed in these studies further supported the proposed hydrolytic pathway in ILs by Li et al. [58]. It was interesting to observe that there was an induction period for the production of glucose, and further titration results of the ILs separated from a suspension of Amberlyst 15DRY in [Bmim]Cl suggested that proton was progressively released into the bulk liquid

Table 3.1 Catalytic hydro	lysis of (ligno)cellulc	se into monosugars in ionic li	quids			
Raw materials	Acids	Ionic liquids	Regeneration solvent	TRS yield (%)	Sugar yield	References
Avicel	H_2SO_4	[Bmim]Cl	Water	73	32% glucose	[58]
α-cellulose	${ m H}_2{ m SO}_4$	[Bmim]Cl	Water	63	39% glucose	[58]
Spruce	${ m H}_2{ m SO}_4$	[Bmim]Cl	Water	71	28% glucose	[58]
Sigmacell	${ m H}_2{ m SO}_4$	[Bmim]Cl	Water	99	28% glucose	[58]
Corn stalk	HCI	[Bmim]Cl	Water	99	I	[59]
Rice straw	HCI	[Bmim]Cl	Water	74	I	[59]
Pine wood	HCI	[Bmim]Cl	Water	81	I	[59]
Bagasse	HCI	[Bmim]Cl	Water	99	I	[59]
Eucalyptus grandis	HCI	[Amim]Cl	Water\methanol\ethanol	95 ^a		[09]
Southern pine	HCI	[Amim]Cl	Water\methanol\ethanol	67^{a}		[09]
Norway spruce	HCI	[Amim]Cl	Water\methanol\ethanol	82^{a}		[09]
Thermomechanical pulp	HCI	[Amim]Cl	Water\methanol\ethanol	82^{a}		[09]
Cellulose	HCI	[Emim]Cl	Water	I	89% glucose	[65]
Corn stover	HCI	[Emim]Cl	Water	70-80	I	[65]
Miscanthus grass	CH ₃ SO ₃ H	[Emim]Cl	Water	I	68% glucose	[62]
Cellobiose	$H_3PW_{12}O_{40}$	Ι	Water ^b	96°	51% glucose	[99]
Cellulose	$\mathrm{Sn}_{0.75}\mathrm{PW}_{12}\mathrm{O}_{40}$	Ι	Water ^b	23	$100\%^{\rm c}$	[99]
Lignocellulose	$H_3PW_{12}O_{40}$	Ι	Water ^b	32	82% ^c	[65]
Cellulose	Nafion [®] NR50	[Bmim]Cl	Water	35	I	[67]
α-Cellulose	HY zeolite	[Bmim]Cl	Water	46.9	34.9%	[68]
Avicel cellulose	HY zeolite	[Bmim]Cl	Water	47.5	36.9%	[68]
Spruce cellulose	HY zeolite	[Bmim]Cl	Water	44.4	34.5%	[68]
Sigmacell cellulose	HY zeolite	[Bmim]Cl	Water	42.4	32.5%	[68]
β -Cellulose	HY zeolite	[Bmim]Cl	Water	I	12.5%	[68]
						(continued)

Table 3.1 (continued)						
Raw materials	Acids	Ionic liquids	Regeneration solvent	TRS yield (%)	Sugar yield	References
Cellulose	Si ₃₃ C ₆₆ -673-SO ₃ H	I	Water	90°	50% glucose	[69]
Microcrystalline cellulose	$FeCl_2$	[(CH ₂) ₄ SO ₃ Hmim][HSO ₄]	Diethyl/ether/water	84.42 °	10.24%	[64]
Western red cedar	\mathbf{O}_2	[Emim][Cl]	DMSO	N.C. ^d	N.C.	[63]
Cellulose	Proton acid	[R(D)MIM]Cl-water	Water	76	N.C.	[70]
Loblolly pine wood	TFA	[Bmim]Cl	Water	° 67	N.C.	[61]
Corn stover	Boronic acids	[Emim][OAc]	Hot water	N.C.	<97% glucose	[71]
^a Carbohydrates were hydr	olyzed at 1.4-1.5 mol	of HCI/g wood acid concentr	ation			

a

^b The reaction was carried out in aqueous solution ^c TRS selectivity ^d *N.C* not characterized

within an hour upon through an ion-exchange process involving $[Bmim]^+$ of the ionic liquid and H⁺ species of the solid acid.

The design of solid catalysts, that are suitable for both heterogeneous and homogeneous conversion, is one of the most top challenges for biomass utilization [75]. It was found that the H⁺ species and reaction media are highly related to their catalytic activity toward the hydrolysis of cellulose. For example, Shimizu et al. developed H₃PW₁₂O₄₀ and Sn_{0.75}PW₁₂O₄₀ for the hydrolysis of lignocellulose, which showed higher TRS yield than conventional H₂SO₄ in water [66]. Other solid acids, such as Nafion[®] NR50, sulfonated silica/carbon nanocomposites, have also been studied for the hydrolysis of cellulose in ILs. It was found that the crystalline cellulose was partially loosened and transformed to cellulose II from cellulose I, then to glucose assisted by Nafion[®] NR50. Afterwards, a catalyst was recycled and the residual (hemi) cellulose solid, which could be hydrolyzed into monosugars by enzymes, was separated by adding antisolvents [67]. Due to the presence of strong, accessible Brønsted acid sites and the hybrid surface structure of sulfonated silica/carbon nanocomposites, it was found that a 42.5% glucose yield was achieved after three recycles of this catalyst in ILs [69].

Solid acid-catalyzed hydrolysis of cellulose in ILs was greatly promoted by microwave heating. The results showed that H-form zeolites with a lower Si/Al molar ratio and a larger surface area exhibited better performance than that of the sulfated ion-exchanging resin NKC-9. The introduction of microwave irradiation at an appropriate power significantly reduced the reaction time and increased the yields of reducing sugars. A typical hydrolysis reaction with Avicel cellulose produced glucose in around 37% yield within 8 min [68].

Monosugars are intermediates linking the sustainable biomass and clean energies, such as bioethanol and microbial biodiesel. In 2010, Binder et al. first investigated the fermentation potential of sugars produced from cellulose in ILs after separation of ILs by ion-exclusion chromatography. The results showed that adding water gradually to a chloride ionic liquid-containing catalytic HCl led to a nearly 90% yield of glucose from cellulose and 70–80% yield of sugars from untreated corn stover. Ion-exclusion chromatography allowed the recovery of the ILs and delivered sugar feedstocks that support the vigorous growth of ethanologenic microbes. This simple chemical process presents a full pathway from biomass to bio-energy based on the ionic liquids platform, although the development of more economic technologies for the recovery and separation of the ILs and sugars is still in high demand [65].

Recent work has demonstrated that the recovery of sugars from ILs could be fulfilled by extraction based on the chemical affinity of sugars to boronates such as phenyl boronic acid and naphthalene-2-boronic acid [71]. 90% of mono- and di-saccharides could be extracted up by boronate complexes from aqueous ILs solutions, pure ILs systems, or hydrolysates of corn stove-containing ILs.

3.6 Enzymatic Compatible Ionic Liquids for Biomass Pretreatment

Although ILs have proven to be ideal solvents for biomass pretreatment and homogeneous chemical catalytic conversion of biomass into monosugars, the process still suffered a shortage of high cost cellulose regeneration. Considering the fact that ILs are also regarded as ideal solvents for biocatalysis due to their unique advantages compared to conventional solvents, researchers are devoting to develop an integrated process of pretreatment and enzymatic hydrolysis in one batch, which will eliminate the need to recover the regenerated lignocellulosic materials, and will lead to a more economic and environmentally friendly conversion process for bio-energy production [5]. It is rational to postulate that ILs are potentially ideal media for the enzymatic conversion of cellulose and lignocellulosic materials into sugar. However, carbohydrate-dissolving ILs are typically composed of Cl⁻, dca⁻, HCOO⁻, ⁻OAc, i.e., anions which form strong hydrogen bonds with the carbohydrate. These interactions facilitate the dissolution of biomass, but denaturation of enzymes can be a problem which hinders the enzymatic conversion of dissolved cellulose in ILs. To overcome this obstacle, the design and synthesis of enzyme-compatible ionic liquids which are capable of dissolving cellulose, and do not considerably deactivate enzymes is essentially necessary. In addition, factors such as IL polarity, IL network, ion kosmotropicity, viscosity, hydrophobicity, the enzyme dissolution, surfactant effect, etc., may also influence the catalytic performance of enzymes [76]. To improve the enzyme solubility and activity in ILs, various attempts have been made, including immobilized enzymes, microemulsions, whole cells catalysis, multi-phase partitioning (TPP) reaction, the use of additives (NaHCO₃, Na₂CO₃, or triethylamine), enzyme-coated microcrystals, and lipase lyophilization with cyclodextrins [77].

In 2008, Kamiya et al. first reported a one-batch enzymatic process for the saccharification of cellulose in aqueous-IL [1-methyl-3-methyl-imidazolium] [Diethyl phosphate] system, which showed initial information on the potential of [1-methyl-3-methyl-imidazolium] [Diethyl phosphate] as the solvent for in situ pretreatment and enzymatic hydrolysis of lignocellulosic materials in ILs media [78]. Further study by Yang et al. with the diethyl phosphate-based ionic liquids showed that ultrasonic pretreatment could enhance the in situ enzymatic saccharification of cellulose in aqueous-ionic liquid media, as a result 95.5% conversion of cellulose could be obtained [79]. Furthermore, they also found that the pretreatment of corn cob in 1-methyl-3-methylimidazolium dimethylphosphite ([Mmim]DMP) in view of its biocompatibility with both lignocellulose solubility and cellulase activity (more than 70% saccharification rate), did not bring negative effects on saccharification, cell growth, and accumulation of lipid of *R. opacus* ACCC41043 [80].

It is well recognized that ILs can be designed with different cation and anion combinations, which allows the possibility of tailoring reaction solvents with specific desired properties, and these unconventional solvent properties of ILs provide the opportunity to carry out many important biocatalytic reactions that are impossible in traditional solvents. In order to avoid denaturing enzyme, Zhao et al. designed a series of glycol-substituted cation and acetate anion ILs that are able to dissolve carbohydrates but do not considerably inactivate the enzyme (immobilized lipase B from Candida Antarctica). The ILs could dissolve more than 10% (wt) cellulose and up to 80% (wt) D-glucose. The transesterification activities of the lipase in these ILs are comparable with those in hydrophobic ILs [81]. Garcia et al. reported a class of biocompatible and biodegradable cholinium-based ILs, the cholinium alkanoates, which showed a highly efficient and specific dissolution of the suberin domains from cork biopolymers. These results are almost more efficient than any system reported so far [82]. However, they did not perform the in situ conversion experiments in these ILs. Bose et al. employed tryptophyl fluorescence and DSC to investigate the reactivity and stability of a commercial mixture of cellulases in eight ILs. Only 1-methylimidazolium chloride (mim Cl) and tris-(2-hydroxyethyl) methylammonium methylsulfate (HEMA) provided a medium hydrolysis [83]. Although we can conclude that high concentrated ILs can make the enzyme lose its activity, there are still many new ILs or enzymes that show good biocompatability or IL-tolerance. These results provide us a green approach to the production of biofuels. At present, it is evident that the pretreatment of lignocellulose in ILs is a good choice for the fast enzymatic hydrolysis of cellulose.

With the aim to search for cellulose hydrolyzing enzymes that are stable in ILs, in 2009, Pottkamper et al. applied metagenomics for the identification of bacterial cellulases that are stable in ILs. By screening metagenomic libraries, 24 novel cellulase clones were identified and tested for their performance in the presence of ILs. Most enzyme clones showed only very poor or no activities. Three enzyme clones,(i.e., pCosJP10, pCosJP20, and pCosJP24) were moderately active and stable in the presence of 1-butyl-1-methyl-pyrrolidinium trifluoromethanesulfonate. The corresponding genes of these environment-derived cosmids were similar to known cellulases from Cellvibrio japonicus and a salt-tolerant cellulase from an uncultured microorganism. It was found that the most active protein (CelA₁₀) belonged to GH5 family cellulases and was active at IL concentrations of up to 30% (v/v). Recombinant CelA₁₀ was extremely tolerant to 4 M NaCl and KCl. In addition, improved cellulase variants of CelA₁₀ were isolated in a directed evolution experiment employing SeSaM-technology. The analysis of these variants revealed that the N-terminal cellulose binding domain played a pivotal role for IL resistance [84]. Meanwhile, Datta et al. found that both hyperthermophilic enzymes were active on [Emim] [OAc] pretreated Avicel and corn stover. Furthermore, these enzymes could be recovered with little loss in activity after exposure to 15% [Emim] [OAc] for 15 h. These results demonstrated the potential of using IL-tolerant extremophilic cellulases for hydrolysis of IL-pretreated lignocellulosic biomass and for biofuel production [85].

3.7 Conclusions and Prospects

Abundant lignocellulose biomass has the potential to become a sustainable source of fuels and chemicals. It needs to realize that this potential requires the economical conversion of recalcitrant lignocellulose into useful intermediates, such as sugars. With the development of biotechnology, the fermentation of sugar can lead to production of various bio-energy and value-added chemicals, such as bioethanol and biodiesel. Therefore, the development of an efficient pretreatment of biomass for monosugars production is the entry point of bio-based chemical industry. Ionic liquids have unique properties compared with conventional organic solvents. The full dissolution of cellulose and lignocellulose in ILs allows a full map of homogenous utilization of them in association with advanced catalytic and separation technologies. Bearing all of these significant progresses in our mind, from in-depth understanding of the dissolution mechanism, chemically catalytic and enzymatic hydrolysis, to in situ pretreatment-enzymatic hydrolysis, a clear pathway and potential to the production of bio-energy and chemicals from biomass in ILs has been illustrated. To take the full advantage of the opportunities afforded by ILs in biomass processing and conversion, there are still a number of challenges ahead on their potential industrial applications [77], for example:

- 1. The design and preparation of cheaper, non-toxic, enzyme-compatible ILs capable of dissolving cellulose, on the basis of in-depth understanding of dissolution mechanism of cellulose in ILs;
- 2. Hydrolytic dynamic study of cellulose in ILs, which will provide in-depth information and knowledge for the design and development of high-efficient catalysts;
- 3. Integration of sustainable energy methodologies, advanced catalytic technologies, and separation technologies into the ILs platforms;
- Development of efficient and facile separation technologies for recovery of ILs and separation of hydrolyzed sugars for downstream applications;
- 5. Metabolism of ILs by microorganism and gene modification of microorganism aiming to increase their tolerance to ILs.

References

- 1. Greiler Y (2007) Biofuels, opportunity or threat to the poor? Swiss Agency for Development and Cooperation, Berne. http://www.deza.admin.ch/ressources/resource_en_159527.pdf
- 2. Zhbankov R (1992) Hydrogen bonds and structure of carbohydrates. J Mol Struct 270:523–539
- 3. Fridley D (2010) Nine challenges of alternative energy, The Post Carbon Reader Series: Energy. August 10

- 3 Lignocellulose Pretreatment by Ionic Liquids
 - Mansfield BK, Alton AJ, Andrews SH, Bownas JL, Casey D, Martin SA, Mills M, Nylander K, Wyrick JM (2005) Breaking the biological barriers to cellulosic ethanol: a joint research agenda, Oak Ridge National Laboratory (ORNL)
 - da Costa Sousa L, Chundawat SPS, Balan V, Dale BE (2009) 'Cradle-to-grave' assessment of existing lignocellulose pretreatment technologies. Curr Opin Biotechnol 20:339–347
 - Swatloski RP, Spear SK, Holbrey JD, Rogers RD (2002) Dissolution of cellose with ionic liquids. J Am Chem Soc 124:4974–4975
 - Maki-Arvela P, Anugwom I, Virtanen P, Sjoholm R, Mikkola J (2010) Dissolution of lignocellulosic materials and its constituents using ionic liquids—a review. Ind Crop Prod 32:175–201
 - Xie H, Zhang S, Li S (2006) Chitin and chitosan dissolved in ionic liquids as reversible sorbents of CO₂. Green Chem 8:630–633
- Wang WT, Zhu J, Wang XL, Huang Y, Wang YZ (2010) Dissolution behavior of chitin in ionic liquids. J Macromol Sci Part B 49:528–541
- Pu Y, Jiang N, Ragauskas AJ (2007) Ionic liquid as a green solvent for lignin. J Wood Chem Technol 27:23–33
- Phillips DM, Drummy LF, Conrady DG, Fox DM, Naik RR, Stone MO, Trulove PC, Hugh C, Mantz RA (2004) Dissolution and regeneration of *Bombyx mori* silk fibroin using ionic liquids. J Am Chem Soc 126:14350–14351
- 12. Xie H, Li S, Zhang S (2005) Ionic liquids as novel solvents for the dissolution and blending of wool keratin fibers. Green Chem 7:606–608
- 13. Tan S, MacFarlane D (2010) Ionic liquids in biomass processing. Top Curr Chem 290:311-339
- Liu CF, Zhang AP, Li WY, Sun RC (2009) Dissolution of cellulose in novel green solvent ionic liquids and its application. Prog Chem 21:1800–1806
- 15. Graenacher C (1934) Cellulose solution. US 1(943):176
- Zavrel M, Bross D, Funke M, Buchs J, Spiess AC (2009) High-throughput screening for ionic liquids dissolving (ligno-)cellulose. Bioresour Technol 100:2580–2587
- Zhang H, Wu J, Zhang J, He JS (2005) 1-Allyl-3-methylimidazolium chloride room temperature ionic liquid: a new and powerful nonderivatizing solvent for cellulose. Macromolecules 38:8272–8277
- Fukaya Y, Sugimoto A, Ohno H (2006) Superior solubility of polysaccharides in low viscosity, polar, and halogen-free 1, 3-dialkylimidazolium formates. Biomacromolecules 7:3295–3297
- Fukaya Y, Hayashi K, Wada M, Ohno H (2008) Cellulose dissolution with polar ionic liquids under mild conditions: required factors for anions. Green Chem 10:44–46
- 20. Abe M, Fukaya Y, Ohno H (2010) Extraction of polysaccharides from bran with phosphonate or phosphinate-derived ionic liquids under short mixing time and low temperature. Green Chem 12:1274–1280
- Kilpelainen I, Xie H, King A, Granstrom M, Heikkinen S, Argyropoulos DS (2007) Dissolution of wood in ionic liquids. J Agric Food Chem 55:9142–9148
- 22. Li B, Asikkala J, Filpponen I, Argyropoulos DS (2010) Factors affecting wood dissolution and regeneration of ionic liquids. Ind Eng Chem Res 49:2477–2484
- Hardacre C, Holbrey JD, Nieuwenhuyzen M, Youngs TGA (2007) Structure and solvation in ionic liquids. Acc Chem Res 40:1146–1155
- Doherty TV, Mora-Pale M, Foley SE, Linhardt RJ, Dordick JS (2010) Ionic liquid solvent properties as predictors of lignocellulose pretreatment efficacy. Green Chem 12:1967–1975
- 25. Brandt A, Hallett JP, Leak DJ, Murphy RJ, Welton T (2010) The effect of the ionic liquid anion in the pretreatment of pine wood chips. Green Chem 12:672–679
- Xu A, Wang J, Wang H (2010) Effects of anionic structure and lithium salts addition on the dissolution of cellulose in 1-butyl-3-methylimidazolium-based ionic liquid solvent systems. Green Chem 12:268–275
- Remsing RC, Wildin JL, Rapp AL, Moyna G (2007) Hydrogen bonds in ionic liquids revisited: Cl-35/37 NMR studies of deuterium isotope effects in 1-n-butyl-3-methylimidazolium chloride. J Phys Chem B 111:11619–11621

- Remsing RC, Hernandez G, Swatloski RP, Massefski WW, Rogers RD, Moyna G (2008) Solvation of carbohydrates in N,N'-dialkylimidazolium ionic liquids: a multinuclear NMR spectroscopy study. J Phys Chem B 112:11071–11078
- Zhang JM, Zhang H, Wu J, Zhang J, He JS, Xiang JF (2010) NMR spectroscopic studies of cellobiose solvation in EmimAc aimed to understand the dissolution mechanism of cellulose in ionic liquids. Phys Chem Chem Phys 12:1941–1947
- Youngs TGA, Holbrey JD, Deetlefs M, Nieuwenhuyzen M, Gomes MFC, Hardacre C (2006) A molecular dynamics study of glucose solvation in the ionic liquid 1,3-dimethylimidazolium chloride. Chemphyschem 7:2279–2281
- Youngs TGA, Hardacre C, Holbrey JD (2007) Glucose solvation by the ionic liquid 1,3dimethylimidazolium chloride: a simulation study. J Phys Chem B 111:13765–13774
- Lindman B, Karlstrom G, Stigsson L (2010) On the mechanism of dissolution of cellulose. J Mol Liquids 156:76–81
- 33. Liu HB, Sale KL, Holmes BM, Simmons BA, Singh S (2010) Understanding the interactions of cellulose with ionic liquids: a molecular dynamics study. J Phys Chem B 114:4293–4301
- 34. Guo JX, Zhang DJ, Duan CG, Liu CB (2010) Probing anion-cellulose interactions in imidazolium-based room temperature ionic liquids: a density functional study. Carbohydr Res 345:2201–2205
- 35. Singh S, Simmons BA, Vogel KP (2009) Visualization of biomass solubilization and cellulose regeneration during ionic liquid pretreatment of switchgrass. Biotechnol Bioeng 104:68–75
- 36. Pu YQ, Jiang N, Ragauskas AJ (2007) Ionic liquid as a green solvent for lignin. J Wood Chem Technol 27:23–33
- 37. Xie H, King A, Kilpelainen I, Granstrom M, Argyropoulos DS (2007) Thorough chemical modification of wood-based lignocellulosic materials in ionic liquids. Biomacromolecules 8:3740–3748
- King AWT, Zoia L, Filpponen I, Olszewska A, Xie HB, Kilpelainen I, Argyropoulos DS (2009) In situ determination of lignin phenolics and wood solubility in imidazolium chlorides using P-31 NMR. J Agric Food Chem 57:8236–8243
- 39. Xie H, Kilpeläinen I, King A, Leskinen T, Järvi P, Argyropoulos DS (2010) Opportunities with dissolved wood, cellulose solvents for analysis, shaping and chemical modification. ACS symposium series, vol 1033. ISBN13: 9780841200067; eISBN: 9780841200074. Publication date (Web): 23 Feb 2010
- Jiang N, Pu YQ, Samuel R, Ragauskas AJ (2009) Perdeuterated pyridinium molten salt (ionic liquid) for direct dissolution and NMR analysis of plant cell walls. Green Chem 11:1762–1766
- Jiang N, Pu YQ, Ragauskas AJ (2010) Rapid determination of lignin content via direct dissolution and H-1 NMR analysis of plant cell walls. Chemsuschem 3:1285–1289
- 42. Zhu JY, Pan X, Zalesny RS (2010) Pretreatment of woody biomass for biofuel production: energy efficiency, technologies, and recalcitrance. Appl Microb Biotechnol 87:847–857
- Kuo C-H, Lee C-K (2009) Enhancement of enzymatic saccharification of cellulose by cellulose dissolution pretreatments. Carbohydr Polym 77:41–46
- 44. Taherzadeh MJ, Karimi K (2008) Pretreatment of lignocellulosic wastes to improve ethanol and biogas production: a review. Int J Mol Sci 9:1621–1651
- 45. Yamashita Y, Sasaki C, Nakamura Y (2010) Effective enzyme saccharification and ethanol production from Japanese cedar using various pretreatment methods. J Biosci Bioeng 110:79–86
- 46. Dadi AP, Schall CA, Varanasi S (2007) Mitigation of cellulose recalcitrance to enzymatic hydrolysis by ionic liquid pretreatment. Appl Biochem Biotecnol 137:407–421
- Dadi AP, Varanasi S, Schall CA (2006) Enhancement of cellulose saccharification kinetics using an ionic liquid pretreatment step. Biotechnol Bioeng 95:904–910
- Liu L, Chen H (2006) Enzymatic hydrolysis of cellulose materials treated with ionic liquid [BMIM] Cl. Chin Sci Bull 51:2432–2436

- 3 Lignocellulose Pretreatment by Ionic Liquids
- 49. Zhao H, Jones CIL, Baker GA, Xia S, Olubajo O, Person VN (2009) Regenerating cellulose from ionic liquids for an accelerated enzymatic hydrolysis. J Biotechnol 139:47–54
- Li Q, He YC, Xian M, Jun G, Xu X, Yang JM, Li LZ (2009) Improving enzymatic hydrolysis of wheat straw using ionic liquid 1-ethyl-3-methyl imidazolium diethyl phosphate pretreatment. Bioresour Technol 100:3570–3575
- 51. Nguyen TAD, Kim KR, Han SJ, Cho HY, Kim JW, Park SM, Park JC, Sim SJ (2010) Pretreatment of rice straw with ammonia and ionic liquid for lignocellulose conversion to fermentable sugars. Bioresour Technol 101:7432–7438
- 52. Yang F, Li LZ, Li Q, Tan WG, Liu W, Xian M (2010) Enhancement of enzymatic in situ saccharification of cellulose in aqueous-ionic liquid media by ultrasonic intensification. Carbohydr Polym 81:311–316
- Ha SH, Ngoc LM, An GM, Koo YM (2011) Microwave-assisted pretreatment of cellulose in ionic liquid for accelerated enzymatic hydrolysis. Bioresour Technol 102:1214–1219
- 54. Alvira P, Tomás-Pejó E, Ballesteros M, Negro MJ (2010) Pretreatment technologies for an efficient bioethanol production process based on enzymatic hydrolysis: a review. Bioresour Technol 101:4851–4861
- Zhao H, Baker GA, Cowins JV (2010) Fast enzymatic saccharification of switchgrass after pretreatment with ionic liquids. Biotechnol Prog 26:127–133
- 56. Tan SSY, MacFarlane DR, Upfal J, Edye LA, Doherty WOS, Patti AF, Pringle JM, Scott JL (2009) Extraction of lignin from lignocellulose at atmospheric pressure using alkylbenzenesulfonate ionic liquid. Green Chem 11:339–345
- Shill K, Padmanabhan S, Xin Q, Prausnitz JM, Clark DS, Blanch HW (2011) Ionic liquid pretreatment of cellulosic biomass: enzymatic hydrolysis and ionic liquid recycle. Biotechnol Bioeng 108:511–520
- Li C, Zhao ZK (2007) Efficient acid-catalyzed hydrolysis of cellulose in ionic liquid. Adv Synth Catal 349:1847–1850
- Li CZ, Wang Q, Zhao ZK (2008) Acid in ionic liquid: an efficient system for hydrolysis of lignocellulose. Green Chem 10:177–182
- Li B, Filpponen I, Argyropoulos DS (2010) Acidolysis of wood in ionic liquids. Ind Eng Chem Res 49:3126–3136
- Sievers C, Valenzuela-Olarte MB, Marzialetti T, Musin I, Agrawal PK, Jones CW (2009) Ionic-liquid-phase hydrolysis of pine wood. Ind Eng Chem Res 48:1277–1286
- Vanoye L, Fanselow M, Holbrey JD, Atkins MP, Seddon KR (2009) Kinetic model for the hydrolysis of lignocellulosic biomass in the ionic liquid, 1-ethyl-3-methyl-imidazolium chloride. Green Chem 11:390–396
- Nakamura A, Miyafuji H, Saka S (2010) Influence of reaction atmosphere on the liquefaction and depolymerization of wood in an ionic liquid, 1-ethyl-3-methylimidazolium chloride. J Wood Sci 56:256–261
- 64. Tao FR, Song HL, Chou LJ (2010) Hydrolysis of cellulose by using catalytic amounts of FeCl₂ in ionic liquids. Chemsuschem 3:1298–1303
- Binder JB, Raines RT (2010) Fermentable sugars by chemical hydrolysis of biomass. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 107:4516–4521
- 66. Shimizu K, Furukawa H, Kobayashi N, Itaya Y, Satsuma A (2009) Effects of Bronsted and Lewis acidities on activity and selectivity of heteropolyacid-based catalysts for hydrolysis of cellobiose and cellulose. Green Chem 11:1627–1632
- Kim SJ, Dwiatmoko AA, Choi JW, Suh YW, Suh DJ, Oh M (2010) Cellulose pretreatment with 1-n-butyl-3-methylimidazolium chloride for solid acid-catalyzed hydrolysis. Bioresour Technol 101:8273–8279
- Zhang ZH, Zhao ZBK (2009) Solid acid and microwave-assisted hydrolysis of cellulose in ionic liquid. Carbohydr Res 344:2069–2072
- 69. Van de Vyver S, Peng L, Geboers J, Schepers H, de Clippel F, Gommes CJ, Goderis B, Jacobs PA, Sels BF (2010) Sulfonated silica/carbon nanocomposites as novel catalysts for hydrolysis of cellulose to glucose. Green Chem 12:1560–1563

- Zhang YT, Du HB, Qian XH, Chen EYX (2010) Ionic liquid-water mixtures: enhanced K-w for efficient cellulosic biomass conversion. Energy Fuels 24:2410–2417
- Brennan TCR, Datta S, Blanch HW, Simmons BA, Holmes BM (2010) Recovery of sugars from ionic liquid biomass liquor by solvent extraction. Bioenergy Res 3:123–133
- 72. King CJ (2000) Separation processes, introduction. Wiley-VCH Verlag GmbH & Co. KGaA, Weinheim
- Rinaldi R, Palkovits R, Schüth F (2008) Depolymerization of cellulose using solid catalysts in ionic liquids. Angew Chem Int Ed 47:8047–8050
- Rinaldi R, Schuth F (2009) Acid hydrolysis of cellulose as the entry point into biorefinery schemes. Chemsuschem 2:1096–1107
- Rinaldi R, Schuth F (2009) Design of solid catalysts for the conversion of biomass. Energy Environ Sci 2:610–626
- 76. Zhao H (2010) Methods for stabilizing and activating enzymes in ionic liquids—a review. J Chem Technol Biotechnol 85:891–907
- Moniruzzaman M, Nakashima K, Kamiya N, Goto M (2010) Recent advances of enzymatic reactions in ionic liquids. Biochem Eng J 48:295–314
- Kamiya N, Matsushita Y, Hanaki M, Nakashima K, Narita M, Goto M, Takahashi H (2008) Enzymatic in situ saccharification of cellulose in aqueous-ionic liquid media. Biotechnol Lett 30:1037–1040
- 79. Yang F, Li L, Li Q, Tan W, Liu W, Xian M (2010) Enhancement of enzymatic in situ saccharification of cellulose in aqueous-ionic liquid media by ultrasonic intensification. Carbohydr Polym 81:311–316
- Li Q, Jiang XL, He YC, Li LZ, Xian M, Yang JM (2010) Evaluation of the biocompatibile ionic liquid 1-methyl-3-methylimidazolium dimethylphosphite pretreatment of corn cob for improved saccharification. Appl Microb Biotechnol 87:117–126
- Zhao H, Baker GA, Song ZY, Olubajo O, Crittle T, Peters D (2008) Designing enzymecompatible ionic liquids that can dissolve carbohydrates. Green Chem 10:696–705
- Garcia H, Ferreira R, Petkovic M, Ferguson JL, Leitao MC, Gunaratne HQN, Seddon KR, Rebelo LPN, Pereira CS (2010) Dissolution of cork biopolymers in biocompatible ionic liquids. Green Chem 12:367–369
- Bose S, Armstrong DW, Petrich JW (2010) Enzyme-catalyzed hydrolysis of cellulose in ionic liquids: a green approach toward the production of biofuels. J Phys Chem B 114:8221–8227
- 84. Pottkamper J, Barthen P, Ilmberger N, Schwaneberg U, Schenk A, Schulte M, Ignatiev N, Streit WR (2009) Applying metagenomics for the identification of bacterial cellulases that are stable in ionic liquids. Green Chem 11:957–965
- 85. Datta S, Holmes B, Park JI, Chen ZW, Dibble DC, Hadi M, Blanch HW, Simmons BA, Sapra R (2010) Ionic liquid tolerant hyperthermophilic cellulases for biomass pretreatment and hydrolysis. Green Chem 12:338–345

Chapter 4 Application of Ionic Liquids in the Conversion of Native Lignocellulosic Biomass to Biofuels

Marcel Lucas, Gregory L. Wagner and Kirk D. Rector

4.1 Introduction

Lignocellulosic biomass could become an abundant source of liquid fuels and commodity chemicals that could satisfy energy needs in transportation and alleviate concerns about rising greenhouse gas emissions. The variety of potential feedstocks, which includes wood, agricultural wastes, forest products, grasses, and algae, reduces the pressure on food crops, in particular corn, for the production of ethanol [1, 2]. Wood is composed of three main components: cellulose, hemicellulose, and lignin. Cellulose is a polymer of glucose. Hemicellulose is a branched polymer of different monosaccharides. Lignin is a branched polymer with *p*-hydroxyphenyl, guaiacyl, and syringyl units [3]. The conversion of lignocellulosic biomass to biofuels consists in the hydrolysis of cellulose and hemicellulose into fermentable sugars, followed by the fermentation of these sugars into ethanol and commodity chemicals. The access of enzymes to cellulose is severely restricted by the complex structure of the wood cell wall and the recalcitrance of lignin.

Conversion of native biomass to biofuels therefore requires a pretreatment step that should separate the three main components of wood, improve access of enzymes to cellulose, and decrease cellulose crystallinity. Kraft pulping has been the dominant process to produce purified cellulose substrates for papermaking, but it involves toxic chemicals and requires large amounts of water [4]. Other biomass pretreatments, such as acid hydrolysis, steam explosion, alkaline hydrolysis, and ammonia fiber explosion, are energy-intensive and also involve toxic chemicals [5]. Pretreatment is the most expensive step in the biomass conversion process, and could represent a fifth of the total cost [1, 2].

M. Lucas · G. L. Wagner · K. D. Rector (🖂)

Chemistry Division, Los Alamos National Laboratory,

Los Alamos, NM 87545, USA

e-mail: kdr@lanl.gov

Recently, room-temperature ionic liquids (ILs) have been considered as potential solvents for the dissolution and pretreatment of biomolecules and biomass [4, 6–11]. It was found that the solubility of cellulose in 1-butyl-3methylimidazolium chloride ([BMIM][Cl]) could reach 25 wt% [9]. ILs are salts with melting temperatures below 100°C, characterized by an extremely low vapor pressure, high thermal stability, and low flammability. Their physicochemical properties, such as glass transition and melting temperatures, thermal stability, refractive index, and polarity depend on their chemical composition and structure [12–14]. The multitude of possible anion–cation combinations and the blending of multiple ILs provide great flexibility when tailoring an IL for a specific application [15]. ILs have numerous promising applications in catalysis [16-20], electrochemistry, separations of gases, liquids, and impurities [21]. The positive effect of ionic liquids on catalysis was partially attributed to the stabilization of reactive intermediates and catalytically active oxidation states [17]. Promising studies on cellulose dissolution and regeneration led to an intense effort to develop an effective IL pretreatment for the direct pretreatment and dissolution of native biomass [4, 6–11].

In this chapter, the dissolution of native biomass in ILs will be reviewed. In Sect. 4.2, the different factors affecting biomass solubility in ILs will be reviewed. The mechanisms involved in the biomass delignification and cellulose dissolution will be discussed in Sect. 4.3. Section 4.4 will focus on the compatibility of ILs with cellulases and the different strategies developed for the stabilization of enzymes in ILs. Section 4.5 will deal with the recycling and biodegradability of ILs. Finally, in Sect. 4.6, applications of biomass pretreatment with ILs (other than fuel production) in the making of composite materials, the biomedical field, the production of commodity chemicals, and biochemical sensing will be reviewed.

4.2 Pretreatment of Native Biomass

4.2.1 Cellulose and Lignin Composition in Biomass

Great variability in lignocellulosic biomass feedstocks is observed in wood or nonwood plants: differences in fiber dimensions, lignin, and cellulose content across different species [22]. Enzymatic hydrolysis of 1,100 natural *Populus trichocarpa* trees resulted in a wide range of sugar yields that depended on the lignin content and the ratio of syringyl and guaiacyl units in lignin. Among the 1,100 samples, the lignin content ranged from 15.7 to 27.9 wt%, while the syringyl-to-guaiacyl unit ratio ranged from 1.0 to 3.0 [23]. Even in the same plant, differences were observed between the mature sections at the base and the younger sections at the top [24].

Due to this great diversity of chemical composition and the complex structure of native biomass, effective methods for the dissolution or hydrolysis of purified



Fig. 4.1 Generalized chemical structure of lignin and schematic for its conversion into monomeric aromatic products. Reactions which cleave aryl–ethers and aryl–alkyl linkages would enable conversion of lignin into valuable aromatic chemicals. Reprinted from [28], copyright (2011), with permission from Elsevier

cellulose or glucose oligomers can fail to translate to native biomass. In lignin, each type of linkages in the constituting monolignols provides a possible pathway for biomass delignification (Fig. 4.1) [25–28]. Developing a unique IL pretreatment that would be suitable for multiple feedstocks represents a tremendous challenge.

4.2.2 Dissolution of Biomass in Ionic Liquids

A wide variety of biomass feedstock/IL combinations has been studied for their potential in biomass pretreatment. Multiple wood species have been studied: poplar [29], spruce [7, 30–34], eucalyptus [31, 32], pine [4, 6, 7, 31, 32, 35–37], maple [25, 38], *Metasequoia glyptostroboides* [16], red oak [36], common beech [34], cork [39], and Japanese fir [40]. Other biomass feedstocks currently under investigation include grasses, such as switchgrass [41, 42], *Miscanthus* grasses [26, 43], and agricultural wastes, such as corn stovers [6, 33, 35, 43–45], wheat straw [27] and rice straw [6, 35, 46].

Among the most successful and widely used ILs in native wood pretreatment are the imidazolium-based ILs with the chloride or acetate anion. The ILs 1-allyl-3-methylimidazolium chloride ([AMIM][Cl]) and [BMIM][Cl] could dissolve maple wood flour at solubilities above 30 g/IL kg at 80°C under nitrogen atmosphere after 24 h [25]. Ball-milled pine powder and spruce sawdust (size 0.1-2 mm) were completely dissolved in [BMIM][Cl] and [AMIM][Cl] at a weight ratio of up to 8% at 80–110°C in 8 h with mechanical stirring [7]. [AMIM][Cl] was able to dissolve completely 5 wt% of spruce, silver fir, beech, chestnut wood chips (particle size 1-2 mm) at 90°C in 12 h, whereas the same wood samples were only partially dissolved in 1-ethyl-3-methylimidazolium chloride ([EMIM][Cl]), [BMIM][Cl], and 1,3-dimethylimidazolium dimethylphosphate ([MMIM][Me₂PO₄]) in the same conditions [34]. The IL 1-ethyl-3methylimidazolium chloride ([EMIM][Cl]) can partially dissolve wheat straw and pine wood particles (<1 mm, 5 wt%) at 100°C in 24 h, [BMIM][Cl] can only partially dissolve wheat straw, and 1-ethyl-3-methylimidazolium acetate ([EMIM][OAc]) could dissolve neither [47]. Ground pine, poplar, eucalyptus, and oak were dissolved in [BMIM][Cl] with a 5 wt% solubility at 100°C. After 24 h, about 45 wt% of the cellulosic material was extracted from the native biomass. The extraction rates were higher for softwoods, such as pine and poplar. ¹³C Nuclear Magnetic Resonance (NMR) confirmed the presence of dissolved polysaccharides in the wood/IL mixture [4].

[EMIM][OAc] dissolved spruce, beech, chestnut completely (5 wt%), but not silver fir [34]. In another study, [EMIM][OAc] could dissolve 5 wt% of red oak (particle size 0.125-0.250 mm) completely in 25 h at 110°C, while it took 46 h to dissolve 5 wt% of southern yellow pine in the same conditions [36]. Pretreatment of maple wood flour with [EMIM][OAc] or 1-butyl-3-methylimidazolium acetate ([BMIM][OAc]) at 90°C increased significantly the sugar yield and the amount of extracted lignin [38]. Pretreatment with 1-butyl-3-methylimidazolium methyl sulfate ([BMIM][MeSO₄]) at the same temperature for the same duration resulted in sugar yields comparable to the untreated wood flour and an amount of extracted lignin lower than with [EMIM][OAc] or [BMIM][OAc]. This was explained by the fact that [BMIM][MeSO₄] only delignified the middle lamella and not the primary cell wall and cellulose-rich secondary cell wall. Also, the [EMIM][OAc] or [BMIM][OAc] pretreatment for 12 h reduced the wood fiber diameter from an average of 250 µm in the untreated flour to about 17 µm. Pretreatment with [BMIM][MeSO₄] had no effect on the wood fiber diameter [38].

Other combinations of IL/native wood were studied. Dry wood (*Metasequoia glyptostroboides*, 60 mesh sawdust) was partially dissolved in 1-butyl-3-allylimidazolium chloride ([BAIM][Cl]) or 1-methyl-3-allylimidazolium chloride ([MAIM][Cl]) at a weight ratio from 4.5:1 to 10.5:1 (60–90°C for 10–40 min) [16]. Phenyl-containing ionic liquids were synthesized to see if the aromatic π -systems would be better at disrupting the strong π – π interactions between aromatic groups in lignin. Indeed, after the wood was dissolved in 1-benzyl-3-methylimidazolium chloride ([BzMIM][Cl]), the solution was clear, free of any residual lignin [7]. Ball-milled poplar was soluble in 1-allylpyridinium chloride, cyanomethylpyridinium chloride, and pyridinium chloride within 1 h at 60°C with solubilities ranging from 35 to 80 mg/g [29]. In addition to woods, ILs could at least partially dissolve or delignify other feedstocks, including leaves and agricultural wastes. Triticale straw, flax shives, and wheat straw were soluble in [EMIM][OAc] and [BMIM][Cl] [27]. The dissolution of shredded oil palm fronds in [BMIM][Cl] was studied for temperatures ranging from 60 to 100°C [22]. Lignin was extracted from bagasse using the IL 1-ethyl-3-methylimidazolium alkylbenzenesulfonate at high temperatures (170–190°C) [48]. Rice straw powder (<2 mm) could be dissolved in [BMIM][Cl], [EMIM][Cl], and [EMIM][OAc] completely in 24 h at 130°C. The amount of regenerated cellulose and glucose after enzymatic hydrolysis was highest for [EMIM][OAc] [46]. Milled corn cob had solubilities above 30 g/kg at 130°C in 1-methyl-3-methylimidazolium dimethylphosphite ([EMIM][DEP]), 2-ethyl-3-methylimidazolium dimethylphosphite ([EMIM][Cl], and 1-butyl-1-methylpyrrolidinium chloride ([BMPy][Cl]). Pretreatment with chloride ILs resulted in the doubling of reducing sugar yield after enzymatic hydrolysis [44].

4.2.3 Effect of Ionic Liquid Chemical Composition

The nature of the anion played a major role in the dissolution of biomass. For example, [EMIM][OAc] was more effective than [EMIM][Cl] in the dissolution of southern yellow pine [36]. The chloride anion combined with the [BMIM] cation was effective in the dissolution of maple wood flour. Substitution of the chloride anion with the tetrafluoroborate or hexafluorophosphate anions made the maple wood flour insoluble [25]. Maple wood flour pretreated in [EMIM][OAc] and [BMIM][OAc] at 90°C for 6 h resulted in a decrease in cellulose crystallinity, higher glucose, and xylose yields. In contrast, pretreatment with [BMIM][MeSO₄] had little effect on the biomass cell structure, sugar yields, and cellulose crystallinity, compared to untreated wood flour [38].

The ability to dissolve biomass was related to the anion basicity. [EMIM][OAc] was a better solvent than [BMIM][Cl] for southern yellow pine and red oak (particle size 0.125–0.250 mm), due to the increased basicity of the acetate anion and also its lower viscosity and melting point [36]. Cork powder remained insoluble in [EMIM][Cl] and [BMIM][Cl] after 4 h at 100°C. Replacing the chloride anion with a lactate or ethanoate anion improved the cork dissolution significantly. ILs based on the cholinium cation and alkanoate anions were more effective in the cork dissolution. Among the alkanoate anions included in the study, the increasing alkyl chain length (ethanoate, butanoate, hexanoate) led to an increase in biomass dissolution efficiency, attributed to an increase in the basicity of the anion [39].

The structure of the cation plays a role in the melting point of the IL. Alkyl groups on the imidazole tend to lower the melting temperature, and enhance wood liquefaction and processability of the wood solution. For example, wood dissolution was more effective in 1-butyl-3-allylimidazolium chloride ([BAIM][Cl]), then in 1-methyl-3-allylimidazolium chloride ([MAIM][Cl]) [16].

4.2.4 Effect of Temperature

Most IL pretreatments were conducted at high temperatures ranging from 70 to 190°C [7, 22, 25, 27, 36, 37, 43, 48-50]. Higher sugar yields are usually reported for pretreatments at higher temperatures for longer times [7, 22, 25, 27, 50]. Wood dissolution at temperatures above 100°C was faster in [BMIM][Cl] and [AMIM][Cl] [7]. Short pretreatments at higher temperatures resulted in higher glucose yields from oil palm fronds [22]. Increasing temperatures from 50 to 130°C during the dissolution of maple wood flour in [EMIM][OAc] increased the amount of extracted lignin and reduced the recovered wood flour [25]. In another study, increasing the temperatures from 70 to 150°C increased the solubility of lignin in triticale straw residues. The cellulose and hemicellulose content in the residues decreased with higher temperatures. The IL treatment at higher temperatures also resulted in higher glucose yields after enzymatic hydrolysis. More than 95% of the initial cellulose extracted above 130°C after 11 h was hydrolyzed [27]. This can be partially explained by the fact that, at higher temperatures, the self-diffusion coefficients of the IL anions and cations increase dramatically [49].

Another possible explanation of the benefits of high temperatures on biomass pretreatment is the improved access of enzymes to cellulose. The surface area, pore size distribution, and pore volume of switchgrass (3 wt%, 40 mesh) pretreated with [EMIM][OAc] at 110-160°C for 3 h, were measured by nitrogen porosimetry. The switchgrass pretreated at 160°C adsorbed significantly more gas than the untreated sample or the one treated at 120°C, with a specific surface area 30 times higher (15.8 m²/g at 160°C, 0.7 m²/g at 120°C, and 0.5 m²/g for the untreated sample). The increased surface area and pore volume were correlated with an increase in the initial rates of enzymatic hydrolysis. After 30 min of hydrolysis with cellulases from Trichoderma reesei, the concentration of reducing sugars in the broth was 2.84 g/L for a 3-h IL treatment at 110°C and 7.44 g/l for the sample treated at 160°C. The lignin removal efficiency also increased from 25% at 110°C to 74% at 160°C. The improved delignification and sugar yields observed for pretreatments above 150°C was attributed mostly to the softening or melting of lignin. The average glass transition temperature of lignin is around 165°C, but varies considerably depending on its chemical composition and the ratio of monolignol units [50].

Cellulose degradation was reported when IL pretreatment is conducted at higher incubation time and higher temperature, leading to lower sugar yields after enzymatic hydrolysis [22]. There was evidence of degradation of the IL and cellulose, when pine wood chips were pretreated in [EMIM][OAc] at 110°C for 16 h. The appearance of additional peaks on ¹³C NMR spectra of the pine/IL solution was attributed to the generation of glucose oligomers and the degradation of [EMIM][OAc] [36].

4.2.5 Effect of Density

[AMIM][Cl] dissolved *Eucalyptus grandis*, southern pine sawdust (particle size 0.1–2 mm) and Norway spruce thermomechanical pulp almost completely in 5 h at 120°C. IL pretreatment of southern pine improved the glucose yield after enzymatic hydrolysis from 7 to 17 wt%. But the improvement of the glucose yield after IL pretreatment was found to decrease with increasing wood density. Higher density wood (*Eucalyptus grandis*) requires an IL pretreatment at a higher temperature than low-density wood (southern pine) to achieve the same pretreatment efficiency [31]. Hardwoods such as red oak usually have a higher density than softwoods such as pine, but softwoods also tend to have higher lignin content. Lignin in softwoods is also rich in guaiacyl units, while lignin in hardwoods is a mixture of guaiacyl and syringyl units [36]. Similarly, wheat straw (low lignin content) could be dissolved in [EMIM][OAc] with acetic acid at a lower temperature (100°C) than pine wood (higher lignin content) (120°C) for the same particle size (<1 mm) [47].

4.2.6 Viscosity

Generally, the high viscosity of the IL affects negatively the overall efficiency of the pretreatment [7]. The IL viscosity depends on the IL chemical composition and temperature. For example, [AMIM][Cl] has a lower viscosity than [BMIM][Cl], which enabled wood dissolution at a lower temperature (80°C instead of 110°C). Dissolution in ILs with aromatic substituents, such as [BzMIM][Cl] and 1-methyl-3-*m*-methoxylbenzylimidazolium chloride, required higher temperatures (130°C) to achieve the same wood solubility, which was attributed to their higher melting temperatures and viscosities [7]. However, the viscosity of the wood/IL mixture also increases with the wood dissolution over time with the accumulation of extracted products and generation of by-products [4]. The viscosity of cellulose solutions in [EMIM][OAc] or [BMIM][Cl] was found to increase with the cellulose concentration [51, 52].

One way to decrease the viscosity of the wood/IL mixture is to increase the temperature, but this solution is energy-intensive and can accelerate the degradation of the IL [22]. Another method consists in the addition of a co-solvent with lower viscosity. The viscosity of a wood/[BMIM][Cl] mixture was reduced by the addition of deuterated dimethyl sulfoxide, which had no noticeable effect on the wood dissolution efficiency [4]. In another study, [BzMIM][Cl] was blended with [AMIM][Cl] to reduce its viscosity without significant efficiency loss. Biomass dissolution could occur at a lower temperature and even at room temperature in the less viscous [AMIM][Cl] [7].

During wood dissolution in [BAIM][Cl] and [MAIM][Cl] with AlCl₃ as a catalyst, increased acidity led to a decrease in viscosity, which was attributed to the formation of AlCl₄ and Al₂Cl₇ that weakens the hydrogen bonds in ionic liquids [16].

4.2.7 Acid Hydrolysis

Several acids served as catalysts with [BMIM][Cl] for the hydrolysis of corn stalk: hydrochloric acid, sulfuric acid, nitric acid, phosphoric acid, and maleic acid. Overall, hydrochloric acid was the most efficient catalyst. Sulfuric and nitric acids were also efficient, but required a higher loading to achieve the same yield in reducing sugars. At the same temperature (100°C), reactions with phosphoric and maleic acids were much slower than with the other acids, even at high loadings. The combination of hydrochloric acid (7 wt%) and [BMIM][Cl] was efficient in the hydrolysis of corn stalk, rice straw, pine wood, and bagasse [6]. Faster degradation of cellulose and hemicellulose was also observed at higher temperatures and for longer pretreatment times for *Eucalyptus grandis* [32]. The weight loss increased with the amount of hemicellulose, which was higher in softwoods (spruce and pine). More carbohydrates (polysaccharides and lignin) were hydrolyzed as the acid concentration increased [32]. Trifluoroacetic acid (0.2 wt%) also served as an acid catalyst in the dissolution of loblolly pine in [BMIM][Cl] at 120°C. Its effect was similar to sulfuric acid H₂SO₄ at the same molar concentration. After a 2-h treatment, 62 wt% of the loblolly pine was converted to soluble products. No further increase in the yield was seen after a 4-h treatment [53]. The addition of AlCl₃ led to a decrease in pH in a mixture of wood (Metasequoia glyptostroboides) and [BAIM][Cl] and [MAIM][Cl], which accelerated the dissolution of wood at a lower temperature. The amount of insoluble residues in the IL and pH decreased with increasing AlCl₃ amount. The selection of the metal chloride affected the pH and the liquefaction efficiency: AlCl₃ led to lower pH than SnCl₂ and FeCl₃. The stronger acidity led to higher liquefaction efficiency [16]. These results were consistent with a previous study in which the initial acid hydrolysis rates of cellobiose increased with increasing acid strength. The conversion of cellobiose to glucose was much faster for acids with negative pKa values, such as methanesulfonic acid (pKa = -1.9) and sulfuric acid (pKa = -3) [26].

From these results, it was argued that biomass does not dissolve in ILs directly, but that it needs to be hydrolyzed first before the dissolution of the hydrolysis products. Pine wood and wheat straw (mesh size smaller than 1 mm) were dissolved in [EMIM][OAc] with acetic acid as catalyst. After dissolution, a drop in pH was observed with formation and accumulation of acetic acid in the IL/biomass solution. The addition of acetic acid to [EMIM][OAc] accelerated the dissolution of wheat straw. After dissolution and addition of water, the precipitate contained an amount of lignin that increased with the amount of acetic acid added, suggesting that acetic acid also acted as a co-solvent for lignin [47].

Indeed, IL pretreatments with acid may increase the yield of reducing sugars following enzymatic hydrolysis, but they also promote the degradation of cellulose and hemicellulose when conducted at higher temperatures and for longer times [6, 32, 47, 53]. Faster degradation of cellulose and hemicellulose was observed at

higher temperatures and for longer pretreatment times for *Eucalyptus grandis* [32]. For the acid hydrolysis of loblolly pine in [BMIM][Cl], the yield of monosaccharides reached a maximum after 2 and 0.5 h of pretreatment at 120 and 150°C, respectively [53]. Similarly, the yield of reducing sugars after hydrolysis of corn stalk in [BMIM][Cl] with HCl reached a maximum for an incubation time of 30 min at 100°C [6]. High performance liquid chromatography (HPLC) of residues from the acid-catalyzed pretreatment of loblolly pine in [BMIM][Cl] showed that the monosaccharides from biomass reacted by dehydration to form other compounds, such as 5-hydroxymethylfurfural and furfural [53]. ³¹P NMR spectra of the recycled IL after pretreatment of Eucalyptus grandis exhibited signatures from 5-hydroxymethylfurfural, acetol, 2-methoxy-4-methylphenol, catechol, and acetic acid [32]. Fourier-transform infrared (FTIR) spectroscopy of corn stalk after pretreatment in [BMIM][Cl] with sulfuric acid showed the functionalization of lignin with sulfonic groups [6]. The generation of these by-products reduces the total reducing sugar yield, can affect the enzymatic hydrolysis of the remaining cellulose and complicate the recycling of the IL.

4.2.8 Catalysts

In addition to acids, other catalysts such as Li salts (LiCl, LiBr, LiAc, LiNO₃, or LiClO₄) were added to enhance the dissolution of cellulose in [EMIM][OAc]. It was believed that the lithium cation can disrupt the hydrogen bonding network in cellulose [54].

Two polyoxometalates, an acidic form $H_5[PV_2Mo_{10}O_{40}]$ and an [EMIM][OAc] compatible form [1-ethyl-3-methylimidazolium]₄H[PV₂Mo₁₀O₄₀], were prepared and used as catalysts for the dissolution of southern yellow pine (particle size <0.125 mm, 5 wt%) in [EMIM][OAc] at 110°C [55]. The addition of 0.5 wt% acidic polyoxometalate reduced the time for complete dissolution of pine from 46 to 15 h. The regenerated cellulose contained significantly less lignin, with limited losses in cellulose. The [EMIM]-compatible form improved delignification, but with greater cellulose losses in the regenerated cellulose [55].

4.2.9 Pretreatment with Ammonia

An ammonia pretreatment prior to IL dissolution improved delignification of biomass and enhanced recyclability. The rice straw (particle size 2–5 mm) was first treated with ammonia (10%) at 100°C for 6 h. After filtering and drying steps, it was dissolved in [EMIM][OAc] at 130°C for 24 h. The ammonia pretreatment step reduced the time for complete dissolution in IL from 24 to 6 h. It increased slightly the amount of regenerated cellulose after the IL treatment for <24 h. The major improvement was the significant increase in the glucose conversion rate of

97% (compared to the amount of regenerated cellulose) with the ammonia pretreatment, compared to the 78% rate without ammonia pretreatment. This improvement allowed for a significant reduction in the amount of cellulases necessary for cellulose hydrolysis: despite a reduction of the cellulase concentration by a factor 10, the cellulose conversion rate remained at 83% [46].

4.2.10 Microwave Heating and Ultrasounds

The complete dissolution of native biomass in ILs using conventional heating (oil bath) may take several hours at high temperatures. In order to reduce the energy costs associated with heating, a commercial microwave oven was used to heat the wood/IL mixture before it was heated using a conventional oil bath. The application of 100 pulses of 3 s reduced the time necessary to dissolve pine sawdust (particle size 0.125–0.250 mm) completely from 46 to 16 h [36]. Microwave irradiation also accelerated the production of 5-hydroxymethylfurfural and furfural directly from milled corn stalks, rice straws, and pine wood, reducing the reaction time down to a few minutes [35].

Ultrasounds can also accelerate the complete dissolution of cellulose in [BMIM][Cl] and [AMIM][Cl] from several hours to several minutes [56]. The exposure of pine sawdust (particle size 0.125–0.250 mm) to 1 h of ultrasound at 40°C before IL treatment reduced the time necessary to dissolve the sample from 46 to 23 h [36].

4.2.11 Biomass Size Reduction

The dissolution of Norway spruce in [BMIM][Cl] or [AMIM][Cl] depended on the size of the biomass. Whereas ball-milled powder and spruce sawdust (size 0.1-2 mm) were completely dissolved at 80° C in several hours, it took several weeks to dissolve wood chips ($5 \times 5 \times 1 \text{ mm}^3$) at 130° C in the same ILs. In general, dissolution was fastest for ball-milled wood, followed by sawdust (particle size 0.1-2 mm), thermomechanical pulp fibers, and wood chips [7]. A similar size effect was observed for southern pine and red oak wood chips [36], and rice straw [46]. Ball-milling of Norway spruce TMP and southern pine increased the glucose yield after IL pretreatment and enzymatic hydrolysis, by opening access to the wood structure for enzymes. The same effect, which became more significant with milling time, was also observed for corn stovers. The molecular weight of ball-milled corn stovers decreased with increasing milling time [33].

The size reduction effect could be explained by the increase of effective surface area and the improved access of enzymes to the biomass cellulose. However, feedstock size reduction through mechanical grinding is energy-intensive [36]. Also, ball-milling for several days can lead to significant degradation and chemical

modification of cellulose and lignin, as well as the generation of soluble species that reduces the recyclability of the IL [31, 33, 57]. It was reported that extensive ball-milling causes cleavage of aryl–ether linkages in lignin and the generation of phenolic hydroxyl groups [57].

4.2.12 Comparison with Other Pretreatments

Few studies have directly compared the efficiency of IL pretreatments to other pretreatments, such as the ammonia or organosolv pretreatment. Rice straw particles were pretreated with [EMIM][OAc] (1 g biomass in 20 ml of [EMI-M][OAc] at 130°C for 24 h) or ammonia (1 g biomass in 10 ml of 10 vol.% ammonia at 100°C for 6 h). In these conditions, the amount of cellulose regenerated was comparable for the two pretreatments. However, the conversion rate of cellulose to glucose was significantly higher with the IL pretreatment and the improvement due to IL was most remarkable for larger particles (>10 mm) [46].

In another study, switchgrass was subjected to an acid pretreatment (3 wt% biomass in 1.2% sulfuric acid heated at 160°C for 20 min) or an IL pretreatment with [EMIM][OAc] (3 wt% biomass heated at 160°C for 3 h). Analysis of the recovered biomass after IL pretreatment showed lower lignin content and higher hemicellulose content, compared to the recovered biomass after acid pretreatment. X-ray diffraction measurement of the cellulose crystallinity showed a significant decrease in crystallinity after IL pretreatment, whereas the acid pretreatment caused an increase in crystallinity, which was attributed to the preferential breakdown of the amorphous cellulose during the acid pretreatment. Scanning electron microscopy showed that the cell wall structure was mostly preserved during the acid pretreatment, while the IL pretreatment left no fibrous structure. For the same enzyme loading, the enzymatic hydrolysis had faster kinetics and higher reducing sugar yields after the IL pretreatment. After a 24 h saccharification process, 96% of the cellulose was hydrolyzed for the IL-pretreated sample, while only 48% were hydrolyzed for the acid-pretreated sample [41].

4.2.13 Water Adsorption as an Issue

The wide range of biomass solubility in ILs reported in the literature could be partially explained by the contamination with water, which can significantly affect their physicochemical properties [58]. Even hydrophobic ILs, such as 1-ethyl-3-methylimidazolium bis(trifluoromethylsulfonyl)imide ([EMIM][Tf₂N]), are hygroscopic and can contain up to 25% of water (molar ratio) when exposed to an environment with a relative humidity of 81% [59]. Water can also be produced during the reaction of biomass with IL by the hydrolysis of acetate groups [47]. Traces of water can be detected by ¹H NMR or IR spectroscopy [60]. They can be

quantified by Karl-Fischer titration or gravimetrically [59]. Water can be removed in a vacuum oven or in a freeze dryer [7, 61]. Its presence complicates the IL recycling and removal is energy-intensive.

Addition of water above 4 wt% to loblolly pine wood before its pretreatment in [BMIM][Cl] led to a notable decrease in soluble products, monosaccharides, and 5-hydroxymethylfurfural. This was attributed to the competition with the cellulose hydroxyl groups to form hydrogen bonds with Cl⁻ ions [53]. The presence of water reduced the solubility of wood in ILs and the yield of sugars released in the dissolution of maple wood flour in [BMIM][OAc] and [EMIM][OAc] [7]. Water also prevented the IL from effectively reducing the cellulose crystallinity [38]. Water can also prevent the formation of by-products such as 5-hydroxymethyl-furfural during the dissolution of cellulose in [EMIM][Cl] catalyzed by HCl or H₂SO₄ [62].

The IL hygroscopicity is the result of the adsorption of water on the IL surface, diffusion from the surface and/or the formation of complexes through hydrogen bonding [59, 63, 64]. The hygroscopicity depends on the IL composition and structure [65]. Adsorption would depend on the charge distribution and structure of the cation and anion, while diffusion would be affected by the IL viscosity [59]. The length of alkyl chains and substitution on the cation ring (*e.g.*, pyridinium, imidazolium) affected the mutual solubility of the IL with water [65, 66]. For ILs with the [EMIM] cation, water uptake increased with different anions in the following order: dicyanamide < diethyl phosphate < chloride < acetate [61].

4.2.14 Presence of Impurities

As-produced commercial ILs can contain halides, water, organics, and unreacted salts from their synthesis [60]. The presence of impurities could explain differences in performance between identical ILs from different manufacturers [67]. The presence of residual chloride salts can dramatically increase the viscosity of the IL and decrease its density. ¹H NMR studies suggested that the viscosity increase may be due to the increase in hydrogen bonding between the chloride anion and the protons of the imidazolium cation [68]. Halides in a few ILs, such as 1-butyl-3-methylimidazolium tetrafluoroborate ([BMIM][BF₄]), can be removed by water washing, but the water excess would have to be removed under vacuum or by distillation [60].

Impurities, such as methyl imidazole (source of imidazolium-based ILs), can affect the pH of the solution and reduce ion concentrations [69]. The mixture of water with commercially available [EMIM][Cl] (equal weight) has a pH around 7, whereas the mixture of purified [EMIM][Cl] and water (equal weight) has a pH of 5.12. The addition of methyl imidazole to the purified IL brought the pH back to around 7. The lower pH obtained with the purified was attributed to the enhanced water dissociation and the resulting higher ion concentrations. Ab initio simulations predicted enhanced water dissociation at a high ionic strength (high
IL content) or at a high dielectric constant (high water content). The ions from the enhanced water dissociation in purified ILs could effectively catalyze the conversion of cellulose to sugars without the addition of acid catalysts [69].

4.3 Mechanism of Delignification and Cellulose Dissolution

4.3.1 Analytical Techniques

Advances in a variety of analytical techniques have provided valuable insight into the mechanisms involved in delignification and cellulose dissolution. Optical and fluorescence microscopy enabled the study of wood expansion (Fig. 4.2) [70, 71] and switchgrass dissolution [42] in ionic liquids at the micron scale. Distinct autofluorescence from cellulose and lignin signatures distinguish the cellulose-rich cell walls and the lignin-rich cell corners and middle lamellae in poplar and switchgrass [42, 70, 71]. Optical and scanning electron microscopies have been particularly useful in visualizing IL interacting with heterogeneous native biomass. They revealed structural changes after dissolution, regeneration, and chemical functionalization [22, 30, 36, 38, 41, 42, 44, 72].

X-ray diffraction provided an insight into structural changes occurring at the atomic scale in cellulose during its dissolution and regeneration [7, 36, 38, 71, 73]. It was used to monitor in situ the loss of cellulose crystallinity in poplar, ramie fibers [71], switchgrass, eucalyptus, and pine wood [73]. After the regeneration of dissolved pine and spruce sawdust, X-ray diffraction revealed a change of crystal structure from the native cellulose I to the cellulose II structure [7, 36]. Neutron scattering was used to estimate the surface roughness of switchgrass, eucalyptus, and pine after their IL pretreatment [73].

These structural changes were supplemented by analyses of the biomass chemical composition. The distinct Raman signatures of cellulose and lignin have made hyperspectral Raman imaging a powerful tool to map the chemical composition of native biomass [74] and its evolution during pretreatments [70, 71]. IR spectroscopy was commonly used to assess purity [4, 39, 42], loss of hemicelluloses/lignin after the dissolution [36, 42], chemical functionalization [6, 7, 30, 48], cleavage of β –O–4 bonds in lignin models [75, 76]. It can also probe the interactions between the anion and cation in the IL and the hydrogen bonding network [77]. FTIR spectroscopy combined with principal component analysis was used to distinguish lignins from bagasse, softwoods, and hardwoods [78]. Efforts were made to use IR spectroscopy as a method to quantify glucose and cellobiose in [EMIM][OAc]. The IR absorption of multiple bands in glucose and cellobiose was found to vary with concentration and empirical nonlinear relations between the absorbance and the concentration were derived [79].

Optical absorption spectroscopy offers a quick way to quantify the saccharification of purified substrates, such as Avicel, and native biomass.

Fig. 4.2 Autofluorescence images of poplar wood cells a before [EMIM][OAc] pretreatment, b 15 min into the pretreatment, c after 3 h pretreatment, and d 20 min after rinsing with deionized water. All images were collected in the same conditions. The brightness was increased for image d for clarity. Reprinted with permission from [70]. Copyright 2011 American Chemical Society



The 2,4-dinitrosalicyclic reagent acid assay has been widely used to quantify reducing sugars, including glucose [26, 41, 44, 45, 80]. However, on native substrates (municipal solid waste, paper mill wastes, or agricultural wastes), the method suffers from the interference from other chemicals and impurities [78, 81]. Due to the variety and heterogeneity of native biomass, it has also been difficult to find adequate standards to establish Beer–Lambert relations between the absorbance and the sugar concentration, particularly for lignin which has different ratio of syringyl and guaiacyl units [78]. ILs, such as [BMIM][Cl], also absorb strongly in the UV range. Optical absorption analyses are also complicated by chemical alterations of the biomass during pretreatments [78].

Analytical techniques, such as mass spectrometry [44, 69], HPLC [26, 43, 44, 46], high-performance anion-exchange chromatography (HPAEC) [41, 45, 50], have been used to identify hydrolysis products. HPLC and HPAEC can quantitate the amount of reducing sugars produced during cellulose hydrolysis. Size exclusion chromatography was used to determine the molecular weight distribution of milled woods and their dissolution products in ILs [33].

Another widely used analytical technique is NMR. The variety of isotopes available (¹H, ¹³C, ³¹P, ^{35/37}Cl) has made NMR spectroscopy a versatile method to characterize chemical functionalization [7, 30, 82], assess purity of products [32], identify/quantify hydrolysis/dissolution products [3, 4, 31, 32, 36], study the structure of milled native biomass (poplar, switchgrass) [29] and lignin [83], and study hydrogen bonding in cellulose dissolution [84, 85].

The combination of all these techniques has provided a wealth of information at multiple length scales about the chemical composition and structure of the pretreated biomass. Quantitation of reaction products allowed for the optimization of reaction conditions, such as temperature and IL composition, and revealed the critical factors affecting the delignification and hydrolysis of cellulose.

4.3.2 Purified Cellulose Substrates and Lignin Models

Due to the complexity and variability of native biomass, early studies on possible mechanisms have focused on purified cellulose/lignin substrates [3, 14, 28, 67, 86, 87], oligomers of glucose and lignin models [26, 28, 75, 76]. Indeed, biomass is a complex heterogeneous substrate constituted of cellulose, hemicellulose, and lignin at varying ratios depending on the biomass feedstock. Cellulose can have several different crystalline structures [71]. Lignin is a branched polymer composed of different types of aryl–ether units and bonds that ionic liquids can cleave (aryl–ethers and aryl–alkyl linkages) [75]. The composition of lignin can affect its structure. Hardwood lignins have usually a higher ratio of syringyl/guaicyl units, giving them a more linear structure. In contrast, softwoods contain mostly guaiacyl phenolic units, giving them a branched structure [32].

The dissolution of Avicel cellulose was studied in different 1-alkyl-3-methylimidazolium chloride ILs prepared with alkyl chains of various lengths (2–10 atoms). It was found that Avicel cellulose was more soluble with alkyl chains with an even number of carbon atoms [61]. The depolymerization of cellulose was studied also in [BMIM][Cl] using an acid resin as a catalyst [88, 89]. It was proposed that the hydrolysis of cellulose is initiated with the protonation of the oxygen atom in the glycosidic bond. The glycosidic bond then breaks to form a cyclic carbocation, followed by a nucleophilic attack of water to add a hydroxyl group [89].

The cleavage of a particular type of linkage was studied on specifically designed lignin models with the desired linkage. For example, the IL 1-H-3-methylimidazolium chloride was effective in the cleavage of the β -O-4 bond in guaiacylglycerol- β -guaiacyl ether and veratrylglycerol- β -guaiacyl ether [75]. The cleavage of the same lignin models in [BMIM][Cl] required the presence of metal chloride catalysts, such as FeCl₃, CuCl₂, and AlCl₃ [76]. The reactivity of 2-methoxy-4-(2-propenyl)phenol (similar to guaiacyl unit), 4-ethyl-2-methoxy-phenol (alkyl substitution), and 2-phenylethyl phenyl ether (with β -aryl ethers linkage) was studied in 1-ethyl-3-methylimidazolium triflate and [EMIM][Cl] with metal chlorides and acid catalysts [28].

Another study focused on the dissolution of pine kraft lignin. It was found soluble at temperatures above 50°C in 1,3-dimethylimidazolium methylsulfate ([MMIM][MeSO₄]), 1-hexyl-3-methylimidazolium trifluoromethanesulfonate ([HMIM][CF₃SO₃]), [BMIM][MeSO₄]. However, it was insoluble in 1-butyl-3-methylimidazolium hexafluorophosphate ([BMIM][PF₆]) even at 120°C. The

anion in imidazolium-based ILs affected the solubility dramatically: the methylsulfate anion was more effective than the chloride and bromide anions at dissolving lignin [3].

4.3.3 Swelling

Numerous ILs cause the swelling of native biomass, which was seen as a good indicator of biomass solubility. Swelling occurs even at room temperature in poplar exposed to [EMIM][OAc]. The cross-sectional area of poplar cell walls expanded by 60 to 100% in 3 h in [EMIM][OAc]. After rinsing with deionized water, the wood structure contracted almost immediately [70, 71]. Significant swelling was also observed in *Miscanthus* switchgrass heated at 100°C in [EMIM][Cl] for 20 h [26]. The magnitude of wood swelling depended on the IL used in the pretreatment.

The swelling of pine (*Pinus radiata*) sapwood chips (dimensions $10 \times 10 \times 5 \text{ mm}^3$) was studied in ILs consisting of the [BMIM] cation and several different anions. Little swelling was observed in 1-butyl-3-methylimidazolium trifluoromethanesulfonate ([BMIM][CF₃SO₃]) even at 120°C. The ILs 1-butyl-3-methylimidazolium dicyanamide ([BMIM][N(CN)₂]) and [BMIM] [MeSO₄] led to a swelling along the tangential direction (tangent to tree rings) of about 8%, which is larger than with just water (5%). The most dramatic swelling was observed in the tangential direction with [BMIM][Me₂PO₄] and [BMIM] [OAc] and the magnitude was temperature-dependent, from 15% at 90°C to 20% at 120°C [37]. Little expansion was observed in pine chips along the radial direction. [BMIM][N(CN)₂] and [BMIM][MeSO₄] caused the expansion along the axial direction, while 1-butyl-3-methylimidazolium dimethylphosphate ([BMIM][Me₂PO₄]) and [BMIM][OAc] caused the reduction in the axial direction, most likely due to partial dissolution. The different swelling rates among ILs were attributed to the temperature-dependent viscosity [37].

However, swelling induced by the IL does not necessarily mean that the IL is a good solvent for cellulose and biomass. The swelling and dissolution of pine wood pulp fibers were studied in [BMIM][Cl], 1-allyl-3-methylimidazolium bromide ([AMIM][Br]), and butenylmethylimidazolium bromide. While the fibers swelled and dissolved in [BMIM][Cl], they swelled homogeneously in [AMIM][Br] and butenylmethylimidazolium bromide without dissolution. Both ILs penetrated the fibers quickly but did not disrupt the hydrogen bonding [90].

4.3.4 Regeneration and Reduction of Cellulose Crystallinity

Cellulose can be regenerated from the IL/biomass solution with an anti-solvent, such as acetone, water, dichloromethane, or acetonitrile, in excess [4, 7, 36].

Lignin and the IL can be washed away with NaOH [48]. Lignin can be precipitated with HCl [48] or H_2SO_4 [27]. Cellulose and lignin can also be extracted separately: cellulose was precipitated with ethanol and lignin with water after dissolution of wheat straw and pine wood with [EMIM][Cl] [47]. After regeneration, cellulose usually becomes amorphous or changes into its cellulose II structure [7, 36].

Changes in crystallinity have been characterized in purified cellulose substrates and native biomass by X-ray diffraction [8, 10, 25, 38, 71, 91]. The intensity of the (002), (110), and (1–10) reflections from cellulose usually decrease in intensity after the IL pretreatment and regeneration, indicating a loss in crystallinity [2, 14, 17, 67, 78, 149]. This was the case for cellulose in maple flour dissolved in [BMIM][OAc] and [EMIM][OAc] [38], and in spruce sawdust dissolved in [AMIM][Cl] [7]. The lower crystallinity led to improved access for hydrolytic enzymes and an improved glucose yield after hydrolysis [7].

However, it is possible for cellulose to retain its native cellulose I structure. Upon application of [EMIM][OAc] on poplar microtome section, the (002), (110), and (1-10) reflections of cellulose I disappeared and the diffraction pattern was dominated by a diffuse ring from the [EMIM][OAc]. When the pretreated sample was exposed to water, the IL was expelled from the wood and the diffraction pattern of cellulose was gradually recovered (Fig. 4.3). This recovery of cellulose I is in contrast to studies on biomass dissolution at high temperatures, where the regenerated cellulose is either amorphous or in the cellulose II phase. This is explained by the partial solubilization of cellulose microfibrils. Those microfibrils that retained their cellulose I structure acted as nucleation sites for cellulose I recrystallization after expulsion of [EMIM][OAc] [71].

4.3.5 Hydrogen Bonding

The dissolution of cellulose was usually attributed to the ability of the IL to disrupt the hydrogen-bond network in cellulose by forming hydrogen bonds with cellulose. For example, in [AMIM][Cl], the chloride anion is a hydrogen-bond acceptor, while the proton at the 2-position of the imidazolium ring is a hydrogenbond donor [32]. NMR studies of [BMIM][C1] showed that the chloride anion has an active role in the solubility of cellulose through hydrogen bonding with the hydroxyl groups of cellulose [84]. Density-functional theory calculations showed that the anions in imidazolium-based ILs tended to form hydrogen bonds with the O2 and O3 hydroxyl groups of cellulose. The strength of the hydrogen bonds increased for the following anions in the order: hexafluorophosphate < tetrafluoroborate < alkyl phosphate < acetate. The trend matched the one observed in the dissolution of cellulose in the corresponding imidazolium-based ILs, where cellulose solubility was highest with the acetate anion [25, 92]. The strong hydrogen bonding ability of ILs means that they can disrupt the hydrogen bonding network in lignocellulosic biomass by displacing the lignocellulose components to form stronger hydrogen bonds [34].



Molecular dynamics simulations were conducted to study the interaction between [EMIM][OAc] with glucose oligomers (5–20 units). The total interaction energy between [EMIM][OAc] with cellulose (around –75 kcal/mol) was larger than the one between water and cellulose (around –50 kcal/mol) and the one between methanol and cellulose (around –45 kcal/mol). The difference between [EMIM][OAc] and water/methanol became larger with the cellulose chain length [49]. The acetate anion is also a hydrogen-bond acceptor, with the potential to form hydrogen bonds with the three hydroxyl groups of each unit of cellulose. The strength of these hydrogen bonds (14 kcal/mol) was estimated to be three times higher than the hydrogen bonds in water (5 kcal/mol) and methanol (4 kcal/mol). The simulations showed that the imidazolium cation interacts strongly with the glucose ring structure via van der Waals forces. Also, the interactions between [EMIM][OAc] and cellulose led to conformation changes in the cellulose chains, which can explain the loss in crystallinity and structural changes in regenerated cellulose [49]. The hydrogen bonding ability of ILs was probed by IR spectroscopy. ILs were prepared with the same anion $[Tf_2N]^-$ and different cations with increasing hydrogen bonding ability: 1,2,3-trimethylimidazolium, 1,3-dimethylimidazolium, 1,2-dimethylimidazolium, and 1-methylimidazolium. The increasing strength of hydrogen bonds was indicated by a shift of the IR absorption band below 150 cm⁻¹ toward higher wave numbers. This band shifted from 62 cm⁻¹ for the 1,2,3-trimethylimidazolium cation to 101 cm⁻¹ for the 1-methylimidazolium cation. There was a linear relationship between the measured peak position and the average interaction energies in IL clusters from ab initio calculations. Ab initio calculations also showed that the interaction energy is minimal for the 1,2,3,4,5pentamethylimidazolium cation where all protons were substituted by methyl groups and the hydrogen bonding ability was reduced [77].

Formation of hydrogen bonding between [EMIM][OAc] and cellobiose was also studied by ¹H NMR. A broadening of the OH resonances was observed as the molar ratio between [EMIM][OAc] and cellobiose was increased, which was explained by the interaction between the O atoms in the hydroxyl groups and the protons of the imidazolium ring. The accompanying downshift of the OH resonances was attributed to the hydrogen bonding between the acetate anion and the hydrogen atoms in the cellulose hydroxyl groups. NMR spectra of [EMIM][OAc] with increasing cellobiose concentration indicated that the strongest hydrogen bonding between the imidazolium cation and cellobiose involves the proton at the 2-position of the imidazolium ring. The next strongest hydrogen bonds involve the protons at the 4- and 5-position, which are much weaker hydrogen-bond donors [84]. When all the hydroxyl groups in cellobiose were acetylated, the NMR spectra of the [EMIM][OAc]/cellobiose octaacetate remained unchanged as the IL concentration increased. This showed that hydrogen bonding between cellobiose and the IL cation/anion is the main reason cellobiose dissolves in [EMIM][OAc]. In order to dissolve cellulose effectively, it was proposed that the IL must have an anion that is a good hydrogen acceptor, and a cation that is a moderate hydrogen-bond donor and not too large [84].

4.3.6 Empirical Solvent Polarity Scales

There have been attempts to describe the variety of solvation interactions, in which ILs are involved (for example: hydrogen bonding, dispersive, dipolar, ionic), by a set of empirical parameters that could be used to predict reaction products, yields, kinetics, and solubility [37, 38, 93–105]. The empirical parameters are determined by mixing the IL with a dye or a probe molecule. The interactions of the IL with the dye/ probe are then characterized by absorption spectroscopy [37, 38, 87, 97–101] or gas chromatography [93, 94, 96].

The set of solvent polarity parameters developed by Kamlet and Taft [102–105] has been widely used to predict cellulose and biomass solubility in IL [25, 37, 38, 87, 106–108]. The three parameters α , β , and π^* characterize the IL hydrogenbond acidity (ability to donate hydrogen bonds), hydrogen-bond basicity (ability to accept), and polarity, respectively [102–104]. They are measured by absorption spectroscopy with mixtures of IL with three different solvatochromic dyes: (2,6-dichloro-4-(2,4,6-triphenyl-1-pyridinio)phenolate, 4-nitroaniline, and *N*,*N*-diethyl-4-nitroaniline [37, 87, 107].

The parameter α depends mostly on the IL cation. All three protons in the imidazolium cation can form hydrogen bonds, giving the cation α values between 0.45 and 0.63 [37, 49, 107]. Ammonium cations can have higher α values than the imidazolium cation (1.10) [107]. As for the parameter β , it depends mainly on the anion. The parameter β was measured for a series of ILs with the [BMIM] cation: it was highest for the acetate anion (1.20) [37], followed by the anions dimethylphosphate (1.12) [37], chloride (0.83) [37], dicyanamide (0.60) [37], trifluoromethanesulfonate (0.48) [37], tetrafluoroborate (0.38) [101], hexafluorophosphate (0.21) [101], and hexafluoroantimonate (0.15) [107].

In general, ILs with high hydrogen-bond basicity were best suited for cellulose dissolution. They usually have an anion with high basicity, such as chloride, acetate, formate, and diethylphosphate [25, 37, 38, 106, 108]. ILs with bromide, biscyanamide or thiocyanate anions have lower hydrogen-bond basicity. Cellulose swells in these ILs but are only partially dissolved [37, 106]. ILs with tetrafluoroborate, hexafluorophosphate, and trifluoromethanesulfonate anions are generally poor solvents for cellulose [37, 96, 106]. It was confirmed that cellulose is soluble in [BMIM][Cl], but not in [BMIM][BF₄] and [BMIM][PF₆], which can be explained by the much larger hydrogen-bond basicity of [BMIM][Cl] [96].

The predictions made from Kamlet-Taft parameters on biomass pretreatment efficiency were tested on maple wood flour (5 wt%) with the IL/wood mixture heated at 90°C. Two ILs, [BMIM][OAc] ($\beta = 1.18$) and [BMIM][MeSO₄] ($\beta = 0.60$), were included in the study. The parameter β was tuned in the range 0.60–1.18 by the addition of water and the preparation of [BMIM][OAc]/[BMIM][MeSO₄] mixtures. Upon addition of 10 wt% water, β for [BMIM][OAc] decreased from 1.18 to 0.98, while for [BMIM][MeSO₄], it only decreased from 0.60 to 0.57. After IL pretreatment and enzymatic hydrolysis, the glucose yield, xylose yield, crystallinity, and lignin extracted from wood was measured as a function of the IL parameter β . The yield of glucose and xylose released linearly with β . The lignin extraction efficiency and crystallinity of the pretreated wood were stable for $\beta < 0.84$. For $\beta > 0.84$, the lignin extraction efficiency increased with β and the crystallinity decreased dramatically with β [38].

4.4 Compatibility with Cellulases

4.4.1 General Toxicity of Ionic Liquids

There is a general scarcity of toxicology data and studies on ILs [109]. Tests were developed to measure the toxicity on unicellular and multicellular organisms. A measure of toxicity is the concentration (EC_{50}) of the IL that induces a 50% decrease of the organism viability. These tests are, however, expensive and time-consuming, severely restricting the number of ILs/organisms that can be tested. Effective screening is necessary to focus resources on a limited number of IL structures. Also, the IL interactions with the organisms or culture medium are not fully understood, which potentially affects the interpretation of the results. The IL may change the chemical composition of the culture medium, its pH, and cause interferences with widely used spectrophotometric methods [110].

The survival rate or microorganisms, invertebrates and human cell lines was assessed as a function of the ionic liquid concentration [60, 111–114]. The toxicity from 1-alkyl-3-methyl-imidazolium ILs was found to increase as the length of the alkyl chain increased [60, 115]. The IL cation mostly determines the toxicity of the IL. Only minimal effect from the anion was observed [60, 113, 115]. The toxicity of ILs was also assessed on *Clostridium* sp., a bacterium capable to ferment sugars. No growth was observed above concentrations of 58 mM in [EMIM][OAc], 56 mM in [EMIM][DEP], and 54 mM in [MMIM][DMP]. But at low concentration below 15 mM, [EMIM][OAc] stimulated the growth and glucose fermentation by pH modulation in the culture medium [116].

It should be pointed out that IL toxicity can also come from the formation of by-products from the acid hydrolysis of biomass, such as furfurals, which are known to reduce cell viability and inhibits fermentation [117].

4.4.2 Deactivation of Cellulases in ILs

Cellulose hydrolysis is the result of the synergistic action of three different types of cellulases: endoglucanases that cleave β -1,4-glycosidic bonds on cellulose chains, cellobiohydrolases that convert long cellulose chains into cellobiose, and β -glucosidases that convert cellobiose into glucose [118, 119]. The mechanisms underlying cellulase activity on a heterogeneous substrate, such as lignocellulosic biomass, is still under investigation [72, 119]. Multiple models have been developed to understand the multiple steps involved in cellulose hydrolysis: adsorption of cellulases on the substrate, formation of the enzyme–substrate complex, location and hydrolysis of β -glycosidic bonds, desorption of the enzyme, synergy between endoglucanases, cellobiohydrolases, and β -glucosidases [119].

Once biomass is regenerated from its IL solution, it can still contain traces of IL that can reduce cellulase activity [72]. Several studies have focused on the stability

of commercial cellulases in various ILs and their saccharification yields on purified cellulose substrates and native biomass. Celluclast 1.5L (cellulases from Trichoderma reesei) and Novozyme 188 (β -glucosidase from Aspergillus niger) retained 76 and 63% of their original activity on carboxymethylcellulose after incubation at 50°C for 24 h in 15 and 20% [EMIM][OAc] solutions, respectively [120]. The activity of Celluclast 1.5L was also assessed on α -cellulose in [MMIM][DMP], [AMIM][Cl], [BMIM][Cl], and [EMIM][OAc] at a 10 vol.% concentration. The activity in these ILs was between 70 and 85% lower than the activity in sodium acetate buffer at pH 4.8 [67]. An increase in the IL concentration led to an increase in the IL viscosity by a factor of 4 [67]. The activity of cellulases from Trichoderma reesei on cellulose azure was found to decrease dramatically with low concentrations (22 mM) of [BMIM][Cl] or [BMIM][BF₄] [121]. No saccharification of Avicel cellulose was observed with cellulases from Trichoderma reesei in 60 vol.% [EMIM][DEP] [122]. The activity of cellulases from Aspergillus niger decreased with incubation time in [BMIM][Cl] and [BMIM][Cl] concentration [123]. It is important to note at this point that variations of 20% in cellulase activity were observed between different Celluclast 1.5L lots from the same manufacturer [67].

Despite the partial deactivation of cellulases in ILs, reducing sugar yields were still higher after IL pretreatment with low residual IL concentrations, due to the improved access of enzymes to the cellulose in biomass. For example, the cellulase mixture of Celluclast 1.5L and Novozyme 188 still converted 45% of the cellulose contained in a solution of 0.6% [EMIM][OAc]-pretreated yellow poplar with 15% [EMIM][OAc]. The conversion rate was much higher than for the untreated yellow poplar (11%) [120]. The activity of the same mixture was also assessed on purified cellulose substrates: an Avicel solution in [EMIM][OAc] and untreated Avicel in citrate buffer. After enzymatic hydrolysis for 24 h at 50°C, 91% of the [EMIM][OAc]-pretreated Avicel was converted to glucose, while only 49% of the untreated Avicel was converted [120]. With cellulases from Trichoderma reesei in 20 vol.% [EMIM][DEP], 70% of the cellulose was converted to cellobiose or glucose, a conversion rate that was higher than the untreated Avicel (about 33%). A comparison with [EMIM][OAc] using the same procedure vielded conversion rates that were half of those with the diethylphosphate anion [122].

The stability of another commercial cellulase, GC 220, a mixture of endogluconases and cellobiohydrolases from *Trichoderma reesei* was assessed in eight different ionic liquids. With the exception of tris-(2-hydroxyethyl)methylammonium methylsulfate (HEMA), the fluorescence of the trytophyl marker on the cellulases was quenched in the other ILs that included several imidazolium-based ILs, suggesting denaturation of the enzymes. The cellulase activity was measured spectroscopically in a citrate buffer (pH 4.8) and in the eight ILs using cellulose azure as the substrate. Cellulase activity was detected only in the ILs 1-methylimidazolium chloride ([MIM][Cl]) and HEMA, but it was significantly lower than in the buffer. The cellulases remained active even after 2 h in these two ILs at 65°C [124]. The tolerance of cellulases produced by *Penicillium janthinellum* to ionic liquids was tested by incubating the extracted enzymes in an aqueous solution of [BMIM][Cl] of concentration ranging from 10 to 50%, and then measuring their residual activity on different substrates (filter paper Whatman no. 1, carboxymethylcellulose, xylan solution or *p*-nitro phenyl β -D-glucopyranoside). After incubation in 10% ionic liquid for 5 h, the cellulases retained at least 80% of their activity on all substrates. At a higher concentration of 50%, the residual activity decreased significantly to reach below 20% for all substrates [125].

The tolerance of cellulase-producing bacteria from termites to [BMIM][Cl] was studied by characterizing their growth in [BMIM][Cl] at concentrations ranging from 0.1 to 10 vol.%. The three bacteria that were the most effective at cellulase production could tolerate [BMIM][Cl] at concentrations smaller than 1.0 vol.%. No growth was observed for concentrations larger than 5 vol.%. For two of the bacteria, the growth rates were unchanged for concentrations smaller than 1.0 vol.%. [118].

Cellulases are deactivated in ILs through multiple mechanisms. Stability and unfolding of the cellulases were studied by differential scanning calorimetry. Thermal unfolding was irreversible in the citrate buffer with a broad transition peak between 60 and 75°C. The ILs [MIM][Cl] and HEMA improved the stability of the cellulases with the shift of the transition temperatures above 75°C. The low activity in HEMA compared to the buffer was attributed to the high viscosity of HEMA [124]. Cellulase activity also decreased when the viscosity of the enzyme solution without IL was increased with polyethylene glycol [67].

Deactivation was attributed to the dehydrating environment introduced with [BMIM][Cl] that causes the denaturation of the enzyme. This conclusion was supported by fluorescence spectra of the cellulase in [BMIM][Cl] and various denaturants, such as the surfactant sodium dodecylsulfate and urea [121]. Cellulase deactivation in [BMIM][Cl] was similar to the deactivation in NaCl solutions at high concentrations above 0.35 M, suggesting that interactions between the enzymes and the IL charged species also play a role in the denaturation of the enzymes [67, 121]. Enzyme activity can be recovered when the IL was diluted with buffer solution [67].

4.4.3 Temperature and pH Dependence of Cellulase Activity

Cellulases operate optimally at a specific temperature, and the introduction of IL can shift the optimal temperature. One of the cellulase identified by metagenomics exhibited an optimum activity at 55°C in McIllvaine buffer (0.2 M Na₂HPO₄ with 0.1 M citric acid, pH 6.5). In 1-ethyl-3-methylimidazolium trifluoroacetate ([EMIM][TfAc]) and 1-butyl-1-methylpyrrolidinium trifluoromethanesulfonate ([BMPy][CF₃SO₃]), the optimum temperature shifted to 37 and 20°C, respectively [126].

Increasing the temperature from 50 to $60-70^{\circ}$ C can also accelerate the deactivation of cellulases from *T. reesei* in [EMIM][OAc] [91]. The stability of mixtures of Celluclast 1.5 1 and Novozyme 188 was tested in the presence of [EMIM][OAc] at concentrations ranging from 5 to 30% (volume/volume) in citrate buffer (pH 4.8) with poplar and Avicel [120]. When the hydrolysis was conducted at 4°C for a [EMIM][OAc] concentration of 30%, the activity of the cellulase mixture after 24 h remained above 70% of the activity without [EMIM][OAc]. At 50°C, the drop in cellulase activity dropped further to 31% of the control activity after 24 h in a 30% [EMIM][OAc] solution [120].

Enzyme activity is also pH-dependent [126, 127]. Celluclast 1.5 l hydrolyzes cellulose at an optimum pH between 4.5 and 5. No cellulase activity was observed for pH values below 2 or above 8 [127]. Three cellulases identified with metagenomic libraries have optimal pH values of 5, 7, and 7.5 [126]. The oxidation of o-phenylenediamine by lignin peroxidase was most effective at pH 3.2 [128]. A deviation from the optimal pH induced by the introduction of ILs can cause the deactivation of cellulases. The pH of the wood/IL mixture is affected not only by the IL concentration but also IL composition and structure [129]. Increasing the concentration of 1,3-dimethylimidazolium dimethylphosphate [MMIM][DMP] from 0 to 0.5 vol.% in the enzyme solution led to an increase of the pH from 4.8 (optimum for hydrolysis) to 6.5 [67]. Mixtures of water with ILs based on an imidazolium cation and a BF₄⁻ anion have a pH that increases with the length of the alkyl chain on the cation. The addition of hydroxyl groups increases the acidity of the IL [129]. The pH can also vary during the biomass reaction with the IL. Measurements in wheat straw and pine wood solution in [EMIM][Cl], [BMIM][Cl], and [EMIM][OAc] showed a drop in pH over time. A HPLC analysis showed the formation and the accumulation of acetic acid, which comes from the hydrolysis of acetate groups in the biomass [47].

4.4.4 Effect of High Pressure

The activity of commercial cellulases extracted from *Trichoderma viride* and *Aspergillus niger* on carboxymethylcellulose and Avicel generally increased at high pressure up to 500 MPa (above atmospheric pressure) [130]. The activity of cellulases from *Aspergillus niger* was assessed on carboxymethylcellulose in 10% [BMIM][Cl] at 30°C at hydrostatic pressures up to 675 MPa (above atmospheric pressure). The activity increased by 70% at a pressure of 100 MPa, compared to the activity at atmospheric pressure; then decreased for pressures above 200 MPa. The activity at 600 MPa was comparable to the one at atmospheric pressure. Although the cellulases lost 50% of their activity in 10% [BMIM][Cl] at 300 MPa is about 85% of the one in acetate buffer at atmospheric pressure. This result suggests that high pressure can limit the de-activation of cellulase in ILs [123].

4.4.5 Identification of Cellulases Resistant to Ionic Liquids

Traces of ILs can be significantly reduced with multiple washing with water. However, in order to reduce water use, the extraction or development of cellulases capable to hydrolyze biomass at high IL loading (>5 vol.%) is necessary [72]. An intense effort is underway to find compatible combinations of cellulases and ILs. A few cellulases were found to tolerate high concentrations of ILs. Endogluconases isolated from thermophilic organisms *Thermatoga maritima* and *Pyrococcus horikoshii* retained 50 and 95% of their activities on carboxymethylcellulose after incubation in 15 vol.% [EMIM][OAc] for 30 min at 80°C, respectively. In contrast, commercial cellulases from *Trichoderma viride* were de-activated in 10 vol.% [EMIM][OAc] at 37°C. The activity of cellulases from *Thermatoga maritima* and *Pyrococcus horikoshii* only decreased by 34% and 11% on IL-pretreated corn stovers in 15 vol.% [EMIM][OAc] for 14 h at 80°C, compared to the hydrolysis without IL. The sugar yields were much higher than in the untreated corn stovers. The unfolding temperature of the cellulases, measured by differential scanning calorimetry, decreased with increasing [EMIM][OAc] concentration [131].

High-throughput techniques are necessary to screen the wide variety of IL/cellulase combinations. The activity of Celluclast 1.5L was assessed on numerous cellulose substrates with varying crystallinity in different buffers and at various pH using 96-well plates [127]. In a similar high-throughput approach, IL/biomass solutions were pipetted into wells in a 96-well plate filled with the anti-solvent to be regenerated before addition of the enzyme cocktail. This avoids the handling of solid regenerated biomass, which is difficult to pipette [72]. The amount of reducing sugars can then be assessed spectroscopically with the dinitrosalicylic acid reagent [80]. This high-throughput technique can not only identify quickly the cellulases capable to tolerate ILs, but also assess the effect of pH and substrate concentration [127].

Cellulases resistant to IL were identified using metagenomics, where microbial DNA was extracted from organisms found in a natural environment and then cloned in a host bacterium (for example, *Escherichia coli*) [126, 132–134]. Using metagenomics, 24 cellulase clones were identified and their activity was tested in six different ILs on carboxymethylcellulose at 37°C for 30 min. One of the isolated enzymes retained about 40% of its cellulase activity in 30 vol.% of 1-ethyl-3-methylimidazolium trifluoromethanesulfonate ([EMIM][CF₃SO₃]), [EMIM] [TfAc], and [BMPy][CF₃SO₃]. However, no activity was observed on Avicel cellulose. Longer incubation of the cellulases in 60 vol.% any IL for 17 h deactivated the cellulases [126].

4.4.6 Designing New Ionic Liquids Suitable for Cellulose Dissolution and Cellulase Activity

The origin of enzyme deactivation in ILs was studied by comparing enzyme activity in different ILs. The effect of IL chemical composition, structure, and

functionalization were studied to design new ionic liquids suitable for cellulose dissolution and cellulase activity. It was found that ionic liquids with a higher molecular weight would maintain enzyme (lipase) activity at a high level. Adding a longer alkyl chain on the imidazolium cation would accomplish that, but this would lead to a higher viscosity, which has a negative effect on cellulose dissolution. To reduce the viscosity, the long alkyl chain was substituted by oxygenated chains, such as poly(ethylene glycol) and poly(propylene glycol). A long oxygenated chain reduced the cellulose solubility, so an optimum chain length was determined to maintain both the cellulase activity and cellulose solubility high. The imidazolium cation with the best overall performance was derived from triethylene glycol monomethyl ether. The oxygen atoms introduced are believed to form hydrogen bonds with cellulose, facilitating its dissolution. Adding a longer alkyl or oxygenated chain on the other side of the imidazolium cation led to a significant decrease in cellulose solubility, which was attributed to the reduction of hydrogen bonding with cellulose due to steric hindrance. The acetate anion led to higher cellulase activity and cellulose solubility than the chloride anion [135].

4.4.7 Stabilization of Cellulases in Microemulsions and by Immobilization

In addition to the development of new IL-resistant enzymes, a variety of methods have been developed to stabilize enzymes in ILs [136]. Most of them have been applied to cellulases. One of these methods is the preparation of microemulsions with ILs that can reduce the dehydration effect of ILs on enzymes. To reduce toxicity and deactivation, microemulsions of water in [BMIM][PF₆] were stabilized using the surfactant Triton X-100. Lignin peroxidases from *Phanerochaete chrysosporium* and laccases from *Trametes versicolor* could oxidize 2,6-dimethoxyphenol and *o*-phenylenediamine in these microemulsions. The highest activities for lignin peroxidases and laccases were 13 and 33 μ mol/l/min, respectively. In contrast, the same enzymes had negligible catalytic activity in pure or water-saturated [BMIM][PF₆] [128].

Another approach to stabilize cellulases is their immobilization on a substrate. For example, immobilization on a poly(ethylene glycol) substrate increased activity of cellulases from *Trichoderma reesei* in 0.05 M citrate buffer and [BMIM][Cl], compared to the free enzyme [121]. Cellulase from *Trichoderma reesei* immobilized on 150 μ m particles suffered no inhibition in 20 vol.% of [MMIM][DMP], *N*,*N*-dimethylethanolammonium lactate, and *N*,*N*-dimethylethanolammonium acetate. In contrast, reducing sugar yields decreased in 20 vol.% of [MMIM][MeSO₄], [BMIM][Cl], [BMIM][PF₆], and [BMPy][Cl], by 36, 28, 37, and 34%, respectively [44].

bis(trifluoromethylsulfonyl)imide ([N1114][Tf₂N]). The activity of these coated cellulases were assessed as a function incubation time in [BMIM][Cl] and in [N1114][Tf₂N]/[BMIM][Cl] mixtures at different molar ratios. The hydrophobic IL coating slowed the deactivation effect from [BMIM][Cl]. It was believed that the hygroscopicity of water-immiscible ILs can keep the enzymes hydrated and prevent their unfolding. The polymeric support may act as a water reservoir to preserve the cellulase activity. The cellulase activity decreased with increasing [N1114][Tf₂N] concentration, most likely due to the restricted access of cellulose to the coated enzyme [137].

4.5 Recycling

4.5.1 How Green are ILs?

Complete life cycle assessments of ILs have been attempted to estimate the cumulative energy demand (for synthesis and disposal), the environmental impact and the economic viability (cost of chemicals, energy, disposal, personnel, equipment, and processing). Due to the complexity of the IL life cycle and the limited data available, life cycle assessments have remained a challenge. Previous attempts have instead focused on the optimization of single steps in the IL life cycle, such as the supply of materials and the IL synthesis [138, 139]. It was found that the IL synthesis is expensive [21], and requires large quantities of materials, solvents, energy, and also generates toxic emissions [138]. Therefore, their recycling and biodegradability are crucial not only for their economic viability but also to reduce their environmental impact [138].

4.5.2 Recycling Attempts

After cellullose dissolution in ILs and its regeneration with an anti-solvent, the IL is usually filtered (or centrifuged) and washed with ethanol, acetone, ethyl ether, or water several times to remove by-products of wood degradation. Due to the IL low vapor pressure [60], the excess can be removed with a rotary evaporator, possibly at high temperatures, before the IL reuse [25, 31, 46, 55, 89]. It can also be separated with ethyl ether, then dissolved in acetonitrile/ethyl acetate and frozen for 24 h. The IL is then placed in a vacuum over at 90°C for 8 h before reuse [16].

Using these recycling procedures, the reuse of ILs for the pretreatment of native biomass through multiple cycles was reported. [BAIM][Cl] and [MAIM][Cl] could dissolve *Metasequoia glyptostroboides* wood sawdust without any efficiency loss after five cycles [16]. After five cycles, [EMIM][OAc] only lost 10% of its efficiency to dissolve maple wood flour [25]. The dissolution of rice straw in

[EMIM][OAc] was repeated for 20 cycles with no reported efficiency loss. The cellulose recovery even increased over time due to the accumulation of dissolved cellulose residues that can be recovered in later cycles [46]. ILs, such as $[BMIM][PF_6]$ and $[BMIM][BF_4]$, were successfully recycled through multiple reaction cycles. Their recyclability was attributed mainly to their low solubility in some organic solvents or water. They can thus be extracted with an organic solvent or washed with water [60].

The IL recyclability is limited by the formation and accumulation of byproducts or impurities. The degradation of cellulose was reported in reactions conducted at high temperatures [22, 36] or with acid catalysts [6, 32, 53]. The dehydration of free monosaccharides could lead to the formation of 5-hydroxymethylfurfural and furfural [53]. After the IL use for the dissolution of native biomass, ³¹P NMR spectra revealed signatures from 5-hydroxymethylfurfural, acetol, 2-methoxy-4-methylphenol, catechol, and acetic acid [32]. Even if these by-products can be avoided, the lignin extracted from the biomass accumulated in the recycled ILs with the increasing number of cycles [25, 32]. There was also accumulation of hemicelluloses, which are polar and have good affinity with polar ILs, such as 1-allyl-3-methylimidazolium chloride [32].

Wood naturally contains acid groups that can become free by hydrolysis and generate acids in the IL solution, such as acetic acid (pKa = 4.76) and glucuronic acid (pKa = 3.18) [31]. The generation of strong acids can protonate the acetate anion in [EMIM][OAc], for example, reduce the IL dissolution efficiency and complicate its recovery for reuse [31, 36]. Recycling is further limited by the high viscosity of ILs, which complicates handling and purification steps [36]. Therefore, efficient methods to separate the different dissolved products are necessary for the recycling of ILs [53].

Recycling efficiency depends on the anti-solvent used for the regeneration of wood after dissolution. Using water as the anti-solvent resulted in a higher yield of regenerated wood than using methanol [31]. The glucose yield after enzymatic hydrolysis after four cycles was also higher using water as an anti-solvent. In the case of *E. grandis*, the lower yield with methanol was explained by the larger amount of extractives dissolved in the methanol/IL mixture. However, after four recycling cycles, the recycled IL yield was 96% with methanol as the anti-solvent and 91% with water. At an industrial scale, water is preferable to methanol, since it is cheaper and more benign environmentally [31].

Another possibility is to replace the anti-solvent by an aqueous solution of phosphate, carbonate, or sulfate. The addition of a K_3PO_4 solution to the biomass solution led to the precipitation of the dissolved biomass and the appearance of a biphasic system with an IL-rich phase and a salt-rich phase. The extracted IL can then be dried and reused [43]. Phenylboronic acid and naphthalene-2-boronic acid were used to extract more glucose, xylose, cellobiose from IL/corn stover solutions after enzymatic hydrolysis in order to improve recyclability [45].

4.5.3 Biodegradability

The potential persistence, accumulation in soils and water and biodegradability of ILs was assessed using standardized methods, such as the closed bottle test or the CO_2 headspace test [60, 111, 114]. Studies on IL biodegradability included the major types of cations: ammonium, imidazolium, phosphonium, and pyridinium ions [111]. The widely used 1-butyl-3-methylimidazolium IL remains stable after 28 days in an aqueous suspension with waste-water microorganisms [60]. It was found that ILs with halogens, branched alkyl chains, pyridine rings, aliphatic ethers are usually more resistant to biodegradable ILs. Current strategies include replacing branched alkyl chains with linear alkyl chains, functionalization to enable enzymatic hydrolysis, and the incorporation of phenyl rings [60].

4.6 Applications

4.6.1 Applications of Purified Cellulose Substrates

Considering their abundance, recyclability, and biodegradability, purified cellulose substrates have a great potential in composite materials for biomedical applications, tissue engineering, and sensing. The dissolution of cellulose in ILs increased their processability to facilitate their mixing with other composite components, chemical functionalization, and their extrusion to form materials with the desired shape.

Materials based on purified cellulose or cellulose composites have been developed in ionic liquids using various techniques [14, 140], including mixing multiple components with dissolved cellulose in ionic liquids [140–146], grafting different monomer units onto cellulose to create copolymers [147, 148], and dissolving cellulose into polymerizable ionic liquids [149]. The development of these composites enhanced the mechanical properties [141–144], thermal stability [141, 148], magnetic properties [143], and solubility in dimethyl sulfoxide and dimethylformamide [147], compared to pure cellulose. Films of carbon nanotubes coated with cellulose served as effective scaffolds for the growth of HeLa cells [145]. The biocompatibility of activated charcoal was significantly enhanced with a heparin-cellulose coating deposited in ionic liquids [146]. The regeneration of cellulose after dissolution in ILs using supercritical CO₂ [148] or liquid nitrogen freeze drying [149] enabled the formation of micro- and nanoporous cellulose foams, that can be used for insulation, catalysis or as scaffolds for tissue engineering.

Cellulose dissolution in ILs also enabled the immobilization of chemical reagents [150, 151], drugs [152], and enzymes on solid substrates [153, 154]. Enzymes immobilized on a solid substrate still served as effective catalysts, while

their stabilization and reuse were improved by immobilization [153, 154]. The immobilization of 1-(2-pyridylazo)-2-naphthol was exploited to detect Zn, Mn and Ni ions at concentrations as low as 10^{-6} mol/l [150]. The immobilization of calix [4] arenes on cellulose was used in nitrogen oxide NO_x sensing [151].

Cellulose derivatives, including acetates, carboxymethylates, benzoylates, sulfonates, phthalates, have been synthesized by the dissolution of cellulose in ILs followed by their chemical functionalization. These derivatives are widely used in coatings, films, membrane separation, textiles, and composites [14, 155–158]. Cellulose was directly converted to 5-hydroxymethylfurfural using CrCl₂, CrCl₃, or RuCl₃ as a catalyst [95, 159, 160], and to hexitols using Ru nanoparticles [161]. The molecule 5-hydroxymethylfurfural is believed to be the building block for a wide variety of commodity chemicals. Its derivatives have potential applications as resins, polymers, herbicides, pharmaceuticals, plasticizers, and solvents. [95].

Hydrogen was successfully produced from glucose and cellulose in ILs using Ru as a catalyst. The use of ${}^{13}C_6$ -glucose in the reaction revealed that glucose decomposed into formic acid, which then decomposed into H₂ and CO₂ [162].

4.6.2 Applications of Native Biomass

The main application of the pretreatment of native biomass remains the production of liquid fuels. However, the valorization of lignin and hemicellulose may enhance the economic viability of IL-based processes through the production of commodity chemicals [106]. Ionic liquids have been used as the solvent for the synthesis of 5-hydroxymethylfurfural. Corn stovers were converted into 5-hydroxymethylfurfural in [EMIM][Cl] using CrCl₂ as a catalyst [163]. Pine wood and rice straw were also used as feedstocks using [BMIM][Cl] under microwave irradiation with CrCl₃ as the catalyst [35]. Acorns, with a high starch content, were successfully converted into 5-hydroxymethylfurfural in 1-octyl-3methylimidazolium chloride, using mixtures of chromium halides (CrCl₂, CrCl₃, CrBr₃, CrF₃) as catalysts [164].

Chemical functionalization of native wood sawdust was performed by dissolution of the biomass in an IL, followed by its reaction at high temperature or room temperature. For example, poplar sawdust reacted with octanoyl chloride, butyryl chloride and lauroyl chloride in [BMIM][Cl] to produce esterified wood [165, 166]. The addition of an acetic anhydride–pyridine mixture to a solution of spruce led to wood acetylation [7]. Milled fir wood was dissolved in [BMIM][Cl] and also reacted with acetic anhydride with pyridine for acetylation [40]. Norway spruce sawdust and thermomechanical pulp reacted with acetyl chloride, benzoyl chloride, acetic anhydride, phenyl isocyanate, and lauroyl chloride after dissolution in [BMIM][Cl] to produce acetylated, benzoylated, lauroylated, and carbanilated wood derivatives. Thermogravimetric analyses and differential scanning calorimetry showed that the thermal properties of spruce were affected with the appearance of a clear glass transition [30, 167]. Fig. 4.4 Scanning electron micrographs of aerogels produced from spruce wood, coagulated in baths containing **a** 10 wt% ethanol and **b** 90 wt% ethanol. Reprinted from [168], copyright (2011), with permission from Elsevier



In another study, spruce thermomechanical pulp reacted with benzoyl chloride and lauroyl chloride in [BMIM][Cl] with pyridine to produce benzoylated and lauroylated spruce. The spruce derivatives were then added to poly(styrene) and poly(propylene) to extrude composite fibers and sheets. Thermogravimetric analyses showed an enhanced thermal stability of the composites compared to the spruce thermomechanical pulp [167]. The modifications of the chemical and thermal properties could improve the processability of wood and increase its compatibility to other polymers for the fabrication of composite materials.

Aerogels from milled spruce wood were prepared by dissolving the wood in [BMIM][Cl] at 130°C for more than 4 h. The hot solution was immersed in an ethanol bath at room temperature. The obtained gel was then transferred into a cell where it is immersed in ethanol and liquid CO_2 at 70 bars for 2–3 h. The mixture was heated above the supercritical temperature when the pressure was released to obtain the dry aerogel. Scanning electron micrographs of the aerogels revealed an



Fig. 4.5 Raman images at different depths after deposition of nanoparticles and rinsing on the untreated wood sample and the sample pretreated with [EMIM][OAc]. The depth $0 \,\mu m$ corresponds to the surface of the sample. Reprinted with permission from [70]. Copyright 2011 American Chemical Society

open pore structure, with pore sizes ranging from 100 nm to 4 μ m depending on the feedstock and the reaction conditions (Fig. 4.4) [168].

Composite fibers derived from native Southern yellow pine, oak, and bagasse were prepared by dissolving them in [EMIM][OAc] at temperature above 175°C for 10–30 min. The solution was spun into fibers by extruding the solution into a water bath. The selection of the feedstock affected the thickness and surface roughness of the resulting fiber. The thickness was higher when the biomass dissolution in IL was incomplete. Fibers made from pine pretreated with NaOH were thinner and their surface was smoother, possibly due to the lower hemicellulose and lignin content. Dissolution of bagasse at higher temperatures (185°C for 10 min) improved the processability and the maximum tensile stress applied to the fibers before breaking. The fibers with the highest tensile stresses at failure had the highest cellulose content and were derived from biomass with the highest cellulose content: bagasse with a 58% cellulose content (wt% of biomass) and oak with 49% cellulose content [169]. Wool keratin fibers, a polymer of amino acids, and cellulose were also dissolved at high temperatures (above 100°C) in [BMIM][Cl] and successfully extruded into composite fibers using methanol as the anti-solvent. The composite fibers were less brittle than the pure regenerated wool keratin fibers [170].

All applications mentioned above required the dissolution of biomass at high temperatures, typically above 100°C. A more economical and less energy-intensive strategy is to exploit the swelling of the biomass upon exposure to IL. Poplar

wood was shown to swell at room temperature when exposed to [EMIM][OAc], with cell walls cross-sectional areas expanding by 60–100% in 3 h. After rinsing with deionized water, the wood structure contracted almost immediately [70, 71]. The rinsing of the swollen biomass with a suspension of nanoparticles allowed for the incorporation of materials inside the wood structure without prior dissolution. As a proof of concept, gold nanoparticles of 100 nm diameter were incorporated into poplar and confocal surface-enhanced Raman microscopy showed that the nanoparticles were up to 4 μ m deep into the cell wall structure (Fig. 4.5). The incorporation of materials/chemicals into natural and paper products have numerous applications in the development of effective biomass pretreatments, isotope tracing, sensing, and imaging [70].

4.7 Conclusions

In the past decade, numerous ILs have been synthesized to improve the pretreatment and dissolution of native biomass. The application of advanced analytical techniques have provided an insight into the mechanisms involved in the biomass dissolution and the improved access of enzymes to cellulose for a more efficient conversion to fermentable sugars. Advances on the development of IL-tolerant cellulases would enable the pretreatment of biomass and the hydrolysis of cellulose in one step, and therefore improve the economic viability of IL pretreatment of biomass. Biomass dissolution in ILs also has potential applications in composites, tissue engineering, chemical functionalization and sensing. Improved extraction processes are still necessary to optimize efficiency and recycle the ILs. Issues, such as corrosion due to ILs, their full environmental impact and disposal, remain unresolved.

Acknowledgments This study was funded by a Laboratory Directed Research and Development grant from Los Alamos National Laboratory (20080001DR).

References

- 1. Huber GW, Iborra S, Corma A (2006) Synthesis of transportation fuels from biomass: chemistry, catalysts, and engineering. Chem Rev 106:4044–4098. doi:10.1021/cr068360d
- Banerjee S, Mudliar S, Sen R, Giri B, Satpute D, Chakrabarti T, Pandey RA (2010) Commercializing lignocellulosic bioethanol: technology bottlenecks and possible remedies. Biofuels Bioprod Biorefin 4:77–93. doi:10.1002/bbb.188
- 3. Pu Y, Jiang N, Ragauskas AJ (2007) Ionic liquid as a green solvent for lignin. J Wood Chem Technol 27:23–33. doi:10.1080/02773810701282330
- Fort DA, Remsing RC, Swatloski RP, Moyna P, Moyna G, Rogers RD (2007) Can ionic liquids dissolve wood? Processing and analysis of lignocellulosic materials with 1-n-butyl-3-methylimidazolium chloride. Green Chem 9:63–69. doi:10.1039/b607614a

- Hendriks ATWM, Zeeman G (2009) Pretreatments to enhance the digestibility of lignocellulosic biomass. Bioresour Technol 100:10–18. doi:10.1016/j.biortech. 2008.05.027
- Li C, Wang Q, Zhao ZK (2008) Acid in ionic liquid: an efficient system for hydrolysis of lignocellulose. Green Chem 10:177–182. doi:10.1039/b711512a
- Kilpeläinen I, Xie H, King A, Granstrom M, Heikkinen S, Argyropoulos DS (2007) Dissolution of wood in ionic liquids. J Agric Food Chem 55:9142–9148. doi:10.1021/ jf071692e
- Dadi AP, Varanasi S, Schall CA (2006) Enhancement of cellulose saccharification kinetics using an ionic liquid pretreatment step. Biotechnol Bioeng 95:904–910. doi:10.1002/ bit.21047
- Swatloski RP, Spear SK, Holbrey JD, Rogers RD (2002) Dissolution of cellose with ionic liquids. J Am Chem Soc 124:4974–4975. doi:10.1021/ja025790m
- Dadi AP, Schall CA, Varanasi S (2007) Mitigation of cellulose recalcitrance to enzymatic hydrolysis by ionic liquid pretreatment. Appl Biochem Biotechnol 136–140:407–422. doi:10.1007/s12010-007-9068-9
- Li C, Zhao ZK (2007) Efficient acid-catalyzed hydrolysis of cellulose in ionic liquid. Adv Synth Catal 349:1847–1850. doi:10.1002/adsc.200700259
- Huddleston JG, Visser AE, Reichert WM, Willauer HD, Broker GA, Rogers RD (2001) Characterization and comparison of hydrophilic and hydrophobic room temperature ionic liquids incorporating the imidazolium cation. Green Chem 3:156–164. doi:10.1039/ b103275p
- Castner EW Jr, Wishart JF (2010) Spotlight on ionic liquids. J Chem Phys 132:120901. doi:10.1063/1.3373178
- Pinkert A, Marsh KN, Pang S, Staiger MP (2009) Ionic liquids and their interaction with cellulose. Chem Rev 109:6712–6728. doi:10.1021/cr9001947
- Castiglione F, Raos G, Appetecchi GB, Montanino M, Passerini S, Moreno M, Famulari A, Mele A (2010) Blending ionic liquids: how physico-chemical properties change. Phys Chem Chem Phys 12:1784–1792. doi:10.1039/b921816e
- Xie H, Shi T (2010) Liquefaction of wood (*Metasequoia glyptostroboides*) in allyl alkyl imidazolium ionic liquids. Wood Sci Technol 44:119–128. doi:10.1007/s00226-009-0273-2
- Lee JW, Shin JY, Chun YS, Jang HB, Song CE, Lee SG (2010) Toward understanding the origin of positive effects of ionic liquids on catalysis: Formation of more reactive catalysts and stabilization of reactive intermediates and transition states in ionic liquids. Acc Chem Res 43:985–994. doi:10.1021/ar9002202
- Welton T (2004) Ionic liquids in catalysis. Coord Chem Rev 248:2459–2477. doi:10.1016/ j.ccr.2004.04.015
- Welton T (1999) Room-temperature ionic liquids: solvents for synthesis and catalysis. Chem Rev 99:2071–2084. doi:10.1021/cr980032t
- Hallett JP, Welton T (2011) Room-temperature ionic liquids: solvents for synthesis and catalysis. Part 2. Chem Rev 111:3508–3576. doi:10.1021/cr1003248
- Joglekar HG, Rahman I, Kulkarni BD (2007) The path ahead for ionic liquids. Chem Eng Technol 30:819–828. doi:10.1002/ceat.200600287
- 22. Tan HT, Lee KT, Mohamed AR (2011) Pretreatment of lignocellulosic palm biomass using a solvent-ionic liquid [BMIM]Cl for glucose recovery: an optimisation study using response surface methodology. Carbohydr Polym 83:1862–1868. doi:10.1016/j.carbpol.2010.10.052
- 23. Studer MH, DeMartini JD, Davis MF, Sykes RW, Davison B, Keller M, Tuskan GA, Wyman CE (2011) Lignin content in natural *Populus* variants affects sugar release. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 108:6300–6305. doi:10.1073/pnas.1009252108
- Ververis C, Georghiou K, Christodoulakis N, Santas P, Santas R (2004) Fiber dimensions, lignin and cellulose content of various plant materials and their suitability for paper production. Ind Crops Prod 19:245–254. doi:10.1016/j.indcrop.2003.10.006

- Lee SH, Doherty TV, Linhardt RJ, Dordick JS (2008) Ionic liquid-mediated selective extraction of lignin from wood leading to enhanced enzymatic cellulose hydrolysis. Biotechnol Bioeng 102:1368–1376. doi:10.1002/bit.22179
- Vanoye L, Fanselow M, Holbrey JD, Atkins MP, Seddon KR (2009) Kinetic model for the hydrolysis of lignocellulosic biomass in the ionic liquid, 1-ethyl-3-methyl-imidazolium chloride. Green Chem 11:390–396. doi:10.1039/b817882h
- Fu D, Mazza G, Tamaki Y (2010) Lignin extraction from straw by ionic liquids and enzymatic hydrolysis of the cellulosic residues. J Agric Food Chem 58:2915–2922. doi:10.1021/jf903616y
- Binder JB, Gray MJ, White JF, Zhang ZC, Holladay JE (2009) Reactions of lignin model compounds in ionic liquids. Biomass Bioenergy 33:1122–1130. doi:10.1016/j.biombioe. 2009.03.006
- Jiang N, Pu Y, Samuel R, Ragauskas AJ (2009) Perdeuterated pyridinium molten salt (ionic liquid) for direct dissolution and NMR analysis of plant cell walls. Green Chem 11:1762–1766. doi:10.1039/b913609f
- Hendriks ATWM, Zeeman G (2009) Pretreatments to enhance the digestibility of lignocellulosic biomass. Bioresour Technol 100:10–18. doi:10.1016/j.biortech. 2008.05.027
- Li B, Asikkala J, Filpponen I, Argyropoulos DS (2010) Factors affecting wood dissolution and regeneration of ionic liquids. Ind Eng Chem Res 49:2477–2484. doi:10.1021/ie901560p
- Li B, Filpponen I, Argyropoulos DS (2010) Acidolysis of wood in ionic liquids. Ind Eng Chem Res 49:3126–3136. doi:10.1021/ie1000983
- Zoia L, King AWT, Argyropoulos DS (2011) Molecular weight distributions and linkages in lignocellulosic materials derivatized from ionic liquid media. J Agric Food Chem 59:829–838. doi:10.1021/jf103615e
- Zavrel M, Bross D, Funke M, Büchs J, Spiess AC (2009) High-throughput screening for ionic liquids dissolving (ligno-)cellulose. Bioresour Technol 100:2580–2587. doi:10.1016/ j.biortech.2008.11.052
- Zhang Z, Zhao ZK (2010) Microwave-assisted conversion of lignocellulosic biomass into furans in ionic liquid. Bioresour Technol 101:1111–1114. doi:10.1016/j.biortech. 2009.09.010
- 36. Sun N, Rahman M, Qin Y, Maxim ML, Rodríguez H, Rogers RD (2009) Complete dissolution and partial delignification of wood in the ionic liquid 1-ethyl-3methylimidazolium acetate. Green Chem 11:646–655. doi:10.1039/b822702k
- 37. Brandt A, Hallett JP, Leak DJ, Murphy RJ, Welton T (2010) The effect of the ionic liquid anion in the pretreatment of pine wood chips. Green Chem 12:672–679. doi:10.1039/ b918787a
- Doherty TV, Mora-Pale M, Foley SE, Linhardt RJ, Dordick JS (2010) Ionic liquid solvent properties as predictors of lignocellulose pretreatment efficacy. Green Chem 12:1967–1975. doi:10.1039/c0gc00206b
- Garcia H, Ferreira R, Petkovic M, Ferguson JL, Leitão MC, Gunaratne HQN, Seddon KR, Rebelo LPN, Pereira CS (2010) Dissolution of cork biopolymers in biocompatible ionic liquids. Green Chem 12:367–369. doi:10.1039/b922553f
- 40. Qu C, Kishimoto T, Kishino M, Hamada M, Nakajima N (2011) Heteronuclear singlequantum coherence nuclear magnetic resonance (HSQC NMR) characterization of acetylated fir (*Abies sachallnensis* MAST) wood regenerated from ionic liquid. J Agric Food Chem 59:5382–5389. doi:10.1021/jf200498n
- 41. Li C, Knierim B, Manisseri C, Arora R, Scheller HV, Auer M, Vogel KP, Simmons BA, Singh S (2010) Comparison of dilute acid and ionic liquid pretreatment of switchgrass: biomass recalcitrance, delignification and enzymatic saccharification. Bioresour Technol 101:4900–4906. doi:10.1016/j.biortech.2009.10.066
- 42. Singh S, Simmons BA, Vogel KP (2009) Visualization of biomass solubilization and cellulose regeneration during ionic liquid pretreatment of switchgrass. Biotechnol Bioeng 104:68–75. doi:10.1002/bit.22386

- 43. Shill K, Padmanabhan S, Xin Q, Prausnitz JM, Clark DS, Blanch HW (2010) Ionic liquid pretreatment of cellulosic biomass: enzymatic hydrolysis and ionic liquid recycle. Biotechnol Bioeng 108:511–520. doi:10.1002/bit.23014
- 44. Li Q, Jiang X, He Y, Li L, Xian M, Yang J (2010) Evaluation of the biocompatibile ionic liquid 1-methyl-3-methylimidazolium dimethylphosphite pretreatment of corn cob for improved saccharification. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 87:117–126. doi:10.1007/s00253-010-2484-8
- 45. Brennan TCR, Datta S, Blanch HW, Simmons BA, Holmes BM (2010) Recovery of sugars from ionic liquid biomass liquor by solvent extraction. Bioenerg Res 3:123–133. doi:10.1007/s12155-010-9091-5
- 46. Nguyen TAD, Kim KR, Han SJ, Cho HY, Kim JW, Park SM, Park JC, Sim SJ (2010) Pretreatment of rice straw with ammonia and ionic liquid for lignocellulose conversion to fermentable sugars. Bioresour Technol 101:7432–7438. doi:10.1016/j.biortech.2010.04.053
- 47. van Spronsen J, Tavares Cardoso MA, Witkamp GJ, de Jong W, Kroon MC (2011) Separation and recovery of the constituents from lignocellulosic biomass by using ionic liquids and acetic acid as co-solvents for mild hydrolysis. Chem Eng Process 50:196–199. doi:10.1016/j.cep.2010.12.010
- 48. Tan SSY, MacFarlane DR, Upfal J, Edye LA, Doherty WOS, Patti AF, Pringle JM, Scott JL (2009) Extraction of lignin from lignocellulose at atmospheric pressure using alkylbenzenesulfonate ionic liquid. Green Chem 11:339–345. doi:10.1039/b815310h
- Liu H, Sale KL, Holmes BM, Simmons BA, Singh S (2010) Understanding the interactions of cellulose with ionic liquids: a molecular dynamics study. J Phys Chem B 114:4293–4301. doi:10.1021/jp9117437
- Arora R, Manisseri C, Li C, Ong MD, Scheller HV, Vogel K, Simmons BA, Singh S (2010) Monitoring and analyzing process streams towards understanding ionic liquid pretreatment of switchgrass (*Panicum virgatum* L.). Bioenerg Res 3:134–145. doi:10.1007/s12155-010-9087-1
- Sescousse R, Le KA, Ries ME, Budtova T (2010) Viscosity of cellulose-imidazolium-based ionic liquid solutions. J Phys Chem B 114:7222–7228. doi:10.1021/jp1024203
- Gericke M, Schlufter K, Liebert T, Heinze T, Budtova T (2009) Rheological properties of cellulose/ionic liquid solutions: from dilute to concentrated states. Biomacromolecules 10:1188–1194. doi:10.1021/bm801430x
- 53. Sievers C, Valenzuela-Olarte MB, Marzialetti T, Musin I, Agrawal PK, Jones CW (2009) Ionic-liquid-phase hydrolysis of pine wood. Ind Eng Chem Res 48:1277–1286. doi:10.1021/ ie801174x
- 54. Xu A, Wang J, Wang H (2010) Effects of anionic structure and lithium salts addition on the dissolution of cellulose in 1-butyl-3-methylimidazolium-based ionic liquid solvent systems. Green Chem 12:268–275. doi:10.1039/b916882f
- 55. Sun N, Jiang X, Maxim ML, Metlen A, Rogers RD (2011) Use of polyoxometalate catalysts in ionic liquids to enhance the dissolution and delignification of woody biomass. ChemSusChem 4:65–73. doi:10.1002/cssc.201000272
- Mikkola JP, Kirilin A, Tuuf JC, Pranovich A, Holmbom B, Kustov LM, Murzin YD, Salmi T (2007) Ultrasound enhancement of cellulose processing in ionic liquids: from dissolution towards functionalization. Green Chem 9:1229–1237. doi:10.1039/b708533h
- Ikeda T, Holtman K, Kadla JF, Chang HM, Jameel H (2002) Studies on the effect of ball milling on lignin structure using a modified DFRC method. J Agric Food Chem 50:129–135. doi:10.1021/jf010870f
- Nishi N, Kawakami T, Shigematsu F, Yamamoto M, Kakiuchi T (2006) Fluorine-free and hydrophobic room-temperature ionic liquids, tetraalkylammonium bis(2-ethylhexyl) sulfosuccinates, and their ionic liquid–water two-phase properties. Green Chem 8:349–355. doi:10.1039/b511529a
- 59. Di Francesco F, Calisi N, Creatini M, Melai B, Salvo P, Chiappe C (2011) Water sorption by anhydrous ionic liquids. Green Chem 13:1712–1717. doi:10.1039/c1gc15080d

- Scammells PJ, Scott JL, Singer RD (2005) Ionic liquids: the neglected issues. Aust J Chem 58:155–169. doi:10.1071/CH04272
- Vitz J, Erdmenger T, Haensch C, Schubert US (2009) Extended dissolution studies of cellulose in imidazolium based ionic liquids. Green Chem 11:417–424. doi:10.1039/ b818061j
- Binder JB, Raines RT (2010) Fermentable sugars by chemical hydrolysis of biomass. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 107:4516–4521. doi:10.1073/pnas.0912073107
- Tran CD, De Paoli Lacerda SH, Oliveira D (2003) Absorption of water by roomtemperature ionic liquids: effect of anions on concentration and state of water. Appl Spectrosc 57:152–157. doi:10.1366/000370203321535051
- Wang Y, Li H, Han S (2006) A theoretical investigation of the interactions between water molecules and ionic liquids. J Phys Chem B 110:24646–24651. doi:10.1021/jp064134w
- Chapeaux A, Simoni LD, Stadtherr MA, Brennecke JF (2007) Liquid phase behavior of ionic liquids with water and 1-octanol and modeling of 1-octanol/water partition coefficients. J Chem Eng Data 52:2462–2467. doi:10.1021/je7003935
- 66. Freire MG, Carvalho PJ, Gardas RL, Marrucho IM, Santos LMNBF, Coutinho JAP (2008) Mutual solubilities of water and the [C_nmim][Tf₂N] hydrophobic ionic liquids. J Phys Chem B 112:1604–1610. doi:10.1021/jp7097203
- Engel P, Mladenov R, Wulfhorst H, Jäger G, Spiess AC (2010) Point by point analysis: how ionic liquid affects the enzymatic hydrolysis of native and modified cellulose. Green Chem 12:1959–1966. doi:10.1039/c0gc00135j
- Seddon KR, Stark A, Torres MJ (2000) Influence of chloride, water, and organic solvents on the physical properties of ionic liquids. Pure Appl Chem 72:2275–2287. doi:10.1351/ pac200072122275
- 69. Zhang Y, Du H, Qian X, Chen EYX (2010) Ionic liquid-water mixtures: enhanced K_w for efficient cellulosic biomass conversion. Energy Fuels 24:2410–2417. doi:10.1021/ef1000198
- Lucas M, Macdonald BA, Wagner GL, Joyce SA, Rector KD (2010) Ionic liquid pretreatment of poplar wood at room temperature: swelling and incorporation of nanoparticles. ACS Appl Mater Interfaces 2:2198–2205. doi:10.1021/am100371q
- Lucas M, Wagner GL, Nishiyama Y, Hanson L, Samayam IP, Schall CA, Langan P, Rector KD (2011) Reversible swelling of the cell wall of poplar biomass by ionic liquid at room temperature. Bioresour Technol 102:4518–4523. doi:10.1016/j.biortech.2010.12.087
- 72. Bharadwaj R, Wong A, Knierim B, Singh S, Holmes BM, Auer M, Simmons BA, Adams PD, Singh AK (2011) High-throughput enzymatic hydrolysis of lignocellulosic biomass via in situ regeneration. Bioresour Technol 102:1329–1337. doi:10.1016/j.biortech.2010.08.108
- 73. Cheng G, Varanasi P, Li C, Liu H, Melnichenko YB, Simmons BA, Kent MS, Singh S (2011) Transition of cellulose crystalline structure and surface morphology of biomass as a function of ionic liquid pretreatment and its relation to enzymatic hydrolysis. Biomacromolecules 12:933–941. doi:10.1021/bm101240z
- Sun L, Simmons BA, Singh S (2011) Understanding tissue specific compositions of bioenergy feedstocks through hyperspectral Raman imaging. Biotechnol Bioeng 108:286–295. doi:10.1002/bit.22931
- 75. Jia S, Cox BJ, Guo X, Zhang ZC, Ekerdt JG (2010) Cleaving the β –O–4 bonds of lignin model compounds in an acidic ionic liquid, 1-h-3-methylimidazolium chloride: An optional strategy for the degradation of lignin. ChemSusChem 3:1078–1084. doi:10.1002/cssc.201000112
- 76. Jia S, Cox BJ, Guo X, Zhang ZC, Ekerdt JG (2011) Hydrolytic cleavage of β–O–4 ether bonds of lignin model compounds in an ionic liquid with metal chlorides. Ind Eng Chem Res 50:849–855. doi:10.1021/ie101884h
- Wulf A, Fumino K, Ludwig R (2010) Spectroscopic evidence for an enhanced anion–cation interaction from hydrogen bonding in pure imidazolium ionic liquids. Angew Chem Int Ed 49:449–453. doi:10.1002/anie.200905437

- Kline LM, Hayes DG, Womac AR, Labbé N (2010) Simplified determination of lignin content in hard and soft woods via UV-spectrophotometric analysis of biomass dissolved in ionic liquids. BioResources 5:1366–1383
- 79. Kiefer J, Obert K, Fries J, Bösmann A, Wasserscheid P, Leipertz A (2009) Determination of glucose and cellobiose dissolved in the ionic liquid 1-ethyl-3-methylimidazolium acetate using Fourier transform infrared spectroscopy. Appl Spectrosc 63:1041–1049. doi:10.1366/ 000370209789379367
- Miller GL (1959) Use of dinitrosalicylic acid reagent for determination of reducing sugar. Anal Chem 31:426–428. doi:10.1021/ac60147a030
- Rivers DB, Gracheck SJ, Woodford LC, Emert GH (1984) Limitations of the DNS assay for reducing sugars from saccharified lignocellulosics. Biotechnol Bioeng 26:800–802. doi:10.1002/bit.260260727
- Ebner G, Schiehser S, Potthast A, Rosenau T (2008) Side reaction of cellulose with common 1-alkyl-3-methylimidazolium-based ionic liquids. Tetrahedron Lett 49:7322–7324. doi:10.1016/j.tetlet.2008.10.052
- 83. King AWT, Zoia L, Filpponen I, Olszewska A, Xie H, Kilpeläinen I, Argyropoulos DS (2009) In situ determination of lignin phenolics and wood solubility in imidazolium chlorides using ³¹P NMR. J Agric Food Chem 57:8236–8243. doi:10.1021/jf901095w
- 84. Remsing RC, Swatloski RP, Rogers R, Moyna G (2006) Mechanism of cellulose dissolution in the ionic liquid 1-*n*-butyl-3-methylimidazolium chloride: a ¹³C and ^{35/37}Cl NMR relaxation study on model systems. Chem Commun 2006:1271–1273. doi:10.1039/ b600586c
- Zhang J, Zhang H, Wu J, Zhang J, He J, Xiang J (2010) NMR spectroscopic studies of cellobiose solvation in [EMIM][OAc] aimed to understand the dissolution mechanism of cellulose in ionic liquids. Phys Chem Chem Phys 12:1941–1947. doi:10.1039/b920446f
- Kahlen J, Masuch K, Leonhard K (2010) Modelling cellulose solubilities in ionic liquids using COSMO-RS. Green Chem 12:2172–2181. doi:10.1039/c0gc00200c
- Fukaya Y, Hayashi K, Wada M, Ohno H (2008) Cellulose dissolution with polar ionic liquids under mild conditions: required factors for anions. Green Chem 10:44–46. doi:10.1039/b713289a
- Dwiatmoko AA, Choi JW, Suh DJ, Suh YW, Kung HH (2010) Understanding the role of halogen-containing ionic liquids in the hydrolysis of cellobiose catalyzed by acid resins. Appl Catal A Gen 387:209–214. doi:10.1016/j.apcata.2010.08.032
- 89. Rinaldi R, Meine N, vom Stein J, Palkovits R, Schüth F (2010) Which controls the depolymerization of cellulose in ionic liquids: the solid acid catalyst or cellulose? ChemSusChem 3:266–276. doi:10.1002/cssc.200900281
- Cuissinat C, Navard P, Heinze T (2008) Swelling and dissolution of cellulose. Part IV: free floating cotton and wood fibres in ionic liquids. Carbohydr Polym 72:590–596. doi:10.1016/ j.carbpol.2007.09.029
- Zhao H, Jones CL, Baker GA, Xia S, Olubajo O, Person VN (2009) Regenerating cellulose from ionic liquids for an accelerated enzymatic hydrolysis. J Biotechnol 139:47–54. doi:10.1016/j.jbiotec.2008.08.009
- Guo J, Zhang D, Duan C, Liu C (2010) Probing anion-cellulose interactions in imidazolium-based room temperature ionic liquids: a density functional study. Carbohydr Res 345:2201–2205. doi:10.1016/j.carres.2010.07.036
- 93. Armstrong DW, He L, Liu YS (1999) Examination of ionic liquids and their interaction with molecules, when used as stationary phases in gas chromatography. Anal Chem 71:3873–3876. doi:10.1021/ac990443p
- Abraham MH (1993) Scales of solute hydrogen-bonding: their construction and application to physicochemical and biochemical processes. Chem Soc Rev 22:73–83. doi:10.1039/ CS9932200073
- 95. Zakrzewska ME, Bogel-Łukasik E, Bogel-Łukasik R (2011) Ionic liquid-mediated formation of 5-hydroxymethylfurfurals—a promising biomass-derived building block. Chem Rev 111:397–417. doi:10.1021/cr100171a

4 Application of Ionic Liquids

- 96. Anderson JL, Ding J, Welton T, Armstrong DW (2002) Characterizing ionic liquids on the basis of multiple solvation interactions. J Am Chem Soc 124:14247–14254. doi:10.1021/ ja028156h
- 97. Carmichael AJ, Seddon KR (2000) Polarity study of some 1-alkyl-3-methylimidazolium ambient-temperature ionic liquids with the solvatochromic dye, Nile Red. J Phys Org Chem 13:591–595. doi:10.1002/1099-1395(200010)13:10<591:AID-POC305>3.0.CO;2-2
- Reichardt C (1965) Empirical parameters of the polarity of solvents. Angew Chem Int Ed Engl 4:29–40. doi:10.1002/anie.196500291
- 99. Bonhôte P, Dias AP, Papageorgiou N, Kalyanasundaram K, Grätzel M (1996) Hydrophobic, highly conductive ambient-temperature molten salts. Inorg Chem 35:1168–1178. doi:10.1021/ic951325x
- 100. Aki SVNK, Brennecke JF, Samanta A (2001) How polar are room-temperature ionic liquids? Chem Commun 2001:413–414. doi:10.1039/B008039J
- Muldoon MJ, Gordon CM, Dunkin IR (2001) Investigations of solvent–solute interactions in room temperature ionic liquids using solvatochromic dyes. J Chem Soc Perkin Trans 2(2001):433–435. doi:10.1039/B101449H
- 102. Kamlet MJ, Taft RW (1976) The solvatochromic comparison method. I. The β -scale of solvent hydrogen-bond acceptor (HBA) basicities. J Am Chem Soc 98:377–383. doi:10.1021/ja00418a009
- 103. Taft RW, Kamlet MJ (1976) The solvatochromic comparison method. 2. The α-scale of solvent hydrogen-bond donor (HBD) acidities. J Am Chem Soc 98:2886–2894. doi:10.1021/ ja00426a036
- 104. Kamlet MJ, Abboud JL, Taft RW (1977) The solvatochromic comparison method. 6. The π^* scale of solvent polarities. J Am Chem Soc 99:6027–6038. doi:10.1021/ja00460a031
- 105. Kamlet MJ, Abboud JLM, Abraham MH, Taft RW (1983) Linear solvation energy relationships. 23. A comprehensive collection of the solvatochromic parameters, π^* , α , and β , and some methods for simplifying the generalized solvatochromic equation. J Org Chem 48:2877–2887. doi:10.1021/jo00165a018
- 106. Stark A (2011) Ionic liquids in the biorefinery: a critical assessment of their potential. Energy Environ Sci 4:19–32. doi:10.1039/c0ee00246a
- 107. Crowhurst L, Mawdsley PR, Perez-Arlandis JM, Salter PA, Welton T (2003) Solvent–solute interactions in ionic liquids. Phys Chem Chem Phys 5:2790–2794. doi:10.1039/b303095d
- Fukaya Y, Sugimoto A, Ohno H (2006) Superior solubility of polysaccharides in low viscosity, polar, and halogen-free 1,3-dialkylimidazolium formates. Biomacromolecules 7:3295–3297. doi:10.1021/bm060327d
- 109. Kralisch D, Stark A, Körsten S, Kreisel G, Ondruschka B (2005) Energetic, environmental and economic balances: spice up your ionic liquid research efficiency. Green Chem 7:301–309. doi:10.1039/b417167e
- Nicola Wood, Stephens G (2010) Accelerating the discovery of biocompatible ionic liquids. Phys Chem Chem Phys 12:1670–1674. doi:10.1039/b923429b
- 111. Coleman D, Gathergood N (2010) Biodegradation studies of ionic liquids. Chem Soc Rev 39:600–637. doi:10.1039/b817717c
- 112. Docherty KM, Kulpa CF (2005) Toxicity and antimicrobial activity of imidazolium and pyridinium ionic liquids. Green Chem 7:185–189. doi:10.1039/b419172b
- 113. Frade RFM, Matias A, Branco LC, Afonso CAM, Duarte CMM (2007) Effect of ionic liquids on human colon carcinoma HT-29 and CaCo-2 cell lines. Green Chem 9:873–877. doi:10.1039/b617526k
- 114. Pham TPT, Cho CW, Yun YS (2010) Environmental fate and toxicity of ionic liquids: a review. Water Res 44:352–372. doi:10.1016/j.watres.2009.09.030
- 115. Romero A, Santos A, Tojo J, Rodríguez A (2008) Toxicity and biodegradability of imidazolium ionic liquids. J Hazard Mater 151:268–273. doi:10.1016/j.jhazmat.2007.10.079
- 116. Nancharaiah YV, Francis AJ (2011) Alkyl-methylimidazolium ionic liquids affect the growth and fermentative metabolism of *Clostridium* sp. Bioresour Technol 102:6573–6578. doi:10.1016/j.biortech.2011.03.042

- 117. Almeida JRM, Bertilsson M, Gorwa-Grauslund MF, Gorsich S, Lidén G (2009) Metabolic effects of furaldehydes and impacts on biotechnological processes. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 82:625–638. doi:10.1007/s00253-009-1875-1
- 118. Taechapoempol K, Sreethawong T, Rangsunvigit P, Namprohm W, Thamprajamchit B, Rengpipat S, Chavadej S (2011) Cellulase-producing bacteria from Thai higher termites, *Microcerotermes* sp.: enzymatic activities and ionic liquid tolerance. Appl Biochem Biotechnol 164:204–219. doi:10.1007/s12010-010-9128-4
- Bansal P, Hall M, Realff MJ, Lee JH, Bommarius AS (2009) Modeling cellulase kinetics on lignocellulosic substrates. Biotechnol Adv 27:833–848. doi:10.1016/j.biotechadv. 2009.06.005
- Wang Y, Radosevich M, Hayes D, Labbé N (2011) Compatible ionic liquid-cellulases system for hydrolysis of lignocellulosic biomass. Biotechnol Bioeng 108:1042–1048. doi:10.1002/bit.23045
- 121. Turner MB, Spear SK, Huddleston JG, Holbrey JD, Rogers RD (2003) Ionic liquid saltinduced inactivation and unfolding of cellulase from *Trichoderma reesei*. Green Chem 5:443–447. doi:10.1039/b302570e
- 122. Kamiya N, Matsushita Y, Hanaki M, Nakashima K, Narita M, Goto M, Takahashi H (2008) Enzymatic in situ saccharification of cellulose in aqueous-ionic liquid media. Biotechnol Lett 30:1037–1040. doi:10.1007/s10529-008-9638-0
- 123. Salvador ÂC, da C. Santos M, Saraiva JA (2010) Effect of the ionic liquid [bmim]Cl and high pressure on the activity of cellulose. Green Chem 12:632–635. doi:10.1039/b918879g
- 124. Bose S, Armstrong DW, Petrich JW (2010) Enzyme-catalyzed hydrolysis of cellulose in ionic liquids: a green approach toward the production of biofuels. J Phys Chem B 114:8221–8227. doi:10.1021/jp9120518
- 125. Adsul MG, Terwadkar AP, Varma AJ, Gokhale DV (2009) Cellulases from *Penicillium Janthinellum* mutants: solid-state production and their stability in ionic liquids. BioResources 4:1670–1681
- 126. Pottkämper J, Barthen P, Ilmberger N, Schwaneberg U, Schenk A, Schulte M, Ignatiev N, Streit WR (2009) Applying metagenomics for the identification of bacterial cellulases that are stable in ionic liquids. Green Chem 11:957–965. doi:10.1039/b820157a
- 127. Jäger G, Wulfhorst H, Zeithammel EU, Elinidou E, Spiess AC, Büchs J (2011) Screening of cellulases for biofuel production: online monitoring of the enzymatic hydrolysis of insoluble cellulose using high-throughput scattered light detection. Biotechnol J 6:74–85. doi:10.1002/biot.201000387
- 128. Zhou GP, Zhang Y, Huang XR, Shi CH, Liu WF, Li YZ, Qu YB, Gao PJ (2008) Catalytic activities of fungal oxidases in hydrophobic ionic liquid 1-butyl-3-methylimidazolium hexafluorophosphate-based microemulsion. Colloids Surf B 66:146–149. doi:10.1016/ j.colsurfb.2008.05.016
- 129. Cui X, Zhang S, Shi F, Zhang Q, Ma X, Lu L, Deng Y (2010) The influence of the acidity of ionic liquids on catalysis. ChemSusChem 3:1043–1047. doi:10.1002/cssc.201000075
- 130. Murao S, Nomura Y, Yoshikawa M, Shin T, Oyama H, Arai M (1992) Enhancement of activities of cellulases under high hydrostatic pressure. Biosci Biotechnol Biochem 56:1366–1367. doi:10.1271/bbb.56.1366
- 131. Datta S, Holmes B, Park JI, Chen Z, Dibble DC, Hadi M, Blanch HW, Simmons BA, Sapra R (2010) Ionic liquid tolerant hyperthermophilic cellulases for biomass pretreatment and hydrolysis. Green Chem 12:338–345. doi:10.1039/b916564a
- 132. Rees HC, Grant S, Jones B, Grant WD, Heaphy S (2003) Detecting cellulase and esterase enzyme activities encoded by novel genes present in environmental DNA libraries. Extremophiles 7:415–421. doi:10.1007/s00792-003-0339-2
- 133. Grant S, Sorokin DY, Grant WD, Jones B, Heaphy S (2004) A phylogenetic analysis of Wadi el Natrun soda lake cellulase enrichment cultures and identification of cellulase genes from these cultures. Extremophiles 8:421–429. doi:10.1007/s00792-004-0402-7
- 134. Voget S, Steele HL, Streit WR (2006) Characterization of a metagenome-derived halotolerant cellulase. J Biotechnol 126:26–36. doi:10.1016/j.jbiotec.2006.02.011

- 135. Zhao H, Baker GA, Song Z, Olubajo O, Crittle T, Peters D (2008) Designing enzymecompatible ionic liquids that can dissolve carbohydrates. Green Chem 10:696–705. doi:10.1039/b801489b
- 136. Zhao H (2010) Methods for stabilizing and activating enzymes in ionic liquids—a review. J Chem Technol Biotechnol 85:891–907. doi:10.1002/jctb.2375
- 137. Lozano P, Bernal B, Bernal JM, Pucheault M, Vaultier M (2011) Stabilizing immobilized cellulase by ionic liquids for saccharification of cellulose solutions in 1-butyl-3-methylimidazolium chloride. Green Chem 13:1406–1410. doi:10.1039/c1gc15294g
- 138. Righi S, Morfino A, Galletti P, Samorì C, Tugnoli A, Stramigioli C (2011) Comparative cradle-to-gate life cycle assessments of cellulose dissolution with 1-butyl-3methylimidazolium chloride and *N*-methyl-morpholine-*N*-oxide. Green Chem 13:367–375. doi:10.1039/c0gc00647e
- Kralisch D, Reinhardt D, Kreisel G (2007) Implementing objectives of sustainability into ionic liquids research and development. Green Chem 9:1308–1318. doi:10.1039/b708721g
- 140. Kosan B, Michels C, Meister F (2008) Dissolution and forming of cellulose with ionic liquids. Cellulose 15:59–66. doi:10.1007/s10570-007-9160-x
- 141. Wu RL, Wang XL, Li F, Li HZ, Wang YZ (2009) Green composite films prepared from cellulose, starch and lignin in room-temperature ionic liquid. Bioresour Technol 100:2569–2574. doi:10.1016/j.biortech.2008.11.044
- 142. Zhang H, Wang Z, Zhang Z, Wu J, Zhang J, He J (2007) Regenerated-cellulose/ multiwalled-carbon-nanotube composite fibers with enhanced mechanical properties prepared with the ionic liquid 1-allyl-3-methylimidazolium chloride. Adv Mater 19:698–704. doi:10.1002/adma.200600442
- 143. Sun N, Swatloski RP, Maxim ML, Rahman M, Harland AG, Haque A, Spear SK, Daly DT, Rogers RD (2008) Magnetite-embedded cellulose fibers prepared from ionic liquid. J Mater Chem 18:283–290. doi:10.1039/b713194a
- 144. Takegawa A, Murakami M, Kaneko Y, Kadokawa J (2010) Preparation of chitin/cellulose composite gels and films with ionic liquids. Carbohydr Polym 79:85–90. doi:10.1016/ j.carbpol.2009.07.030
- 145. Li L, Meng L, Zhang X, Fu C, Lu Q (2009) The ionic liquid-associated synthesis of a cellulose/SWCNT complex and its remarkable biocompatibility. J Mater Chem 19:3612–3617. doi:10.1039/b823322e
- 146. Park TJ, Lee SH, Simmons TJ, Martin JG, Mousa SA, Snezhkova EA, Sarnatskaya VV, Nikolaev VG, Linhardt RJ (2008) Heparin–cellulose–charcoal composites for drug detoxification prepared using room temperature ionic liquids. Chem Commun 2008:5022–5024. doi:10.1039/b809791g
- 147. Zhu J, Wang WT, Wang XL, Li B, Wang YZ (2009) Green synthesis of a novel biodegradable copolymer base on cellulose and poly(*p*-dioxanone) in ionic liquid. Carbohydr Polym 76:139–144. doi:10.1016/j.carbpol.2008.10.004
- 148. Hao Y, Peng J, Li J, Zhai M, Wei G (2009) An ionic liquid as reaction media for radiationinduced grafting of thermosensitive poly (*N*-isopropylacrylamide) onto microcrystalline cellulose. Carbohydr Polym 77:779–784. doi:10.1016/j.carbpol.2009.02.025
- 149. Kadokawa J, Murakami M, Kaneko Y (2008) A facile method for preparation of composites composed of cellulose and a polystyrene-type polymeric ionic liquid using a polymerizable ionic liquid. Compos Sci Technol 68:493–498. doi:10.1016/j.compscitech.2007.06.004
- 150. Egorov VM, Smirnova SV, Formanovsky AA, Pletnev IV, Zolotov YA (2007) Dissolution of cellulose in ionic liquids as a way to obtain test materials for metal-ion detection. Anal Bioanal Chem 387:2263–2269. doi:10.1007/s00216-006-1114-x
- 151. Hines JH, Wanigasekara E, Rudkevich DM, Rogers RD (2008) Calix[4]arenes immobilized in a cellulose-based platform for entrapment and detection of NO_x gases. J Mater Chem 18:4050–4055. doi:10.1039/b803289k
- 152. Viswanathan G, Murugesan S, Pushparaj V, Nalamasu O, Ajayan PM, Linhardt RJ (2006) Preparation of biopolymer fibers by electrospinning from room temperature ionic liquids. Biomacromolecules 7:415–418. doi:10.1021/bm050837s

- 153. Turner MB, Spear SK, Holbrey JD, Daly DT, Rogers RD (2005) Ionic liquid-reconstituted cellulose composites as solid support matrices for biocatalyst immobilization. Biomacromolecules 6:2497–2501. doi:10.1021/bm050199d
- 154. Bagheri M, Rodríguez H, Swatloski RP, Spear SK, Daly DT, Rogers RD (2008) Ionic liquid-based preparation of cellulose-dendrimer films as solid supports for enzyme immobilization. Biomacromolecules 9:381–387. doi:10.1021/bm701023w
- 155. Erdmenger T, Haensch C, Hoogenboom R, Schubert US (2007) Homogeneous tritylation of cellulose in 1-butyl-3-methylimidazolium chloride. Macromol Biosci 7:440–445. doi:10.1002/mabi.200600253
- 156. Abbott AP, Bell TJ, Handa S, Stoddart B (2005) O-Acetylation of cellulose and monosaccharides using a zinc based ionic liquid. Green Chem 7:705–707. doi:10.1039/ b511691k
- 157. Cao Y, Wu J, Meng T, Zhang J, He J, Li H, Zhang Y (2007) Acetone-soluble cellulose acetates prepared by one-step homogeneous acetylation of cornhusk cellulose in an ionic liquid 1-allyl-3-methylimidazolium chloride (AmimCl). Carbohydr Polym 69:665–672. doi:10.1016/j.carbpol.2007.02.001
- Heinze T, Dorn S, Schöbitz M, Liebert T, Köhler S, Meister F (2008) Interactions of ionic liquids with polysaccharides—2: cellulose. Macromol Symp 262:8–22. doi:10.1002/ masy.200850202
- 159. Qi X, Watanabe M, Aida TM, Smith R (2010) Fast transformation of glucose and dipolysaccharides into 5-hydroxymethylfurfural by microwave heating in an ionic liquid/ catalyst system. ChemSusChem 3:1071–1077. doi:10.1002/cssc.201000124
- 160. Kim B, Jeong J, Lee D, Kim S, Yoon HJ, Lee YS, Cho JK (2011) Direct transformation of cellulose into 5-hydroxymethyl-2-furfural using a combination of metal chlorides in imidazolium ionic liquid. Green Chem 13:1503–1506. doi:10.1039/c1gc15152e
- 161. Zhu Y, Kong ZN, Stubbs LP, Lin H, Shen S, Anslyn EV, Maguire JA (2010) Conversion of cellulose to hexitols catalyzed by ionic liquid-stabilized ruthenium nanoparticles and a reversible binding agent. ChemSusChem 3:67–70. doi:10.1002/cssc.200900235
- 162. Taccardi N, Assenbaum D, Berger MEM, Bösmann A, Enzenberger F, Wölfel R, Neuendorf S, Goeke V, Schödel N, Maass HJ, Kistenmacher H, Wasserscheid P (2010) Catalytic production of hydrogen from glucose and other carbohydrates under exceptionally mild reaction conditions. Green Chem 12:1150–1156. doi:10.1039/c002910f
- Binder JB, Raines RT (2009) Simple chemical transformation of lignocellulosic biomass into furans for fuels and chemicals. J Am Chem Soc 131:1979–1985. doi:10.1021/ja808537j
- 164. Lee JW, Ha MG, Yi YB, Chung CH (2011) Chromium halides mediated production of hydroxymethylfurfural from starch-rich acorn biomass in an acidic ionic liquid. Carbohydr Res 346:177–182. doi:10.1016/j.carres.2010.11.009
- 165. Yuan TQ, Sun SN, Xu F, Sun RC (2010) Homogeneous esterification of poplar wood in an ionic liquid under mild conditions: characterization and properties. J Agric Food Chem 58:11302–11310. doi:10.1021/jf103050t
- 166. Yuan T, Sun S, Xu F, Sun R (2011) Homogeneous butyrylation and lauroylation of poplar wood in the ionic liquid 1-butyl-3-methylimidazolium chloride. Bioresour Technol 102:4590–4593. doi:10.1016/j.biortech.2010.12.102
- 167. Xie H, Jarvi P, Karesoja M, King A, Kilpelainen I, Argyropoulos DS (2009) Highly compatible wood thermoplastic composites from lignocellulosic material modified in ionic liquids: preparation and thermal properties. J Appl Polym Sci 111:2468–2476. doi:10.1002/ app.29251
- 168. Aaltonen O, Jauhiainen O (2009) The preparation of lignocellulosic aerogels from ionic liquid solutions. Carbohydr Polym 75:125–129. doi:10.1016/j.carbpol.2008.07.008
- 169. Sun N, Li W, Stoner B, Jiang X, Lu X, Rogers RD (2011) Composite fibers spun directly from solutions of raw lignocellulosic biomass dissolved in ionic liquids. Green Chem 13:1158–1161. doi:10.1039/c1gc15033b
- 170. Xie H, Li S, Zhang S (2005) Ionic liquids as novel solvents for the dissolution and blending of wool keratin fibers. Green Chem 7:606–608. doi:10.1039/b502547h

Chapter 5 Catalysts in Thermochemical Biomass Conversion

Ali Sınağ

5.1 Thermochemical Biomass Conversion

Thermochemical biomass conversion methods can be divided into three main groups as combustion, gasification and Pyrolysis (Fig. 5.1). Combustion is thermal conversion of organic matter with an oxidant to produce mainly carbon dioxide and water. Combustion of biomass is the most direct and technically easiest process. However, the overall efficiency of generating heat from biomass energy is low. Gasification of biomass provides power generation for the technical applications needing energy. The process generates valuable gaseous products (CO, CO₂, H₂O, CH₄, C₂–C₆) and char depending on the design and operating conditions of the gasification reactor. Pyrolysis is thermal heating of the materials in the absence of oxygen, which results in the production of three categories: gases, pyrolytic oil and char [1–3]. Pyrolytic oil, also known as "tar or bio-oil", cannot be used as transportation fuels directly due to the high oxygen (40–50 wt%) and water contents (15–30 wt%) and also low H/C ratios. However, pyrolytic oil is viscous, corrosive, relatively unstable and chemically very complex [4–6].

The main advantages of these methods for biomass conversion over other conversion methods such as biochemical conversion technologies are the feed-stock used. All plant-based residues can be converted into value-added products such as transportation fuels (diesel), hydrogen, methane, syngas and chemicals [7]. However, the undesirable products like alkali compounds and the cost of cleaning the gaseous products and drying of biomass are the major problems. There are many attempts such as catalyst usage, co-firing of biomass with coal in order to improve product quality and the optimization of the experimental conditions.

A. Sınağ (🖂)

Department of Chemistry, Science Faculty, Ankara University, Beşevler-Ankara 06100, Turkey

e-mail: sinag@science.ankara.edu.tr



Fig. 5.1 Main routes for thermal biomass conversion

This chapter chiefly deals with the role of catalysts during thermochemical biomass conversion since usage of different types of catalysts for this conversion leads to the tar and oxygen removal, increasing calorific value of the products and reduction in the amount of undesirable contaminants. The effects of new types of nanocatalysts together with known types of catalysts on the process conditions and the product quality will also be discussed.

5.2 Types of Catalysts in the Thermochemical Biomass Conversion

5.2.1 Known Catalyst Types for Biomass Gasification

5.2.1.1 The Synthesis Gas

The main product of biomass gasification is the synthesis gas. The synthesis gas is produced in the presence of steam. The following reactions are observed during biomass gasification.

5 Catalysts in Thermochemical Biomass Conversion

$$C + H_2O \rightarrow CO + H_2(syngas) \quad \Delta H^o 298 = 323.1 \text{ kJ/mol}$$
 (5.1)

$$C + O_2 \rightarrow CO_2 \quad \Delta H^o 298 = -394 \, \text{kJ/mol}$$
 (5.2)

$$CO_2 + C \rightarrow 2CO \quad \Delta H^0 298 = 282.1 \text{ kJ/mol}$$
(5.3)

The first reaction, between carbon and steam, is strongly endothermic, producing carbon monoxide (CO) and hydrogen (H₂). When the coke bed has cooled to a temperature at which the endothermic reaction can no longer proceed, the steam is then replaced by a blast of air.

The reactions (5.2) and (5.3) take place, producing an exothermic reaction forming initially carbon dioxide—raising the temperature of the coke bed followed by the second endothermic reaction, in which the latter is converted to CO. The overall reaction is exothermic, forming "producer gas". Steam can then be re-injected, then air etc., to give an endless series of cycles until the coke is finally consumed. Producer gas has a much lower energy value, relative to syngas, primarily due to dilution with atmospheric nitrogen. Pure oxygen can be substituted for air to avoid the dilution effect, producing gas of much higher calorific value.

The synthesis gas can be used for power/heat generation or further transformed into diesel range hydrocarbons by Fischer–Tropsch synthesis. Since products of synthesis gas conversion by the Fischer–Tropsch reaction contain olefins and oxygenates, there is considerable interest in combining a Fischer–Tropsch metal, such as Fe, Co or Ru, with ZSM-5 to form a bifunctional catalyst. These catalysts exhibit improved selectivity for a gasoline-range product, and synthesis gas can be converted to gasoline-range hydrocarbons in one step.

5.2.1.2 Dolomite and Olivine

MgCO₃CaCO₃ (Dolomite) is a magnesium ore widely used in biomass gasification since the tar content of the produced gases during the biomass conversion process is significantly reduced in the presence of Dolomite [8-10]. In addition, this catalyst is relatively inexpensive and disposable, so it is possible to use it in bed reactors as primary catalysts as well as in secondary, downstream reactors. The studies related to the catalytic effect of dolomite during biomass gasification are mainly focused on reformation of higher molecular weight hydrocarbons (tar). Steam gasification of biomass in the presence of dolomite leads to the efficient removal of coke formed on the catalyst surface and thus product selectivity is significantly enhanced. On the other hand, olivine $[(Mg,Fe)_2SiO_4]$, another effective catalyst for biomass gasification, is also an attractive material regarding stability in fluidized bed reactors [11] due to its attrition resistance. Olivines also possess very low surface areas (about 0.4 m² g⁻¹), normally being an order of magnitude less than those of dolomites. The advantages of both catalysts are their low price and high attrition resistance. However, olivines and dolomites have higher calcination temperatures and this restricts the effective use of both catalysts.

In fact, calcination of both materials leads to several unwanted phenomena such as losing tar conversion activity and catalyst stability, reducing surface area, etc.

5.2.1.3 Alkali Metal Catalysts

Alkali metals such as lithium, sodium, potassium, rubidium, cesium can be used directly as catalysts in the form of alkali metal carbonates or supported on other materials such as alumina and silica. Alkali salts are mixed directly with the biomass as it is fed into the gasifier. Addition of alkali metals to biomass can also be achieved by impregnation. These metals are highly reactive. Alkali metals as catalysts lead to an enhancement for the biomass gasification reactions, especially for the char formation reactions.

Alkali metals could act as promoters present in commercial steam-reforming catalysts by enhancing the gasification reaction of carbon intermediates deposited on the catalyst surface [8]. But, the major disadvantages of these catalysts are their loss of activity due to particle agglomeration. In addition, the recovery of the alkali metals appears to be difficult. Ashes often contain high concentrations of alkali metals and these can also be added to biomass. Alkali metal catalysts are also active as secondary catalysts. Potassium carbonate supported on alumina is more resistant to carbon deposition although not as active as nickel [8].

According to previous studies, the addition of Na₂CO₃ enhances the catalytic gasification of rice straw compared with nickel catalyst and significantly increases the formation of gas, and the catalytic activity of single salts in steam gasification depends on the gasification temperature, with the following order of activity: $K_2CO_3 > Ni(NO_3)_2 > K_2SO_4 > Ba(NO_3)_2 > FeSO_4$ [12].

Better interaction between feedstock and catalyst should be provided to get the enhanced performance of the catalyst. Impregnation has many advantages over mixing directly. Mudge et al. studied the catalytic steam gasification of wood using alkali carbonates and naturally occurring minerals, which were either impregnated or mixed with the biomass. They reported that the impregnation decreased particle agglomeration [13].

According to Hallen et al. the presence of Na_2CO_3 , K_2CO_3 or $CsCO_3$ as catalyst in biomass steam gasification decreased the carbon conversion degree to gas. However, an increase in the rate and total amount of gas produced was observed. The presence of a catalyst increased the char yield during the volatilization stage but then decreased the char yield during the second stage of the gasification process. [14].

5.2.1.4 Nickel-Based Catalysts

Nickel-based catalysts have been widely used for syngas production in the petrochemical industry. These types of catalysts are very effective for the catalytic hot gas cleanup during biomass gasification. Elimination of tar is also accomplished

by Ni-based catalysts with a high rate. The mechanism of tar elimination can be summarized as follows [15]. Adsorption of hydrocarbons (C1–C7) and water onto the nickel surface is the first step in tar removal. Then, the OH radicals migrate to the metal sites at suitable temperatures and this leads to the oxidation of the intermediate hydrocarbon fragments and surface carbon to $CO + H_2$.

High tar levels on the generated gases lead to coke deposition on the nickel surface and deactivation occurs restricting the routine use of the catalyst. Regeneration of the catalysts might have a positive effect on removal of coke.

Simell et al. investigated the effect of different process parameters on sulfur poisoning of nickel catalysts in tar (toluene), ammonia and methane decomposition [16]. Removing sulfur from the gas mixture leads to the recovered catalyst activity for tar removal. Not only sulfur, but also chlorine and alkali metals might show a poisoning effect.

Ni-based catalysts have also been used for the production of hydrogen-rich product gas as proposed by Wang et al. [17]. They produced significant amounts of hydrogen from acetic acid and hydroxyacetaldehyde in the presence of a Ni-based catalyst. In addition, noble metal catalysts such as Ru, Pt and Rh are considered to be the most important catalysts in hot gas cleaning processes. They are highly effective to remove tar and to help improve the content of syngas. However, they are more expensive than nickel-based catalysts.

For example, nickel-based catalysts were reported as very effective for tar conversion in the secondary reactor at around 700-800°C, resulting in about 98% tar removal from product gas [18]. Asadullah et al. [19] used Rh/CeO₂/M (M5 SiO₂, Al₂O₃, and ZrO₂) type catalysts with various compositions for the gasification of cellulose in a fluidized bed reactor at 500-700°C. Compared with the conventional nickel and dolomite catalysts and other compositions of Rh/CeO₂ catalyst, Rh/CeO₂/ SiO_2 with 35% CeO₂ was found to be the best catalyst with respect to the carbon conversion to gas and product distribution. Addition of steam contributed to the complete conversion of cellulose to gas even at 600°C. Moreover, although they directly used the catalyst in the primary reactor, tar formation was not observed. This is an encouraging result because even if the use of catalyst in the primary reactor offers the benefit of simplification of the overall process, there are very few studies focusing on the direct use of catalysts in the primary bed due to severe catalyst deactivation. Ni-based catalysts are regarded as popular and also very effective for hot gas cleaning [20]. The recent advancement of nanocatalysts has made it possibleto upgrade the produced syngas and to reduce the tar formation in gasification of biomass. In a direct gasification of sawdust, Li et al. [21] used nano-Ni catalyst (NiO/ g-Al₂O₃), and demonstrated that their catalyst can significantly improve the quality of the produced gas and meanwhile efficiently eliminate the tar generation.

5.2.2 Catalyst Types for Biomass Pyrolysis

Pyrolysis is the thermal heating of materials in the absence of oxygen, which results in the production of three categories: gases, pyrolytic oil and char [22, 23].



Fig. 5.2 Effect of catalysts on biomass conversion

Pyrolytic oil, also known as "tar or bio-oil", cannot be used as transportation fuels directly due to the high oxygen (40–50 wt%) and water contents (15–30 wt%) and also low H/C ratios. However, pyrolytic oil is viscous, corrosive, relatively unstable and chemically very complex [1, 24–26]. To use bio-oil as a conventional liquid transportation fuel, it must be catalytically upgraded [31]. Catalytic pyrolysis (Fig. 5.2) is an acceptable method for improving the quality of pyrolytic oil such as removal of oxygen, increasing calorific value, lowering the viscosity and improving stability. Many researches have been carried out on upgrading pyrolytic oil in the presence of different catalysts such as HZSM–5, MCM41, Al₂O₃, Al₂O₃/B₂O₃, Na₂CO₃, NaOH, NaCl, Na₂SiO₃, TiO₂, Fe/Cr, etc. [27–30]. Upgrading of the gaseous products from pyrolysis can also be achieved by reacting the vapors directly with a catalyst (in situ pyrolysis).

ZSM-5 is an aluminosilicate zeolite with a high silica and low aluminum content. Its structure is based on channels with intersecting tunnels (Fig. 5.3). The aluminum sites are very acidic. The substitution of Al^{3+} in place of the tetrahedral Si⁴⁺ silica requires the presence of an added postive charge. When this is H⁺, the acidity of the zeolite is very high. The reaction and catalysis chemistry of the ZSM-5 is due to this acidity.

Zeolite catalysts added into the pyrolysis process can convert oxygenated compounds generated by pyrolysis of the biomass into gasoline-range aromatics. Using zeolite catalysts in pyrolysis, Carlson et al. [31] reported that gasoline-range aromatics can be produced from solid biomass feedstock in a single reactor at short residence times (less than 2 minutes) and at intermediate temperatures (400–600°C). In fact, acidity of an ideal catalyst for biomass pyrolysis should be manupilated by various methods such as ion exchange with alkalis. Silica–alumina containing catalysts (weak acids) might also be given as an example.

Mobile crystalline material (MCM-41) is one of the most used catalysts for the conversion of biomass to value-added products during pyrolysis (Fig. 5.4).




Fig. 5.4 The hexagonal pore structure of molecular sieve MCM-41 (*red* oxygen, *blue* silicon, *light blue* hydrogen, *brown* carbon)

Pore size of MCM-41 is relatively narrow and this catalyst has a large surface area (>1000 m² g⁻¹). MCM-41 type mesoporous catalysts converted the pyrolysis vapors into lower molecular weight products, and hence, more desired bio-oil properties could be achieved. The catalytic properties of MCM-41 materials can be significantly improved when specific transition metal cations or metal complexes are introduced into the structure. Pore enlargement allows the processing of larger molecules. Different pore sizes were obtained by altering the chain length of the

Catalyst	Total liquids	Organics (Bio-oil)	Water (Bio-oil)	Gases	Coke	Oxygen
Non-catalytic	60.23	38.84	21.4	16.72	-	38.4
Zeolite silicalite	47.58	17.79	30.8	26.70	2.71	23.14
ZSM-5	43.95	9.98	33.97	30.08	2.87	14.21
Al-MCM-41	45.34	15.28	30.06	24.07	7.65	23.07
Al ₂ O ₃	38.71	7.67	31.03	28.18	9.95	26.42

Table 5.1 Effect of catalysts on the yields during biomass (beech wood) pyrolysis [33]

template and by applying a spacer. Due to the activity of the catalysts, the product distribution of pyrolysis vapors changed significantly. In accordance with published reports, higher coke and water formation was observed during the reaction in the presence of the catalysts. The various catalysts showed different influences on the product distribution, and the greatest difference was achieved by using the unmodified Al-MCM-41 catalyst [32].

Stefanidis et al. [33] recently investigated the catalytic activity of Silicalite, ZSM-5, MCM41 and Al_2O_3 for the pyrolysis of beech wood. The results are given in Table 5.1. They found that the use of strongly acidic zeolite H-ZSM-5 leads to a decrease in the total liquid yield (bio-oil) while decreasing the organic phase of bio-oil and increasing its water content, accompanied by an increase of gases and formation of coke on the catalyst.

According to this study, it was found that zeolite silicalite with very low number of acid sites and the mildly acidic Al-MCM-41 induced similar effects with those of H-ZSM-5 but to a less extent, except of the significantly higher coke that was deposited on Al-MCM-41. With regard to the composition of bio-oil, all the catalysts and mostly the strongly acidic H-ZSM-5 zeolite reduced the oxygen content of the organic fraction, mainly by decreasing the concentration of acids, ketones and phenols.

5.2.3 Nanocatalysts for Biomass Conversion

The field of nanocatalysis (the use of nanoparticles to catalyze reactions) has undergone an explosive growth during the past decade, both in homogeneous and heterogeneous catalysts. Since nanoparticles have a large surface-to-volume ratio compared to bulk materials, they are attractive candidates for use as catalysts. Nanoparticles of metals, semiconductors, oxides and other compounds have been widely used for important chemical reactions.

In recent years, nanomaterials have attracted extensive interest for their unique properties in various fields (such as catalytic, electronic and magnetic properties) in comparison with their bulk counterparts. In view of biomass conversion, nanocatalysts come into view as one of the most promising additives to make fuel combustion complete and fast, decrease ignition time, and therefore produce little or non-toxic by-products. In fact, the large surface areas of nanoscale catalysts as well as reports on novel chemical reactivity of particles with nanometer dimensions make these materials highly interesting.

Only limited studies are available in the open literature for the application of nano metal oxides in biomass pyrolysis/gasification [34, 35]. Regarding increased relative surface area of the nanomaterials, it is highly expected that nanocatalysts would have a better catalytic activity in enhancing the performance of biomass gasification/pyrolysis. Gökdai et al. found that variation in pyrolysis temperature had a distinct effect on gas evolution in the presence of nano SnO₂ particles [36]. The maximum gas yield in this study was obtained by nano SnO₂—hazelnut shell interaction at 700°C, while the pyrolytic oil yield obtained by nano SnO₂ at 700°C reached its minimum value compared to the other catalysts used. This behavior of nano SnO₂ can be explained by accelerated primary and secondary decomposition reactions of hazelnut shell in the presence of nano SnO₂ due to the size (3–4 nm) and larger external surface area of the nanoparticles as given by Li et al. [34]. This behavior of nano SnO₂. In view of the gaseous products generated, nano SnO₂ showed better performance at higher temperatures among the catalysts used.

Li et al. prepared nano NiO and tested its activity during biomass pyrolysis using a thermogravimetric analyzer [34]. Lu et al. investigated that nano TiO_2 and its modified catalysts were used for experiments and confirmed to have some good catalytic activities [37]. In this study, six nano metal oxides were used as catalysts to test whether they had the capability to upgrade the fuel properties of bio-oil or maximize the formation of some valuable chemicals. The experiments were performed using an analytical Py-GC/MS instrument which allows direct analysis of the pyrolytic products. The catalytic and non-catalytic products were compared to reveal the catalytic capabilities of these catalysts.

Among the six nano metal oxides, CaO was the most effective catalyst in altering the pyrolytic products. It reduced most of the heavy products (anhydrosugars and phenols), and eliminated the acids, while it increased the formation of hydrocarbons and cyclopentanones. Moreover, it increased four light products (acetaldehyde, acetone, 2-butanone and methanol) greatly, which made the catalytic bio-oil a possible raw material for the recovery of these products. ZnO was a mild catalyst because it only slightly altered the distribution of the pyrolytic products. With regard to the other catalysts, they all reduced the linear aldehydes, while they increased the methanol, linear ketones, phenols and cyclopentanones levels. They also reduced the anhydrosugars remarkably, except for NiO. Moreover, the catalysis by Fe₂O₃ was capable of forming various hydrocarbons, but with several PAHs. These catalytic effects suggested a potential for bio-oil quality improvement, due to the enhanced stability promotion due to the reduced aldehyde levels and increased methanol, and the heating value increase by the formation of cyclopentanones and hydrocarbons. In addition, the increased phenol content after catalysis enabled the recovery of the valuable phenols from the catalytic bio-oils. However, none of these catalysts except CaO were able to greatly reduce the acids, which could be a problem for the use of catalytic bio-oils as liquid fuels.

5.3 Conclusion

The sharp increase in the worldwide oil prices will play an important role in the realization of alternative, renewable energy systems such as bio-oil production, syngas generation from biomass in which the types of catalysts play an important role. Although catalytic behaviors of catalysts differing in acid/base properties, metal (Ni, Pt, etc.) content and porous structure on thermal biomass conversion are widely known, it is needed to develop new types of catalysis for biomass conversion in order to improve the quality of products. Nanoparticles with increased surface area are attractive candidates for such applications.

References

- 1. Cao Q, Jin L, Bao W, Lv Y (2008) Investigations into the characteristics of oils produced from co-pyrolysis of biomass. Fuel Process Technol 90:337–342
- 2. Williams PT, Nugranad N (2000) Comparison of products from the pyrolysis and catalytic pyrolysis of rice husks. Energy 25:493–513
- Ucar S, Ozkan A (2008) Characterization of products from the pyrolysis of rapeseed oil cake. Bioresour Technol 99:8771–8776
- Sınağ A, Sungur M, Güllü M, Canel M (2006) Characterization of the liquid phase obtained by copyrolysis of Mustafa Kemal Pasa (M. K. P.) lignite (Turkey) with low density polyethylene. Energy&Fuels 20:2093–2098
- 5. Sipilaè K, Kuoppala E, Fagernaès L, Oasmaa A (1998) Characterization of biomass-based flash pyrolysis oil. Biomass Bioenergy 14:103–113
- 6. Das P, Ganesh A (2004) Bio-oil from pyrolysis of cashew nut shell—a near fuel. Biomass Bioenergy 27:265–275
- 7. Kumar A, David D, Jones A, Hana MA (2009) Thermochemical biomass gasification: a review of the current status of the technology. Energies 2:556–581
- Sutton D, Kelleher B, Ross JRH (2001) Review of literature on catalysts for biomass gasification. Fuel Process Technol 73:155–173
- Delgado J, Aznar MP, Corella J (1997) Biomass gasification with steam in fluidized bed: Effectiveness of CaO, MgO, and CaO–MgO for hot raw gas cleaning Ind Eng Chem Res 36:1535–1543
- Perez P, Aznar M, Caballero MA, Gil J, Martin A, Corella J (1997) Hot gas cleaning and upgrading with a calcined dolomite located downstream a biomass fluidized bed gasifier operating with steam-oxygen mixtures. Energy Fuels 11:1194–1203
- 11. Rapagna S, Jand N, Kiennemann A, Foscolo PU (2000) Steam-gasification of biomass in a fluidised-bed of olivine particles. Biomass and Bioenergy 19:187–197
- Lee W, Nam SS, Kim SB, Lee KW, Choi CS (2000) The Effect of Na₂CO₃ on the catalytic gasification of rice straw over nickel catalysts supported on kieselguhr. Korean J Chem Eng 17:174–178
- Mudge LK, Baker EG, Mitchell DH, Brown MD (1985) Catalytic steam gasification of biomass for methanol and methane production. J Solar Energy Eng 107:88–92
- 14. Hallen RT, Sealock LT, Cuello R, Bridgwater AV, Kuester JL (ed) (1988) Research in thermochemical biomass conversion. Elsevier Applied Science, London 157–182
- Garcia L, French R, Czernik S, Chornet E (2000) Catalytic steam reforming of bio-oils for the production of hydrogen: effect of catalyst composition. Appl Catalysis A: General 201:225–239

- 5 Catalysts in Thermochemical Biomass Conversion
- Hepola J, Simell P (1997) Sulphur poisoning of nickel-based hot gas cleaning catalysts in synthetic gasification gas I. Effect of different process parameters. Appl Catalysis B: Environ 14:287–303
- 17. Wang D, Montané D, Chornet E (1996) Catalytic steam reforming of biomass-derived oxygenates: acetic acid and hydroxyacetaldehyde. Appl Catalysis A: General 143:245–270
- Caballero MA, Corella J, Aznar MP, Gil J (2000) Biomass gasification with air in fluidized bed. Hot gas cleanup with selected commercial and full-size nickel-based catalysts. Ind Eng Chem Res 39:1143–1154
- Asadullah M, Ito SI, Kunimori K, Yamada M, Tomishige K (2002) Energy efficient production of hydrogen and syngas from biomass: development of low-temperature catalytic process for cellulose gasification. Environ Sci Technol 36:4476–4481
- Ma L, Baron GV (2008) Mixed zirconia–alumina supports for Ni/MgObased catalytic filters for biomass fuel gas cleaning. Powder Technol 180:493–513
- 21. Li J, Xiao B, Liang DT, Du L, Yan R (2008) Development of Nano-NiO/Al2O3 catalyst to be used for tar removal in biomass gasification. Environ Sci Technol 42:6224–6229
- 22. Çit I, Sınağ A, Tekeş ATT, Acar P, Mısırlıoğlu Z, Canel M (2007) Effect of polymers on lignite pyrolysis. J Anal Appl Pyrolysis 80:195–202
- Demirbaş A (2005) Effects of irregular heating rates on pyrolysis yields from hazelnut shell. Energy Sourc. 27:501–508
- 24. Demiral I, Senzöz S (2008) The effects of different catalysts on the pyrolysis of industrial wastes (olive and hazelnut bagasse). Bioresour Technol 99:8002–8007
- Uzun BB, Sarioğlu N (2009) Rapid and catalytic pyrolysis of corn stalks. Fuel Process Technol 90:705–716
- Yanik J, Kornmayer C, Saglam M, Yuksel M (2007) Fast pyrolysis of agricultural wastes: characterization of pyrolysis products. Fuel Process Technol 88:942–947
- 27. Zhang H, Xiao R, Huang H, Xiao G (2009) Comparison of noncatalytic and catalytic fast pyrolysis of corncob in a fluidized bed reactor. Bioresour Technol 100:1428–1434
- 28. Kirszensztejn P, Przekop R, Tolinska A, Mackowska E (2009) Pyrolytic and catalytic conversion of rape oil into aromatic and aliphatic fractions in a fixed bed reactor on Al2O3 and Al2O3/B2O3 catalysts. Chem Pap 63:226–232
- 29. Jun W, Mingxu Z, Mingqiang C, Fanfei M, Suping Z, Zhengwei R (2006) Catalytic effects of six inorganic compounds on pyrolysis of three kinds of biomass. Thermochim Acta 444:110–114
- Samolada MC, Papafotica A, Vasalos IA (2000) Catalyst evaluation for catalytic biomass pyrolysis. Energy & Fuels 14:1161–1167
- Carlson TR, Vispute TP, Huber GW (2008) Green gasoline by catalytic fast pyrolysis of solid biomass derived compounds. ChemSusChem 1:397–400
- 32. Adam J. (2005) Catalytic conversion of biomass to produce higher quality liquid bio-fuels. PhD Thesis. Norwegian University of Science and Technology
- 33. Stefanidis S, Iliopoulou EF, Kalogiannis K, Lappas AA, Triantafyllidis KS (2011) The role of catalyst's micro/mesoporosity and acidity in the upgrading of lignocellulosic biomass flash pyrolysis vapours. In: 22nd North American catalysis society meeting 5–10 June
- 34. Li J, Yan R, Xiao B, Liang DT, Lee DH (2008) Preparation of nano-NiO particles and evaluation of their catalytic activity in pyrolyzing biomass components. Energy Fuels 22:16–23
- 35. Li J, Xiao B, Du L, Yan R, Liang DT (2008) Preparation of nano-NiO particles and evaluation of their catalytic activity in pyrolyzing cellulose. J Fuel Chem Tech 36:42–47
- 36. Gökdai Z, Sınağ A, Yumak T (2010) Comparison of the catalytic efficiency of synthesized nano tin oxide particles and various catalysts for the pyrolysis of hazelnut shell. Biomass and Bioenergy, 34 402–410
- Lu Q, Zhang Z, Dong C, Zhu X (2010) Catalytic upgrading of biomass fast pyrolysis vapors with nano metal oxides: an analytical Py-GC/MS study. Energies 3:1805–1820

Chapter 6 Fatty Acids-Derived Fuels from Biomass via Catalytic Deoxygenation

Bartosz Rozmysłowicz, Päivi Mäki-Arvela and Dmitry Yu. Murzin

6.1 Introduction

Constant decrease of fossil fuels reserves creates a great need for development of the new technologies for production of liquid transportation fuels based on renewable sources. World crude oil reserves, according to OPEC [1], are at the level of 1,337.2 billion barrels. In year 2010 the daily world consumption reached 86.6 million barrels per day (mb/d) [2] with the forecast of increase by 1.4 and 1.6 mb/d in the following 2 years [2]. Even with an assumption that the world fuel consumption will be maintained at the same level, reserves of oil should run out in approximately 40 years. This threat of oil pools depletion leads to an increase of interest in biofuels, both by governments and industries.

Recently in numerous countries legislation measures were taken to increase biofuels share in transportation fuels. European Union will increase the usage of biofuels both in gasoline and diesel to 10% by 2020 [3]. Analogous regulations were proposed in China, Brazil, India, and USA which indicates that biofuels will have significant share of liquid transportation fuels market.

Renewable fuels can be named as first or second generation biofuels depending on the origin. The first-generation biofuels are made mainly from crops. To produce bioethanol cereals, maize or sugar beet is used, whereas biodiesel feedstock consists of canola, soybean, or palm oil. There is a great concern that the production of those fuels in large scale could in a significant way decrease food cropland. Therefore, the second generation of biofuels was introduced using non-food crops source such us lignocellulosic residues, tall oil, or algae. Another advantage of those fuels is lower emissions of CO_2 per unit of energy content

B. Rozmysłowicz · P. Mäki-Arvela · D. Yu. Murzin (🖂)

Laboratory of Industrial Chemistry and Reaction Engineering, Process Chemistry Centre, Åbo Akademi University, 20500 Turku/Åbo, Finland

e-mail: dmurzin@abo.fi



Fig. 6.1 Estimated green-house-gases emission per unit of energy content by LCA WTW assessment for fossil fuels and selected cases of first and second generation biofuels. Taken from Ref. [4]

(Fig. 6.1) by LCA WTW assessment (life cycle assessment, well-to wheel), which is the product life cycle starting from extraction to waste disposal [4, 5].

While in first- and second-generation bioethanol there are no differences in composition of the fuel, significant differences could be observed in the case of biodiesel. Originally biodiesel was the name connected to fatty acids methyl ester (FAME), but recently new technologies emerged for production of diesel fuels that originates from biomass. Deoxygenation of fatty acids is a process involving hydrodeoxygenation (HDO) or decarboxylation/decarbonylation of carboxylic group that leads to formation of diesel-like hydrocarbons (Green diesel). Process of HDO is already applied on industrial scale by Neste Oil (NExBTL oil). There are three units already operating (Singapore and two in Finland) and one in construction (Rotterdam, which should be ready in the end of the year 2011) with combined capacity of around 2 million tons per year [6]. In this process fatty acids are converted to aliphatic hydrocarbons, which is advantageous compared to transesterification method, where products contain significant amount of oxygen.

The other option besides HDO is decarboxylation/decarbonylation. Pioneering work was performed recently with participation of the authors [7–9]. It was found that it is possible to remove carboxylic group using heterogeneous catalysts, with less hydrogen consumption than in HDO process.

In this chapter comparison of different routes of deoxygenation will be described as well as recent research in this field.

6.2 Deoxygenation Processes

Deoxygenation of fatty acids is a broad term that covers HDO, decarboxylation, decarbonylation, or even cracking. Temperature of the process is close to 300°C or higher. Therefore, independently on deoxygenating catalyst selection, the following reactions could occur:

- HDO (hydrotreating)
- Decarboxylation
- Decarbonylation
- Hydrogenation of double bond in unsaturated fatty acids
- Cracking

In this case selectivity toward desired reaction mechanism should be division criteria, which is important to understand different approaches for deoxygenation, there straight and weaknesses.

6.2.1 Hydrodeoxygenation of Fatty Acids

HDO or hydrotreating of fatty acids was developed based on hydrodesulfurization (HDS) method which is used in purification of hydrocarbons feedstock in petrochemical industry. The milestone for this technology was the first patent describing a method of hydrotreating of fatty acids and triglycerides of them made by Craig et al. [10]. Commercially available hydrotreating catalysts, such as bimetallic cobalt–molybdenum (Co–Mo) or nickel–molybdenum (Ni–Mo), were used for hydrotreating fatty acids and their derivatives in a temperature range of 350–450°C and 4.8–15.2 MPa hydrogen pressure. Results showed high conversion of different fatty acid feedstocks (canola oil, palm oil, rapeseed oil, sunflower oil, soybean oil, and tall oil fatty acids fraction) to hydrocarbons.

The general approach of this technique is catalytic deoxygenation of fatty acids, their esters, or triglycerides over a catalyst promoting hydrogenation reaction. The fatty acid transformation should be preferably performed in a hydrogen-rich atmosphere to promote hydrogenation/hydrogenolysis of carboxylic group.

6.2.1.1 Catalysts for Hydrodeoxygenation

Since the first report [10], until today, there is no available information about catalysts for HDO better than Ni–Mo and Co–Mo. Although, they are known as good deoxygenating catalysts for 20 years, recently, due to increasing interest in production of renewable diesel, numerous research groups have done studies on improving catalyst performance and understanding mechanism of HDO of fatty acids and their derivatives.

	Ni–Mo/γ-Al ₂ O ₃ Oxide ^a	Sulfic	led ^a		Co–Mo/γ-Al ₂ O ₃ Oxide ^a	Sulfic	led ^a	
	300 ^b	250 ^b	275 ^b	300 ^b	300 ^b	250 ^b	275 ^b	300 ^b
Average conversion (%)	43.2	80.0	100	100	13.0	46.6	78.4	100
Hydrocarbons yield (%) ^c	10.5	60.9	100	100	1.1	29.6	71.4	100
Catalyst ^d								
Sulfur (%) ^e	-	6.0	6.0	5.9	-	5.4	6.0	5.2
Carbon (%)	_	6.2	4.7	4.5	-	7.5	7.9	6.4

Table 6.1 Hydrodeoxygenation of methyl heptanoate over sulfided Ni–Mo/ γ -Al₂O₃ and Co–Mo/ γ -Al₂O₃ catalysts

Adopted from Ref. [16]

^a Catalyst form

^b Temperature (°C)

^c Yield = Σ Fi/Fe, in × 100%; where Fi is the molar flow rate of each hydrocarbon (mol/h) and Fe, in is the inlet molar flow rate of the ester (mol/h)

^d Sulfur and carbon analysis of the spent catalyst (presulfided catalysts: sulfur = 6.9% and carbon <1% on the Ni–Mo catalyst; sulfur = 7% and carbon <1% on the Co–Mo catalyst)

^e Sulfur content on carbon-free basis

Nowadays the commonly used catalysts are sulfided Ni–Mo/ γ -Al₂O₃ and Co–Mo/ γ -Al₂O₃ [16–20]. Sulfided catalysts gave higher conversion and selectivity at lower temperatures, between 250 and 300°C (Table 6.1), compared to performance of the oxides which are more active at temperatures above 350°C [10]. Although sulfided catalysts are more active in deoxygenation, there is a threat of fast deactivation caused partially by leaching of sulfur from the catalyst (Table 6.1). Alternatively sulfur could be added to feedstock, but in that case it will cause contamination of the product—diesel fuel, which should be sulfur-free.

When comparing sulfided catalysts, in terms of activity and selectivity, sulfided Ni–Mo/ γ -Al₂O₃ outperformed Co–Mo/ γ -Al₂O₃ catalyst at lower temperatures (250–300°C) giving higher conversion and selectivity to hydrocarbons (Table 6.1) [11–13]. The data shows that the sulfided Ni–Mo/ γ -Al₂O₃ is the most suitable catalyst taking into account its selectivity and activity for HDO reaction at relatively low temperature.

6.2.1.2 HDO Reaction Pathway

Catalytic HDO over sulfided Ni–Mo/ γ -Al₂O₃ and Co–Mo/ γ -Al₂O₃ catalysts was proven to be a complex reaction [14], in which not only active metal is responsible for conversion of fatty acids and their derivatives, but also alumina support and sulfur compound exhibit activity as well.

The reaction pathway and mechanism for transformation of fatty acids esters over sulfided catalysts was proposed by [14]. Figure 6.2a shows a complete

pathway of reactions that can take place over sulfided catalyst. The fatty acid esters can be transformed to fatty acids by hydrolysis and thereafter converted directly to hydrocarbons containing one less carbon number by decarboxylation/decarbonylation or transform indirectly via aldehyde as an intermediate. Hydrocarbons with the same carbon number can be produced by reduction of fatty acids via aldehyde and alcohol. Separately, esterification of the fatty acids and their alcohols can occur, forming esters with the same number of carbons in the chain on both sides of the ester group.

Apart from elucidating deoxygenation pathways of fatty acid esters over Ni–Mo and Co–Mo catalysts, influence of sulfur on the reaction mechanism was also shown [14]. Dehydration reaction can be catalyzed by acid. Therefore, it was proposed that, in conversion of alcohols to alkenes, elimination reactions (E_1 , E_2) can occur (Fig. 6.2b). Although elimination reaction E_1 is unlikely to occur, elimination reaction E_2 is the plausible mechanism which produces alkenes. The supports-catalyzed acid reactions were, however, excluded because in the experiment using only γ -Al₂O₃ no hydrocarbons were formed using fatty acids esters as a feedstock at 300°C and under 1.5 MPa hydrogen pressure. Fatty acids and alcohols originating from the transformation of esters were the only products found [11].

The elimination reaction does not explain the presence of sulfur compounds in the reaction mixture. Hence mechanism of substitution was proposed (Fig. 6.2c). Although substitution of S_N1 is unlikely to occur due to the unstable carbenium ion as an intermediate, S_N2 substitution occurs which is confirmed by the formation of thiol compounds [14].

The role of sulfur in the deoxygenation mechanism over sulfided Ni–Mo and Co–Mo catalysts is still unclear. Although elimination and substitution reactions can explain the formation of sulfur compounds and *n*-carbon alkenes, by dehydration of alcohols, the role of reactions on overall conversion has not yet been clarified. However, effect of the addition of the sulfur can be stated [12]. With increasing content of H_2S in the reaction, the following was observed:

- increase of the conversion of aliphatic esters to hydrocarbons
- · increase of selectivity toward decarboxylation/decarbonylation products
- increase of unsaturation of hydrocarbon products

To avoid sulfidation of the catalyst and addition of the sulfur to the feedstock, metal nitrides catalysts supported on alumina were tested for the deoxygenation of oleic acid and canola oil [15]. Although oxygen removal from canola oil in a continuous reactor, at 400°C and 8.35 MPa hydrogen pressure, reached 90% level, the yield of hydrocarbons which can be used as diesel fuel did not exceed 50/100 g of oleic acid.

When investigated separately Ni, Mo and Ni–Mo/ γ -Al₂O₃ catalysts, it was found that decarboxylation/decarbonylation reaction occur at the nickel surface, where reduction of the carboxylic group occurs on the Mo sites [16]. Therefore, Ni–Mo alloy is selective toward decarboxylation/decarbonylation depending on the proportions between the active metals. When the proportion of Ni to total amount of Ni–Mo on γ -Al₂O₃ was varied between 0.2 and 0.4, the selectivity to



Fig. 6.2 Reaction pathway of methyl heptanoate over sulfided Ni–Mo/ γ -Al₂O₃ and Co–Mo/ γ -Al₂O₃ catalysts **a** (R = C₆H₁₃). Acid-catalyzed **b** elimination and **c** substitution mechanisms of 1-heptanol (R = C₄H₉). Taken from Ref. [14]

hydrogenation of carboxylic group was in the range of 60–80% (at 100% conversion, temperature between 260 and 280°C and under 3.5 MPa of hydrogen pressure). Although Ni and Mo on γ -Al₂O₃ show lower conversion of triglycerides than Ni–Mo catalysts, their selectivity within the hydrocarbon products was close to 100% for Ni to decarboxylation/decarbonylation reaction and for Mo to hydrogenation of carboxylic group.

HDO of rapeseed oil has been recently studied over sulfided Ni–Mo catalyst using mesoporous alumina as a support. When compared to γ -Al₂O₃, the sulfided Ni–Mo catalyst with mesoporous alumina structure showed higher activity in

temperature range of 260–280°C. The catalyst with mesoporous support outperformed the catalyst with micropores alumina by 50% yield at 260°C [17]. These results can be explained by good accessibility of long-chain fatty acids to the active sites of Ni–Mo catalyst.

Influence of hydrogen pressure and volume ratio between hydrogen and sunflower oil was investigated over a non-sulfifed Co–Mo/Al₂O₃ catalyst in the temperature range between 320 and 380°C [18]. The results from the experiments indicate that with an increase of temperature, an increase in conversion and increase of ratio, between decarboxylation/decarbonylation and hydrogenation of carboxylic group, occur. On the other hand, an increase of hydrogen pressure favors hydrogenation reactions of triglycerides as well as slightly increases the conversion level. The results of experiments with different volume ratio between hydrogen and sunflower oil indicate that the highest conversion of sunflower oil was obtained at the ratio between 400 and 600 Nm^3/m^3 .

6.2.1.3 Catalyst Deactivation

Deactivation of the Ni-Mo and Co-Mo catalysts in the HDO is caused by:

- desulfurization of the catalyst
- coke formation
- water inhibition
- catalyst poisons

Desulfurization of the catalyst is one of the main reasons of deactivation. Sulfur compounds could be removed from the surface of the catalyst by reactions with compounds from the reaction mixture [11, 12, 14] or hydrogen [19]. Commonly accepted way to inhibit deactivation is addition of the sulfur-containing compounds to the feedstock. When H_2S and CS_2 were added to the feedstock no significant decrease of deactivation of the catalyst was observed. Sulfur content in the Ni–Mo catalyst was not affected when H_2S or CS_2 were added. In the case of Co–Mo catalyst the addition of different amounts of sulfur agents did not stop desulfurization of the catalyst. Moreover, addition of CS_2 caused lower yield of hydrocarbons, compared to H_2S , but increase of fatty acid production from esters [12].

Coke formation was observed over Ni–Mo and Co–Mo catalyst in the deoxygenation of the aliphatic esters (Table 6.1). It can be partially responsible for deactivation of the catalyst by blocking the catalyst active sites. The Ni–Mo and Co–Mo catalysts on γ -Al₂O₃ can be regenerated by burning away the coke deposits with hot air, but there is no published data available for the influence of regeneration on the sulfided catalysts properties.

The water inhibition was studied with aliphatic esters, showing deactivation of Ni–Mo and Co–Mo catalysts. Water inhibition is an important issue because it can be created in different stages during the reaction (Fig. 6.2a). Increase of water in the reaction mixture causes not only deactivation but it also affects product distribution by decreasing strongly decarboxylation/decarbonylation reaction rate,

compared to hydrogenation rate, increasing the ratio between *n*-carbon and *n*-1-carbon hydrocarbons [20]. A negative effect of water can be diminished by addition of H_2S but that will promote decarboxylation/decarbonylation reaction, as mentioned before (see Sect. 6.2.1.2).

The negative effect of phosphorus and alkali, impurities from vegetable oils feedstock, was studied over sulphided Co–Mo/ γ -Al₂O₃ catalyst at 310°C and 3.5 MPa of hydrogen pressure [21]. Alkali metals block/poison active sites leading to deactivation of the catalyst. When alkalis and phosphorus were present, deactivation of the catalyst was even higher than in the absence of them because of the formation of phosphates locating above charge-compensating alkalis. In the absence of alkalis, phospholipids produced phosphoric acid which catalyzed oligomerization reactions and lead to deactivation of the catalyst by carbonaceous deposits.

6.2.1.4 Hydrodeoxygenation of Different Feedstocks

To evaluate usefulness of the process it is crucial to determine whether the reaction can occur with sufficient rates using feedstocks available on the market in large quantities. Therefore, one good example of cheap raw material is waste cooking oil (WCO) obtained from different sources [22]. The results show complete deoxygenation of the WCO with high selectivity to hydrocarbons (>90%) using sulfided Ni–Mo, NiW, Co–Mo on Al₂O₃ ,and Ni–Mo/B₂O₃-Al₂O₃ at 250–350°C under 7 MPa of hydrogen. The experiments were performed in the fixed bed reactor to evaluate deactivation of the catalysts. Apart from the initial deactivation Ni–Mo/Al₂O₃, NiW/Al₂O₃, and Ni–Mo/B₂O₃-Al₂O₃ show no deactivation during 80 h time-on-stream at 350°C and 5 MPa of hydrogen pressure, in contrast to Co– Mo/Al₂O₃ which deactivated significantly due to extensive catalyst desulfurization. It is worth to mention that desulfurization of Co–Mo/Al₂O₃ catalyst in the reaction with stearic, oleic, and linoleic acids increases with increasing unsaturation of the fatty acids.

Improvement of cetane number for diesel fuels could be achieved by blending it with deoxygenated bio-oil. It was proven that deoxygenation of rapeseed oil [23] and cottonseed oil [24] blends in diesel fuel, in the quantity of 10-20% and 10%, respectively, was successful. In case of rapeseed oil some hydrocracking occurs, at temperature of $350-380^{\circ}$ C and 5 MPa hydrogen pressure over Ni–Mo/Al₂O₃ catalyst, which leads to a decrease of the flash point of obtained diesel. For 10% cottonseed oil blend in diesel, at temperature of $305-345^{\circ}$ C and 3 MPa hydrogen pressure, using Co–Mo/Al₂O₃ catalyst an increase of cetane number by 3 was achieved [24]. The transformation of cottonseed oil did not affect cloud point or density of the diesel blend compared to pure diesel fuel.

Combination of HDO and hydrodesulfurization processes was proposed recently [25]. The idea of the process is to deoxygenate triglycerides in the same unit, in which HDS of atmospheric gas oil occurs (Fig. 6.3). It is beneficial



Fig. 6.3 Flow scheme proposal for co-processing hydrodesulfurization of atmospheric gas oil with hydrodeoxygenation of renewable feedstocks. Taken from Ref. [25]

because the same catalyst is used in both processes (Ni–Mo, Co–Mo, etc.) and the problem with desulfurization of the catalyst did not appear.

6.2.2 Decarboxylation/Decarbonylation of Fatty Acids

The selective decarboxylation/decarboxylation of fatty acids is a relatively new technique which emerged very recently [7]. The idea of the process is to selectively decarboxylate/decarbonylate fatty acids to *n*-1-carbon alkanes with the selectivity above 95%. It was shown that fatty acid conversion can be achieved at around 300°C without using hydrogen [8]. Moreover, the pressure of the process is around 2 MPa using typically argon or 5% vol. H₂ in argon atmosphere, compared to HDO over Ni–Mo and Co–Mo catalysts, where pressure is around 3–8 MPa of hydrogen.

6.2.2.1 Catalysts for Decarboxylation/Decarbonylation

In the pioneering work describing this method, variety of catalysts was tested for deoxygenation of stearic acid at 300°C and 0.6 MPa of helium [9]. Catalyst screening was performed for Pd, Pt, Mo, Ni, Ru, Rh, Ir, and Os metals, bimetallic Pd–Pt catalyst as well as Raney nickel and oxides Ni–Mo/Al₂O₃. It was shown that Pd and Pt active metals on carbon as a support have the highest activity and selectivity to hydrocarbons (Table 6.2).

Catalyst	Conversion (%) ^a	Select	ivity (%)) ^a			
		S _{C17}	S _{C18}	S _{C35}	S_{crack}^{c}	Sheavy	Sether
81% Raney-Ni	14.0	50	< 0.5	-	17	32	_
16% Ni/Al ₂ O ₃	17.8	46	< 0.5	12	13	29	_
60% Ni/SiO ₂	18.1	58	1	-	20	21	_
50% Ni/Cr ₂ O ₃	12.3	60	-	-	17	24	_
3%, 9% Ni-Mo/Al ₂ O ₃	8.6	23	-	-	3	74	_
5% Ru/SiO ₂	7.2	23	-	60	7	11	_
5% Ru/MgO	96.2	-	-	99	-	1	-
5% Ru/C	13.2	65	< 0.5	8	11	15	_
5% Pd/Al ₂ O ₃	23.7	42	-	48	1	9	_
1% Pd/C	33.4	94	1	_	1	2	2
10% Pd/C	48.1	94	< 0.5	3	1	-	2
5% Pd/C	100	99	-	_	1	-	< 0.5
8%, 2% PdPt/C	61.6	96	< 0.5	_	3	1	< 0.5
5% Pt/Al ₂ O ₃	19.9	46	< 0.5	37	2	14	< 0.5
5% Pt/C	86	95	< 0.5	-	4	< 0.5	< 0.5
2% Ir/Al ₂ O ₃	17.2	2	-	85	-	12	_
1% Ir/SiO ₂	4.6	69	-	_	2	29	_
5% Os/C	6.9	53	-	17	7	22	_
3% Rh/SiO ₂	15.7	23	-	56	3	18	_
1% Rh/C	17.9	85	< 0.5	4	4	7	< 0.5

 Table 6.2
 Conversion and selectivities to C17, C18 hydrocarbons and byproducts in stearic acid deoxygenation with different catalysts

Reaction conditions: $m_{stearic}_{acid} = 4.5 \text{ g}$, $m_{dodecane} = 86 \text{ g}$, $m_{catalyst} = 1 \text{ g}$, $T = 300^{\circ} \text{ C}$, p 0.6 MPa, $V_{carrier gas} = 25 \text{ mL/min}$ (He). Adopted from Ref. [14]. The metal loading is in wt%. ^a Conversion of stearic acid and selectivities towards products after 6 h of reaction

^b Selectivity to C35 symmetrical ketones

^c Crack denotes cracking products consisted of shorter fatty acids, C10–C17 acids and shorter hydrocarbons, C13–C16 hydrocarbons

^d Heavy denotes dimeric products formed via unsaturated acids and olefins

^e Other denotes unidentified products

Furthermore, different catalyst supports were used such as Al_2O_3 , SiO_2 , Cr_2O_3 , active carbon, and zeolites, from which active carbon was the most suitable for decarboxylation/decarbonylation of fatty acids. The zeolite-supported metal catalysts show high activity, but low selectivity to long-chain hydrocarbons, which was caused by cracking of the feedstock. Therefore, high acidity of the support is not suitable for obtaining fuel with high cetane number. On the other hand, basicity of the supports is not desired as well due to very low selectivity to hydrocarbons. The Ru/MgO catalyst with a basic support used for deoxygenation of stearic acid, converted 99% of fatty acids into ketones containing 35 carbons (Table 6.2).

The bimetallic metal oxides Ni–Mo/Al₂O₃ show low activity and selectivity towards hydrocarbons at the temperature of 300°C and 0.6 MPa helium pressure. This result is in agreement with the other works (Table 6.1) which show low activity of Ni–Mo oxide catalyst at temperatures around 300°C.

Since fatty acids, their esters, and triglycerides are relatively large molecules it could be beneficial to use catalysts support with its mesoporous structure. Sibunit carbon was used as a support for deoxygenation of dodecanoic acid [8]. The advantage of Sibunit over activated carbon is mesoporous structure (pores larger than 2 nm) and higher thermal and mechanical strength which are more suitable for industrial application of the catalyst. Despite change of the properties of Sibunit compared to active carbon the activity and selectivity of palladium supported on Sibunit are still the same.

The influence of mesoporous support structure was shown in deoxygenation of stearic acid and ethyl stearate over palladium on mesocellular silica foam support [26]. The catalysts proposed for deoxygenation of fatty acids have amorphous cell and window of 37 and 17 nm, respectively. High porosity of the material ensured good accessibility of substrates to the palladium nanoparticles, thus decreasing internal diffusion limitations.

The effect of metal dispersion was studied over 1% Pd/C at temperature of 300°C with pressure 1.75 MPa of hydrogen in argon [27]. The catalysts with metal dispersion between 18 and 72% were used for deoxygenation of stearic and palmitic acid. The optimum results for deoxygenation of fatty acids were achieved with the catalysts with palladium dispersion between 47 and 65%. In the case of the catalyst with the lowest palladium dispersion (18%), the metallic surface area is too low to provide sufficient deoxygenation activity. Moreover, extensive catalyst deactivation occurs. For the catalyst with the most dispersed palladium on the surface (72%), activity was lower than for catalysts with dispersion of 65 and 47%. This result could be explained by deposition of the smallest palladium particles in the micropores which could be easily blocked by coke deposits.

6.2.2.2 Reaction Pathway in Decarboxylation/Decarbonylation Process

Transformation of fatty acids over palladium catalysts is highly selective to produce hydrocarbons with n-1-carbon number, where n is carbon number of fatty acid substrate. The formation of gaseous products, CO, and CO₂, indicates that transformation of fatty acids occurs via decarboxylation and decarbonylation [9]. Hydrogen is not needed for the reaction to occur but low amounts are beneficial for catalyst stability. The reaction pathway was proposed for deoxygenation of stearic acid over Pd/C catalyst (Fig. 6.4) [9]. The pathways have been updated from the original work of [14] by adding the intermediate steps of the formation of aldehyde and its hydrogenation to alcohol based on our recent data [28], where it was shown that catalytic pathway in deoxygenation of fatty acids depends on the hydrogen content in gas atmosphere. In hydrogen-free conditions the main reaction is decarboxylation whereas in hydrogen-rich conditions decarbonylation dominates. The latter reaction proceeds through an aldehyde intermediate, which is transformed at high rate to (n-1) hydrocarbon. The alcohol intermediate can be formed in these conditions via hydrogenation of aldehyde; however, further dehydroxylation to the corresponding hydrocarbon does not proceed, while alcohol is



Fig. 6.4 Reaction pathway for deoxygenation of stearic acid over a Pd/C catalyst. Adopted from Ref. [9]

decomposed over palladium via an alkyl intermediate to (n-1) hydrocarbon [28]. Despite numerous of reactions that can occur on the palladium catalyst the selectivity toward by-products is very low. The 95 mol% of stearic acid was converted to *n*-heptadecane and 3 mol% to *n*-heptadecenes, over 5 wt% Pd/C (Table 6.2).

The desired products of deoxygenation are long-chain hydrocarbons. By-products of the reaction can by created by cracking (not observed over Pd/C catalyst) and due to transformation of the unsaturated products (olefins) or unsaturated fatty acids. Olefins can be transformed to cycloalkanes by cyclization reaction which goes via dehydrogenation forming aromatics (e.g. benzyl undecane) [29], while unsaturated fatty acids can form dimers by Diels–Alder reaction [30].

Deoxygenation of fatty acid esters over palladium catalyst occurs via formation of fatty acid followed by decarboxylation/decarbonylation reaction [31, 32]. Aromatic C17 hydrocarbons were also found as by-products in small extents.

In the case of unsaturated fatty acids the reaction pathway is extended by isomerization reaction of the feedstock (Fig. 6.5). In the studies of linoleic and oleic acid deoxygenateon over Pd/C catalyst, it was proven that *cis/trans* izomerization can occur [33] together with migration of the double bond through aliphatic chain giving high number of fatty acid isomers [29].

In the first work describing the deoxygenation of fatty acids over noble metal catalysts [9] it was shown that decarboxylation is the main reaction giving CO_2 as a gas product. Recently it was proven that during reaction, the ratio between



Fig. 6.5 Reaction scheme of oleic acid deoxygenation over a Pd/C catalyst. Taken from Ref. [33]

decarboxylation and decarbonylation can change. Deoxygenation over a fresh Pd/C catalyst starts with high selectivity toward decarboxylation. However, in time the selectivity toward decarboxylation can decrease followed by an increase of decarbonylation reaction [34]. This phenomenon could occur due to accumulation of carbon monoxide in the reaction atmosphere (see Sect. 6.2.2.3).

Hydrogen per se is not needed for decarboxylation/decarbonylation reaction to occur. Its presence can, however, influence reaction pathway. It was shown that increase of hydrogen content in the reaction atmosphere is increasing hydrogenation rate of carboxylate group. Thereafter, an instant decarbonylation of the created aldehyde species occurs [28].

6.2.2.3 Catalyst Deactivation

Catalyst deactivation can occur mainly due to three reasons:

- formation of carbon deposits
- inhibition by carbon monoxide
- formation of aromatic species

Formation of carbon deposits was observed in a reaction over a Pd/C catalyst. Catalyst coking was confirmed by nitrogen adsorption measurements showing a decrease in specific surface area of the spent catalyst [9]. The decrease in the catalyst specific surface area was mainly observed in the micropores (below 2 nm

diameter) [33, 34] that indicate legitimacy of using mesoporous support in which bigger pores are less vulnerable for occlusion. In reactions with saturated fatty acids carbon deposits were the main reason for catalyst deactivation, when the main reaction was decarboxylation [9].

The carbon monoxide inhibition was studied over 5 wt% Pd/C catalyst in deoxygenation of stearic acid [34, 35]. It was observed that with increase of carbon monoxide content, a decrease in decarboxylation rate occurs. The phenomenon could be explained by competitive inhibition by CO and the substrate of active sites responsible for decarboxylation reaction. Moreover, no decrease of decarbonylation rate was observed after CO addition, which could indicate that decarbonylation and decarboxylation do not occur on the same active site of the catalyst. Poisoning of the catalyst by endogenous CO indicates the necessity of removing gaseous products from the reactor atmosphere.

During deoxygenation of unsaturated fatty acids formation of undesired aromatic products could occur. During deoxygenation of tall oil fatty acids over 1% Pd/C [29] formation of aromatic compounds was detected. Using GC–MS apparatus it was confirmed that these species are derivatives of benzyl undecane. The formation of the aromatics was only observed with deoxygenation of unsaturated fatty acids. With an increase of temperature, an increase of aromatics formation rate was observed, which leads to more extensive deactivation. Moreover, when double bonds in tall oil fatty acids were hydrogenated, no formation of aromatics species and no extensive deactivation occurred during deoxygenation process.

6.2.2.4 Deoxygenation of Different Feedstocks

The transformation of unsaturated fatty acids was studied at temperature of 300°C in hydrogen or in argon atmosphere [33, 36]. The results indicate that with increasing unsaturation of the feedstock there is a decrease in deoxygenation activity of Pd/C catalyst. As mentioned before (see Sect. 6.2.2.3), deactivation of the catalyst can occur due to formation of aromatic compounds. In deoxygenation experiments with stearic and oleic acid, the initial deoxygenation rates are the same, but for oleic acid reaction there can be visible deactivation of the catalyst with time [36]. Rate of linoleic acid deoxygenation is much lower compared to stearic and oleic acids which indicate that extensive deactivation occurs from the beginning of the reaction (Fig. 6.6).

The deoxygenation of tall oil fatty acids was performed over 1 wt% Pd/C catalyst the temperature range between 300 and 360°C and with different hydrogen content in the reaction atmosphere [29]. Tall oil fatty acids are mixture of free fatty acids derived from wood biomass. The main components are linoleic and oleic acid, whose amounts are varying depending on the origin of crude tall oil used in the distillation. An increase in deoxygenation was achieved with increase of temperature, but at the same time selectivity decreased due to increase of aromatic compounds production, which could be inhibited by increase of hydrogen content in reaction atmosphere, as mentioned before (see Sect. 6.2.2.3).



The deoxygenation of fatty acid esters over Pd/C catalyst was studied in the semibatch reactor [31, 32]. For the transformation of ethyl ester over Pd/C catalyst, the yield of hydrocarbons was lower compared to that achieved with stearic acid [31]. The main product was stearic acid which is an intermediate in the reaction. A higher conversion can be achieved with increase of hydrogen content in the reaction atmosphere than under inert atmosphere [32]. Ethyl stearate transformation was also successfully demonstrated in the fixed bed reactor over Pd/C catalyst [37].

The triglycerides were deoxygenated over 5 wt% Pd/C catalyst at 360°C and 4.2 MPa pressure of 5% hydrogen in argon [7]. The results indicated that a total conversion of tristearine was achieved with hydrocarbon fraction of 64 wt% of the reaction mixture. The *n*-heptadecane was the main product in the mixture of C17 hydrocarbons isomers.

The renewable diesel, because of its composition, has worse low temperature properties compared to conventional diesel. One of the ways to improve low temperature properties of long-chain hydrocarbons in renewable diesel is skeleton isomerization. Therefore, Pd/SAPO-31 catalyst was studied in the one-pot deoxygenation and skeleton isomerization of sunflower oil at the temperature range of $310-360^{\circ}$ C and 2 MPa of hydrogen [38]. Deoxygenation over Pd/SAPO-31 catalyst shows good selectivity to branched hydrocarbons. The ratio between branched and linear hydrocarbons is the highest at temperature between 320 and 350° C. Isomerization of hydrocarbons can be increased as well by the increase of the residence time in the fixed bed reactor. Despite good isomerization properties, Pd/SAPO-31 catalyst deactivates in time on stream showing extensive decrease in selectivity toward branched hydrocarbons after 14 h with the optimal isomerization conditions (T = 340° C, WHSV = 0.9/h). It is worth to mention that with increase of temperature and residence time, the selectivity toward long (C17 and C18)-chain hydrocarbons decreases from 91 (T = 310° C, WHSV = 0.9/h) to

28 wt% (T = 360°C, WHSV = 0.9/h), which is caused by extensive cracking at higher temperatures.

The different approach for deoxygenation of triglycerides, fatty acids and their esters was shown in their transformation over a PtSnK/SiO₂ catalyst [39]. The idea of the process was to obtain olefins and paraffins, which could be used as a diesel fuel or could serve as substitute for petrochemical feedstocks for specialty chemicals. To avoid side reactions of unsaturated products (aromatization, oligomerization) and to increase selectivity toward olefins, the reactive distillation process was used. It was observed that PtSnK/SiO₂ catalyst has high selectivity toward olefins, which also increased with a decrease of product residence time inside the reactor.

6.2.3 Deoxygenation of Fatty Acids via Catalytic Cracking

The process of the catalytic cracking over highly acidic catalysts was proposed for transformation of triglycerides to obtain chemicals or fuels. The catalytic cracking of fatty acids is a highly unselective process involving cleavage of C–C bond of the fatty acids. In the case of HDO and decarboxylation/decarbonylation process oxygen removal is based on highly selective reactions over α -carbon, whereas in the case of catalytic cracking the reaction can occur independently on the position of carbon–carbon bond in the fatty acid.

Microporous, highly acidic zeolites, such as ZSM-5, have also been used as catalyst in the transformation of fatty acids esters [40] and triglycerides [41]. Transformation of the methyl octanoate gave 99% conversion of the ester at 500°C with a broad distribution of the products from C1 to C7 hydrocarbons from which the highest selectivity was achieved for ethane (34%). Aromatic products such as benzene, toluene, C8, and C9+ aromatics were found in the reaction mixture and their yield exceeds 20% [40]. Transformation of triglycerides over ZSM-5 at temperature of 400°C gave similar product distribution, but with different selectivities [41]. After 90% of triolein conversion, propylene was the main product with the selectivity of 44%. Selectivity toward benzene and toluene reached 40 and 20%, respectively.

The example of ZSM-5 suggests that zeolites are not good catalysts for production of the green diesel because of highly unselective transformation of fatty acids and their derivatives, leading to the formation of undesired aromatic compounds. However, it was recently proposed that catalytic cracking of fatty acid esters over MgO/Al₂O₃ catalysts resulted in minor formation of aromatic compounds, maintaining good deoxygenation activity [42].

The effect of MgO loading in Al_2O_3 was studied in oleic acid deoxygenation. The experiments were carried out at the temperature of 300, 350 and 400°C in presence of MgO-Al₂O₃ catalysts with magnesium oxide loading of 30, 63, and 70 wt% of the total catalyst weight [42]. With the MG-63 (MgO 63 wt%) and MG-70 (MgO 70 wt%) the oleic acid was converted in 98%. The oxygen content in the reaction mixture was below 1 wt%, for reaction at 400°C. The reaction mixture was composed from hydrocarbons in the range of C7–C17, and minor aromatics compounds. The reaction should be performed above 350°C to avoid saponification of fatty acids.

Recently, the use of Cs-containing zeolites (CsNaX) as a deoxygenation catalyst was proposed [43]. The CsNaX catalyst has an advantage of high selectivity toward n to n-2 carbon length hydrocarbons (n—length of fatty acid chain) compared to non-Cs-containing zeolites over which poor selectivities have been achieved. The transformation over CsNaX catalyst of 10% methyl octanoate was performed in methanol which sustains catalyst activity, at 425°C and inert atmospheric pressure. The CsNaX catalyst is superior to MgO, in the activity, which indicates that not only basic sites are needed for the conversion of fatty acids esters, but also synergy of basic and acidic zeolite sites is required.

6.2.4 Comparison of Deoxygenation Methods

For fair comparison of the catalytic deoxygenation methods of fatty acids, the criteria which reveal usefulness of the process have to be stated. The process was mainly developed for production of fuels from renewable feedstocks, which should in the nearest future replace, partially or totally, production of the diesel fuels from oil. Therefore, the product of the catalytic deoxygenation should be compatible with the specifications for diesel fuels. Moreover, costs of production should be considered.

The selectivity of the process is important for obtaining good grade fuel. The fuel from HDO and decarboxylation/decarbonylation processes has a high cetane number which makes them desirable product for implementation in diesel engines. The only problem with long-chain hydrocarbons can be poor low temperature properties which, however, can be diminished by, e.g., skeleton isomerization. Fuels from HDO and decarboxylation/decarbonylation processes have a minor amount of aromatics which are not desired in the diesel fuel.

Regarding catalytic cracking of fatty acids, the fuel obtained via this method has good low temperature properties. However, the cetane number of such fuel is relatively lower than the corresponding one for fuel obtained via HDO and decarboxylation/decarbonylation processes. The aromatics content is high using conventional zeolites and decrease with MgO- and Cs-based catalysts.

The carbon efficiency of HDO and decarboxylation/decarbonylation reaction is very high. Based on the stoichiometry of the reaction, for the HDO process, the carbon efficiency can reach 98% (with assumption of 70% selectivity toward hydrogenation of carboxylic group at 100% of conversion [20]) for fatty acids and 93% for triglycerides. For the decarboxylation/decarbonylation process, the carbon efficiency, as well based on stoichiometry of the reaction (at conversion of 100%), can reach 94% for fatty acids and 89% for triglycerides.

Carbon efficiency for catalytic cracking is low (assuming the product is used as a transportation diesel fuel). It is very difficult to state how much carbon from the feedstock can be used as a fuel because different cracking catalysts give different product distribution. Commonly used values of elemental carbon content of the product are given in some of the papers describing cracking of fatty acids; however, those values are not representative because they do not take into account structure of the created compounds, from which some of them (e.g. aromatics) cannot be used as a diesel fuel. Similar misunderstanding comes with elemental oxygen content. It is a measure of deoxygenation of the feedstock, but it does not indicate in which form oxygen is present in the product mixture, which could influence fuel combustion properties. Therefore, in the case of catalytic cracking, when product distribution is broad and multiple side reactions occur, it is not wise to use carbon and oxygen content as a conversion and efficiency measure.

The process conditions from the point of implementation of the process on industrial scale have to be mild to decrease the cost of production, but still high enough to maintain good activity and selectivity. The optimum temperature ranges proposed in the deoxygenation of fatty acids and theirs derivatives are 250–350°C, 300–350°C, and 400–500°C for HDO, decarboxylation/decarbonylation process, and catalytic cracking, respectively. The milder temperatures of the HDO and decarboxylation/decarbonylation process show their superiority over catalytic cracking.

The pressure of the catalytic cracking can be as low as 0.1 MPa, whereas HDO and decarboxylation/decarbonylation processes are operating at elevated pressures. The HDO process was applied at different pressure, from 3.5 to 8 MPa. However, even at commonly used hydrogen pressure of 3.5 MPa the conversion and selectivity is high [20]. For decarboxylation/decarbonylation process the operating pressure was tested in between 1.5 and 2.7 MPa, with commonly used 1.5–2 MPa of argon or 5% hydrogen in argon mixture. Moreover, in HDO process increase of hydrogen pressure as well as decrease of fatty acid partial pressure results in conversion increase, whereas in decarboxylation/decarbonylation processes conversion was not affected by hydrogen pressure and passes through a maximum as a function of fatty acid partial pressure [44].

When comparing closer the most selective processes, i.e., HDO and decarboxylation/decarbonylation, hydrogen consumption is an important issue. HDO reaction occurs in the presence of hydrogen high pressure which is a disadvantage because of higher process costs. The decarboxylation/decarbonylation process does not need hydrogen to occur. However, low amounts of hydrogen help in maintaining stability of the catalyst. Still, even with assumption that whole fatty acids in decarboxylation/decarbonylation process transform through decarbonylation, the molar ratio (based on stoichiometry of stearic acid deoxygenation) of hydrogen consumption to fatty acid converted is 1, whereas in HDO process is 1.5–2.1.

The second disadvantage of HDO process is a need to use sulfur for maintaining activity of sulfided Ni–Mo/Al₂O₃ catalyst. Addition of the sulfur compounds could deteriorate fuel quality as well as generate costs for the additives, whereas in

6 Fatty Acids-Derived Fuels

	HDO	Decarboxylaton/ Decarbonylation	Cracking
Catalyst	Sulfided Ni–Mo, Co–Mo/Al ₂ O ₃	Pd/C	Zeolites, MgO, CsNa-zeolite
Deoxygenation ^a (%)	100	100	100
Temperature (°C)	250-350	300-350	400-500
Pressure (MPa)	3–8	1.5-2.7	1
Atmosphere	H_2	Inert gas, 5% H ₂	Inert gas
Main hydrocarbon products	C17, C18	C17	C1C17
Cetane number	105–110 ^b	105 ^b	Low ^c
Selectivity ^d (%)	90–99	90–99	Low ^c
Aromatics (wt%)	<1	<1	1–60 ^c
Hydrogen consumption (mol H ₂ / mol fatty acid) ^e	1.5–2.1 ^f	0–1	0
Additives	Sulfur	-	(MeOH) ^g

	< A	a .	C .1	1	
Table	6.3	Comparison	of the	deoxygenation	processes
I GOIC	····	Companyon		aconfectuation	0100000000

^a Highest achieved

^b Based on the heptadecane and octadecane cetane number

^c Due to varying composition of different cracking products these values cannot be reported

^d Selectivity towards hydrocarbons with cetane number above 100

^e Based on stoichiometry of stearic acid deoxygenation at 100% conversion

 $^{\rm f}$ Hydrogen consumption varies with the ratio of Ni, Co to Mo; assuming 50–70% hydrogenation of carboxylic group

^g For transformation over CsNaX catalyst

decarboxylation/decarbonylation process no addition of sulfur is needed for catalyst activity.

Different deoxygenation methods are summarized and compared in Table 6.3.

6.3 Conclusions

This chapter shows possibility of deoxygenation of fatty acids and their derivatives from different feedstocks. Three different processes are described with in-depth analysis of their advantages and disadvantages for industrial application. Two of those processes, HDO and decarboxylation/decarbonylation, can be pointed out as promising for production of high grade diesel fuel from renewable sources. However, decarboxylation/decarbonylation over Pd/C catalyst does not need either utilization of hydrogen or addition of sulfur-containing compounds, which makes it more suitable for production of diesel fuels.

The catalytic deoxygenation process is already applied industrially (NExBTL). However, conventional diesel cannot be totally replaced by renewable diesel fuel, because natural oils feedstock is not sufficient enough to produce comparable amount of diesel fuel. The only plausible feedstock capable for production of oils in this quantity, without threatening food production, can be algae. With the current extensive research on harvesting of algae and development of deoxygenation process, there is a strong possibility that after 20 years or even earlier transportation fuel based on algae and produced by deoxygenation will be widely applied.

References

- Organization of the Petroleum Exporting Countries (2009) OPEC annual statistical bulletin 2009. http://www.opec.org/opec_web/static_files_project/media/downloads/publi-cations/ ASB2009.pdf. Accessed 15 Jan 2011
- U.S. Energy Information Administration (2010) Short-term energy outlook. http:// www.eia.doe.gov/steo_full.pdf. Accessed 15 Jan 2011
- 3. European Parliament and Council (2009) Directive 2009/28/EC of the European Parliament and of the council. Off J Eur Union 140:16–62
- Centi G, Lanzafame P, Perathoner S (2010) Analysis of the alternative routes in the catalytic transformation of lignocellulosic materials. Catal Today 167:14–30. doi:10.1016/ j.cattod.2010.10.099
- Zinoviev S, Müller-Langer F, Bertero N, Fornasiero P, Kaltschmitt M, Centi G, Miertus S (2010) Next-generation biofuels: survey of emerging technologies and sustainability issues. ChemSusChem 3:1106–1133. doi:10.1002/cssc.20100052
- 6. Neste Oil—official web site. http://www.nesteoil.com/default.asp?path=1,41,537,2397. Accessed 17 Jan 2011
- Murzin DY, Kubickova I, Snåre M, Mäki-Arvela P, Myllyoja J (2006) Method for the manufacture of hydrocarbons. WO 2006075057, p 21. US Patent 7, 491,858. 17 Feb 2009
- Bernas H, Eränen K, Simakova I, Leino AR, Kordás K, Myllyoja J, Mäki-Arvela P, Salmi T, Murzin DY (2010) Deoxygenation of dodecanoic acid under inert atmosphere. Fuel 89: 2033–2039. doi:10.1016/j.fuel.2009.11.006
- Snåre M, Kubičková I, Mäki-Arvela P, Murzin DY (2006) Heterogeneous catalytic deoxygenation of stearic acid for production of biodiesel. Ind Eng Chem Res 45:5708–5715. doi:10.1021/ie060334i
- 10. Craig WK, Soveran DW (1991) Production of hydrocarbons with a relatively high cetane rating. US Patent 4,992,605. 12 Feb 1991
- Senol OI, Viljava TR, Krause AOI (2005) Hydrodeoxygenation of methyl esters on sulphided Ni–Mo/γ-Al₂O₃ and Co–Mo/γ-Al₂O₃ catalysts. Catal Today 100:331–335. doi:10.1016/ j.cattod.2004.10.021
- Senol OI, Viljava TR, Krause AOI (2007) Effect of sulphiding agents on the hydrodeoxygenation of aliphatic esters on sulphided catalyst. Appl Catal A Gen 326: 236–244. doi:10.1016/j.apcatal.2007.04.022
- 13. Laurent W, Delmon B (1994) Study of the hydrodeoxygenation of carbonyl, carboxylic and guaiacyl groups over sulfided Co–Mo/ γ Al₂O₃ and Ni–Mo/ γ Al₂O₃ catalysts I. Catalytic reaction schemes. Appl Catal A Gen 109:77–96
- Senol OI, Ryymin EM, Viljava TR, Krause AOI (2007) Reaction of methyl heptanoate hydrodeoxygenation on sulphided catalysts. J Mol Catal A Chem 268:1–8. doi:10.1016/ j.molcata.2006.12.006
- Monnier J, Sulimma H, Dalai A, Caravaggio G (2010) Hydrodeoxygenation of oleic acid and canola oil over alumina-supported metal nitrides. Appl Catal A Gen 382:176–180. doi:10.1016/j.apcata.2010.04.035
- Kubička D, Kaluža L (2010) Deoxygenation of vegetable oils over sufided Ni, Mo and Ni– Mo catalysts. Appl Catal A Gen 372:199–208. doi:10.1016/j.apcata.2009.10.034

- Priecel P, Čapek L, Kubička D, Homola F, Ryšánek P, Pouzar M (2010) The role of alumina support in the deoxygenation of rapeseed oil over Ni–Mo–alumina catalysts. Catal Today 176:409–412. doi:10.1016/j.cattod.2010.11.022
- Krár M, Kovács S, Kalló D, Hancsók J (2010) Fuel purpose hydrotreating of sunflower oil on Co–Mo/Al₂O₃ catalyst. Bioresour Technol 101:9287–9293. doi:10.1016/j.biortech.2010. 06.107
- Ryymin EM, Honkela ML, Viljava TR, Krause AOI (2009) Insight to sufur species in the hydrodeoxygenation of aliphatic esters over sulfided Ni–Mo/γ-Al₂O₃ catalyst. Appl Catal A Gen 358:42–48. doi:10.1016/j.apcata.2009.01.035
- Senol OI, Viljava TR, Krause AOI (2005) Hydrodeoxygenation of aliphatic esters on sulphided Ni–Mo/γ-Al₂O₃ and Co–Mo/γ-Al₂O₃ catalyst: the effect of water. Catal Today 106:186–189. doi:10.1016/J.cattod.2005.07.129
- Kubička D, Horáček J (2011) Deactivation of HDS catalysts in deoxygenation of vegetable oils. Appl Catal A Gen 394:9–17. doi:10.1016/j.apcata.2010.10.034
- Toba M, Abe Y, Kuramochi H, Osako M, Mochizuki T, Yoshimura Y (2010) Hydrodeoxygenation of waste vegetable oil over sulfide catalysts. Catal Today 164:533–537. doi:10.1016/j.cattod.2010.11.049
- Walendziewski J, Stolarski M, Łużny R, Klimek B (2009) Hydroprocesing of light gas oil rape oil mixtures. Fuel Process Technol 90:686–691. doi:10.1016/j.fuproc.2008.12.006
- Sebos I, Matsoukas A, Apostolopoulos V, Papayannakos N (2009) Catalytic hydroprocessing of cottonseed oil in the petroleum diesel mixtures for production of renewable diesel. Fuel 88:145–149. doi:10.1016/j.fuel.2008.07.032
- Mikulec J, Cvengroš J, Joríková L, Banič M, Kleinová A (2010) Second generation diesel fuel from renewable source. J Clean Prod 18:917–926. doi:10.1016/j.clepro.2010.01.018
- Ping EW, Wallace R, Pierson J, Fuller TF, Jones CW (2010) Highly dispersed palladium nanoparticles on ultra-porous silica mesocellular foam for the catalytic decarboxylation of stearic acid. Micropor Mesopor Mat 132:174–180. doi:10.1016/j.micromeso.2010.02.017
- 27. Simakova I, Simakova O, Mäki-Arvela P, Simakov A, Estrada M, Murzin DY (2009) Deoxygenation of palmitic and stearic acid over supported Pd catalysts: effect of dispersion. Appl Catal A Gen 355:100–108. doi:10.1016/j.apcata.2008.12.001
- 28. Rozmysłowicz B, Mäki-Arvela P, Tokarev A, Leino A-R, Eränen K, Murzin DY (2012) Influence of hydrogen in catalytic deoxygenation of fatty acids and their derivatives over Pd/C. Ind Eng Chem Res. doi:10.1021/ie202421x
- Rozmysłowicz B, Mäki-Arvela P, Lestari S, Simakova O, Eränen K, Simakova I, Murzin DY, Salmi T (2010) Catalytic deoxygenation of tall oil fatty acids over a palladium-mesoporous carbon catalyst: a new source of biofuels. Top Catal 53:1274–1277. doi:10.1007/s11244-010-9581-x
- Brüttning R, Spiteller G (1994) Products of dimerization of unsaturated fatty acids XII: the fraction of alicyclic dimeric acids. Fett Wiss Technol 96:361–370. doi:10.1002/ lipi.19940961001
- Snåre M, Kubičková I, Mäki-Arvela P, Eränen K, Wärnå J, Murzin DY (2007) Production of diesel fuel from renewable feeds: kinetics of ethyl stearate decarboxylation. Chem Eng J 134:29–34. doi:10.1016/j.cej.2007.03.064
- 32. Mäki-Arvela P, Kubičková I, Snåre M, Eränen K, Murzin DY (2007) Catalytic deoxygenation of fatty acids and their derivatives. Energy Fuel 21:30–41. doi:10.1021/ ef060455v
- 33. Snåre M, Kubičková I, Mäki-Arvela P, Cichova D, Eränen K, Murzin DY (2008) Catalytic deoxygenation of unsaturated renewable feedstocks for production of diesel fuel hydrocarbons. Fuel 87:933–945. doi:10.1016/j.fuel.2007.06.006
- Immer JG, Lamb HH (2010) Fed-batch catalytic deoxygenation of free fatty acids. Energ Fuel 24:5291–5299. doi:10.1021/ef100576z
- 35. Immer JG (2010) Liquid phase deoxygenation of free fatty acids to hydrocarbons using supported palladium catalysts. Dissertation, North Carolina State University

- 36. Simakova I, Rozmysłowicz B, Simakova O, Mäki-Arvela P, Simakov A, Murzin DY (2011) Catalytic deoxygenation of C18 fatty acids over mesoporous Pd/C catalyst for synthesis of biofuels. Top Catal 54:460–466. doi:10.1017/s11244-011-9608y
- 37. Snåre M, Kubičková I, Mäki-Arvela P, Eränen K, Murzin DY (2006) Continuous deoxygenation of ethyl stearate—a model reaction for production of diesel fuel hydrocarbons. Catal Org React 21:415–425. doi: 10.1201/9781420007794.ch46
- Kikhtyanin OV, Rubanov AE, Ayupov AB, Echevsky GV (2010) Hydroconversion of sunflower oil over Pd/SAPO-31 catalsyt. Fuel 89:3085–3092. doi:10.1016/j.fuel.2010.05.033
- Chiappero M, Do PTM, Crossley S, Lobban LL, Resasco DE (2011) Direct conversion of triglycerides to olefins and paraffins over noble metal supported catalysts. Fuel 90: 1155–1165. doi:10.1016/j.fuel.2010.10.025
- Danuthai T, Jongpatiwut S, Rirksomboon T, Osuwan S, Resasco DE (2009) Conversion of the methylesters to hydrocarbons over an ZSM-5 zeolite catalyst. Appl Catal A Gen 361: 99–105. doi:10.1016/j.apcata.2009.04.001
- Benson TJ, Hernandez R, French WT, Alley EG, Holmes WE (2009) Elucidation of catalytic cracking pathway for unsaturated mono-, di-, and tri-acylglycerides on solid acid catalyst. J Mol Catal A Chem 303:117–123. doi:10.1016/j.molcata.2009:01.008
- 42. Na JG, Yi BE, Kim JN, Yi KB, Park SY, Park JH, Kim JN, Ko CH (2010) Hydrocarbon production from decarboxylation of fatty acids without hydrogen. Catal Today 156:44–48. doi:10.1016/j.cattod.2009.11.008
- Sooknoi T, Danuthai T, Lobban LL, Mallinson RG, Resasco DE (2010) Deoxygenation of methylesters over CsNaX. J Catal 258:159–209. doi:10.1016/j.jcat.2008.06.012
- 44. Boda L, Onyestyák G, Solt H, Lónyi F, Valyon J, Thernesz A (2010) Catalytic hydroconversion of tricaprylin and caprylic acid as model reaction for biofuel production from triglycerides. Appl Catal A Gen 374:158–169. doi:10.1016/j.apcata.2009.12.005

Chapter 7 Biobutanol: The Future Biofuel

Manish Kumar and Kalyan Gayen

7.1 Introduction

According to the United Nations Conference on Trade and Development, petroleum industry will face severe crisis after next three decades and increasing production rate can shorten this period. Energy crisis may start 5–10 years before the declination of the oil reserves due to the fluctuation in oil prices (www.unctad.org/en/docs/ditcted20064_en.pdf). In addition of decrement of petroleum reserves, environmental issues such as green house effect, global warming, etc. are also the problems to be solved worldwide [1]. Moreover, combustion of petroleum fuels leads to raise the concentration of carbon dioxide and other greenhouse gases (methane, nitrous oxide) in atmosphere [2]. Therefore, depletion of petroleum fuel and adverse effect on climate changes enforce to pay attention on renewable sources of energy [3–5]. In this direction, biofuels is attracting the attention as the replacement or extender of petroleum fuel [1, 6, 7].

Other benefits of biofuels include energy security, mitigated environmental impact, foreign exchange saving, and socioeconomic issues which are equally significant and directly associated with the development of rural areas [7, 8]. The common examples of biofuels are biobutanol, bioethanol, and biodiesel, which show the potential to compensate the demand of petroleum-originated fuels [6, 9, 10]. Bioethanol has been already introduced as biofuels and is being consumed in automobiles with gasoline in different blending proportions. Brazil and U.S. [11] establish trademark for economic production of bioethanol on account of huge availability of sugarcane and corn, respectively in these countries. Likewise, the blending of 5% of bioethanol in gasoline has been started in India since the year of

M. Kumar · K. Gayen (🖂)

Department of Chemical Engineering, Indian Institute of Technology Gandhinagar, VGEC Campus, Chandkheda, Ahmedabad 382424, Gujarat, India e-mail: gkalyan@iitgn.ac.in

2008 [11, 12]. Similarly, biobutanol is the recently introduced organic alcohol, which can be used as biofuel [1]. Furthermore, biobutanol continuously emerges the attention of researchers and industrialists because of its several advantages such as high energy contents, high hydrophobicity, good blending ability, does not required modification in present combustion engines, and less corrosive over other biofuels [13, 14].

Industrial synthesis of biobutanol was started during 1912–1914 using *Clostridium acetobutylicum* (weizmann's organism) from molasses and cereal grains in acetone–butanol–ethanol (ABE) fermentation [15]. However, first-time synthesis of biobutanol at laboratory level was reported by Pasteur in 1861 [16]. Later, promising strains (*Clostridium beijerinckii, Clostridium saccharoperbutylacetonicum*, and *Clostridium saccharobutylicum*), which are capable to produce high yield of biobutanol were identified [17]. Before 2005, butanol was used as solvent and precursor of other chemicals. However, at a later stage David Ramsey reported the application of butanol as biofuel after his traveling across the U.S. with 100% butanol. Shortly, two giant companies DuPont and BP have declared to restart the ABE fermentation at industrial scale and they have also applied several patents for their work [18–20].

Many economical studies on ABE fermentation have suggested that raw material cost contributes more than 60% in the total cost of the biobutanol production. Therefore, the selection of the raw material is a vital step for establishing the industrial-scale plant for ABE Fermentation. In the raw material point of view, main concerns entail cost and availability, cost of pretreatment, long-term sustainability, and product yield. Sugar and starchy grains contributed as raw materials for this production during First World War. At that time ABE fermentation was developed at industrial level to produce acetone [21]. Currently, these raw materials are cost-intensive, which can impact the on food cost and demand. Therefore, there is emerging interest to find out cheaper and highly available raw materials. In this order, at laboratory level some researchers investigated alternative raw materials, namely lignocellulosic materials (biomass) such as agriculture wastes (corn stover [22], wheat straw [23, 24], corn fibers [25], barley straw [26], and switchgrass [22]) and woody residues, which can illustrate the possibility for economic production of biobutanol [2, 27, 28].

In the direction of process development, various fermentation processes have been examined, viz. batch, fed-batch, and continuous processes (free cells, immobilized cells, and cells recycling) [22–26, 29–38]. On the basis of these studies, continuous processes have shown more efficient results over batch and fed-batch as it illustrates several advantages such as saving sterilization and re-inoculation time, yield similar to batch process but superior productivity, and reduction in butanol inhibition [36]. However, some demerits of continuous process have also been counted such as high capital cost and more chances of contamination, and nitrogen-limiting conditions. Further, research work is being done to find optimum conditions for process [15].

Apart from above progress in the ABE fermentation, the major problems in this field are (i) selection of sustainable biomass (ii) constraints caused by severe

butanol inhibition, and (iii) high recovery cost [39–44]. Recent research progress is focusing on butanol production by lignocellulosic materials, different recovery techniques to reduce the final butanol cost, and decrease the butanol inhibition. However, genetic engineers have great opportunity to engineer the microorganism for making it resistant to butanol and improving the yield of product. This chapter includes the challenges of biosynthesis of butanol, recent development, and future prospective. It also emphasizes on utilization of lignocellulosic materials as raw material.

7.2 Microbiology of ABE Fermentation

The strains of clostridia genus are very common for butanol synthesis whereas their yield and productivity varies. Basically, strains of this genus are sporeforming, rod-shaped, obligate anaerobes, and Gram-positive bacterium. Broadly, the number of species of this genus (such as C. acetobutylicum, C. beijerinckii, C. saccharoperbutylacetonicum, Clostridium saccharoacetobutylicum, Clostridium aurantibutyricum, Clostridium pasteurianum, Clostridium sporogenes, Clostridium cadaveris, Clostridium tetanomorphum) are found with the capability for synthesizing butanol. Although, C. acetobutylicum, C. beijerinckii, C. saccharoperbutylacetonicum, and C. saccharoacetobutylicum have shown significant activity [4]. C. acetobutylicum was the first isolated and patented bacteria for butanol production, later this strain was used for industrial scale ABE fermentation from sugars and cereal grains [45]. Earlier, it was believed that C. acetobutylicum was the only species involved in ABE fermentation. Shortly (1990s), on the basis of 16S rRNA gene sequencing and DNA fingerprinting, it was observed that there were four species in this mixed culture, namely C. acetobutylicum, C. beijerinckii, C. saccharoperbutylacetonicum, and C. saccharoacetobutylicumm [13, 45–47].

The selection of the strains for biobutanol production depends on type of feedstock, productivity required additional nutrients needed, and bacteriophage and butanol resistance. More number of attempts are needed to isolate novel organism for better yield and productivity and to modify the isolated strains applying genetic engineering.

7.3 Biomass as Feedstock

Various raw materials as a most affecting parameter for biobutanol production are being investigated to find cheaper and highly available alternatives [48–51]. On the basis of different varieties of raw materials, biofuels are classified in two categories (i) first-generation biofuels (ii) second-generation biofuels. The biofuels of these categories are produced by the consumption of food-related (sugarcane and cereal grains) and non-food (lignocellulosic and wastes) materials, respectively [9, 10, 27].



Fig. 7.1 Schematic process flow diagram for starchy materials to butanol. In the case of some clostridial bacteria, saccharification of starchy materials is not necessary because of their amylolytic activity. Figures are partly adapted from Ling Tao and Andy Aden's study [57]

Due to the food insecurity worldwide, second-generation biofuels indicates toward the sustainable production of fermentation-based liquid fuels [1].

Previously, cereal grains and sugarcane were the common raw materials for ABE fermentation (Fig. 7.1) [16], but in present world the consumption of these substrates has been criticized because of shortage and prices hiking of edible materials. In present era, only few countries such as Brazil and U.S. have enough

production of food-based materials for the production of first-generation biofuels [13, 21, 52]. Therefore, the main focus of the research turned towards the non-food materials such as lignocellulosic materials. For utilizing lignocellulosic materials, firstly these materials are converted in monomers such as glucose, fructose, mannose, sucrose, lactose, starch, dextrin, galactose, xylose, arabinose, raffinose, melezitose, inulin, minnitol, trehalose, ramnose, malibiose, and glycerol. During the fermentation studies, it was found that glucose, fructose, mannose, sucrose, lactose, starch, and dextrin were completely consumed by clostridial bacteria in butanol production. While, galactose, xylose, arabinose, raffinose, melezitose, inulin, and minnitol were partially consumed, but later on it was observed that xylose and arabinose were also utilized completely by some strains. It could be considered as a milestone point because there is a significant amount of pentose sugar (xylose and arabinose) along with hexose sugar are produced from lignocellulosic materials on hydrolysis process [15].

Various starch- (sago, defiberated-sweet-potato-slurry, degermed corn, extruded corn, liquefied corn starch, and cassava) [35, 36, 44, 53] and lactose- (whey permeate) [38, 54] containing substrate were examined for ABE fermentation. For instance, utilization of liquefied corn starch (a product of corn processing industry) showed significant results when there was a proper removal of product (by gas stripping) and Na₂S₂O₅ (inhibitor for fermentation) was being used through the fermentation process [53]. Lactose-containing substrates (wastes of dairy industry like cheese whey) has also been investigated as feedstocks for butanol production using *C. acetobutylicum* DSM 792 and *C. acetobutylicum* AS 1.224. Results postulated that cheese whey produced higher yield than direct lactose solution [54].

Recently, researchers uncovered the suitability of Clostridial bacteria to ferment the lignocellulosic materials as some of them have saccharolytic ability (Fig. 7.2) [55]. Rest of the strains have shown efficient performance toward hexose and pentose sugars producing from lignocellulosic materials through hydrolysis process. Lignocellulosic biomass is most abundant renewable source on the Earth [2, 56].

For instance, a developing country like India produces huge amount of biomass (over 370 million tons every year) in the form of direct plants, rice husk from rice mill, saw dust from saw mill, bagasse from sugar mills, etc. [28]. The potentiality of biomass such as wood forestry residues, corn stover, wheat straw, corn fibers, barley straw, and switch grass has been examined at laboratory scale for biobutanol production (Table 7.1) [3, 22–24, 26, 58, 59]. Still, the endeavors are required for optimizing the processes including hydrolysis and removal of the inhibitors from fermentation broth for utilizing lignocellulosic biomass.

7.4 Improvements in Fermentation Processes

The efficacy of different types of fermentation processes, namely batch, fed-batch, and continuous, at laboratory scale has been investigated with various raw materials and clostridia species for butanol production (Table 7.2).



Fig. 7.2 Schematic process flow diagram for lignocellulosic materials to butanol. Hydrolysis methods and inhibitors of broth vary from substrate to substrate. Figures are partly adapted from Ling Tao and Andy Aden's study [57]

7.4.1 Batch and Fed-Batch Fermentation Processes

For lignocellulosic materials, the performance of batch and fed-batch fermentation processes has been examined using different bacteria. In one previous study, five different combinations of pretreatment of wheat straw and batch fermentation process have been performed. Results demonstrated that simultaneous hydrolysis and fermentation with agitation by gas stripping showed maximum productivity

Raw materials	Composition	Bacterial strain	References
Barley straw	42% Cellulose, 28% hemicellulose, 7% lignin, 11% ash	C. beijerinckii	[26]
Wheat straw	38% Cellulose, 29% hemicellulose, 24% lignin, 6% ash	C. beijerinckii	[23, 58, 60]
Corn fiber	20% Starch, 50–60% non- starch polysaccharides	C. beijerinckii	[25]
Corn stover	38% Cellulose, 26% hemicellulose, 23% lignin. 6% Ash	C. beijerinckii	[22]
Switchgrass (Panicumvirgatum)	37% Cellulose, 29% hemicellulose, 19% lignin	C. beijerinckii	[22]
Domestic organic waste	59% Sugars, 13% lignin, 17% ash	C. acetobutylocum	[61]
Sago	86% Starch, small amounts of mineral and nitrogenous matters	C. saccharobutylicum	[34]
Defibrated-sweet- potato-slurry (DSPS)	Starch	C. acetobutylocum	[29]
Degermed corn	73% Starch, 3% ash, 13% proteins	C. beijerinckii	[36]
Extruded corn	61% starch, 3.8% corn oil, 8.0% protein, 11.2% fiber	C. acetobutylocum	[44]
Liquefied corn starch	39% Starch, 45% moisture	C. beijerinckii	[53]
Cassava	70% Starch, 2.7% protein, 2.4% fiber, 0.2% ash	Co-culture of <i>B. Subtilis</i> and <i>C. butylicum</i>	[62]
Whey permeate	5% Lactose, 0.36% fat, 0.86% protein	C. acetobutylocum	[38, 41, 54]

Table 7.1 Various feedstocks and their compositions for ABE fermentation

of 0.31 g l^{-1} h⁻¹ over the other combinations (fermentation of pretreated wheat straw, separate hydrolysis and fermentation of wheat straw without removing sediments, simultaneous hydrolysis and fermentation of wheat straw without agitation, simultaneous hydrolysis and fermentation of wheat straw with addition of sugar supplements). Also, the successful consumption of hydrolysate sugars (glucose, xylose, arabinose, galactose, and mannose) of wheat straw has been seen during the study [33]. For the same feedstock, fed-batch process enabled to produce butanol with more than twofold productivity of batch fermentation (0.77 g l^{-1} h⁻¹) [60]. Further, pH-stat fed-batch fermentation synthesized 16 g l^{-1} of butanol with 72% higher productivity than conventional batch processes. The pH was maintained constant by adding butyric acid. The other advantage of butyric acid was observed in enhancing the solventogenesis phase during the metabolic pathways of clostridium bacteria [43]. Solventogenesis phase

Table 7.2 Various fermentation processe	ss for butanol production			
Fermentation process	Strain used	Substrate	Production of ABE (g/l)	References
Batch fermentation	C. beijerinckii P260	Barley straw	26.64	[26]
	C. beijerinckii P260	Wheat straw	21.42	[23]
	C. beijerinckii BA101	Corn fibers	9.3	[25]
	C. beijerinckii P260	Corn stover and switchgrass (1:1)	21.06	[22]
	C. beijerinckii P260	Switch grass	14.61	[22]
Fed-batch fermentation	C. beijerinckii P260	Wheat straw	16.59	[24]
	C. saccharoperbutylacetonicum N1-4	Synthetic medium with butyric acid	16.0	[32]
Continuous fermentation				
(i) Free cell continuous fermentation	C. saccharobutylicum DSM 13864	Sago starch	9.1	[34]
	C. beijerinckii BA101	Degermed corn	14.28	[36]
	C. beijerinckii BA101	Starch and glucose	9.9	[35]
(ii) Immobilized cells continuous fermentation	C. acetobutylicum P262	Whey permeate	8.6	[38]
	C. acetobutylicum 824A	Lactose and yeast extract	1.43	[65]
	C. acetobutylicum ATCC 55025	Corn	12.50 (butanol)	[30]
	C. acetobutylicum P262	Defidered-sweet-potato-slurry	7.73	[29]
	C. beijerinckii BA101	Synthetic medium	8.8	[33]
(iii) Cells recycling and bleeding	C. saccharoperbutylacetonicum N1- 4	Synthetic medium	8.58	[99]

is the second phase of metabolic pathway, which includes the production of solvents (acetone, butanol, and ethanol) on the consumption of acids (acetic and butyric acid), produced in first phase or acidogenesis.

The productivity and performance of fermentation processes also depend on pretreatment or hydrolysis methods, which convert the complex biomass composition into simple sugars. Two traditional pretreatment methods such as acidic and enzymatic methods were compared on the basis of yield of batch fermentation. It was observed that enzymatic method eliminates some inhibitors from the sugar solution and generates better yield (0.35 g g⁻¹) over the acidic method [25]. Other studies also suggested that the inhibitors of cellulosic hydrosylates, produced in hydrolysis processes, can be reduced by treating with Ca(OH)₂ [49, 63].

The integrated fermentation process with recovery has provided significant elevation to total solvent concentration in the broth. It was recorded 51.5 g 1^{-1} with the comparison 24.2 g 1^{-1} in non-integrated batch process using *C. beijerinckii* BA 101. In integrated process, sugar consumption was also increased to as high as 150 g 1^{-1} over 60 g 1^{-1} in the case of non-integrated process [64]. Due to the toxicity of high sugar concentration to the bacterial culture, the fed-batch process also has great advantages [67]. In fed-batch reactor, a total concentration of 165.1 g 1^{-1} of the solvent was achieved compared to 25.3 g 1^{-1} in batch reactor [68].

7.4.2 Continuous Fermentation Process

From the solvent productivity point of view, batch process produced solvents with such a low productivity of 0.35–0.40 g $l^{-1} h^{-1}$ [64]. For scaling up of such a process, high volume of broth, high capital cost ,and operational cost became severe problems. This leads to uneconomical production of solvents. Continuous fermentation reactors show several advantages over batch reactors such as one inoculum culture is sufficient for the long time, drastically reduced sterilization and inoculation time. Various continuous processes, such as free cells, immobilized cells, and cell recycling and bleeding, have been investigated. However, immobilized cell process has shown significant potential with as high as 15.8 g $l^{-1} h^{-1}$ of solvent productivity (about 40 times than batch process) [69]. Also, cell immobilization allowed long survival time to cells of *C. acetobutylicum* in solventogenesis phase, which resulted that 20% higher yield than conventional fermentation [30].

7.5 Recovery Techniques Integrated with Fermentation Process

Butanol inhibition is one of the most crucial problems for developing industrial scale production of butanol. Butanol-producing bacteria can rarely tolerate more than 2% butanol in broth [70]. More precisely, 1% exposure of butanol caused a
Recovery method	Type of reactor	Max. titer of ABE (without online recovery) in g/l	Max. titer of ABE (with online recovery) in g/l	References
Gas stripping	Batch	8.7	70.0	[39]
	Batch	-	69.7	[<mark>40</mark>]
	Fed-batch	-	120	[40]
	Fed-batch	17.7	232.8	[75, 76]
	Batch	18.4	23.9	[53]
	Batch	18.2	26.5	[53]
	Fed-batch	-	81.3	[53]
	Batch	17.7	75.9	[<mark>76</mark>]
Pervaporation	Fed-batch	25.3	165.1	[63]
	Fed-batch	-	154.97	[77]
Perstraction	Batch	7.72	136.58	[41]
	Fed-batch	7.72	57.8	[41]
	Fed-batch	19	33	[78]
Adsorption	Batch	13.5	23.2	[79]
	Fed-batch	13.5	59.8	[<mark>79</mark>]
	Fed-batch (repeated cycles)	13.5	387.3	[79]

Table 7.3 Integrated systems for enhancing the production of ABE fermentation

20–30% increment in the fluidity of cell membrane [71, 72]. *C. acetobutylicum* was found sensitive to the higher concentration of butanol than 12–13 g l^{-1} [43, 73]. Various attempts are being made at the organism and process level for reducing the butanol inhibition. One attractive development in process is as an integrated system of fermentation and recovery processes, which allows simultaneous production and selective removal of solvents illustrated very significant results at laboratory scale studies. The common butanol recovery techniques are adsorption, liquid–liquid extraction, perstraction, reverse osmosis, pervaporation, and gas stripping, which can be integrated with ABE fermentation for online removal of products (Table 7.3) [74].

Gas stripping (Fig. 7.3) comprises the most advantageous characteristics such as simple and economical process (no need of expensive equipments), does not harm the culture, does not remove the nutrients and reaction intermediates, and reduces butanol inhibition effectively [39, 40]. At laboratory scale, gas stripping showed the significant results as integrated with various kinds of fermentation processes, batch [39, 40, 53], fed-batch [53, 75], and continuous [40]. While nitrogen [40] and gases produced in fermentation (hydrogen and carbon dioxide) [39, 53, 75] are used for stripping purpose, whereas utilization of nitrogen gas reflected more effective recovery than other gases.



7.6 Economic Aspects

Fermentation processes are exothermic as its products contain less energy than substrates. Theoretically, mass and energy yield of ABE fermentation is 37 and 94%, respectively calculated on the basis of energy of combustion and products ratio in the fermentation. During the study, it was suggested that yield of ABE fermentation might not be possible to meet its 100%, whereas product yield less than 25% can cause the economical unfeasibility even with any process development [50]. In the account of above fact, strain improvement may be a necessary step to enhance the theoretical yield. In this direction, many endeavors have been made to engineer the strain or transfer the gene in a heterogeneous host organism. But, to time none of genetically engineered strain produced higher yield than native organism [4]. However, the most valuable strain, C. beijerinckii BA101, has been developed through chemical mutagenesis from native organism, C. beijerinckii N-CIMB 8052 [80, 81]. C. beijerinckii BA101 can generate 19–20 g 1^{-1} solvent, which is much higher than the native and other organisms [25, 40]. Through recent endeavors in process development for butanol production using C. beijerinckii BA101, improved solvent concentration (20–30 g 1^{-1}), solvent yield (0.30–0.50 g g^{-1}), and reactor productivity $(0.30-1.74 \text{ g l}^{-1})$ have been achieved [64]. A high productivity of 15.8 g l^{-1} h⁻¹ has also been achieved in immobilized reactor. Due to the high concentration of solvents, this organism leads ABE fermentation to be economical. An economic evaluation of ABE fermentation from corn using C. beijerinckii BA101 reported butanol cost of US0.25 lb⁻¹. The improvement in yield from 0.42 to 0.45 g g^{-1} resulted in lesser butanol cost of US\$0.20 lb⁻¹ [49].

Apart from the yield, other vital factor is feedstock in economics of ABE fermentation, it almost contributes to 60% of the total production cost of butanol [82, 83]. Utilization of none of starch and sugar-containing crops can make this fermentation economically feasible in the present scenario. Moreover the

continuous use of these food materials can cause the food shortage. On the basis of recent studies, cheaper agriculture biomass (lignocellulosic materials) and industrial wastes were found suitable for sustainable production of butanol. Still, efforts are being made for scaling-up the process for economical industrial production using lignocellulosic biomass.

7.7 Prospective

Significant activity of clostridia toward consuming lignocellulosic biomass uncovers the space of cheaper feedstock for ABE fermentation. However, efficient techniques for removing the inhibitors, generated during hydrolysis of lignocellulosic materials, can make it a more effective feedstock. From the economic point of view, the integrated system of hydrolysis, fermentation, and recovery process also opens vital ways to reduce the capital and operational cost of butanol synthesis. More developments in the recovery techniques such as gas stripping will boost up to this integrated fermentation process for improving the productivity. Additionally, completion of genome sequencing of two clostridial species provided the crucial opportunity to genetic engineers to engineer the genome of butanol-producing species to improve its capability toward high yield and butanol resistance.

References

- 1. Hoekman SK (2009) Biofuels in the U.S.—challenges and opportunities. Renew Energy 34:14-22
- 2. Antoni D, Zverlov VV, Schwarz WH (2007) Biofuels from microbes. Appl Microb Biotechnol 77:23–35
- 3. Yang QZ, Song B (2008) Sustainability assessment of biofuels as alternative energy resources. ICSET
- Huang H, Liu H, Gan YR (2010) Genetic modification of critical enzymes and involved genes in butanol biosynthesis from biomass. Biotechnol Adv. doi:10.1016/ j.biotechadv.2010.05.015
- 5. Ma H, Oxley L, Gibson J, Li W (2010) A survey of China's renewable energy economy. Renew Sustain Energy Rev 14:438–445
- Demirdas A (2009) Biofuels securing the planet's future energy needs. Energy Convers Manag 50:2239–2249
- 7. Demirdas A (2009) Political, economic and environmental impacts of biofuels: a review. Appl Energy 86:108–117
- 8. Kent SK (2009) Biofuels in the U.S.-challenges and opportunities. Renew Energy 34:14-22
- Naik SN, Goud VV, Rout PK, Dalai AK (2010) Production of first and second generation biofuels: a comprehensive review. Renew Sustain Energy Rev 14:578–597
- 10. Gressel J (2008) Transgenics are imperative for biofuel crops. Plant Sci 174:246-263
- 11. Zhou A, Thomson E (2009) The development of biofuels in Asia. Appl Energy 86:11-20
- 12. Yan J, Lin T (2009) Biofuels in Asia. Appl Energy 86:1-10

7 Biobutanol: The Future Biofuel

- 13. Durre P (2007) Biobutanol: an attractive biofuel. Biotechnol J 2:1525-1534
- 14. Pfromm PH, Boadu VA, Nelson R, Vadlani P, Madl R (2010) Bio-butanol vs. bio-ethanol: a technical and economic assessment for corn and switchgrass fermented by yeast or *Clostridium acetobutylicum*. Biomass Bioenergy. doi:10.1016/j.biombioe.2009.12.017
- Jones DT, Woods DR (1986) Acetone-Butanol fermentation revisited. Microbiol Rev 50(4):484–524
- Durre P (1998) New insights an novel developments in clostridial acetone/butanol/isopropane fermentation. Appl Microb Biotechnol 49:639–648
- Keis S, Shaheen R, Jones TD (2001) Emended descriptions of *Clostridium acetobutylicum* and *Clostridium beijerinckii*, and descriptions of *Clostridium saccharoperbutylacetonicum* sp. nov. and *Clostridium saccharobutylicum* sp. nov. Int J Syst Evol Microbiol 51:2095–2103
- 18. Comyns AE (2006) BP and Du plan 'biobutanol'. Focus on Catalysts 2006(8):7
- 19. Comyns AE (2007) Bio-futures. Focus Catalysts 2007(8):1
- 20. Comyns AE (2009) Biobutanol: a European jv for BP and DuPont. Focus Catalysts 2007(8):3
- Zhang Z, Lohr L, Escalante C, Wetzstein M (2010) Food versus fuel: what do prices tell us? Energy Policy 38:445–451
- 22. Qureshi N, Saha BC, Hector RE, Dien B, Hughes S, Liu S, Iten L, Bowman MJ, Sarath G, Cotta MA (2010) Production of butanol (a biofuel) from agricultural residues: part II—use of corn stover and switchgrass hydrolysates. Biomass Bioenergy 35:559–669
- Qureshi N, Saha BC, Hector RE, Hughes SR, Cotta MA (2008) Butanol production from wheat straw by simultaneous saccharification and fermentation using *Clostridium beijerinckii*: part I—batch fermentation. Biomass Bioenergy 32:168–175
- Qureshi N, Saha BC, Cotta MA (2008) Butanol production from wheat straw by simultaneous saccharification and fermentation using *Clostridium beijerinckii*: part II—fed-batch fermentation. Biomass Bioenergy 32:176–183
- Qureshi N, Ezeji TC, Ebener J, Dien BS, Cotta MA, Blaschek HP (2008) Butanol production by *Clostridium beijerinckii*. Part I: use of acid and enzyme hydrolyzed corn fiber. Bioresourse Technol 99:5915–5922
- Qureshi N, Saha BC, Dien B, Hector RE, Cotta MA (2010) Production of butanol (a biofuel) from agricultural residues: part I—use of barley straw hydrolysate. Biomass Bioenergy 34:559–565
- 27. Larson DE (2008) Biofuel production technologies: status, prospects and implications for trade and development. In: United Nations conference on trade and development, 2008, New York and Geneva
- Chauhan S (2010) Biomass resources assessment for power generation: a case study from Haryana state, India. Biomass Bioenergy 34:1300–1308
- 29. Badr HR, Toledo R, Hamdy MK (2001) Continuous acetone ethanol butanol fermentation by immobilized cells of *Clostridium acetobutylicum*. Biomass Bioenergy 20:119–132
- Huang WC, Ramey DE, Yang ST (2004) Continuous production of butanol by *Clostridium* acetobutylicum immobilized in a fibrous bed bioreactor. Appl Biochem Biotechnol 115:887– 898
- Nimcevic D, Gapes JR (2000) The acetone-butanol fermentation in pilot plant and preindustrial scale. J Mol Microbiol Biotechnol 2(1):15–20
- 32. Tashiro Y, Takeda K, Kobayashi G, Sonomoto K, Ishizaki A, Yoshino S (2004) High butanol production by *Clostridium saccharoperbutylacetonicum* N1-4 in fed-batch culture with pHstat continuous butyric acid and glucose feeding method. J Biosci Bioeng 98(4):263–268
- Qureshi N, Lai LL, Blaschek HP (2004) Scale-up of a high productivity continuous biofilm reactor to produce butanol by adsorbed cells of *Clostridium beijerinckii*. Food Bioproducts Process 82:164–173
- 34. Liew ST, Arbakariya A, Rosfarizan M, Raha AR (2005) Production of solvent (acetonebutanol-ethanol) in continuous fermentation by *Clostridium saccharobutylicum* DSM 13864 using gelatinised sago starch as a carbon source. Malays J Microbiol 2(2):42–45

- 35. Ezeji TC, Qureshi N, Blaschek HP (2005) Continuous butanol fermentation and feed starch retrogradation: butanol fermentation sustainability using *Clostridium beijerinckii* BA101. J Biotechnol 115:179–187
- 36. Ezeji T, Qureshi N, Blaschek HP (2007) Production of acetone–butanol–ethanol (ABE) in a continuous flow bioreactor using degermed corn and *Clostridium beijerinckii*. Process Biochem 42:34–39
- 37. Worden RM, Grethlein AJ, Jain MK, Datta R (1991) Production of butanol and ethanol from synthesis gas via fermentation. Fuel 70(5):615–619
- Qureshi N, Maddox IS (1995) Continuous production of acetone-butanol-ethanol using immobilised cells of *Clostridium acetobutylicum* and interation with product removal by liquid–liquid extraction. J Ferment Bioengineering 80(2):185–189
- Maddox IS, Qureshi N, Thomson KR (1995) Production of Acetone-Butanol-Ethanol from concentrated substrates using *Clostridium acetobutylicum* in an integrated fermentationproduct removal process. Process Biochem 30(3):209–215
- 40. Qureshi N, Blaschek HP (2001) Recovery of butanol from fermentation broth by gas stripping. Renew Energy 22:557–564
- Qureshi N, Maddox IS (2005) Reduction of butanol inhibition by perstraction: utilization of concentrated lactose/whey permeate by *Clostridium acetobutylicum* to enhance butanol fermetation economics. Food Bioproducts Process 83:43–52
- 42. Assobhei O, Kanouni AE, Ismaili M, Loutfi M, Petitdemange H (1998) Effect of acetic and butyric acids on the stability of solvent and spore formation by *Clostridium acetobutylicum* ATCC 824 during repeated subculturing. J Ferment Bioeng 85(2):209–212
- 43. Evans PJ, Wang HY (1988) Enhancement of butanol formation by *Clostridium acetobutylicum* in the presence of decanol-oleyl alcohol mixed extractants. Appl Environ Microbiol 54(7):1662–1667
- 44. Lin YL, Blaschek HP (1983) Butanol production by a butanol-tolerant strain of *Clostridium acetobutyricum* in extruded corn broth. Appl Environ Microbiol 45(3):966–973
- 45. Johnson JL, Toth J, Santiwatanakul S, Chen JS (1997) Cultures of *Clostridium acetobutylicum* from various collections comprise *Clostridium acetobutylicum*, *Clostridium beijerinckii*, and two other distinct types based on DNA–DNA reassociation. Int J Syst Bacteriol 47(2):420–424
- 46. Stefanie K, Shaheen R, Jones TD (2001) Emended descriptions of Clostridium acetobutylicum and Clostridium beijerinckii, and descriptions of Clostridium saccharoperbutylacetonicum sp. nov. and Clostridium saccharobutylicum sp. nov. Int J Syst Evol Microbiol 51:2095–2103
- 47. Winzer K, Lorenz K, Zickner B, Durre P (2000) Differential regulation of two thiolase genes from *Clostridium acetobutylicum* DSM 792. J Mol Microbiol Biotechnol 2(4):531–541
- Lenz TG, Morelra AR (1980) Economic evaluation of the acetone-butanol fermentation. Ind Eng Chem Prod Res Dev 19:478–483
- 49. Qureshi N, Blaschek HP (2000) Economics of butanol fermentation using hyper-butanol producing *Clostridium beijerinckii* BA101. Trans I Chem E 78:139–144
- Qureshi N, Blaschek HP (2001) ABE production from corn: a recent economic evaluation. J Ind Microbiol Biotechnol 27:292–297
- Gapes JR (2000) The economics of acetone-butanol fermentation: theoritical and market considerations. J Microbiol Biotechnol 2(1):27–32
- 52. Yan Q, Wang A, Yu W, Wang L (2009) Development strategies of biofuel in China. In: International conference on energy and environment technology, 2009. IEEE Computer Society, p 588–593
- 53. Ezeji TC, Qureshi N, Blaschek HP (2007) Production of acetone butanol (AB) from liquified corn starch, a commercial substrate, using *Clostridium beijerickii* coupled with product recovery by gas stripping. J Ind Microbiol Biotechnol 34:771–777
- 54. Foda MI, Dong H, Li Y (2010) Study the suitability of cheese whey for bio-butanol production by Clostridia. J Am Sci 6(8):39–46

7 Biobutanol: The Future Biofuel

- 55. Ezeji TC, Qureshi N, Blaschek HP (2007) Bioproduction of butanol from biomass: from genes to bioreactors. Curr Opin Biotechnol 18:220–227
- 56. Koukiekolo R, Cho HY, Kosugi A, Inui M, Yukawa H, Doi RH (2005) Degradation of corn fiber by *Clostridium cellulovorans* cellulases and hemicellulases and contribution of scaffolding protein CbpA. Appl Environ Microbiol 71(7):3504–3511
- 57. Tao L, Aden A (2009) The economics of current and future biofuels. In Vitro Cell Dev Biology Plant 45:199–217
- Qureshi N, Saha BC, Hector RE, Cotta MA (2008) Removal of fermentation inhibitors from alkaline peroxide pretreated and enzymatically hydrolyzed wheat straw: production of butanol from hydrolysate using *Clostridiun beijierinckii* in batch reactors. Biomass Bioenergy 32:1353–1358
- 59. Ezeji TC, Qureshi N, Blaschek HP (2007) Butanol production from agricultural residues: impact of degradation products on *Clostridium beijerinkii* growth and butanol fermentation. Biotechnol Bioeng 97(6):1460–1469
- 60. Qureshi N, Saha BC, Cotta MA (2007) Butanol production from wheat straw hydrolysate using *Clostridium beijerinckii*. Bioprocess Biosyst Eng 30:419–427
- Claassen PAM, Budde MAW, Contreras AML (2000) Acetone, butanol and ethonol production from domestic organic waste by solventogenic Clostridia. J Microbiol Biotechnol 2(1):39–44
- 62. Tran HTM, Cheirsilp B, Hodgson B, Umsakul K (2010) Potectial use of Bacillus subtilis in a co-culture with *Clostridium butylicum* for acetone-butanol-ethanol production from cassava starch. Biochem Eng J 48:260–267
- 63. Qureshi N, Blaschek HP (2000) Butanol production using *Clostridium beijerinckii* BA101 hyper-butanol producing mutant strain and recovery by pervaporation. Appl Biochem Biotechnol 84–86:225–235
- 64. Qureshi N, Blaschek HP (2001) Recent advances in ABE fermentation: hyper-butanol producing *Clostridium beijerinckii* BA101. J Ind Microbiol Biotechnol 27:287–291
- 65. Napoli F, Olivieri G, Russo ME, Marzocchella A, Salatino P (2010) Production of butanol in a continuous packed bed reactor of *Clostridium acetobutylicum*. Chem Eng Trans 20:193–198
- 66. Tashiro Y, Takeda K, Kobaayashi G, Sonomoto K (2005) High production of acetonebutanol-ethanol with high cell density culture by cell-recycling and bleeding. J Biotechnol 120:197–206
- 67. Qureshi N, Blaschek HP (1999) Production of acetone-butanol-ethanol (ABE) by a hyperproducing mutant strain of *Clostridium beijerinckii* BA101 and recovery by pervaporation. Biotechnol Prog 15:594–602
- Qureshi N, Blaschek HP (2000) Butanol production using *Clostridium beijerinckii* BA101 hyperbutanol—producing mutant strain and recovery by pervaporation. Appl Biochem Biotechnol 84:5–15
- Qureshi N, Schripsema J, Lienhardt J, Blaschek HP (2000) Continuous solvent production by clostridium beijerinckii BA101 immobilized by adsorption on to brck. World J Microbiol Biotechnol 16:377–382
- 70. Liu S, Qureshi N (2009) How microbes tolerate ethanol and butanol. New Biotechnol 26:117–121
- Schneck KV, Sands JA, Montenecourt BS (1984) Effect of butanol on lipid composition and fluidity of *Clostridium acetobutylicum* ATCC 824. Appl Environ Microbiol 47(1):193–194
- 72. Bowles LK, Ellefson W (1985) Effects of butanol on *Clostridium acetobutylicum* Appl Environ Microbiol 50(5):1165–1170
- Westhuizen AVD, Jones DT, Woods DR (1982) Autolytic activity and butanol tolerance of *Clostridium acetobutylicum*. Appl Environ Microbiol 44(6):1277–1281
- 74. Zheng YN, Li LZ, Xian M, Ma YJ, Yang JM, Xu X, He DZ (2009) Problems with the microbial production of butanol. J Ind Microbiol Biotechnol 36:1127–1138
- 75. Ezeji TC, Qureshi N, Blaschek HP (2004) Acetone butanol ethanol (ABE) production from concentrated substrate: reduction in substrate inhibition by fed-batch technique and product inhibition by gas stripping. Appl Microb Biotechnol 63:653–658

- 76. Ezeji TC, Qureshi N, Blaschek HP (2003) Production of acetone, butanol and ethanol by *Clostridium beijerinckii* BA 101 and in situ recovery by gas stripping. World J Microbiol Biotechnol 19:595–603
- 77. Qureshi N, Meagher MM, Huang J, Hutkins RW (2001) Acetone butanol ethanol (ABE) recovery by pervaporation using silicalite–silicone composite membrane from fed-batch reactor of *Clostridium acetobutylicum*. J Membr Sci 187:93–102
- Grobben NG, Eggink G, Cuperus FP, Huizing HJ (1993) Production of acetone, butanol and ethanol (ABE) from potato wastes: fermentation with integrated membrane extraction. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 39:494–498
- Qureshi N, Hughes S, Maddox IS, Cotta MA (2005) Energy-efficient recovery of butanol from model solutions and fermentation broth by adsorption. Bioprocess Biosyst Eng 27:215–222
- 80. Annous BA, Blaschek HP (1991) Isolation and characterization of *Clostridium* acetobutylicum mutants with enhanced amylolytic activity. Appl Environ Microbiol 57(9):2544–2548
- Formanek J, Mackie R, Blaschek HP (1997) Enhanced butanol production by *Clostridium beijerinkii* BA101 grown in semi defined P2 medium containing 6 percent maltodextrin or glucose. Appl Environ Microbiol 63(6):2306–2310
- Qureshi N, Maddox IS (1992) Application of novel technology to the ABE Fermentation Process. Appl Biochem Biotechnol 34(35):441–448
- Demirbas A (2009) Political, Economic and environmental impacts of biofuels: a review. Appl Energy 86:108–117

Chapter 8 Molecular Genetic Strategies for Enhancing Plant Biomass for Cellulosic Ethanol Production

Rengasamy Ramamoorthy and Prakash P. Kumar

8.1 Introduction

Biofuels are renewable and sustainable sources of energy that can be in the solid, liquid or gas forms. A major source of biofuels is the biomass of plants rendered as bioethanol, biodiesel and biogas. Biofuels are the natural alternative sources to fossil fuels and are environmentally friendly. The concept of biofuels is not new, with firewood as the most primitive form of solid biofuel used ever since the discovery of fire. In fact, wood is still being used for cooking food and to generate heat during winter in many parts of the world. The liquid form of biofuels is either vegetable oils or ethanol derived by fermentation of plant materials. The biogas produced by anaerobic digestion of animal manure and organic household wastes into gas (methane) used for cooking is also a biofuel. Biodiesel is obtained from the vegetable oils produced from several plant species including, oil palm, canola, soybean that are also used as food oils, and more recently, from non-food sources such as Jatropha seed oil. The liquid forms of biofuels are preferred over other forms due to the ease of storage and transportation; and in many cases these can directly replace petroleum fuels. Thus, the so-called "flex fuel vehicles" on the road today can use gasoline blended with 15-85% of bioethanol.

The world bioethanol production in 2010 was about 86 billion liters (Renewable Fuel Association: http://www.ethanolrfa.org/news/entry/global-ethanol-production-to-reach-85.9-billion-litres-22.7-billion-ga/). Bioethanol is currently produced mainly from corn starch in the USA and from sugarcane in Brazil. The use of food crops for fuel production affects the food chain and has the potential to lead to serious socioeconomic issues as reflected in escalating food price. Therefore,

R. Ramamoorthy · P. P. Kumar (🖂)

Department of Biological Sciences and Temasek Life Sciences Laboratory, National University of Singapore, 10 Science Drive 4, Singapore 117543, Singapore e-mail: dbskumar@nus.edu.sg

cellulosic ethanol is becoming a viable alternative for corn starch and sugarcane as the feedstock. Because cellulosic ethanol is produced from plant biomass such as crop residues (straw), forestry and wood waste it does not disturb the food chain. The use of bioethanol can greatly reduce the greenhouse gas (GHG) emission, which can reach up to 94% lower than gasoline GHG emission [1, 2]. Therefore, it is hoped that the use of more bioethanol in the coming decades can help to achieve the significant displacement of petroleum use mandated by the advanced energy initiative (AEI) in the USA [3, 4]. The AEI requires 30% reduction from the levels of 2005 petroleum use in the transportation sector to be replaced by domestically produced renewable bioethanol. Accordingly, numerous cellulosic ethanol production facilities are being opened or the existing facilities are expanding their capacities in the USA (Renewable Fuel Association).

Biomasses such as corn stover (stalk + leaves), rice straw and wheat straw are produced in large-scale as the by-products of food production and a large portion of it is going waste by getting burnt in the field and leading to more GHG emission. In 2009–2010, the world production of corn was about 890 million tons (mt) and at the proportion of 1:1 the corn stover produced will also be about 890 mt [5]. Similarly, around 730 mt of rice straw was reportedly produced in Africa, Asia, Europe and America, out which around 678 mt comes from Asia [6]. Also, the current global production of wheat is about 675 mt and the wheat grain to straw yield ratio is estimated at around 1:1.6 [7]. The yield of ethanol from corn grain is in the range of 400–500 liters/ton, and the yield of cellulosic ethanol from digestion of dried cellulosic biomass is (380 liters/ton) in the same range. Therefore, by not using the plant biomass from the major grain crops we are discarding an excellent renewable source of fuel. Nevertheless, it should be noted that even if the entire global non-grain biomass from the three main cereal crops (corn, wheat, rice) is used for ethanol fermentation, it can only yield about 25% of the annual use of petroleum in the world. Hence, we need to develop additional sources of lignocellulosic feedstock to generate higher amounts of bioethanol.

In addition to the agricultural by-products, fast growing grasses such as switchgrass (*Panicum virgatum* L.), *Miscanthus* X giganteus, reed canary and trees such as willows and hybrid poplar have been identified as dedicated biofuel crops. Of these, switchgrass and *Miscanthus* are the most favored candidates due to their low input needs and high yield that can be harvested with existing agricultural methods [8, 9]. There are varieties suitable for different ecosystems [10] with estimated net energy yield of over 60 GJ/hectare/year [1]. Similarly, *Miscanthus* has been shown to yield harvestable biomass between 30 and 60 t/hectare/year [4]. At the 30 t/hectare yield, it was estimated that 12 million hectares of US cropland can yield adequate volumes of ethanol $(133 \times 10^9 \text{ l})$ corresponding to about 20% of the annual gasoline used in the USA, and in comparison, corn starch grown in a similar land area would yield only about 49×10^9 liters of ethanol with much higher fertilizer needs and other inputs accounting for significantly higher GHG emission [4]. Hence, it is clear that the net GHG release will be highly reduced by using switchgrass and *Miscanthus* as feedstock for bioethanol.

To get sustainable amount of biomass for the future biofuel production needs it is important to enhance the biomass yield of these dedicated biofuel crops. In this chapter we will discuss some of the possible molecular and genetic strategies to enhance plant biomass.

8.2 Strategies for Enhancement of Biomass

The second-generation bioethanol production facilities depend on lignocellulosic biomass, unlike the first-generation bioethanol plants that use corn starch or sugar. Demands on agricultural land for food production are expected to increase significantly in the coming decades and hence use of marginal land to grow and harvest the highest possible levels of biomass using plants such as switchgrass and *Miscanthus* will contribute significantly to ensure sustainable production of renewable fuel in the future. In order to enhance their productivity, these grasses have to be targeted for intensive research aimed at improving the biomass yield and other attempts to change the characteristics of the chemical contents (e.g., lignin, hemicellulose, cellulose).

Expanding the industry to use biomass feedstock from the agricultural and forestry waste materials and enhanced plant biomass from biofuel crops from marginal lands might be the best ways to get more bioethanol and reduce net emission of GHG. Hence, it is important to develop strategies to increase the yield of plant biomass in a unit area of marginal land, and save the arable land for food production. In this context, the following strategies can be employed to enhance biomass production and ensure a sustainable and constant supply of lignocellulosic biomass for bioethanol production.

8.2.1 Genetic Basis of Plant Architecture

Plant architecture is one of the important points to be considered for biomass enhancement. It is clear that different plant species grow to different heights, sizes and shapes. The final size and shape are determined by genetic and environmental factors. Thus, it would be appropriate to conclude that plant architecture is determined and influenced by the genetic information and the environmental factors, respectively. The final shape of a mature plant is established by postembryonic growth of the shoot apical meristem (SAM) and root apical meristem (RAM). SAM activity involves development of lateral organs such as leaves, flowers and branches as well as maintenance of the meristem identity in a pool of stem cells within the meristem. Recent data show that SAM is controlled by several genes such as *SHOOTMERISTEMLESS*, *CLAVATA* and *WUSCHEL* in dicotyledonous plants (e.g., *Arabidopsis*) and *OSH1* and *MOC1* in monocotyledonous plants (e.g., rice) (see [11] for detailed review). The involvement of

Mutants with increased branching	Mutants with decreased branching
Dicotyledons	
Arabidopsis supershoot auxin insensitive1 branched1 and 2 more axillary branching1, 2, 3 and 4	Arabidopsis regulator of axillary meristems1, 2 and 3 revoluta lateral suppressor
Pea ramosus1, 2, 3, 4 and 5	Tomato lateral suppressor blind
Petunia	
decreased apical dominance1	
Monocotyledons	
Maize (corn), wheat, sorghum teosinte branched1	Wheat tiller inhibition number3
Rice fine culm1 (OsTB1) high tillering dwarf dwarf3 and dwarf10	Rice monoculm1
Barley many noded dwarf granum-a densinodosum6 intermedium-m	Barley low number of tillers1 uniculm2, uniculm4 absent lower laterals semi-brachytic (uzu) intermedium spike-b

 Table 8.1
 Some of the mutants with demonstrated changes in branching phenotype (based on [13])

various phytohormones such as cytokinin, gibberellin, auxin and abscisic acid in regulating shoot development has been well recognized by plant physiologists and developmental biologists. Therefore, it is interesting to note that besides the genes listed above, several key regulatory genes that influence shoot development have been identified, among which are phytohormone signaling intermediates such as *ARR5*, *ARR6* and *ARR7* [11].

A number of other genes are known to be involved in regulating branching. Table 8.1 lists some of the known mutants with increased or decreased branching (for review see [12, 13]). The process of branching could be viewed as a multipronged developmental event, because it will involve establishment of axillary meristem, development of axillary bud, promotion of the outgrowth of the branch by overcoming the apical dominance [13]. Therefore, one can expect to find genes regulating the various steps in this developmental program, and they can be the targets of genetic modification of branching.

Manipulation of selected genes that are involved in plant growth and development may lead to the increase in the biomass. For example, mutation in a cytochrome P450 gene called *SUPERSHOOT* resulted in significantly increased axillary bud growth and led to profuse branching and significant increase in biomass [14].

Likewise mutations in the MAX1 and MAX2 loci resulted in bushy shoots in Arabidopsis [15]. The presence of OsMAX gene family in rice suggests that similar functions may be conserved in monocotyledonous plants as well. Also, overexpression of a gene called OsSPL14 in rice increased shoot branching in the vegetative stage and panicle branching in the reproductive stage [16]. The feasibility of modifying plant architecture was demonstrated with the bahiagrass (Paspalum notatum), which is a low input requiring turf grass, but with the undesirable trait of tall seedheads. Application of plant growth retardants can lead to shorter stature, but long-term use of chemicals may lead to phytotoxicity and environmental pollution. Hence, in an attempt to modify the architecture to shorter tillers with shorter leaves, transgenic plants expressing ATHB16 gene were generated [17]. These transgenic plants expressing the repressor of cell expansion (ATHB16 gene) exhibited the more desirable shorter tiller phenotype, likely to be conferred by the transgene. The *teosinte branched1* (tb1) gene in maize, and homologs in wheat, rice and Arabidopsis regulate tillering or branching [13]. The loss of function of the probable rice ortholog OsTB1 gene (fine culm 1) leads to increased tillering in rice, and its overexpression leads to decreased tillering [18]. Similarly, overexpression of the wild-type form of maize tb1 gene in wheat leads to decreased tillering, suggesting that this gene function is conserved among a variety of plant species [18]. The action of tb1 gene in sorghum (SbTB1) has been demonstrated to be under the control of phytochrome B, with suppression of the gene by the active Pfr form leading to promotion of tillering [19]. Conversely, when light conditions cause inactivation of phytochrome B, SbTB1 expression is increased and tillering is inhibited, which explains the light-mediated control of branching

This is supportive of the proposal of a combinatorial model of shoot development proposed according to which a series of independently regulated but overlapping programs modify a common set of processes leading to change from juvenile to mature phase [20]. This concept holds good and the identification of various regulatory genes and the complex genetic interactions among these genes as well as their interactions with biochemical (phytohormones) as well as environmental factors are beginning to emerge. Thus, a recent study showed that growing maize in clumps rather than equidistant planting under dryland conditions results in less tillering and biomass accumulation [21]. Due to the fact that plant architecture is significantly influenced by the phytohormones we will discuss how they may be used to enhance biomass in selected species.

8.2.2 Phytohormone-Related Genes and Developmental Regulation

Phytohormones control every aspect of plant growth and development, including seed germination, seedling growth, branching, plant height, flowering, seed development and senescence. A few major phytohormones and their roles in regulating plant growth and development are listed in Table 8.2.

Phytohormones	Growth/developmental responses
Auxins	Maintenance of meristem identity in shoot and root apical meristems, organogenesis of leaves, flowers, floral organs and lateral roots
Gibberellins	Seed germination, leaf expansion, induction of flowering, flower development and seed development
Cytokinins	Seed germination, root and shoot development and senescence
Brassinosteroids	Cell expansion, vascular differentiation, reproductive development, leaf inclination
Strigolactones	Seeds germination, hypocotyl growth and shoot branching

 Table 8.2
 Selected phytohormones and the growth and developmental responses influenced by them

Also, phytohormones such as auxins, gibberellins, cytokinins and ethylene can modify fiber and wood formation during growth [22]. Auxin is required for cell division and axial plant growth and it helps to enforce apical dominance (where the shoot tip exerts inhibitory action on the axillary bud outgrowth). The primary site of biosynthesis of auxins is at the shoot tip. It is transported basipetally to other parts of the plant via an elaborate transport mechanism involving a number of members of the PIN family of proteins [23]. The involvement of auxins and cytokinins is proven in organ development and controlling organ size. Cytokinins help to break apical dominance and promote the outgrowth of lateral shoots. Hence, interactions of auxin and cytokinin control the shoot branching in plants [24, 25]. More recently, another phytohormone strigolactones has been shown to be necessary to inhibit shoot branching, and mutants in the biosynthesis pathway exhibit plants with more branches [26]. Increased gibberellin biosynthesis by ectopically expressing AtGA20ox promotes growth rate and biomass increase in hybrid aspen [27] and tobacco [28]. Furthermore, in a recent study silencing of AtGA2ox homolog in tobacco was demonstrated to enhance plant biomass [29].

The effect of phytohormones can be examined from the biosynthesis and their biological actions. Thus, plants exhibiting wide variations in structure have been observed when key genes involved in phytohormone biosynthesis and signaling have been mutated. The classic examples of gibberellin-deficient plants (e.g., *Arabidopsis ga1-3* mutant; [30]) showing extreme dwarfism is a good illustration of the importance of this hormone in regulating plant architecture. This mutant arose from a deletion in the *ent*-kaurene synthase enzyme that catalyzes an early step in gibberellic acid biosynthesis. However, it retains the ability to respond to exogenously added gibberellins to grow to normal size. Mutants in other phytohormone biosynthetic pathways are also known to result in similarly striking changes in plant morphology.

The discovery of specific receptors for the different phytohormones and their elaborate signaling pathways [31–33] is another area of interest for this discussion. The signaling cascade for cytokinins involves sequential phosphorylation and activation of intermediate proteins [34]. There are generally multiple receptors and intermediate proteins for the phytohormones. Thus, for cytokinin signaling, more than three receptors, five phosphotransfer proteins (cytoplasm to nucleus shunting)



Fig. 8.1 Schematic representation of cytokinin signal transduction pathway (based on [34, 37]). This is an example of the signaling intermediates of one of the phytohormones. Similarly, the signaling pathways of other phytohormones have many intermediates, genes for which can be the targets of biotechnological improvements of biomass yield in selected plants. AHK2, 3, 4 Arabidopsis Histidine Kinase2, 3, 4 are cytokinin receptors on cell membranes. Dimers of the receptors bind cytokinins such as zeatin. AHP Arabidopsis Histidine Phosphotransfer proteins serve as phosphate shuttle from the cytoplasm to nucleus. ARR Arabidopsis Response Regulator proteins are the response regulators that affect the transcription of downstream target genes that are activated by cytokinins

and over 20 response regulator proteins are known (Fig. 8.1). Similarly, auxin signaling cascade has multiple receptors and effector proteins [33]. Another major aspect of phytohormone signaling is the crosstalk between different phytohormones [35], which adds a new dimension of control of plant development by this group of rather simple chemical molecules. Mutants in various intermediates along the signaling pathway can lead to interesting agronomic traits such as altered organ size, altered branching and overall changes to plant architecture. Thus we observed that suppression of AtHOG1 expression, which is a putative cytokinin signaling intermediate, leads to enhanced branching in Arabidopsis and petunia [36]. It is not our intention to review phytohormone signaling in detail here, but this brief description is used to illustrate the genetic complexity of phytohormone signaling. Therefore, the various intermediates of the phytohormone signaling pathways may be explored as targets for genetic modification to achieve desired plant architecture.

8.2.3 Functional Genomics Approaches for Identification of Useful Genes

A widely used and accepted method of functional genomics is to disrupt the genes through mutations and study the effects in the following generations. There are several methods employed for this, e.g., the insertional mutagenesis such as T-DNA insertions in model plants such as Arabidopsis [38] and rice [39]. Also, transposon tagging is another method of choice for functional genomics in the model plants. The transposons or jumping genes were identified and isolated by Barbara McClintock from maize and it was cloned by [40]. The Ac/Ds system based on the transposons is being used as a tool for functional genomics in several plant systems [41, 42]. Using these methods one can generate and study a pool of insertion mutants in the biofuel crops and look for desirable phenotypes and genes associated with them. Such experiments will increase our understating of the genetics of biofuel crops and will open the doors for genetic modifications of such crops to enhance biomass and biofuel production. However, generating large number of mutants is not feasible in all cases, and to address that there are several alternate tools. For example, if the crop has synteny with model crops such as rice that can be tested in the biofuel species. Thus, an aluminum tolerance (Alt3) locus was mapped in rye using rice/rye syntemy [43]. Another valuable reverse genetics technique called 'Targeting Induced Local Lesions IN Genomes' (TILLING), involves high throughput PCR screens of genomic DNA from M2 mutant populations induced by chemical mutagens [44, 45].

Genomic and functional genomics projects are being applied to one of the model grass species, *Brachypodium*, and its whole genome sequence has been released [46] similar to what has been achieved with the rice genome project. Also, functional genomics tools are being employed to the biomass crops such as switchgrass, *Miscanthus* and sorghum. These studies include genome-wide analysis of miRNA targets, developing low input switchgrass biomass using its bacterial endophytes and studying root physiology using root hair response to abiotic stresses. To study the gene functions there are other functional genomics approaches such as microarray studies which are useful to understand the global changes in gene expression. All these approaches will yield valuable information on the genetic nature of the biofuel crops, which have been ignored for a long time primarily due to the lack of investment in this area of research. Using these powerful genetic tools, one can generate and study a pool of insertion mutants in the biofuel crops and look for desirable phenotypes and genes associated with it. A better understating of genetic nature of biofuel crops will open the doors for genetic modifications to enhance biomass and biofuel production.

8.2.4 Plant Breeding

Plant breeding is the traditional way of improving plants by selecting for desirable phenotypes. In the simplest form, this can involve changing the ploidy of a plant to enhance the biomass production. Plant breeding is a laborious and time-consuming

process that requires significant investment of resources as well, and perhaps it is for this reason there has been very little effort focused on plants used for biofuels compared to the crop species such as rice and wheat. Most of the biofuel crops are polyploid and display self-incompatibility [47]. It is a well-established fact that intensive plant breeding efforts during the early 1960s led to the production of high yielding dwarf and semi-dwarf hybrids of wheat, corn and rice, which formed the basis of the Green Revolution. Some of the key features modified were plant height, tillering habit and grain yield relative to straw yield. One of the more recent success stories of marker-assisted breeding is the submergence tolerant rice where the SUB1 locus was introgressed into several commercial cultivars of rice [48]. Hence, with the relatively high degree of synteny among grass species, opportunities exist for adaptation of observations from model species to the biofuel species by marker-assisted breeding. It is evident from these examples that grasses are amenable for considerable increases in yield and alterations to overall plant architecture. If concerted breeding efforts are applied for the biofuel crops, we can realize remarkable enhancements of these species as with the cereal crops during the Green Revolution.

8.2.5 Biotechnological Approaches to Further Improve Biofuel Crops

Biotechnological approaches are well known rapid ways of enhancing the plant traits. Genetic transformation of useful genes into the biofuel crops is demonstrated to be feasible. Thus, there are several successful reports on genetic transformation of switchgrass [49-52], Miscanthus [53] and sugarcane [54, 55]. Selected genes (or their homologs) that cause biomass enhancement in a given (crop) plant species can be the candidate genes for genetic transformation of biofuel crops. For example root-specific expression of cell wall invertase gene CIN1 from Chenopodium rubrum displayed enhanced shoot and root biomass in Arabidopsis [56]. Hence, similar genetic modification using either this gene or its homolog from the biofuel species may increase the shoot and root biomass. In another study, the overexpression of sugar metabolism enzymes such as UDPglucose pyrophosphorylase, sucrose synthase and sucrose phosphate synthase was shown to result in increased plant biomass [57]. Suppression of Arabidopsis GA2ox homolog in tobacco enhanced fiber, wood formations and overall biomass yields [29]. Mutation in one of the WRKY transcription factors induces secondary wall formation in pith cells and leads to increased stem biomass in Medicago [58]. Also, delayed flowering will increase the biomass due to the availability of more time for vegetative growth. Thus, overexpression of floral repressor FLC in tobacco caused delayed flowering and as a result, the plants had accumulated significantly more biomass [59]. Similarly, another flowering time regulator mutant in maize called indeterminate1 (id1) showed delayed flowering and increase in biomass [60], suggesting that various candidate genes are already available for genetic modification of the plants used for cellulosic bioethanol production.

Although biofuel crops can grow in marginal land and yield significant amounts of biomass there are several potential problems with them. These include susceptibility to abiotic, biotic stresses and difficulties associated with conversion of cellulose into simple sugars during downstream processing. Prolonged cold and drought stresses may lead to significant yield loss, and to overcome this biofuel crops can be genetically engineered using proven cold- and drought-tolerant genes. Another major problem identified is biotic stresses such as insect and pest attack (e.g., plant-parasitic root nematodes) associated with decline in biomass production [61]. Generation of plants resistant to nematode and insect attacks might be the solution for this problem, which is possible to be achieved by genetic modification and biotechnological approaches.

Other approaches for genetic improvement of plants used for cellulosic ethanol production are to modify the chemical composition of the cell wall, specifically, to alter the lignocellulosic content or to incorporate genes for stable/inducible forms of enzymes such as cellulase into the plants so that downstream processing will be facilitated. Recently, genetic modification involving RNAi suppression of *caffeic acid 3-O-methyltransferase (COMT)* gene in switchgrass has been demonstrated to reduce lignin content and increase ethanol yield by up to 30% [51]. To convert the cellulose (which is a polymer of glucose units) to simple sugars either acid hydrolysis at high temperatures (with high energy input) or treatment with fungal cellulase enzyme is used. This is a rate limiting and costly step and to avoid this, temporal expression of cellulase gene in biofuel crops using specific promoters has been suggested. Efforts are underway in various laboratories to achieve this.

8.3 Conclusions and Future Perspectives

Bioethanol appears to have been firmly established as an important form of alternate fuel. With the second and later generation of bioethanol production focusing on the use of cellulosic biomass, the need for improvement of biomass plants is evident from the above discussion. Despite the occasional controversies raised, bioethanol is an environmentally friendly renewable energy source, and its large-scale use will lead to significant reduction in net emission of GHG. Alternate forms of biofuels such as oils to be used as biodiesel either from plants or from algae are also being explored. The emerging field of synthetic biology strives to convert microalgae into an efficient fuel oil production system. Although it is in its infancy, based on the underlying biological facts, synthetic biology for biofuel production by microalgae is expected to be successful in the coming decades.

It is important to phase out the use of food grains for fuel production in the coming decades. Because of the significant increase in demand for food grain expected, the conflicting demands on agricultural land will lead to serious social conflicts. Therefore, improving the efficiency and scaling up production of

cellulosic ethanol is imperative. In order to achieve this, it is important to generate sufficient amounts of cellulosic biomass. Well over a trillion liters of ethanol (theoretical yield per year) can be obtained if all the available corn stover, rice straw and wheat straw (estimated 3 billion tons per year, [6]) are utilized for biofuel production. This represents one year's oil demand of USA or approximately 25% of the annual world usage of petroleum. Currently, a significant amount of straw is either burnt and disposed off or used for animal feed. Therefore, use of non-food crop biomass plants becomes essential to broaden the availability of raw material for bioethanol production. Unlike with food crops, objections will be minimal if genetic modification strategies are applied to the biofuel plants to enhance yield, be tolerant to stresses and adverse growth conditions.

We have identified manipulation of the intermediates of phytohormone signaling pathways as an important strategy for enhancing plant biomass. The key developmental processes affecting biomass, which include reduced apical dominance and increased branching, plant height, leaf area and root to shoot ratio etc., are strongly influenced by phytohormones. The fact that phytohormones have pleiotropic effects on growth and development combined with the recent findings of the multiple signaling intermediates presents tremendous untapped opportunities for modifying specific traits listed above for improvement of the biofuel plants. The various signaling intermediates and downstream target genes can serve as candidates for biotechnological improvement or future marker-assisted breeding efforts.

The foregoing discussion has highlighted the need for and feasibility of using genetic and biotechnological approaches to enhance biomass production from a unit land area. Knowledge gained from model plants can be adapted to the biofuel crops in order to achieve this and to ensure sustainable biofuel production as a valuable alternative fuel in the decades to come.

Acknowledgments We thank Ms. Petra Stamm for helping to prepare Fig. 8.1. Research in the author's laboratory is funded by the Science and Engineering Research Council (SERC Grant No.: 0921390036) of the Agency for Science Technology and Research, Singapore; and the National University of Singapore.

References

- Schmer MR, Vogel KP, Mitchell RB, Perrin RK (2008) Net energy of cellulosic ethanol from switchgrass. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 105:464–469. doi:10.1073/pnas0704767105
- Demirbas A (2009) Political, economic and environmental impacts of biofuels: a review. Appl Energ 86:S108–S117. doi:10.1016/j.apenergy.2009.04.036
- Milliken J, Joseck F, Wang M, Yuzugullu E (2007) The advanced energy initiative. J Power Sources 172:121–131. doi:10.1016/j.jpowsour.2007.05.030
- Heaton EA, Long SP, Dohleman FG (2008) Meeting US biofuel goals with less land: the potential of *Miscanthus*. Glob Change Biol 14:2000–2014. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2486.2008.01662.x

- 5. Kim S, Dale BE (2004) Global potential bioethanol production from wasted crops and crop residues. Biomass Bioenerg 26:361–375. doi:10.1016/j.biombioe.2003.08.002
- Binod P, Sindhu R, Singhania RR, Vikram S, Devi L, Nagalakshmi S, Kurien N, Sukumaran RK, Pandey A (2010) Bioethanol production from rice straw: an overview. Bioresour Technol 101:4767–4774. doi:10.1016/j.biortech.2009.10.079
- 7. Engel R, Long D, Carlson G, Wallander R (2005) Estimating straw production of spring and winter wheat. Fertilizer Facts Montana State University Extention Bulletin No.33
- Vogel KP, Brejda JJ, Walters DT, Buxton DR (2002) Switchgrass biomass production in the Midwest USA: harvest and nitrogen management. Agron J 94:413–420
- McLaughlin SB, Kiniry JR, Taliaferro CM, Ugarte DD (2006) Projecting yield and utilization potential of switchgrass as an energy crop. Adv Agron 90:267–297. doi:10.1016/S0065-2113(06)90007-8
- Parrish DJ, Fike JH (2009) Selecting, establishing, and managing switchgrass (*Panicum virgatum* L.) for biofuels. Methods Mol Biol 581:27–40. doi:10.1007/978-1-60761-214-8_2
- Wang Y, Li J (2008) Molecular basis of plant architecture. Annu Rev Plant Biol 59:253–279. doi:10.1146/annurev.arplant.59.032607.092902
- 12. Bennett T, Leyser O (2006) Something on the side: axillary meristems and plant development. Plant Mol Biol 60:843–854. doi:10.1007/s11103-005-2763-4
- Lewis JM, Mackintosh CA, Shin S, Gilding E, Kravchenko S, Baldridge G, Zeyen R, Muehlbauer GJ (2008) Overexpression of the maize *Teosinte Branched1* gene in wheat suppresses tiller development. Plant Cell Rep 27:1217–1225. doi:10.1007/s00299-008-0543-8
- Tantikanjana T, Yong JW, Letham DS, Griffith M, Hussain M, Ljung K, Sandberg G, Sundaresan V (2001) Control of axillary bud initiation and shoot architecture in *Arabidopsis* through the *SUPERSHOOT* gene. Genes Dev 15:1577–1588. doi:10.1101/gad.887301
- Stirnberg P, van De Sande K, Leyser HM (2002) MAX1 and MAX2 control shoot lateral branching in Arabidopsis. Development 129:1131–1141
- Miura K, Ikeda M, Matsubara A, Song X-J, Ito M, Asano K, Matsuoka M, Kitano H, Ashikari M (2010) *OsSPL14* promotes panicle branching and higher grain productivity in rice. Nat Genet 42:545–549. doi:10.1038/ng.592
- Zhang HN, Altpeter F, Lomba P (2007) Improved turf quality of transgenic bahiagrass (*Paspalum notatum* Flugge) constitutively expressing the *ATHB16* gene, a repressor of cell expansion. Mol Breeding 20:415–423. doi:10.1007/s11032-007-9101-2
- Takeda T, Suwa Y, Suzuki M, Kitano H, Ueguchi-Tanaka M, Ashikari M, Matsuoka M, Ueguchi C (2003) The *OsTB1* gene negatively regulates lateral branching in rice. Plant J 33:513–520
- Kebrom TH, Burson BL, Finlayson SA (2006) Phytochrome B represses *Teosinte Branched1* expression and induces sorghum axillary bud outgrowth in response to light signals. Plant Physiol 140:1109–1117. doi:10.1104/pp.105.074856
- Poethig RS (1990) Phase-change and the regulation of shoot morphogenesis in plants. Science 250:923–930
- Kapanigowda M, Stewart BA, Howell TA, Kadasrivenkata H, Baumhardt RL (2010) Growing maize in clumps as a strategy for marginal climatic conditions. Field Crop Res 118:115–125. doi:10.1016/j.fcr.2010.04.012
- Aloni R (2001) Foliar and axial aspects of vascular differentiation: hypotheses and evidence. J Plant Growth Regul 20:22–34
- Krecek P, Skupa P, Libus J, Naramoto S, Tejos R, Friml J, Zazimalova E (2009) The PIN-FORMED (PIN) protein family of auxin transporters. Genome Biol 10:249. doi:10.1186/gb-2009-10-12-249
- Ongaro V, Leyser O (2007) Hormonal control of shoot branching. J Exp Bot 59:67–74. doi:10.1093/jxb/erm134
- Shimizu-Sato S, Tanaka M, Mori H (2008) Auxin–cytokinin interactions in the control of shoot branching. Plant Mol Biol 69:429–435. doi:10.1007/s11103-008-9416-3

8 Molecular Genetic Strategies

- 26. Umehara M, Hanada A, Yoshida S, Akiyama K, Arite T, Takeda-Kamiya N, Magome H, Kamiya Y, Shirasu K, Yoneyama K, Kyozuka J, Yamaguchi S (2008) Inhibition of shoot branching by new terpenoid plant hormones. Nature 455:195–200. doi:10.1038/nature07272
- Eriksson ME, Israelsson M, Olsson O, Moritz T (2000) Increased gibberellin biosynthesis in transgenic trees promotes growth, biomass production and xylem fiber length. Nat Biotechnol 18:784–788
- Biemelt S (2004) Impact of altered gibberellin metabolism on biomass accumulation, lignin biosynthesis, and photosynthesis in transgenic tobacco plants. Plant Physiol 135:254–265. doi:10.1104/pp103.036988
- Dayan J, Schwarzkopf M, Avni A, Aloni R (2010) Enhancing plant growth and fiber production by silencing *GA2-oxidase*. Plant Biotechnol J 8:425–435. doi:10.1111/j.1467-7652.2009.00480.x
- Michaels SD, Amasino RM (1999) The gibberellic acid biosynthesis mutant ga1-3 of Arabidopsis thaliana is responsive to vernalization. Dev Genet 25:194–198. doi:10.1002/ (SICI)1520-6408(1999)
- Bonetta D, McCourt P (2005) Plant biology: a receptor for gibberellin. Nature 437:627–628. doi:10.1038/437627a
- Riefler M, Novak O, Strnad M, Schmulling T (2006) Arabidopsis cytokinin receptor mutants reveal functions in shoot growth, leaf senescence, seed size, germination, root development, and cytokinin metabolism. Plant Cell 18:40–54. doi:10.1105/tpc.105.037796
- Mockaitis K, Estelle M (2008) Auxin receptors and plant development: a new signaling paradigm. Annu Rev Cell Dev Biol 24:55–80. doi:10.1146/ annurev.cellbio.23.090506.123214
- Argueso CT, Raines T, Kieber JJ (2010) Cytokinin signaling and transcriptional networks. Curr Opin Plant Biol 13:533–539. doi:10.1016/j.pbi.2010.08.006/s1369-5266(10)00108-1
- 35. Stamm P, Ramamoorthy R, Kumar PP (2011) Feeding the extra billions: strategies to improve crops and enhance future food security. Plant Biotechnol Rep 5:107–120. doi:10.1007/s11816-011-0169-0
- 36. Godge MR, Kumar D, Kumar PP (2008) Arabidopsis HOG1 gene and its petunia homolog PETCBP act as key regulators of yield parameters. Plant Cell Rep 27:1497–1507. doi:10.1007/s00299-008-0576-z
- 37. Wulfetange K, Lomin SN, Romanov GA, Stolz A, Heyl A, Schmulling T (2011) The cytokinin receptors of *Arabidopsis* are located mainly to the endoplasmic reticulum. Plant Physiol 156:1808–1818. doi:10.1104/pp111.180539
- Krysan PJ, Young JC, Sussman MR (1999) T-DNA as an insertional mutagen in *Arabidopsis*. Plant Cell 11:2283–2290
- 39. Jeon JS, Lee S, Jung KH, Jun SH, Jeong DH, Lee J, Kim C, Jang S, Yang K, Nam J, An K, Han MJ, Sung RJ, Choi HS, Yu JH, Choi JH, Cho SY, Cha SS, Kim SI, An G (2000) T-DNA insertional mutagenesis for functional genomics in rice. Plant J 22:561–570
- 40. Fedoroff N, Wessler S, Shure M (1983) Isolation of the transposable maize controlling elements *Ac* and *Ds*. Cell 35:235–242. doi:10.1016/0092-8674(83)90226-X
- 41. Tissier AF, Marillonnet S, Klimyuk V, Patel K, Torres MA, Murphy G, Jones JD (1999) Multiple independent defective suppressor-mutator transposon insertions in *Arabidopsis*: a tool for functional genomics. Plant Cell 11:1841–1852
- 42. Ramachandran S, Sundaresan V (2001) Transposons as tools for functional genomics. Plant Physiol Bioch 39:243–252
- Miftahudin T, Chikmawati K, Ross GJ Scoles, Gustafson JP (2005) Targeting the aluminum tolerance gene Alt3 region in rye, using rice/rye micro-colinearity. Theor Appl Genet 110:906–913. doi:10.1007/s00122-004-1909-0
- McCallum CM, Comai L, Greene EA, Henikoff S (2000) Targeting induced local lesions IN genomes (TILLING) for plant functional genomics. Plant Physiol 123:439–442
- 45. Tadele Z, Esfeld K, Plaza S (2010) Applications of high-throughput techniques to the understudied crops of Africa. Aspects Appl Biol 96:223–240

- 46. The International Brachypodium Initiative (2010) Genome sequencing and analysis of the model grass *Brachypodium distachyon*. Nature 463:763–768. doi:10.1038/nature08747
- Martinez-Reyna JM, Vogel KP (2002) Incompatibility systems in switchgrass. Crop Sci 42:1800–1805
- Septiningsih EM, Pamplona AM, Sanchez DL, Neeraja CN, Vergara GV, Heuer S, Ismail AM, Mackill DJ (2009) Development of submergence-tolerant rice cultivars: the *Sub1* locus and beyond. Ann Bot 103:151–160. doi:10.1093/aob/mcn206
- Somleva MN, Tomaszewski Z, Conger BV (2002) Agrobacterium-mediated genetic transformation of switchgrass. Crop Sci 42:2080–2087
- Xi Y, Fu C, Ge Y, Nandakumar R, Hisano H, Bouton J, Wang Z-Y (2009) Agrobacteriummediated transformation of switchgrass and inheritance of the transgenes. BioEnerg Res 2:275–283. doi:10.1007/s12155-009-9049-7
- 51. Fu C, Mielenz JR, Xiao X, Ge Y, Hamilton CY, Rodriguez M, Chen F, Foston M, Ragauskas A, Bouton J, Dixon RA, Wang ZY (2011) Genetic manipulation of lignin reduces recalcitrance and improves ethanol production from switchgrass. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 108:3803–3808. doi:10.1073/pnas.1100310108
- Li R, Qu R (2011) High throughput Agrobacterium-mediated switchgrass transformation. Biomass Bioenerg 35:1046–1054. doi:10.1016/j.biombioe.2010.11.025
- 53. Zili Y, Zhou P, Chu C, Li X, Li X, Tian W, Wang L, Cao S, Tang Z (2004) Establishment of genetic transformation system for *Miscanthus sacchariflorus* and obtaining of its transgenic plants. High Tech Lett 10:27–31
- 54. Arencibia AD, Carmona ER, Tellez P, Chan MT, Yu SM, Trujillo LE, Oramas P (1998) An efficient protocol for sugarcane (*Saccharum spp.* L.) transformation mediated by *Agrobacterium tumefaciens*. Transgenic Res 7:213–222
- 55. Santosa DA, Hendroko R, Farouk A, Greiner R (2004) A rapid and highly efficient method for transformation of sugarcane callus. Mol Biotechnol 28:113–119. doi:10.1385/ MB:28:2:113
- 56. Von Schweinichen C, Buttner M (2005) Expression of a plant cell wall invertase in roots of *Arabidopsis* leads to early flowering and an increase in whole plant biomass. Plant Biol (Stuttg) 7:469–475. doi:10.1055/s-2005-865894
- Coleman HD, Beamish L, Reid A, Park JY, Mansfield SD (2010) Altered sucrose metabolism impacts plant biomass production and flower development. Transgenic Res 19:269–283. doi:10.1007/s11248-009-9309-5
- Wang H, Avci U, Nakashima J, Hahn MG, Chen F, Dixon RA (2010) Mutation of WRKY transcription factors initiates pith secondary wall formation and increases stem biomass in dicotyledonous plants. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 107:22338–22343. doi:10.1073/ pnas.1016436107
- Salehi H (2005) Delay in flowering and increase in biomass of transgenic tobacco expressing the floral repressor gene. J Plant Physiol 162:711–717. doi:10.1016/j.jplph.2004.12.002
- 60. Colasanti J, Yuan Z, Sundaresan V (1998) The indeterminate gene encodes a zinc finger protein and regulates a leaf-generated signal required for the transition to flowering in maize. Cell 93:593–603. doi:10.1016/S0092-8674(00)81188-5
- 61. Cassida KA, Kirkpatrick TL, Robbins RT, Muir JP, Venuto BC, Hussey MA (2005) Plantparasitic nematodes associated with switchgrass (*Panicum virgatum* L.) grown for biofuel in the South Central United States. Nematropica 35:1–10

Chapter 9 Production of Bioethanol from Food Industry Waste: Microbiology, Biochemistry and Technology

V. K. Joshi, Abhishek Walia and Neerja S. Rana

9.1 Introduction

Ethanol, a solvent, extractant, and antifreeze, is used for synthesis of many solvents in the preparation of dyes, pharmaceuticals, lubricants, adhesives, detergents, pesticides, explosives, and resins for the manufacture of synthetic fibers and liquid fuel [163]. Ethanol is a major solvent in industries and ranks second only to water [152].

It is also employed as a solvent for resins, cosmetics and household cleaning products. The ethanol obtained from biomass-based waste materials or renewable sources is called as bioethanol and can be used as a fuel, chemical feedstock, and a solvent in various industries. Besides ethanol, biofuels containing butanol, propanol, 2-methyl 1-butanol, isobutanol, isopropanol, etc. are also employed. Bioethanol produced by fermentation is rapidly gaining popularity all over the world. The US, Brazil, Japan, France, U.K., Italy, Belgium, and The Netherlands are among the few countries widely using bioethanol for various uses [98]. It has certain advantages as petroleum substitutes, viz., alcohol can be produced from a number of renewable resources, alcohol as fuel burns cleaner than petroleum which is environmentally more acceptable. It is biodegradable and thus, checks pollution. It is far less toxic than fossil fuels. It can easily be integrated to the

Dr. Y.S. Parmar University of Horticulture and Forestry, Nauni, Solan, Himachal Pradesh, India

e-mail: vkjoshipht@rediffmail.com

A. Walia · N. S. Rana
Department of Basic Sciences,
Dr. Y.S. Parmar University of Horticulture and Forestry,
Nauni, Solan, Himachal Pradesh, India
e-mail: sunny_0999walia@yahoo.co.in

V. K. Joshi (🖂)

Department of Food Science and Technology,

existing transport fuel system, i.e., up to 5% bioethanol can be blended with conventional fuel without the need for modification.

Gasohol (mixture of gasoline and alcohol) is widely used to run vehicles in developed countries. The use of alcohol as fuels is gaining vast popularity day-by-day and gasohol program is encouraged throughout the world. By encouraging bioethanol use, the rural economy could also receive a boost by growing the necessary crops. New technologies are being developed that are economically and strategically superior.

The interest in bioethanol as a fuel in response to petroleum price increase is the most significant factor influencing the world ethanol market. Recent oil shortage and escalating oil prices have led scientists to develop alternative energy sources to substitute petroleum. Global warming alerts and threats are on the rise due to the over utilization of fossil fuels. Alternative fuel sources like bioethanol and biodiesel are being produced to combat these threats. Bioethanol production from plant biomass has received considerable attention recently in order to mitigate global warming and demands for petroleum not from a finite resource and is a greenhouse gas emission. The road transport network accounts for 22% of all greenhouse gas emissions, and through the use of bioethanol as some of these emissions will be reduced as the fuel crops absorb CO₂. Also, blending bioethanol with petrol will help extend the life of diminishing oil supplies and ensure greater fuel security, avoiding heavy dependence on oil producing nations.

Biofuel obtained from renewable sources can be classified on the basis of their production techniques as given below:

- First-generation fuels refer to biofuels made from plants rich in oil and sugar.
- Second-generation biofuels (Biomass to liquid) are made from organic materials, such as straw, wood residues, agricultural residues, reclaimed wood, sawdust, and low value timber.
- Biofuels of third generation are produced from algae by using modern gene and nanotechnologies.
- Fourth-generation biofuels are produced from vegetable oil by using hydrolytic conversion/deoxygenating.

Tables 9.1 and 9.2 show biofuels of the four generations, their substrates and technological processes of their production.

It is apparent that different types of substrates can be employed to produce bioethanol. Accordingly, modification in its production technology has been made. The replacement of ethanol by ethylene is reversed in less industrialized nations. In Brazil and India, ethylene and its chemical derivates are produced by catalytic dehydration of fermentative ethanol [5].

The USA and Brazil are currently the primary producers of fuel ethanol, producing 49.6 and 38.3% of the 2007 global production, respectively. US bioethanol production is almost entirely from maize (corn) starch, which is converted into fermentable glucose by the addition of amylase and glucoamylase enzymes. In 2007, 24.6 billion L of ethanol was produced in the USA, that comprised of only 3.2% of gasoline consumption on an energy-equivalent basis [188].

Type of biofuel	Name	Biomass feedstock	Production process
First-generation (conv	ventional) biofuel		
Bioethanol	Conventional bioethanol	Sugar beet, sugarcane, sugar, sorghum	Hydrolysis and fermentation
Pure plant oil	Pure plant oil (PPO)	Oil plants (e.g. rapeseed)	Cold-pressing/ extraction
Biodiesel fuel (plant energy)	Rape methyl-/ethyl ester (RME/REE) Fatty acids Methyl/ethyl ester (FAME/FAEE)	Oil plants (e.g. rape/ turnip rape seed, sunflower seeds, soy beans, etc.	Cold-pressing/ extraction/ transeste- rification
Biodiesel fuel	Fatty acids (waste grease)methyl/ethyl ester (FAME/FAEE)	Biodiesel cooking and deep fry grease	Transesterification
Biogas	Upgrade biogas	(Wet) biomass	Anaerobic digestion
BIO-ETBE		Bioethanol	Chemical synthesis
Second-generation Bio	ofuel		
Bioethanol	Cellulose ethanol	Lignocelluloses	Up-gradation hydrolysis and fermentation
Synthetic biofuels	Mixed higher alcohols Bio- dimethyl ether	Lignocelluloses	Gasification and syntheses
Biodiesel (hybrid biodiesel from the first and second generation)	NExBTL	Plant oils and animal fats	Hydrogenaton (refining/ enrichment)
Biogas	SNG(synthetic natural gas)	Lignocelluloses	Gasification and syntheses
Bio-hydrogen		Lignocelluloses	Gasification and syntheses or biological process

 Table 9.1
 First- and second-generation biofuels, their feedstock, and technological processes of their production

Source [172]

 Table 9.2
 Third- and fourth-generation biofuels, their feedstock, and technological processes

Type of biofuel	Name	Biomass feedstock	Production process
Third-generation	biofuels		
Biodiesel	Oligae Algae diesel	Algae	Gene and nanotechnology and esterification
Fourth-generatio	n biofuels		
Bio gasoline Bio jet fuel Biodiesel	Synthetic oil	Vegetable oil (CENTIA TM oil from algae)	Hydrolytic conversion/ deoxygenating

Source [37]

Chemical	Production cost (\$/1)			
	From petroleum feedsock	From ethanol (at 40 g/l)		
Acetaldehyde	60	66		
Acetic acid	50	63		
Butadiene	64	145		
Ethylene	44	95		
2-Ethyl alcohol	61	166		

Table 9.3 Production cost of various chemicals using ethanol as feedstock

Source [139]

The production costs of various chemicals from ethanol and petroleum feedstocks are compared in Table 9.3. Clearly, the production of bioethanol from first generation is economically unreasonable because of discarding cellulose and hemicellulose which constitute the majority of carbon resources of plants. Furthermore, the biofuels of this generation also compete with food products intended for human consumption. Thus, second-generation bioethanol production is important as it allows improved CO_2 balance and make use of cheap, waste source which does not compete with human food products.

In brief, the use of ethanol as a biofuel is gaining increasing popularity. Although it is produced from several sources but the technologies using the waste material for its production is most attractive as it does not interfere with food particular substrates needed for the ever increasing world population. Different types of waste materials, their composition, biochemistry, microbiology, and the technology involved in bioethanol production have been reviewed in this chapter. New strategies and future thrust has also been briefly highlighted.

9.2 Raw Materials

9.2.1 Wheat Straw

Wheat (*Triticum aestivum* L.) is the world's most widely grown crop, cultivated in over 115 countries under a wide range of environmental conditions. Over the past 100 years, the yields of wheat have been increased and the annual global production of dry wheat in 2008 was estimated to be over 650 Tg [10]. Assuming residue/crop ratio of 1.3, about 850 Tg of wheat residues are annually produced which include straw as the major waste. The straw produced is left on the field, plowed back into the soil, burnt, or even removed from the land depending on the convenience of the landowner. Disposal of wheat straw by burning is viewed as a serious problem due to the increased concern over the health hazards of smoke generated [93]. Burning of wheat straw also results in production of large amounts of air pollutants including particulate matter, CO, and NO₂ [110]. Thus, finding an

· · · · · · ·							
Biomass	Residue/ crop ratio	DM (%)	Cellulose (%)	Hemicellulose (%)	Lignin (%)	Carbohydrates (%)	Ethanol (l/kg DM)
Barley	1.2	81.0	-	-	9.0	70.0	0.31
Maize (stover)	1	78.5	45	35	15–19	58.3	0.29
Oat	1.3	90.1	-	_	13.7	59.1	0.26
Rice straw	1.4	88.0	32-47	19–27	5.571	49.3	0.28
Sorghum	1.3	88.0	-	-	15.0	61.0	0.27
Wheat straw	1.3	90.1	33–40	20–25	16–20	54.0	0.29
Sugarcane Bagasse	0.6 ^a	171	40–45	30–35	20-30	67.1	0.28

Table 9.4 Composition of arable crop residues based on dry mass (DM) and potential for bioethanol production

Source [95, 140, 144]

^a kg of bagasse/kg of dry sugarcane

alternative way for disposal of surplus wheat straw is of paramount interest and an immediate necessity.

Wheat straw like any other biomass of lignocellulosic nature is a complex mixture of cellulose, hemicellulose, and lignin as three main components (Table 9.4), and a small amount of soluble substrates (also known as extractives) and ash. The overall chemical composition of wheat straws could slightly differ depending on the wheat species, soil, and climate conditions. The cellulose strands are bundled together and tightly packed in such a way that neither water nor enzyme can penetrate through the structure [104, 179]. Hemicellulose serves as a connection between lignin and cellulose fibers, and it is readily hydrolyzed by dilute acid or base, as well as hemicellulase enzyme. Lignin is covalently linked to cellulose and xylan (predominant hemicellulose carbohydrate polymer in wheat straw) such that lignin-cellulose-xylan interactions exert a great influence on the digestibility of lignocellulosic materials [104]. Due to this structural complexity of the lignocellulosic matrix, ethanol production from wheat straw requires at least four major unit operations including pretreatment, hydrolysis, fermentation, and distillation. Unlike sucrose or starch, lignocellulosic biomass such as wheat straw need to be pretreated to make cellulose accessible for efficient enzymatic depolymerization.

9.2.2 Sugarcane Bagasse

Sugarcane bagasse is the wastes from the sugar factory. It is obtained as a left-over material after the juice is extracted from the sugarcane. Sugarcane bagasse (SCB) was analyzed for its composition, structure, and surface properties (Table 9.4).

Because of its lower ash content, 1.9% [111], bagasse offers numerous advantages compared to other agro-based residues such as paddy straw, 16% [4], rice straw, 14.5% [60], and wheat straw, 9.2% [210]. In another study, SCB was obtained from a small sugarcane juice factory and milled for analysis of different types of fibers. It is important to note that most developments in SCB transformation into sugars and ethanol have a common scientific base with other lignocellulosic materials, due to considerable similarity in composition and structure.

9.2.3 Rice Straw

Rice straw, a waste from paddy processing, has several characteristics that make it a potential feedstock for fuel ethanol production. It has high cellulose and hemicellulose content that can be readily hydrolyzed into fermentable sugars. The chemical composition of feedstock has a major influence on the efficiency of bioenergy generation. The low feedstock quality of rice straw is primarily determined by a high ash content (10–17%) compared to wheat straw (around 3%) and also high silica content in ash (SiO₂ is 75% in rice and 55% in wheat) [205]. On the other hand, rice straw as feedstock has the advantage of having a relatively low total alkali content (Na₂O and K₂O typically comprise <15% of total ash), whereas wheat straw can typically have >25% alkali content in ash [12].

In terms of chemical composition, the straw predominantly contains cellulose (32-47%), hemicellulose (19-27%), and lignin (5-24%) [48, 116, 159, 204] as shown in Table 9.4. The pentoses are dominant in hemicellulose, in which xylose is the most important sugar (14.8-20.2%) [149].

9.2.4 Fruit and Vegetable Waste

9.2.4.1 Apple Pomace

Apple pomace is the solid phase resulting from pressing apples for juice, containing the pulp, peels, and cores. It accounts for 25–35% of the dry weight of processed apple. It has very high moisture content and can be easily decomposed by microorganisms. It is of yellow-to-brown color [7]. It is a rich source of many nutrients including carbohydrates, minerals, fibers except protein [162]. Apple pomace has high contents of carbohydrates with about 9.5–22.0% of fermentable sugar [174] which makes it a good substrate for fermentation while its low protein content indicates its unsuitability as animal feed [67, 86].

The amount of initial sugar content, however, depends upon the variety of apple processed, the processing conditions used, and the amount of filter aids added [66].

Constituents	Composition			
	Wet weight basis	Dry weight basis		
Moisture (%)	66.4–78.2	3.97-5.40		
Acidity (% malic acid)	NA	2.54-3.28		
Total soluble solids (TSS ^o B)	NA	57.85		
Total carbohydrate (%)	9.50-22.00	48.00-62.00		
Glucose (%)	6.10	22.70		
Fructose (%)	13.60	23.60		
Sucrose (%)	NA	1.80		
Xylose (%)	NA	0.06		
рН	3.05-3.80	3.90		
Vitamin-C (mg/100 g)	-	8.53-18.50		
Soluble proteins (%)	NA	3.29		
Protein (%)	1.03-1.82	4.45-5.67		
Crude fiber (%)	4.30-10.50	4.70-48.72		
Fat (ether extract, %)	0.82-1.43	3.49-3.90		
Pectin (%)	1.50-2.50	3.50-14.32		
Ash (%)	NA	1.60		
Polyphenols (%)	NA	0.99		
Amino acids (%)	NA	1.52		
Minerals				
Potassium (%)	NA	0.95		
Calcium (%)	NA	0.06		
Sodium (%)	NA	0.20		
Magnesium (%)	NA	0.02		
Copper (mg/l)	NA	1.10		
Zinc (mg/l)	NA	15.00		
Manganese (mg/l)	NA	8.50-9.00		
Iron (mg/l)	NA	230.00		
Calorific value (kcal/100 g)	NA	295.00		

Table 9.5 Proximate composition of apple pomace

Source [65, 84, 86, 92, 174]

Alcohol-soluble compounds (monosaccharides, oligosaccharides, and malic acid) accounted for 32–45 wt% of oven-dry pomace. Glucose and fructose are the major components of this fraction. Apple pomace is an acidic substrate and has considerable buffering capacity due to the presence of malic acid in it. Apple pomace has high levels of Biochemical Oxygen Demand/Chemical Oxygen Demand (BOD/COD) and is highly biodegradable. The proximate composition of apple pomace is shown in Table 9.5.

	Banana peel	Pineapple waste
Total solids ^a	10.68	7.80
Volatile solids ^b	86.65	89.40
Ash	13.35	10.60
Organic carbon	41.37	51.85
Total carbohydrates	23.44	35.00
Cellulose	11.11	19.80
Hemicellulose	5.36	11.70
Total soluble	35.89	30.00
Total nitrogen	1.06	0.95
C/N ratio	39:1	55:1

Table 9.6 Characteristics of banana peel and pineapple wastes

Source [132]

^a Percent total weight

^b Percent total solid unless otherwise mentioned

9.2.4.2 Banana Waste

Banana waste mainly comprises the peels and stalks. The physicochemical characteristics given in Table 9.6 clearly show that it can be used for ethanol production.

9.2.4.3 Pineapple Waste

Pineapple waste comprises the skin, seeds, and remaining parts after juice extraction. Cooked Sago is added to mill juice to enrich it with sugar to a level of 8% (w/w). The physicochemical characteristics of pineapple waste are given in Table 9.6 that shows its potential for ethanol production due to high carbohydrates/total solids content [183].

9.2.4.4 Orange Peel Waste

Orange waste is another substrate used for ethanol production. The proximate composition of orange waste and orange filtrate is given in Table 9.7.

9.2.4.5 Potato Peel Waste

The proximate composition of potato waste and potato filtrate (Table 9.7). Apparently, indicates its suitability for the production of ethanol.

Component (%Y) ^a	Orange waste (peel, pulp, and seeds)	Potato waste (peel and trimmings)	Orange filtrate	Potato filtrate
Dry matter	20.98	17.82	4.29	1.69
Alcohol-insoluble solids	63.00	62.70	19.60	22.49
Total soluble sugars	15.00	1.40	16.9	3.92
Reducing sugars	9.16	0.91	10.24	3.04
Pectin	20.93	3.39	2.62	0.41
Cellulose	10.59	2.20	2.19	0.14
Starch	<1.00	66.78	<1.00	44.81
Crude protein	6.53	14.70	0.53	3.31
Ash	3.78	7.65	0.78	0.82
Volatile solids	96.22	92.32	99.22	99.18
pH	4.30	5.99	4.30	5.99

Table 9.7 Proximate composition of orange and potato waste materials

Source [115]

^a All components are expressed as percent dry weights except the dry matter that is the per cent wet weight. Values are expressed as the mean of three determinations (variation <5%)

9.2.5 Coffee Waste

Use of coffee waste as a substrate for ethanol fermentation has also been reported earlier [16].

9.2.6 Cheese Whey

Large amounts of whey produced is posing a serious problem all over the world for its proper utilization. Only a few countries have succeeded in utilizing their total whey production [147]. Whey is rich in lactose, a dimer of glucose and galactose unit, and can be fermented only by a selected number of yeasts. Because glucose and galactose are readily fermentable sugars, it is suggested that β -galactosidase treated whey could make a better substrate for industrial fermentation than untreated whey.

9.2.7 Spent Sulfite Liquor

The sulfite process involving the delignification of wood with acid bisulfite is widely used by mills in Europe and North America. While the lignin part is solubilized by combining with HSO₃, the wood cellulose largely remains undegraded. The hemicelluloses are hydrolyzed into monosaccharides. Spent sulfite liquor (SSL), which consists of lignin sulfonates, hexoses and pentoses, polysaccharides, galacturonic and acetic acid, some resins and unconsumed bisulfite, and ash, creates a major pollution problem when discharged into receiving water. Being the source of different types of carbohydrates, it has the potential for conversion into ethanol.

9.2.8 Bioethanol from Algae

The production of motor fuel from algae has been subjected to research for decades. Now, there is an opportunity to produce bioethanol simultaneous to the thirdgeneration biofuel—algae diesel (*Oligae*). Carbohydrates in algae oil can still be converted into starch that can be used for ethanol production after hydrolysis into simple sugars.

9.3 Microorganisms for Bioethanol Production

9.3.1 Microorganisms and Their Characteristics

Microorganisms are a key component of the technology used in different fermentation regimes, including ethanol. Diverse groups of microorganisms are capable of producing ethanol. These include yeasts, *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*, *Schizosaccharomyces pombe*, bacteria *Zymomonas mobilis*, fungus *Fusarium oxysporum*, yeast-like fungus *Pachysolen tannophylus*, and thermophilic bacteria [28]. *Saccharomyces cerevisae* and *Schizosaccharomyces pombe* represent the organism of choice for the industrial production of ethanol due to the following features:

- Capable of fermenting a diverse range of sugars and sole production of ethanol, CO₂ under anaerobic conditions
- Due to their comparatively bigger size, they flocculate well to supply clean wash to the still and the wash and distillate lack offensive odor
- Contamination problem is under control as the fermentation process operates at low pH and high sugar concentration
- Are genetically stable and ferment 20–25% (w/v) sugar in molasses solution completely

9.3.2 Substrate and Microorganisms

The substrates mainly used in alcoholic fermentation are sugars with ethanol as the main product. The ability is widely distributed among the microorganisms. The species of *Saccharomyces* are the main alcohol producers amongst the yeast Z. mobilis can also produce ethanol from glucose, which otherwise only utilize hexoses [150]. Alcohol is not a predominant end product in other bacteria. Certain yeasts including S. cerevisiae can also ferment pentose sugar, xylose to ethanol though the yield is lower compared to the fermentation of hexoses. For industrial alcohol production, yeast strains are generally chosen from S. cerevisiae, Saccharomyces ellipsoideus, Saccharomyces carlsbergensis, Saccharomyces fragilis, and S. pombe. For whey fermentation, Torula cremoris or Candida pseudotropicalis is used. Yeasts are carefully selected for high growth and fermentation rate, high ethanol yield, ethanol and glucose tolerance, osmo-tolerance, low pH fermentation optimum, high temperature fermentation and general hardiness under physical and chemical stress. Ethanol and glucose tolerance allows the conversion of concentrated feeds into concentrated products reducing the energy requirements for distillation and stillage handling. The osmo-tolerance property allows the handling of relatively concentrated raw materials such as blackstrap molasses with its high salt content. The osmo-tolerance capacity it also allows the recycle of large protein of stillage liquids, thus reducing stillage handling costs. Low pH fermentation combats contamination by competing organisms by preventing their growth. High temperature tolerance simplifies fermenter cooling. General hardiness allows yeast to survive both the ordinary stress of handling as well as the stresses arising from plant upset. The years of careful selection by industrial use have led to the selection of yeast strains with these desirable characteristics. Many of the best strains of yeast are proprietary but others are available from the culture collections [33].

9.3.3 Lignocellulosic Material for Ethanolic Fermentation

Fermentation of the sugars generated from enzymatic hydrolysis of biomass is another important step where a lot of technical advances are needed to make lignocellulosic ethanol technology feasible. What is desired in an ideal organism for biomass-ethanol technology would be a high yield of ethanol, broad substrate utilization range, resistance to inhibitory compounds generated during the course of lignocellulose hydrolysis and ethanol fermentation, ability to withstand high sugar and alcohol concentrations, higher temperatures and lower pH, and minimal by-product formation [143]. Unfortunately, all these features seldom exist together in any wild organism and the need of the industry would be to develop an organism which will at least partially satisfy these requirements [208].

The ability to use the hemicellulose component in biomass feedstock is critical for any bioethanol project. *S. cerevisiae* and *Z. mobilis*, the commonly employed organisms used in alcohol fermentation, lack the ability to ferment hemicellulose and derived pentose (C5) sugars. While there are organisms that can ferment C5 sugars (e.g., *Pichia stipitis, Pachysolen tannophilus, Candida shehatae*), the efficiencies are low. These organisms also need microaerophilic conditions and are

sensitive to inhibitors, higher concentrations of ethanol, and lower pH [26]. Worldwide, a lot of R&D efforts are being directed to engineer organisms for fermenting both hexose (C6) and pentose (C5 sugars) with considerable amount of success [4]. There are a large number of microorganisms including bacteria and fungi that are capable of breaking down cellulose into monosaccharides either aerobically or anaerobically. The anaerobic bacteria include *Bacteroids cellulosolvents*, *Bacillus* spp. *Clostridium cellulolyticum*, *Clostridium cellulovorans*, *Cellvibrio gilvus*, *Candida lusitance*, etc. The fermentation of cellulose yields a variety of products, e.g., ethanol, lactate, acetate, butyrate, H₂, CO₂, etc.

Introduction of bacteria has been the greatest microbiological innovation because they produce less biomass, low concentration of by-products, and high productivity. The bacterium *Z. mobilis* ferments glucose to ethanol by with a typical yield of 5–10% higher than that of most of the yeasts though it is lesser ethanol tolerant than industrial yeast strains [151]. However, the small bacterium is difficult to centrifuge. *Zymomonas* being a simple prokaryote, an important possibility for the future is development of genetically modified organisms especially tuned to more ethanol tolerance and improved centrifugability [109].

Clostridium thermosaccharolyticum, Thermoanaerobacter ethanolicus, and other thermophillic bacteria as well as *Pachysolen tannophilus* yeast [177] are employed in fermenting pentose sugars which are nonfermentable by other organisms usually employed in ethanol production. These bacteria also convert hexose sugars. They have minimum end-product inhibition because very high temperature reactions would allow simple continuous stripping of ethanol from the active fermenting mixture. The yield of alcohol was further improved by coculturing C. *thermocellum* with C. *thermosaccharolyticum* or *C. thermomphydrosulphuricum* [156]. However, the organisms so far studied produce excessive quantities of undesirable by-products and require strict anaerobic conditions which would be difficult to maintain on an industrial scale [53, 154].

Several microorganisms, including bacteria, yeasts, and filamentous fungi, have capacity to ferment lignocellulosic hydrolysates generating ethanol. Among them, *Escherichia coli*, *Z. mobilis*, *S. cerevisiae*, and *P. stipitis* are the most relevant in the context of lignocellulosic ethanol bioprocesses. These microorganisms have different natural characteristics that can be regarded as either advantageous or disadvantageous in processes of ethanol production from hemicelluloses (Table 9.8).

Pure and mixed cultures of Z. mobilis and Saccharomyces sp. were tested for the production of ethanol by fermentation of medium containing sucrose (200 g/l) at 30°C. The best results were obtained using fermentation for 63 h by a mixed culture and the average hourly ethanol productivity was 1.5 g/l [2, 161]. Ethanol fermentation from culled apple juice was compared by using Sacharomyces and Zymomonas spp. Ethanol production from culled apple juice showed that fermentability of the juice could be enhanced by addition of Di-ammonium hydrogen phosphate (DAPH) or ammonium sulfate in Saccharomyces and DAHP in Zymomonas. Trace elements however, inhibited the fermentation in both the cases. Physicochemical characteristics of the fermented apple juices were also analyzed.

Characteristics	Microorganism				
	E. coli	Z. mobilis	S. cerevisiae	P. stipitis	
D-glucose fermentation other hexose utilization	+	+	+	+	
(D-galactose and D-mannose) pentose utilization	+	_	+	+	
(D-xylose and L-arabinose)	+	-	_	+	
Direct hemicellulose utilization	—	_	—	w	
Anaerobic fermentation	+	+	+	_	
Mixed-product formation	+	w	W	W	
High ethanol productivity					
(from glucose)	_	+	+	_	
Ethanol tolerance	W	w	+	W	
Tolerance to lignocelluloe derived inhibitors	W	W	+	W	
Osmotolerance	_	_	+	W	
Acidic pH range	_	-	+	W	

 Table 9.8
 Characteristics of the most relevant microorganisms considered for ethanol production from hemicelluloses

+, Positive; -, negative; w, weak

Overall, *S. cerevisiae* proved better than *Zymomonas* for fermentation of apple juice [161].

9.3.4 Fermentation of Syngas into Ethanol

Microorganisms capable of converting syngas into ethanol and other bioproducts are predominantly mesophilic (Table 9.9). The most favorable operational temperature for mesophilic microorganisms is between 37 and 40°C whereas for thermophilic, the temperature varies between 55 and 80°C. Some thermophilic microbes, however, can operate at a higher temperature. The most favourable pH range for efficient microbial activity varies between 5.8 and 7.0, employed to conduct the fermentation, depending upon the species.

9.4 Biochemistry of Fermentation

9.4.1 Fermentation of Carbohydrates

Carbohydrates serve as the chief source of energy in all heterotrophs with supplementation by proteins and fats. The metabolic sequence of energy generation from these major groups of nutrients suggests that carbohydrates are the source of

Species	Temperature optimum(°C)	pH optimum	Products	References
Mesophilic microorganism	ns			
Acetobacterium woodii	30	6.8	Acetate	[49]
Butyribbacterium methylotrophicum	37	5.8–6.0	Acetate, Butyrate, Lactate, Pyruvate	[168]
Clostridium aceticum	30	8.5	Acetate	[171]
Clostridium autoethanogenum	37	5.8–6.0	Acetate, ethanol	[3]
Clostridium ljungdahlii	37	6.0	Acetate, ethanol	[184]
Clostridium carboxidivorans	38	6.2	Acetate, ethanol, butyrate, butanol	[113]
Clostridium leatocellum SG6	35	7–7.2	Acetate,lactate, ethanol	[146]
Thermophilic microorgan	isms			
Moorella thermoautotrophica	58	6.1	Acetate	[164]
Clostridium thermoaceticum	55	6.5–6.8	Acetate	[32]
Clostridium thermocellum	60	7.5–6.0	Acetate	[47]
Carboxydocella sporoproducens	60	6.8	H ₂	[173]

 Table 9.9
 Frequently used mesophilic and thermophilic microorganisms, and their optimum growth conditions

energy in the primitive form of life. In the following section, the degradation of carbohydrates, especially polysaccharides that are generally the source of energy liberated either by fermentation or through other metabolic processes, will be discussed.

9.4.1.1 Glucose

Among hexoses, glucose is the immediate metabolizing sugar that can be fermented through different pathways such as glycolysis. The orientation of the -H and -OH groups around the carbon atom adjacent to the terminal primary alcohol carbon (carbon 5 in glucose) determines whether the sugar belongs to the D or L series. When the -OH group on this carbon is on the right side, the sugar is the Disomer; when it is on the left, it is the L-isomer. Most of the monosaccharides occurring in mammals are D sugars (Fig. 9.1), and the enzymes responsible for their metabolism are specific for this configuration. In solution, glucose is dextrorotatory—hence the alternative name dextrose, often used in clinical practice. Other important hexoses like galactose and mannose are first either converted into



Fig. 9.1 D-Glucose. a Straight chain form. b α -D-Glucose; Haworth projection. c α -D-Glucose; chair form

glucose before fermentation or their products after initial metabolism join the glycolytic sequence. Figure 9.2 shows the pathway of glucose degradation.

9.4.1.2 Sucrose

This disaccharide is most commonly used as the carbon and energy source by fermentative microorganisms. It is a non-reducing sugar consisting of one molecule each of D-glucose and D-fructose linked through α -1, β -2 glycosidic bond (Fig. 9.3). In the fermentation process, sucrose is first hydrolyzed by invertase (sucrase) to D-glucose and D-fructose. D-glucose directly enters the glycolysis while fructose joins the main stream after phosphorylation with ATP in a hexo-kinase-catalyzed reaction. Sucrose can also be fermented through its initial breakdown by sucrose phosphorylase (Fig. 9.4).

9.4.1.3 Lactose

Lactose is a milk sugar. In dairy products, the fermentation of this sugar plays a vital role. Lactose is a disaccharide of D-galactose and D-glucose bonded to each other by β -1,4 glycosidic linkage. Lactose cannot be taken up freely by the microbial cells. A specific transport system is required for the translocation of this sugar to the site of metabolism. Lactose transported through PTS gets phosphorylated as lactose-6-P, while the other system translocates it unphosphorylated. Once lactose is translocated, it is fermented first undergoing hydrolysis into monosaccharides with the help of β -galactosidase, also called lactase. The former enzyme is present in the lactic acid bacteria. Approximately, 80% of the galactose originated from lactose is metabolized *via* tagatose pathway. Figure 9.5 shows the structure of lactose.
Fig. 9.2 Pathway of glucose degradation. *a* hexokinase, *b* phosphoglucose isomerise, *c* phosphofructokinase, *d* aldolase, *e* triosephosphate, *f* glyceraldehydes-3-P-defydrogenase, *g* phosphoglycerate kinase, *h* phosphoglycerate mutase,



i enolase, *j* pyruvate kinase

Fig. 9.3 Structure of sucrose



O- α -D-Glucopyranosyl- $(1 \rightarrow 2)$ - β -D-fructofuranoside



Lactic acid, acetic acid, ethanol, CO₂



O- β -D-Galactopyranosyl-(1 \rightarrow 4)- β -D-glucopyranose

9.4.1.4 Starch

Starch is a homopolysaccharide of D-glucose units that are joined to each other through α 1,4-glycosidic bond. Starch has two components, amylose and amylopectin (Fig. 9.6). Amylose is an unbranched molecule with molecular weight ranging from a few thousands to 5,000,00. One end of each chain with free hemiacetal group is reducing while the other is nonreducing in nature. The typical blue color with starch is due to its ability to form a helical structure. It is soluble in water. Amylopectin is a branched polysaccharide with β 1–6 linkage at every



(AA) D-Glucose (BB) Reducing agent.

 $E_1: \alpha$ - amylase $E_2: \beta$ - amylase $E_3: starch phosphorylase <math>E_4: 1 \longrightarrow 6$ glucosidase

Fig. 9.6 Diagrammatic depiction of action of amylases, starch phosphorylase, and $1 \rightarrow 6$ glucosidase on starch

25-30 glucose units. The molecular weight and branching per chain differ for different sources of starch.

Starch is widely distributed from lower microalgae such as *Chlamydomonas* to higher plants. In plants, it is the major storage material. A great diversity of microorganisms is able to utilize this polysaccharide. The hydrolysis of starch into glucose in biological systems is carried out with multiple enzymes. For the commercial application of amylolytic enzymes, the reader is referred to an earlier review [62].

9.4.1.5 Cellulose

It is the most abundant material on earth. About 50% of the CO_2 fixed photosynthetically is stored in the form of cellulose [43] as a result of the total photosynthetic activity [165]. The cereal straw contains 30–40% cellulose while in cotton, flex, etc. the contents are as high as 98%. This form of carbon if recycled can meet the future needs of food energy. Being highly resistant to acid hydrolysis, the recycling process is not without problems. Microorganisms play a pivotal role in recycling of cellulosic carbon. The higher eukaryotes are unable to hydrolyze this polymer. However, the ruminants do so with the help of intestinal microbes.

Cellulose is a homopolysaccharide of D-glucose units joined in a linear fashion through β -1,4-glycosidic linkage (chain length 1.5×10^4 glucose units). The cellulose molecules are joined to each other through hydrogen bonds and *van der wall* forces. The cellulose is insoluble in water and does not give characteristic color with iodine. There is a large number of microorganisms including bacteria and fungi which are capable of breaking down cellulose into monosaccharides either aerobically or anaerobically. The anaerobic bacteria include *Bacteroids cellulosolvents*, *Bacillus* sp., *C. cellulolyticum*, *C. cellulovorans*, *Cellvibrio gilvus*, *Candida lusitance*, etc. The fermentation of cellulose yields a variety of products, e.g., ethanol, lactate, acetate, butyrate, H₂, CO₂, etc. Due to its water insoluble nature and impermeability to cell wall, the hydrolytic degradation of cellulose occurs through extracellular secretion of enzymes. A single enzyme cannot accomplish the task of cellulose hydrolysis and requires multiple enzymes.

As shown in Fig. 9.7, the saccharification of cellulosic material to glucose involves three types of enzymes: (i) endo- β -1, 4 glucosidase, (ii) exo-cellobio-hydrolase, and (iii) β -glucosidase. The activities of both endo-glucanase and exo-cellobiohydrolase are regulated by cellulose through feedback inhibition. The action of β -glucosidase removes cellobiose by hydrolyzing it to glucose that allows the cellulolytic enzymes to function more efficiently. However, β -glucosidase is sensitive to inhibition by its substrate as well as product. A high glucose tolerant β -glucosidase from *Candida* sp. [158] has been purified as efforts to tap cellulosic biomass to form glucose and its subsequent fermentation to ethanol.

9.4.1.6 Hemicelluloses

These are components of cell walls associated with cellulose and are the second largest available organic renewable resource [36]. Hemicellulose consists of xy-loglucans with a chain of D-xylose linked through β -1-4 glycosidic bond (Fig. 9.8). The xylose polymer normally contains side chain branches of α -1-3 linked D-mannose and β -1-2 linked D-galactose, β -1-4 linked D-mannose and α -1-2 linked D-glucose. In hardwood hemicelluloses, the xylose units are intermittently esterified with acetic acid at the hydroxyl group of carbon 2 and/or 3 [112]. The xylan of softwood, however, is not esterified. The presence of side groups, protruding from the linear β -1, 4 configuration, increases the solubility and thus, renders the substrate easily to hydrolysis.

Due to the complex structure of hemicelluloses, several enzymes are needed for their enzymatic degradation. The main glucanase depolymerizing the hemicellulose





(b)



(c)



Fig. 9.7 Enzymes involved in cellulose degradation. **a** Endo- β -1,4 glucosidase. **b** Exo- β -1,4 glucosidase. **c** β -glucosidase. **d** Cellobiose phosphorylase. **e** Cellobiose kinase and phospho- β -glucosidase





β-1,4-xylobiose unit in xylan polymer

backbone is endo-1,4- β -D-xylosidic linkages in xylans resulting in the production of small oligosaccharides. The enzyme does not hydrolyze xylobiose and xylotriose. The xylan-oligosaccharides are further hydrolyzed by the action of exo-1,4- β -D-xylosidase which removes successive D-xylose residues from the non-reducing terminal. The action of xylanase is, however, restricted due to side chains. Nevertheless, the accompanying arabinosidase, galactosidase, glucuronidase, and mannosidase remove the branch points allowing xylanase action. The monomeric xylose molecules are fermented to ethanol or can be utilized to produce single cell proteins or single cell oil [44, 46].

9.4.2 Efficiency of Ethanol Formation

$$\underset{glucose}{C_6H_{12}O_6} + 2ADP + 2Pi \rightarrow 2CH_3CH_2OH + 2CO_2 + 2ATP$$

As shown in the above equation, one molecule of glucose produces two molecules each of ethanol and CO_2 , under anaerobic conditions. In other words, 180 g of glucose (1 mol) should yield 92 g of ethanol (2 mol) and 88 g of CO_2 (2 mol). The theoretical yield of ethanol production, therefore, comes to 51%. Under practical conditions, a very high percent (i.e., 47%) yield can be achieved. The metabolism though yields equimolar quantity of CO_2 and ethanol, the actual amount of CO_2 liberated is less than theoretical. This is because of partial reutilization of CO_2 in anabolic carboxylation reactions [138]. According to an estimate, about 85% of the sugars are metabolized to ethanol and CO_2 , and the energy produced is used for various cell functions. The rest of the sugars are channeled for biosynthetic reactions. Figure 9.9 shows the pathway of conversion of pyruvate into ethanol and CO_2 . Fig. 9.9 Pathway of conversion of pyruvate into ethanol



9.4.3 Metabolic Engineering for the Production of Advanced Fuels

Use of ethanol as a biofuel has several limitations, such as high vapor pressure, low energy density, and corrosiveness, which prevents its widespread utilization [73, 74, 76, 141]. Bioethanol production, higher alcohols, fatty acid derivatives including biodiesels, alkanes, and alkenes are more compatible with gasoline-based fuels and allow direct utilization. Some of these compounds are also important chemical feedstocks. Since native organisms do not produce these compounds naturally in high quantities, metabolic engineering becomes essential for producing these compounds in non-native producing organisms such as *E. coli*. The four major metabolic systems that allow the production of higher alcohols are the coenzyme-A mediated pathways, the keto acid pathways, the fatty acid pathway, and the isoprenoid pathways which have been discussed in the subsequent sections.

9.4.3.1 The Coenzyme-A-Dependent Fermentative Pathways

n-Butanol and isopropanol are the two higher alcohols which are overproduced in nature by *Clostridium* species. The fermentative pathway in this organism starts from acetyl-CoA. The enzyme acetyl-CoA acetyltransferase condenses two molecules of acetyl-CoA to one molecule of acetyl-CoA. This molecule branches the pathway into isopropanol and n-butanol. For the biosynthesis of isopropanol, an acetoacetyl-CoA transferase transfers the CoA group away from acetoacetyl-CoA



n-Butanol

to acetate or butyrate, forming acetoacetate. Acetoacetate is decarboxylated to acetone by an acetoacetate decarboxylase. Then, acetone is reduced to isopropanol by a NADPH-dependent secondary alcohol dehydrogenase [64]. For *n*-butanol biosynthesis, acetoacetate has to go through four steps of NADH-dependent reduction and one step of dehydration as shown in Fig. 9.10.

Isopropanol and n-butanol are produced by Clostridium species. However, production by this procedure is difficult to handle and optimize, because of

NADH

NAD

NADH

NAD'

NADH

NADH



Fig. 9.11 Schematic illustration of higher chain alcohol production via keto acid pathway. keto acid decarboxylase (KDC), alcohol dehydrogenase (ADH)

complex physiological features, such as oxygen sensitivity, slow-growth rate, and spore-forming life cycles of *Clostridium*. Therefore, *E. coli* has been metabolically engineered to produce acetone, the immediate precursor of isopropanol [15] and *n*-butanol production by using the traditional CoA-dependent pathway originated from *C. acetobutylicum* [8].

9.4.3.2 The Keto Acid Pathways

In a heterologous host such as *E. coli*, a non-native pathway introduces nonnative metabolites and potential toxicity, difficult to express in heterologous enzymes. Consequently, metabolic imbalance and cytotoxicity that poses as a barrier for large quantity production. It is therefore, necessary to seek for pathways that are compatible with the host. Biosynthesis of amino acid generates many keto acid intermediates. By using decarboxylation and reduction catalyzed by keto acid decarboxylase and alcohol dehydogenase, these keto acids can be converted into alcohols. For example, the isoleucine biosynthesis pathway generates *n*-propanol and 2-methyl-1-butanol, valine biosynthesis pathway produces 2-keto-isovalerate which is the precursor for isobutanol, the leucine biosynthesis generates 2-keto-4-methyl-pentanoate, which is the substrate for 3-methyl-1butanol, the phenylalanine biosynthesis pathway leads to 2-phenylethanol and nor-valine biosynthesis pathway produces a substrate for *n*-butanol [9].These pathways have been recently used for the production of alcohols in *E.coli* with good results (Fig. 9.11).

9.4.3.3 The Fatty Acid Biosynthesis Pathway

Fatty acid biosynthesis pathway uses acetyl-CoA as a starting molecule [114]. Acetyl-CoA is converted into malonyl-CoA by the addition of a carboxyl group using acetyl-CoA carboxylase as a catalyst. The acetyl and malonyl groups on acetyl-CoA and malonyl-CoA are transferred to a small protein called acyl carrier protein (ACP), which has 77 amino acid residues with a phosphopantothene group specifically attached to a serine residue. Acetyl-ACP and malonyl-ACP are condensed to generate acetoacyl-ACP. This molecule, then goes through reduction, dehydration, and another reduction step to form a 2,3,4-saturated fatty acyl-ACP. The fatty acids synthesized have a long carbon chain backbone, which stores a large amount of energy. To transform fatty acids into combustible fuels, pathways leading to biodiesels and long-chain alkanes/alkenes have been proposed. The fatty acyl-CoA can be reduced to the corresponding fatty aldehydes, which are in turn decarboxylated to long-chain alkanes or further reduced to fatty alcohols that can also be esterified to biodiesel with acetyl-CoA by an alcohol acyltransferase or ester synthase [1, 148]. Biodiesel as a possible substitute for petroleum-based diesel fuel is made from plant oils through transesterification of triacylglycerols with methanol or ethanol. Large-scale application of biodiesel seems difficult because of the seasonal restrictions and the costliness of the transesterification procedure [89]. To overcome these drawbacks, E. coli was engineered to produce fatty acid ethyl esters, where the traditional pathway of ethanol consisting of pyruvate decarboxylase (PDC) and alcohol dehydrogenase was introduced to supply ethanol as building units. The metabolically engineered E. coli was reported to have capability to produce fatty acid ethyl esters at a titer of 1.28 g/l, by using glucose and oleic acid as substrates.

9.4.3.4 Isoprenoid Pathway

Isoprenoids are natural hydrocarbons biosynthesized for a wide variety of functions. The isoprenoid pathway has been engineered in heterologous hosts to produce nutraceuticals or pharmaceuticals [155]. Despite this, isoprenoids synthesized from isoprenyl diphosphate and dimethylallyl pyrophosphate which are either synthesized from glyceraldehydes-3-phosphate or pyruvate. Recently, two genes in *Bacillus subtilis* 6051 whose products can convert the prenyl diphosphate precursors into corresponding isoprenoids have been reported [195].

9.5 Genetically Modified Microorganisms for Bioethanol Production

Genetical engineering techniques have been applied to increase substrate range in microorganisms such as *S. cerevisiae* and *Z. mobilis* that help to maximize ethanol production like that in *E. Coli*. It also supplies other important traits for conversion

of lignocellulose into ethanol. Since the molecular basis for ethanol and inhibitor tolerance is not fully understood, random mutagenesis and evolutionary engineering have also been applied to improve those traits. Moreover, as a result of technological developments, systems biology approaches have recently been applied to characterize the functional genomics of microorganisms and to evaluate the impact of metabolic and evolutionary engineering strategies. This advanced characterization (genomics, transcriptomics, proteomics, metabolomics) is already contributing to better understand that physiological responses and to identify crucial targets for metabolic engineering [14, 90, 189].

9.5.1 Escherichia coli

In E. coli, the obvious and successful strategy to increase ethanol production has been the expression of the ethanologenic pathway from Z. mobilis, with the genes encoding PDC and ADH II organized in a single plasmid, the PET operon [73, 76], the latter integrated in the chromosome [134]. Subsequent selection of mutants with high ADH activity and disrupted fumarate reductase (for succinate production) originated KO11 strain that produces ethanol at a yield of 95% [135]. However, this strain is unable to grow in ethanol concentrations of 3.5% [199]. Evolutionary genetic engineering strategies were then, applied during a 3-month period, by alternating selection for ethanol tolerance in liquid media and selection for increased ethanol production in solid medium [199]. The resulting strain, LY01, was able to grow in ethanol concentrations of 5%. Coincidentally, this strain became more resistant to aldehydes (including HMF and furfural), organic acids, and alcohol compounds i.e. found in hemicelluloses hydrolysates [201-203]. However, LY01 strain performed poorly in mineral medium compared to rich medium [199]. To avoid dependence on nutritional supplementation, a new strain was produced from SZ110 [200], while the parental strain KO11 was engineered for lactate production in mineral medium [211].

9.5.2 Zymomonas mobilis

Contrary to *E. coli*, *Z. mobilis* is an ethanologenic bacterium and lacks the ability to metabolize hemi-celluloses derived monosaccharides, except glucose. Therefore, most of the engineering strategies applied to this bacterium intended to increase their substrate utilization range. In an earlier study, the strain CP4 has been shown to be the best ethanol producer from glucose. It was first engineered toward xylose utilization by the expression, on a plasmid, of the *E. coli* genes encoding for xylose isomerase (XI), xylulokinase (XK), transaldolase (TAL), and transketolase (TKL) under the control of strong constitutive promoters [206]. Ethanol yield from xylose fermentation attained 86% of the theoretical. The same approach was used to engineer the strain ATCC 39676 toward arabinose fermentation [35]. The genes from the *E. coli* operon araBAD, encoding L-arabinose isomerase (AI), L-ribulokinase (RK), L-ribulose-5P 4-epimerase (L-RPE), together with TAL and TKL allowed L-arabinose fermentation at high yield (96%) but at a low rate. This was ascribed to very low affinity of the glucose facilitator to Larabinose. The same ATCC 39676 strain was used to express the xylose pathway, followed by successful long-term (149 d) adaptation in continuous fermentation of hemicellulose hydrolysates containing xylose, glucose, and acetic acid [106]. Finally, co-fermentation of glucose, xylose, and arabinose was obtained by genomic DNA integration (AX101 strain) of the xylose and arabinose pathways [124]. The co-fermentation process yield was about 84%, with preferential order in sugar utilization: glucose first, then xylose, and arabinose last.

9.5.3 Pichia stipitis

Contrary to S. cerevisiae, P. stipitis is able to naturally utilize L-arabinose and/or p-xylose and efficiently ferments xylose to ethanol, being the gene donor of the xylose catabolic pathway successfully expressed in S. cerevisae. It has also been considered for fermentation of hemicellulose hydrolysates to ethanol [78-80]. Several auxotrophic mutants with higher fermentation capacities and improved xylose utilization have been developed in order to obtain suitable P. stipitis strains for further hemicellulose-to-ethanol metabolic engineering [78]. P. stipitis is, however, unable to grow anaerobically and is more sensitive to ethanol and inhibitors than S. cerevisiae. The S. cerevisiae gene that confers the ability to grow under anaerobiosis (URA1, encoding the dihydroorotate dehydrogenase) was successfully expressed in *P. stipitis*, allowing anaerobic fermentation of glucose to ethanol [170]. In addition, the disruption of the cytochrome c gene increased xylose fermentation and consequently, ethanol yield [169]. In an evolutionary engineering approach, P. stipitis was adapted in hemicellulose hydrolysate containing glucose, xylose, and arabinose, improving tolerance to acetic acid and pH [131]. In a CBP perspective, xylan conversion into ethanol was enhanced by the heterologous expression of fungal xylanases in P. Stipitis [38]. The recent progress in genomic and transcriptomic characterization of P. stipitis [80] opened new perspectives for metabolic engineering towards efficient hemicellulose fermentation.

9.5.4 Kloeckera oxytoca

Similar to recombinant *E. coli*, ethanologenic strains, *K. oxytoca* M5A1 was engineered with PDC/ADH from *Z. mobilis* for ethanol production from glucose and xylose [135]. The maximal volumetric productivity from xylose was

comparable to glucose and almost twice as that previously obtained with *E. coli* KO11. Stabilization was achieved by chromosomal integration of the heterologous genes [40], allowing the strain to be used in hydrolysates and in simultaneous saccharification and fermentation (SSF) processes. This strain co-ferments glucose, arabinose, and xylose to ethanol, by this order of peference [19]; of notice is the fact that *K. oxytoca* is able to naturally metabolize XOS, as mentioned earlier [145].

9.5.5 Saccharomyces cerevisiae

S. cerevisiae is the preferred industrial microorganism for ethanol production because of its excellent fermentability and higher tolerance to industrial conditions. However, *S. cerevisiae* has some problems in producing ethanol from lignocellulosic materials, which are different from that of starch. Hemicelluloses, the second most common polysaccharide in nature, represent about 20–35% of lignocellulosic biomass. However, *S. cerevisiae* cannot utilize pentose released from hemicelluloses of lignocellulosic materials, thus decreasing the yield of ethanol production. In addition, although *S. cerevisiae* is robust, it cannot adequately resist the inhibitors derived from the process of pretreatment of lignocellulose [119].

Pentoses such as xylose and arabinose are the second most abundant fermentable sugars in the hydrolysate from agricultural residues. *S. cerevisiae* cannot utilize them due to the absence of enzymes in the first steps of the metabolic pathways. It is desired for xylose and arabinose to be fermented into ethanol by the industrial *S. cerevisiae* yeast strains to improve ethanol production efficiency and reduce the cost of the production [198].

Metabolic engineering technologies have been widely developed to set up the new pathways in S. cerevisiae. Wang [191] constructed the recombinant plasmids containing the genes that encode xylose reductase (XR) and xylitol dehydrogenase (XDH) from P. stipitis. Xylulokinase (XK) from S. cerevisiae has been transformed into the industrial strain of S. cerevisiae for the co-fermentation of glucose and xylose. This recombinant strain NAN-127 consumed twice as much xylose and produced 39% more ethanol than the parent strain in shake-flask fermentation [191]. However, the expression of so many enzymes in a single microorganism may represent a metabolic burden that negatively influences the fermentation capacity [54]. Most of the efforts in lignocellulosic ethanol production with S. cerevisiae has been directed to improve the pentose fermentation. The expression of the P. stipitis genes XYL1, encoding a xylose reductase (XR), and XYL2, encoding a xylitol dehydrogenase (XDH), was the first successful approach for p-xylose utilization by S. cerevisiae [99, 185]. The first recombinant strains produced xylitol from D-xylose rather than ethanol. It was then suggested that the endogenous xylulokinase (XK), encoded by XKS1, could be limiting the performance of S. cerevisiae on D-xylose.

9.6 Fermentation

The term 'fermentation' is derived from the Latin verb *fervere*, to boil, thus describing the appearance of the action of yeast on extracts of fruit or malted grain. The appearance of boiling is due to the production of carbon dioxide bubbles caused by the anaerobic catabolism of the sugars present in the extract. However, fermentation has different meanings according to biochemists and to industrial microbiologists. Biochemically, it relates to the generation of energy by the catabolism of organic compounds, whereas its meaning in industrial microbiology tends to be much broader.

In alcoholic fermentation, the substrates that are mainly sugars are fermented, with ethanol as the main product. It is widely distributed among microorganisms. Even plants switch to this pathway for a short period under anaerobic conditions. However, the yeast cell, especially the species of *Saccharomyces* is the main alcohol producer. Some bacteria, particularly *Z. mobilis*, which only utilize hexoses, can also produce ethanol from glucose [150]. In other bacteria, the alcohol is not a predominant end product. Certain yeasts including *S. cerevisiae* can also ferment pentose sugar, xylose to ethanol though the yield is lower compared to the fermentation of hexoses. The production of alcohol by the action of yeast on malt or fruit extracts has been carried out on a large scale for many years and was the first 'industrial' process for the production of a microbial metabolite. Thus, industrial microbiologists have extended the term fermentation to describe any process for the product by the mass culture of a microorganism. It may be noted that the fermentation equipment makes upto 10-25% of the total fixed capital cost of an ethanol plant depending upon its design.

9.6.1 Fermentation Kinetics

9.6.1.1 Yeast Metabolic Pathways

Glucose is converted into ethanol and CO_2 via glycolysis, in the anaerobic pathway:

$$C_6H_{12}O_6 \rightarrow 2C_2H_5OH + 2CO_2 + Energy$$
 (Stored as ATP)

The overall reaction produces two moles of ethanol and CO_2 for every mole of glucose consumed, with the reaction energy stored in 2 mol of ATP. Every gram of glucose converted will yield 0.511 g of ethanol, *via* this pathway. Secondary reactions consume a small portion of the glucose feed, however, to produce biomass and secondary products, Pasteur found that the actual yield of ethanol from fermentation by yeast is reduced to 95% of the theoretical maximum (Table 9.10). For maximum ethanol productivity, aerobic reaction should be avoided as in this

Table 9.10 Optimum yields from anaerobic fermentation by yeast	Product	g per 100 g glucose
	Ethanol	48.4
	Cabon dioxide	46.6
	Glycerol	3.3
	Succinic acid	0.6
	Cell mass	1.2
	Source: [71]	

reaction, sugar is completely converted into CO₂, cell mass and by-product with no ethanol formed.

9.6.1.2 Effect of Sugar Concentration

The primary reactant in the yeast metabolism is hexose sugar (glucose, fructose). The rate of ethanol production is related to the available sugar concentration by a Monod-type equation under fermentative conditions:

$$\mathbf{V} = \mathbf{V}_{\max}\mathbf{C}/(\mathbf{K}_{s} + \mathbf{C}_{s}),$$

where

V = specific ethanol productivity (g ethanol/g cells/h)

 $C_s =$ Sugar substrate concentration (/g)

 $K_s =$ Saturation constant having a very low value (typically 0.2–9.4 g/l).

The yeast is starved at very low substrate concentrations (below 3 g/l) consequently, the productivity decreases [105]. At higher concentrations, a saturation limit is reached so that the rate of ethanol production per cell is essentially at its maximum up to 150 g/l sugar concentration. The catabolic (sugar) inhibition of enzymes in the fermentative pathway becomes important above 150 g/l, and the conversion rate is slowed down [72, 192].

An important secondary effect of sugar is catabolic repression of the oxidative pathways—*Crabtree Effect*. At above 3–30 g/l sugar concentration (depending on the yeast strain), the production of oxidative enzymes is inhibited [34, 127] thus, fermentative pathway is adopted. The Crabtree effect is not found in all the yeasts and is a desirable character in the industrial strains of yeast selected.

9.6.1.3 Effect of Ethanol

Ethanol is also inhibitory to the microorganisms producing it. It has three inhibitory effects: inhibition of cell multiplication, inhibition of fermentation, and a lethal effect on cells (Table 9.11). It is toxic to yeasts and high bioethanol tolerances capacity of yeast is a pre-requisite for production of bioethanol. It has been

Saccharomyces cerevisiae NRRL-Y-132		Saccharomyces cerevisiae ATCC 4126		Saccharomyces cerevisiae NCYC-479	
Pu (/g)	$u(h^{-1})$	Pu (/g)	u (h ⁻¹)	Pu (/g)	$u(h^{-1})$
0	0.4	0	0.44	0	0.280
24	0.264	50	0.36	20	0.251
50.4	0.17	60	0.36	40	0.200
66.0	0.091	80	0.28	60	0.139
80.2	0.043	100	No growth	80	0.018
90	No growth		-	100	0.024

 Table 9.11
 Effect of bioethanol concentration (P) on specific growth rate (u) of some yeasts in batch culture

Source [9, 128]

shown that the inhibitory effect of ethanol is generally negligible at low concentrations (less than 20 g/l) but increases rapidly at higher concentrations [13]. For most strains, ethanol production and cell growth are stopped completely at above 100 g ethanol/l although some very slow fermenting yeasts (*Saccharomyces sake*) can tolerate higher ethanol concentrations at low temperatures [23, 70]. Ethanol inhibition is directly related to the inhibition and denaturation of important glycolytic enzymes as well as to the modification of the cell membrane [123, 153]. Various factors, viz., temperature, aeration, medium composition, etc. influence bioethanol sensitivity directly or indirectly, modify the properties of cell membrane, and membrane lipids.

9.6.1.4 Effect of Oxygen

Aerobic metabolism which leads to utilization of sugar substrate but produces no alcohol must be avoided to a great extent. However, the trace amounts of oxygen may greatly stimulate yeast fermentation. Oxygen is required for yeast growth as a building block for the biosynthesis of polyunsaturated fats and lipids required in mitochondria and plasma membrane [69]. High sugar concentration is adequate to repress aerobic sugar consumption in yeasts which shows the Crabtree effect. For other yeasts or at low sugar concentrations, the oxygen supply should be limited. Trace amounts of oxygen (0.7 mm Hg Oxygen tension) are adequate and do not promote aerobic metabolism [30].

9.6.1.5 Effect of pH

Fermentation rate is sensitive to pH, but most distiller's yeasts show a broad pH optima from 4 to 6 [29]. Most yeast strains are capable of tolerating high acidic pH (2) in the solutions without any permanent damage [71].

9.6.1.6 Effect of Temperature

High temperature tolerance is a desirable quality selected for distillery yeasts and most distillery yeasts have a temperature growth optima of 30–35°C [56]. For low alcohol concentrations, the optimum fermentation temperature is slightly higher (up to 38°C) but alcohol tolerance is improved at reduced temperatures [70]. Exposure to temperatures above the optimum results in excessive enzyme degradation and loss of yeast viability. Yeast metabolism liberates 11.7 KCal of heat per kg of substrate consumed [103]. Yeast is inactive at low temperature (0°C) and can be stored at that temperature and readily revived [178].

9.6.1.7 Additional Nutrient Requirements

Mash must be enriched with secondary nutrients in addition to the sugar source for ethanol production. Secondary nutrients are necessary for cell maintenance and growth [82]. Yeast extract NH_4C1 , $MgSO_4$, $CaCl_2$ are a few of the ingredients which promote very rapid cell growth and ethanol production at laboratory scale [30, 31]. Ammonium ions provide nitrogen for protein and nucleic acid synthesis. Yeast extract contains all the necessary yeast growth factors viz., amino acid, purines, pyrimidines, vitamins, and minerals. Phosphorous, potassium (from yeast extract), magnesium, and calcium are incorporated into cell mass and are also cofactors activating several enzymes. The wide variation in media compositions used for different yeasts for alcohol production resulted in different yields.

Several organic and inorganic nitrogen sources in media for ethanol production by *Z. mobilis* were tested [176]. Urea and yeast extract were found to be better sources and calcium pantothenate was found to be an essential vitamin for ethanol production.

9.6.1.8 Secondary Component Inhibition

Fermentation by-products or non-metabolized feed components can inhibit the ethanol production and yeast growth. These secondary components become more concentrated when used and this limits the recycling process of distillery residue.

Acetate and lactate are the most important inhibitory fermentation by-products [125]. Certain inhibitors are high in a few substances, e.g., sulfite waste liquor may be high in sulphurous acid and furfural. Blackstrap molasses may contain high concentrations of calcium salts. High temperature, sugar concentration, and sterilization in the presence of salts (especially phosphates) and proteins can produce components toxic to yeast [22].

When important individual inhibitors are not present, a combination of inhibitors or generalized osmotic pressure effects shall be the limiting factors. High salt concentrations also encourage the production of undesirable by-products such as



glycerol [193]. A 16–20% non-fermentable dissolved solids content sets the practical upper limit for most yeasts in the absence of toxic inhibitors [52].

9.6.2 Fermentation Process for Bioethanol

9.6.2.1 Conventional Batch Fermentation

Batch cultures are simple, closed systems. In this system, all the substrates are added at the beginning, before inoculation, and neither anything is added or taken out during the fermentation. A typical growth curve is followed by the organism (Fig. 9.12a) in this type of fermentation. In industrial processes, generally, the actively growing inoculum is added to avoid any lag phase as it leads to the wastage of time (Fig. 9.12b) The batch fermentation has certain limitations like exhausting of nutrients, accumulation of antagonists, product inhibition, etc. which eventually affects the product formation.

The product is recovered at the end of the growth phase. This involves emptying the fermenter out and processing the medium to get the product out. The fermenter has to be cleaned, refilled, resterilized, and then, reinoculated. Such operations are called *turn-round* and the time it takes to do it is called *down time*.

Figure 9.13 depicts the batch fermentation equipment layout incorporating heat exchangers and chemical sterilization systems. Most of the currently practiced alcohol fermentations are based on the traditional processes described above. But many advanced methods have been developed in order to increase the productivity, reduce the capital investment, and better utilization of energy. Such advances are the use of continuous fermentations, the increase of yeast population by recycling, and the removal of ethanol during fermentations.



Fig. 9.13 Batch fermentation equipment layout incorporating teamed heat exchanger and chemical sterilization systems. *Source* [52]

9.6.2.2 Continuous Fermentation

In continuous fermentation, fresh medium is continuously pumped into the fermenter and an equal volume of the fermented liquid is continuously pumped out for recovery of ethanol and yeast. This is an open system. The rate at which medium is added or at which the fermenter liquid is withdrawn is expressed as the dilution rate D which is the ratio of withdrawn liquid (F) to the volume of total liquid in the fermenter (V) i.e. D = F/V (Units of D are h⁻¹).

Feed is pumped continuously into the fermenter displacing beer which then overflows from the vessel. The composition of the produced beer is the same as the composition inside the fermenter. Therefore, the fermenter is to run at a relatively slow rate to obtain a higher concentration of alcohol because it will allow complete utilization of sugar and growth of new yeast cells in the fermenter to replace



Fig. 9.14 Biostil fermentation process. Source [52]

washed out cells [139]. Stirring is an important factor for successful continuous flow fermentation. The modification of the continuous fermentation process is the Biostil process (Fig. 9.14).

9.6.2.3 Fed-Batch Fermentation

A variable volume fed-batch culture was adopted (incremental feeding of same concentration solution to that of initial medium resulting in an increase in volume). All the fermentations were performed in a fed-batch mode in a 5-1 bioreactor controlled by a computer having advanced fermentation soft water. The fermenter was equipped with temperature, agitation, and aeration systems with precise control for these parameters. Aeration was measured in terms of dissolved oxygen. The parameters were measured and automonitored against the set values. The pH was, however, controlled manually by adding acid or alkali as the case may be. The volume of incremental feeding was adjusted in such a way that the final volume in the fermenter reached to about 4.75–5.00 l. The samples were drawn

using sampling port at a 2-h interval during fermentation using injection syringe under aseptic conditions. Incremental feeding was started after 1 h of actual start of fermentation (called as activation period) and stopped before 1 h of actual completion of fermentation (called as terminal cell maturity step). For incremental feeding additional accessories were attached to the fermenter. Generally, 7–8 h were taken by incremental feeding at this rate. The fermentation parameters were kept arbitrary but constant, except that used for standardization during the parameter optimization experiments.

9.7 Technology of Bioethanol Production

Bioethanol can be produced from the processing industry waste rich in sugar/ starch by the microbial technology that may evolve an alternative to our limited and non-renewable resource of energy. Increasing environmental regulations for controlling waste disposal will further enhance the possibilities of ethanol production from waste.

9.7.1 Sugar Molasses

A process has been developed for the preparation of power alcohol from molasses on pilot scale with immobilized whole cells. Ethanol production from molasses has also been scaled up with addition of 15% total sugar content using *Z. mobilis* [39]. A scheme of fuel ethanol production from sugarcane bagasse has been shown in Fig. 9.15. Ethanol production by *Z. mobilis* can be increased by addition of calcium carbonate in high sugar medium and at higher fermentation temperature (43°C) [175].

Batch fermentations of sugarcane blackstrap molasses to ethanol using pressed yeast as inoculum, demonstrated an exponential relationship between the time necessary to complete fermentation and the initial concentrations of sugar and the yeast cells [18]. Fed-batch alcoholic fermentation of sugarcane blackstrap molasses (at 32°C, pH 4.5–5.0) without air and compressed yeast enhanced the average yeast yields and average yeast productivities without affecting the ethanol yield.

Neutral spirits and ethanol are the major fermentation products from citrus molasses [21, 51]. In Florida only, 1 million L of alcohol is produced from citrus molasses annually. The process includes dilution of molasses to 25°B followed by fermentation yeast. The alcohol is recovered by distillation. Enzymatic digestion of citrus peel, solubilizing of 85% total peel solids with 65% hexose sugar [133] made available more sugar for fermentation, thus increasing the yield of alcohol. However, reduced yield of alcohol has been reported from molasses produced by



Fig. 9.15 Process of fuel ethanol production from sugarcane bagasse. Possibilities for reactionreaction integration are shown inside the shaded boxes: CF, cofermentation; SSF; SSCF, simultaneous saccharification, and cofermentation

heat evaporators (30–50°B) where some loss of fermentable sugar during handling and storage might have taken place [21].

9.7.2 Apple Pomace

Traditionally, alcohol is produced from liquid or liquid mash *via* submerged microbial fermentation. In recent years, there has been a considerable interest in the production of alcohol from food processing wastes such as apple pomace because of (i) the rising energy costs of molasses and (ii) the negative cost of values of wastes as substrates. Apple pomace is not readily amenable to submerged microbial fermentation due to its nature. The solid-state fermentation of apple pomace offers several advantages for ethanol production such as higher yield but has difficulty of ethanol extraction from the solid materials. Different microorganisms (Table 9.12) have been used for the production of ethanol,

Ethanol yield (%)	Fermentation efficiency (%)	References
2.86-4.31	70.0–94.0	[63]
3.7-5.4	44.5-64.9	[60]
3.6-5.7	43.3–68.5	[60]
3.92-4.3	60.0-68.0	[88]
3.71-4.59	57.0.69.0	[88]
3.93-4.10	59.0-62.0	[88]
	Ethanol yield (%) 2.86–4.31 3.7–5.4 3.6–5.7 3.92–4.3 3.71–4.59 3.93–4.10	Ethanol yield (%)Fermentation efficiency (%)2.86-4.3170.0-94.03.7-5.444.5-64.93.6-5.743.3-68.53.92-4.360.0-68.03.71-4.5957.0.69.03.93-4.1059.0-62.0

 Table 9.12
 The various microorganisms used for apple pomace fermentation with ethanol yield and fermentation efficiency

predominantly yeast belonging to *S. cerevisiae* that has been a microorganism of choice.

Hang [66] developed a solid-state fermentation system of apple pomace with *S. cerevisiae* at 30°C in 96 h producing 43 g ethanol/kg of apple pomace. Ethanol was separated out by vacuum evaporation with a separation efficiency of 99%. Blending the pomace with molasses lowered the ethanol yield and fermentation efficiency. However, fermentation by immobilized yeast did not increase the yield of ethanol from the apple pomace. Jarosz [77] collected apple pomace from three factories and fermented at 30°C for 72 h with or without addition of inoculum. The natural microflora induced the fermentation but addition of yeast accelerated the fermentation and brought to the 78.9% of the theoretical yield of ethanol.

Sandhu and Joshi [160] reported that natural fermentation of apple pomace was inferior to the yeast inoculated fermentation for ethanol, crude, and soluble proteins. The production of ethanol in natural fermentation was almost half that of *S. cerevisiae* fermentated apple pomace. Joshi et al. [85, 88] provided partial aseptic and anaerobic condition to the solid-state fermentation of apple pomace by addition of SO₂ and found that addition of SO₂ up to 200 ppm increased the ethanol content by *S. cerevisiae* while it was 150 ppm for *Candida utilis* and *Torula utilis*. The amount of ethanol present in the fermented apple pomace depends upon the initial sugar content in the apple pomace which in turn is influenced by variety of apple processed, the processing conditions, and the amount of the pressing aids employed.

Ethanol recovery by manual squeezing, direct distillation of fermented pulp, percolation of fermented pulp and hydraulic pressing in three stages with interstate water addition from solid-state fermented pulpy material have revealed that hydraulic pressing in three stages with interstate water addition, led to 79.68% ethanol recovery with 60.53% ethanol in the pooled extract of that in the fermented pulp. Ngadi and Correia [130] found that when the apple pomace was fermented at 77 and 85% of moisture level yielded 19.26 and 18.10% of ethanol on dry weight basis. The original pH and the initial moisture content of apple pomace was found to be suitable for ethanol production, decreasing the pH or increasing the moisture content reduced the ethanol content [87]. Fermentation time increased the ethanol production up to 96 h at 30°C and among the different nitrogen sources tried,

ammonium sulfate gave the highest ethanol production and *S. cerevisiae* giving better response to it than *Candida utilis* and *Torula utilis*. Addition of 0.4% of ammonium sulfate increased the ethanol yield. The combined effect of AMS and $ZnSO_4$, however, was detrimental to ethanol production but AMS alone gave better ethanol yield.

Gupta [61] found that the addition of nitrogen, phosphate, and trace elements to the SSF of apple pomace with *Saccharomyces diasticus* enhanced the fermentation efficiency to 67.7, 68.5, and 68.8%, respectively (control having fermentation efficiency of about 43.8%). Distillation of fermented extract with a bucchi evaporater yielded 0.029, 4.1, 0.0003, 0.01, and 0.011% of methyl, ethyl, n-propyl, isobuty1, and isoamyl alcohols, respectively [66]. Joshi and Sandhu [83] found that all the yeast fermented apple pomace distillates contained methyl and butyl alcohols and aldehyde. *S. cerevisiae* fermented distillate had more desirable characteristics than those obtained from fermentation with other yeasts and thus, had potential for conversion into potable alcohol. The step-by-step process involved in ethanol production from food processing industry waste is shown in Fig. 9.16.

9.7.3 Orange Waste

Orange waste coming from food industries is used in continuous fermentation. It has been found that fixed bed immobilized cell reactor showed maximum ethanol production [50]. Use of citrus processing by-product mainly peel by fermentation by *S. cerevisiae* for ethanol production has been reported [58, 94]. The initial saccharification of polysaccharides by commercial cellulase and polygalacturonase followed by removal of inhibitory compounds by filtration and pH adjustment of the hydrolysate was necessary for successful fermentation [29].

Ethanol has also been produced from lignocellulosic waste by employing recombinant bacterial strains of *E. coli* and *Klebsiella oxytoca* [91]. The bacterial strains had the capacity to produce ethanol from pentose sugars. The conversion of monosaccharides in orange peel hydrolysates into ethanol by recombinant *E. coli* (KOII) was in pH controlled batch fermentations that led to very high yields of ethanol. The microorganism was capable of converting all major monosaccharides in orange peel hydrolysates into ethanol and to a smaller amount of acetic and lactic acids [57]. Citrus molasses prepared by evaporation and concentration of the press liquor and molasses mixed with the citrus pulp have also been used by distillaries as an alcohol feedstock [50]. Initial moisture content of the solid medium has been shown to be a limiting factor for maximum ethanol production [130]. Industrial alcohol has also been produced from waste fruits such as apple, pear, and cherry through fermentation [11].



Fig. 9.16 Flow diagram of the process involved in ethanol production

9.7.4 Banana Waste

Recently, ethanol production potential of waste bananas has been assessed [63]. Ethanol yield from normal banana was found to be as: ripe whole fruits 0.091, pulp 0.082, and peel 0.0061/kg of whole fruits. The green fruit gave 0.090, normal ripe

0.082, and overripe 0.0691/kg of ethanol. Enzymatic hydrolysis was necessary for higher ethanol yield while dilution with water was not essential for effective fermentation.

9.7.5 Potato Waste

The use of potato peel waste for the production of alcohol has also been made [17]. The acidified peel waste (pH 6) is used for ethanol production.

9.7.6 Wheat Straw

Wheat straw like any other biomass of lignocellulosic composition is a complex mixture of cellulose, hemicellulose, and lignin, as three main components, and a small amount of soluble substrates (also known as extractives) and ash. The cellulose strains are bundled together and tightly packed in such a way that neither water nor enzyme can penetrate through the structure [104]. Hemicellulose serves as a connection between lignin and cellulose fibers, and it is readily hydrolyzed by dilute acid or base, as well as hemicellulose enzyme. Lignin is covalently linked to cellulose and xylan (predominant hemicellulose carbohydrate polymer in wheat straw) such that lignin–cellulose–xylan interactions exert a great influence on the digestibility of lignocellulosic materials [104]. Due to this, the structural complexity of the lignocellulosic matrix, ethanol production from wheat straw requires at least four major unit operations including pretreatment, hydrolysis, fermentation, and distillation. Unlike sucrose or starch, lignocellulosic biomass such as wheat straw need to be pretreated to make cellulose accessible for efficient enzymatic depolymerization.

9.7.7 Rice Straw

Rice straw is one of the most abundant lignocellulosic crop residues in the world. The worldwide availability of rice straw and theoretical ethanol yield is shown in Table 9.13. Technologies for conversion of this feedstock into ethanol have been developed on two platforms, which can be referred to as the sugar platform and the synthesis gas (or syngas) platform. In the sugar platform, cellulose and hemicellulose are first converted into fermentable sugars, which are then fermented to produce ethanol. The fermentable sugars include glucose, xylose, arabinose, galactose, and mannose. Hydrolysis of cellulose and hemicellulose to generate these sugars can be carried out using either acids or enzymes [41].

Country	Rice straw availability (million MT)	Theoretical ethanol yield (billion l)
Africa	20.93	8.83
Asia	667.59	281.72
Europe	3.92	1.65
North America	10.95	4.62
Central America	2.77	1.17
South America	23.51	9.92

Table 9.13 Worldwide availability of rice straw and theoretical ethanol yield

Source [95]

9.7.8 Rice Husk

Possibilities of the utilization of rice husk and subsequent chemical conversion of hemicellulose into xylose, followed by furfural, xylitol, xylonic acid, and ultimately the food yeast is explored [55]. Similarly, hydrolysis of cellulose to glucose which, then, can be converted into ethanol, sorbitol, hydroxy methyl furfural, levulinic acid, etc. is outlined. However, ethyl alcohol production would be economical only if all the by-products are recovered and processed. Mucilagenos material from cocoa waste is another source of alcohol [129]. The waste from tapioca spent pulp after concentration by centrifugation to 20% solids after hydrolysis holds promise for production of alcohol.

9.7.9 Barley

The waste from a novel, vacuum distillation procedure $(30-45^{\circ}C)$ called Mugi (Barley) contained a large number of viable yeast $(7 \times 10^{6} \text{ cells/ml})$, with glucoamylase (19.7 units/ml), acid protease (940 units/ml), and neutral protease (420 units/ml). The waste was mixed with mash composed of glucose as the sole source of carbon. After distillation of fermentation broth, the non-volatile residues were again used in the next ethanol fermentation and the cycle was repeated successfully ten times. The system is developed for the distillery waste which is treated as per the conventional waste water [186].

9.7.10 Whey

Using lactose hydrolyzing yeast under anaerobic conditions, whey can be converted into alcohol [137]. The system though made primarily for SCP production from whey, can also be employed for production of alcohol. Prehydrolyzed whey with β -galactosidase enzyme in which most of the lactose is hydrolyzed has been

used as a substrate for alcohol production. Since the alcohol produced is taxed in a similar manner as the potable alcohol for use in the beverage industry, this proposition also becomes expensive [117]. Such alcohol for use as industrial alcohol or alcohol as a chemical should be taxed at different rates than used for potable beverage production.

9.7.11 Cassava Roots

Cassava roots are used as raw materials for the production of ethanol in some countries like Brazil. The alcohol produced from cassava roots was used as motor fuel, mixed with gasoline (upto 20% alcohol) for which no motor modification is required. It is also used as pure anhydrous ethanol, in which there is need to modify the carburetor and some other parts. Both result in less atmospheric pollution than the use of 100% gasoline. Commercial production of ethanol from cassava is obviously not new in some parts of Asia like India and China. In China, several factories are now using solid waste (bagasse) of the cassava starch industry for the production of ethanol [59].

The suitability of extractive fermentation as a technique for improving the production of ethanol from lactose by *Candida pseudotropicalis* over the conventional technique has also been examined [81, 82]. Using Adol 85 NF, extractive solvent, biocompatible with microorganisms, extractive fed-batch and conventional fed-batch systems were operated for 160 h and the extractive system showed a 60% improvement in lactose consumption and ethanol production with 75% volumetric productivity.

In the syngas platform, the biomass is subjected through a process called gasification. In this process, the biomass is heated with no oxygen or only about one-third the oxygen normally required for complete combustion. It subsequently converts into a gaseous product, which contains mostly carbon monoxide and hydrogen. The gas, which is called synthesis gas or syngas, can be fermented by specific microorganisms or converted catalytically into ethanol. In the sugar platform, only the carbohydrate fractions are utilized for ethanol production, whereas in the syngas platform, all the three components of the biomass are converted into ethanol [41].

9.7.12 Hydrolysed Cellulosic Biomass

Lignocellulose biomass, including wood waste, agricultural waste, household waste, etc. represents a renewable resource which has stored solar energy in its chemical bonds [120]. It has great potential for bioethanol production, when compared to ethanol produced from grain, tubers, and sugar plants, because it is a widely available cheap feedstock which does not compete with human food products.

9.7.12.1 Pretreatment

It is known that the main difficulty in converting lignocellulose biomass into second-generation ethanol consists in breaking down structural and chemical biomass complex. In the course of the breakdown process, cellulose feedstock is affected by enzymes which allow further recovery of ethanol. Biomass consists of polysaccharides-cellulose and hemicellulose, which are hydrolyzed into single sugar components, followed by further recovery of ethanol by well-known and elaborated fermentation technologies. Enzymatic activity in lignocellulose hydrolysis gives a good yield and minimum amount of by-products; it has lower energy consumption, milder operating conditions, and represents an environmentally friendly processing method [157, 194]. Considering that the sugars required for fermentation are bound to the lignocellulose structure, pretreatment of biomass is required in order to remove and/or modify lignin and hemicellulose matrix before enzymatic hydrolysis of polysaccharides. Unlike starch which is a crucial source of energy in plants, cellulose has mostly a structural role as it provides plant cells with mechanical durability with hemicellulose and lignin. Natural cellulose materials do not have high reactivity; therefore, fermentable saccharification requires a large cellulose surface and broken cellulose microfilm structure. Reactivity of natural substrates is also reduced by lignin. The most commonly applied methods can be classified into two groups: chemical hydrolysis (dilute and concentrated acid hydrolysis) and enzymatic hydrolysis. In addition, there are some other hydrolysis methods in which no chemicals or enzymes are applied. For instance, lignocellulose may be hydrolyzed by thermal treatment, wetoxidation, gamma-rays or electron-beam irradiation, or microwave irradiation. However, these processes are commercially unimportant.

9.7.12.2 Chemical Hydrolysis

In chemical hydrolysis, pretreatment and hydrolysis may be carried out in a single step. There are two basic types of acid hydrolysis processes commonly used: dilute acid and concentrated acid, each with variations.

Acid Hydrolysis

Acid-catalyzed process can be divided into two general approaches, based on concentrate acid/low temperature and dilute-acid/high temperature hydrolysis. Sulfuric acid is the common acid employed although, however, hydrochloric, nitric and trifluoracetic acids, phosphoric acid, weak organic acids have also been used.

Concentrated-Acid Hydrolysis

Concentrate acid processes enable the hydrolysis of both hemicelluloses and cellulose. The solubilization of polysaccharides is reached using different acid concentrations, like 72% H₂SO₄, 41% HCl or 100% TFA [45]. Concentrate-acidbased processes have the advantage to allow operating at low/medium temperatures leading to the reduction in the operational costs. Hydrolysis of cellulosic materials by concentrated sulphuric or hydrochloric acids is a relatively old process. The concentrated acid process uses relatively mild temperatures, and the only pressures involved are those created by pumping materials from vessel to vessel. Reaction times are typically much longer than for dilute acid. This method generally uses concentrated sulphuric acid followed by a dilution with water to dissolve and hydrolyze or convert the substrate into sugar and provides a complete and rapid conversion of cellulose into glucose and hemicelluloses into 5-carbon sugars with little degradation. The critical factors needed to make this process economically viable are to optimize sugar recovery and cost-effectively recovery of the acid for recycling. The solid residue from the first stage is dewatered and soaked in a 30-40% concentration of sulphuric acid for 1-4 h as a pre-cellulose hydrolysis step. The solution is again dewatered and dried, increasing the acid concentration to about 70%. After reacting in another vessel for 1-4 h at low temperatures, the contents are separated to recover the sugar and acid. The sugar/ acid solution from the second stage is recycled to the first stage to provide the acid for the first-stage hydrolysis. The primary advantage of the concentrated acid process is the potential for high sugar recovery efficiency. The acid and sugar are separated via ion exchange and then, acid is re-concentrated via multiple effect evaporators. The low temperatures and pressures employed allow the use of relatively low cost materials such as fiberglass tanks and piping. The low temperatures and pressures also minimize the degradation of sugars. Unfortunately, it is a relatively slow process and cost- effective acid recovery systems have been difficult to develop. Without acid recovery, large quantities of lime must be used to neutralize the acid in the sugar solution. This neutralization forms large quantities of calcium sulfate, which requires disposal and creates additional expense. Moreover, the equipment corrosion is an additional disadvantage. Nevertheless, there seems to be a renewed interest in these processes [209] owing to the moderate operation temperatures and because no enzymes are required.

Dilute-Acid Hydrolysis

Pretreatment by using dilute-acid processes for the hydrolysis of hemicellulose renders the cellulose fraction more amenable for a further enzymatic treatment, but in this case a two-step-hydrolysis is required. The dilute acid process is conducted under high temperature and pressure, and has a reaction time in the range of seconds or minutes, which facilitates continuous processing. The difference between these two steps is mainly the operational temperature, which is high in the second step (generally around 230–240°C) [108, 196, 197]. Example cited by using a dilute acid process with 1% sulfuric acid in a continuous flow reactor at a

residence time of 0.22 min and a temperature of 510 K with pure cellulose provided a yield of over 50% sugars. In this case, 1,000 kg of dry wood would yield about 164 kg of pure ethanol. The biggest advantage of dilute acid processes is their fast rate of reaction, which facilitates continuous processing.

Compared to the concentrate acid hydrolysis, one of the advantages of diluteacid hydrolysis is the relatively low acid consumption, limited problem associated with equipment corrosion, and less energy demanding for acid recovery. Under controlled conditions, the levels of the degradation compounds generated can also be low. As an alternative to the conventional dilute-acid processes, the addition of CO_2 to aqueous solutions, taking advantage of the carbonic acid formation has been described [190], but the results obtained were not interesting enough to consider application.

Alkali Hydrolysis

The use of alkaline pretreatments is effective depending on the lignin content of the biomass. Alkali pretreatments increase cellulose digestibility and they are more effective for lignin solubilization, exhibiting minor cellulose and hemicellulose solubilization than acid or hydro-thermal processes [24]. Alkali pretreatment can be performed at room temperature and times ranging from seconds to days. It is described to cause less sugar degradation than acid pretreatment and it was shown to be more effective on agricultural residues than on wood materials [100]. In alkali hydrolysis possible loss of fermentable sugars and production of inhibitory compounds must be taken into consideration to optimize the pretreatment conditions. Sodium, potassium, calcium, and ammonium hydroxides are suitable alkaline pretreatments. NaOH causes swelling, increasing the internal surface of cellulose and decreasing the degree of polymerization and crystallinity, which provokes lignin structure disruption from 24–55% to 20% [101, 182]. The example of alkali hydrolysis cited below by using Lime pretreatment Ca(OH)₂ removes amorphous substances such as lignin, which increases the crystallinity index. Lignin removal increases enzyme effectiveness by reducing non-productive adsorption sites for enzymes and by increasing cellulose accessibility [96]. Lime also removes acetyl groups from hemicellulose reducing steric hindrance of enzymes and enhancing cellulose digestibility [126]. Lime has been proven successfully at temperatures ranging from 85 to 150°C and for 3-13 h with corn stover or poplar wood [27]. Pretreatment with lime has lower cost and less safety requirements compared to NaOH or KOH pretreatments and can be easily recovered from hydrolysate by reaction with CO_2 [126].

Enzymatic Hydrolysis

Enzymatic hydrolysis has an upper edge over acid hydrolysis to produce sugars for alcohol fermentations. Enzymes are naturally occurring plant proteins that cause certain chemical reactions to occur. There are two technological developments: enzymatic and direct microbial conversion methods. The chemical pretreatment of the cellulosic biomass is necessary before enzymatic hydrolysis. The first application of enzymatic hydrolysis was used in separate hydrolysis and fermentation steps. Enzymatic hydrolysis is accomplished by cellulolytic enzymes. Different kinds of "cellulases", i.e., endoglucanases, exoglucanases, glucosidases, and cellobiohydrolases are commonly used [75, 107] to cleave cellulose and hemicellulose. The endoglucanases randomly attack cellulose chains to produce polysaccharides of shorter length, whereas exoglucanases attach to the non-reducing ends of these shorter chains and remove cellobiose moieties, glucosidases hydrolyze cellobiose, and other oligosaccharides to glucose [142]. In order to enhance the susceptibility of cellulose for enzymatic hydrolysis, the pretreatment of cellulosic material is, therefore, an essential prerequisite. Physical and chemical pretreatments like ball milling, irradiation, alkali treatment, acid treatment, hydrogen peroxide treatment are highly recommended to enhance saccharification of cellulosic material after their enzymatic hydrolysis [6, 167].

So far, cellulose has been hydrolyzed with enzyme cellulase only at pilot plant scale. The process is divided into many steps and includes two basic inputs, namely, nutrients for the fungus and cellulosic material to be hydrolyzed. The nutrients supply include nitrogen and other supplements required for the growth of celluloytic microorganisms and is given in the form of sterilized nutrient medium. Cellulosic materials are pretreated. The celluloytic microorganism is grown and subsequently the enzyme is produced. The microorganism (such as fungus) is propagated as a submerged culture in a fermentation unit equipped for mixing and aerating the growth medium.

In the cellulose hydrolysis or saccharification step, the enzyme produced in the previous step comes into contact with the pretreated cellulosic materials. The enzyme solution hydrolyzes the solid cellulose to the glucose units. The product stream is continuously withdrawn from the unit. Finally, the glucose solution is separated from unhydrolyzed cellulose by filtration. The glucose solution can be used for fermentation to ethanol.

The rate and extent of enzymatic hydrolysis is affected by the pretreatment method, substrate concentration and accessibility, enzyme activity, and reaction conditions such as pH, temperature and mixing [121, 181]. Different strategies for enzymatic hydrolysis and ethanolic fermentation have been developed to address specific process engineering issues (Table 9.14).

Advantages of Biological Pretreatment over Chemical Treatment

Biological pretreatment offers some conceptually important advantages such as low chemical and energy use. However, a controllable and sufficiently rapid system has not yet been found. At the same time, chemical pretreatments have also serious disadvantages in terms of the requirement for specialized corrosion resistant equipment, extensive washing, and proper disposal of chemical wastes.

Name	Description	Features
SHF: separate hydrolysis and fermentation	Enzymatic hydrolysis and fermentation done sequentially in different vessels	Hydrolysis and fermentation at respective optimal conditions; enzyme product inhibition; separate treatment of C5 and C6 sugar streams
SSF: simultaneous saccharification and fermentation	Enzymatic hydrolysis and fermentation done simultaneously in same vessel	Compromise in conditions for optimal hydrolysis and fermentation; improved rates and yields; separate treatment of C5 and C6 sugar streams
HHF: hybrid hydrolysis and fermentation	Enzymatic hydrolysis and fermentation done roughly sequentially in same vessel	Hydrolysis continues after shift to fermentation conditions; process optimization difficult; separate treatment of C5 and C6 sugar streams
NSSF: non-isothermal simultaneous saccharification and fermentation	Enzymatic hydrolysis and fermentation done roughly simultaneously in different vessels	Hydrolysis and fermentation at respective optimal conditions; process optimization difficult; separate treatment of C5 and C6 sugar streams
SSCF: simultaneous saccharification and co- fermentation	Like SSF, only both C5 and C6 sugars are fermented in same vessel	Fewer vessels, lower capital costs; requires engineered microorganism optimized for efficient C5/C6 fermentation
CBP: consolidated bioprocessing	Enzymatic hydrolysis and fermentation carried out in single vessel by single or combination of microorganisms	Fewer vessels, lower capital costs; requires engineered microorganism optimized for enzyme production and C5/C6 fermentation

 Table 9.14
 Selected hydrolysis and fermentation strategies

Biological pretreatment is a safe and environmentally friendly method for lignin removal from lignocellulose. Biological pretreatment comprises of using microorganisms such as brown, white, and soft-rot fungi for selective degradation of lignin and hemicellulose out of which white-rot fungi seems to be the most effective microorganism. Lignin degradation occurs through the action of lignindegrading enzymes such as peroxidases and laccase [136]. Biological pretreatments are safe, environmentally friendly, and less energy intensive compared to other pretreatment methods (Table 9.15). However, the rate of hydrolytic reaction is very low and needs a great improvement to be commercially applicable. Hatakka [68] investigated the pretreatment of wheat straw using 19 white-rot fungi and found that 35% of the wheat straw was converted to reducing sugars after 5 weeks' pretreatment with *Pleurotus ostreatus* compared to only 12% conversion of the untreated straw.

Pretreatment method	Advantages	Disadvantages
Biological	Degrades lignin and hemicellulose Low energy consumption	Low rate of hydrolysis
Milling	Reduces cellulose crystallinity	High power and energy consumption
Steam explosion	Causes lignin transformation and hemicellulose solubilization, Cost- effective, Higher yield of glucose and hemicellulose in the two-step method	Generation of toxic compounds, Partial hemicellulose degradation
Diluted acid	Less corrosion problems than concentrated acid, Less formation of inhibitors	Generation of degradation products, Low sugar concentration in exit stream
Concentrated acid	High glucose yield, Ambient temperatures	High cost of acid and need to be recovered, Reactor corrosion problems, Formation of inhibitors
Organosolv	Causes lignin and hemicellulose hydrolysis	High cost Solvents need to be drained and recycled
Ozonolysis	Reduces lignin content, Does not imply generation of toxic compounds	High cost of large amount of ozone needed
Wet oxidation	Efficient removal of lignin, Low formation of inhibitors, Minimizes the energy demand (exothermic)	High cost of oxygen and alkaline catalyst
CO ₂ explosion	Increases accessible surface area, Cost- effective, Do not imply generation of toxic compounds	Does not affect lignin and hemicelluloses, Very high pressure requirements

 Table 9.15
 Advantages and disadvantages with different methods for pretreating lignocellulosic biomass

Thermal Pretreatment

Thermal pretreatment for fractionation and solubilization studies of lignocellulosic materials have shown the efficiency to improve the yields of extraction of hemicelluloses. Boussarsar [20] have evaluated the SCB conversion by hydrothermal treatment. Optimal conditions were 170°C for 2 h, reaching higher solubilization of hemicellulose than that at 150°C and lower degradation of sugar monomers than at 190°C. However, analysis of thermal hydrolysates shows the presence of xylan oligomers and polymers with large chains. On the other hand, Sendelius [166] has evaluated the steam pretreatment conditions with respect to final ethanol yield, using SCB as feedstock. The variables considered were temperature (180, 190, and 205°C), time (5 and 10 min), and impregnating agents (water, 2% SO₂ by weight of water in the bagasse and 0.25 g H₂SO4 per 100 g dry matter). The most prominent tested pretreatment condition was: SO₂-impregnation at a temperature of 180°C during 5 min, which gave a glucose yields in average 86.3% and xylose yields in average 72.0%. The fermentation of these hydrolyzed materials gave an overall ethanol yield of 80%, based on theoretical value.

Wet Oxidation

Wet oxidation (WO) is the process of treating material with water and either air or oxygen at temperatures above 120°C. Two types of reactions occur during WO: a low temperature hydrolytic reaction and a high temperature oxidative reaction. It has been demonstrated that a combination of alkali and WO reduces the formation of toxic furfuraldehydes and phenol aldehydes [97]. Martín [118] have investigated different conditions pH, temperature, and reaction time of WO pretreatment on fractionation and enzymatic convertibility of SCB, while pressure (12 bar) was kept constant. The highest cellulose content, nearly 70%, was obtained in the pretreatment at 195°C, 15 min and alkaline pH. The highest sugar yield in the liquid fraction, 16.1 g/100 g, was obtained at 185°C; 5 min and acidic pH. Although the analysis of the solid fraction in most of the pretreatments showed high degrees of hemicelluloses solubilization, the content of free sugars in the liquid fraction was very low. It is known that WO mainly catalyzes the transfer of hemicelluloses from the solid phase to the liquid phase, but it does not catalyze the hydrolysis of the liberated hemicelluloses molecules. The products of hemicelluloses hydrolysis during WO are not monosaccharides, but sugar oligomers.

9.7.13 Recent Advances in Bioethanol Production Process

Ethanol can be produced in two different ways, either by Direct Microbial Conversion (DMC) [180] or by Simultaneous SSF process. Novel bioreactors consisting of more than one bioreactor along with genetic recombination techniques are being developed at laboratory and pilot scale to improve the yield and productivity of bioethanol [25, 102]. Thermophilic fermentation seems to be a promising technique [122]. Additionally, the use of supercritical CO_2 as a pretreatment option has increased the ethanol yield by 70% [207].

9.7.14 Boiethanol Refinery

The conversion of by-products into value added products under a biorefinery concept may further reduce the associated process costs with additional energy in the form of fuels, heat, and electricity such as formation of xylitol from xylose, methyl fuorate from furfural and plastic from hydroxylmethyl furfural. Nevertheless, estimation of greenhouse gas emissions of these products as they are shaped into marketable products is required. The main technological issues have been summarized recently by Kumar [102]. Prasad [144] described the pros and cons of various pretreatment options for ethanol production from lignocellulosic biomass. Moreover, the availability of the feedstock and related logistics influence the effectiveness of bioethanol technology [180].

9.8 Future Perspectives and Conclusions

An increased use of biofuels would contribute to sustainable development by reducing greenhouse gas emissions and the use of non-renewable resources. In recent years, it has been suggested that instead of traditional feedstocks, cellulosic biomass (cellulose and hemicellulose), including sugarcane bagasse could be used as an ideally inexpensive and abundantly available source of sugar for fermentation into transportation fuel ethanol. The efficiency of biomass conversion into ethanol depends upon the ability of the microorganism used in the process to utilize these diverse carbon sources and the amount of fraction present in biomass. The cost of ethanol production from sugarcane bagasse is relatively high based on current technologies.

As the price of current ethanol feedstocks (e.g. Corn) is estimated to increase, lignocellulosic materials remain the only viable candidate to serve as renewable feedstock for ethanol production. There are huge amounts of wheat straw that are currently burnt in the field or wasted otherwise which can be used as low value raw material for ethanol production. Despite extensive technological advances in ethanol production from lignocellulose feedstocks over the last few decades, the price of the second-generation ethanol is still high and remains around \$2.65/ gallon [101, 102]. This high price is because of some technological impediments encountered in all the different steps of the process. Pretreatment is estimated to account for 33% of the total cost [187]. The current leading pretreatment methods for lignocellulosic materials are capital intensive. Economical comparison showed that there is little differentiation between studied pretreatment methods as for instance; low cost pretreatment reactors are counterbalanced by higher cost of catalyst and/or ethanol recovery [42]. Development of less energy intensive and more effective pretreatment methods allowing lower amount of enzymes loading can substantially decrease the total cost of cellulosic ethanol.

The utilization of lignocellulosic biomass for bioethanol production necessitates the production technology to be cost-effective and environmentally sustainable. Considering the evolution and need of second-generation biofuels, rice straw appears to be a promising and potent candidate for production of bioethanol due to its abundant availability and attractive composition. Biological conversion of rice straw into fermentable sugars, employing hydrolyzing enzymes is, at present the most attractive alternative due to environmental concerns. Although there are several hindrances in the way of developing economically feasible technology due to its complex nature, high lignin, and ash content, work is going on to develop an efficient pretreatment method to remove unwanted portions so as to get readily available sugars and a considerable success has been achieved till date. The available statistics show that the need of bioethanol for the transport sector could be met by using rice straw. Approaches in both process engineering and strain engineering still have to be carried out to circumvent the difficulties of xylose and glucose co-fermentation and to improve the system efficiency. A very balanced and intelligent combination of pretreatment, hydrolysis, and the fermentation
process has to be selected for maximum efficacy of the process. With the advent of genetically modified yeast, synthetic hydrolyzing enzymes, other sophisticated technologies and their efficient combination, the process of bioethanol production employing rice straw will prove to be a feasible technology in the very near future.

References

- Aarts MG, Keijzer CJ, Stiekema WJ, Pereira A (1995) Molecular characterization of the *CERI* gene of *Arabidopsis* involved in epicuticular wax biosynthesis and pollen fertility. Plant Cell 7:2115–2127
- Abate C, Callieri D, Rodriguez E, Garro O (1996) Ethanol production by a mixed culture of flocculant strain of *Zymomonas mobilis* and *Saccharomyces* sp. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 45:580
- Abrini J, Naveau H, Nyns EJ (1994) Clostridium autoethanogenum, sp. nov., an anaerobic bacterium that produces ethanol from carbon monoxide. Arch Microbiol 161:345–351
- Alper H, Moxley J, Nevoigt E, Fink GR, Stephanopoulos G (2006) Engineering yeast transcription machinery for improved ethanol tolerance and production. Science 314:1565– 1568
- 5. Anderson E (1982) Brazil sets lofty goals for ethanol. Chem Eng News 60(3):15
- Andren RK, Erickson RI, Medeiros JE (1976) In: Gaden EL, Mandels M, Reese ET, Sapno LA (eds) Enzymatic conversion of cellulosic material: technology and application. Wiley, New York, p 177
- Anuj KC, Ravinder R, Lakshmi MN, Rao V, Ravindra P (2007) Economic and environmental impact of bioethanol production technology. Biotechnol Mole Biol Rev 2(1):14–32
- Atsumi S, Cann AF, Connor MR, Shen CR, Smith KM, Brynildsen MP, Chou KJ, Hanai T, Liao JC (2008) Metabolic engineering of *Escherichia coli* for 1-butanol production. Metab Eng 10(305):311
- Atsumi S, Hanai T, Liao JC (2008) Non-fermentative pathways for synthesis of branchedchain higher alcohols as biofuels. Nature 451:86–89
- Atwell WA (2001) An overview of wheat development, cultivation, and production. Cereal Foods World 46:59–62
- 11. Badger PC, Broder DJ (1989) Ethanol production from food processing wastes. Hort Sci 24(2):227
- 12. Baxter LL, Miles TR, Miles TR Jr, Jenkins BM, Dayton DC, Milne TA, Bryers RW, Oden LL (1996) The behavior of inorganic material in biomass-fired power boilers—field and laboratory experiences: volume ii of alkali deposits found in biomass power plants. National Renewable Energy Laboratory, Golden, CO. Report: NREL/TP-433-814
- Bazua CD, Wilke CR (1977) Ethanol effects on the kinetics of continuous fermentation with Saccharomyces cerevisiae. Biotechnol Bioeng Symp 7:105
- Bengtsson O, Jeppsson M, Sonderegger M, Parachin NS, Sauer U, Hahn-Hagerdal B, Gorwa-Grauslund MF (2008) Identification of common traits in improved xylose-growing *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* for inverse metabolic engineering. Yeast 25(11):835–847
- Bermejo LL, Welker NE, Papoutsakis ET (1998) Expression of *Clostridium acetobutylicum* ATCC 824 genes in *Escherichia coli* for acetone production and acetate detoxification. Appl Environ Microbiol 64:1079–1085
- 16. Bhat PK, Singh MBD (1975) Ethanol production from coffee waste. J Coffee Res 5(3-4):71
- 17. Bloch F, Brown GE, Farkas DF (1973) Am Potato J 50(10):357

9 Production of Bioethanol from Food Industry Waste

- Borzani W, Gerb A, Delahiguera GA, Pires MH, Piolovic R (1993) Batch ethanol fermentation of molasses-A correlation between the time required to complete fermentation and the initial concentration of sugar and yeast cells. World J Microbiol Biotechnol 9(2):265
- Bothast RJ, Saha BC, Flosenzier AV, Ingram LO (1994) Fermentation of L-arabinose, D-xylose and D-glucose by ethanologenic recombinant *Klebsiella oxytoca* strain P2. Biotechnol Lett 16(4):401–406
- Boussarsar H, Roge B, Mathlouth M (2009) Optimization of sugarcane bagasse conversion by hydrothermal treatment for the recovery of xylose. Bioresour Technol. doi:10.1016/ j.biortech.2009.07.019
- 21. Bradock RJ (1977) Practical aspects of food manufacturing specially products. In: Proceedings of 17th IFT annual short course for food indust. Institute of Food and Agricultural Science, University of Florida, Gainesville
- 22. Bridson EY, Broker A (1970) Design of media. In: Noms J, Ribbins D (eds) Methods in microbiology, vol 3A. Academic Press, New York, p 229
- 23. Brown SW, Oliver SG, Harrisson DEF, Righelato RC (1981) Ethanol inhibition of yeast growth and fermentation. Differences in magnitude and complexity of the effect. Eur J Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 11:151
- Carvalheiro F, Duarte LC, Girio FM (2008) Hemicellulose biorefineries: a review on biomass pretreatments. J Sci Ind Res 67:849–864
- 25. Chaabane FB, Aldiguier AS, Alfenore S, Cameleyre X, Blanc P, Bideaux C, Guillouet SE, Roux G, Molina-Jouve C (2006) Very high ethanol productivity in an innovative continuous two-stage bioreactor with cell recycle. Bioprocess Biosyst Eng 29:49–57
- Chandrakant P, Bisaria VS (1998) Simultaneous bioconversion of cellulose and hemicellulose to ethanol. Crit Rev Biotechnol 18:295–331
- 27. Chang VS, Nagwani M, Kim CH, Holtzapple MT (2001) Oxidative lime pretreatment of high-lignin biomass: poplar wood and newspaper. Appl Biochem Biotechnol 94:1–28
- Chaudhary AB, Chincholkar SB (1986) Cell immobilization: a critical approach to ethanol by *Schizosaccharomyces pombe*. Indian J Microb 36:75
- 29. Converti A, Perego P, Borghi MD, Ferraiolo G (1989) Pretreatment operations and alcohol fermentation of orange wastes. J Ferm Bioeng 68(4):277
- 30. Cysewski GR, Wilke CR (1976) Fermentation kinetics and process economics for the production of ethanol. Report LBL-4480. Lawrence Berkeley Laboratory, Berkeley
- Cysewski GR, Wilke CR (1976) Utilization of cellulosic material through enzymatic hydrolysis. Biotechnol Bioeng 18:1297
- 32. Daniel SL, Hsu T, Dean SI, Drake HL (1990) Characterization of the hydrogen and carbon monoxide-dependent chemolithotrophic potentials of the acetogens *Clostridium thermoaceticum* and *Acetogenium kivui*. J Bacteriol 172:4464–4471
- 33. Davis EE, Jung SC (1974) The American type culture collection. ATCC, Rockvilla
- 34. De Deken RH (1966) The Crabtree effect: a regulatory system in yeast. J Gen Microbiol 44:149
- 35. Deanda K, Zhang M, Eddy C, Picataggio S (1996) Development of an arabinose fermenting *Zymomonas mobilis* strain by metabolic pathway engineering. Appl Environ Microbiol 62(12):4465–4470
- Dekker RFH (1985) Biodegradation of the hemicelluloses. In: Higuchi T (ed) Biosynthesis and biodegradation of wood components. Academic Press, Orlando, p 503
- 37. Demirbas A (2009) Biohydrogen, for future engine fuel demands (Chapter 3). In Kim NY, Cho JS, Yoon WB, Lee SY, Kang DH, Lee HY (eds) Biofuels. Springer, New York, pp 61–84
- Den Haan R, van Zyl WH (2003) Enhanced xylan degradation and utilisation by *Pichia* stipitis overproducing fungal xylanolytic enzymes. Enzyme Microb Technol 33(5):620–628
- Doelle HW, Kennedy LD, Doelle MB (1991) Scale up of ethanol production from sugarcane using Zymomonas mobilis. Process Biochem 24:137

- 40. Doran JB, Aldrich HC, Ingram LO (1994) Saccharification and fermentation of sugar-cane bagasse by *Klebsiella oxytoca* P2 containing chromosomally integrated genes encoding the *Zymomonas mobilis* ethanol pathway. Biotechnol Bioeng 44(2):240–247
- Drapcho CM, Nhuan NP, Walker TH (2008) Biofuels engineering process technology, vol 42. Mc Graw Hill Companies, New York, pp 383–386
- 42. Eggeman T, Elander RT (2005) Process and economic analysis of pretreatment technologies. Bioresour Technol 96:2019–2025
- Eriksson KEL, Blanchette RA, Ander P (1990) Microbial and enzymatic degradation of wood and wood components, vol 1. Springer, Berlin, p 407
- 44. Fall R, Phelps P, Spindler D (1984) Bioconversion of xylan to triglycerides by oil-rich yeasts. Appl Environ Microb 47:1130
- 45. Fengel D, Wegener G (1983) Wood: chemistry, ultrastructure, reactions. Walter de Gruyter and Co, Berlin
- 46. Flickinger MC (1980) Current biological research in conversion of cellulosic carbohydrates into liquid fuels: how far have we come? Biotechnol Bioeng 23:27
- Florenzano G, Poulain M (1984) A study of acetate production from cellulose using *Clostridium thermocellum*. Biomass 4:295–303
- Garrote G, Dominguez H, Parajo JC (2002) Autohydrolysis of corncob: study of nonisothermal operation for xylooligosaccharide production. J Food Eng 52:211–218
- Genthner BRS, Bryant MP (1987) Additional characteristics of one-carbon compound utilization by *Eubacterium limosum* and *Acetobacterium woodii*. Appl Environ Microbiol 53:471–476
- 50. Gera IB, Kramr A (1969) The utilization of food industries wastes. In: Chichester CO, Mkak EM, Stewart GF (eds) Advances in food research. Academic Press, New York, p 28
- 51. Glaumlich TR (1983) Potential fermentation products from citrus processing waste. Food Technol 37:94
- 52. Goggin B, Thorsson G (1982) Operating experience with Biostill in a commercial distillery. Alfo-Laval, Tumpa, Sweden
- 53. Gong CS, Chen LF, Tsao GI, Flickinger MG (1981) Conversion of hemicellulose carbohydrates. Adv Biochem Eng 20:93
- 54. Gorgens JF, van Zyl WH, Knoetze JH, Hahn-Hägerdal B (2001) The metabolic burden of the PGK1 and ADH2 promoter systems for heterologous xylanase production by *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* in defined medium. Biotechnol Bioeng 73(3):238–245
- 55. Govinda Rao VM (1980) Rice husk, a raw material for industrial chemicals. In: Achaya KT et al (eds) Proceedings of the symposium on wastes from food industries. Utilization and Disposal. Association of Food Scientists and Technologists (India), CFTRI, Mysore, India
- 56. Gray WD, Stark WH, Kolachov P (1942) J Bacteriol 43:270
- 57. Grohmann K, Cameron RG, Buslig BS (1995) Fermentation of sugars in orange peel hydrolysates to ethanol by recombinant *Escherichia coil* KOII. Appl Biochem Biotechnol Part A Enzyme Eng Biotechnol 51–52:423
- Grohmann K, Baldwin EA, Buslig BS (1994) Production of ethanol from enzymatic hydrolysed orangr peel by the yeast *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. Appl Biochem Biotechnol 45(46):315
- 59. Gu Bi, Ye Guozhen (2000) Commercial scale production of ethanol from cassava pulp. In: Howeler RH, Oates CG, Brien GMO (eds) Cassava starch and starch derivatives, Proceedings of the international symposium held in Nannking Guangxi, China, 11–15 Novemb 1996, pp 11–15
- 60. Guo GL, Hsu DC, Chen WH, Chen WH, Hwang WS (2009) Characterization of enzymatic saccharification for acid-pretreated lignocellulosic materials with different lignin composition. Enzyme Microb Technol 45:80–87
- Gupta LK, Pathak G, Tiwari RP (1990) Effect of nutrition variables on solid state alcoholic fermentation of apple pomace by yeast. J Food Sci Agric 50:55–2
- 62. Guzman-Maldonado H, Paredes-Lopez O (1995) Amylolytic enzymes and products derived from starch: a review. Crit Rev Food Sci Nutrition 35:373

- 63. Hammond J, Brent ER, Diggins D, Coble CG (1996) Alcohol from bananas. Bioresour Technol 56(1):125
- 64. Hanai T, Atsumi S, Liao JC (2007) Engineered synthetic pathway for isopropanol production in *Escherichia coli*. Appl Environ Microbiol 73:7814–7818
- 65. Hang YD, Walter RH (1989) Treatment and utilization of apple processing wastes. In: Downing DL (ed) Processed apple products. Van Nostrand Reinhold, New York, pp 365– 377
- Hang YD, Lee CY, Woodams EF (1982) A solid state system for production of ethanol from apple pomace. J Food Sci 47:1851–1852
- Hang YD, Lee CY, Woodams E, Cooley HJ (1981) Production of alcohol from apple pomace. App Environ Microb 42:1128–1129
- Hatakka AI (1983) Pretreatment of wheat straw by white-rot fungi for enzymic saccharification of cellulose. Appl Microb Biotechnol 18:350–357
- 69. Haukeli AD, Lie S (1971) Controlled supply of trace amounts of oxygen in laboratory scale fermentations. Biotechnol Bioeng 13:619
- 70. Hayashida S, Ohta S (1981) Formation of high concentrations of alcohol by various yeasts. J Inst Brew 68:478
- Hodge HM, Hildebrandt FM (1954) Alcoholic fermentation of molasses. In: Underkolfer LA, Hickey RJ (eds) Industrial fermentation, vol 1. Chemical Pub Co., New York, p 73
- Holzer H (1968) Biochemistry of adaptation of yeast. In: Mills A, Krebids S (eds) Aspects of yeast metabolism. Blackwell, Oxford, p. 155
- Ingram LO, Conway T, Clark DP, Sewell GW, Preston JF (1987) Genetic engineering of ethanol production in *Escherichia coli*. Appl Environ Microbiol 53:2420–2425
- 74. Ingram LO, Gomez PF, Lai X, Moniruzzaman M, Wood BE, Yomano LP, York SW (1998) Metabolic engineering of bacteria for ethanol production. Biotechnol Bioeng 58:204– 214
- Ingram LO, Doran JB (1995) Conversion of cellulosic materials to ethanol. FEMS Microbiol Rev 16:235–241
- 76. Ingram LO, Conway T (1988) Expression of different levels of ethanologenic enzymes from Zymomonas mobilis in recombinant strains of Escherichia coli. Appl Environ Microbiol 54(2):397–404
- 77. Jarosz K (1988) Solid state alcoholic fermentation of apple pomace. Acta Alimentaria Polonica 14(3/4):139–144
- Jeffries TW (2008) Engineering the *Pichia stipitis* genome for fermentation of hemicellulose hydrolysates. In: Wall JD, Hardwood CS, Demain A (eds) Bioenergy. ASM Press, Washington, DC, pp 37–47
- Jeffries TW, Grigoriev IV, Grimwood J, Laplaza JM, Aerts A, Salamov A, Schmutz J, Lindquist E, Dehal P, Shapiro H, Jin YS, Passoth V, Richardson PM (2007) Genome sequence of the lignocellulose-bioconverting and xylose fermenting yeast *Pichia stipitis*. Nat Biotechnol 25(3):319–326
- Jeffries TW, Van Vleet JR (2009) Pichia stipitis genomics, transcriptomics, and gene clusters. FEMS Yeast Res 9(6):793–807
- Jones TD, Harvard JM, Dauguilis AJ (1993) Ethanol production from lactose by extractive fermentation. Biotechnol Lett 15(8):871
- Jones RP, Pamment N, Greenfield PF (1981) Alcohol fermentation by yeasts. Process Biochem 16:42
- Joshi VK, Sandhu DK (1996) Effect on type of alcohols in the distillates from the solid state fermentation of apple pomace by different yeasts. Natl Acad Sci Letters 49(11–12):219– 224
- Joshi VK, Sandhu DK (1996) Preparation and evaluation of animal feed using solid state fermentation of apple pomace. Bioresour Technol 56:251–255
- Joshi VK, Jaswal S, Lal B (1998) Apple pomace: effect of sulphur dioxide and temperature on its preservation and medium optimization for yeast biomass production. J Sci Ind Res 57(10&11):692–697

- Joshi VK (1998) Apple pomace utilization—present status and future strategies. In: Pandey Ashok (ed) Advances in biotechnology. Educational Publishers & Distributors, New Delhi, pp 141–155
- Joshi VK, Sandhu DK (1994) Solid state fermentation of apple pomace for production of ethanol and animal feed. In: Pandey A (ed) Solid state fermentation. Wiley, New Delhi, pp 93–98
- Joshi VK, Sandhu DK, Jaiswal S (1995) Effect of addition of SO₂ on solid state fermentation of apple pomace. Curr Sci 69(3):263–264
- Kalscheuer R, Stolting T, Steinbuchel A (2006) Micro-diesel: *Escherichia coli* engineered for fuel production. Microbiology 152:2529–2536
- 90. Karhumaa K, Pahlman AK, Hahn-Hägerdal B, Levander F, Gorwa-Grauslund MF (2009) Proteome analysis of the xylose-fermenting mutant yeast strain TMB 3400. Yeast 26(7):371–382
- 91. Katzen R, Fowler DE (1994) Ethanol from lignocellulosic waste with utilization of recombinant bacteria. Appl Biochem Biotechnol 45(46):697
- Kennedy MJ (1994) Apple pomace and Kiwi fruit: processing options. Australas Biotechno 4:43–49
- 93. Kerstetter JD, Lyons JK (2001) Wheat straw for ethanol production in Washington: a resource, technical, and economic assessment. Washington State University Cooperative Extension, Olympia
- Khanna V, Gupta KG (1986) Effect of dithiocarbomates on citric acid production by *Aspergillus niger*. Folio Microbiologica 31:288–292
- Kim S, Dale BE (2004) Global potential bioethanol production from wasted crops and crop residues. Biomass Bioenergy 26:361–375
- Kim S, Holtzapple MT (2006) Delignification kinetics of corn stover in lime pretreatment. Bioresour Technol 97:778–785
- 97. Klinke HB, Ahring BK, Schmidt AS, Thomsen AB (2002) Characterization of degradation products from alkaline wet oxidation of wheat straw. Bioresour Technol 82:15–26
- 98. Kochar K (1982) Vast new horizons opening for ethanol. J Commerce:1c
- Kotter P, Ciriacy M (1993) Xylose fermentation by Saccharomyces cerevisiae. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 38(6):776–783
- 100. Kumar P, Barrett DM, Delwiche MJ, Stroeve P (2009) Methods for pretreatment of lignocellulosic biomass for efficient hydrolysis and biofuel production. Ind Eng Chem Res 48:3713–3729
- 101. Kumar R, Wyman CE (2009) Effects of cellulase and xylanase enzymes on the deconstruction of solids from pretreatment of poplar by leading technologies. Biotechnol Prog 25:302–314
- 102. Kumar S, Singh SP, Mishra IM, Adhikari DP (2009) Recent advances in production of bioethanol from lignocellulosic biomass, review. Chem Eng Technol 32(4):517–526
- 103. Lamprecht I, Migger L (1969) Microcalorimetric study on the effect of stirring on the growth of yeast. Z Naturforsch Teel B 24:1205
- 104. Laureano-Perez L, Teymouri F, Alizadeh H, Dale BE (2005) Understanding factors that limit enzymatic hydrolysis of biomass. In: Twenty-sixth symposium on biotechnology for fuels and chemicals, pp 1081–1099
- 105. Lavenspiel O (1980) The monad equation: a revise! and a generalization to product inhibition situations. Biotechnol Bioeng 3:1671
- 106. Lawford HG, Rousseau JD, Mohagheghi A, McMillan JD (1999) Fermentation performance characteristics of a prehydrolyzate-adapted xylose-fermenting recombinant *Zymomonas* in batch and continuous fermentations. Appl Biochem Biotechnol 77–79:191–204
- 107. Laymon RA, Adney WS, Mohagheghi A, Himmel ME, Thomas SR (1996) Cloning and expression of fulllength *Trichoderma reesei* cellobiohydrolase I cDNAs in *Escherichia coli*. Appl Biochem Biotechnol 57(58):389–397
- Lee YY, Iyer P, Torget R (1999) Dilute-acid hydrolysis of lignocellulosic biomass. Adv Biochem Eng/Biotechnol 65:93–115

- 109. Lee JH, Skotnick ML, Roger PL (1982) Kinetic study of flocculent strain of *Zymomonas* mobilis. Biotechnol Lett 4:615
- 110. Li L, Wang Y, Zhang Q, Li J, Yang X, Jin J (2008) Wheat straw burning and its associated impacts on Beijing air quality. Sci China Ser D Earth Sci 51:403–414
- 111. Li X, Kondo R, Sakai K (2002) Biodegradation of sugarcane bagasse with marine fungus *Phlebia* sp. MG-60. J Wood Sci 48:159–162
- 112. Lindberg B, Rosell KG, Svensson S (1973) Position of the O-acetyl groups in birch xylan. Svensk Papperstidning 76:30
- 113. Liou JSC, Balkwill DL, Drake GR, Tanner RS (2005) Clostridium carboxidivorans sp. nov., a solvent-producing Clostridium isolated from an agricultural settling lagoon, and reclassification of the acetogen Clostridium scatologenes strain SL1 as Clostridium drakei sp. nov. Int J Syst Evol Microbiol 55:2085–2091
- 114. Magnuson K, Jackowski S, Rock CO, Cronan JE Jr (1993) Regulation of fatty acid biosynthesis in *Escherichia coli*. Microbiol Rev 57:522–542
- 115. Mahmood AU, Greenman J, Scragg AH (1998) Orange and potato peel extracts: analysis and use as *Bacillus* substrates for the production of extracellular enzymes in continuous culture. Enzyme Microbiol Technol 22:130–137
- Maiorella BI (1983) Ethanol industrial chemicals. Biochem Fuels. Pergamon Press, Oxford, pp 861–914
- 117. Maiorella BL, Castillo FJ (1984) Ethanol biomass and enzyme production for whey taste abatemeno. Process Biochem 19(4):157
- 118. Martín C, Klinke HB, Thomsen AB (2007) Wet oxidation as a pretreatment method for enhancing the enzymatic convertibility of sugarcane bagasse. Enzyme Microb Technol 40:426–432
- 119. Martín C, Marcet M, Almazán O, Jönsson LJ (2007) Adaptation of a recombinant xyloseutilizing *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* strain to a sugarcane bagasse hydrolysate with high content of fermentation inhibitors. Bioresour Technol 98:1767–1773
- McKendry P (2002) Overview of biomass. Energy production from biomass (Part 1). Bioresour Technol 83(1):37–46
- 121. Merino ST, Cherry J (2007) Progress and challenges in enzyme development for biomass utilization. Adv Biochem Eng Bio-technol 108:95–120
- 122. Mielenz JR (2001) Ethanol production from biomass: technology and commercialization status. Curr Opin Microbiol 4:324–329
- 123. Miller DG, Gnffiths Smith K, Algar E, Scoopes RK (1982) Activity and stability of glycolytic enzymes in the presence of ethanol. Biotechnol Lett 4:601
- 124. Mohagheghi A, Evans K, Chou YC, Zhang M (2002) Cofermentation of glucose, xylose, and arabinose by genomic DNA-integrated xylose/arabinose fermenting strain of *Zymomonas mobilis* AX101. Appl Biochem Biotechnol 98–100:885–898
- 125. Morella B (1982) Fermentation alcohol: better to convert to fuel. Hydrocarbon Process 61(8):95
- 126. Mosier N, Wyman CE, Dale BD, Elander RT, Lee YY, Holtzapple M, Ladisch CM (2005) Features of promising technologies for pretreatment of lignocellulosic biomass. Bioresour Technol 96:673–686
- 127. Moss FJ, Richard PAD, Bush FE, Caiger P (1971) The response by microorganism to steady state growth in controlled concentration of oxygen and glucose. Biotechnol Bioeng 13:63
- 128. Moulin G, Boze H, Galzy P (1989) Inhibition of alcoholic fermentation. In: Russell GE (ed) Yeast Biotechnol. Intercept Ltd., Dorset
- 129. Nambudiri ES, Lewis YS (1980) Cocoa waste and its utilization. In: KT Achaya et al. (eds.) Proceedings of the symposium on wastes from food industries: utilization and disposal. Association of Food Scientists and Technologists (India), CFTRI, Mysore, India, p 24
- 130. Ngadi MD, Correia LR (1992) Solid state ethanol fermentation of apple pomace as affected by moisture and bioreactor mixing speed. J Food Sci 57(3):667

- 131. Nigam JN (2001) Development of xylose-fermenting yeast *Pichia stipitis* for ethanol production through adaptation on hardwood hemicellulose acid prehydrolysate. J Appl Microbiol 90(2):208–215
- 132. Nirmala B, Somayaji D, Khanna S (1996) Biomethanation of banana peel and pineapple wastes. Biores Technol 58:73–76
- 133. Nishio N, Oku Y, Kawamura D, Nagai S (1979) Liquifaction and saccharification of mandarine orange waste. J Ferment Technol 57:354
- 134. Ohta K, Beall DS, Mejia JP, Shanmugam KT, Ingram LO (1991) Genetic improvement of *Escherichia coli* for ethanol production: chromosomal integration of *Zymomonas mobilis* genes encoding pyruvate decarboxylase and alcohol dehydrogenase II. Appl Environ Microbiol 57(4):893–900
- 135. Ohta K, Beall DS, Mejia JP, Shanmugam KT, Ingram LO (1991) Metabolic engineering of *Klebsiella oxytoca* M5A1 for ethanol production from xylose and glucose. Appl Environ Microbiol 57(10):2810–2815
- 136. Okano K, Kitagawa M, Sasaki Y, Watanabe T (2005) Conversion of Japanese red cedar (Cryptomeria japonica) into a feed for ruminants by white-rot basidiomycetes. Animal Feed Sci Technol 120:235–243
- 137. Olearry US, Green R, Sullivan BC, Holsinger UH (1977) Alcohol production by selected yeast strains in lactose hydrolysed whey. Biotech Bioeng 19:1019
- 138. Oura E, Haarasilta S, Londesborough S (1980) Carbon dioxide fixation by baker's yeast under a variety of growth conditions. J Gen Microb 119:51
- 139. Paturau JM (1982) By-products of the cane sugar industry, 2nd edn. Elsevier, New York
- 140. Peng F, Ren JL, Xu F, Bian J, Peng P, Sun RC (2009) Comparative study of hemicelluloses obtained by graded ethanol precipitation from sugarcane bagasse. J Agric Food Chem. doi:10.1021/jf900986b
- 141. Peterson JD, Ingram LO (2008) Anaerobic respiration in engineering *Escherichia coli* with an internal electron acceptor to produce fuel ethanol. Ann N Y Acad Sci 1125:363–372
- 142. Philippidis GP, Smith TK (1995) Limiting factors in the simultaneous saccharification and fermentation process for conversion of cellulosic biomass to fuel ethanol. Appl Biochem Biotechnol 51(52):117–124
- 143. Picataggio S, Zhang M (1996) Microorganism development for bioethanol production from hydrolysates. In: Wyman CE (ed) Handbook on bioethanol: production and utilization. Taylor and Francis, Washington, D.C., pp 163–178
- 144. Prasad S, Singh A, Joshi HC (2007) Ethanol as an alternative fuel from agricultural, industrial and urban residues. Resour Conserv Recycl 50:1–39
- 145. Qian Y, Yomano LP, Preston JF, Aldrich HC, Ingram LO (2003) Cloning, characterization, and functional expression of the *Klebsiella oxytoca* xylodextrin utilization operon (xynTB) in *Escherichia coli*. Appl Environ Microbiol 69(10):5957–5967
- 146. Ravinder T, Swamy MV, Seenayya G, Reddy G (2001) Clostridium lentocellum SG6-a potential organism for fermentation of cellulose to acetic acid. Bioresour Technol 80:171– 177
- 147. Reesen L (1978) Dairy Ind Int 43(1):9
- 148. Riendeau D, Meighen E (1985) Enzymatic reduction of fatty acids and acyl-CoAs to long chain aldehydes and alcohols. Experientia 41:707–713
- 149. Roberto IC, Mussatto SI, Rodrigues RCLB (2003) Dilute-acid hydrolysis for optimization of xylose recovery from rice straw in a semi-pilot reactor. Ind Crops Prod 7:171–176
- 150. Rogers PL, Lee KJ, Skotnicki ML, Tribe DE (1982) Ethanol production by Zymomonas mobilis. Adv Biochem Eng 23:37
- 151. Rogers PL, Phil D, Leg KJ, Tribe DE, Tribe ME (1980) High productivity of fermentations with *Zymomonas mobilis*. Process Biochem 15(6):7
- 152. Rose AH (1967) Alcoholic fermentation. In: William RJ , Lansford EM (ed) The encyclopedia of biochemistry. Reinhold, New York, p 25
- 153. Rose AH, Beaven MJ (1981) End product tolerance of ethanol. In: Holleander A (ed) Trends in biology of fermentations for fuels and chemicals. Plenum, New York, p 513

- 154. Rosenberg S (1980) Fermentation of pentose sugars to ethanol and other neutral producing microorganism. Enzyme Microb Technol 2:185
- 155. Sacchettini JC, Poulter CD (1997) Creating isoprenoid diversity. Science 277:1788–1789
- 156. Saddler JN, Chan MKH (1984) Conversion of pretreated lignocellulosic substrate to ethanol *Clostridium thermocellum* in mono and coculture with *Clostridium thermosaccharolyticum C. thermohydrosulphuricum*. Can J Microbiol 30:212
- 157. Saha BC (2000) Alpha-L-Arabinofuranosidases, biochemistry, molecular biology and application in biotechnology. Biotechnol Adv 18(5):403–423
- 158. Saha BC, Bothast RJ (1966) Production, purification and characterization of a highly glucose tolerant novel β -glucosidase from *Candida peltata*. Appl Environ Microbiol 62:3165
- 159. Saha BC (2003) Hemicellulose bioconversion. Ind Microbiol Biotechnol 30:279-291
- 160. Sandhu DK, Joshi VK (1997) Solid state fermentation of apple pomace for concomitant production of ethanol and animal feed. J Sci Ind Res (CSIR) 56:86–90
- 161. Sandhu DK, Joshi VK (1984) Comparative fermentation behaviour and chemical characteristics of *Saccharomyces* and *Zymomonas* fermented culled apple juice. Indian J Exp Biol 32:873
- 162. Sargent SA, Steffe JF, Pierson TR (1986) The economic feasibility of in-plant combustion of apple processing wastes. Agric Wastes 15(2):85–96
- 163. Sasson A (1984) Biotechnologies: challenges and promises. Oxford & IBH, New Delhi, p 207
- 164. Savage MD, Wu ZG, Daniel SL, Lundie LL, Drake HL (1987) Carbon monoxide-dependent chemolithotrophic growth of *Clostridium thermoautotrophicum*. Appl Environ Microbiol 53:1902–1906
- 165. Schlesinger WH (1991) Biogeochemistry: an analysis of global Change. Academic, San Diego, p 443
- 166. Sendelius J (2005) Steam pretreatment optimization for sugarcane bagasse in bioethanol production. Master of Science thesis, Lund University, Sweden
- 167. Sharma N, Bhalla TC, Agarwal HO, Bhatt AK (1996) Saccharification of physico-chemical pretreated lignoocellulosics by partially purified cellulase of *Trichoderma viride*. Sci Lett 19:141
- 168. Shen GJ, Shieh JS, Grethlein AJ, Jain MK, Zeikus JH (1999) Biochemical basis for carbon monoxide tolerance and butanol production by *Butyribacterium methylotrophicum*. Appl Microb Biotechnol 51:827–832
- 169. Shi NQ, Davis B, Sherman F, Cruz J, Jeffries TW (1999) Disruption of the cytochrome c gene in xylose-utilizing yeast *Pichia stipitis* leads to higher ethanol production. Yeast 15(11):1021–1030
- 170. Shi NQ, Jeffries TW (1998) Anaerobic growth and improved fermentation of *Pichia stipitis* bearing a URA1 gene from *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 50(3):339–345
- 171. Sim JH, Kamaruddin AH, Long WS, Najafpour G (2007) *Clostridium aceticum*—a potential organism in catalyzing carbon monoxide to acetic acid: application of response surface methodology. Enzyme Microb Technol 40:1234–1243
- 172. Sims R, Taylor M, Saddler J, Mabee W (2008) From 1st to 2nd generation biofuels technologies-full report—an overview of current industry and R&D activities. International Energy Agency, Nov 2008
- 173. Slepova TV, Sokolova TG, Lysenko AM, Tourova TP, Kolganova TV, Kamzolkina OV, Karpov G.A, Bonch-Osmolovskaya, EA (2006) *Carboxydocella sporoproducens* sp. nov., a novel anaerobic CO-utilizing/H2- producing thermophilic bacterium from a Kamchatka hot spring. Int J Syst Evol Microbiol 56:797
- 174. Smock RM, Neubert AM (1950) Apples and apple products. Interscience Publ, New York
- 175. Sreekumar O, Basappa SC (1992) Effect of calcium and sodium salt on ethanol production in high sugar fermentation by free cells of *Zymomonas mobilis*. Biotechnol Lett 16(6):511

- 176. Sreekumar O, Basappa SC (1995) Effect of different nitrogen sources on ethanolic fermentation of glucose by *Zymomonas mobilis*. J Food Sci Technol 32:252
- 177. Staff (1981) Chementator. Chem Eng (N Y) 88(16):7
- 178. Stark WH (1954) Alcoholic fermentation of grain. In: Under LA, Hickey RJ (eds) Industrial fermentation, vol 1. Chem Pub. Co., New York, p. 17
- 179. Sun X-F, Sun R-C, Su Y, Sun J-X (2004) Comparative study of crude and purified cellulose from wheat straw. J Agric Food Chem 52:839–847
- Szczodrak J, Fiedurek J (1996) Technology for conversion of lignocellulosic biomass to ethanol. Biomass Bioenergy 10(6):367–375
- 181. Taherzadeh MJ, Karimi K (2007) Enzyme-based hydrolysis processes for ethanol from lignocellulosic materials: a review. BioResources 24:707–738
- 182. Taherzadeh MJ, Karimi K (2008) Pretreatment of lignocellulosic wastes to improve ethanol and biogas production: a review. Int J Mol Sci 9:1621–1651
- 183. Tan TC, Lauc M (1975) J Singap Natl Acad Sci 4:152
- 184. Tanner RS, Miller LM, Yang D (1993) Clostridium ljungdahlii sp. nov., an acetogenic species in clostridial ribosomal-RNA homology group-I. Int J Syst Bacteriol 43:232–236
- 185. Tantirungkij M, Nakashima N, Seki T, Yoshida T (1993) Construction of xylose assimilating *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. J Ferment Bioeng 75(2):83–88
- 186. Teramoto Y, Ueki T, Kimura K, Ueda S, Shiota S (1993) Complete utilization of Shochu distillery waste, 2. Semi-continuous ethanol fermentation with Shochu distillery waste. J Inst Brewing 99(2):139
- 187. Tomas-Pejo E, Oliva JM, Ballesteros M (2008) Realistic approach for full-scale bioethanol production from lignocellulose: a review. J Sci Ind Res 67:874–884
- Tyner W (2008) The US ethanol and biofuels boom: its origins, current status and future prospects. Bioscience 587:646–653
- Van Vleet JH, Jeffries TW (2009) Yeast metabolic engineering for hemicellulosic ethanol production. Curr Opin Biotechnol 20(3):300–306
- 190. Van Walsum GP, Shi H (2004) Carbonic acid enhancement of hydrolysis in aqueous pretreatment of corn stover. Bioresour Technol 93(3):217–226
- 191. Wang Y, Shi WL, Liu XY, Shen Y, Bao XM, Bai FW, Qu YB (2004) Establishment of a xylose metabolic pathway in an industrial strain of *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. Biotechnol Lett 26:885–890
- 192. Wang DIC, Cooney CI, Demain AL, Donnil P, Humphrey AE, Lilly MD (1979) Ferment and enzyme technology. Willy, New York
- 193. Watson GT (1970) Effect of sodium chloride on steady-state growth and metabolism Sacharomyces cerevisiae. J Gen Microbiol 64:91
- 194. Wingren A, Galbe M, Roslander C et al (2005) Effect of reduction in yeast and enzyme concentrations in a simultaneous-saccharification and fermentation based bioethanol process. Appl Biochem Biotechnol 122:485–499
- 195. Withers ST, Gottlieb SS, Lieu B, Newman JD, Keasling JD (2007) Identification of isopentenol biosynthetic genes from *Bacillus subtillis* by a screening method based on isoprenoid precursor toxicity. Appl Environ Microbiol 73:6277–6283
- 196. Wyman CE (2003) Potential synergies and challenges in refining cellulosic biomass to fuels, chemicals, and power. Biotechnol Prog March-April 19(2):254–262
- 197. Wyman CE (1999) Biomass ethanol: technical progress, opportunities, and commercial challenges. Ann Rev Energy Environ 24:189–226
- 198. Wyman CE (2007) What is (and is not) vital to advancing cellulosic ethanol. Trends Biotechnol 25:153–157
- 199. Yomano LP, York SW, Ingram LO (1998) Isolation and characterization of ethanol-tolerant mutants of *Escherichia coli* KO11 for fuel ethanol production. J Ind Microbiol Biotechnol 20(2):132–138
- 200. Yomano LP, York SW, Zhou S, Shanmugam KT, Ingram LO (2008) Reengineering *Escherichia coli* for ethanol production. Biotechnol Lett 30(12):2097–2103

- Zaldivar J, Ingram LO (1999) Effect of organic acids on the growth and fermentation of ethanologenic *Escherichia coli* LY01. Biotechnol Bioeng 66(4):203–210
- 202. Zaldivar J, Martinez A, Ingram LO (1999) Effect of selected aldehydes on the growth and fermentation of ethanologenic *Escherichia coli*. Biotechnol Bioeng 65(1):24–33
- 203. Zaldivar J, Martinez A, Ingram LO (2000) Effect of alcohol compounds found in hemicellulose hydrolysate on the growth and fermentation of ethanologenic *Escherichia coli*. Biotechnol Bioeng 68(5):524–530
- 204. Zamora R, Crispin JAS (1995) Production of an acid extract of rice straw. Acta Cient Venez 46:135–139
- 205. Zevenhoven M (2000) The prediction of deposit formation in combustion and gasification of biomass fuels—fractionation and thermodynamic multi-phase multi-component equilibrium (TPCE) calculations. In: Haefele S (ed) Combustion and materials chemistry. Lemminkäinengatan, Finland, p.38
- 206. Zhang M, Eddy C, Deanda K, Finkelstein M, Picataggio S (1995) Metabolic engineering of a pentose metabolism pathway in ethanologenic *Zymomonas mobilis*. Science 267(5195):240–243
- Zhang Y, Lin H-M, Tsao GT (1998) Pretreatment for cellulose hydrolysis by carbon dioxide explosion. Biotechnol Prog 14:890–896
- 208. Zhang Y, Zhu Y, Zhu Y, Li Y (2009) The importance of engineering physiological functionality into microbe. Trends Biotechnol. doi:10.1016/jtibtech2009.08.006
- 209. Zhang YHP, Ding SY, Mielenz JR, Cui JB, Elander R, Laser M, Himmel ME, McMillan JR, Lynd LR (2007) Fractionating recalcitrant lignocellulose at modest reaction conditions. Biotechnol Bioeng 97:214–223
- Zhao XQ, Bai FW (2009) Mechanisms of yeast stress tolerance and its manipulation for efficient fuel ethanol production. J Biotechnol. doi:10.1016/jjbiotec.2009.05.001
- 211. Zhou S, Yomano LP, Shanmugam KT, Ingram LO (2005) Fermentation of 10% (w/v) sugar to D-lactate by engineered *Escherichia coli* B. Biotechnol Lett 27(23):1891–1896

Chapter 10 Enhancement of Biohydrogen Production by Two-Stage Systems: Dark and Photofermentation

Tugba Keskin and Patrick C. Hallenbeck

10.1 Introduction

The sustainability of economic growth and the ecology of the environment are under threat by rising petroleum prices and global warming. Much research is going into finding alternative reliable and effective energy sources. Among the energy sources under development, hydrogen is recognized as the most promising alternative to fossil fuels, and it is assumed that it will play a major role in the future energy supply because it is recyclable, energy efficient and clean energy carrier [1]. Hydrogen can be produced from fossil fuels by steam reforming or thermal cracking of natural gas, partial oxidation of hydrocarbons, coal gasification or pyrolysis. A second option is to produce hydrogen from water by electrolysis, photolysis, thermochemical processes or thermolysis. A third option is to produce hydrogen by biological processes such as biophotolysis of water by algae and cyanobacteria, photofermentation of organic substrates, or dark fermentation of organic substrates [2]. Among the various options for hydrogen production, biological production would appear to be the most efficient due to its low energy demand compared with physical and thermochemical processes, and due to its ability to use organic wastes. When biological hydrogen production is coupled with the treatment of organic wastes two main problems, the reduction of pollution from the uncontrolled degradation of waste, and the production of a clean fuel, can be solved [3].

T. Keskin · P. C. Hallenbeck (🖂)

Département de Microbiologie et Immunologie, Université de Montréal, CP 6128 Succursale Centre-ville, Montréal, QC H3C 3J7, Canada e-mail: patrick.hallenbeck@umontreal.ca

T. Keskin

Environmental Biotechnology and Bioenergy Laboratory, Bioengineering Department, Ege University, 35100 Bornova, Izmir, Turkey

Dark fermentation processes are well-known biohydrogen production methods. Acidogenic bacteria like *Enterobacter, Bacillus* and *Clostridium* are the main groups of hydrogen producing bacteria which convert organic substrates (e. g. glucose and sucrose) into soluble metabolites, i.e. volatile fatty acids (VFAs) and alcohols, as well as hydrogen. On the other hand dark fermentation by mixed anaerobic consortia is assumed to be more economical since this process does not incur sterilization costs, and hydrogen can be produced continuously since there is no direct light requirement. Proper pretreatment method allows the hydrogen producing species to dominate in the mixed culture, leading to utilization of carbohydrates with the formation of hydrogen and VFAs, as well as biomass, growth which lowers the experimental yields below theoretical values [4].

Photofermentation is hydrogen production from organic acids in the presence of photoheterotrophic bacteria under illumination with visible light. Purple non-sulfur bacteria are the main hydrogen producing organisms capable of photofermentation. The bottleneck of photofermentation systems is the source of organic acids used as substrate. Pure organic acids are too expensive for the practical sustainable production of hydrogen. Organic wastes can be inexpensive, but they are not pure and can have a variable composition, affecting systems operation. Organic wastes like starch and cellulose cannot be metabolized by photofermentative bacteria. Using dark fermentation as a first step to convert waste and complex products into organic acids, and then using the produced organic acids for photofermentation can increase the maximum yield of hydrogen production from 4 to 12 mol of H₂/mol glucose theoretically [5]. Dark fermentation is an incomplete oxidation of substrate, therefore converting the remaining organic acids by photofermentation can improve overall hydrogen yields. For an economically viable process, it is very important to combine dark fermentation with photofermentation to obtain high yields of hydrogen production.

10.2 Dark Fermentation

Hydrogen production by dark fermentation is achieved by strictly anaerobic or facultative anaerobic bacteria under anaerobic conditions. Hydrogen is an important compound for the metabolism of many anaerobic and a few aerobic microorganisms. Oxidation of hydrogen can be used by many organisms to drive energy generation. When external electron acceptors are absent, some organisms dispose of excess electrons generated during metabolism by reducing protons to hydrogen. Hydrogenase is the key enzyme for both situations. Ni–Fe hydrogenases and [FeFe] hydrogenases are the two main types of hydrogenases. They are phylogenetically distinct and contain different active sites. With some exceptions NiFe hydrogenases are active in proton reduction catalysis of hydrogen evolution depends upon the organism. For example for *Clostridia* types hydrogen evolution



Fig. 10.1 Carbon metabolism in dark fermentation

is catalyzed by soluble [FeFe] hydrogenase and for *Escherichia coli* is catalyzed by membrane bound NiFe hydrogenase [6].

Although in principle a variety of organic compounds; carbohydrates, proteins and lipids can be used for hydrogen production by dark fermentation, in reality hydrogen can only be obtained in practical yields by fermentation of carbohydrates. Amino acids, obtained by protein hydrolysis, are fermented by Strickland reactions where one amino acid serves as the electron acceptor for the oxidation of the second amino acid. These reactions generate energy for the microorganisms carrying them out, but they do not yield hydrogen. Lipids can be hydrolyzed to glycerol and long chain fatty acids which in turn can be further degraded to acetate and hydrogen by synthropic bacteria. However, these reactions only occur at extremely low partial pressures of hydrogen maintained by associated methanogenic or sulfate-reducing bacteria [6].

Thus, a practical process for producing hydrogen must rely on fermentation of sugars derived from carbohydrates. This process can be modeled by considering hydrogen production from glucose, a typical hexose derived from various residues and wastes. The degradation of glucose to acetate (Fig. 10.1) is generally taken into account to estimate the theoretical yields, or to describe the reaction steps. By using the conversion of glucose to produce hydrogen the reaction is (Eq. 10.1) [7]:

$$\begin{array}{l} C_{6}H_{12}O_{6} + 4H_{2}O \rightarrow 2 \ CH_{3}COO^{-} + 2HCO_{3}^{-} + 4H^{+} + 4H_{2} \\ \Delta G^{0} = -206.3 \text{kJ/mol} \end{array}$$
(10.1)

While in principle 4 mol of hydrogen can also be produced from glucose in two steps (Eqs. 10.2, 10.3) [7]:

Acetate reaction:

$$C_{6}H_{12}O_{6} + 2H_{2}O \rightarrow 2 CH_{3}COO^{-} + 2HCOO^{-} + 4H^{+} + 2H_{2}$$

$$\Delta G^{0} = -209.1 kJ/mol$$
(10.2)

$$2\text{HCOOH} \rightarrow 2\text{CO}_2 + 2\text{H}_2 \quad \Delta \text{G}^0 = -6\text{kJ/mol}$$
(10.3)

most organisms converting formate to hydrogen, giving 2 H_2 , are not capable of making hydrogen from NADH and thus are restricted to 2 H_2 /glucose.

Butyrate can also be an end product in anaerobic fermentation (Eq. 10.4) [7]:

$$\begin{array}{l} C_{6}H_{12}O_{6} + 2H_{2}O \rightarrow CH_{3}CH_{2}CH_{2}COO^{-} + 2HCO_{3}^{-} + 3H^{+} + 2H_{2} \\ \Delta G^{0} = -254.8 \text{kJ/mol} \end{array}$$
(10.4)

To metabolize glucose to pyruvate the Embden-Meyerhoff-Parnas (i.e. Glycolysis) or the Entner-Doudoroff pathways can be used [8]:

$$C_6H_{12}O_6 + 2NAD^+ \rightarrow 2 CH_3COCOO^- + 4H^+ + 2NADH$$

$$\Delta G^0 = -112.1 \text{ kJ/mol}$$
(10.5)

As seen in reaction (10.4) 1 mol glucose can produce 2 mol pyruvate and 2 mol NADH. The NADH produced during glucose metabolism can in principle be used to provide electrons to reduce H^+ to H_2 , but this reaction is thermodynamically unfavorable and hence cannot go to completion at high hydrogen partial pressures. A low NADH concentration, brought about by its oxidation during the production of other products; ethanol, lactate, butyrate, etc. is assumed by many researchers to result in low hydrogen yields.

The anaerobic metabolism of pyruvate formed during the catabolism of various substrates is the main reaction of hydrogen production. Two enzyme systems can catalyze the breakdown of pyruvate reactions (Eqs. 10.6, 10.7) [3]:

Pyruvate formate lyase:

Pyruvate + CoA
$$\leftrightarrow$$
 acetylCoA + formate $\Delta G^0 = -16.3$ kJ/mol (10.6)

This reaction is a typical example of an enteric type fermentation, the metabolism of *Enterobacter* species and *Escherchia coli*. Hydrogen production can become an advantage for the bacterium when the pH drops due to active metabolism which causes induction of the FHL and the conversion of formic acid to hydrogen to prevent further acidification [6]. Thus, 2 mol of hydrogen can be produced by one mole of glucose by facultative anaerobic microorganisms [9].

Pyruvate: ferredoxin oxido reductase (PFOR)

$$Pyruvate + CoA + Fd_{ox} \leftrightarrow acetylCoA + CO_2 + Fd_{red} \quad \Delta G^0 = -19.2 kJ/mol$$
(10.7)

This reaction is an example of H₂ production by strict anaerobes. *Clostridia* can convert pyruvate to acetyl-CoA and CO₂ producing reduced ferredoxin in a reaction catalyzed by the enzyme pyruvate:ferrodoxin oxidoreductase with ferredoxin as electron acceptor. This enzyme can be found in many strictly anaerobic bacteria as well as facultative bacteria and some cyanobacteria. The acetyl-CoA which is produced can be metabolized to produce acetate and butyrate. Reoxidation of ferredoxin results in the formation of hydrogen by hydrogenase (One H_2 per pyruvate). If acetate is the final product, one additional mole of hydrogen can be produced from the oxidation of each mole of NADH (NADH+ $H^+ \rightarrow NAD^+ + H_2$) that was produced during glycolysis, making the total hydrogen yield 4 mol H₂/ mol glucose. If the final product is butyrate, NADH produced from glycolysis will be used for oxidation of acetyl-CoA to butyrate, giving a hydrogen yield of 2 mol H_2 /mol glucose. These reactions are typical examples for *Clostridia* species [6, 7]. As a result of glucose fermentation, the generation of other products; propionate, succinate and lactate, can also occur besides acetate, butyrate and formate. Since their production is at the expense of hydrogen production, these metabolites are undesired by-products of dark fermentation.

10.2.1 Dark Fermentation with Pure Cultures

There are several types of microorganisms that can produce hydrogen by dark fermentation. Every organism has different requirements such as; substrate preference, pH and temperature. These parameters can greatly influence the hydrogen yield by affecting microbial metabolism. Fermentative hydrogen production by pure microorganisms has been studied by many researchers. Pure cultures have some advantages. In particular, they can be easily and reliably manipulated to determine the optimal growth conditions. However, there are some clear disadvantages to using pure cultures since they can easily be affected by contamination and therefore their use requires aseptic conditions which could greatly increase overall system costs [7]. Generally pure cultures used in dark fermentation can be divided into two general groups:

- 1. Anaerobic bacteria (e.g. Rumen bacteria, Clostridium and other Firmicutes)
- 2. Facultative anaerobic bacteria (e.g. *Escherichia coli, Enterobacter, Citrobacter*) [10].

Clostridium and *E. coli* are the two most widely used bacteria for two-stage hydrogen production. Various *Clostridium* species can produce hydrogen and *Clostridium butyricum*, a mesophilic and strict anaerobic bacteria, is perhaps the most commonly employed. As early as the 1960s, *Clostridium butyricum* and

Clostiridium welchii were reported to produce fermentative hydrogen in a 10 L fermenter by Magna Corporation [11]. As discussed above, the theoretical yield from glucose by *Clostridium butyricum* is 4 mol H₂/mol glucose. A few studies have reported yields of more than 2 mol H₂/mol glucose [12, 13], with the maximum yield of 3.26 mol H₂/mol glucose [14]. Hydrogen production from glucose using C. acetobutylicum [15], C. butyricum [16], C. paraputrificum [17] C. beijirincki AM21B [10], C. cellobioparum [18], C. pasteurianum [10] resulted between 0.42 and 2.73 mol H₂/mol glucose. Clostridium species can sporulate under the proper conditions and generally produce acetate and butyrate as by-products. It is important to adjust system operation conditions to avoid sporulation [19]. Although they are generally known as mesophilic microorganisms, some thermophilic species have been isolated and these are generally capable of higher hydrogen yields [20]. C. thermolacticum can use lactose to produce hydrogen with a yield of 1.5 mol H₂/mol lactose. C. thermoalcaliphilum [21], C. thermobutyricum [22] C. thermohydrosulphuricum [23], C. thermosaccharolyticum [24], C. thermosuccinogenes [25] are other thermophilic Clostridial species that have been used.

Enteric bacteria are generally not capable of metabolizing complex carbohydrates, but the necessary genes can be introduced [26]. *E. coli* is one of the most studied facultative anaerobes for hydrogen production, and has been subject to a variety of genetic engineering including mutagenesis and the introduction of foreign genes. Organisms have been genetically modified to consume pentoses, or to increase lactate and succinate activities [7]. *E. coli* has long been known to produce hydrogen under anaerobic conditions, but with low yields if there is a large amount of residual formate [27].

Enterobacter species are gram negative motile facultative anaerobes. Hydrogen production by this organism is influenced by many process parameters such as initial substrate concentration, initial medium pH, temperature and iron concentration. *Enterobacter aerogenes* HU-101 [28], immobilized *Enterobacter cloacae* IITBT08 [29], immobilized *Enterobacter cloacae* DM11 [30] gave 1.17, 2.3 and 3.8 mol H₂/mol glucose, respectively. Molasses has been used as carbon source to produce hydrogen by *Enterobacter aerogenes* with hydrogen yields between 0.52 and 2.2 mol H₂/mol sucrose [31, 32].

10.2.2 Dark Fermentation with Mixed Cultures

Hydrogen production by mixed (non-sterile) cultures would probably have lower production costs and in addition has many other advantages including continuous hydrogen production without light input, a large variety of carbon substrates, including organic wastewaters can be used as carbon sources, hydrogen can be produced at ambient temperatures, and sterile conditions are not required. Innocula of mixed anaerobic bacteria can be derived from a variety of sources including; sewage sludge, cattle dung compost, river sediment [19], anaerobically digested sludge, acclimated sludge and animal manure [7].

The presence of non-hydrogen producing organisms can be a disadvantage for a mixed culture since they can consume a proportion of the substrate and can also use H₂ as an electron donor. As well, the product of dissimulatory sulfate reduction, H₂S, can be a potential catalyst poison. Thus, the selection of hydrogen producing organisms can be very important for establishing efficient and clean hydrogen production. The ability of some hydrogen producing bacteria to form spores can be used as an advantage to eliminate non-spore forming methanogens using pre-treatment methods based on this ability. Using chemical inhibitors such as acid and base, or operating the continuous culture under low HRT (hydraulic retention time) and pH conditions can also eliminate methanogens. Nevertheless, heat treatment between 75 and 121°C is the mostly used method to select spore forming Clostridia. However, heat treatment can also eliminate non-spore forming H₂ producers such as *Enterobacter* species, and can select some spore forming hydrogen consumers like acetogens. As an alternative, hydrogen consumption can be reduced by sparging with N_2 or releasing the produced H_2 from the headspace [3].

Many studies have been conducted on dark fermentative hydrogen production by using mixed cultures. Generally these studies can be divided into three groups; batch, fed-batch and continuous cultures. Batch studies with a variety of mixed cultures have demonstrated reasonable hydrogen yields. A mixed culture carrying out fermentation of synthetic wastewaters gave a hydrogen yield of 2.48 mol H₂/mol glucose [33]. A mixture of aerobic and anaerobic sludges derived from lake mud was reported to give 1.4 mol H₂/mol glucose [34]. Sludges subjected to different pretreatments were effective in producing hydrogen; heat conditioned aerobic sludge, 2 mol H₂/mol glucose [35]; heat treated anaerobic sludge, 1.75 mol H₂/mol glucose [36]; acid treated anaerobic sludge, 1 mol H₂/mol glucose [37]; treated microflora from cow dung, 2.27 mol H₂/h TSS; heat shocked microflora from soil, 0.92 mol H₂/mol glucose [38]. Using sucrose as a carbon source with heat treated anaerobic sludge resulted in 1.9 and 3.4 mol H₂/mol sucrose in two different studies [39, 40]. Using glucose with heat treated anaerobic sludge resulted in hydrogen yields of 0.98 and 1 mol H₂/mol glucose [41, 42].

Fed-batch cultures can be useful for industrial processes since this mode of operation can help prevent product inhibition. Therefore, fed-batch operation could show improved yields over batch cultures since it could prevent the pH drop associated with accumulation of volatile fatty acids. Fed-batch cultures have successfully been employed in a number of studies; olive mill wastewater was treated by a mixed culture and gave 14.7 mmol H₂/gVSS degraded [43], it was also used for hydrogen production (17.82 mmol H₂/l-reactor-h) using anaerobic POME sludge [44], and a mixed culture from windrow yard compost gave 7.44 mmol H₂/L-reactor-h from glucose [45].

However, using continuous cultures may have important advantages for industrial applications. CSTR (continuously stirred tank reactor) and UASB (upflow anaerobic sludge blanket) reactors are the two main types of continuous



Fig. 10.2 Dark fermentation system

reactors that have been used for hydrogen production. Glucose has been widely used as substrate for dark fermentative hydrogen production by mixed cultures in continuously operated CSTRs. Different studies have reported hydrogen yields between 1.1 and 1.9 mol H₂/mol glucose [42, 46–48]. Similarly, using pure sucrose in CSTRs gave yields of 3.3 and 3.6 mol H₂/mol sucrose [49–51]. However, the main disadvantage of these suspended culture systems is cell washout at high dilution rates. Therefore, immobilized systems have been developed which not only prevent washout of cells, but also improve production rates since higher biomass concentrations are possible. Various techniques are possible, including the use of inert supports and self-immobilization. Cultures immobilized on activated carbon using sucrose as a sole carbon source gave 0.24–6.08 l H₂/g VSS/h [52] or yields of 0.57 and 1.59 mol H₂/mol sucrose [52, 53]. Granules formed by self-immobilization resulted in 0.86–2.2 mol H₂/mol glucose in different studies [54–58]. Other studies using mixed cultures in UASB reactors gave hydrogen yields between 0.84 and 2.47 mol H₂/mol glucose [57, 59–61].

10.2.3 Substrates for Dark Fermentation

A wide range of different organic substrates can be used for biohydrogen production by dark fermentation. As noted above, carbohydrates are the most suitable, and thus the most studied carbon sources, since they have a hydrogen production potential 20 times higher than with fat and proteins [62]. Biodegradability, availability, cost and carbohydrate content are the most important factors for selection of substrates for hydrogen production. Glucose, sucrose and lactose are the most widely studied simple sugars. Carbohydrate-rich substrates undergoing dark fermentation by mixed anaerobic bacteria produce H_2 , CO_2 and organic acids (Fig. 10.2).

Pure mono and disaccharides are mostly used for dark fermentation with pure cultures. Dark fermentative hydrogen production from glucose with different pure cultures has given different hydrogen yields; *Enterobacter cloacae* 2.2 mol H₂/mol [63]; *Clostridium beijerinckii* 2.4 mol H₂/mol [64]; *Thermoanaerobacterium*

thermosaccharolyticum 2.42 mol H₂/mol [65]; *Pantoea agglomerans*, 1.6 mol H₂/mol [66]; *Escherichia coli* 0.23 mol H₂/mol [67]; *Caldicellulosiruptor saccharolyticus* 3.6 mol H₂/mol [68]. Dark fermentative hydrogen production from glucose with mixed cultures resulted in yields between 1.70 and 2.75 mol H₂/mol glucose [69–72]. Sucrose is another widely used pure substrate. Hydrogen yields from sucrose have been examined with pure cultures: *Clostridium butyricum* 0.5 mol H₂/mol [73]; *Thermoanaerobacterium thermosaccharolyticum* 1.89 mol H₂/mol [74]. Using mixed cultures to produce hydrogen from sucrose resulted in yields between 0.87 and 1.72 mol H₂/mol [69, 75].

Pure substrates are not an effective approach for large-scale applications. Instead, using a waste or wastewater which has a high organic content will create a win–win solution, reducing wastewater disposal costs at the same time as creating an energy source, hydrogen, in a cost effective manner. In addition to various residues and wastes, energy crops can be a very good substrate option for dark fermentative hydrogen production. Among the different types of crops; sugar, starch, lignocellulosic based, the first two groups have been more widely used. The use of different kinds of energy crops resulted in different hydrogen yields; wheat starch 1.9 mol H₂/mol glucose [76]; sweet sorghum plant 0.86 mol H₂/mol glucose [77]; starch from paper mill 1.5 mol H₂/mol glucose [46]; molasses 3.47 mol H₂/mol glucose [78]. Some types of energy crops, especially lignocellulosic based, need pre-treatment before use for hydrogen production, increasing the process costs.

As well, various types of wastes and wastewaters have been used as substrates for dark fermentative hydrogen production with different hydrogen yields such as: sugar factory wastewater; 2.6 mol H₂/mol hexose [79]; olive mill wastewater, 0.15 ml H₂/ml OMW [4]; rice winery wastewater, 2.14 mol H₂/mol hexose [80]; food waste, 1.8 mol H₂/mol hexose [81]; cheese whey, 5.9 mol H₂/mol lactose, 0.9 mol H₂/mol hexose, 22 mmol H₂/g COD, 10 mM/gCOD [82–86]. In these cases, high yields of hydrogen production by microbial processes can be achieved without any pretreatment. However, in most cases dilution is necessary to lower organic loading, and to prevent possible toxic effects of the substrate on the bacteria. In general, wastes can include a variety of organic and inorganic chemicals, some of which can be inhibitory for hydrogen production. Therefore, it is important to know the composition of the wastewater before using it as a substrate.

10.2.4 Factors Influencing Dark Fermentation

For industrial applications, hydrogen production rates and yields need to be maximized, and at the same time, energy inputs need to be kept low. Optimizing reactor configuration is therefore an important consideration for developing a fermentative hydrogen production process. For practical dark fermentative hydrogen production, it is likely that large-scale reactors would be required, however it can be hard to adequately control all the operational parameters at this scale. Therefore, before proceeding to large-scale applications, it would be important to define the minimum requirements of the system at lab scale followed by application at pilot scale before proceeding to full scale-up.

10.2.5 Pre-treatment of Mixed Culture

A practical source of mixed cultures can easily be obtained from industrial wastewater treatment plants since they are non-sterile. However, this provides a very complex microbial community which includes together hydrogen producing and hydrogen consuming bacteria. Therefore, it is important to select a proper pretreatment method that will adequately select for the hydrogen producers and reduce or eliminate the hydrogen consumers. It is not usually possible to produce hydrogen by using typical anaerobic sludge because in anaerobic digesters hydrogen serves merely as a transitory intermediate, being almost immediately consumed in a CH₄ producing reaction. By using the physiological differences between the cultures using pretreatment can eliminate competing organisms from the system. The successful application of various pretreatment methods; heat shock, chemical, acid, alkaline, ultrasonic, etc. has been reported. Each method has its own efficiency according to its composition. Combinations of different methods can also be used. Therefore, since the mixed culture does not have the same nature before using it for dark fermentative hydrogen production it is important to select the best suitable pre-treatment according to process efficiency and economical considerations [87].

10.2.6 pH and Temperature

pH is the one of the most important factors that should be optimized for dark fermentative hydrogen production. It can affect the hydrogen production yields and also by-product formations. For dark fermentative hydrogen production optimum pH values are said to be between 5 and 6. It is important to stabilize the pH in the system because the acetic and butyric acids produced during hydrogen production will lower the pH to inhibitory acidic values. Since acid and base treatments are the kinds of pre-treatment operations pH changes in the system can change the microbial community too. Before starting continuous or large-scale applications it would be useful to determine the best pH value of the system in small-scale batch experiments [88].

Temperature can affect both microbial community and hydrogen production. Many of the studies on dark fermentative hydrogen production were conducted at mesophilic temperatures but some studies have shown that hydrogen production rates can be higher at thermophilic conditions. But from the view of economical costs thermophilic operation may not be an economically viable solution.

10.2.7 Partial Pressure of Produced Hydrogen

Partial pressure of the produced hydrogen is one of the important factors affecting the hydrogen yields. When converting reduced components such as the long chain fatty acids into hydrogen and volatile fatty acids the positive Gibbs free energy makes the system thermodynamically unfavorable. Also positive Gibbs free energy results from the conversion of acetate to hydrogen again making the system unfavorable (Eqs. 10.8, 10.9). So the system becomes extremely sensitive to biohydrogen formation.

 $n(LCFA) \rightarrow (n-2)LCFA + 2 Acetate + 2 H_2 \quad \Delta G^{\circ} = +48kJ/mol$ (10.8)

$$CH_3COOH + 2H_2O \rightarrow 4 H_2 + CO_2 \quad \Delta G^0 = +104.6 kJ/mol$$
(10.9)

Gas sparging can be a good solution for removing the produced hydrogen from the system but for large-scale operations this will raise the process costs. So researchers are working on membrane technologies which are a more efficient and cost effective solution for hydrogen removal from the gas mixture. But after a while on membrane surface biofilm formation could occur and this can favor the methanogens' activity. Therefore, it is very important to find a technique to purify the hydrogen and to use it directly in fuel cell systems [88].

10.2.8 Reactor Configuration

Reactor configuration and its operation mode are the main parameters that can affect the overall hydrogen production in dark fermentative systems. Reactor configuration is very important for microenvironment, microbial population, hydrodynamic behavior, etc. To date many of the laboratory scale dark fermentative experiments were in batch mode because it can be easily operated and flexible. But for industrial applications, it is important to operate the reactor continuously to keep continuous usage of the industrial waste and wastewater in accordance with continuous hydrogen production. Many of the studies were done by using continuous stirred tank reactor (CSTR). Suspended cell culture systems are advantageous because of the good mass transfer between microorganisms and substrates. But the disadvantage is the wash-out of cells at low hydraulic retention time conditions. Immobilization is an important technique to improve the system performance for continuous systems. Immobilization techniques can generally be divided into three main categories; adsorption (biofilm formation), encapsulation and entrapment. It is important to select an economical and durable method. Every immobilization technique and each material have their own advantages and disadvantages [89]. It is shown that immobilization can increase the system performance of dark fermentative hydrogen production [90]. For different immobilization techniques (attachment, granulation, flocculation and entrapment) ranging from 0.93 to 7.33 l/l/h at low HRT values between 0.5 h and 4 h. is achieved where suspended systems give hydrogen production rates of 0.15–0.58 l/l/h at 6 h HRT, demonstrating that immobilization of microorganisms can greatly increase reactor performance and biomass retention [91, 92].

10.3 Photofermentation

Purple non-sulfur (PNS) photosynthetic bacteria are a physiological group of different kinds of gram negative aquatic bacteria. They are considered to be as old as the first photototrophic organisms on our planet. The common characteristics of this group are their ability to perform an anaerobic type of photosynthesis without the production of oxygen. Depending on the degree of anaerobiosis, and availability of carbon and light source they can grow as photoheterotrophs, photoautotrophos or chemoheterotrophs. Because they do not use hydrogen sulfide as electron donor while growing photoautotrophically they are called purple nonsulfur bacteria. While growing facultative anaerobically they give purple to deep red pigments. Under photoheterotrophic conditions (light, anaerobiosis, organic electron donor) they can produce hydrogen. The mostly studied species are the members of Rhodobacter, Rhodopseudomonas and Rhodospirillum [93]. The enzyme systems, the carbon flow (specially TCA cycle) and photosynthetic membrane apparatus make up the overall production of hydrogen by interconnecting the exchange of electrons, protons and ATP [94]. Because of the reasons like; high substrate/product conversion yields, lack of oxygen evolving activity, a wide range of light can be used and different kinds of organic substrates can be used; photofermentative hydrogen production has been an interest of many researchers [93]. Because of not producing hydrogen during photosynthesis in anaerobic conditions both nitrogenase and hydrogenase in bacterial membrane are active. Hydrogen production is mainly associated with nitrogenase action (Fig. 10.3).

These nitrogen-fixing bacteria can utilize the enzyme nitrogenase to catalyze the reduction of molecular nitrogen (N_2) to ammonia (NH_3) while producing hydrogen. Mo-nitrogenase is the most common and the most efficient nitrogenase for converting N_2 to NH_3 (Eqs. 10.1–10.3). It is also found in all nitrogen-fixing bacteria and is thus the most studied [95]. Three different kinds of nitrogenase and the reactions are:



Fig. 10.3 Photofermentation system

Mo - nitrogenase: $N_2 + 8H^+ + 8e^- + 16ATP \rightarrow 2NH_3 + H_2 + 16ADP + 16Pi$ (10.10)

V - nitrogenase: N₂ + 12H⁺ + 12e⁻ + 24ATP \rightarrow 2NH₃ + 3H₂ + 24ADP + 24Pi (10.11)

Fe - nitrogenase: N_2 + 24H^+ + 24e^- + 48ATP \rightarrow 2NH₃ + 9H₂ + 48ADP + 48Pi (10.12)

In the absence of molecular nitrogen this enzyme catalyzes the hydrogen production with the reaction below (Eq. 3.4) [94]:

$$2\mathrm{H}^{+} + 2\mathrm{e}^{-} + 4\mathrm{ATP} \rightarrow \mathrm{H}_{2} + 4\mathrm{ADP} + 4\mathrm{Pi}$$
(10.13)

For efficient operation of nitrogenase large amounts of ATP and reducing power are needed. Oxygen is a potent inhibitor of nitrogenase that can destroy the enzyme irreversibly. Ammonium is a second important inhibitor because it can repress the synthesis of nitrogenase and can inhibit nitrogenase activity. The inhibition is reversible because nitrogenase can recover activity after consuming or removing ammonium [96].

Hydrogenase enzyme is a common feature of photosynthetic bacteria and it can be responsible for both hydrogen production and consumption. Because hydrogen production is by nitrogenase hydrogen producing activity by hydrogenase can be ignored. Studies have shown that hydrogen producing activity of hydrogenase is less than hydrogen consuming activity [97, 98]. Hydrogenase is generally accepted as a metabolic antagonist of nitrogenase. Since it is very critical to eliminate the hydrogen uptake property of hydrogenase studies on mutations on organisms to eliminate hydrogenase synthesis have been reported. Hup-mutants have been found to have more hydrogen production capacity [99–101]. Another way is to make inhibitions chemically, using carbon monoxide or oxygen, limiting the amount of nickel since hydrogenases are nickel enzymes [102] and finally the presence of ethylendiamintetraacetic acid (EDTA) is known to inhibit hydrogenase activity [101, 102]. For reducing $2H^+$ to H_2 nitrogenase re-oxidizes electron carriers and also another reductive process can compete with hydrogen production. A good and common example is the formation of the carbon storage polymer poly- β -hydroxybutyrate (PHB) from acetate [103].

$$9nCH_3COOH \rightarrow 4(CH_3CH_2CHOO^-)_n + 2nCO_2 + 6nH_2O$$
(10.14)

10.3.1 Substrates for Photofermentation

PNS bacteria can use a wide variety of substrates as carbon and nitrogen sources. Different kinds of strains can have different pathways for using substrates to produce hydrogen. Lactate, acetate, butyrate, propionate and succinate are the mostly known simple organic molecules that serve as suitable electron donors.

Glucose can be used as substrate for photofermentative hydrogen production. Photofermentation by Rhodobacter sphaeroides; Rhodobacter capsulatus from glucose achieved rates of 250 and 88 ml/g/h hydrogen, respectively [104, 105]. Using sucrose as the sole carbon source for *Rhodobacter capsulatus* resulted in 60 ml/g/h hydrogen yield [105]. Lactate and malate are the most studied carbon sources for photofermentative hydrogen production [106]. These two substrates are known as the best carbon sources for PNS bacteria for hydrogen production. By using Rhodobacter sphaeroides as bacterium and lactate as carbon source hydrogen rates varying between 16.7 and 240 ml/l/h have been reported in different batch reactor studies [107-110]. Rhodobacter capsulatus can metabolize lactate to hydrogen at rates of 105 and 130 ml/g/h [106, 111]. Rhodopseudomonas palustris and Rhodobacter rubrum can metabolize the lactate with hydrogen production rates of 82.7 and 20 ml/l/h, respectively [112, 113]. Malate is another important carbon source for PNS bacteria. Studies have shown that up to 58 ml/l/h hydrogen rates can be achieved by using different PNS bacteria [107, 112]. Since PNS bacteria can use volatile fatty acids produced in dark fermentation, acetate, butyrate or mixtures of different organic acids were used as carbon sources in different studies. Hydrogen rates changing between 1.6 and 26 ml/l/h were obtained with mainly Rhodobacter capsulatus and Rhodobacter palustris [99, 114].

Non-sulfur photo-heterotrophic bacteria are known to be very effective biocatalysts for hydrogen production from food, alcohol distilling or sugar industry wastewaters. Environmental benefits could be gained by using wastewaters as substrates. While using the wastewater as a substrate for photofermentative hydrogen production it is necessary to choose a proper pre-treatment that will not damage the main substrate component by sterilization.

Dairy wastewaters can be a good candidate for biohydrogen production with a yield of $3.6 \ H_2/l$ -reactor [115]. Since brewery wastewaters contain useful compounds like amino acids, proteins, organic acids, sugar as well as vitamins they can

be assumed as useful substrates for hydrogen production. By using *Rhodobacter* sphaeroides 2.24 1 H₂/l medium hydrogen rate was reported. The best hydrogen production is achieved by *R. sphaeroides* RV with a yield of 1.23 mol H₂/mol glucose from ground wheat [116]. From crude glycerol by *Rhodopseudomonas* palustris 6 mol of H₂/mol glycerol can be produced [117]. In addition, photofermentation of glycerol should be used as substrate in a continuous process [117]. Olive mill effluent (OME) with a high content of sugar, volatile fatty acids, polyalcohols and fats and an advantage of low nitrogen content can give a rate of 0.009 1 H₂/l/h by photofermentation with *Rhodobacter sphaeroides* [118]. It can be easily seen that PNS bacteria are capable of efficient conversion of organic acids to H₂. Using the industrial wastewater with proper modifications of the system can be an ecologically viable solution. Most PNS bacteria cannot metabolize sugar totally but they can metabolize organic acid easily which can be a good solution for dark fermentation end products.

10.3.2 Factors Influencing Photofermentation

Hydrogen production with large-scale reactors is the main aim of many researchers. Before scale-up operations, it is very important to understand the process and the factors effecting the process clearly. The process parameters that can affect the photofermentative hydrogen production are discussed below.

10.3.3 C/N Ratio

Maximizing hydrogen production yields greatly depends on the carbon source used. Lactic acid and malic acid seem to be the most suitable organic acids. Since nitrogenase is very important for effective hydrogen production the ratio of carbon to nitrogen should be adjusted carefully. Different *Rhodobacter* species have different capacities to metabolize carbon and nitrogen sources. Photofermentative hydrogen production by *Rhodobacter capsulatus* from acetate as carbon source and glutamate as nitrogen source gave the best result with C/N ratio of 35 as 1.36 mg/l/h hydrogen productivity [119]. For *Rhodobacter sphaeroides* 15 mM malic acid and 2 mM glutamic acid (C/N ratio of 33) resulted with best hydrogen production rate of 10 ml/l/h [120].

Nitrogen source is a very important concern for photofermentative hydrogen production. Among tested 19 amino acids as N source for *Rhodobacter capsulatus* glutamate, serine and alanine gave the best results but glutamate is accepted as the more common nitrogen source and higher concentrations of $\rm NH_4^+$ can inhibit the nitrogenase activity [105].

10.3.4 Inoculum Age

It is very important to use the bacteria at the early stationary phase for more hydrogen productivity [121]. After long retention times in the growth media the PNS bacteria are known to change the direction of metabolic pathway toward producing PHB [122]. At optimum conditions of growth medium microorganisms can produce more insoluble polymers that can be oxidized to generate ATP.

10.3.5 Light Source and Light Intensity

Florescent lamps, halogen lamps, optical fibers, neon tubes, light emitting diodes all giving photosynthetically active radiation (PAR) are possible artificial light sources for photofermentation. One of the main important parameters deciding system productivity is the light conversion efficiency (η):

$$\eta = \frac{\left\lfloor 33.61 + \rho_{\mathrm{H}_2} \times V_{\mathrm{H}_2} \right\rfloor}{\mathrm{I} \times \mathrm{A} \times \mathrm{t}} \times 100$$

where $V_{\rm H2}$ is the volume of the produced H₂ in l, $\rho_{\rm H2}$ is the density of the produced hydrogen gas in g/l, I is the light intensity in W/m², A is the irradiated area in m² and t is the duration of hydrogen production in hours [94]. The light conversion efficiencies depend on the strain and the substrate used. Generally varying between 1 and 6% but a 9.23% light conversion efficiency was achieved by Rhodobacter sphaeroides using lactate as carbon source and a tungsten lamp with a light intensity of 200 W/m^2 [123]. The photobioreactor can use the sunlight alone or it can be combined with artificial lights. Light intensity may be measured by either W/m^2 or lux. The conversion between these two units depends on the wavelength but it can be assumed as 1 W/m^2 is equal to 30-100 lux [5]. For photofermentation experiments it is important to decide the best light intensity value before starting the large-scale experiments. Especially in large-scale application the shading effect of organisms could affect the system performance. At this point internal illumination could be a good option. Different kinds of light sources were combined in terms of increasing the hydrogen productivity and the photobioreactor was illuminated by combining light sources, including an internal illumination with optical fiber excited by solar energy (OF(sunlight)) as well as external irradiation of tungsten filament lamp (TL). A 138 and 136% increase in cumulative hydrogen production achieved by combination of OF (sunlight)/TL was found to be more effective than TL/TL combination [14].

10.3.6 pH and Temperature

Since they can affect the metabolic pathways of microorganisms pH and temperature are very important factors affecting photofermentative hydrogen production. Controlling the temperature and pH values during the operation could increase the system performance greatly. The suitable pH values vary between 6.8 and 9 and temperature values vary between 30 and 40°C depending on the strain [5].

10.3.7 Reactor Configuration

First important design parameter of a bioreactor for use in photofermentative hydrogen production is whether to process as batch or continuous. For batch operation it is easy to control the reactor parameters and it is useful for comparative studies while determining the operational parameters. It is practical to make a guess of the microorganisms phase. For batch cultures hydrogen production will go on until the microorganisms reach stationary phase but with continuous cultures it is possible to keep them at exponential phase by adjusting proper hydraulic retention times. There are many studies conducted on continuous production of hydrogen with *Rhodobacter sphaeroides* [124], *Rhodospirillum rubrum* [125] and *Rhodobacter capsulatus* [126]. The hydrogen production rates obtained in batch cultures can be increased by using continuous cultures.

Another important point is to decide the most suitable reactor configuration. Various strategies were applied to enhance the reaction rate of photohydrogen production. Combining light receiving face and reflection sheet to transfer light sources can increase the light energy conversion efficiency, decrease light energy loss, and concentric glass cylinders and the incandescent lamps could directly be placed into a reactor; for improving continuous operation, continuous flow photobioreactor can be combined with hollow fiber and sunlight collecting system can be added to the system which already includes halogen lamp system. The aim of these configurations is to increase the illumination area of the active microorganisms thereby increasing the performance of the reactor [14].

The best way to prevent cell wash out from continuous culture systems at low hydraulic retention times is immobilization. *Rhodobacter sphaeroides* gave the hydrogen yield of 9.3–13.2 mmol H₂/mmol benzoate [127]; entrapment of *Rho-dopseudomonas palustris* in polyvinyl alcohol-124 (PVA) and carregenan powder resulted in 3.59 mol H₂/mol glucose and continuous operation lasted for 3 months [128]. Biofilm formation is another important technique for biohydrosgen production. Biofilm formation on glass beads [129]; glass slides [130] and porous glass [131] gave good yields of hydrogen production rates up to 11.2 mmol/m²/h. Continuous operation is very important to increase the yields of photofermentative hydrogen production and by choosing the right immobilization technique and the

best reactor configuration process economic costs can be kept to a minimum, an important consideration for large scale applications.

10.4 Two-Stage Systems

Complete degradation of 1 mol of glucose can yield a 12 mol of hydrogen by combining fermentation and photofermentation in a two stage system. According to the Gibbs free energy of this reaction, complete oxidation of glucose into hydrogen and carbon dioxide is not feasible thermodynamically (Eq. 10.15).

$$C_6H_{12}O_6 + 6H_2O \rightarrow 12H_2 + 6CO_2 \quad \Delta G^0 = +3.2 \text{ kJ/mol}$$
 (10.15)

Photon energy in photofermentation can be a useful external energy supply to reach the theoretical values of conversion. To achieve this, external light source is needed. In the case that an external light source cannot be applied and with only dark fermentation process by glucose consumption maximum 4 mol of hydrogen with acetate as a by-product will be produced (Eq. 10.1)

The by-product of dark fermentation stage acetate can be oxidized by photosynthetic bacteria to produce hydrogen energy and to complete the oxidation of glucose totally into H_2 and CO_2 (Eq. 10.16).

$$CH_{3}COOH + 2H_{2}O + \text{`elight energy'} \rightarrow 4H_{2} + 2CO_{2} \quad \Delta G^{0} = +104 \text{ kJ/mol}$$
(10.16)

Integrating the photofermentation with dark fermentation process (Fig. 10.4) can result as the maximum yield of hydrogen production [67].

There are some studies reported about two-stage systems that are a combination of dark fermentation step with pure cultures and photofermentation step. The combination of dark fermentation and photofermentation steps with pure cultures like *Caldicellulusiruptor saccharolyticus* and *Rhodobacter capsulatus*, *Rhodobacter capsulatus* hup mutant and *Rhodopseudomonas palustris* [132] to produce hydrogen from beet molasses; *Caldicellulusiruptor saccharolyticus* and *Rhodobacter capsulatus* to produce hydrogen from glucose, potato steam peels and molasses [119]; *Clostridium butyricum* and *Rhodopseudomonas palustris* to produce hydrogen from glucose [133], *Clostiridium pasterianum* and *Rhodopseudomonas palustris* from sucrose [134], *Clostridium saccharoperbutylacetonicum* and *Rhodobacter sphaeroides* from glucose [135] resulted in higher hydrogen production values in comparison with single systems.

Glucose and the sucrose are the most studied organic substrates for hydrogen production by two-stage systems. Using the glucose in a dark fermentation process with mixed anaerobic bacteria 1.36 mol H_2 /mol hexose yield achieved. By using the effluents of this system which includes mainly acetate, propionate and butyrate in a photobioreactor inoculated by *Rhodopseudomonas capsulatus* the overall yield increased to 4.46 mol H_2 /mol hexose [81]. Cattle dung batch at 38°C was



Fig. 10.4 Two-stage system

used as inoculum in the dark fermentation stage to produce hydrogen from sucrose and 1.29 mol H_2 /mol hexose, hydrogen yields are achieved. Using the effluents of first stage in photofermentation stage by *Rhodobacter sphaeroides* increased the overall yield to 3.32 mol H_2 /mol hexose [136].

One of the main advantages of two-stage systems is the usability of organic wastes and wastewaters. Carbohydrate-rich raw materials, especially starch and cellulose containing renewable biomass resources, are used in many studies of two-stage systems. After hydrolyzing by acidic or enzymatic pre-treatment methods wheat starch becomes a suitable substrate for two-stage systems [137]. After dark fermentation with anaerobic sludge a concentration of 1950 mg/l volatile fatty acids was produced. By using the produced volatile fatty acids 27 ml H₂/ l/day hydrogen production rate was achieved at 72 h HRT with a PC controlled fermenter by R. sphaeroides (NRRL- B1727) [138]. For using wheat powder as a carbon source it is important to keep the concentrations at low levels to prevent the system from substrate inhibition [137]. A two-stage system is used with mixed bacterial cultures in dark fermentation and Rhodopseudomonas palustris in photofermentation to produce hydrogen from cassava. Cassava has a high content of 15-20% starch and 4-6% free sugar and it is a low cost biomass. It is a good source for biohydrogen production of 6.07 mol H_2 /mol hexose totally which was 2.53 mol H₂/mol hexose after dark fermentation step [1]. Pre-treating the cassava starch by hydrolyzing with amylase and glucoamylase could increase the hydrogen production rates from 84.4 to 172 and 262 mlH₂/h, respectively. The overall hydrogen yields were improved from 240 ml H_2/g starch by dark fermentation to 402 ml H_2/g starch by adding the photofermentation to the system [8] which shows that hydrogen production from cassava starch using a combination of dark fermentation and photofermentation is feasible. While using agricultural wastes as a carbon source it is important to choose the best pre-treatment option from the view of both system efficiencies and overall costs of the system. Acid pretreatment is decided to be the best option for corncob which is a cellulose-rich waste used to obtain biohydrogen. It is found that by dark fermentation of corncob with anaerobic mixed culture 120 mL H₂/g corncob and using the effluents of dark

fermentation in photofermentation resulted in 713 ml H₂/g COD [139]. With a high content of carbohydrates sugar beet molasses is another good candidate for biohydrogen production by two-stage systems. With a low nitrogen content olive mill effluent (OME) is a good source for photofermentation but the dark color of color affects the light penetration negatively. Because of the high organic content and dark color of OME combining the system with dark fermentation could improve the overall yields. Treating the OME with active sludge cultures in dark fermentation step and using the effluents of this process in photofermentation step by *R. sphaeroides O.U.001* resulted in 29 1 H₂/l OME hydrogen production [140]. The main wastewater of the cheese processing industry, cheese whey wastewater is used as carbon source in a two-stage system which is a combination of dark fermentation with anaerobic mixed sludge and photofermentation with Rhodopseudomonas palustris. Diluting the wastewater by 1/5 ratio with malic acid gave the highest yield of 349 ml H₂/g COD [85]. Potato homogenate (PH) is utilized in an integrated study by combining dark and photofermentation sequentially. Dark fermentation was conducted by anaerobic mixed bacteria obtained from silo pit liquid and resulted as 0.7 mol H₂/mol glucose and 350 mM VFA production with a concentration of 400 g/l medium. High fermentation effluents concentration negatively affected the performance of photofermentation therefore diluted effluents were used with supplementation of Fe/Mg/phosphate. By using Rhodobacter capsulatus 4.9 mol H₂/mol glucose hydrogen yields were achieved by using 5% fermentation effluent [141].

10.5 Conclusion

Producing hydrogen by biological methods have some advantages compared to chemical and physical methods such as; possibility to use sunlight and organic wastes as substrates which help environmental conversions and use of moderate conditions like room temperature which is very economical compared with systems that need high energy. By combining the systems the individual problems of the systems can be solved and the overall performance can be improved. Combining dark and photofermentation is one of the most promising technologies for biological hydrogen production. This type of combinations can be operated in continuous mode for several days. It can be easily seen that the performance of the integrated systems is more than the individual systems. Moreover integration of dark and photofermentation could be an economical solution in terms of waste reduction. Taking into account all the system requirements and deciding the best reactor configurations hydrogen production yields can be improved effectively. While using the dark fermenter effluents for photofermentative hydrogen composition it is important to adjust the composition for best biomass growth therefore biohydrogen production. Treating the highly concentrated wastes within the dark fermentation step by mixed anaerobic cultures which are already modified from wastewater treatment systems without sterilization then using the organic acids produced in photofermentation process is a very effective way of biohydrogen production

Acknowledgments Biofuels research in the laboratory of PCH is supported by FQRNT (Le Fonds québécois de la recherche sur la nature et les technologies), Tugba Keskin thanks the TUBITAK DB-2214 (Turkey) for support.

References

- Chen CY, Yeh KL, Lo YC, Wang HM, Chang JS (2010) Engineering strategies for the enhanced photo H2 production using effluents of dark fermentation processes as substrate. Int J Hydrogen Energy 35:13356–13364. doi:10.1016/j.ijhydene.2009.11.070
- 2. Vijayaraghavan K, Mohd A (2006) Trends in biological hydrogen production—a review. Environ Sci 3(4):255–271. doi:10.1016/j.ijhydene.2004.10.007
- Redwood MD, Paterson-Beedle M, Macaskie LE (2009) Integrating dark and light biohydrogen production strategies: towards the hydrogen economy. Rev Environ Sci Biotechnol 8:149–185. doi:10.1007/s11157-008-9144-9
- Ntaikou I, Kourmentza C, Koutrouli E, Stamatelatou K, Zampraka A, Kornaros M, Lyberatos G (2009) Exploitation of olive oil mill wastewater for combined bio-hydrogen and bio-polymers production. Bioresour Technol 100:3724–3730. doi:10.1016/ j.biortech.2008.12.001
- 5. Li RY, Fang HHP (2009) Heterotrophic Photo Fermentative Hydrogen Production. Crit Rew Env Sci Tech 39(12):1081–1108. doi:10.1080/10643380802009835
- 6. Hallenbeck PC (2009) Fermentative hydrogen production: principles, progress, and prognosis. Int J Hydrogen Energy 34:7379–7389. doi:10.1016/j.ijhydene.2008.12.080
- Ntaikou I, Antonopoulou G, Lyberatos G (2010) Biohydrogen production from biomass and wastes via dark fermentation: a review. Waste Biomass Valor 1:21–39. doi:10.1007/s12649-009-9001-2
- Su H, Cheng J, Zhou J, Song W, Cen K (2009) Combination of dark and photo-fermentation to enhance hydrogen production and energy conversion efficiency. Int J Hydrogen Energy 34:8846–8853. doi:10.1016/j.ijhydene.2009.09.001
- Manish S, Banerje R (2008) Comparison of biohydrogen production processes. Int J Hydrogen Energy 33:279–286. doi:10.1016/j.ijhydene.2007.07.026
- Nandi R, Sengupta S (1998) Microbial production of hydrogen: an overview. Critical Rev Microbiol 24(1):61–84. doi:10.1080/10408419891294181
- 11. May PS, Blanchard GC, Foley RT (1964) Biochemical hydrogen generators: 18th Annual proceedings power sources conferences. May 19–21
- Collet C, Adler N, Schwitzguebel J-P, Peringer P (2004) Hydrogen production by Clostridium thermolactum during continuous fermentation of lactose. Int J Hydrogen Energy 29:1479–1485. doi:10.1016/j.ijhydene.2004.02.009
- Ferchichi M, Crabbe E, Hintz W, Gil GH, Almadidy A (2005) Influence of culture parameters on biological hydrogen production by Clostridium saccharoperbutylacetonicum ATCC 27021. World J Microbiol Biotechnol 21(6–7):855–862. doi:10.1007/s11274-004-5972-0
- 14. Chen CY, Chang JS (2006) Enhancing phototropic hydrogen production by solid-carrier assisted fermentation and internal optical-fiber illumination. Process Biochem 41:2041–2049. doi:10.1016/j.procbio.2006.05.005
- Saint-Amans S, Girbal L, Andrade J, Ahrens K, Soucaille P (2001) Regulation of carbon and electron flow in Clostridium butyricum VPI 3266 grown on glucose–glycerol mixtures. J Bacteriol 183(5):1748–1754

- Van Andel JG, Zoutberg GR, Crabbendam PM, Breure AM (1985) Glucose fermentation by *Clostridium butyricum* grown under a self generated gas atmosphere in chemostat culture. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 23:21–26. doi:10.1007/BF02660113
- Evvyernie D, Morimoto K, Karita S, Kimura T, Sakka K, Ohmiya K (2001) Conversion of chitinous wastes to hydrogen gas by *Clostridium paraputrificum* M-21. J Biosci Bioeng 91(4):339–343. doi:10.1016/S1389-1723(01)80148-1
- Chung KT (1976) Inhibitory effects of H₂ on growth of *Clostridium cellobioparum*. Appl Environ Microbiol 31(3):342–348
- Hawkes FR, Dinsdale R, Hawkes DL, Hussy I (2002) Sustainable fermentative hydrogen production: challenges for process optimisation. Int J Hydrogen Energy 27:1339–1347. doi:10.1016/S0360-3199(02)00090-3
- Hallenbeck PC (2005) Fundamentals of the fermentative production of hydrogen. Water Sci Technol 52(1-2):21-29
- 21. Li YH, Engle M, Weiss N, Mandelco L, Wiegel J (1994) *Clostridium thermoalcaliphilum* sp. nov., an anaerobic and thermotolerant facultative alkaliphile. Int J Syst Bacteriol 44(1):111–118
- 22. Wiegel J, Kuk SU, Kohring GW (1989) *Clostridium thermobutyricum* sp. nov., a moderate thermophile isolated from a cellulolytic culture, that produces butyrate as the major product. Int J Syst Bacteriol 39(2):199–204
- Lovitt RW, Shen GJ, Zeikus JG (1988) Ethanol production by thermophilic bacteria: biochemical basis for ethanol and hydrogen tolerance in *Clostridium* thermohydrosulfuricum. J Bacteriol 170(6):2809–2815
- Vancanneyt M, de Vos P, Vennens L, de Ley J (1990) Lactate and ethanol dehydrogenase activities in continuous cultures of *Clostridium thermosaccharolyticum* LMG 6564. J Gen Microbiol 136:1945–1951. doi:10.1099/00221287-136-10-1945
- Schink B, Zeikus JG (1983) *Clostridium thermosulfurogenes* sp. nov., a new thermophile that produces elemental sulphur from thiosulphate. J Gen Microbiol 129:1149–1158. doi:10.1099/00221287-129-4-1149
- Dien BS, Nichols NN, O'Bryan PJ, Bothast RJ (2000) Development of new ethanologenic *Escherichia coli* strains for fermentation of lignocellulosic biomass. Appl Biochem Biotechnol 84–86:181–196. doi:10.1385/ABAB:84-86:1-9:181
- Blackwood AC, Neish AC, Ledingham GA (1956) Dissimilation of glucose at controlled pH values by pigmented and non-pigmented strains of *Escherichia coli*. J Bacteriol 72:497–516
- Mahyudin AR, Furutani Y, Nakashimada Y, Kakizono T, Nishio (1997) Enhanced hydrogen production in altered mixed acid fermentation of glucose by *Enterobacter aerogenes*. J Ferm Bioeng 83(4):358–363. doi:10.1016/S0922-338X(97)80142-80150
- Kumar N, Das D (2000) Enhancement of hydrogen production by *Enterobacter cloacae* IIT-BT 08. Process Biochem 35:589–593. doi:10.1016/S0032-9592(99)00109-0
- Kumar N, Das D (2001) Continuous hydrogen production by immobilized *Enterobacter* cloacae IIT-BT 08 using lignocellulosic materials as solid matrices. Enzyme Microbiol Technol 29:280–287. doi:10.1016/S0141-0229(01)00394-5
- Tanisho S, Kuromoto M, Kadokura N (1998) Effect of CO₂ removal on hydrogen production by fermentation. Int J Hydrogen Energy 23:559–563. doi:10.1016/S0360-3199(97)00117-1
- 32. Tanisho S (2000) A strategy for improving the yield of hydrogen by fermentation. In: Mao ZQ, Veziroglu TN (eds) Hydrogen Energy Progress XIII, vol 1. Beijing, China, pp 370–374
- 33. Leitea JAC, Fernandesa BS, Pozzi E, Barbozab M, Zaiat M (2008) Application of an anaerobic packed-bed bioreactor for the production of hydrogen and organic acids. Int J Hydrogen Energy 33:579–586. doi:10.1016/j.ijhydene.2007.10.009
- 34. Van Ginkel SW, Oh SE, Logan BE (2005) Biohydrogen gas production from food processing and domestic wastewaters. Int J Hydrogen Energy 30(15):1535–1542. doi:10.1016/j.ijhydene.2004.09.017

- Park W, Hyun SH, Oh SE, Logan BE, Kim IS (2005) Removal of headspace CO₂ increases biological hydrogen production. Environ Sci Technol 39(12):4416–4420. doi:10.1021/ es048569d
- 36. Zheng XJ, Yu HQ (2005) Inhibitory effects of butyrate on biological hydrogen production with mixed anaerobic cultures. J Environ Manag 74(1):65–70. doi:10.1016/ j.jenvman.2004.08.015
- Cheong DY, Hansen CL (2006) Acidogenesis characteristics of natural, mixed anaerobes converting carbohydrate-rich synthetic wastewater to hydrogen. Process Biochem 41(8):1736–1745. doi:10.1016/j.procbio.2006.03.014
- Logan BE, Oh SE, Kim IS, Van Ginkel S (2002) Biological hydrogen production measured in batch anaerobic respirometers. Environ Sci Technol 36(11):2530–2535. doi:10.1021/ es015783i
- Mu Y, Wang G, Yu HQ (2006) Response surface methodological analysis on biohydrogen production by enriched anaerobic cultures. Enzym Microb Technol 38(7):905–913. doi:10.1016/j.enzmictec.2005.08.016
- 40. Mu Y, Wang G, Yu HQ (2006) Kinetic modeling of batch hydrogen production process by mixed anaerobic cultures. Bioresour Technol 97(11):1302–1307. doi:10.1016/ j.biortech.2005.05.014
- 41. Oh SE, Van Ginkel S, Logan BE (2003) The relative effectiveness of pH control and heat treatment for enhancing biohydrogen gas production. Environ Sci Technol 37(22):5186–5190. doi:10.1021/es034291y
- Salerno MB, Park W, Zuo Y, Logan BE (2006) Inhibition of biohydrogen production by ammonia. Water Res 40(6):1167–1172. doi:10.1016/j.watres.2006.01.024
- Valdez-Vazquez I, Rios-Leal E, Carmona-Martinez A, Munoz-Paez KM, Poggi-Varaldo HM (2006) Improvement of biohydrogen production from solid wastes by intermittent venting and gas flushing of batch reactors headspace. Environ Sci Technol 40(10):3409–3415. doi:10.1021/es052119j
- 44. Atif AAY, Fakhru'l-Razi A, Ngan MA, Morimoto M, Iyuke SE, Veziroglu NT (2005) Fed batch production of hydrogen from palm oil mill effluent using anaerobic microflora. Int J Hydrogen Energy 30(13–14):1393–1397. doi:10.1016/j.ijhydene.2004.10.002
- 45. Calli B, Boenne W, Vanbroekhoven K (2006) Bio-hydrogen potential of easily biodegradable substrate through dark fermentation. In: Proceedings of the 16th world hydrogen energy conference. Lyon, France, pp 215–216
- Lin CY, Chang CC, Hung CH (2008) Fermentative hydrogen production from starch using natural mixed cultures. Int J Hydrogen Energy 33:2445–2453. doi:10.1016/ j.ijhydene.2008.02.069
- Zhang JJ, Li XY, Oh SE, Logan BE (2004) Physical and hydrodynamic properties of flocs produced during biological hydrogen production. Biotechnol Bioeng 88(7):854–860. doi:10.1002/bit.20297
- Kraemer JT, Bagley DM (2005) Continuous fermentative hydrogen production using a twophase reactor system with recycle. Environ Sci Technol 39(10):3819–3825. doi:10.1021/ es048502q
- Lin CY, Lee CY, Tseng IC, Shiao IZ (2006) Biohydrogen production from sucrose using base-enriched anaerobic mixed microflora. Process Biochem 41(4):915–919. doi:10.1016/ j.procbio.2005.10.010
- Kyazze G, Martinez-Perez N, Dinsdale R, Premier GC, Hawkes FR, Guwy AJ, Hawkes DL, (2006) Influence of substrate concentration on the stability and yield of continuous biohydrogen production. Biotechnol Bioeng 93(5):971–979. doi:10.1002/bit.20802
- Lin CY, Chen HP (2006) Sulfate effect on fermentative hydrogen production using anaerobic mixed microflora. Int J Hydrogen Energy 31(7):953–960. doi:10.1016/ j.ijhydene.2005.07.009
- Chang JS, Lee KS, Lin PJ (2002) Biohydrogen production with fixed-bed bioreactors. Int J Hydrogen Energy 27:1167–1174. doi:10.1016/S0360-3199(02)00130-1

- Lee SK, Lo YS, Lo YC, Lin PJ, Chang JS (2003) H₂ production with anaerobic sludge using activated-carbon supported packed bed bioreactors. Biotechnol Lett 25:133–138. doi:10.1023/A:1021915318179
- Fang HHP, Liu H, Zhang T (2002) Characterisation of a hydrogen-producing granular sludge. Biotechnol Bioeng 78:44–52. doi:10.1002/bit.10174
- Wu SY, Lin CN, Chang JS, Lee KS, Lin PJ (2002) Microbial hydrogen production with immobilized sewage sludge. Biotechnol Prog 18:921–926. doi:10.1021/bp0200548
- 56. Wu SY, Hung CH, Lin CN, Chen HW, Lee AS, Chang JS (2006) Fermentative hydrogen production and bacterial community structure in high rate anaerobic bioreactors containing silicone-immobilised self-flocculating sludge. Biotechnol Bioeng 93(5):934–46. doi:10.1002/bit.20800
- Chang FY, Lin CY (2004) Biohydrogen production using an up-flow anaerobic sludge blanket reactor. Int J Hydrogen Energy 29(1):33–39. doi:10.1016/S0360-3199(03)00082-X
- Lee KS, Lo YS, Lo YC, Lin PJ, Chang JS (2004) Operational strategies for biohydrogen production with a high-rate anaerobic granular sludge bed bioreactor. Enzym Microbial Technol 35:605–612. doi:10.1016/j.enzmictec.2004.08.013
- Kotsopoulos TA, Zeng RJ, Angelidaki I (2006) Biohydrogen production in granular up-flow anaerobic sludge blanket (UASB) reactors with mixed cultures under hyper-thermophilic temperature (70 °C). Biotechnol Bioeng 94(2):296–302
- Mu Y, Yu HQ (2006) Biological hydrogen production in a UASB reactor with granules. I: physicochemical characteristics of hydrogen-producing granules. Biotechnol Bioeng 94(5):980–987
- 61. Yang H, Shao P, Lu T, Shen J, Wang D, Xu Z, Yuan X (2006) Continuous bio-hydrogen production from citric acid wastewater via facultative anaerobic bacteria. Int J Hydrogen Energy 31(10):1306–1313. doi:10.1016/j.ijhydene.2005.11.018
- 62. Lay JJ, Fan KS, Chang IJ, Ku CH (2003) Influence of chemical nature of organic wastes on their conversion to hydrogen by heat-shock digested sludge. Int J Hydrogen Energy 28:1361–1367. doi:10.1016/S0360-3199(03)00027-2
- Nath K, Muthukumar M, Kumar A, Das D (2008) Kinetics of two-stage fermentation process for the production of hydrogen. Int J Hydrogen Energy 33:1195–1203. doi:10.1016/ j.ijhydene.2007.12.011
- 64. Pan CM, Fan YT, Zhao P, Hou HW (2008) Fermentative hydrogen production by the newly isolated *Clostridium beijerinckii*. Int J Hydrogen Energy 33:5383–5391. doi:10.1016/ j.ijhydene.2008.05.037
- 65. Ren N, Cao G, Wang A, Lee DJ, Guo W, Zhu Y (2008) Dark fermentation of xylose and glucose mix using isolated *Thermoanaerobacterium thermosaccharolyticum* W16. Int J Hydrogen Energy 33:6124–6132
- 66. Zhu D, Wang G, Qiao H, Cai J (2008) Fermentative hydrogen production by the new marine Pantoea agglomerans isolated from the mangrove sludge. Int J Hydrogen Energy 33:6116–6123. doi:10.1016/j.ijhydene.2008.07.008
- Manish S, Venkatesh KV, Banerjee R (2007) Metabolic flux analysis of biological hydrogen production by *Escherichia coli*. Int J Hydrogen Energy 32:3820–3830. doi:10.1016/ j.ijhydene.2007.03.033
- De Vrije T, Mars AE, Budde MAW, Lai MH, Dijkema C, de Waard P (2007) Glycolytic pathway and hydrogen yield studies of the extreme thermophile *Caldicellulosiruptor* saccharolyticus. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 74(6):1358–1367. doi:10.1007/s00253-006-0783-x
- 69. Zhao BH, Yue ZB, Zhao QB, Mu Y, Yu HQ, Harada H (2008) Optimisation of hydrogen production in a granule-based UASB reactor. Int J Hydrogen Energy 33:2454–2461. doi:10.1016/j.ijhydene.2008.03.008
- Wang J, Wan W (2008) Comparison of different pretreatment methods for enriching hydrogen-producing bacteria from digested sludge. Int J Hydrogen Energy 33:2934–2941

- Luo Y, Zhang H, Salerno M, Logan BE (2008) Organic loading rates affect composition of soil-derived bacterial communities during continuous, fermentative biohydrogen production. Int J Hydrogen Energy 33:6566–6576. doi:10.1016/j.ijhydene.2008.08.047
- 72. Xie B, Cheng J, Zhou J, Song W, Cen K (2008) Cogeneration of hydrogen and methane from glucose to improve energy conversion efficiency. Int J Hydrogen Energy 33:5006–5011. doi:10.1016/j.ijhydene.2008.07.048
- Fritsch M, Hartmeier W, Chang JS (2008) Enhancing hydrogen production of *Clostridium butyricum* using a column reactor with square-structured ceramic fittings. Int J Hydrogen Energy 33:6549–6557. doi:10.1016/j.ijhydene.2008.07.070
- 74. O-Thong S, Prasertsan P, Karakashev D, Angelidaki I (2008) High-rate continuous hydrogen production by *Thermoanaerobacterium thermosaccharolyticum* PSU-2 immobilized on heat-pretreated methanogenic granules. Int J Hydrogen Energy 33:6498–6508. doi:10.1016/j.ijhydene.2008.07.060
- Zhang Y, Shen J (2006) Effect of temperature and iron concentration on the growth and hydrogen production of mixed bacteria. Int J Hydrogen Energy 31:441–446. doi:10.1016/ j.ijhydene.2005.05.006
- Hussy I, Hawkes FR, Dinsdale R, Hawkes DL (2003) Continuous fermentative hydrogen production from a wheat starch co-product by mixed microflora. Biotechnol Bioeng 84(6):619–626. doi:10.1002/bit.10785
- 77. Antonopoulou G, Stamatelatou K, Venetsaneas N, Kornaros M, Lyberatos G (2008) Biohydrogen and methane production from cheese whey in a two-stage anaerobic process. Ind Eng Chem Res 47:5227–5233. doi:10.1021/ie071622x
- Guo WQ, Ren NQ, Wang XJ, Xiang WS, Meng ZH, Ding J (2008) Biohydrogen production from ethanol-type fermentation of molasses in an expanded granular sludge bed reactor. Int J Hydrogen Energy 33:4981–4988. doi:10.1016/j.ijhydene.2008.05.033
- Ueno Y, Otsuka S, Morimoto M (1996) Hydrogen production from industrial wastewater by anaerobic microflora in chemostat culture. J Ferment Bioeng 82:194–197. doi:10.1016/ 0922-338X(96)85050-85051
- Yu H, Zhu Z, Hu W, Zhang H (2002) Hydrogen production from rice winery wastewater in an upflow anaerobic reactor by using mixed anaerobic cultures. Int J Hydrogen Energy 27(11–12):1359–1365. doi:10.1016/S0360-3199(02)00073-3
- Shi XY, Yu QH (2006) Continuous production of hydrogen from mixed volatile fatty acids with *Rhodopseudomonas capsulata*. Int J Hydrogen Energy 31:1641–1647. doi:10.1016/ j.ijhydene.2005.12.008
- Shin HS, Youn JH, Kim SH (2004) Hydrogen production from food waste in anaerobic mesophilic and thermophilic acidogenesis. Int J Hydrogen Energy 29:1355–1363. doi:10.1016/j.ijhydene.2003.09.011
- Davila-Vazquez G, Alatriste-Mondragon F, de Leon-Rodriguez A, Razo-Flores E (2008) Fermentative hydrogen production in batch experiments using lactose, cheese whey and glucose: influence of initial substrate concentration and pH. Int J Hydrogen Energy 33:4989–4997. doi:10.1016/j.ijhydene.2008.06.065
- Antonopoulou A, Gavala HN, Skiadas IV, Angelopoulos K, Lyberatos G (2008) Biofuels generation from sweet sorghum: fermentative hydrogen production and anaerobic digestion of the remaining biomass. Bioresour Technol 99:110–119. doi:10.1016/ j.biortech.2006.11.048
- Azbar N, Dokgoz FT (2010) The effect of dilution and L-malic acid addition on biohydrogen production with *Rhodopseudomonas palustris* from effluent of an acidogenic anaerobic reactor. Int J Hydrogen Energy 35:5028–5033. doi:10.1016/ j.ijhydene.2009.10.044
- 86. Yang P, Zhang R, McGarvey JA, Benemann JR (2007) Biohydrogen production from cheese processing wastewater by anaerobic fermentation using mixed microbial communities. Int J Hydrogen Energy 32:4761–4771. doi:10.1016/j.ijhydene.2007.07.038

- Mohan SV (2009) Harnessing of biohydrogen from wastewater treatment using mixed fermentative consortia: Process evaluation towards optimization. Int J Hydrogen Energy 34:7460–7474. doi:10.1016/j.ijhydene.2009.05.062
- Guo XM, Trably E, Latrille E, Carre're H, Steyer JP (2010) Hydrogen production from agricultural waste by dark fermentation: A review. Int J Hydrogen Energy 35:10660–10673. doi:10.1016/j.ijhydene.2010.03.008
- Hallenbeck PC (1983) Immobilized microorganisms for hydrogen and ammonia production. Enzym Microb Tech 5:171–180. doi:10.1016/0141-0229(83)90090-X
- 90. Zhang ZP, Show K, Taya JH, Liang DT, Leed DJ (2008) Biohydrogen production with anaerobic fluidized bed reactors—A comparison of biofilm-based and granule-based systems. Int J Hydrogen Energy 33:1559–1564. doi:10.1016/j.ijhydene.2007.09.048
- Zhang ZP, Tay JH, Show KY, Liang DT, Lee DJ, Jiang WJ (2007) Biohydrogen production in a granular activated carbon anaerobic fluidized bed reactor. Int J Hydrogen Energy 32(2):185–191. doi:10.1016/j.ijhydene.2006.08.017
- Hallenbeck PC, Ghosh D (2009) Advances in fermentative biohydrogen production: the way forward? Trends Biotechnol 27(5):287–297. doi:10.1016/j.tibtech.2009.02.004
- Basak N, Das D (2007) The prospect of purple non-sulfur (PNS) photosynthetic bacteria for hydrogen production: the present state of the art. World J Microbiol Biotechnol 23:31–42. doi:10.1007/s11274-006-9190-9
- 94. Koku H, Eroglu I, Gunduz U, Yucel M, Turker L (2002) Aspects of the metabolism of hydrogen production by *Rhodobacter sphaeroides* Int J Hydrogen Energy 27:1315–1329. doi:10.1016/S0360-3199(02)00127-1
- Melis A, Melnicki MR (2006) Integrated biological hydrogen production. Int J Hydrogen Energy 31:1563–1573
- Jones BL, Monty KJ (1979) Glutamine as a feedback inhibitor of the *Rhodopseudmonas* sphaeroides nitrogenase system. J Bacteriol 139(3):1007–1013
- Gogotov IN (1986) Hydrogenases of phototrophic microorganisms. Biochemie 68:181–187. doi:10.1016/S0300-9084(86)81082-3
- Zorin NA (1986) Redox properties and active center of phototrophic bacteria hydrogenases. Biochimie 68:97–101
- 99. Ooshima H, Takakuwa S, Katsuda T, Okuda M, Shirasawa T, Azuma M, Kato J (1998) Production of hydrogen by a hydrogenase deficient mutant of *Rhodobacter Capsulatus*. J Ferment Bioeng 85(5):470–475. doi:10.1016/S0922-338X(98)80064-0
- 100. Jahn A, Keuntje B, Dorffler M, Klipp W, Oelze J (1994) Optimizing photoheterotrophic H2 production by *Rhodobacter Capsulatus* upon interposon mtagenesis in hupL gene. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 40(5):687–690. doi:10.1007/BF00173330
- 101. Kern M, Klipp W, Klemme JH (1994) Increased nitrogenase dependent H₂ photoproducion by hup mutants of *Rhodospirillum rubrum*. Appl Env Microbiol 60(6):1786–1774
- 102. Fissler J, Kohring GW, Giffhorn F (1995) Enhanced hydrogen production from aromatic acids by immobilized cells of *Rhodopseudomonas palustris*. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 44:43–46. doi:10.1007/BF00164478
- 103. Tabita FR (1995) The biochemistry and metabolic regulation of carbon metabolism and CO₂ fixation in purple bacteria. In: Blankenship RE, Madigan MT, Bauer CE (eds) Anoxygenic photosynthetic bacteria. Kluwer, Dordrecht, pp 885–914. doi: 10.1007/0-306-47954-0_41
- 104. Zhu HG, Wakayama T, Asada Y, Miyake J (2001) Hydrogen production by four cultures with participation by anoxygenic phototrophic bacterium and anaerobic bacterium in the presence of NH₄⁺. Int J Hydrogen Energy 26:1149–1154. doi:10.1016/S0360-3199(01)00038-6
- 105. Hillmer P, Gest H (1977) H₂ metabolism in the photosynthetic bacterium *Rhodopseudomonas capsulata*: H₂ production by growing cultures. J Bacteriol 129:724–731
- 106. Hillmer P, Gest H (1977) H₂ metabolism in the photosynthetic bacterium *Rhodopseudomonas capsulata*: production and utilization of H₂ by resting cells. J Bacteriol 129:732–739
- 107. Kim MS, Ahn JH, Yoon YS (2004) Photo-biological hydrogen production by the uptake hydrogenase and PHB synthase deficient mutant of *Rhodobacter sphaeroides*. In: Miyake J, Igarashi Y, Rogner M (eds) Biohydrogen III. Elsevier Ltd, Oxford, UK, pp 45–55. doi: 10.1016/B978-008044356-0/50004-X
- Kondo T, Arakawa M, Wakayama T, Miyake J (2002) Hydrogen production by combining two types of photosynthetic bacteria with different characteristics. Int J Hydrogen Energy 27:1303–1308. doi: 10.1016/S0360-3199(02)00122-2
- 109. Kondo T, Wakayama T, Miyake J (2006) Efficient hydrogen production using a multilayered photobioreactor and a photosynthetic bacterium mutant with reduced pigment. Int J Hydrogen Energy 31:1522–1526. doi:10.1016/j.ijhydene.2006.06.019
- 110. Nakada E, Asada Y, Arai T, Miyake J (1995) Light penetration into cell suspensions of photosynthetic bacteria and relation to hydrogen production. J Ferment Bioeng 80:53–57. doi:10.1016/0922-338X(95)98176-L
- 111. He DL, Bultel Y, Magnin JP, Willison JC (2006) Kinetic analysis of photosynthetic growth and photohydrogen production of two strains of *Rhodobacter capsulatus*. Enzyme and Microbial Tech 38:253–259. doi:10.1016/j.enzmictec.2005.06.012
- 112. Barbosa MJ, Rocha JMS, Tramper J, Wijffels RH (2001) Acetate as a carbon source for hydrogen production by photosynthetic bacteria. J Biotechnol 85:25–33. doi:10.1016/ S0168-1656(00)00368-0
- Miyake J, Tomizuka N, Kamibayashi A (1982) Prolonged photo-hydrogen production by *Rhodospirillum rubrum.* J Ferment Technol 60:199–203
- 114. Oh YK, Seol EH, Kim MS, Park S (2004) Photoproduction of hydrogen from acetate by a chemoheterotrophic bacterium *Rhodopseudomonas palustris* P4. Int J Hydrogen Energy 29:1115–1121. doi:10.1016/j.ijhydene.2003.11.008
- 115. Seifert K, Waligorska M, Laniecki M (2010) Hydrogen generation in photobiological process from diary wastewater. Int J Hydrogen Energy 35:9624–9629. doi:10.1016/ j.ijhydene.2010.07.015
- 116. Kapdan I, Kargi F, Oztekin R, Argun H (2009) Bio-hydrogen production from acid hydrolyzed wheat starch by photo-fermentation using different *Rhodobacter sp.* Int J Hydrogen Energy 34(5):2201–2207. doi:10.1016/j.ijhydene.2009.01.017
- 117. Sabourin-Provost G, Hallenbeck PC (2009) High yield conversion of a crude glycerol fraction from biodiesel production to hydrogen by photofermentation. Biores Tech 100(14):3513–3517. doi:10.1016/j.biortech.2009.03.027
- 118. Eroglu E, Gunduz U, Yucel M, Turker L, Eroglu I (2004) Photobiological hydrogen production from olive mill wastewater as sole substrate sources. Int J Hydrogen Energy 29:163–171. doi:10.1016/S0360-3199(03)00110-1
- 119. Özgür E, Uyar B, Öztürk Y, Yücel M, Gündüz U, Eroglu I (2010) Biohydrogen production by *Rhodobacter capsulatus* on acetate at fluctuating temperatures. Resour Conserv Recy 54:310–314. doi:10.1016/j.resconrec.2009.06.002
- 120. Eroglu I, Aslan K, Gunduz U, Yucel M, Turker L (1999) Substrate consumption rate for hydrogen production by *Rhodobacter sphaeroides* in a column photobioreactor. J Biotechnol 70:103–113. doi: 10.1016/S0168-1656(99)00064-4
- 121. Sasikala K, Ramana ChV, Rao PR (1995) Regulation of simultaneous hydrogen photoproduction during growth by pH and glutamate in *Rhodobacter sphaeroides* O.U.001. Int J Hydrogen Energy 20:123–126. doi:10.1016/0360-3199(94)E0009-N
- 122. Fascetti E, D'addario E, Todini O, Robertiello A (1998) Photosynthetic hydrogen evolution with volatile organic acids derived from the fermentation of source selected municipal solid wastes. Int J Hydrogen Energy 23:753–760. doi: 10.1016/S0360-3199(97)00123-7
- 123. El-Shistawy RMA, Kawasaki S, Morimoto M (1998) Cylindrical type induced and diffused bioreactors: a novel photobioreactor for large scale H₂ production. In: Zaborsky OR (ed) Biohydrogen. Plenum Press, New York. doi: 10.1007/978-0-585-35132-2_43
- 124. Eroglu I, Aslan K, Gunduz U, Yucel M, Turker L (1998) Continuous hydrogen production by *Rhodobacter sphaeroides* O.U. 001. In: Zaborsky OR (ed) Biohydrogen. Plenum press, London, pp 143–151. ISBN 0-306-46057-2

- 125. Ghasem N, Syahidah K, Ismail K, Younesi H, Mohamed AR, Kamaruddin AH (2004) Hydrogen as clean fuel via continuous fermentation by anaerobic photosynthetic bacteria, *Rhodospirillum rubrum*. Afr J Biotechnol 3:503–507
- 126. Tsygankov AA, Fedorov AS, Laurinavichene TV, Gogotov IN, Rao KK, Hall DO (1998) Actual and potential rates of hydrogen photoproduction by continuous culture of the Purple non-sulphur bacterium *Rhodobacter capsulatus*. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 49:102–107. doi:10.1007/s002530051144
- 127. Fissler J, Schirra C, Kohring GW, Giffhorn F (1994) Hydrogen production from aromatic acids by *Rhodopseudomonas Palustris*. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 41:395–399. doi:10.1007/BF01982526
- 128. Wang YZ, Liao Q, Zhu X, Tian X, Zhang C (2010) Characteristics of hydrogen production and substrate consumption of *Rhodopseudomonas palustris* CQK in an immobilized cell photobioreactor. Biores Technol 101:4034–4041. doi:10.1016/j.biortech.2010.01.045
- 129. Tian X, Liao Q, Zhu X, Wang YZ, Zhang P, Li J, Wang H (2010) Characteristics of a biofilm photobioreactor as applied to photo-hydrogen production. Biores Technol 101:977–983. doi:10.1016/j.biortech.2009.09.007
- 130. Liao Q, Wang YJ, Wang YZ, Zhu X, Tian X, Li J (2010) Formation and hydrogen production of photosynthetic bacterial biofilm under various illumination conditions. Biores Technol 101:5315–5324. doi:10.1016/j.biortech.2010.02.019
- 131. Tsygankov AA, Hirata Y, Miyake M, Asada Y, Miyake J (1994) Photobioreactor with photosynthetic bacteria immobilized on porous glass for hydrogen photoproduction. J Ferment Bioeng 77:575–578. doi:10.1016/0922-338X(94)90134-1
- 132. Ozgur E, Mars AE, Peksel B, Louwerse A, Yucel M, Gunduz U, Claassen PAM, Eroglu I (2010) Biohydrogen production from beet molasses bu sequential dark and photofermentation. Int J Hydrogen Energy 35:511–517. doi:10.1016/j.ijhydene.2009.10.094
- 133. Su H, Cheng J, Zhou J, Song W, Cen K (2009) Improving hydrogen production from cassava starch by combination of dark and photo fermentation. Int J Hydrogen Energy 34:1780–1786. doi:10.1016/j.ijhydene.2008.12.045
- 134. Alalayah WM, Kalil MS, Kadhum AH, Jahim JM, Jaapar SZS, Alauj NM (2009) Biohydrogen production using a two-stage fermentation process. Pakistan J Bio Sci 12(22):1462–1467. doi:10.3923/pjbs.2009.1462.1467
- 135. Alalayah WM, Kalil MS, Kadhum AH, Jahim JM, Alauj NM (2009) Effect of environmental parameters on hydrogen production using C. saccharoperbutylacetonicum N1–4 (ATTC 13564). Am J Environ Sci 5:80–86. doi:10.1016/j.ijhydene.2008.09.066
- 136. Tao Y, Chen Y, Wu Y, He Y, Zhou Z (2007) High hydrogen yield from a two-step process of dark and photo-fermentation of sucrose. Int J Hydrogen Energy 32:200–206. doi:10.1016/j.ijhydene.2006.06.034
- 137. Argun H, Kargi F, Kapdan IK (2009) Hydrogen production by combined dark and light fermentation of ground wheat solution. Int J Hydrogen Energy 34:4304–4311
- Ozmihci S, Kargi F (2010) Bio-hydrogen production by photo-fermentation of dark fermentation effluent with intermittent feeding and effluent removal. Int J Hydrogen Energy 35:6674–6680. doi:10.1016/j.ijhydene.2010.04.090
- 139. Yang H, Guo L, Liu F (2010) Enhanced bio-hydrogen production from corncob by a twostep process: Dark- and photo-fermentation. Biores Technol 101(6):2049–2052. doi:10.1016/j.biortech.2009.10.078
- 140. Eroglu E, Eroglu I, Gunduz U, Turker L, Yucel M (2006) Biological hydrogen production from olive mill wastewater with two-stage processes. Int J Hydrogen Energy 31:1527–1535. doi:10.1016/j.ijhydene.2006.06.020
- 141. Laurinavichene TV, Belokopytov BF, Laurinavichius KS, Tekucheva DN, Seibert M, Tsygankov AA (2010) Towards the integration of dark and photofermentative waste treatment 3. Potato as substrate for sequential dark fermentation and light driven H₂ production. Int J Hydrogen Energy 35:8536–8543. doi:10.1016/j.ijhydene.2010.02.063

Chapter 11 Organosolv Fractionation of Lignocelluloses for Fuels, Chemicals and Materials: A Biorefinery Processing Perspective

Ming-Fei Li, Shao-Ni Sun, Feng Xu and Run-Cang Sun

11.1 Introduction

Fractionation of lignocellulosic materials into their major macromolecular fractions—cellulose, hemicelluloses and lignin, is a challenging work that attracted increased attention in recent years. As a matter of fact, in addition to chemical pulping, an existing fractionation process used worldwide, numerous approaches for the separation of lignocelluloses have been studied lastingly for more than a century. These approaches are generally categorized into physical, physico-chemical, chemical and biological processes. Among these approaches, one of the most promising processes is organosolv fractionation, which degrades the lignocellulosic feedstocks by using organic solvents under mild conditions in an environmentally friendly manner to mainly produce cellulose for energy or materials usage. In addition, the dissolved sugars and lignin are easy to be recovered and are valuable feedstocks for chemicals and materials applications.

This chapter updates and extends the previous reviews on organic solvents fractionation of lignocelluloses for pulping [1–6], lignin extraction [7] and bioethanol production [8], focusing particularly on new research on the fractionation process and product utilization for fuels, chemicals and materials via organic solvents in a biorefinery manner. After a brief introduction of the development of

M.-F. Li · S.-N. Sun · F. Xu (🖂) · R.-C. Sun (🖂)

Institute of Biomass Chemistry and Technology, Beijing Forestry University, Qinghua Road No. 35, Haidian District, 100083 Beijing, China e-mail: xfx315@bjfu.edu.cn

R.-C. Sun

State Key Laboratory of Pulp and Paper Engineering, South China University of Technology, Wushan Road No. 381, Tianhe District, 510640 Guangzhou, China e-mail: rcsun3@bjfu.edu.cn

organosolv fractionation, this chapter will focus on the recent achievements in organosolv fractionation of cellulose, hemicelluloses and lignin from traditional and novel feedstocks including wood, grasses, forestry residues and so on. Ethanol-based fractionation process, the main organosolv fractionation process used for ethanol production especially in the past decade, is discussed extensively. Formic acid and acetic acid fractionations, two useful processes used for fractionation of lignin under mild conditions, are also discussed in detail. The fractionation mechanism and technical flow involved in the fractionation process are elaborated, and the potential applications of the fraction products (mainly cellulose-rich fraction, degraded sugars and soluble lignin) are discussed. Other types of organic solvents for fractionations attracted current attention are also covered in this chapter.

11.2 Overview of Organosolv Fractionation

Organosolv fractionation of lignocelluloses has a long history, which undergoes a change from structure study to pulping, and currently to energy usage. The earliest study applying organic solvents to treat lignocellulosic material was back in 1893, when Klason [9, 10] used ethanol and hydrochloric acid to separate wood into its components to study the structure of lignin and carbohydrates. After that, Pauly et al. [11, 12] applied formic and acetic acids to delignify wood for the purpose of characterization of the main components of wood in 1918. Subsequently, a wide variety of other organic solvents, e.g., various alcohols, phenol, acetone, propionic acid, dioxane, various amines, esters, formaldehyde, chloroethanol, whether pure or in aqueous solutions, and in the presence or absence of acids, bases or salts as catalysts, were used to delignify lignocellulosic materials [3]. Since 1980s, a number of pulping processes involving the aforementioned solvents have been investigated as alternatives to the classic pulping process in the field of pulp and paper industry [13]. The main advantage of the so-called organosolv pulping process was a higher efficient use of the raw materials in an environmentally friendly way, as compared to the drawbacks of the classic pulping process (e.g., odors, low yields, high pollution, poor bleachability of pulp and high investment cost). In 1992, two organosolv pulping processes based on methanol-Orgnaocell and alkaline sulfite-antraquinone-methanol (ASAM) were first operated at a full scale. Meanwhile, the organic acid pulping processes, Acetosolv (based on acetic acid) and Milox (based on formic acid with the addition of hydrogen peroxide) were at a pilot scale [14]. Many such processes were employed to obtain multiple products, i.e., hydrolyzable cellulose, sugars and high quality lignin other than pulp, aimed at exploiting the full potential of the feedstocks. More recently, ethanol pulping process is modified from a pulping process to a pretreatment process integrated with biofuel production, mainly aimed at obtaining hydrolyzable cellulose fraction for the production of ethanol [15].

11.3 Ethanol Fractionation

Ethanol has been used to split lignocelluloses into their components to study the structure of lignin, and used as a pulping agent in organosolv pulping. Recently, ethanol fractionation is becoming a major fractionation process among the organosolv fractionation processes for pretreatment lignocellulosic material to produce bioethanol. Generally, ethanol fractionation process is carried out under elevated temperatures without or with the addition of acidic or alkaline catalyst, and some organosolv fraction processes with ethanol are illustrated in Table 11.1 [16–26].

11.3.1 Effect of Treatment on the Structure of Lignocellulosic Material

11.3.1.1 Severity Parameter

Under given conditions in ethanol fractionation (auto- and acid- catalyzed fractionation processes), reaction temperature, reaction time and the concentration of H^+ are the major contributed parameters to the severity of fractionation. A proposed parameter to describe the severity for ethanol fractionation is defined as a severity parameter:

$$R = [H^+]t \exp[\frac{(T-100)}{14.75}],$$

where *t* is the reaction time (min), and *T* is the reaction temperature (°C), and $[H^+]$ represents the pH of the cooking liquor at 20°C for the solutions.

The effects of severity parameter on the removal of lignin and hemicelluloses are different. Cooking liquor rich in ethanol acts as an effective solubilizer of lignin, but the elution of hemicelluloses is minor. It has been reported that under the highest severity value, about 80% of the original lignin was dissolved into the solution as compared with a low value of around 30% for hemicelluloses [22].

11.3.1.2 Reactions of Lignin

Ethanol fractionation can be operated under low and medium severity as a pretreatment process to obtain hydrolyzable cellulose. In this case, the hydrolysis reaction mainly occurred at carbon position of the side chains of lignin. Cleavage of α -aryl ether is a main reaction, which lead to the formation of a benzylic carbocation in acidic medium. The benzylic carbocation can react with water or ethanol, or form a bond with an electron-rich carbon atom in the aromatic ring of another lignin unit [27]. This reaction mechanism is supported by lignin model

Table 11.1 Fractional	ion processes with ethanol			
Process	Raw material	Fractionation conditions	Results	Ref.
Ethanol	Miscanthus x giganteus	Ethanol 25–50%, liquid to solid ratio 8, 170–190°C, 60–80 min	Delignification $\sim 40-75\%$	[16]
Ethanol/H ₂ SO ₄	P. Radiata	Ethanol 60% (v/v), H ₂ SO ₄ (0.13%, w/v, pH 2), liquid to solid ratio 6, 185°C, 18 min for the bio-treated material, 200°C, 32 min for the control	After fermentation, ethanol yields 63.8 and 64.3% for the bio-treated material and the control (wood basis)	[17]
Ethanol/H ₂ SO ₄	Miscanthus x giganteus	Ethanol 44%, H ₅ SO ₄ dosage 0.5%, liquid to solid ratio 8, 170°C, 60 min	Solid fraction: yield 62%, Klason lignin content 11.2%, cellulose content 81.5%	[18]
Ethanol/H ₂ SO ₄	Lodgepole pine	Ethanol 65%, H ₃ SO ₄ dosage 0.76–1.10%, liquid to solid ratio 5, 170–187°C, 60 min	Solid fraction: yield 27-44%, solute lignin 16-23%	[19]
$Ethanol/H_2SO_4$	Hybrid poplar	Ethanol 50% (v/v), H ₂ SO ₄ dosage 1.25%, 180°C, 60 min	Pulp: yield 52.72%, lignin content 6.19%; Solute lignin: yield 15.53%	[20]
$Ethanol/H_2SO_4$	Sugar cane bagasse	Ethanol 50% (v/v), H ₂ SO ₄ dosage 1.25%, liquid to solid ratio 5, 175°C, 60 min	Solid fraction: yield $\sim 87\%$, lignin content 28%	[21]
Ethanol/acetic acid	Eucalyptus	Ethanol 75%, acetic acid content 1%, liquid to solid ratio 5, 200°C, 60 min	Solid fraction ~67%, solute hemicelluloses ~12%, solute lignin ~22%	[22]
Ethanol/NaOH	L. diversifolia	Ethanol 45% (v/v), alkali concentration 17%, liquid to solid ratio 8, 180°C, 60 min	Pulp: yield 49.7%, brightness 41% ISO, Paper : tensile index 17.4 kNm/kg, burst index 0.68 MPam ² /kg, tear index 1.03 Nm ² /kg	[23]
Ethanol/NaOH	Carpolobia lutea	Ethanol 60% (v/v), alkali concentration 8%, liquid to solid ratio 7, 150°C, 30 min	Pulp: yield 48.53%, lignin content 4.63%	[24]
			(con	ntinued)

344

Table 11.1 (continued				
Process	Raw material	Fractionation conditions	Results	Ref.
Ethanol/NaOH	Sugar cane bagasse	Ethanol 50% (v/v), NaOH dosage 1.25%, liquid to solid ratio 5, 175°C, 60 min	Solid fraction: yield $\sim 90\%$, lignin content 27%	[21]
Ethanol/NaOH/AQ	L. diversifolia	Ethanol 45% (v/v), alkali concentration 17%, AQ concentration 0.05%, liquid to solid ratio 8, 185°C, 60 min	Pulp: yield 46.5%, holocellulose content 96.7%, <i>x</i> -cellulose content 75.8%, lignin content 0.85%, kappa number 15.2, viscosity 1367 ml/g Danar toxicle index 10.2 MNM-0.	[25]
ASAE	Brutia pine	Ethanol 50%, Na ₂ SO ₃ dosage 20%, NaOH dosage 5%, AQ dosage 0.1%, liquid to solid ratio 4, 170°C, 150 min	Pulp: yield 50.3%, kappa number 35, viscosity 1364 ml/g	[26]

compound study, in which α -aryl ether linkages are more easily degraded than β -aryl ether linkages [28]. Under highly serious conditions, β -aryl ether linkages are extensively cleaved, which is the controlling reaction in delignification. The extensive cleavage of β -aryl ether linkages results in a substantial increase of phenolic hydroxyl groups, which is confirmed by the low intensity of $C\beta$ and $C\gamma$ signals in the dissolved lignin as compared to MWL [27]. After acidolysis of the ethanol dissolved lignin fraction, the contents of phenolic hydroxyl groups increased significantly, suggesting the presence of intact β -O-4 bonds in the dissolved lignin [29]. The presence of β -O-4 structures in ethanol lignin was also demonstrated by HMQC 2D NMR [30]. In addition, the presence of carbonyl groups in the dissolved lignin indicated that the formation of Hibbert's ketones during the fractionation process [31].

During the cleavage of β -O-4 bonds, the homolytic cleavage occurs via methide intermediate thus causes the formation of β -1 inter-linkage through radical coupling, which then in turn degrades under the acidic medium to give stilbenes through the loss of the γ -methylol group of formaldehyde [28, 32]. In addition, β -5 units are also converted into stilbenes through the same degradation pathway [33]. With respect to cinnamyl alcohol, it is converted into ethyl ether structure [33]. In a recent report, a marked decrease of aliphatic OH and a significant increase of phenolic OH are found in ethanol dissolved lignin of *Miscanthus* with increase of the severity of the treatment [27]. This observation can be attributed to two simultaneous and opposite reactions: the production of *p*-hydroxyphenyl OH group due to the scission of β -O-4 bonds involving H units and hydrolysis of a fraction of *p*-coumaryl ester residues [34].

With respect to the activation energies for cleavages of the two major linkages in lignin, the study of the lignin model compounds indicates that the activation energies for cleavages of α -aryl ethers bonds range from 80 to 118 kJ/mol, depending on substituent [35]. These values are slightly higher than those in both auto-catalyzed and acid-catalyzed acetic acid fractionation processes, which are 78.8 and 69.7 kJ/mol, respectively [36]. However, the reported activation energy for β -aryl ether hydrolysis is 150 kJ/mol [27]. Obviously, the high value was not considered to be the controlling reaction in the ethanol fractionation process.

Lignin condensation is an important counterproductive reaction in an acidic or alkaline ethanol fractionation process. The intermediates, i.e., reactive benzyl carbocations or benzyl-linked oxygen atoms, can form a bond with an electron-rich carbon atom in the aromatic ring of another lignin units resulting in the production of condensed products. It has been reported that in a weak acid system, protonation of a benzyl-linked O atom was a S_{N2} type reaction [37].

11.3.1.3 Carbohydrates Degradation

During the ethanol fractionation process, the effect of severity parameter on crystallinity of lignocellulosic material is not fully defined. Under mild conditions, the degradation of carbohydrates mainly occurred at the amorphous region, resulting in the removal of hemicelluloses and amorphous cellulose, but cellulose in the crystalline region is resistant to degradation. This was supported by the comparative analysis of solid state CP/MAS ¹³C NMR spectra of the treated and the untreated *Miscanthus x giganteus* [18]. Pan et al. [19] reported that the crystallinity of cellulose increased with increased severity of ethanol fractionation pretreatment of Lodgepole pine, suggesting that cellulose in amorphous region was more easily degraded than that in crystalline region. In another investigation on Pine (*Pinus radiata*) fractionation by formic acid, a decrease of crystallinity after the treatment was also shown [38]. However, a more serious severity was capable of disrupting the crystallinity of cellulose, resulting in the decrease of CrI, as reported in the ethanol fractionation of *Buddleja davidii* [39]. The degradation results in cellulose with a decreased degree of polymerization (DP) and a narrow molecular weight distribution. In addition, it has also been found that crystalline cellulose dimorphs (I $\alpha/I\beta$) are converted into *para*-crystalline and amorphous type.

Carbohydrates in lignocellulosic materials undergo decomposition under acidic conditions during the auto- or acid-catalyzed ethanol fractionation process. Carbohydrates are first hydrolyzed into oligosaccharides and monosaccharides, and the resulting monosaccharides further dehydrate to generate furfural (from pentoses) and hydroxymethylfurfural (HMF) (from hexoses). Furfural and HMF undergo further degradation to form levulinic acid and formic acid, respectively. In addition, the products, i.e., furfural, HMF and levulic acid, tend to condense and form polymers such as humins [40]. The contents of furfural and HMF increase with increased severity parameter. But the overall effect of severity is minor due to the low yield of these products. At a high temperature and a high pressure, water can act as an agent for the degradation of carbohydrates [41]. These effects contribute a lot in the hot compressed water and dilute acid treatment of woody biomass. However, they are reduced largely by ethanol fractionation because of the elimination of strong acid and the high water content [40].

11.3.2 Process of Ethanol Fractionation and Lignin Recovery

A process that employs ethanol fractionation as a pretreatment approach to separate cellulose, hemicelluloses, lignin and extractives from woody biomass has been proposed by Lignol Innovation (Fig. 11.1) [42]. The obtained cellulose fraction is claimed to be highly susceptible to enzymatic hydrolysis, and the generated glucose of a high yield is readily converted into ethanol, or possibly used as sugar platform chemicals via saccharification and fermentation. In addition, the liquor rich in lignin, furfural, xylose, acetic acid and lipophylic extractives, can be separated by well-established unit operations. The ethanol is recovered and recycled back in the whole process. The recycled process water is of high quality, low BOD₅ and suitable for the overall system process closure. The proposed steps for product separation are shown as follows: (1) After the cooking, the cooking liquor is turned into a black liquor, which is further subjected to



precipitation to recover lignin by diluting the black liquor with enormous process steam and filtering, washing and drying the precipitated lignin. (2) The ethanol in the black liquor is recovered and recycled by flashing the black liquor and compensating the vapors. With respect to the filtrate and washing liquor, they are distilled to achieve a higher concentration. (3) Acetic acid, furfural, xylose and extractives are separated from the distillation column. (4) Oligosaccharides are converted into sugars for fermentation to produce more ethanol using mild acid hydrolysis. Based on the economic evaluation, it has been claimed that this process can be operated in a plant as a small scale as 100 mt per day.

Ethanol fractionation process in combination with ultra-filtration has been designed by Garcia et al. [43]. The main unit operations are cooking, flash operation, washing stage and ultra-filtration. The cooking operation is conducted in a pressurized reactor. Flash operation is used to recover stream mixtures of ethanol and water. In the washing stage, the obtained fibers are washed with mixtures of ethanol and water under the same concentration of the cooking liquor. The lignin dissolved in the black liquor is separated into homogeneous fractions by using ultra-filtration and then is subjected to precipitation with water. To achieve fully solvent recycle, liquor faction after lignin precipitation is sent to distillation unit to recover the ethanol/water mixtures, whereas the residue composed of water and co-products is treated by heating in a flash unit to recover a clean water stream for lignin precipitation. By using the simulation software Aspen Plus, the energetic and economical efficiencies of the ethanol fractionation are evaluated considering several units, including reaction, solid fraction washing, products recovery and liquid fraction processing. Mass and energy balances are evaluated in terms of yield, solvents/reactants recovery and energy consumption. In addition, pinch technology has been applied to improve the heat exchange network of the ethanol fractionation process reducing the associated utilities requirements, making the process more competitive as compared to the soda process.

In a recently proposed ethanol extraction process, a pre-hydrolysis step is applied to remove the hemicelluloses of wood chips [44]. The open diagram in Fig. 11.2 shows the steps required for recovering the hemicelluloses from the pre-hydrolysis liquor (PHL) in a separate stream. In the pre-hydrolysis step, hemicelluloses are extracted accompanying removal of a part of lignin.



Fig. 11.2 Process of pre-hydrolysis and ethanol fractionation [44]

Subsequently, the dissolved lignin is precipitated by decreasing the pH of the PHL to 2 using sulfuric acid. Then the precipitated lignin is subjected to a filter washer. The recovery of hemicelluloses is conducted by the addition of ethanol into the acidified PHL and further separated from the ethanol/water solution in a filter washer. The pre-hydrolyzed feedstock, with increased porosity, is subjected to the ethanol fractionation for removing the remaining lignin, similar to the ethanol pulping process. The dissolved lignin in the ethanol extraction step is recovered by acidification and then separated in a filter washer. After the ethanol extraction, cellulose is remained as a solid residue associated with a small amount of lignin, which can be further removed in an elemental chlorine free (ECF) based bleaching process.

Separation of lignin from spent liquor is generally based on the lignin insolubility in acid water. The recovery of lignin in an acid process consists of the following stages: precipitation of the lignin fraction with higher molecular weight; separation of the precipitate by decantation, thickening, centrifugation or filtration; washing with water to reduce impurities; further thickening to remove the water retained in the washing stage; drying of lignin. However, lignin dissolved in alkaline ethanol liquor is difficult to precipitate because the process decreasing the spent liquor pH to around 2 requires a large amount of acid to neutralize.

Generally, there are two typical methods to recover lignin from acidic ethanolsoluble liquor. One is dilution of spent liquors in water directly [20, 45], which is characterized by low speeds and sometimes difficult to filtrate or centrifuge due to the generation of a rather stable colloidal suspension. The other way consists of recovery of the alcohol from spent liquor in recovery tower under reduced pressure, then precipitation of lignin in water [46]. This procedure is usually ineffective and difficult to control, because lignin tends to precipitate as a sticky tar in the internal surfaces of the recovery tower, reducing the recovery of alcohol. The modified method is the evaporation of 60–65% alcohol in a flash tank, cooling the spent liquor to a temperature above 70° C (to avoid the precipitation) and diluting by injection of the liquor into water through a Venturi tube [47].

In a recent study, two feasible laboratory-scale ways are proposed to recover lignin by precipitation [48]. The laboratory-scale representation of a system involving the reduction of ethanol concentration in the spent liquors by evaporation in a flash tank to 30% (v/v), dilution ratio of 1:1, at 40°C and centrifugation, appeared as the best alternative for lignin recovery (45% of precipitate with a purity of 94%, yielding 42% pure lignin). Another feasible procedure involved lignin precipitation and recovery from the spent liquors by dilution with water under a dilution ratio of 1:2. This method yielded 41% pure lignin, yet from a precipitate of 48% with 87% purity (much more contaminated, mainly with carbohydrates). The temperature of the treatments affects the recovery process. In both cases, the most suitable dilution conditions are at room temperature or 40° C.

In addition, ultra-filtration membrane allows to recover lignin with specific molecular weight, but the cost is relatively high [49, 50]. For instance, ultra-filtration has been used to fractionate the lignin dissolved in ethanol-soluble liquor. The ultra-filtration module is a pilot unit equipped with a stainless steel tank with water jacket for temperature control, a recirculation pump and a set of tubular ceramic membranes of different cut-offs in the interval 5–15 kDa [51]. Four different cutoff fractions are obtained: less than 5 kDa fraction; 5–10 kDa fraction; 10–15 kDa fraction and more than 15 kDa fraction. After the ultra-filtration, the obtained lignin has a relatively homogeneous molecular weight distribution.

11.3.3 Applications of the Products

11.3.3.1 Cellulose/Pulp

The obtained cellulose has a high amount of cellulose, high proportion of *para*-crystalline and amorphous cellulose and lower DP as compared to the native material. Lower DP of the obtained material can improve the enzymatic hydrolysis due to the two factors [52]: (1) increasing the amount of the reducing ends of cellulose chain; and (2) making cellulose more amenable to enzymes. Cellulose with short chains allows it to be attacked by enzymes more easily because they form weaker networks rather than strong hydrogen bonding [19, 53]. This suggests that the cellulose-rich residue is amenable to the enzymatic deconstruction for the production of ethanol. Generally, high conversion of cellulose to glucose can be achieved up to 90–100% for most softwood and hardwood after ethanol fractionations [20, 45]. For instance, the ethanol/water treated *B. davidii* has been subjected to enzymatic hydrolysis applying cellulose (Cellucast 1.5 I) and β -glucosidase (Novozm 188). The data indicates that high conversion of cellulose to glucose to glucose to glucose up to 98% was achieved under the optimal conditions [39].

Most studies show that lignin removal enhances the enzymatic deconstruction of cellulose, since lignin inhabits cellulose activity [54–57]. While reducing the

lignin content from 30 to 19%, the enzymatic hydrolysis was enhanced hugely, whereas further reduction in the lignin content to 9%, only negligible increase of enzymatic hydrolysis was observed [39]. An exception was the treatment of *B. davidii*, decreasing the lignin content of the sample did not increase the enzymatic hydrolysis. It seems that other factors influenced the enzymatic hydrolysis in addition to lignin content [39].

It is generally believed that amorphous cellulose is more easily attacked than crystalline cellulose [55]. A comparative study conducted by Jeoh et al. [58] showed that amorphous cellulose exhibited high enzymatic hydrolysis as compared to crystalline cellulose, due to formation of more extensive bonding between the reducing ending groups of amorphous cellulose and cellulase (*Trichoderma reesei*). With respect to enzymatic hydrolysis of the ethanol pretreated *B. davidii*, it was considered that a low CrI value of 0.55 was already efficient for hydrolysis, and further reduction of the value did not afford additional benefits for hydrolysis [39].

Compared to the conventional chemical pulping process, the obtained pulp from ethanol fractionation has a higher yield, easier bleachability and comparable pulp properties.

Poplar was subjected to ethanol pulping to optimize the process by varying the ethanol concentration, pulping time, pulping temperature and usage of catalyst (H_2SO_4). Even using 0.02% acid catalyst, the obtained pulp yield and viscosity were lower than the acceptable level; therefore, acid catalyst should not be added. This was due to the serious degradation of carbohydrates in an acid medium. Under optimal conditions, i.e., cooking at 180°C for 90 min with 50% ethanol, pulp was obtained with yield around 45%, viscosity 892 ml/g and kappa number 67 [59].

A significant feature of the ethanol/water produced pulp is that the pulp is easy to be bleached even with rather high kappa number. It has been reported that ethanol aspen pulp of a kappa number 30 was bleached to 81–86% ISO brightness applying a chlorine bleaching sequence (CEH) and to an higher brightness of 90% ISO via a chlorine dioxide bleaching (DED) sequence, whereas ethanol birch pulp of a kappa number 40 was bleached to 83% ISO brightness with a CEH bleaching sequence [60]. With respect to the ability of delignification in oxygen delignification process, hardwood ethanol pulp showed more extensive delignification extent than the corresponding kraft pulp. A delignification up to 75% was achieved without a significant reduction of pulp viscosity, and pulp was bleached to a brightness level greater than 92% ISO after either an ECF sequence or a totally chlorine free (TCF) sequence [61]. On the contrary, delignification extent of kraft pulp in oxygen delignification stage is below 50% to avoid the extensive degradation of carbohydrates.

It has been reported that ethanol pulp was also suitable for alkaline extraction and alkaline oxygen delignification [62]. Reduction of residual lignin prior to bleaching by alkaline extraction can reduce the amount of bleaching chemicals thus reducing the environmental impact of the bleaching process. After the wheat straw ethanol pulp with kappa number around 60 was extracted with 1% NaOH aqueous solution for 1 h, a large proportion of lignin was removed from the fiber [62]. However, an increase of alkaline concentration resulted in an increase of the lignin concentration on the fiber surface due to the enhanced adsorption of the dissolved lignin back on the fiber surface, similar to the phenomenon observed in alkaline extraction of kraft pulp.

Sugar bagasse pulps produced from ethanol/water organosolv process were used to produce carboxymethyl cellulose [63]. In this process, the acid-catalyzed ethanol pulp (prepared with 0.02 mol/l sulfuric acid at 160°C for 1 h) was bleached with sodium chlorite, and then was used to prepare carboxymethyl cellulose (CMC). The CMC yield was 35% (based on the pulp) with substitution up to 0.70 groups CH₂COONa per unit of glucose residue.

Surface modification of cellulose fractionated from ethanol/water was conducted by heterogeneous esterification with octadecanoyl and dodecanoyl chloride [64]. After esterification, the modified cellulose showed strong reduction in the values of the polar parameter γ_s^p , i.e., 4.4 and 1.8 for dodecanoyl and octadecanoyl cellulose, as compared to a high value of 35.7 for the original ethanol extracted cellulose. Since the esterified cellulose had a good fiber/matrix interfacial compatibility and low moisture uptake, it was a potential feedstock as reinforcing elements used in composite materials.

Sisal (*Agave sisalana*) ethanol pulp prepared from cordage residues was used as reinforcement to cement-based composites [65], and the prepared pulp/cement composites could further combine with polypropylene (PP) fibers. Compared to that added by kraft pulp, the composites with the addition of ethanol pulp showed lower modulus of rupture (MOR), limit of proportionality (LOP) and toughness. However, the performance of ethanol pulp reinforced composites was improved through a further optimization of pulping process. After 100 aging cycles (without fast carbonation), the ethanol pulp composites showed lower water absorption and apparent voids volume than that combined with PP.

11.3.3.2 Lignin

The extracted lignin with ethanol fractionation is rich in phenolic aromatic rings, suggesting that it is a potential feedstock for preparing phenolic resins in the replacement of phenol presenting an environmental and economical process [66]. The synthesis of lignin-formaldehyde resins involves primarily a hydroxymethylation step. Lignin extracted from sugarcane bagasse had a large amount of active centers toward formaldehyde as compared to that from wood due to its higher proportion of H unit which was easily attacked by electrophilic groups [67].

Lignin extracted from white pine with ethanol/water fractionation was used to synthesize phenol-formaldehyde resol resins [68]. Under the optimal conditions, i.e., ethanol concentration 50%, reaction temperature 180°C, reaction time 4 h, lignin was extracted with a yield of 26% and a purity of around 83%. The obtained lignin showed a wide molecular weight distribution: Mw 1150, Mn 537 and polydispersity 2.14. The lignin fraction was used to replace phenol for the

synthesis of bio-based phenol-formaldehyde resol resins. By substitution of phenol with the pine lignins at various ratios ranging from 25 to 75%, a series of darkbrown viscous resol-type phenolic resins were prepared. The solid concentrations and viscosities of these bio-based resins could be adjusted readily by controlling their water contents. The obtained lignin-phenol-formaldehyde resols solidified upon heating with main exothermic peaks at 150–175°C, and secondary peaks at 135–145°C, depending on the lignin content in the resin formula. When the phenol substitution ratio was lower than 50%, the thermal cure of lignin-phenol-formaldehyde resols proceeded at lower temperatures than that of the corresponding phenolformaldehyde resol. The introduction of lignin in the resin formula decreased the thermal stability, leading to a lowered decomposition temperature and a reduced amount of carbon residue at elevated temperatures. However, the thermal stability was improved by purifying the lignin feedstock (to remove aliphatic sugars and increase aromatic structures) before the resin synthesis.

The ethanol lignin extracted from bagasse was subjected to purification including cyclohexane/ethanol extraction and acid precipitation. Then the lignin fraction was further hydroxymethylated and used to prepare lignin–phenol–formaldehyde resins [69]. With increased lignin content from 10 to 40%, the T_g of the resins increased from 120 to 150°C, and the rate of cure and the heat of reaction also increased. The negative surface charges resulting from the interaction between the substrate and the lignin–PF resins can reduce the contact angle; therefore, the film prepared from lignin–PF resins was good water-barrier coatings and used as cardboard substrates.

Sugarcane lignin released from Dehini rapid hydrolysis (using ethanol catalyzed with diluted sulfuric acid) was used to prepare lignin–formaldehyde resins and lignocellulosic fiber-reinforced composites [70]. The presence of lignin in both fiber and matrix greatly improved the adhesion at the fiber-matrix interface. The increased affinity improved the load transference performance from the matrix to the fiber, leading to good impact strength of the bio-based composites.

Antioxidant is a potential application of lignin. Research on lignin model compounds indicates that ortho-disubstituted phenolic groups are essential for antioxidant activity [71, 72]. The radical scavenging ability of lignin is decided by the ability to form a phenoxyl radical (i.e., hydrogen atom abstraction) as well as the stability of the phenoxyl radical. In lignin, ortho substituents such as methoxyl groups can stabilize phenoxyl radicals by resonance as well as hindering them from propagation. Conjugated double bonds can provide additional stabilization of the phenoxyl radicals through extended delocalization. Lignin was extracted with ethanol/water from hybrid poplar under various conditions, and the yield of the extracted lignin and the antioxidant activity were evaluated [73]. In general, the lignin prepared at elevated temperature, extended reaction time, increased catalyst and diluted ethanol shows high antioxidation activity due to more phenolic hydroxyl groups, low molecular weight and narrow polydispersity of the lignin. Under the optimal conditions, i.e., 190°C, 70 min, 1.4% H₂SO₄ and 60% ethanol, lignin yield was achieved at 20.1% with a high radical scavenging index of 56.4. Ethanol/water lignin extracted from *Miscanthus sinensis* with specific molecular weight was separated by ultra-filtration, and its antioxidant capacity was

investigated [74]. The data indicated that even though phenolic content was the major factor that determined the antioxidation activity, the molecular weight and purity of the lignin were also contributors. Compared to the crude lignin, the resulted ultra-filtrated lignin exhibited higher antioxidation capacity due to its narrow molecular weight distribution and lower carbohydrate contamination.

Ethanol lignin has potential to sorb metals due to the richness in metal-binding functional groups including carboxylic and phenolic groups [75]. Lignin extracted with ethanol/water catalyzed by dilute sulfuric acid was used as an adsorbent for removal of copper (II) from CuSO₄ aqueous solution [76]. It was found that the maximum removal of Cu (II) ions was achieved to $\sim 41\%$ by using the organosolv lignin in 10 min at 20°C when the initial concentration of CuSO₄ was 3×10^{-4} M. In addition, the absorbed lignin can be recovered using HCl in a contact time of 10 min. In a comparative study, the organosolv lignin and kraft lignin from both softwood and hardwood were used to sorb Cu and Cd [77]. The conditions covered a range of pH (2–6.5), ionic strength (0.0001–0.1 M) and initial metal concentration (1-25 mg Me (II)/l). The results indicated all sorbents exhibited a preference for Cu over Cd, and kraft ligning showed higher sorption capacity and faster uptake rate. However, the absorption capacities of the lignin-based sorbents were lower than those reported such as chitosan, green alga. Therefore, further modification of the organosolv lignin is necessary to achieve a higher metal sorption capacity thus can be used commercially.

Ethanol lignin was used as filler in printing ink vehicles and paints [78]. The lignin extracted by Alcell process with a lower molecular weight (Mn 700, Mw 1,700) can significantly improve the properties of the viscous media used for offset inks and paints with respect to tack and misting reduction. The addition of the lignin resulted in a brown coloration in these liquids, but did not bring about fundamental modification of their other basic physical and chemical properties. Therefore, no negative effects were produced for their most applications.

Selective hydrogenolysis is one effective way that can decrease the degree of polymerization while increasing the H/C ratio and lowering the O/C ratio of lignin, thus can convert it from a low grade fuel into potential fuel precursors or other value-added chemicals [79]. In a typical reaction catalyzed with $RuCl_2(PPh_3)_3$ [80], the solubility of ethanol lignin in DMSO increased from 59.1 to 96.4% with increase in temperature from 50 to 175°C. The hydrogenolysis mechanism was mainly selective cleavage of aryl-*O*-aryl and aryl-*O*-aliphatic linkages, which was demonstrated by ³¹P NMR spectroscopy.

11.3.3.3 Other Products

As indicated before, under serious conditions (high temperature, high sulfuric acid dosage and long reaction time), more degraded saccharine-derived chemicals, such as furfural, levulinic acid and HMF, can be obtained in high amounts. Furfural has a variety of applications for a broad spectrum of derivatives chemicals and polymer products [81]. In addition, furfural is a good solvent widely used in

lubricant, coatings, adhesives, furan resin and so on [82]. Levulinic acid is a key platform compound for the synthesis of a series of value-added products, including chiral reagents, biologically active materials, polyhydroxyalkanoates, antifouling compounds, personal care products, lubricants adsorbents, printing inks, coatings [83], etc. HMF is also a platform compound for the synthesis of many chemicals derived from petroleum. For example, it can be converted into 2,5-furandicarb-oxylic acid, 2,5-dihydroxymethylfuran and 2,5-bis(hydroxymethyl) tetrahydrofuran [84]. In addition, it is a precursor in the synthesis of liquid alkanes used for diesel fuel [85].

11.4 Organic Acid Fractionation

Formic and acetic acids are good solvents for lignin, and they can hydrolyze lignin in lignocellulosic material under elevated temperature thus resulting in delignification. At present, organic acids-based fractionations are preformed in formic or acetic acid solutions without and with the addition of catalysts (Table 11.2) [86–103]. As can be seen, the catalysts mainly used are inorganic acid such as hydrochloric acid, sulfuric acid and hydrogen peroxide.

11.4.1 Effect of Treatment on the Structure of Lignocellulosic Material

11.4.1.1 Reactions of Lignin

The chemical modifications of lignin during organic acid fractionation are mainly β -O-4 cleavage, lignin condensation, hydrolysis of LCC structures and the native ester structures, and esterification of the hydroxyl groups. By analyzing the dissolved lignin in a Milox pulping process with three stages, it was found that β -aryl ether bonds were mainly cleaved in the second stage. The precipitated lignin dissolved in the first stage contained a high amount of sugars, and its molecular weight increased with increased stages [104]. Lignin model compounds were investigated by reflux in 85% formic acid, and it was found that the compounds were completely consumed in 1 h. Primary, secondary and phenolic hydroxyl groups of the model compounds were partially converted into corresponding formates [105]. Compared to MWL, the dissolved lignin from acetic acid fractionation contained more acetyl groups in C α and C γ , indicating that hydrolysis of native esters and acetylation (esterification) occurred simultaneously during the fractionation process. However, no acetylation was involved in the formic acid fractionation [106]. In addition, the cleavage of LCC structures was confirmed by the low contaminated sugars in the lignin fractionation precipitated from water [106].

Table 11.2 Frac	stionation processes with formic	c and acetic acids		
Process	Raw material	Fractionation conditions	Results	Ref.
Formic acid	Rice straw	Formic acid 80%, liquor to solid ratio 12, 100°C, 60 min	Pulp yield 44.4%, delignification $\sim 85\%$, silicon derivatives remain in the pulp	[86]
Formic acid	Sugarcane bagasse	Formic acid 80%, liquor to solid ratio 10, 85°C, 90 min	Pulp yield 45.5%, kappa number 26.1	[87]
Formic acid	Corn	Formic acid 88%, liquor to solid ratio 10, 60°C, 360 min	Hemicelluloses degradation 85%, delignification 70%	[88]
Formic acid	Dhaincha, kash, banana stem	Formic acid 70, 80, 90%, liquor to solid ratio 10, 80°C, 60–120 min	Pulp yield 52.9–62.1%, hemicelluloses degradation 50–60%, delignification 75–83%	[89]
Milox	Miscanthus x giganteus	Two-stage Milox: formic acid 90%, H ₂ O ₂ dosage 1.5%, 67°C, 60 min; followed by formic acid 85%, boiling point, 30–90 min	Pulp: kappa number 3–5, viscosity 700–800 ml/g	[06]
Milox	Cardoon stalk	Formic acid 80%, H ₂ O ₂ dosage 5%, liquor to solid ratio 10, 60°C, 90 min	Pulp: yield 62.6%, lignin content 2.3%, kappa number 19, viscosity 515 ml/g	[91]
Milox	Populus	Two-stage Milox: formic acid 80%, liquor to solid ratio 8, 75°C, 45 min, followed by formic acid 80%, H ₂ O ₂ dosage 2%, liquor to solid ratio 8, boiling point, 105 min	Pulp: yield 53.7%, lignin content 5.5%, cellulose content 87.0%, xylan content 3.14%	[92]
PAA	Sugarcane bagasse	Peracetic acid (PAA) loading of 50%, liquor to solid ratio 4, 75°C, 120 min	Pulp : yield 53.7%, kappa number 11.3, brightness 51.12% ISO, DP 900	[93]
Acetic acid	Jute	Acetic acid 90%, liquor to solid ratio 7, 150–200°C, 10–30 min	Pulp: yield 76–90%, kappa number 42–56	[94]
Acetic acid	Bagasse	Acetic acid 80%, liquor to solid ratio 10, 145°C, 60 min	Pulp: yield 63%, kappa number 44	[95]
				continued)

356

Table 11.2 (cont	inued)			
Process	Raw material	Fractionation conditions	Results	Ref.
Acetosolv	Wheat straw	Acetic acid 90% (v/v), H ₂ SO ₄ dosage 4% (w/w, on straw), liquor to solid ratio 10 (v/w), 105°C, 180 min	Pulp yield 50%, dissolved lignin yield 15%, and monosaccharides yield 35%	[96]
Acetosolv	Populus	Acetic acid 95% (v/v), H ₂ SO ₄ dosage 1.5% (w/w, on straw), liquor to solid ratio 8 (v/w), 106°C, 180 min	Pulp: yield 52.1%, lignin content 6.79%	[76]
Acetosolv	Miscanthus x giganteus	Acetic acid 85%, HCl dosage 0.10-0.15%, boiling point, 60-180 min	Pulp: yield 54.7–59.1%, lignin content 1.8–5.4%, viscosity 809–1151 ml/g	[98]
Acetosolv	Eucalyptus	Acetic acid 90%, HCl dosage 0.5%, liquor to solid ratio 10, boiling point, 180 min	Pulp: yield 46%, kappa number 31	[66]
Acetosolv	Beech	Acetic acid 90%, HCl dosage 0.2%, liquor to solid ratio 7, 130°C, 60 min	Pulp yield 50%, lignin content 7.5%, cellulose content 77.2%, xylan content 8.4%	[100]
Acetosolv	Marabou	Acetic acid 90%, HCl dosage 0.2%, 121°C, 60 min	Delignification 84.8%, hemicelluloses degradation 78%	[101]
Formosolv	Miscanthus x giganteus	Formic acid 80%, HCl dosage 0.10–0.15%, boiling point, 60–180 min	Pulp: yield 47.1–53.3%, lignin content 3.2–5.0%, viscosity 838–1084 ml/g	[98]
Formosolv	Eucalyptus	Formic acid 80%, HCl dosage 0.2%, liquor to solid ratio 10, boiling point, 180 min	Pulp: yield 41.5%, kappa number 20.5	[66]
Formacell	Triticale straw	Formic acid 30%, acetic acid 50%, liquor to solid ratio 12, 107°C, 180 min	Pulp yield 48.5%, xylan content 14.3%, kappa number 33.8, viscosity 1181 ml/g	[102]
Formacell	Eucalyptus	Formic acid 8.5%, acetic acid 76.5%, liquor to solid ratio 5, 170°C, 90 min	Bleached pulp: brightness 92.2% ISO, viscosity 651 ml/g	[103]

When hydrogen peroxide was added into the organic acid system, peroxyformic or peracetic acid was generated in situ through an equilibrium reaction between organic acid and hydrogen peroxide, and electrophilic HO⁺ ions were formed [107]. The HO⁺ ions reacted with lignin through ring hydroxylation, oxidative ring opening, substitution of side chains, cleavage of β -aryl ether bonds and epoxidation [108].

11.4.1.2 Carbohydrates Degradation

Generally, organic acids resulted in only partial degradation of cellulose by hydrolysis. When cellulose (cotton) was treated with 78% formic acid with the addition of high amounts of HCl (4%), formic acid molecule penetrated to the intermolecular hydrogen bonds of cellulose, leading to a strong swelling. As a result, the rigid framework of crystalline lattice was crushed, resulting in hydrolysis of both crystalline and amorphous region of cellulose to generate glucose [109].

In organic acid system, xylan can be degraded into xylose and further generate furfural, whereas hexoses are converted into HMF, acetoxymethylfurfural (AMF) and furfural. These conversions have been confirmed by model studies. Stability studies indicated that furfural and HMF were stable in acetic acid/formic acid/ water system, which corresponded to a higher yield of furfural in the pulping process [110]. It was confirmed that a long storage time of 275 days in acetic acid/ formic acid/water system resulted in negligible reductions of these compounds, due to the fact that organic acids can suppress oxidative reactions.

11.4.2 Process of Organic Acid Fractionation and Lignin Recovery

In organic acid fractionation process, the obtained pulp after cooking is generally washed with fresh organic solvent to avoid the lignin precipitation on the pulp, and then washed with water. After the solid is filtrated, the black liquors rich in lignins can be diluted with water to obtain crude lignin. It was observed that a water to liquor ratio of 6 in the lignin-precipitation step resulted in lignin recovery of 88.0 and 77.2% (based on the Klason lignin content in the original material) for formic acid and acetic acid fractionation processes, respectively [99]. In another study, most of the lignin was centrifuged with a water to liquor ratio of 7, and the solid phase (lignin) was washed repeatedly with water to remove the maximum possible amount of carbohydrates to recover a purified lignin [90].

The main operate cost in organic acid pulping, especially for formic acid pulping, is the solvent-recovery section. The black liquor, together with washing liquor, is evaporated to recover the solvent. The organic acid staying in the evaporation residue is recovered by spray drying. Then the organic acid is concentrated for further use in cycle. Distillation, azeotropic distillation, extractive



Fig. 11.3 Process simulation of acetosolv fractionation [112, 113]

distillation, extraction, membrane and adsorption are potential methods for condensation of organic acid [111]. By using pinch technology for heat integration of the Milox process, the needs for external heating and cooling were reduced by about 40 and 50%, respectively.

A simplified process for simulation of material balance of acetosolv fractionation has been proposed [112, 113] (Fig. 11.3). In this process, wood is mixed with the cooking reagents and recycle streams and reacts in the reactor. After cooking, the resulting suspension is subjected to separation by filtration, and the resulting pulp is washed with water in a percolation unit. In the solvent- and HCl-recovery section, liquors and a recycle stream from the secondary recovery section are processed by flash evaporation, stripping and distillation to recover HCl, formic acid and water. In the by-products recovery section, the concentrated liquors are mixed with water to precipitate hydrophobic materials, and the precipitations are recovered by centrifugal filtration. The liquors from the lignin-precipitation unit are sent to heteroazeotropic distillation unit to give a head stream that is rectified to obtain furfural and a bottom stream. In the secondary solvent-recovery section, the above liquors are evaporated to separate the non-volatile solutes as a concentrated solution, whereas the vapor is recycled. According to the computer simulation [112], the proposed process allowed recovery of 97.6% of acetic acid and 91.7% of HCl, whereas furfural with a high purity of 99.5% was obtained as a valuable by-product.

Simulation of solvent recovery in peroxyacid pulping has been carried out by shortcut simulations and pinch technology [2]. It was found that simple distillation seems to be the preferable solution for recovering the solvents. The presence of a

low percentage of acetic acid in formic acid/water system was not favorable to the distillation. However, this can be avoided by using a high percentage of acetic acid in the pulping process since pulping with formic acid/acetic acid/water was also feasible. By using pinch technology, up to 40% energy savings were achieved during the separation of formic acid/acetic acid/water mixture.

11.4.3 Applications of the Products

11.4.3.1 Cellulose/Pulp

A study conducted by Sindhu [114] indicated that it was possible to convert sugarcane bagasse into ethanol with a formic acid pretreatment. The highest reducing sugar yield of 79.1% can be obtained after the enzymatic substance (sugarcane bagasse) was pretreated with formic acid under such conditions, i.e., 60% (v/v) concentration of formic acid, 0.6% concentration of H₂SO₄ as a catalyst. The enzymatic hydrolyzate was further used as a substrate for fermentation to produce ethanol. A maximum ethanol concentration (18.45 g of ethanol) was obtained after 24 h with an overall efficiency of nearly 48%.

Broom fiber obtained by Milox process was used as a reinforcing agent for biocomposites [115]. In this case, PLA-based composites were reinforced by replacement of 20% pulp obtained from a two-stage pulping of broom. By the addition of the pulp as a reinforcement agent, the material showed stiffer property with a decrease of tensile strength and negligible variations of impact strength and thermal stability. In addition, the composites containing the pulp showed lower amounts of retained water than that containing the original fiber, mainly related to the presence of formyl groups, relatively low amounts of hydroxyl groups and the lignin in the pulp surface.

Acetosolv pulp from Populus was subjected to TCF bleaching to prepare dissolving pulp [116]. Under the best conditions of an EOZQPP sequence, the obtained bleached pulp (brightness near 90% ISO, intrinsic viscosity above 600 mL/g, R18 alkaline resistance of 95% and 5% residual xylan) met the requirements for preparation of cellulose derivatives such as cellulose nitrate or viscose. Dissolving pulps produced with Acetosoly, Formacell and Milox methods from Eucalyptus and the TCF-bleached pulps were tested for their applicability in viscose fiber production [103]. The acid organosolv fraction process showed superior potential in fractionation selectivity and specific investment costs, as compared to the conventional acidic magnesium sulfite technology. The produced pulp with low pentosan level and high molecular weight can be achieved by using the Milox process or Formacell process. These organosoly pulps contained a lower proportion of low molecular weight fractions with DP below 50. The subsequent alkaline treatments involved steeping and aging, suggesting that the processability of the organosolv pulps was comparable to that of the conventional sulfite dissolving pulp. The qualities of viscose made from Milox and Acetosolv dissolving pulps were poor for viscose production, whereas Formacell pulps were good. However, the strength properties of the pulps in the conditioned state, calculated as tenacity multiplied by elongation increased in the order: Sulfite pulp < Acetosolv pulp < Formacell pulp < Milox pulp.

The organic acid pulps were used to prepare fibers and films by dissolution in NMMO [117]. The dissolution behavior in NMMO and the processability of the bleached organosolv pulps were satisfactory. Fibers and films could be produced with structural and mechanical properties comparable to the conventional sulfite and standard commercial dissolving pulp products. TEM observation showed no different features between commercial pulps and organosolv pulps could be detected in the products.

The cellulose fraction prepared from formic acid/peroxyformic acid process was further bleached with alkaline hydrogen peroxide, and then subjected to acid hydrolysis to obtain microcrystalline cellulose (MCC) [118]. The MCC samples were obtained under two different conditions, one (MCC1) was at a high concentrated acid and the other (MCC2) was at a low concentrated acid. The yields of the samples ranged from 48.0 to 52.8% on jute. The prepared MCC2 showed diameters of 15–40 nm, and the MCC samples exhibited good thermal stability. In addition, the I β (monoclinic cellulose) proportion in the samples followed the decrease order: MCC2, MCC1 and cellulose. It was claimed that the prepared MCC could be applied to prepare the high-strength and low-abrasive products [119].

Acetosolv pulp from beech wood was subjected to TCF bleaching with EOQPaaP sequences, resulting in a fully bleached pulp with a SCAN viscosity of 604 cm³/g. Then the bleached pulp was used to synthesis carboxymethyl cellulose (CMC) under heterogeneous conditions in isopropanol [120]. The CMC with a degree of substitution of 1.16 was obtained, which was comparable to those prepared from viscose staple fiber and cotton linter.

11.4.3.2 Hemicelluloses

The composition of degraded hemicelluloses liquor obtained from organic acid fraction of the raw material is very complex and various pretreatments are needed for further fermentation. Especially many components that are inhibitory to microorganism should be removed. The hemicelluloses liquor from Milox pulping of reed was pretreated with powered activated carbon aimed at lowering the content of formic acid, and the remaining sugar fraction was subjected to lactic acid fermentation by *Lactobacillus pentosus*. Nearly complete conversion of sugars was achieved, i.e., the product contained 33 g/l lactic acid and 17 g/l acetic acid with volumetric productivity of 0.6 g/(1 h) [121].

Xylose can be produced by hydrolysis of straw with formic acid containing hydrochloric acid. In a previous study, the straw was hydrolyzed with saturated formic acid containing 10% HCl with a liquor solid ratio of 24 in 0.5 h at 65°C, to

obtain xylose with yield of 23.62% [122]. The hydrolyzate was purified with D311 and activated carbon for decoloration and then crystallized, resulting in a pure xylose fraction with a yield of 15.87%.

11.4.3.3 Lignin

Acetosolv lignin from sugarcane bagasse was catalytic oxidation with $\text{Co}^{2+}/\text{Mn}^{2+}/$ HBr yielding an oxidized lignin with carbonyl groups higher than 21% [123]. The kinetic mechanism study indicated that the reaction involved a two-step reaction: cleavage of C–O linkages followed by the formation of C=O after 2 h. The oxidation process can be promoted by the addition of paraldehyde with a small amount of dosage.

By oxidation with polyphenoloxidase (PPO), the number of carbonyls and hydroxyls of Acetosolv lignin from sugarcane bagasse increases, leading to the increase of the chelating capacity of lignin. In addition, the products obtained can be used as oxidized phenols and controlled-release matrices [124]. The chelating capacity of the original lignin was 351 mg Cu²⁺/g lignin. After oxidation with PPO/O₂ and PPO/O₂/glycerol, the modified lignin showed increasing chelating capacities of 73% and 110%, respectively. The oxidized lignins showed lower molecular weights and less quinone structures than the original lignin. Due to the increasing amount of vicinal hydroxyl groups, the chelating capacity was increased. While Acetosolv lignin from sugarcane bagasse was oxidized with two phenol oxidases: tyrosinase (TYR) and laccase (LAC), the chelating capacity was improved significantly. With respect to the chelating capacity of Cu²⁺ the lignins oxidized with TYR and LAC were 16.8% and 21% higher than that of the original lignin, respectively [125].

When hydroxymethylation of Acetosolv lignin from sugarcane bagasse was conducted at 40°C, the main reaction, i.e., addition of formaldehyde to the lignin fragments, finished within 4 h. Subsequently, condensation of the fragments only led to form a resol-type cross-linked resin [126]. Acetosolv lignins obtained from pine reacted with formaldehyde under such conditions: temperature 50°C, sodium hydroxide/lignin ratio 0.3, formaldehyde/lignin ratio 0.36, solids content 21.5% and reaction time 7 h [127]. The incorporation of methyl groups was evidenced by FT-IR and NMR spectroscopies, suggesting that the reaction with formaldehyde brought about sufficient methylolation for the subsequent application in the formulation of adhesives.

Methylated Acetosolv lignin can be used to prepare plywood boards. The resins were obtained by copolymerization of phenol, formaldehyde and pre-methylated Acetosolv pine lignin. The overall properties of the plywood boards prepared with Acetosolv lignins were better than those obtained with a commercial phenol–formaldehyde resin [128]. In this case, Acetosolv and Formacell lignins from *Eucalyptus grandis* chips were reacted with formaldehyde in alkaline medium to obtain hydroxymethylated lignins. Up to 50% of the phenol in the PF-resol can be replaced by Acetosolv or Formacell lignin, and the synthesis with lignin allowed a

significant decrease of the reaction time. Thermal analysis indicated that the hydroxylmethylated lignins decomposed at a high temperature of 250°C as compared to 200°C for the original lignin. Both Acetosolv and Formacell lignins from *Eucalyptus* showed high heterogeneity with respect to the molecular weight, but the reactivity with formaldehyde did not improve significantly after fractionated with organic solvents [124].

High density polyethylene (HDPE)/lignin composites were prepared by melt blending of HDPE with formic acid lignin or hydroxymethylated formic acid lignin, respectively [129]. Elongation at break of the composites increased with increased content of lignin or hydroxymethylated lignin, and the bending modulus and bending strength increased with dosage of hydroxymethylated lignin. Under the conditions given, the tensile strength of the composite HDPE/lignin and HDPE/hydroxymethylated lignin increased by 8.0% and 16.2% as compared to the native HDP, respectively.

Formic acid lignin from sugarcane bagasse was blended with polyvinylpyrrolidone (PVP) via casting from DMSO and formic acid solutions [130]. A great interaction between PVP and formic acid lignin was achieved when casted from DMSO PVP/SCBL in the ration of 95/5 and casted from formic acid in the ration of 95/5 and 90/10. The presence of lignin up to 15% in PVP decreased the thermal stability of PVP accompanying increasing its photostability.

A polymeric amphiphile PE-AL was prepared by reaction of acetic acid lignin (AL) from birch with polyethylene glycol diglycidyl ether (PE) [131]. The prepared PE-AL in aqueous solution showed a low viscosity (<0.3 dl/g). The amphiphile molecules can form a complex with bovine serum albumin (BSA) at 4°C within 1 week. After the formation of complex with cellulase for 1 week, the activity of cellulase was enhanced remarkably and still preserved on a higher level after recycling the complex for several times.

Activated carbon sheets were prepared from acetic acid lignin by lamination [132]. Powered acetic acid lignin from fir (*Abies sachalinensis Masters*) was molded by thermal pressing to obtain sheets, and the sheets were carbonized at 1,000°C under nitrogen atmosphere. The obtained carbon sheet showed good absorption properties, for example, the iodine adsorption was comparable to those from commercial activated carbon or granules. In addition, the activated carbons showed a higher adsorption capacity for methanol than the commercial activated carbon power. Overall, the prepared activated carbon was a promising adsorbent for the removal of water and air pollutants.

Acetic acid lignin from softwood was further fractionated to obtain low molecular weight fraction, and further subjected to thermal treatment to remove the volatile materials. The obtained fraction was spun by fusion spinning to prepare carbon fibers without thermostabilization, accompanying a reduction in production costs [133]. The carbon fibers had a large surface due to porous structure, and their tensile strength increased with decreasing diameter.

11.5 Other Fractionation Processes Using Organic Solvents

In addition to the aforementioned fractionation process, other organic solvents, such as methanol, ethylene glycol, ethanolamine, acetone and dimethyl formamide, also attract much attention in fractionation lignocellulosic material in recent years. The typical processes are listed in Table 11.3 [134–145].

11.5.1 Methanol

Methanol fractionation of lignocellulosic material can be carried out without or with the addition of catalysts. In non-catalyzed (auto-catalyzed) methanol fractionation of lignocellulosic material, the cooking liquor becomes acidified due to the acetic acid released from the feedstock. In catalyzed processes, the liquor can be acidic, neutral or alkaline depending on the nature of the additives employed. During acid ethanol fractionation process, lignin is mainly dissolved by cleavage of α -aryl ether and arylglycerol- β -aryl ether bonds in the lignin macromolecule [146]. Whereas the cleavage of β -aryl ether bonds occurs to a lower extent [147]. The cleavage of ether bonds gives rise to new phenolic hydroxyl groups in lignin.

Some lignocellulosic materials, such as wheat straw [148], *Eucalyptus globulus* [134, 135] and poplar [149] can be delignified by methanol/water without the addition of catalyst. The optimum conditions result in pulps with a high yield and a low kappa number and an acceptable viscosity. By the addition of sulfuric acid as a catalyst, black cottonwood can be delignified in 70% methanol at temperatures ranging from 130 to 210°C. In a typical reaction, pulp with a high yield of 47% and a low kappa number of 8 was obtained in 3 h. The recovered lignin had a high molecular weight, indicating it was a potential chemical feedstock [150]. Aspen (*Populus tremuloides*) and black cottonwood (*Populus trichocarpa*) have been fractionated in 30–70% methanol catalyzed with H_2SO_4 and H_3PO_4 at pH lower than 3 [151]. After the pretreatment, glucomannan and arablnogalactan were dissolved into liquor and were easily digested by enzymes. The total yields of hydrolysis residues ranged from 40 to 60%, which generated 70–88% of the original six-carbon sugars contained in the wood by further enzyme hydrolysis.

Miscanthus x giganteus was pulped in the alkaline-methanol-anthraquinone process to prepare pulp for thermoplastic composite reinforcement [136]. Under the optimum conditions, methanol concentration 10% (v/v), alkaline concentration 15%, pulping time 25 min, pulping temperature 170°C, the produced pulp had a high thermally stable temperature of 255°C and an aspect ratio of 40, a straightness of 95% and high tensile strength of 890 MPa. The obtained pulp with good strength and thermal properties was an attractive low-weight and low-cost substitute for short glass fiber.

Table 11.3 Fractionati	on processes with other organic	c solvents		
Process	Raw material	Fractionation conditions	Results	Ref.
Methanol	E. globulus	Methanol 38–62%, acetic acid content 1%, liquid to solid ratio 7 (l/kg), 176–194°C, 56–104 min	Solid fraction: yield 51.7–74%, kappa number 12.6–85.4, viscosity 435–1110 ml/g	[134]
Methanol	E. globulus	Methanol 50%, alkali dosage 15%, AQ dosage 0.1%, liquid to solid ratio 7 (1/kg), 185°C, 110 min	Pulp: kappa number 21, viscosity 1100 ml/g	[135]
Methanol-soda-AQ	China reed fibers	Methanol 10%, a alakali dosage 15%, AQ dosage 0.1%, liquid to solid ratio 4, 70°C, 25 min	Fiber: zero-span tensile index 187.5 Nm/ g, 1% weight loss onset temperature 255°C	[136]
ASAM	Trema orientalis	Methanol 20% (v/v), Na ₂ SO ₃ to NaOH ratio 4, NaOH dosage 17% (as Na ₂ O), AQ dosage 0.1%, liquid to solid ratio 4.5, 180°C, 120 min	Pulp: yield 52.8%, kappa number 13.4, viscosity 30.4 mPa.s	[137]
Acetone	Wheat straw	Acetone 50% (v/v), liquid to solid ratio 14.2, 205°C, 60 min	Cellulose recovery 93%, degradation of hemicelluloses 82%, delignification 79%	[139]
Acetone/H ₂ SO ₄	Pinus radiata d. Don	Acetone 50% (v/v), H ₂ SO ₄ dosage 0.9%, liquid to solid ratio 7, 195°C, 5 min	Ethanol yield of 99.5% after fermentation	[138]
Ethylene glycol	Palm oil (<i>Elaeis guineensis</i>) empty	Ethylene glycol 80%, liquid to solid ratio 7, 180°C, 150 min	Pulp: yield 52%, kappa number 77.9, viscosity 533 mL/g	[140]
Ethylene glycol/soda	Olive wood trimmings	Ethylene glycol 15%, NaOH 15%, liquid to solid ratio 6, 180°C, 60 min	Pulp: yield 54.7%, kappa number 86.6	[141]
Esters	Aspen	Acetic acid/ethyl acetate/water ratio 1/1/ 1, liquid to solid ratio 6 (J/kg), 170°C, 90–120 min	Pulp: yield 52.5%, kappa number 9.7, viscosity 31 mPa.s	[142]
DMF	Wheat straw	DMF 70%, liquid to solid ratio 12, 210°C, 180 min	Pulp: kappa number ~ 34	[143]
			(cor	ntinued)

Table 11.3 (continue	(p:			
Process	Raw material	Fractionation conditions	Results	Ref.
DMF	Bagasse	DMF 40–60%, liquid to solid ratio 10, 190–210°C, 150 min	Pulp yield 55%, kappa number 31	[144]
Ethanolamine	Olive wood	Ethanolamine 5–15%, soda concentration 2.5–7.5%, liquid to solid ratio 4–6, 165–195°C, 30–90 min	Pulp yield 35.8–51.1, kappa number 70–110	[145]

11.5.2 Ethylene Glycol

Ethylene glycol solution allows to fractionation of agricultural crop residues into pulps and valuable by-products. Many no-wood materials, such as vine shoots, cotton stalks, leucaena (*Leucaena leucocephala*) and tagasaste (*Chamaecytisus proliferus*) [152, 153], palm oil tree residues [140] as well as waste newspaper [154], were subjected to ethylene glycol fractionation or pulping to obtain pulp or cellulose-rich fraction for the production of ethanol. In addition, ethylene glycol was used as modifying agents in soda [141] and kraft pulping [155], aimed at improving physical and mechanical properties of the paper sheets.

A new process has been designed to fractionation of agricultural crop residues (palm oil empty fruit bunches-EFB) for the production of pulp, lignin and hemicelluloses [140]. The obtained EFB organosolv pulp was used to produce paper, and the final properties of the resulting paper sheets were improved after refining. The black liquor showed a pH of 5.8 and a lower ash content, indicating that this liquor was easy to be treated in the subsequent stage to recover the by-products and energy. The obtained lignin with high proportion of low molecular weight lignin was claimed to be applicable as an extender or as a feedstock for the synthesis of phenol-formaldehyde resins. The solvent and by-products recovery was simulated based on 1,000 kg/h of dry raw material and solvent input flow rate 7,000 kg/h with a liquid/solid ratio of 7 (Fig. 11.4). Lignin was precipitated by adjusting pH to 2 with acidified water, and ethylene glycol was recovered by multiple distillations. By simulation with commercial software (Aspen Plus), 91% of the ethylene glycol exiting in the digester was recovered, and 88% water was obtained and recycled. In a proposed recovering scheme, lignin and sugar recoveries accounted for 22% and 35% of the original lignin and sugar in the feedstock were achieved, respectively.

11.5.3 Ethanolamine

With the addition of ethanolamine into alkaline pulping liquor, delignification was improved due to the increase of cleavage of β -O-4 ether linkages and decrease of condensation of lignin [156]. This ideal has been realized in pulping of olive wood trimmings [157]. Under the optimal conditions, i.e., 15% ethanolamine concentration, 7.5% soda concentration and liquid to solid ratio of 4 at 195°C for 30 min, pulp was produced with acceptable yield and viscosity.

In addition, ethanolamine can be used as a cooking agent at a high concentration without the addition of alkali, and this pulping process was applied to oil palm EFB, rice straw [158–160] and hesperaloe funifera [161]. A comparison of pulping of EFB with ethyleneglycol, diethyleneglycol, ethanolamine and diethanolamine suggested that pulp obtained by using ethanolamine exhibited the best properties [158]. With regard to yield, kappa number and brightness, the properties



Fig. 11.4 Process of solvents and by-products recovery stages of ethylene glycol fractionation [140]

of EFB ethanolamine pulp were comparable to those of kraft pulp from holm oak or eucalyptus wood. In addition, this process can be operated under a lower solvent concentration, temperature and time, with reduced energy and immobilized capital costs.

11.5.4 Acetone

Cellulosic materials can be partially or totally hydrolyzed in acetone solution with the addition of small amounts of acidic catalysts. The hydrolysis process can be operated at 145–228°C with 70–100% acetone [162]. In a high concentration acetone solution, the formation of stable complexes with sugars can prevent the degradation of the material. The produced lignin and sugars were claimed to be commercially useful products. By using acetone fractionation process, wood or delignified pulps can be converted into saccharified feedstock to produce pentosans and hexosans followed by sugars. It has been patented that lignocellulosic material can be cooked at 180–200°C with 60–70% (v/v) acetone containing 0.02–0.25% phosphoric, sulfuric or hydrochloric acids as a catalyst [163]. After the fractionation, a high purity of glucose fraction was obtained with the predominately cellulosic material, whereas mixed pentose and hexoses were produced when applying the whole wood as a feedstock.

Acetone pulping of wheat straw [164–166] and Eucalyptus [167] has also been reported. For instance, a treatment using a temperature of 180°C, an acetone concentration of 40%, a cooking time of 60 min and 1,750 beating revolutions,

resulted in pulp with similar or even better properties than those for soda pulp. It was claimed that the advantages that the process was less contaminating since the acetone was easy to be recovered and that the dissolved liquor rich in lignin had great potential use in the production of new materials. In addition, acetone has been used in mixtures with formic acid [168], ethanol [169] and the mixtures of them [170]. Furthermore, oxygen delignification can be modified to oxygen–acetone delignification process. For instance, oxygen delignification of cotton-wood in acetone/water solutions (60/40, v/v) was evaluated with respect to pulping conditions as well as delignification kinetics [171, 172].

Recently, acetone organosolv fractionation of wheat straw has been studied to produce sugars and lignin [139]. The optimal conditions, i.e., 50% acetone for 1 h at 205°C, resulted in 82% hemicelluloses degradation, 79% delignification and 93% cellulose recovery. It has been shown that the acetone process improves the enzymatic hydroablity. After the fractionation pretreatment, a high glucose conversion yield up to 87% was achieved as compared to 16% for the untreated wheat straw. In another report, *Pinus radiata D. Don* was subjected to acetone pretreatment. A higher ethanol yield of 99.5% was achieved under the pretreatment conditions below: 50% acetone, pH 2.0, 195°C and 5 min [138].

11.5.5 Dimethyl Formamide

Dimethyl formamide (DMF), with a high selectivity to delignification, was used as a solvent for pulping. Many lignocellulosic materials, such as bagasse [144, 173], wheat straw [143], rich straw [174] and canola stalks [175], have been subjected to pulping in this context and the main operation parameters (time, temperature concentration, liquid to wood ratio, etc.) were optimized.

DMF pulping has many advantages such as obtained pulp with more hemicelluloses, less cellulose degradation, high yield, low residual lignin content, high brightness and good strength. The pulp produced was easy to be bleached and the yield after bleaching was higher than the yield of kraft pulp [173]. For example, pulps with high mechanical properties comparable to kraft pulp were produced under such conditions, i.e., at 210°C for 150 min with 50% DMF [143].

The relatively high selectivity of acetone fractionation process is ascribed to the unique chemical mechanism. In most organosolv fractionation processes, protic solvents (such as alcohols with the addition of acids or bases) result in the main delignification and degradation of carbohydrate under certain conditions. However, in an aprotic DMF solvent, the main and only reaction during fractionation process is delignification. The reaction results in the cleavage of carbohydrate-lignin ether linkage and hydrolysis of β -O-4 and α -O-4 bonds of lignin to form small fragments of lignin. In addition, DMF plays an important role in protecting carbohydrates [173, 176].

It should be noted that other than the organic solvents mentioned above, phenols, esters, ammonia, amines, formamide, dioxane, etc., have also been used to

fractionation of a variety of lignocellulosic materials, but these processes are mainly investigated to production of pulps in a laboratory scale presently [2, 4, 13].

11.6 Concluding Remarks

Organosolv fractionation is considered to be an environmentally friendly process to afford substantially cellulose, hemicelluloses/degraded sugars and lignin for further process that is specific to each component. After organosolv fractionation, the recalcitrance of lignocellulosic material is destroyed to some extent regarding cellulose crystallinity, degree of polymerization, lignin structure, lignin removal, hemicelluloses solubilization, etc. The obtained cellulosic residue is an enzyme hydrolyzable substance for the production of biofuels. In addition, it can also be converted into pulp for the production of paper, silk and other modified products through further process. The efficient degradation and dissolution of lignin in organic solvents allow the highly selective delignification of lignocellulosic material without the addition of large amounts of inorganic catalyst. Due to the mild conditions in the extraction process, the lignin dissolved in the liquor is easy to be recovered without complicated purification schemes. The obtained sulfurfree organosolv lignin is an ideal renewable and alternative feedstock for a variety of petrochemical-based chemicals and materials, which have great potential markets as well as high value applications. The dissolved carbohydrates, furfural and HMF, can also be served as feedstocks for some chemicals and polymers.

Acknowledgements The authors wish to express their gratitude for the financial support from the State Forestry Administration (200804015/2010-0400706), the National Natural Science Foundation of China (30930073 and 31070526), Major State Basic Research Projects of China (973-2010CB732204), Ministry of Education (111), and Hei Long Jiang Province for Distinguished Young Scholars (JC200907).

References

- Sundquist J, Poppius-Levlin K (1998) Milox pulping and bleaching. In: Young R, Akhtar M (eds) Environmentally friendly technologies for the pulp and paper industry. John Willey and Sons, New York, pp 157–190
- 2. Muurinen E (2000) Organosolv pulping: a review and distillation study related to peroxyacid pulping. Oulun yliopisto, Oulun
- 3. Rodriguez A, Jimenez L (2008) Pulping with organic solvents other than alcohols. Afinidad 65(535):188–196
- Johansson A, Aaltonen O, Ylinen P (1987) Organosolv pulping: methods and pulp properties. Biomass 13(1):45–65. doi:10.1016/0144-4565(87)90071-0
- 5. Jiménez L, Rodríguez A (2010) Valorization of agricultural residues by fractionation of their components. Open Agric J 4:125–134
- Leponiemi A (2008) Non-wood pulping possibilities: a challenge for the chemical pulping industry. Appita J 61(3):234–243

- Stewart D (2008) Lignin as a base material for materials applications: chemistry, application and economics. Ind Crop Prod 27(2):202–207. doi:10.1016/j.indcrop.2007.07.008
- Zhao XB, Cheng KK, Liu DH (2009) Organosolv pretreatment of lignocellulosic biomass for enzymatic hydrolysis. Appl Microbiol Biot 82(5):815–827. doi:10.1007/s00253-009-1883-1
- Klason P (1893) Bidrag till kannedomen om sammansattningen af granens ved samt de kemiska processerna vid framstallning af cellulosa darur. Teknisk Tidskrift, Afdelningen for Kemi och Metallurgi 23(2):17–22
- Klason P (1893) Framstallning af rent lignin ur granved och denna sednares kemiska sammansattning. Teknisk Tidskrift, Afdelningen for Kemi och Metallurgi 23(2):55–56
- Pauly H (1918) Aktiengesellschaft fur Zellstoff- und Papierfabrikation in Aschaffenburg, assignee.Verfahren zur gewinnung der das sogenannte lignin bildenten stoffe aus holzarten. German Patent 309551
- 12. Pauly H (1918) Aktiengesellschaft fur Zellstoff- und Papierfabrikation, assignee. Satt att utvinna lignin ur cellulosahaltigt material. Swedish Patent 45010
- 13. Aziz S, Sarkanen K (1989) Organosolv pulping: a review. Tappi J 72(3):169-175
- 14. Teder A, Olm L (1992) Alternative cooking processes: modified sulfate cooking and alkaline sulfite process. Svensk Papperstidning-Nordisk Cellulosa 95(7):26–32
- Pan XJ, Arato C, Gilkes N, Gregg D, Mabee W, Pye K, Xiao ZZ, Zhang X, Saddler J (2005) Biorefining of softwoods using ethanol organosolv pulping: preliminary evaluation of process streams for manufacture of fuel-grade ethanol and co-products. Biotechnol Bioeng 90(4):473–481. doi:10.1002/bit.20453
- Brosse N, El Hage R, Sannigrahi P, Ragauskas A (2010) Dilute sulphuric acid and ethanol organosolv pretreatment of *Miscanthus x giganteus*. Cell Chem Technol 44(1–3):71–78
- Monrroy M, Ibanez J, Melin V, Baeza J, Mendonca RT, Contreras D, Freer J (2010) Bioorganosolv pretreatments of *P.radiata* by a brown rot fungus (*Gloephyllum trabeum*) and ethanolysis. Enzyme Microb Technol 47(1–2):11–16. doi:10.1016/ j.enzmictec.2010.01.009
- 18. Brosse N, Sannigrahi P, Ragauskas A (2009) Pretreatment of *Miscanthus x giganteus* using the ethanol organosolv process for ethanol production. Ind Eng Chem Res 48(18):8328–8334
- Pan XJ, Xie D, Yu RW, Saddler JN (2008) The bioconversion of mountain pine beetlekilled lodgepole pine to fuel ethanol using the organosolv process. Biotechnol Bioeng 101(1):39–48. doi:10.1002/Bit.21883
- Pan XJ, Gilkes N, Kadla J, Pye K, Saka S, Gregg D, Ehara K, Xie D, Lam D, Saddler J (2006) Bioconversion of hybrid poplar to ethanol and co-products using an organosolv fractionation process: optimization of process yields. Biotechnol Bioeng 94(5):851–861. doi:10.1002/Bit.20905
- Mesa L, Gonzalez E, Ruiz E, Romero I, Cara C, Felissia F, Castro E (2010) Preliminary evaluation of organosolv pre-treatment of sugar cane bagasse for glucose production: application of 23 experimental design. Appl Energ 87(1):109–114. doi:10.1016/ j.apenergy.2009.07.016
- Teramoto Y, Lee SH, Endo T (2008) Pretreatment of woody and herbaceous biomass for enzymatic saccharification using sulfuric acid-free ethanol cooking. Bioresour Technol 99(18):8856–8863. doi:10.1016/j.biortech.2008.04.049
- Lopez F, Garcia JC, Perez A, Garcia MM, Feria MJ, Tapias R (2010) Leucaena diversifolia a new raw material for paper production by soda-ethanol pulping process. Chem Eng Res Des 88 (1A):1–9. doi:10.1016/j.cherd.2009.06.016
- Ogunsile BO, Quintana GC (2010) Modeling of soda: ethanol pulps from *Carpolobia lutea*. Bioresources 5(4):2417–2430
- Lopez F, Perez A, Garcia JC, Feria MJ, Garcia MM, Fernandez M (2011) Cellulosic pulp from *Leucaena* diversifolia by soda-ethanol pulping process. Chem Eng J 166(1):22–29. doi:10.1016/j.cej.2010.08.039

- Kirci H, Bostanci S, Yalinkilic MK (1994) A new modified pulping process alternative to sulfate method alkali-sulfite-antraquinone-ethanol (ASAE). Wood Sci Technol 28(2):89–99. doi:10.1007/BF00192688
- El Hage R, Brosse N, Sannigrahi P, Ragauskas A (2010) Effects of process severity on the chemical structure of Miscanthus ethanol organosolv lignin. Polym Degrad Stabil 95(6):997–1003. doi:10.1016/j.polymdegradstab.2010.03.012
- 28. Kishimoto T, Sano Y (2003) Delignification mechanism during high-boiling solvent pulping. V. Reaction of nonphenolic β -O-4 model compounds in the presence and absence of glucose. J Wood Chem Technol 23(3–4):279–292. doi:10.1081/Wct-120026993
- 29. Sarkanen KV, Tillman DA (1980) Progress in biomass conversion, vol 2. Academic Press, New York
- Kubo S, Kadla JF (2004) Poly(ethylene oxide)/organosolv lignin blends: relationship between thermal properties, chemical structure, and blend behavior. Macromolecules 37(18):6904–6911. doi:10.1021/Ma0490552
- West E, MacInnes AS, Hibbert H (1943) Studies on lignin and related compounds. LXIX. Isolation of 1-(4-hydroxy-3-methoxyphenyl)-2-propanone and 1-ethoxy-1-(4-hydroxy-3methoxyphenyl)-2-propanone from the ethanolysis products of spruce wood. J Am Chem Soc 65:1187–1192. doi:10.1021/ja01246a047
- 32. Hallac BB, Pu YQ, Ragauskas AJ (2010) Chemical transformations of *Buddleja davidii* lignin during ethanol organosolv pretreatment. Energ Fuel 24:2723–2732. doi:10.1021/ Ef901556u
- 33. Li S, Lundquist K (1999) Acid reactions of lignin models of β -5 type. Holzforschung 53(1):39–42. doi:10.1515/HF.1999.007
- 34. El Hage R, Brosse N, Chrusciel L, Sanchez C, Sannigrahi P, Ragauskas A (2009) Characterization of milled wood lignin and ethanol organosolv lignin from miscanthus. Polym Degrad Stabil 94(10):1632–1638. doi:10.1016/j.polymdegradstab.2009.07.007
- Meshgini M, Sarkanen KV (1989) Synthesis and kinetics of acid-catalyzed hydrolysis of some α-aryl ether lignin model compounds. Holzforschung 43(4):239–243. doi:10.1515/ hfsg.1989.43.4.239
- 36. Vazquez G, Antorrena G, Gonzalez J, Freire S, Lopez S (1997) Acetosolv pulping of pine wood: kinetic modelling of lignin solubilization and condensation. Bioresour Technol 59(2–3):121–127. doi:10.1016/S0960-8524(96)00168-X
- 37. Mcdonough TJ (1993) The chemistry of organosolv delignification. Tappi J 76(8):186-193
- Baeza J, Fernandez AM, Freer J, Pedreros A, Schmidt E, Duran N (1991) Organosolvpulping III: the influence of formic acid delignification of the enzymatic-hydrolysis of *Pinus radiata* D. Don sawdus. Appl Biochem Biotech 31(3):273–282. doi:10.1007/BF02921754
- 39. Hallac BB, Sannigrahi P, Pu YQ, Ray M, Murphy RJ, Ragauskas AJ (2010) Effect of ethanol organosolv pretreatment on enzymatic hydrolysis of *Buddleja davidii* stem biomass. Ind Eng Chem Res 49(4):1467–1472
- 40. Kim DE, Pan XJ (2010) Preliminary study on converting hybrid poplar to high-value chemicals and lignin using organosolv ethanol process. Ind Eng Chem Res 49(23):12156–12163. doi:10.1021/Ie101671r
- Bobleter O (1994) Hydrothermal degradation of polymers derived from plants. Prog Polym Sci 19(5):797–841
- 42. Arato C, Pye EK, Gjennestad G (2005) The lignol approach to biorefining of woody biomass to produce ethanol and chemicals. Appl Biochem Biotech 121:871–882. doi:10.1385/ABAB:123:1-3:0871
- Garcia A, Alriols MG, Llano-Ponte R, Labidi J (2011) Energy and economic assessment of soda and organosolv biorefinery processes. Biomass Bioenerg 35(1):516–525. doi:10.1016/ j.biombioe.2010.10.002
- 44. Liu ZH, Fatehi P, Jahan MS, Ni YH (2011) Separation of lignocellulosic materials by combined processes of pre-hydrolysis and ethanol extraction. Bioresour Technol 102(2):1264–1269. doi:10.1016/j.biortech.2010.08.049

- 45. Pan XJ, Xie D, Yu RW, Lam D, Saddler JN (2007) Pretreatment of lodgepole pine killed by mountain pine beetle using the ethanol organosolv process: Fractionation and process optimization. Ind Eng Chem Res 46(8):2609–2617. doi:10.1021/le0615761
- 46. Katzen R, Fredrickson R, Brush B (1980) Alcohol pulping appears feasible for small incremental capacity. Pulp and Paper 54(8):144–149
- 47. Pye EK, Lora JH (1991) The Alcell process: a proven alternative to kraft pulping. Tappi J 74(3):113–118
- Fernando EF, Vallejos EM, Area MC (2010) Lignin recovery from spent liquors from ethanol-water fractionation of sugar cane bagasse. Cell Chem Technol 44(9):311–318
- 49. Gonzalez M, Garcia A, Toledano A, Llano-Ponte R, de Andres MA, Labidi J (2009) Lignocellulosic feedstock biorefinery processes: Analysis and design. Chem Eng Trans 17:1107–1112
- Garcia A, Egues I, Toledano A, Gonzalez M, Serrano L, Labidi J (2009) Biorefining of lignocellulosic residues using ethanol organosolv process. Chem Eng Trans 18:911–916
- Alriols MG, Garcia A, Llano-ponte R, Labidi J (2010) Combined organosolv and ultrafiltration lignocellulosic biorefinery process. Chem Eng J 157(1):113–120. doi:10.1016/ j.cej.2009.10.058
- Zhang YHP, Lynd LR (2004) Toward an aggregated understanding of enzymatic hydrolysis of cellulose: noncomplexed cellulase systems. Biotechnol Bioeng 88(7):797–824. doi:10.1002/bit.20282
- Puri VP (1984) Effect of crystallinity and degree of polymerization of cellulose on enzymatic saccharification. Biotechnol Bioeng 26(10):1219–1222. doi:10.1002/ bit.260261010
- 54. Yoshida M, Liu Y, Uchida S, Kawarada K, Ukagami Y, Ichinose H, Kaneko S, Fukuda K (2008) Effects of cellulose crystallinity, hemicellulose, and lignin on the enzymatic hydrolysis of *Miscanthus sinensis* to monosaccharides. Biosci Biotech Biochem 72(3):805–810. doi:10.1271/Bbb.70689
- Zhu L, O'Dwyer JP, Chang VS, Granda CB, Holtzapple MT (2008) Structural features affecting biomass enzymatic digestibility. Bioresour Technol 99(9):3817–3828. doi:10.1016/j.biortech.2007.07.033
- 56. Ohgren K, Bura R, Saddler J, Zacchi G (2007) Effect of hemicellulose and lignin removal on enzymatic hydrolysis of steam pretreated corn stover. Bioresour Technol 98(13):2503–2510. doi:10.1016/j.biortech.2006.09.003
- 57. Yang B, Wyman CE (2006) BSA treatment to enhance enzymatic hydrolysis of cellulose in lignin containing substrates. Biotechnol Bioeng 94:4611–4617. doi:10.1002/Bit.20750
- Jeoh T, Ishizawa CI, Davis MF, Himmel ME, Adney WS, Johnson DK (2007) Cellulase digestibility of pretreated biomass is limited by cellulose accessibility. Biotechnol Bioeng 98(1):112–122. doi:10.1002/Bit.21408
- Akgul M, Kirci H (2009) An environmentally friendly organosolv (ethanol-water) pulping of poplar wood. J Environ Biol 30(5):735–740
- Lora JH, Aziz S (1985) Organosolv pulping: a versatile approach to wood refining. Tappi J 68(8):94–97
- 61. Cronlund M, Powers J (1992) Bleaching of Alcell (R) organosolv pulps using conventional and nonchlorine bleaching sequences. Tappi J 75(6):189–194
- Zhang MY, Xu YJ, Li KC (2007) Removal of residual lignin of ethanol-based organosolv pulp by an alkali extraction process. J Appl Polym Sci 106(1):630–636. doi:10.1002/ App.26622
- Ruzene DS, Goncalves AR, Teixeira JA, De Amorim MTP (2007) Carboxymethyl cellulose obtained by ethanol/water organosolv process under acid conditions. Appl Biochem Biotech 137:573–582. doi:10.1007/978-1-60327-181-3_47
- 64. Pasquini D, Belgacem MN, Gandini A, Curvelo AAD (2006) Surface esterification of cellulose fibers: characterization by DRIFT and contact angle measurements. J Colloid Interf Sci 295(1):79–83. doi:10.1016/j.jcis.2005.07.074

- 65. Joaquim AP, Tonoli GHD, Dos Santos SF, Savastano H (2009) Sisal organosolv pulp as reinforcement for cement based composites. Mater Res-Ibero-Am J Mater 12(3):305–314
- 66. de Paiva JMF, Frollini E (2006) Unmodified and modified surface sisal fibers as reinforcement of phenolic and lignophenolic matrices composites: thermal analyses of fibers and composites. Macromol Mater Eng 291(4):405–417. doi:10.1002/mame.200500334
- Hoareau W, Oliveira FB, Grelier S, Siegmund B, Frollini E, Castellan A (2006) Fiberboards based on sugarcane bagasse lignin and fibers. Macromol Mater Eng 291(7):829–839. doi:10.1002/mame.200600004
- Wang MC, Leitch M, Xu CB (2009) Synthesis of phenol-formaldehyde resol resins using organosolv pine lignins. Eur Polym J 45(12):3380–3388. doi:10.1016/ j.eurpolymj.2009.10.003
- 69. Park Y, Doherty W, Halley PJ (2008) Developing lignin-based resin coatings and composites. Ind Crop Prod 27(2):163–167. doi:10.1016/j.indcrop.2007.07.021
- Ramires EC, Megiatto JD, Gardrat C, Castellan A, Frollini E (2010) Valorization of an industrial organosolv-sugarcane bagasse lignin: characterization and use as a matrix in biobased composites reinforced with sisal fibers. Biotechnol Bioeng 107(4):612–621. doi:10.1002/Bit.22847
- Barclay LRC, Xi F, Norris JQ (1997) Antioxidant properties of phenolic lignin model compounds. J Wood Chem Technol 17(1–2):73–90. doi:10.1080/02773819708003119
- 72. Dizhbite T, Telysheva G, Jurkjane V, Viesturs U (2004) Characterization of the radical scavenging activity of lignins—natural antioxidants. Bioresour Technol 95(3):309–317. doi:10.1016/j.biortech.2004.02.024
- Pan XJ, Kadla JF, Ehara K, Gilkes N, Saddler JN (2006) Organosolv ethanol lignin from hybrid poplar as a radical scavenger: relationship between lignin structure, extraction conditions, and antioxidant activity. J Agric Food Chem 54(16):5806–5813. doi:10.1021/ Jf0605392
- 74. Garcia A, Toledano A, Andres MA, Labidi J (2010) Study of the antioxidant capacity of *Miscanthus sinensis* lignins. Process Biochem 45(6):935–940. doi:10.1016/ j.procbio.2010.02.015
- Basso MC, Cerrella EG, Cukierman AL (2004) Cadmium uptake by lignocellulosic materials: effect of lignin content. Separ Sci Technol 39(5):1163–1175. doi:10.1081/Ss-120028577
- Acemioglu B, Samil A, Alma MH, Gundogan R (2003) Copper(II) removal from aqueous solution by organosolv lignin and its recovery. J Appl Polym Sci 89(6):1537–1541. doi:10.1002/App.12251
- 77. Harmita H, Karthikeyan KG, Pan XJ (2009) Copper and cadmium sorption onto kraft and organosolv lignins. Bioresour Technol 100(24):6183–6191. doi:10.1016/ j.biortech.2009.06.093
- Belgacem MN, Blayo A, Gandini A (2003) Organosolv lignin as a filler in inks, varnishes and paints. Ind Crop Prod 18(2):145–153. doi:10.1016/S0926-6690(03)00042-6
- 79. Furimsky E (2000) Catalytic hydrodeoxygenation. Appl Catal A-gen 199(2):147–190. doi:10.1016/S0926-860X(99)00555-4
- Nagy M, David K, Britovsek GJP, Ragauskas AJ (2009) Catalytic hydrogenolysis of ethanol organosolv lignin. Holzforschung 63(5):513–520. doi:10.1515/Hf.2009.097
- Clements LD, Van Dyne DL (2008) The lignocellulosic biorefinery: a strategy for returning to a sustainable source of fuels and industrial organic chemicals. Biorefineries-industrial processes and products. Wiley, Germany. doi:10.1002/9783527619849.ch5
- 82. Zeitsch KJ (2000) Furfural production needs chemical innovation. Chem Innov 30(4):29–32
- Bozell JJ, Moens L, Elliott DC, Wang Y, Neuenscwander GG, Fitzpatrick SW, Bilski RJ, Jarnefeld JL (2000) Production of levulinic acid and use as a platform chemical for derived products. Resour Conserv Recy 28(3–4):227–239. doi:10.1016/S0921-3449(99)00047-6
- 84. Huber GW, Chheda JN, Barrett CJ, Dumesic JA (2005) Production of liquid alkanes by aqueous-phase processing of biomass-derived carbohydrates. Science 308(5727):1446–1450. doi:10.1126/science.1111166
- Roman-Leshkov Y, Chheda JN, Dumesic JA (2006) Phase modifiers promote efficient production of hydroxymethylfurfural from fructose. Science 312(5782):1933–1937. doi:10.1126/science.1126337
- Lam HQ, Le Bigot Y, Delmas M, Avignon G (2001) Formic acid pulping of rice straw. Ind Crop Prod 14(1):65–71
- 87. Jahan MS (2007) Formic acid pulping of bagasse. Bangladesh J Sci Ind Res 41(3):245-250
- Zhang M, Qi W, Liu R, Su R, Wu S, He Z (2010) Fractionating lignocellulose by formic acid: characterization of major components. Biomass Bioenerg 34(4):525–532. doi:10.1016/ j.biombioe.2009.12.018
- Jahan MS, Chowdhury DAN, Islam MK (2007) Atmospheric formic acid pulping and TCF bleaching of dhaincha (*Sesbania aculeata*), kash (*Saccharum spontaneum*) and banana stem (*Musa cavendish*). Ind Crop Prod 26(3):324–331. doi:10.1016/j.indcrop.2007.03.012
- Ligero P, Vega A, Villaverde JJ (2010) Delignification of *Miscanthus x giganteus* by the Milox process. Bioresour Technol 101(9):3188–3193. doi:10.1016/j.biortech.2009.12.021
- Ligero P, Villaverde JJ, Vega A, Bao M (2008) Pulping cardoon (*Cynara cardunculus*) with peroxyformic acid (MILOX) in one single stage. Bioresour Technol 99(13):5687–5693. doi:10.1016/j.biortech.2007.10.028
- Abad S, Santos V, Parajo JC (2000) Formic acid-peroxyformic acid pulping of aspen wood: an optimization study. Holzforschung 54(5):544–552
- Zhao X, van der Heide E, Zhang T, Liu D (2011) Single-stage pulping of sugarcane bagasse with peracetic acid. J Wood Chem Technol 31(1):1–25
- 94. Sahin HT, Young RA (2008) Auto-catalyzed acetic acid pulping of jute. Ind Crop Prod 28(1):24–28. doi:10.1016/j.indcrop.2007.12.008
- Contreras H, Nagieb ZA, Sanjuan R (1997) Delignification of bagasse with acetic acid and ozone.1. Acetic acid pulping. Polym-plast Technol 36(2):297–307
- 96. Pan XJ, Sano Y (2005) Fractionation of wheat straw by atmospheric acetic acid process. Bioresour Technol 96(11):1256–1263. doi:10.1016/j.biortech.2004.10.018
- 97. Gan DN, Xie YM, Aorigele YM, Wang P, Li SL, Yang HT (2004) Acetic acid pulping of triploid clones of Polulus tomentosa Carr at atmospheric condition. Trans China Pulp Paper 19(1):15–18
- Villaverde JJ, Ligero P, de Vega A (2010) Formic and acetic acid as agents for a cleaner fractionation of *Miscanthus x giganteus*. J Clean Prod 18(4):395–401
- 99. Ligero P, Villauerde JJ, de Vega A, Bao M (2008) Delignification of *Eucalyptus globulus* saplings in two organosolv systems (formic and acetic acid) preliminary analysis of dissolved lignins. Ind Crop Prod 27(1):110–117. doi:10.1016/j.indcrop.2007.08.008
- 100. Vila C, Santos V, Parajo JC (2000) Optimization of beech wood pulping in catalyzed acetic acid media. Can J Chem Eng 78(5):964–973. doi:10.1002/cjce.5450780514
- 101. Soudham V, Rodriguez D, Rocha G, Taherzadeh M, Martin C (2011) Acetosolv delignification of marabou (*Dichrostachys cinerea*) wood with and without acid prehydrolysis. For Stud China 13(1):64–70. doi:10.1007/s11632-011-0106-x
- 102. Lam HQ, Le Bigot Y, Delmas M, Avignon G (2001) A new procedure for the destructuring of vegetable matter at atmospheric pressure by a catalyst/solvent system of formic acid/ acetic acid. Applied to the pulping of triticale straw. Ind Crop Prod 14(2):139–144. doi:10.1016/S0926-6690(01)00077-2
- 103. Sixta H, Harms H, Dapia S, Parajo JC, Puls J, Saake B, Fink HP, Roder T (2004) Evaluation of new organosolv dissolving pulps. Part I: preparation, analytical characterization and viscose processability. Cellulose 11(1):73–83. doi:10.1023/B:CELL.0000014767.47330.90
- 104. Hortling B, Poppius K, Sundquist J (1991) Formic-acid peroxyformic acid pulping. 4: lignins isolated from spent liquors of 3-stage peroxyformic acid pulping. Holzforschung 45(2):109–120. doi:10.1515/hfsg.1989.43.5.317
- 105. Ede R, Brunow G, Poppius K, Sundquist J, Hortling B (1988) Formic acid/peroxyformic acid pulping, part 1: reactions of β -aryl ether model compunds with formic acid. Nord Pulp Pap Res J 3(3):119–123

- 106. Villaverde JJ, Li JB, Ek M, Ligero P, de Vega A (2009) Native lignin structure of *Miscanthus x giganteus* and its changes during acetic and formic acid fractionation. J Agric Food Chem 57(14):6262–6270
- 107. De Filippis P, Scarsella M, Verdone N (2009) Peroxyformic acid formation: a kinetic study. Ind Eng Chem Res 48(3):1372–1375. doi:10.1021/le801163j
- 108. Gierer J (1982) The chemistry of delignification—a general concept 2. Holzforschung 36(2):55–64. doi:10.1515/hfsg.1982.36.2.55
- 109. Sun Y, Lin L, Pang CS, Deng HB, Peng H, Li JZ, He BH, Liu SJ (2007) Hydrolysis of cotton fiber cellulose in formic acid. Energ Fuel 21(4):2386–2389. doi:10.1021/Ef070134z
- Lehnen R, Saake B, Nimz HH (2001) Furfural and hydroxymethylfurfural as by-products of FORMACELL pulping. Holzforschung 55(2):199–204. doi:10.1515/HF.2001.033
- 111. Muurinen EI, Sohlo JJK (1994) Simulation of recovery methods for pulping with peroxyformic and peroxyacetic acids. Comput Chem Eng 18:S609–S613. doi:10.1016/ 0098-1354(94)80099-5
- 112. Vila C, Santos V, Parajo JC (2003) Simulation of an organosolv pulping process: generalized material balances and design calculations. Ind Eng Chem Res 42(2):349–356. doi:10.1021/Ie020654b
- 113. Vila C, Santos V, Parajo JC (2003) Recovery of lignin and furfural from acetic acid-water-HCl pulping liquors. Bioresour Technol 90(3):339–344. doi:10.1016/S0960-8524(03)00030-0
- 114. Sindhu R, Binod P, Satyanagalakshmi K, Janu KU, Sajna KV, Kurien N, Sukumaran RK, Pandey A (2010) Formic acid as a potential pretreatment agent for the conversion of sugarcane bagasse to bioethanol. Appl Biochem Biotech 162(8):2313–2323. doi:10.1007/ s12010-010-9004-2
- 115. a González D, Campos AR, Cunha AM, Santos V, Parajó JC (2010) Utilization of fibers obtained by peroxyformic acid processing of broom as reinforcing agents for biocomposites. Bioresources 5(4):2591–2610
- 116. Yanez R, Alonso JL, Parajo JC (2003) Totally chlorine free bleaching of organosolv pulps. J Wood Chem Technol 23(2):161–178. doi:10.1081/Wct-120021923
- 117. Fink HP, Weigel P, Ganster J, Rihm R, Puls J, Sixta H, Parajo JC (2004) Evaluation of new organosolv dissolving pulps. Part II: structure and NMMO processability of the pulps. Cellulose 11(1):85–98. doi:10.1023/B:CELL.0000014779.93590.a0
- 118. Jahan MS, Saeed A, He ZB, Ni YH (2011) Jute as raw material for the preparation of microcrystalline cellulose. Cellulose 18(2):451–459. doi:10.1007/s10570-010-9481-z
- Mathew AP, Oksman K, Sain M (2005) Mechanical properties of biodegradable composites from poly lactic acid (PLA) and microcrystalline cellulose (MCC). J Appl Polym Sci 97(5):2014–2025. doi:10.1002/App.21779
- Vila C, Santos V, Parajo JC (2004) Dissolving pulp from TCF bleached acetosolv beech pulp. J Chem Technol Biot 79(10):1098–1104. doi:10.1002/Jctb.1090
- 121. Perttunen J, Myllykoski L, Keiski R (2002) Lactic acid fermentation of hemicellulose liquors and their activated carbon pretreatments. In: Hofman M, Thonart P (eds) Engineering and manufacturing for biotechnology, vol 4. Focus on biotechnology. Springer, Netherlands, pp 29–38. doi:10.1007/0-306-46889-1_2
- 122. Wu Z, Lin L, Deng HB, Sun Y, Pan CS, Li JZ (2007) Process technology for the production of xylose via hydrolysis of straw in a mixture of formic acid and hydrochloric acid. Mod Food Sci Technol 23(11):34–36
- 123. Goncalves AR, Urbano MP, Cotrim AR, da Silva FT (1997) Oxidation of lignin-containing liquor from acetosolv pulping of sugar-cane bagasse. In: Proceedings of the 1997 9th international symposium on wood and piping chemistry, ISWPC. Part 1 (of 2), 9–12 June, Montreal. In: Proceedings of the ACM workshop on role-based access control. ACM, pp I4.1–I4.3
- 124. Goncalves AR, Benar P (2001) Hydroxymethylation and oxidation of organosolv lignins and utilization of the products. Bioresour Technol 79(2):103–111

- 125. Calabria GMM, Goncalves AR (2006) Obtainment of chelating agents through the enzymatic oxidation of lignins by phenol oxidase. Appl Biochem Biotech 129(1–3):320–325. doi:10.1385/ABAB:129:1:320
- 126. Benar P, Goncalves AR, Mandelli D, Ferreira MMC, Schuchardt U (1999) Principal component analysis of the hydroxymethylation of sugarcane lignin: a time-depending study by FTIR. J Wood Chem Technol 19(1–2):151–165. doi:10.1080/02773819909349605
- 127. Vazquez G, Freire S, Rodriguez-Bona C, Gonzalez J, Antorrena G (1999) Structures, and reactivities with formaldehyde, of some acetosolv pine lignins. J Wood Chem Technol 19(4):357–378. doi:10.1080/02773819909349617
- 128. Vazquez G, Rodriguez-Bona C, Freire S, Gonzalez-Alvarez J, Antorrena G (1999) Acetosolv pine lignin as copolymer in resins for manufacture of exterior grade plywoods. Bioresour Technol 70(2):209–214. doi:10.1016/S0960-8524(99)00020-6
- Luo J, Tang Z, Zhou J (2006) Preparation and properties of HDPE/lignin composite. China Synt Resin Plast 23(2):39–42
- 130. Silva MF, da Silva CA, Fogo FC, Pineda EAG, Hechenleitner AAW (2005) Thermal and FTIR study of polyvinylpyrrolidone/lignin blends. J Therm Anal Calorim 79(2):367–370. doi:10.1007/s10973-005-0066-2
- 131. Uraki Y, Ishikawa N, Nishida M, Sano Y (2001) Preparation of amphiphilic lignin derivative as a cellulase stabilizer. J Wood Sci 47(4):301–307. doi:10.1007/BF00766717
- 132. Uraki Y, Taniwatashi R, Kubo S, Sano Y (2000) Activated carbon sheet prepared from softwood acetic acid lignin. J Wood Sci 46(1):52–58. doi:10.1007/BF00779553
- 133. Kubo S, Uraki Y, Sano Y (1998) Preparation of carbon fibers from softwood lignin by atmospheric acetic acid pulping. Carbon 36(7–8):1119–1124. doi:10.1080/ 02773811003637494
- 134. Oliet M, Garcia J, Rodriguez F, Gilarrranz MA (2002) Solvent effects in autocatalyzed alcohol-water pulping comparative study between ethanol and methanol as delignifying agents. Chem Eng J 87(2):157–162. doi:10.1016/S1385-8947(01)00213-3
- 135. Gilarranz MA, Oliet M, Rodriguez F, Tijero J (1999) Methanol-based pulping of *Eucalyptus globulus*. Can J Chem Eng 77(3):515–521. doi:10.1002/cjce.5450770312
- 136. Lundquist L, Arpin G, Leterrier Y, Berthold F, Lindstrom M, Manson JAE (2004) Alkalimethanol-anthraquinone pulping of *Miscanthus x giganteus* for thermoplastic composite reinforcement. J Appl Polym Sci 92(4):2132–2143. doi:10.1002/App.20179
- 137. Gurboy KB, Elmas GM (2007) ASAM pulping of hybrid poplar samsun clone grown in Turkey. Cell Chem Technol 41(4–6):271–275
- 138. Araque E, Parra C, Freer J, Contreras D, Rodriguez J, Mendonca R, Baeza J (2008) Evaluation of organosolv pretreatment for the conversion of Pinus radiata D. Don to ethanol. Enzyme Microb Technol 43(2):214–219. doi:10.1016/j.enzmictec.2007.08.006
- 139. Huijgen WJJ, Reith JH, den Uil H (2010) Pretreatment and fractionation of wheat straw by an acetone-based organosolv process. Ind Eng Chem Res 49(20):10132–10140. doi:10.1021/Ie101247w
- 140. Gonzalez Alriols M, Tejado A, Blanco M, Mondragon I, Labidi J (2009) Agricultural palm oil tree residues as raw material for cellulose, lignin and hemicelluloses production by ethylene glycol pulping process. Chem Eng J 148(1):106–114
- 141. Jimenez L, Rodriguez A, Diaz MJ, Lopez F, Ariza J (2004) Organosolv pulping of olive tree trimmings by use of ethylene glycol/soda/water mixtures. Holzforschung 58(2):122–128. doi:10.1515/HF.2004.017
- 142. Aziz S, McDonough TJ (1986) Solvent pulping—dissolution or disillusion? IPC technical 1268 paper series, No.182, http://hdl.handle.net/1853/2663
- 143. Ziaie-Shirkolaee Y, Mohammadi-Rovshandeh J, Rezayati-Charani P, Khajehelan MB (2008) Influence of dimethyl formamide pulping of wheat straw on cellulose degradation and comparison with Kraft process. Bioresour Technol 99(9):3568–3578. doi:10.1016/ j.biortech.2007.07.066

- 144. Rezayati-Charani P, Mohammadi-Rovshandeh J, HasheMi SJ, Kazemi-Najafi S (2006) Influence of dimethyl formamide pulping of bagasse on pulp properties. Bioresour Technol 97(18):2435–2442. doi:10.1016/j.biortech.2005.08.026
- 145. Jimenez L, Rodriguez A, Serrano L, Moral A (2008) Organosolv ethanolamine pulping of olive wood: Influence of the process variables on the strength properties. Biochem Eng J 39(2):230–235. doi:10.1016/j.bej.2007.09.006
- 146. Sarkanen KV (1990) Chemistry of solvent pulping. Tappi J 73(10):215-219
- 147. Goyal GC, Lora JH, Pye EK (1992) Autocatalyzed organosolv pulping of hardwoods: effect of pulping conditions on pulp properties and characteristics of soluble and residual lignin. Tappi J 75(2):110–116
- 148. Jimenez L, Maestre F, De la Torre M, Perez I (1997) Organosolv pulping of wheat straw by use of methanol-water mixtures. Tappi J 80(12):148–154
- 149. Solar R, Gajdos E, Kacikova D, Sindler J (2000) A preliminary study on organosolv pulping of poplar wood (*Populus tremula* L.) II: medium temperature pulping. Cell Chem Technol 34(5–6):571–580
- 150. Tirtowidjojo S, Sarkanen KV, Pla F, Mccarthy JL (1988) Kinetics of organosolv delignification in batch-through and flow-through reactors. Holzforschung 42(3):177–183. doi:10.1515/hfsg.1988.42.3.177
- 151. Chum HL, Johnson DK, Black S, Baker J, Grohmann K, Sarkanen KV, Wallace K, Schroeder HA (1988) Organosolv pretreatment for enzymatic hydrolysis of poplars: I. Enzyme hydrolysis of cellulosic residues. Biotechnol Bioeng 31(7):643–649. doi:10.1002/ bit.260310703
- 152. Rodriguez A, Perez A, de La Torre MJ, Ramos E, Jimenez L (2008) Neural fuzzy model applied to ethylene-glycol pulping of non-wood raw materials. Bioresour Technol 99(5):965–974. doi:10.1016/j.biortech.2007.03.007
- Jimenez L, Perez A, De la Torre MJ, Rodriguez AB, Angulo V (2008) Ethyleneglycol pulp from tagasaste. Bioresour Technol 99(7):2170–2176. doi:10.1016/j.biortech.2007-05-044
- 154. Lee DH, Cho EY, Kim CJ, Kim SB (2010) Pretreatment of waste newspaper using ethylene glycol for bioethanol production. Biotechnol Bioprocess Eng 15(6):1094–1101. doi:10.1007/s12257-010-0158-0
- 155. Usta M, Boran S, Gumuskaya E, Ondaral S, Balaban M (2007) Comparative properties of the pulp and paper obtained from kraft-ethanol and kraft-ethylene glycol processes. Cell Chem Technol 41(4–6):311–318
- 156. Obst JR, Sanyer N (1980) Effect of quinones and amines on the cleavage rate of beta-O-4 ethers in lignin during alkaline pulping. Tappi J 63(7):111–114
- 157. Jimenez L, Rodriguez A, Calero AM, Eugenio ME (2004) Use of ethanolamine-soda-water mixtures for pulping olive wood trimmings. Chem Eng Res Des 82(A8):1037–1042. doi:10.1205/0263876041580686
- 158. Rodriguez A, Serrano L, Moral A, Perez A, Jimenez L (2008) Use of high-boiling point organic solvents for pulping oil palm empty fruit bunches. Bioresour Technol 99(6):1743–1749. doi:10.1016/j.biortech.2007.03.050
- Rodriguez A, Serrano L, Moral A, Jimenez L (2008) Pulping of rice straw with high-boiling point organosolv solvents. Biochem Eng J 42(3):243–247. doi:10.1016/j.bej.2008.07.001
- 160. Gonzalez M, Canton L, Rodriguez A, Labidi J (2008) Effect of organosolv and soda pulping processes on the metals content of non-woody pulps. Bioresour Technol 99(14):6621–6625. doi:10.1016/j.biortech.2007.12.038
- 161. Sanchez R, Rodriguez A, Requejo A, Garcia A, Jimenez L (2010) Chemical and thermogravimetric analysis and soda and organosolv pulping of *Hesperaloe funifera*. Cell Chem Technol 44(9):327–334
- Paszner L, Chang PC (1984) High efficiency organosolv saccharification process. U S Patent 4470851
- 163. Paszner L, Chang PC (1983) Organosolv delignification and saccharification process for lignocellulosic plant materials 4409032

- 164. Jimenez L, Garcia JC, Perez I, Ferrer JL, Chica A (2001) Influence of the operating conditions in the acetone pulping of wheat straw on the properties of the resulting paper sheets. Bioresour Technol 79(1):23–27. doi:10.1016/S0960-8524(01)00033-5
- 165. Jimenez L, Garcia JC, Perez I, Ariza J, Lopez F (2001) Acetone pulping of wheat straw: Influence of the cooking and beating conditions on the resulting paper sheets. Ind Eng Chem Res 40(26):6201–6206. doi:10.1021/Ie0010161
- 166. Jimenez L, de la Torre MJ, Bonilla JL, Ferrer JL (1998) Organosolv pulping of wheat straw by use of acetone-water mixtures. Process Biochem 33(4):401–408. doi:10.1016/S0032-9592(98)00001-6
- 167. Perez DD, Curvelo AAD (1997) Kinetics of acetone-water organosolv delignification of *Eucalyptus urograndis*. In: Iswpc: 9th international symposium on wood and pulping chemistry, pp 881–884
- 168. Ferraz A, Rodriguez J, Freer J, Baeza J (2000) Formic acid/acetone-organosolv pulping of white-rotted *Pinus radiata* softwood. J Chem Technol Biot 75(12):1190–1196. doi:10.1002/ 1097-4660(200012)75:12<1190:AID-JCTB342>3.0.CO;2-K
- 169. Jimenez L, Perez I, Lopez F, Ariza J, Rodriguez A (2002) Ethanol-acetone pulping of wheat straw. Influence of the cooking and the beating of the pulps on the properties of the resulting paper sheets. Bioresour Technol 83(2):139–143. doi:10.1016/S0960-8524(01)00196-1
- 170. Alcaide LJ, Dominguez JCG, Ot IP (2003) Influence of cooking variables in the organosolv pulping of wheat straw using mixtures of ethanol, acetone, and water. Tappi J 2(1):27–31
- 171. Pascoalneto G, Delpechbarrie F, Robert A (1993) Oxygen delignification in a water plus organic-solvent solution.2. Comparison of eucalyptus wood (*Eucalyptus globulus*) and poplar wood (*Populus* species). Cell Chem Technol 27(2):185–199
- 172. Delpechbarie F, Robert A (1993) Oxygen delignification in a water plus organic-solvent solution.1. Delignification of poplar chips (*Populus species*) in a water-acetone solution. Cell Chem Technol 27(1):87–105
- 173. Rezayati-Charani P, Mohammadi-Rovshandeh J (2005) Effect of pulping variables with dimethyl formamide on the characteristics of bagasse-fiber. Bioresour Technol 96(15):1658–1669. doi:10.1016/j.biortech.2004.12.030
- 174. Ghozatloo A, Mohammadi-Rovshandeh J, Hashemi SJ (2007) Optimization of pulp properties by dimethyl formamide pulping of rice straw. Cell Chem Technol 40(8):659–667
- 175. Ekhtera MH, Azadfallah M, Bahrami M, Mohammadi-Rovshandeh J (2009) Comparative study of pulp and paper properties of canola stalks prepared by using dimethyl formamide or diethylene glycol. Bioresources 4(1):214–233
- 176. Ziaie-Shirkolaee Y, Mohammadi-Rovshandeh J, Charani PR, Khajehcian MB (2007) Study on cellulose degradation during organosolv delignification of wheat straw and evaluation of pulp properties. Iran Polym J 16(2):83–96

Chapter 12 Lignin as Source of Fine Chemicals: Vanillin and Syringaldehyde

Paula C. Rodrigues Pinto, Eduardo A. Borges da Silva and Alírio E. Rodrigues

12.1 Lignin, a Fascinating Complex Polymer

Lignin is a three-dimensional phenolic macromolecule that constitutes roughly 15–25% of vegetal biomass acting as structural and cohesion components of the cell walls in vascular plants [1]. Following cellulose, lignin is the most abundant natural biopolymer and contains about 30% of non-fossil organic carbon on Earth [2].

The principle of lignin biosyntheses is the polymerization by dehydrogenation of the hydroxycinnamyl alcohols, the monolignols *p*-coumaryl, coniferyl, and sinapyl alcohols [2–6]. Each of these monolignols gives rise to one subunit type in lignin structure, *p*-hydroxyphenyl (H), guaiacyl (G), and syringyl (S), respectively, differing between them in the methoxylation of the aromatic nuclei as depicted in Fig. 12.1.

The general structural unit of lignin is commonly called a *phenylpropane unit* or, briefly, *ppu*. Although with some exceptions, softwood lignins primarily contain G units and a small proportion of H units: G lignin. Pinus and spruce are some examples of trees containing this lignin. Hardwood lignins contain both S and G units, with a very small proportion of H units: GS lignin. Some examples of hardwoods are birch, eucalyptus, beech, and aspen. The lignin of some crop plants, palm trees, and banana plants are composed by all the three subunits, although with the predominance of H type: HGS lignin.

Lignin ppus are linked by ether and carbon-carbon bonds either in aliphatic and/or aromatic moiety [1, 7]. Types and frequencies of the most abundant dilignols in softwood and hardwood lignins are summarized in Table 12.1.

P. C. Rodrigues Pinto · E. A. Borges da Silva · A. E. Rodrigues (🖂)

Laboratory of Separation and Reaction Engineering—LSRE, Associate Laboratory LSRE/ LCM, Department of Chemical Engineering, Faculty of Engineering, University of Porto, Rua Dr. Roberto Frias s/n, 4200–465 Porto, Portugal e-mail: arodrig@fe.up.pt

Fig. 12.1 Monolignols	CH ₂ OH	I CH₂OH	CH ₂ OH
considered as building blocks	CH CH	сн	Ċн
of lignin macromolecule:	II CH	II CH	II CH
a <i>p</i> -coumaryl alcohol, b	Ĺ	, L	, in the second
coniferyl alcohol, c sinapyl		Í	Í
alcohol		MeO	MeO
	он	όн	ÓН
	(a)	(b)	(c)

Table 12.1 Types and	Dilignol	Number/100 ppu	
frequencies of linkages in softwood and hardwood lignins (dilignol/functional groups per 100 ppu) [1, 3, 7,	β -O-4 (A) α -O-4 (B)	Softwood 43–50 6–8	Hardwood 50–65 4–8
9, 10]	$\beta - 5 + \alpha - 0 - 4$ (C)	9–12	4-6
	$\beta - \beta$ (D)	2–4	3-7
	5 - 5' (E)	10–25	4-10
	4- <i>O</i> -5' (F)	4	6–7
	β-1 (G)	3-7	5–7
	C-6, C-2 (H)	3	2–3

The respective letters are shown in Fig. 12.2, representing one fragment of hardwood lignin. The numbering system for the ppu is also shown in Fig. 12.2.

The dilignol β -O-4 (A) (arylglycerol- β -aryl ether) is, by far, the most frequent dilignol, accounting for more than 50% of the structures. It is also the one most easily cleaved, providing a basis for industrial processes, such as chemical pulping, and several methods in lignin chemical analysis. The other linkages are all more resistant to chemical degradation [1, 3]. The proportion of each linkage depends on the relative contribution of a particular monomer to the polymerization process. For example, G-type lignins (softwood lignins), contain more resistant linkages as those involving the C5 of aromatic nuclei (β -5 (C), 5–5'(E) and 4-O-5'(F)) than SG lignins (hardwood lignins) due to the availability of the C5 position for coupling. This is the reason for the higher condensation degree (frequency of C-C linkages between aromatic rings) for softwood than for hardwood lignins. This fact has implications on lignin reactivity. In spite of these common features, chemical structure of lignin cannot be described by a simple structural formula due to the enormous and apparently random possibilities of combination between units in the macromolecule. Monolignols can also form bonds to other cell wall polymers as polysaccharides in a complex three-dimensional network [3, 8].

It is widely recognized that lignin content and composition differ between the major groups of higher plants (as evidenced by the data in Table 12.1) and also between species and even between trees and morphological parts of the tree [1]. This fact denotes the flexibility of the combinatorial polymerization reactions allowing significant variations in the final structure and high number of possible isomers.



Fig. 12.2 Fragment of a hardwood lignin. Letters are identified in Table 12.1

This is a natural and powerful tool of higher plants to adaptive response to the various environmental conditions stresses, for example, the lignin formed in compression wood [3]. Simultaneously, it reveals an unexploited opportunity to engineer the lignin structures to modify their proprieties for required applications [11, 12].

12.2 Main Lignin Types: Origin, Producers, End Users and Characteristics

The general aim of the pulping process is to delignify the wood matrix by chemically degrading and/or sulfonating the lignin to water-soluble fragments to liberate the cellulose. The origin of the lignin (wood species), the delignification type, and the recovery process from pulping liquors have remarkable influence on the structure of this biopolymer in both pulp and dissolved lignin [1, 10, 13–18]. The different structural characteristics of lignin have influence on its performance toward further processing [19, 20] and determines its suitability for different proposes.

This section deals with the most important lignin types available from the pulp and paper industry. There will be reference to lignin from emerging processes of lignocellulosic biomass conversion to ethanol and saccharide-derived chemicals. The major differences between lignins are derived from distinct delignification processes. In general, the characteristics of the lignins obtained are dependent of the balance between the two main groups of reactions having an opposite effect: (i) cleavage reactions and introduction/liberation of hydrophilic groups, leading to dissolution of lignin fragments and (ii) condensation reactions which increase the molecular weight of lignin.

12.2.1 Kraft Lignins

12.2.1.1 Origin and Isolation

Kraft pulping is the dominant process for production of pulp for paper [21]. The delignification is carried out in a strong alkaline solution composed mainly of OH⁻ and HS⁻ ions, removing around 90% of the initial lignin [22, 23]. In this process lignin undergoes reactions involving sulfidolytic cleavage of α - and β -aryl ether bonds in both phenolic and non-phenolic lignin units. Reactions of conjugate addition of carbanions to quinone methide intermediates lead to the increase of condensed structures in lignin [22]. Additionally, some other complex reactions between lignin and other wood components can also occur [8, 24].

Unmodified kraft lignin renders insoluble in aqueous solution at pH bellow the pKa values of the phenol groups of lignin, which are in the range 10.0–11.5 [25]. The pH currently used for precipitation and further filtration of lignin is near 7. Sulfuric acid or carbon dioxide have been used for this propose. Recently, the isolation of high purity kraft lignin (both softwood and hardwood lignins) has met a new advancement with Lignoboost process [26–28]. With this process, the washing at controlled conditions of precipitated lignin was improved leading to a final product with rather low content of ashes and carbohydrates, and then opening the perspectives to improve the existent applications or upgrading lignin in new valuable applications [29, 30]. Significant work concerning the recovery [31, 32] and fractionation [33, 34] of lignin from kraft liquors has been published in recent years, many of them via membrane processes.

12.2.1.2 Producers and End Users

Kraft lignin is presently available from MeadWestvaco Corp. (USA) and Borregaard Lignotech (about 10 thousand t/year at Bäckhammar plant), accounting for a total annual production around 1 million t [5]. This is a rather low production value considering that a mill with capacity for 500 thousand t of kraft pulp can produce about 200 thousand t of lignin in black liquor. The potential for lignin production in the existing pulp and paper industry is more than 50 million t/year [35].

Currently, few kraft pulp mills recover the lignin. The main utilization of black liquor is energy production in the recovery boiler, allowing the simultaneous recovery of cooking chemicals to reintroduce in the digesters. This is economically advantageous, unless the recovery boiler becomes the bottleneck of the process. In this case, separation of lignin could be one solution to increase the pulp production capacity. Alternatively, the deviation of a fraction of lignin could become sustainable by the upgrading lignin for materials and specialty chemicals with high added-value [36].

Commercial kraft lignins are usually modified to their increase it solubility in aqueous solutions by means of oxidative sulfonation, carboxylation, and sulfomethylation. The major final application of these lignins is as dispersant: the use of sulfomethylated kraft lignin was patented in 1954 [37]. MeadWestvaco Corp. and LignoTech Sweden produce lignosulfonates by sulfonation of kraft lignin, but the product has a much lower molecular weight than the lignosulfonates produced from sulfite pulping [38]. Other end uses are asphalt emulsions, lead-acid storage battery industry and products for cement and concrete industries [39]. This lignin, after chemical modification, competes with the lignosulfonates coming from the sulfite pulping industry.

12.2.1.3 Characteristics

In general, hardwood kraft lignin presents lower weight-average molecular weight (around 1 kDa) than the respective wood lignin (2–3 kDa) [10, 20, 40]. Comparatively to hardwood, softwood kraft lignin Mw, in general, is higher (2–3 kDa) [23]. Other characteristics of kraft lignin are the higher contents of phenolic hydroxyl groups and condensed structures than the respective wood lignin [20, 41]. The predominant inter-unit linkage is still the β -O-4, although in lower absolute amount than in wood lignin. The extension of lignin reactions depends fundamentally on kraft pulping conditions and wood species [10]. Some information about the composition and chemical structure of lignin recovered from kraft pulping streams can be found in literature [10, 20, 42] and is presented in Table 12.2.

12.2.2 Lignosulfonates

12.2.2.1 Origin and Isolation

Lignosulfonate is the resulting lignin from acid sulfite pulping of wood, which was the dominant process for cellulose production until it was surpassed by the kraft process in the 1940s. Sulfite pulps account now for less than 10% of the total chemical pulp production. In this process, sulfites (SO₃²⁻), or bisulfites (HSO₃⁻) are the pulping agents depending on the pH [1, 18]. The counter ion can be sodium, calcium, potassium, magnesium, or ammonium, which could change the behavior of the lignin product. Rather than splitting of β -O-4 structures and liberation of hydroxyl phenolic groups, the main reaction during sulfite pulping is the introduction of sulfonic groups in Co and C γ of C3-alquil lateral chain of *ppus*

Table 12.2 (Characteristics of cor	nmercial and	emergent lignir	ns obtained from d	lifferent proce:	SS			
	Lignin	^a Ash,	^a Sugars	Mw	Mn	^b OCH ₃ /ppu	ndd/qdHOq	H:D:S _o	Ref.
		% wt.	% wt.	(g/mol)	(g/mol)				
Softwoods	LKWest	2.6	2.3	2,350	1,430	0.94	0.63	0:97:3	[20]
	Indulina AT	16.2	5.6	2,480	1,490	0.88	0.60	0.96.4	[20]
	Curan 27 11P	17.0	2.0	I	I	0.83	0.69	I	[83]
	LKBoostS	0.78	2.3	2,630	1,440	0.91	0.72	0.98.2	[20]
	LSBor	16.5	8.8	I	I	0.82	0.55	0:95:5	[20]
	LOrgsB	1.2	2.3	1,745	1,180	1.56	0.52	72:28:0	[20]
Hardwoods	Alcell	0.05	0.2	3,300	006	1.11	0.70	I	[83, 84]
	LKEg	7.5	5.0	1,150	006	1.62	0.85	82:18:0	[20]
	LKBoostH	0.71	3.4	1,065	825	1.69	0.76	69:30:1	[20]
	$LSEg^{d}$	8.2, 9.0	7.3, 12.8	1,250, 2,400	I	1.51, 1.59	0.40	I	[20, 63]
Non-wood	LOrgsMxG	I	I	4,690	7,060	I	0.49	I	[67]
	Sarkanda	3.3	5.0	I	I	0.98	0.39-0.48	I	[83]
a Walness and	to other days	mainte of lim	in motorial						

Values are reported to oven-dry weight of lignin material

^b Values corrected for ash and sugar content ^c Values reported to the non-condensed moiety of lignin

LKWest kraft lignin supplied by MeadWestvaco Corp. Indulin AT kraft lignin supplied by MeadWestvaco Corp., Curan 27 11P kraft lignin supplied by Borregaard Lignoteck, LKBoostS Kraft lignin from softwood isolated by Lignoboost process, supplied by Innventia AB, LSBor Lignotech DP257 (high molecular fraction of a calcium softwood lignosulfonate supplied by Borregaard Lignotech, Norway, LOrgsB organosolv beech wood lignin supplied by Fraunhofer, Germany, Alcell Organosolv lignin from mixed hardwoods (maple, birch, and poplar) produced by Repap Enterprises, Inc, LKEg Eucalyptus globulus kraft lignin obtained from laboratorial kraft pulping (at industrial operating conditions) and isolated by acidification, LKB003tH kraft lignin isolated ^d Two distinct fractions of lignosulfonate [63]; the phenolic hydroxyl groups (OHph) per ppu were calculated based on data of the Ref. [63]

and isolated as described in literature [63], LOrgsMxG organosolv lignin from Miscanthus × Giganteus (perennial grass), Sarkanda nonwood lignin by Lignoboost process supplied by Innventia AB, LSEg Magnesium lignosulfonate of Eucalyptus globulus; sulfite liquor provided by Caima, S.A. Portugal

obtained from a soda pulping-precipitation process supplied by Granit SA

386

Fig. 12.3 Representation of a lignosulfonate ppu



(Fig. 12.3), the sulfonation, and the cleavage of α -aryl ether linkages (α -O-4) [1, 18]. Sulfonic groups increase the hydrophilicity of the lignin fragments, conferring them water solubility, allowing their removal from the polysaccharide matrix. In phenolic β -aryl ether structures, the initial sulfonation in the α -position may be followed by sulfidolytic cleavage of the β -aryl ether bond, but the extension of the reaction is lower than in kraft pulping [18].

Different methods have been developed for the separation of lignosulfonates from the sulfite liquor (namely from the dissolved carbohydrates) and for separating various molecular weight fractions. The traditional industrial process for recovery lignosulfonates is the Howard process, where lignosulfonate is precipitated in different stages from sulfite liquor by addition of lime [23]. Fermentation and yeast growth have been used to remove main sugars, allowing further utilization of lignosulfonates for several proposes. For lignin separation and fractionation, ultrafiltration [43–46], chromatographic processes [47] as adsorption in chitin [48], extraction with amines [49], liquid membranes [50] and combination of processes [51, 52] have been attempted.

12.2.2.2 Producers and End Users

The main world producer (and processor) of lignosulfonates is Borregaard LignoTechn (Norway) [53] with an annual production of 160 thousand t/year, followed by Tempec (Canada). Nowadays, Borregard is the only producer of vanillin from lignin; other current similar products are acetovanillone and veratric acid [54]. A joint venture between Borregaard and a South African pulp company—the major producer of high-grade chemical cellulose from an hardwood, *Eucalyptus* [55], was initiated in 1998. Roughly, about 50% of spent liquor volume is deviated for Lignotech plant close to the pulp mill [56], leading to the recovery of about 200 thousand ton/year of lignosulfonates.

Recently, Borregaard patented an integrated process for the production of second generation biofuels and/or sugar-based chemicals and sulfonated lignin from annual plants, agricultural waste, and wood by a modified sulfite pretreatment process [57]. Based on this process, Borregaard has invested in pilot plant running the BALI process, a pretreatment of bagasse based on sulfite delignification [54].

These investments confirm the economic importance of lignosulfonates in the actual scenario as one of the well-established branches of the integration of biorefinery concept in the existent mill plants.

The lignosulfonates, the most important existent commercial lignins, are widely used, for example, as plasticizer in cement and concrete additives, emulsifies/ stabilizers, binders/adhesives, phenolic resins, and even as tanning agents [58]. Some products based on lignosulfonates chemical reactions and processing are polymers, fine chemicals, and flavors. The production of vanillin, a widespread flavoring agent, is one of the most well-known applications of softwood lignosulfonates, recently claimed as an environmental friendly process compared to the process of vanillin production from guaiacol (mineral oil derivative) [59].

12.2.2.3 Characteristics

The weight-average molecular weight (Mw) reported for softwood lignosulfonates are in the range of 10–60 kDa with high polidispersity [23, 60, 61]. These lignins present, in general, higher molecular weight and have fewer hydroxylphenolic (OHph) groups than kraft lignin [20, 23] (as depicted in Table 12.2) which is in accordance with low rate of cleavage of ether linkages of lignin reported for sulfite pulping. The condensation reactions in sulfite pulping and kraft pulping follow the same pattern, leading mainly to Co-aryl linkages (diphenylmethane structures) [18]. The increase of condensed lignin in spent liquor results from these reactions, and also from the dissolution of condensed lignin moieties present in wood lignin. The frequency of sulfonation is about 0.4–0.5/ppu [62].

Published studies concern mostly softwood lignosulfonates. However, more recently, hardwood lignosulfonates have been the subject of increasing research and interest [55, 61, 63–65] and substantial differences on characteristics, particularly concerning Mw, have been found. Recent results concerning *Eucalyptus globulus* lignosulfonates from Caima, Indústria de Celulose S.A., in Portugal showed an high content of partially sulfonated fragments with rather low molecular weight (around 1 kDa) formed via cleavage of β -O-4 bonds [63]. The Mw of *Eucalyptus globulus* lignosulfonates (1–2.4 kDa) is even lower than the already low value reported for lignosulfonates from other hardwoods (5.7–12 kDa) as compared to typical Mw of softwood lignosulfonates [60, 61]. Some of lignins characteristics are summarized in Table 12.2.

12.2.3 Organosolv Lignins

12.2.3.1 Origin and Isolation

Organosolv lignins are those derived from delignification processes using an organic solvent, frequently ethanol or methanol, and an acid catalyst (mineral or organic), leading to liberation of lignin from cellulosic fibers. High temperatures (approximately 195°C) and pressures (about 28 bars) lead to the cleavage of α - and β -ether linkages of lignin structure [66] and some linkages between lignin and

other cell wall components. As for other pulping processes, hardwoods are more readily delignified than softwoods. At lab scale, the isolation is usually performed by acidification of resulting lignin solution and precipitation with water. The solids are recovered by centrifugation or filtration and dried [67]. At industrial scale, the liquor lignin is recovered by precipitation with an aqueous process stream, followed by filtration, washing and drying [68]. The yields reported are considerably high [67, 69, 70].

12.2.3.2 Producers and End Users

Organosolv is a concept dating back to 1970, developed by the General Electric Company to produce clean biofuels. The process for pulp production was patented in 1971 [71] and further developed into the AlcellTM process in 1980s. The process was subsequently commercialized by Repap Enterprises, Inc. to produce bleachable chemical pulps, lignin, furfural, acetic acid, and xylose [72]. The Alcell processTM was operated in a demonstration plant in Canada during the operation period had produced 3.5 thousand t of organosolv lignin [68]. In 2001, Lignol Innovation Corporation, (Canada) acquired the technology and since then has been developing biorefining technology for the production of fuel-grade ethanol from polysaccharide fraction of lignocellulosics, lignin, and renewable chemicals [73]. The development of high-value co-products from lignin (and hemicelluloses) is one of the keys to successful commercialization of the ethanol organosoly process. The process is claimed to produce a particularly high-quality lignin fraction [70, 74]. A similar approach has been developed in Europe aiming the generation of added-value products by biotechnological and/or chemical processes and component separation [75, 76]. Also in this case, sulfur-free lignin is generated.

High challenging end uses are expected from organosolv lignins: as source of aromatic compounds [20, 69], phenolic resins synthesis and thermoplastic applications [75, 77, 78], polyurethanes [77, 79, 80], carbon fibers [81]; the use of lignosulfonates in polymers was recently reviewed [82].

12.2.3.3 Characteristics

In organosolv pulping, lignin undergoes less transformation as compared to kraft and sulfite pulping. In general, organosolv lignin has lower content of hydroxyl groups, higher molecular weight, and lower condensation degree comparatively to lignin coming from more drastic delignification processes. Additionally, the absence of organic sulfur (either as tiol groups, as in kraft lignin, or as sulfonic groups, as in lignosulfonates) is an advantage from the point of view of lignin valorization. The main characteristics of some organosolv lignins are presented on Table 12.2.

12.2.4 Other Lignins

Other lignin preparations based on high temperature extraction with organic solvent and additives have been developed with the designations of Organocell, Formacell, Acetosolv, Alcetocell, ASAM, among others. Additional processes are referred in literature [38]. The common fact is the total absence of sulfur. The description of each process was recently reviewed by Sridach [85] for non-wood plants with a complete reference section on sulfur-free delignification processes.

12.3 Lignin as Source of Monomeric Compounds

12.3.1 General Overview

The production of high added-value chemicals from biomass process streams, as lignin, is crucial in the integrated approach of multiple processes and multiple major products in the concept biorefinery [86]. Consequently, reaction and separation processes for the production of compounds from biomass, namely lignocellulosic, have been continuously the subject of applied research. Due to its structure and somewhat complex chemistry, lignin is one of the most fascinating targets of research in three essential modes [38]: one aiming to breakdown the tridimensional network for conversion to aromatic (or non-aromatic) chemicals (thermochemical processes, Figs. 12.4, 12.5); the other one intending to use the lignin functionalities to integrate it in more complex matrices or construct renewable polymers; and the third one, dealing with lignin as source of power (green fuels and syngas [87] Fig. 12.4).

12.3.2 Industrial Vanillin Production

12.3.2.1 Vanillin Market

Vanillin (4-hydroxy-3-methoxybenzaldehyde) is widely used as flavoring and fragrance ingredient in food, cosmetic and as intermediate for the synthesis of several second generation fine chemicals (as veratraldehyde, protocatechualdehyde, and respective acids) and pharmaceuticals (as papaverine, levodopa and cyclovalone) [91, 92].

The global market for vanillin and ethyl vanillin is estimated as high as 16 thousand t/year, with 2 thousand t coming from lignin-based vanillin. Production of pure natural vanillin is estimated around 40 t/year [93].Vanillin market is mainly constituted by large multinational holders in the field of flavor and fragrance, chocolate and ice cream production, and synthesis of pharmaceuticals.



Fig. 12.4 Thermochemical processes for lignin conversion, main products and end uses [38, 84, 88–90]



Fig. 12.5 Gas chromatogram with mass selective detector of monomeric products obtained from catalyzed hydrothermal degradation of organosolv beech lignin [69]. Courtesy of Dr. Detlef Schmiedl, Fraunhofer Institute for Chemical Technology, Germany

Today there are two commercial types of vanillin: (1) synthetic vanillin, derived from petrochemical guaiacol and glyoxylic acid or lignosulfonates and (2) vanilla extract obtained from the cured beans, or pods, of tropical *Vanilla* orchids [94, 95]. The raw material costs turn the natural vanillin more expensive than the synthetic counterpart [94]. Hence, synthetic vanillin became competitive and widely used.

There are only few significant manufacturers of vanillin in the world. Rhodia SA dominates the market producing vanillin by the cathecol–guaiacol route. Borregaard (Norway) is the second largest vanillin producer and the only current producer by oxidation of lignosulfonates. Despite the advantages of the cathecol-guaiacol route over alternatives, this process is dependent of petroleum-derived compounds, in opposition with the process by lignin oxidation.

12.3.2.2 Brief History of Vanillin Production from Lignin

In 1937 Salvo Chemical Corporation started the industrial production of vanillin from lignin oxidation using spent liquors from pulp and paper industry by the Howard's [96] patented technology [91, 97]. In Canada, Howard Smith Chemicals, Ltd. also began the industrial conversion of concentrated spent sulfite liquor to vanillin with technology based on the process developed by Hibbert and Tomlinson [98]. In the same country, one other industrial unit started up at about 1945 by Ontario Paper Co., Ltd. that, besides vanillin, recovered also fermentable sugars from liquor [91]. In the beginning of 1950s, Monsanto Chemical Company substituted the process of synthetic vanillin from eugenol by the lignosulfonates oxidation process using fermented spent sulfite liquor [97].

Until 1980s, the major vanillin supply market share was provided by the oxidation of lignin from the sulfite pulping [99]. After that, industrial units of lignin-derived vanillin faced constrains that forced them to close [91]. Additionally, since the 1980s, changes introduced in the pulp and paper industry processes led to a decrease of lignin availability: at that time, kraft process emerges as the competing pulping process that includes the recovery boiler for burning the spent liquor allowing the recovery of pulping chemicals and producing energy. Since then, guaiacol-based vanillin has gained relevance [97]. Nowadays the synthesis of vanillin from petrochemical guaiacol accounts for 85% of the world supply, with the remaining 15% being produced from lignin [99].

The high market prices of vanilla beans and their limited supply and the increasing concern for alternatives to the non-renewable raw materials, have encouraged the research for alternative pathways for natural flavor production. A detailed review on biotechnological routes of vanillin production using different substrates and biosynthesis methods can be found elsewhere [100, 101]. Commercially, vanillin obtained by fermentation from ferulic acid is considered the only profitable biocatalytic route [101, 102].

As future prospect, the concern for alternatives to the non-renewable raw materials and the emerging lignocellulosic-based biorefineries could lead to a promising future for lignin-derived vanillin; the condition is the profitability of the production process using as raw material spent liquor lignins or lignins from new biomass conversion technologies. Due to constant efforts of several R&D centers around world, many challenges for the profitable large scale application of lignin as source of aromatics, and vanillin in particular, are being progressively overcome.



12.3.2.3 Recent and Future Trends: Syringaldehyde Production

Syringaldehyde differs from vanillin by a second methoxyl group at C5 position of aromatic ring as depicted in Fig. 12.6. The oxidation of softwood lignins produces exclusively vanillin whereas the oxidation of hardwood lignins leads to syring-aldehyde plus vanillin, in a proportion that depends of the original syringyl:guaiacyl ratio in the wood.

Syringaldehyde is a valuable starting chemical for the pharmaceutical industry. For example, as vanillin, this compound is the precursor of 3,4,5-trimethoxybenzaldehyde, which is a building block of the antibacterial agents ormetoprim and trimethoprim, with the advantage of containing already two methoxyl groups [103–105].

In the past, between 1930s and 1950s, the separation technologies to recover vanillin and syringaldehyde produced by lignin oxidation were not readily accomplished [106]. Syringaldehyde has been produced by different chemical routes and starting materials as gallic acid, vanillin, [106] and pyrogallol [107]. New alternatives for synthesis of syringaldehyde are being investigated in order to find environmental friendly and efficient processes to obtain higher yields [108]. However, many of these synthetic pathways involve complex procedures and/or include expensive materials becoming not economically feasible a large scale production.

By end of 1970s, the production process of syringaldehyde by oxidation of hardwood spent liquor was reported [109] including a step of fractional distillation for the separation of the two aldehydes. The oxidation of hardwood lignin to produce a syringaldehyde-rich mixture seems to be very attractive. In fact, the production of this phenolic compound from lignin, in alkaline medium with O₂, has been emerging as research topic [20, 110–113]. However, the sustainability of this process must be assured by the yield of products and economical advantageous purification processes. Considering its potential applications, it is expected an increased demand for this chemical already cited in Top Value-Added Chemicals from Biomass [38]. As an example, syringaldehyde was recently considered as a promising building block to dendrimers design with high antioxidant potential: the antioxidant activity of syringaldehyde-based dendrimer showed to be two and ten times higher than that one of quercetin and trolox, respectively [114].

12.4 Production of Vanillin and Syringaldehyde by Lignin Oxidation

The production of phenolic compounds, mainly vanillin, from several sources of lignin in alkaline medium with O_2 has been the subject of many publications in the last decades [20, 36, 92, 110–113, 115–125]. Some researches have been developed also in acidic medium [126–128] or in ionic liquids [129, 130]. Biotechnological routes [100, 101, 117], electro-oxidation of lignin [56] and the use of microwaves [131] have also been considered. Some studies reported also the direct oxidation of wood to produce vanillin and syringaldehyde [132]. The separation of product from the reaction medium was also a subject of intense research [133–138], as will be pointed out in the next section.

The chemical oxidation of the spent liquors or lignin, from several sources, is focused in operating conditions, apparatus, and catalyst. The general aim is to achieve the maximum conversion of lignin to vanillin (in the case of softwoods) or also to syringaldehyde (in the case of hardwoods or annual plants). Besides the process yields on products, also the kinetics laws, and the chemical mechanisms have been achieved. The impact of a particular lignin on its performance toward the oxidative process have been considered more recently [20]. A summary of some of the representative studies concerning raw material, conditions, and results are gathered in Table 12.3.

Insights on reaction mechanism of lignin oxidation have been consistently developed by Tarabanko et al. [19, 132, 139–142], although some are not so recent papers [143–146] constitute also a valuable survey of information. In this chapter, the mechanism of lignin oxidation will be briefly described.

12.4.1 Reaction Conditions

The oxidation of lignin to produce vanillin has been demonstrated at high pH (almost 14), and high temperatures (higher than 100°C) with molecular oxygen (oxygen pressure equal or higher than 3 bar). The main advantages of this oxidant are its environmental friendliness, the high efficiency per weight of oxidant, and comparatively low price (for example, air can often be used). The limitation in this process is the low solubility of oxygen in the reaction medium of NaOH (and lignin) in the high operational temperatures [147, 148]. Nevertheless, the oxygen partial pressure should be controlled to avoid further oxidation of vanillin [149, 150]. The high pH is required for the total ionization of phenolic groups and conversion to reactive quinonemethide as presented in Fig. 12.7 (initial step I–II). The pKa values of lignin-related phenolics are in the range of 10–11.5 at 25°C [25] decreasing as the temperature raise [151]. However, it is expected that the phenolic groups are even less acidic in the lignin macromolecule with the concomitant higher pKa than the reported. A minimum of 2 M in NaOH is referred in some

Table	è 12.3 Cc	onditions	and resul	lts of lignin oxidati	ion with molecular	oxygen: lit	cerature survey			
Entry	Initial rea	ction cond	litions			Maximum y	vields and conditions reported		Notes	References
	T (K)	pO_2 (bar)	Pt (bar)	Catalyst	Medium	Yields ^a	Conditions	t _{max} (min)		
_	372-414	1.8–6.5	4.8–10	1	$C_{Li} = 30-120 \text{ g/I}$ $C_{NaOH} = 1-4 \text{ M}$	V: 10.5	T = 414 K, pO_2 = 3.7 bar, P _t = 10 bar C _{Li} = 60.0 g/l, C _{NaOH} = 2 M	64.4	Direct oxidation of kraft liquor was attempted with similar results compared to the isolated lignins; Total pressure maintained by continuous O, sunolu.	[36, 118, 133]
7	383-427	1.1–4.5	~ 9.7	I	$C_{Li} = 30-120 \text{ g/l}$ $C_{NaOH} = 2 \text{ M}$	V: 10.8	$T = 406 \text{ K} (i), pO_2 = 2.8 \text{ bar}$ $C_L = 60.0 \text{ g/l}$	35	Continuous O_2 supply. (i) average value(s) in the run time.	[116]
б	433-453	14(<i>ü</i>)	16.5	No catalyst CuO, Fe ₂ O ₃ , CuSO ₄ , FeCl ₃	$C_{Li} = 100 \text{ g/l}$ $C_{NaOH} = 1.5-3.2 \text{ M}$ (pH 8-13)	V: 4.7 Sy: 9.5	T = 443 K, $pO_2 = 14 \text{ bar (decreasing)}$ $C_{\text{NaOH}} \sim 3 \text{ M (pH 11)}$ $Catalyst: CuSO_4 + FeCI_3$	10	 (ii) Two runs: 1. continuous O₂ supply; 2. decreasing pO₂. 	[110]
4	433-453	su	su	CuSO ₄ + FeCl ₃	$C_{Li} \sim 40 \text{ g/l}$ $C_{NaOH} = 2 \text{ M}$	V: 5.1 Sy: 9.8	For V: T = 433 K For Sy: T = 453 K	30 (V) 10 (Sy)	O_2 introduced before the heating phase. Decreasing pO_2 .	[125]
Ś	433	2, 3 (<i>iii</i>)	I	Cu(OH) ₂	$C_{Li} = 117 g/l (iv)$ $C_{NaOH} = 2 and 3 M$ (pH = 13)	V: 11.9	C _{NaOH} = 3 M	40	Continuous O_2 supply. (<i>iii</i>) Two values for pO_2 are assigned. (<i>iv</i>) Values corrected for lignin content (65%) in dry solids.	[140]
9	443-463	(n)	Ξ	Ce(IV), Cu(II), Co(II)	$C_{\rm Li} = 165 {\rm g/l} (v) \\ C_{\rm NaOH} \approx 2.7 {\rm M} \label{eq:CNaOH}$	V: 8	T = 463 K Catalyst: Cu(II)	75	(v) Constant and high flow of O ₂ . Lab and pilot trials. High yield for LS from a low-temperature pulping process.	[155]
)	continued)

Tabl	e 12.3 (continued	<u> </u>							
Entry	Initial re	eaction con	ditions			Maximum	yields and conditions reported	1	Notes	References
	T (K)	pO_2 (bar)	Pt (bar)	Catalyst	Medium	Yields ^a	Conditions	t _{max} (min)		
٢	390	4.0, 6.5	9.0, 9.5	I	$C_{Li} = 60 \text{ g/l}$ $C_{NaOH} = 2 \text{ M}$	V: 3.3	$pO_2 = 4$ bar, $P_t = 9$ bar	75	Batch process.	[121, 133]
×	403	(<i>i</i> v)	10 (vi)	I	$C_{L} = 60 \text{ g/l}$ $C_{NaOH} = 2 \text{ M}$ (pH = 14) $Q_{L} = 1.0-2.5 \text{ l/h}$	V: 1.5	$QO_2 = QN_2 = 1.0 I/min$ QL = 1.0 I/h SPBCR	Steady state (6 h)	Continuous process: 1. co-current bubble column reactor; 2. bubble column reactor (<i>vi</i>) QO ₂ = 1.0 I/ min and 2 I/min (NTP); QN ₂ = 1.0 I/min (NTP).	[119, 120, 133]
6	373-413	3 2-10	20	Pd/y-Al ₂ O ₃	$C_{Li} = 60.0 \text{ g/l}$ $C_{NaOH} = 2 \text{ M}$	V: 4.4 Sy: 5.8	$Ti = 413 \text{ K}, pO_2 = 5 \text{ bar}$ $C_{\text{NaOH}} = 0.9 \text{ M}$	15 (V and Sy)	Batch process.	[115]
10	393	Ś	I	Pd/y-Al ₂ O ₃	$C_{L} = 30.0 \text{ g/l}$ $C_{NaOH} = 2 \text{ M}$ $Q_{L} = 5 \text{ l/h}$	1	I	1	Continuous process (three- phase fluidized-bed). Air bubbling: 1000 <i>I/h</i> ; For 2 h operation the yield reported is higher than the same time in batch mode.	[115]
11	393	Ś	20	perovskite- type oxides	$C_{Li} = 60.0 \text{ g/l}$ $C_{NaOH} = 2 \text{ M}$	V: 4.6 Sy: 11.5	Catalyst LaFe _{0.8} Cu _{0.2} O ₃	V: 60 Sy: 30	Total pressure maintained by continuous O ₂ supply. Yield is 1.4–2.5-fold the non-catalyzed reaction.	[124]
12	443	10.8	10.8	POM	$\begin{array}{l} 80 \ \text{vol}\% \\ \text{MeOH/H}_2\text{O} \\ \text{C}_{\text{Li}} \ \approx \ 8.8 \ \text{g/l} \end{array}$	V: 3.5 Methyl vanillate: 3.5	I	Reaction stopped at 20 min	O ₂ introduced before the heating phase.	[126]
									3)	continued)

396

Entry	Initial rea	action con	ditions			Maximum	yields and conditions reported		Notes	References
	T (K)	pO_2 (bar)	Pt (bar)	Catalyst	Medium	Yields ^a	Conditions	t _{max} (min)		
13	403-433	6 and 10	SU	No catalyst and CuSO ₄	$\begin{array}{l} C_L &\sim 3 g/l and \\ C_L &\sim 13 g/l (viii) \\ C_{NaOH} = 0.75 M \\ (pH 13.1) and \\ C_{NaOH} = 0.9 M \end{array}$	V: 4.5 Sy: 16.1	Ti = 423 K, $pO_2 = 10$ bar C _{NaOH} = 0.9 M, with catalyst	20	The author found distinct kinetic laws for V and Sy, but the time to maximum is the same. (viii) Calculated values from available data.	[113]
14	393	ŝ	9.7	I	$C_{L} = 60.0 \text{ g/l}$ $C_{NaOH} = 2 \text{ M}$	V: 1.2, Sy: 2.5	I	V: 25 Sy: 12	Total pressure maintained by continuous O ₂ supply.	[20]
15	393	ŝ	9.7	I	$C_L = 60.0 \text{ g/l}$ $C_{NaOH} = 2 \text{ M}$	V: 3.1	1	V: 40	Total pressure maintained by continuous O ₂ supply.	[20]

Entries: I Softwood kraft lignin (MeadWestvaco Corp. and Portucel, Portugal), 2 Softwood kraft lignin (MeadWestvaco Corp.), 3 Steam-explosion lignin from aspen,
4 Precipitated lignin after hydrolysis poplar wood, 5 Fermented alkaline sulfite liquor of fir wood (used as it is), 6 Lignosulfonates obtained by different pulping conditions, 7 and
8 Indulin AT (MeadWestvaco Corp.), 9 and 10 Alkaline lignin from sugarcane bagasse, 11 Lignin from steam explosion comstalks, 12 Indulin AT (MeadWestvaco Corp.), 13 E.
globulus lignosulfonate (purified by dialysis). 14 Organosolv beech lignin, 15 Softwood kraft lignin isolated by Lignoboost process
^a Values reported to %wt lignin: ns not specified. O_t liquid-phase flow rate I/h . POM polyoxometalate. V vanillin. Sy syringaldehyde. Hy p -hydroxybenzaldehyde



R and R' could be H, OH, or other linked ppu

Fig. 12.7 Proposed mechanism for lignin oxidation by Tarabanko et al. [140, 141] here represented for a typical guaiacyl type unit

patents [148, 152]. Therefore, the initial pH value in the range 13–14 has been used in several works to maintain a high alkalinity in the entire reaction time. One other side, in the proposed mechanism by Tarabanko et al. [140, 141] (Fig. 12.7) the strong alkaline medium is required also for the proton detachment (step III–IV) and nucleophilic addition of OH^- to the intermediary quinonemethide (step V–VI) and also for the final retroaldol cleavage (final step in Fig. 12.7). In fact, this step is the main difference between the mechanism proposed by Tarabanko for vanillin production and the mechanism via dioxetane formation established by Gierer et al. [146].

The energy barrier for electron transfer from the organic substrate to the oxidant is usually high. Considering this, the temperature should be one of the most significant factors to consider in lignin oxidation. Catalyst has also been considered to improve the yields and selectivity.

Lignin oxidation with O_2 in alkaline medium has been intensively studied in Laboratory of Engineering of Separation and Reaction (LSRE, Porto) [20, 36, 116–122, 153, 154]. The batch experiments have been performed in a jacketed reactor Büchi with a capacity to 1 l with control and register temperature, pressure and gas flow. The reaction mixture composed by NaOH and lignin is kept at high stirring and the reactor is purged and pressurized with N₂. At steady state temperature, the oxygen is introduced at controlled pressure and the reaction is considered to start at this point. During the reaction, the total pressure is maintained constant thought feed of O_2 . Samples are collected at controlled time intervals and, after acidification, the compounds are extracted with organic solvent and GC-FID analysis or recovered by solid-phase extraction and analyzed by HPLC-UV using external calibration [154].



Fig. 12.8 Products concentration and temperature evolution during the reaction time for lignin oxidation with O₂ in alkaline medium (T_i = 393 K, pO_2 = 3 bar, P_t = 9.7 bar, C_L = 60 g/l, C_{NaOH} = 80 g/l) for two different lignins [20]. **a** Kraft lignin from softwood isolated by Lignoboost process (supplied by Innventia AB) referred as LKBoostS in Table 12.2 and Table 12.3. **b** Organosolv beech wood lignin (supplied by Fraunhofer, Germany) referred as LOrgsB in Table 12.2

12.4.2 Evolution of Products and Temperature During Lignin Oxidation

The typical profiles of phenolic products and temperature as function of time is shown in Fig. 12.8 for the oxidation of a softwood kraft lignin (a) and hardwood organosolv lignin (b) [20]. The yields of vanillin and syringaldehyde clearly predominate over the vanillic acid and syringic acid. The concentration of the phenolic aldehydes and their respective acids increases continuously until a maximum value which is coincident with the maximum temperature (T_{max}). In fact the reaction is exothermic, increasing the initial temperature (T_i) of reaction (393 K): the values of ΔT ($T_{max}-T_i$) reported in these reactions were 13 and 9 K for softwood and hardwood lignins, respectively, (Fig. 12.8). For a commercial kraft lignin, Indulin AT, increases at the same order (10–15 K) were found [121], although the rate of oxidation as well as the heat of reaction differs between lignins. After that maximum, the concentration of products decreases continuously due to the dominance of degradation over the production reactions.

The phenolic acids are formed by the cleavage of $C\alpha$ – $C\beta$ in the propane chain of ppu (as shown in Fig. 12.7), as for aldehydes, but they undergo further oxidation. The profiles of vanillic acid and syringic acid are very close to the corresponding aldehydes, with a maximum at the same reaction time, followed by an analogous decline. The ratio between these two products is a measure of process selectivity for the aldehydes. For the lignins and conditions corresponding to data presented in Fig. 12.8, it is noteworthy that, at the maximum yield for softwood (40 min) and hardwood (25 min), the calculated vanillin/vanillic acid ratio is 1.7 and 1.6, respectively. This is a rather similar value, considering that the individual yields are quite different. One other side, the ratio syringaldehyde/syringic acid for the hardwood lignin (values taken at the maximum—12 min) is much higher: 13.1. This is an

indication of higher selectivity of the process for the syringyl units of lignin. The oxidation of vanillin is pointed out as the main route for vanillic acid production (as well as for other secondary products) [155]. However, it is interesting to notice the similar and parallel behavior of formation and degradation of the aldehydes and respective acids, and also the strong decrease of vanillic acid for long reaction time in comparison to vanillin. Gierer et al. [146] reported different routes for vanillin and vanillic acid production from lignin oxidation, and not as subsequent reactions, which, at least partially, would be the reason for the behavior observed.

The increase on the production of syringaldehyde in the first 10 min of reaction, and the pronounced decrease after the maximum (Fig. 12.8b) were remarkably high compared to the behavior of vanillin. These facts are related with the different oxidation rates of guaiacyl and syringyl units of lignin. The syringyl units have higher reactivity than guaiacyl counterparts in alkaline systems [156] and under conditions of O_2 oxidation in alkaline medium [110, 157]. Thus, the oxidation of syringyl units is faster than guaiacyl units for both production and degradation of aldehydes.

Besides vanillin and syringaldehyde, and their respective acids, acetovanillone was also found as secondary product. Acetosyringone was also found in the case of hardwood LOrgsB, as well as *p*-hydroxybenzaldehyde in both lignins, but in rather low concentration (<0.05 wt% lignin, not shown in Fig. 12.8). Vanillin, vanillic acid, and acetovanillone have been reported as the three principal compounds found in the reaction mixture. For example, yields of 2–8% of these three major compounds were obtained from alkaline oxidation of lignosulfonates from Norwegian spruce [155].

The mechanism for the lignin oxidation that expresses the formation of aceto derivatives as acetovanillone and acetosyringone [140] is based on the competing addition of OH^- to α -position and to γ -position of quinonemethide: the first leads to the acetoderivatives and the second leads to vanillin and syringaldehyde. Acetovanillone (also known as acetoguaiacone, or apocynin, with an odor similar to vanillin) is an interesting precursor of veratric acid (3,4-dimethoxybenzoic acid), a building block for synthesis of pharmaceuticals. Acetovanillone is already isolated after the lignosulfonate oxidation at Borregaard [158].

Other compounds have been also referred as secondary products from lignin oxidation with O_2 in alkaline medium as for example, guaiacol, dehydrovanillin, 5-carboxyvanillin, 5-carboxyvanillic acid, homovanillin, and the syringaldehyde counterpart [113, 155].

12.4.3 Influence of the Parameters in Lignin Oxidation and Vanillin Oxidation

Several authors have been studying the influence of the reaction conditions and vanillin and syringaldehyde yield as depicted in Table 12.3. The most comprehensive work found in literature is that developed in LSRE in batch [20, 36, 116, 118, 119, 121, 133, 153] and continuous processes [119, 120, 122, 133].



Fig. 12.9 Vanillin profile during the lignin oxidation with molecular oxygen in aqueous NaOH at different operation conditions [36]:**a** Effect of pO_2 ($C_L = 60 g/l$, $C_{NaOH} = 2 M$, $T_i = 393 K$, $P_t = 9.2$ -9.4 bar). **b** Effect of C_{NaOH} ($C_L = 60 g/l$, Ti = 393 K, $pO_2i = 3.7$ bar, $P_t = 9.7$ bar. **c** Effect of C_L ($C_{NaOH} = 2 M$, $T_i = 393 K$, $pO_2i = 3.7$ bar, $P_t = 9.6$ bar). **d** Effect of T_i ($C_L = 60 g/l$, $C_{NaOH} = 2 M$, $pO_2i = 3.7$ bar, $P_t = 9.6$ bar). **d** Effect of T_i ($C_L = 60 g/l$, $C_{NaOH} = 2 M$, $pO_2i = 3.7$ bar, $P_t = 9.7$ -10 bar)

Figure 12.9 shows the vanillin concentration profile during reaction of lignin in aqueous NaOH with molecular oxygen considering variation of O_2 partial pressure (pO_2), initial concentration of NaOH (C_{NaOH}), concentration of lignin (C_L) and initial temperature (T_i) [36].

Vanillin oxidation was also studied [149] since the degradation of the produced vanillin is a key point on the sustainability of the process. Figure 12.10 shows the main results of experimental and simulation work in this subject [121, 149], where the influence of pO_2 , pH, and T_i are shown.

12.4.3.1 Effect of O₂ Partial Pressure (pO₂)

The effect of pO_2 in the range 2.1–6.6 bar (continuous supply) was tested for lignin (softwood kraft lignin supplied by MeadWestvaco Corp.) at initial concentration 60 g/l and initial temperature 393 K with a total pressure (N₂, O₂ plus water vapor) of about 9.3 bar [36]. The results demonstrate that the main effect of pO_2 was on the rate of vanillin formation, shortening the time to maximum, with no influence on yield [118], as depicted in Fig. 12.9a. Other authors [110, 125] have studied the effect of O_2 using two approaches: (1) continuous supply of



Fig. 12.10 Vanillin oxidation depicted as vanillin concentration (C_v) during reaction with molecular oxygen in aqueous NaOH for different operating conditions (*exp* experimental, *sim* simulation) [121] (data kindly provided by Dr. Daniel Araújo, FEUP, Portugal). **a** Effect of pO_2 ($C_v = 2.5$ g/l, pH 14, $T_i = 414$ K). **b** Effect of pH ($C_v = 2.5$ g/l, $T_i = 376$ K, $pO_2 = 4.3$ bar). **c** Effect of T_i ($C_v = 2.5$ g/l, $pO_2 = 4.3$, pH 14)

oxygen to the reactor, maintaining the initial pO_2 in the course of reaction; (2) O_2 introduced at the beginning and immediately interrupted. In the second case, it was observed a rapid decrease of pressure due to the O_2 consumption in reaction. While Xiang and Lee [125] reported lower yields on vanillin and syringaldehyde for the first approach, Wu et al. [110] demonstrated that the yields of products did not change, but the rate of vanillin and syringaldehyde formation was higher for the reaction with continuous supply of O_2 , in accordance with Mathias's results [36, 118]. Furthermore, after the maximum, an accentuated decrease of aldehydes concentration was noticed for constant supply of O_2 . This observation is in accordance with the higher rate of vanillin decline after the maximum depicted in Fig. 12.9a and in Fig. 12.10a for higher initial pO_2 . In the oxidation of a hardwood lignin [110], this effect was more evident for syringaldehyde probably due to its higher reactivity than guaiacyl counterparts in alkaline systems [156] and under conditions of O_2 oxidation in alkaline medium [157] leading to its faster degradation.

The origin of lignin and, consequently, its structure and reactivity have influence on kinetic parameters. The reaction order of vanillin production with respect to the oxygen concentration was 1.75 [116] for Westvaco Co. kraft lignin and 1.00 for an *Eucalytus* lignosulfonate (for both vanillin and syringaldehyde), showing that the oxidation of first lignin has a higher dependence of oxygen concentration in reaction medium.

12.4.3.2 Effect of Initial Concentration of NaOH (C_{NaOH})

Figure 12.9b reveals the importance of the OH^- on the yield of the process of lignin oxidation at the conditions of this study: a considerable increment of vanillin is achieved by increasing NaOH concentration. The reasons for this impact on yield were already stated in Sect. 4.4.1 (regarding postulate chemical mechanism of oxidation). However, other considerations should be noted: the concentration of vanillin at each moment is the result of formation and degradation in the reaction medium. Fargues et al. [149] studied the kinetics of vanillin oxidation and concluded that at pH < 11.5 the vanillin oxidation become more significant being of second order in vanillin concentration and zero order in O₂ concentration. At pH >11.5, the reaction rate of vanillin oxidation is first order for both vanillin and O₂ concentration. Therefore, at least 2 M in NaOH is required to achieve the favorable condition to preserve the produced vanillin. Figure 12.10b demonstrates clearly the initial pH effect on vanillin oxidation. It should be pointed out that the pH is the parameter in discussion, since the same alkali concentration could lead to different values for aqueous solutions of different lignins, depending of the raw material composition. Considering this, the pH of the final solution should be measured at each case, confirming the required value. The operational problems (incrustation in the reactor) related with the solution NaOH 4 M had led Mathias et al. to avoid to such concentration and to adopt the 2 M.

For lignosulfonate (from *E. globulus*), the reaction order relative to OH⁻ concentration is 1.9 for vanillin and 1.4 for syringaldehyde. The reason suggested for these high values was the step involving the desulfonation reaction in the case of lignosulfonates (carrying SO₃⁻ groups at C α and C γ see Fig. 12.3) [113]. The removal of sulfonic groups leads to the formation of units with double bonds in propane lateral chain (as intermediate IIa in Fig. 12.7), species that are naturally more reactive with O₂ than the saturated counterpart.

12.4.3.3 Effect of Initial Lignin Concentration (C_L)

The effect of lignin concentration on the reaction rate of vanillin production is depicted in Fig. 12.9c. The calculated maximum yield on lignin basis (wt%) decreases with the C_L : 10, 8.3, and 3.0% for C_L of 30, 60, and 120 g/l, respectively. The slope of the straight line found for initial vanillin production rate as a function of the initial lignin concentration provides the reaction order of 1 with respect to lignin concentration [116].

Considering the results of vanillin production from a kraft lignin in alkaline medium, under the reported conditions, the following kinetic law was achieved:

$$r_{\nu} = k[O_2]^{1.75}[L] \tag{12.1}$$

12.4.3.4 Effect of Temperature

The effect of temperature in the reaction rate and yield of vanillin production from lignin oxidation is shown in Fig. 12.9d for the range 372–414 K: higher initial temperatures led to higher vanillin yields in a shorter reaction time; however, the vanillin degradation is also higher. In fact, for pH 14, the temperature has an important effect on the rate of vanillin degradation as shown in Fig. 12.10c: at 414 K, for 40 min of reaction time about 20% of the initial vanillin was consumed while at 393 K the decrease was only about 4%. This effect is even clearer for long reaction times.

The work of Mathias, Fargues and Rodrigues [36, 116, 118, 149] allowed calculating the activation energies (E_a) for the vanillin production and oxidation: 29.1 and 46.0 kJ/mol, respectively. The kinetic constant for vanillin production can be expressed as:

$$k = 1.376 \times 10^7 exp\left(-\frac{3502}{T}\right) (1/\text{mol})^{1.75} \text{min}^{-1}.$$
 (12.2)

For vanillin oxidation, the following kinetic law was found for pH >11.5:

$$-r_{v} = k'[O_{2}][C_{v}]$$
(12.3)

with,

$$k' = 4.356 \times 10^6 exp\left(-\frac{5530}{T}\right) (l/mol.min).$$
 (12.4)

Other authors reported the kinetic laws and activation energy for vanillin and syringaldehyde production from hardwood lignin [112, 113]. Similar E_a values were found for vanillin and syringaldehyde, 70.5 and 62.6 kJ/mol, respectively [113]. However, the rate constant for syringaldehyde production is higher than that for vanillin, as depicted in the kinetic laws for syringaldehyde (*Sy*) and vanillin (ν) [113]:

$$r_{sy} = 1.3 \times 10^5 exp\left(-\frac{7529}{T}\right) [O_2] [OH^-]^{1.4} [L]$$
 (12.5)

$$r_{\nu} = 5.4 \times 10^5 exp\left(-\frac{8479}{T}\right) [O_2] [OH^-]^{1.9} [L]$$
 (12.6)

12.4.4 Catalysts

The most frequent catalysts used in lignin oxidation with O_2 in alkaline medium are transition metal salts, such as CuO, CuSO₄, FeCl₃, and Fe₂O₃, which have high oxidation potential and easily would allow electron transference from the aromatic rings of lignin; at the same time this high oxidation potential turns the regeneration of the metal salt in the catalytic cycle more difficult. The oxidation with catalyst has been extensively tested on model compounds of lignin, most of them monomers. A recent and comprehensive review was recently published by Zakzeski et al. [90] about oxidative catalysis and other perspectives of the catalytic valorization of lignin.

Oxidations experiments were performed by Mathias and Rodrigues [118] using $CuSO_4$ (4% of lignin weight) and comparing the reaction rate and yields to the non-catalyzed reaction of kraft lignin at the same conditions. The yield on vanillin was similar, as well as the time to maximum. However, a low degradation rate was found in the case of catalyzed reaction. The same salt was tested in the oxidation of lignosulfonates used at 20% of lignin weight [113]. The authors reported an increment of 1.3 and 1.4 of the yields of vanillin and syringaldehyde produced in the non-catalyzed reaction.

Tarabanko et al., reported 12-13% (lignin basis) of vanillin in batch oxidation of lignosulfonates using about 16 g/l of Cu(OH)₂ [139]. The yield of non-catalyzed reaction was 5.5 wt. % on vanillin at 40 min. The lignosulfonate liquor of the same origin was the raw material for further experiences in continuous process [159]. In this case, the authors reported also the syringaldehyde yield. Copper wire and cupric oxide wire were tested as catalyst and simultaneously as reactor packing. In this work, the conclusions about the catalyst effect are somewhat difficult due to the simultaneous variation of parameters as, for example, the oxygen rate in continuous process. However, for lignin from other origin, the comparison with non-catalyzed reaction leads us to notice an increase of aldehydes yield (from 1.2–1.8 wt% to 1.5–3.0 wt% on lignin bases) [159].

Other combinations of catalysts were tested in the oxidation of an hardwood lignin: the mixture of $CuSO_4$ with $FeCl_3$ and CuO with Fe_2O_3 [110]. At reaction temperature of 433 K the yields were incremented by $CuSO_4/FeCl_3$ (4.5% for vanillin and 7.4% for syringaldehyde) in comparison with the non-catalyzed reaction at similar reaction conditions (2.5% for vanillin and 4.5% for syringal-dehyde). Based on data reported for 443 K, the additional effect of FeCl_3 was evidenced: 4.7 and 9.5% of vanillin and syringaldehyde, respectively, against 3.5 and 6.5% for the reaction at similar conditions using $CuSO_4$ alone.

Besides the Cu(II) catalysis, Bjørsvik and Minisci [155] also tested salts of Co(II) and Ce(IV) salts in lignin oxidation. The efficiency of the Cu(II) and Co(II) catalysts was similar: 5.9 and 5.8%, respectively; however, in the reaction catalyzed by Cu(II), the maximum yield of vanillin was reached faster (70 min) than with Co(II) (90 min). The salt of Ce(IV) shows a lower efficiency in the oxidation of lignosulfonate, which was ascribed to the higher difficulty to reoxidation of the

Ce(III). Besides Cu and Co salts, two commercial platinum-alumina catalysts were studied by Villar et al. [123]. The copper salts produced better results; however, with similar yield of that obtained without catalyst. Moreover, cobalt and platinum-alumina catalysts showed a negative effect on lignin conversion.

Sales et al. [111, 112] used palladium catalyst supported on γ -alumina for oxidation of sugarcane bagasse lignin (batch and continuous). The catalyst revealed effective on increasing the rate of formation of aldehydes, 10–20 times higher compared to the correspondent non-catalytic reactions.

A heterogeneous catalyst was recently reported in literature [124] as effective in the production of aldehydes: the perovskite-type oxide $LaFe_{1-x}Cu_xO_3$ (x = 0, 0.1, 0.2). The maximum yield of *p*-hydroxybenzaldehyde, vanillin, and syringaldehyde was significantly improved with the catalyst $LaFe_{0.8}Cu_{0.2}O_3$: 2.49% (at 120 min), 4.56% (at 60 min) and 11.51% (at 30 min), respectively. These values represent 1.66-, 1.42-, and 2.51-fold increase compared to non-catalytic process, respectively. Besides this good performance, the catalyst maintained the effectiveness after successive recycling being a promising candidate for research applications in oxidation of lignins from other sources.

12.4.5 The Continuous Process of Lignin Oxidation

After the extensive research work on lignin oxidation in batch mode, the continuous process is the natural next step in view of an eventual industrial application. An experimental pilot set up was built for lignin oxidation in continuous operating mode at the LSRE [119, 120]: a schematic diagram of the operational pilot installation is shown in Fig. 12.11. The bubble column reactor has a capacity of 8 1 and is possible to fill it with modules of structured packing to improve the overall mass transfer performance of the system. This setup allows the operation with different flow conditions, for example in semi-batch mode (closed to gas or liquid), and is designed to work in very strong alkaline media (pH of 14), temperatures up to 170°C and pressures up to 15 bar. More details on the reactor set up can be found in the literature [119, 120, 122].

In a typical run, the alkaline solution of kraft lignin (60 g/l in NaOH 2 M) is fed to the reactor at 1–2.5 l/h, the temperature is selected (e.g. 403 K) and N₂ is used to pressurize the system. The oxidation is initiated when the operating temperature, pressure, and flow rates stabilized. Two different reactor configurations were tested: structured packed bubble column reactor (SPBCR) and bubble column reactor (with no internals, BCR).

The steady state condition was attained at approximately 6 h of operation for both types of reactor configuration. BCR was tested for O_2 flow rates (QO₂) of 1 L and 2 L_{NTP}/min, reaching to the vanillin yields of 0.56 and 0.67 g/l, respectively. The higher yield of vanillin for higher QO₂ is probably due to the higher pO_2 which improved the oxygen solubility in the liquid phase. However, the continuous operation led to about 25–30% of the maximum of vanillin concentration produced in the



Fig. 12.11 Layout of the experimental set-up of continuous lignin oxidation with O₂ in alkaline medium. The design and construction were performed at LSRE within the PhD work of Daniel Araújo (advisor Professor Alírio Rodrigues) [119] (image was a courtesy of Dr. Daniel Araújo, FEUP, Portugal)

batch process. In the SPBCR the hydrodynamics environment (dispersion coefficient, phase hold up or even heat transfer coefficients) is quite different from the simple bubble column reactor. The oxidations performed at $QO_2 = 2,000 \text{ ml}_{NTP}/$ min and feed rates of 2.0 l/h and 1.0 l/h lead, at steady state, to the final yields in vanillin of 0.73 and 0.89 g/l, respectively. The improvement on the vanillin content in the SPBCR configuration is due to an increase in the mass transfer of oxygen. The mass transfer coefficient was 35% higher for SPBCR than for BCR [119]. However, in both cases, the insufficient mass transfer of oxygen from the gas phase to the liquid phase was stated as the main reason for the low conversion.

To improve the performance of the continuous reactor and reach the production levels obtained in batch mode, the influence of some operating conditions was studied using a model developed by Araújo [119]. In this approach, pure oxygen in the gas feed was considered, decreasing simultaneously the residence time to avoid vanillin oxidation. From the SPBCR it was possible a vanillin concentration in the exit stream of 1.8 g/l, which is 85% of the maximum levels of vanillin concentration obtained in the batch reactor. Besides the low rates of oxygen transfer, the amount of vanillin produced is probably also limited by the type of lignin used.

12.4.6 Perspectives

Despite the technical details to be solved or improved, the emergent availability of lignin sources and the know-how developed in researcher centers creates an opportunity to evaluate the profitability of including an oxidation process in the chemical platform of a biorefinery. The aldehydes productivity of lignins with different characteristics (due to the specie, delignification process and further processing or special treatments) is an emergent topic of research. In the perspective of biomass-based industries and biorefinery sustainability, this is very welcome information. Improving the treatment methods to preserve the lignin fraction with higher productivity on aldehydes (for example, by membrane separation before the reaction step) could also provide important technological advances for the application of lignin. Vanillin and syringaldehyde are just the beginning of a long road running to the sustainable future of commodities from renewable sources.

12.5 Separation Processes for Oxidation Products of Lignin

In this section, the focus is on downstream processes for recovering vanillin from the oxidation media. The extraction and purification of vanillin from the reaction mixture have been matters of great concern, leading to the development of several technologies on chemical engineering separation methods such as solvent extraction, distillation, acidification/precipitation, bisulfitation, membrane, crystallization, supercritical extraction, adsorption, and ion exchange.

After the chemical alkaline oxidation of the lignin several low molecular weight aromatic compounds besides vanillin are present in the solution as water-soluble sodium phenolates. Clearly, the full composition of the complex mixture derived from the oxidation process depends on the lignin-based raw materials, operating conditions and applied chemicals. It is expected a mixture containing lignin oligomers, simple phenolics as aromatic aldehydes, and respective ketones and acids, and other secondary products in minor amount as lactones and also guaiacol and syringol [160, 161].

12.5.1 Conventional Process of Extraction

In the conventional method to isolate vanillin from the oxidized solution, the remaining lignin is precipitated by acidification adding carbon dioxide or a mineral acid like sulfuric acid. A liquid-liquid extraction with organic solvents, such as benzene, toluene, or ethyl ether enables the recovery of vanillin from the acidified liquid fraction [98]. The vanillin is co-extracted for a sodium bisulfite aqueous solution in the form of vanillin-bisulfite complex insoluble in the organic solvent. Finally, the vanillin complex in aqueous fraction must be acidified to recover free vanillin [162]. The neutralization and isolation of the vanillin from the lignin precipitated are remarkable cost factor and can present technical problems. A large amount of acidic solution is required and, eventually, the precipitation of the high molecular weight compounds causes losses of vanillin. A direct liquid-liquid extraction to obtain sodium vanillate from the oxidized solution was suggested by Sandborn and Howard [162] and Bryan [163], applying solvents, or a mixture, immiscible with water (alcohols as *n*-and iso-butanol [162] and iso-propanol [163]). In this case, besides sodium bisulfite method, the vanillin can also be recovered from organic phase by carrier-steam distillation [164].

Although the sodium bisulfite method provides high selectivity, the bisulfite derivative of vanillin is not sufficiently stable to carry out one-stage stripping requiring, therefore, the use of multiple extraction steps [165]. Kaygorodov et al. [165] have reported data on possible extractants for vanillin recovery and discussed on related disadvantages: difficulties in vanillin stripping or solvent recovery, toxicity, price, and solubility in water of some solvents. The aliphatic alcohols of the series C6–C8 were evaluated to extract vanillin from weakly alkaline media, which could eliminate problems related to the emulsification of the extraction system and vanillin sorption by the precipitated when acidification is applied.

12.5.2 Ion Exchange Processes

Another direct method to recover vanillin from the oxidized liquor is based on adsorption and ion exchange principles. Using a strong sulfonic acid resin in its Na⁺ form, sodium vanillate can be separated from lignosulfonates, sodium hydroxide and sodium carbonate, which are eluted first [166, 167]. This treatment should be performed between oxidation and extraction steps in vanillin production showing as main advantages the separation of around 80% of dry matter, lignin, and sodium from vanillin reactor effluent and the smaller quantity of acid needed to neutralize the vanillin fraction when compared to other processes. Moreover, the ion exchange resin does not require regeneration step and the lignin and the sodium can be returned to the chemical recovery of the pulp mill without any neutralization [166].

The process patented by Logan [168] reported weak ion exchange resins in acid form for vanillin isolation. In this case, the sodium vanillate and other phenolates contained in the alkaline oxidized solution were converted into a phenolic form. This is one of the steps in designed cyclic recovery of vanillin. This invention describes the suitable treatment for vanillin reactor effluent where any type of weak cationic resin may be used since it accepts sodium ion from the sodium hydroxide solution and also can be regenerated back to the hydrogen form. This particular method applying a strong cationic resin in H⁺ form was also studied in detail by Zabkova et al. [134] including the influence of the alkalinity and concentration of the vanillin solution on the ion exchange process. The presence of a buffer system comprising of vanillin/vanillate in the ion exchange process affects the expected rectangular behavior of isotherm in ion exchange coupled with neutralization reaction. Recently, non-polar macroporous resins have been applied for separating vanillin and syringaldehyde from oxygen delignification spent liquor [137]. It was verified that adsorption equilibrium constant decreased remarkably with the increasing pH due to the acid dissociation of the aromatic aldehydes, since ionic species are not adsorbed by these resins. The recoveries of vanillin and syringaldehyde were 96.2 and 94.7%, respectively [137].

12.5.3 Membrane Processes

The isolation of vanillate from kraft lignin oxidation media by ultrafiltration (UF) has been investigated by Zabkova et al. [135]. The higher molecular weight compounds can be easily retained using membranes technology. During the UF process vanillin is collected in the permeate stream, whilst the lignin as a macromolecule stays in the retentate. The appropriate size of membrane cut off can significantly reduce the high molecular weight components from the lignin/vanillin mixture. Due to high physical and chemical resistance the ceramic membranes can be applied under strong pH conditions and high temperature. They observed a high flux decline at higher pH of the filtrated solution and ascribed it to the hydrophobicity membrane surface and solute. To obtain higher flux with acceptable rejection values, a scheme of staging UF membranes starting from larger cut off has been proposed. Formerly, UF was reported as process for fractionation of waste sulfite liquor to obtain a concentrated lignin-rich fraction in order to increase yields of vanillin and reduction of crust formation on reactors in the production of vanillin [169].

12.5.4 Supercritical Extraction and Crystallization

Klemola and Tuovinen [170] have developed the technology of supercritical extraction applied to the vanillin production process in order to replace extraction with organic solvents and reextraction to aqueous solution. After the air oxidation

of lignin under alkaline conditions, the resulting solution is submitted to a supercritical carbon dioxide flow in the range of operation 75–400 bars and 303-373 K extracting vanillin and other chemically related compounds. The vanillin dissolved in CO₂ can be recovered by passing the gas flow into a receiver with suitable pressure and temperature conditions. The supercritical extraction can also be associated to the bisulfite treatment for vanillin recovery [171]. These solutions are treated with supercritical CO₂ and then the gas flow passes through an aqueous bisulfite solution that dissolves vanillin and liberates the CO₂ for reuse. Subsequently, the aqueous solution containing vanillin-bisulfite adducts is acidified with sulfuric acid and heated up to 90°C. After the breakage of adducts by acidification, the aqueous solution is cooled off and the vanillin crystallizes reaching to an appreciable purity.

The final product with up to 85-90% of vanillin can be further purified by successive crystallization and dissolution steps in methanol:water [172], fractional precipitation using magnesium or zinc salts [164] successive liquid-liquid (co-) extractions in alkaline solutions and *n*-butanol and vacuum distillation with or without an inert [173]. The final purification represents a difficult task because the phenolic impurities have very similar chemical and physical properties to vanillin, such that conventional fractionation techniques are inadequate and only multistage crystallization could lead to a final product of the desired high purity [173]. The main impurities of vanillin obtained from lignin processes mainly consist of vanillin-related species as o-vanillin, 5-formyl vanillin, vanillin acid, and acetovanillone. Apart from multiple water-methanol crystallization process, the purified vanillin can be obtained also by one or more crystallizations from water, using charcoal to adsorb last traces of impurities [172, 174]. Ibrahim et al. [136] reported the separation of vanillin from soda lignin, (from the black liquor of oil palm empty fruit bunches) by crystallization based on the solubility of vanillin in acetone. Afterwards, they developed the molecular imprinting polymer technique that allowed removing additional impurities in the sample.

12.5.5 The Integrated Process for Vanillin Production

Regarding the production and recovery of value-added aldehydes from lignincontaining raw materials, Fig. 12.12 shows a simplified flow sheet proposed by the research group of LSRE, working with lignin-based biorefining since the 1990s [133].The strategy is to combine reaction engineering and efficient separation processes for converting lignin from pulping spent liquors into value-added aldehydes. A portion of the by-product streams is processed to extract lignosulfonates or lignin (acidification/precipitation, UF or LignoBoost process). The subsequent processes are based on three main steps. The first step consists on the alkaline lignin oxidation in a structured bubble column reactor as reported in Sect. 12.4.5 [120]. Then, the reactor stream follows to an ultra-filtration process leading to the separation of high molecular weight fraction of degraded lignin from


Fig. 12.12 Simplified flow sheet of the integrated process for production of value-added aldehydes from lignin and polymers from lignin [133]

the lower molecular weight species, which goes preferentially to the permeate [135]. The permeate flows through a packed bed on acid resin in H^+ form to protonate the phenolates [134]. At the end, vanillin is recovered from solution by using crystallization process.

The production of lignin-based polyurethanes elastomers and foams could be also explored. The high molecular weight fraction retained in the UF process can be considered as raw material for lignin-based polyurethanes. The production of polymers from lignin is undoubtedly an attractive approach since it can take advantage of its functional groups and macromolecular proprieties. This application has been the topic of intense research and materials with quite promising properties were already obtained [80, 83, 175].

This complete process (reaction and separation) could be integrated in a pulp and paper mill, with the possibility of diverting a fraction of liquor lignin for oxidation, producing vanillin and syringaldehyde. The unreacted lignin (after oxidation and separation of added-value chemicals) can be reintroduced in the liquor stream to be burned, recovering by this way part of the energy lost by the deviated fraction. Alternatively, this lignin could be the raw material for polymers production [174]. Moreover, this process perfectly fits into the scope of new emerging lignocellulosic-based biorefineries to valorize lignin. This concept is entirely related to the development strategies and policies regulated by Agenda 21 program, offering a framework to enable the smooth transition toward a Bio-based Economy supported by innovation and sustainable growth.

Acknowledgments Authors are grateful to Dr. Detlef Schmiedl, Fraunhofer Institute for Chemical Technology, Germany and Dr. Daniel Araújo, Faculty of Engineering, University of Porto, Portugal, for kindly providing figures and data.

References

- 1. Sjöström E (ed) (1993) Wood chemistry, fundamentals and applications. Academic Press, New York
- Boerjan W, Ralph J, Baucher M (2003) Lignin Biosynthesis. Annu Rev Plant Biol 54(1):519–546
- 3. Adler E (1977) Lignin chemistry-past, present and future. Wood Sci Technol 11(3):169-218
- 4. Davin LB, Patten AM, Jourdes M, Lewis NG (2009) Lignins: a twenty-first century challenge. Biomass recalcitrance. Blackwell Publishing Ltd, London
- 5. Ek M, Gellerstedt G, Henriksson G (eds) (2009) Pulp and paper chemistry and technology. Wood chemistry and wood biotechnology, vol 1. Walter de Gruyter, Berlin
- Yr Chen, Sarkanen S (2010) Macromolecular replication during lignin biosynthesis. Phytochemistry 71(4):453–462
- 7. Lewin M, Goldstein IS (eds) (1991) Wood structure and composition. Marcel Dekker, New York
- Lawoko M, Henriksson G, Gellerstedt G (2005) Structural differences between the lignin carbohydrate complexes present in wood and in chemical pulps. Biomacromolecules 6(6):3467–3473
- Evtuguin DV, Neto CP, Silva AMS, Domingues PM, Amado FML, Robert D, Faix O (2001) Comprehensive study on the chemical structure of dioxane lignin from plantation *Eucalyptus globulus* wood. J Agric Food Chem 49(9):4252–4261
- Pinto PC, Evtuguin DV, Neto CP (2005) Effect of structural features of wood biopolymers on hardwood pulping and bleaching performance. Ind Eng Chem Res 44(26):9777–9784
- 11. Boudet AM, Grima-Pettenati J (1996) Lignin genetic engineering. Mol Breeding 2(1):25-39
- Baucher M, Halpin C, Petit-Conil MWB (2003) Lignin: genetic engineering and impact on pulping. Crit Rev Biochem Mol Biol 38(4):305–350
- Gellerstedt G, Lindfors E-L (1984) Structural changes in lignin during kraft cooking part 4. Phenolic hydroxyl groups in wood and kraft pulps. Svensk Papperstidn 15:115–118
- Gellerstedt G, Gustafsson K (1987) Structural changes in lignin during kraft cooking. Part 5. Analysis of dissolved lignin by oxidative degradation. J Wood Chem Technol 7(1):65–80
- Marques AP, Evtuguin DV, Magina S, Amado FML, Prates A (2009) Structure of Lignosulphonates from Acidic Magnesium-Based Sulphite Pulping of *Eucalyptus globulus*. J Wood ChemTechnol 29(4):337–357
- Robert DR, Bardet M, Gellerstedt Gr, Lindfors EL (1984) Structural changes in lignin during kraft cooking part 3. On the structure of dissolved lignins. J Wood Chem Technol 4(3):239–263
- Vázquez G, Antorrena G, González J, Freire S (1997) The Influence of pulping conditions on the structure of acetosolv eucalyptus lignins. J Wood Chem Technol 17(1):147–162
- Gierer J (1985) Chemistry of delignification. Wood Sci Technol 19(4):289–312. doi:10.1007/bf00350807
- Tarabanko VE, Koropatchinskaya NV, Kudryashev AV, Kuznetsov BN (1995) Influence of lignin origin on the efficiency of the catalytic oxidation of lignin vanillin and syringaldehyde. *Russ Chem Bull* 2:367–371
- Pinto PR, Borges da Silva EA, Rodrigues AE (2011) Insights into oxidative conversion of lignin to high-added-value phenolic aldehydes. Ind Eng Chem Res 50(2):741–748
- Clayton D, Einspahr D, Easty D, Lonsky W, Malcolm E, McDonough T, Shroeder L, Thompson N (1987) Pulp and paper manufacture, vol 5. Alkaline pulping. Tappi and CPPA, Atlanta
- 22. Gierer J (1980) Chemical aspects of kraft pulping. Wood Sci Technol 14(4):241-266
- 23. Lebo SE, Gargulak JD, McNally TJ (2000) Lignin. Kirk-Othmer encyclopedia of chemical technology. John Wiley & Sons, London
- 24. Gierer J, Wännström S (1984) Formation of alkali-stahle c-c-bonds between lignin and carbohydrate fragments during kraft pulping. Holzforschung 38(4):181–184

- 25. Ragnar M, Lindgren CT, Nilvebrant N-O (2000) pKa-values of guaiacyl and syringyl phenols related to lignin. J Wood Chem Technol 20(3):277–305
- 26. Öhman F (2006) Precipitation and separation of lignin from kraft black liquor. Chalmers University of Technology, Gottenburg, Sweden
- Tomani P, Axegard P (2007) Development and demonstration of the LignoBoost process. In: The ILI umbrella programme and other existing and new approaches in lignin research, ILI 8th forum, Rome, 10–12 May. The International Lignin Institute, pp 109–113
- Tomani P (2008) Large scale lignin removal experiences. In: STFI-Packforsk (ed) 1st Nordic wood biorefinery conference (NWBC 2008), Stockholm, 11–13 March, pp 168–174
- Lindgren K, Alvarado F, Olander K, Öhman F Potential lignin products from the wood biorefinery (2011) In: INNVENTIA (ed) The 3rd Nordic wood biorefinery conference (NWBC 2011), Stockholm, 22–24 March, pp 153–155
- Nordström Y, Sjöholm E, Brodin I, Drougge R, Gellerstedt G, Lindfors E-L (2011) Lignin for carbon fibres In: INNVENTIA (ed) 3rd Nordic wood biorefinery conference (NWBC 2011), Stockholm, 22–24 March INNVENTIA, pp 156–160
- 31. Jönsson A-S, Nordin A-K, Wallberg O (2008) Concentration and purification of lignin in hardwood kraft pulping liquor by ultrafiltration and nanofiltration. Chem Eng Res Des 86(11):1271–1280
- 32. Wallberg O, Jönsson A-S (2006) Separation of lignin in kraft cooking liquor from a continuous digester by ultrafiltration at temperatures above 100°C. Desalination 195(1–3):187–200
- Toledano A, García A, Mondragon I, Labidi J (2010) Lignin separation and fractionation by ultrafiltration. Sep Purif Technol 71(1):38–43
- Toledano A, Serrano L, Garcia A, Mondragon I, Labidi J (2010) Comparative study of lignin fractionation by ultrafiltration and selective precipitation. Chem Eng J 157(1):93–99
- 35. Gosselink RJA, de Jong E, Guran B, Abächerli A (2004) Co-ordination network for ligninstandardisation, production and applications adapted to market requirements (EUROLIGNIN). Ind Crop Prod 20(2):121–129
- Mathias AL (1993) Produção de vanilina a partir da lenhina: estudo cinético e do processo (in Portuguese language). PhD, University of Porto
- Adler E, Hägglund EKM (1954) Method of producing water-soluble products from black liquor lignin. United States patent 2680113
- 38. JE Holladay JE, Bozell JJ, White JF, Johnson D (2007) Results of screening for potential candidates from biorefinery lignin. Top value-added chemicals from biomass, vol II. Pacific Northwest National Laboratory and National Renewable Energy Laboratory, Richland
- Meadwestvaco web page (2011) http://www.meadwestvaco.com/SpecialtyChemicals/ index.htm. Accessed 21 May 2011
- Pinto PC, Evtuguin DV, Neto CP, Silvestre AJD, Amado FML (2002) Behavior of Eucalyptus globulus lignin during kraft pulping. II. Analysis by NMR, ESI/MS and GPC. J Wood Chem Technol 22(2):109–125
- Pinto PC, Evtuguin DV, Neto CP, Silvestre AJD (2002) Behavior of Eucalyptus globulus lignin during kraft pulping I. Analysis by chemical degradation methods. J Wood Chem Technol 22(2):93–108
- 42. Nagy M, Kosa M, Theliander H, Ragauskas AJ (2010) Characterization of CO₂ precipitated Kraft lignin to promote its utilization. Green Chem 12(1):31–34
- 43. Wilde FGN-D (1987) Recovery of lignosulphonate from a calcium bisulphite pulp mill effluent by ultrafiltration. Desalination 67:495–505
- 44. Restolho JA, Prates A, de Pinho MN, Afonso MD (2009) Sugars and lignosulphonates recovery from eucalyptus spent sulphite liquor by membrane processes. Biomass Bioenergy 33(11):1558–1566
- 45. Bhattacharya PK, Todi RK, Tiwari M, Bhattacharjee C, Bhattacharjee S, Datta S (2005) Studies on ultrafiltration of spent sulfite liquor using various membranes for the recovery of lignosulphonates. Desalination 174(3):287–297

- 46. Mänttäri M, Kallioinen M, Pihlajamäki A, Nyström M (2010) Industrial membrane processes in the treatment of process waters and liquors. Water Sci Technol 62(7):1653–1660
- Heikkila H (1986) Production of pure sugars and lignosulfonates from sulfite spent liquor. United States patent 4631129
- 48. Brauns FE (1967) Recovery of lignosulfonates. United States patent 3297676
- Hamala TSL, Koivvnen HST, Kontturi A-KK, Sarkkinen PVJ (1982) Process for recovering lignosulfates from spent sulfite liquor. Finland patent
- Chakrabarty K, Saha P, Ghoshal AK (2010) Separation of lignosulfonate from its aqueous solution using emulsion liquid membrane. J Membr Sci 360(1–2):34–39
- 51. Evju H (1979) Process for preparation of 3-methoxy-4-hydroxibenzaldeyde. Norway patent
- 52. Ringena O, Saake B, Lehnen R (2005) Isolation and fractionation of lignosulfonates by amine extraction and ultrafiltration: a comparative study. Holzforschung 59(4):405–412
- 53. Borregard LignoTech web page (2011), http://www.lignotech.com/eway/default. aspx?pid=249&trg=MainPage_9490&MainPage_9490=9546:0. Accessed 23 May 2011
- Lersch M (2011) Biorefining at Borregaard—recent developments in the processing of lignocellulosics. In: The 3rd Nordic wood biorefinery conference (NWBC 2011), Stockholm, 22–24 March 2011, pp 109–113
- 55. Ismail F, Mulholland DA, Marsh JJ (2005) An analysis of the water soluble components of Sappi Saiccor's effluent streams. Water SA 31(4):569–574
- Moodley B, Mulholland DA, Brookes HC (2011) The electro-oxidation of lignin in Sappi Saiccor dissolving pulp mill effluent. Water SA 37(1):33–40
- Sjöde A, Frölander A, Lersh M, Rødsrud G (2009) Lignocellulosic biomass conversion by sulfite pretreatment. International patent WO2010/078930
- 58. Pye EK (2008) Industrial lignin production and applications. Biorefineries-industrial processes and products. Wiley-VCH Verlag GmbH, Germany
- 59. Marwedel T (2009) Vanillin from Borregaard gives small CO₂ footprints—Aroma Chemicals, available at web page http://www.borregaard.com/eway/default.aspx?pid= 270&trg=MainLeft_12937&Main_12928=12937:0:15,4975:1:0:0::::0:0&MainLeft_12937= 12539:25998::1:12939:6:::0:0. Borregaard website. Accessed 20 Feb 2011
- Ekeberg D, Gretland KS, Gustafsson J, Bråten SM, Fredheim GE (2006) Characterisation of lignosulphonates and kraft lignin by hydrophobic interaction chromatography. Anal Chim Acta 565(1):121–128
- Fredheim GE, Braaten SM, Christensen BE (2003) Comparison of molecular weight and molecular weight distributions of softwood and hardwood lignosulfonates. J Wood Chem Technol 23(2):197–215
- 62. Gellerstedt G, Henriksson G (2008) Lignins: major sources, structure and properties. In: Belgacem MN, Gandini A (eds) Monomers, polymers and composites from renewable resources, 1st edn. Elsevier, Oxford
- Marques AP, Evtuguin DV, Magina S, Amado FML, Prates A (2009) Chemical composition of spent liquors from acidic magnesium-based sulphite pulping of *Eucalyptus globulus*. J Wood Chem Technol 29(4):322–336
- 64. Marques AP, Evtuguin DV, Magina S, Amado FML, Prates A (2009) Structure of lignosulphonates from acidic magnesium-based sulphite pulping of *Eucalyptus globulus*. J Wood Chem Technol 29(4):337–357
- Moodley B, Mulholland DA, Marsh JJ (2003) The characterisation of organic components in the calcium and magnesium effluent streams at Sappi Saiccor. Water SA 29(3):237–240
- McDonough J (1992) The chemistry of organosolv delignification. Technical paper series, vol 455. Institute of paper science and technology, Atlanta
- 67. El Hage R, Brosse N, Chrusciel L, Sanchez C, Sannigrahi P, Ragauskas A (2009) Characterization of milled wood lignin and ethanol organosolv lignin from *Miscanthus*. Polym Degrad Stab 94(10):1632–1638
- 68. Arato C, Pye E, Gjennestad G (2005) The lignol approach to biorefining of woody biomass to produce ethanol and chemicals. Appl Biochem Biotechnol 123(1):871–882

- 69. Schmiedl D, Unkelbach G, Graf J, Schweppe R (2009) Studies in catalyzed hydrothermal degradation processes on sulphur-free lignin and extractive separation of aromatic SYNTHONs. In: Nordic wood and biorefinery conference (NWBC 2009), Helsinky, Finland, 2–4 Sept, pp 189–196
- 70. Kim D-E, Pan X (2010) Preliminary study on converting hybrid poplar to high-value chemicals and lignin using organosolv ethanol process. Ind Eng Chem Res 49(23):12156–12163
- 71. Kleinert TN (1971) Organosolv pulping and recovery process. United States patent 3585104
- Pye EK, Lora JH (1991) The Alcell process a proven alternative to kraft pulping. Tappi J 74(3):113–118
- 73. Lignol web page (2011) http://www.lignol.ca/about.html. Accessed 20 May 2011
- 74. Pan X, Arato C, Gilkes N, Gregg D, Mabee W, Pye K, Xiao Z, Zhang X, Saddler J (2005) Biorefining of softwoods using ethanol organosolv pulping: preliminary evaluation of process streams for manufacture of fuel-grade ethanol and co-products. Biotechnol Bioeng 90(4):473–481
- Michels J, Wagemann K (2011) The German lignocellulose feedstock biorefinery project. In: The 3rd Nordic wood biorefinery conference (NWBC 2011), Stockholm, 22–24 March 2011, pp 70–75
- 76. Lignovalue project web page (2011), http://www.biobased.nl/lignovalue. Accessed May 2011
- 77. Lehnen R, Heitmann M, Flötotto A (2011) Organosolv lignin in phenol formaldehyde resins—evaluation of curing behaviour and wood bonding effectiveness. In: The 3rd Nordic wood biorefinery conference (NWBC 2011), Stockholm, 22–24 March, pp 187–192
- Schweppe R, Unkelbach G, Fehrenbacher U (2009) Transformation of lignocellulose into aromatic building blocks. Paper presented at the Biorefinica 2009, Biobased products and biorefineries, Osnabrück, 27-28 Jan
- Thring RW, Vanderlaan MN, Griffin SL (1997) Polyurethanes from Alcell[®] lignin. Biomass Bioenergy 13(3):125–132
- Cateto CA, Barreiro MF, Rodrigues AE, Belgacem MN (2011) Lignin-based polyurethane elastomers. In: The 3rd Nordic wood biorefinery conference (NWBC 2011), Stockholm, 22–24 March, pp 334–335
- Kadla JF, Kubo S, Venditti RA, Gilbert RD, Compere AL, Griffith W (2002) Lignin-based carbon fibers for composite fiber applications. Carbon 40(15):2913–2920
- Satheesh Kumar MN, Mohanty AK, Erickson L, Misra M (2009) Lignin and its applications with polymers. Journal Biobased Mater Bioenergy 3(1):1–24
- Cateto CA, Barreiro MF, Rodrigues AE, Brochier-Salon MC, Thielemans W, Belgacem MN (2008) Lignins as macromonomers for polyurethane synthesis: a comparative study on hydroxyl group determination. J Appl Polym Sci 109(5):3008–3017
- Thring RW, Breau J (1996) Hydrocracking of solvolysis lignin in a batch reactor. Fuel 75(7):795–800
- Sridach W (2010) The environmentally benign pulping process of non-wood fibers. Suranaree J Sci Technol 17(2):105–123
- 86. Clark JH, Deswarte FEI (2008) The biorefinery concept-an integrated approach. Introduction to chemicals from biomass. John Wiley & Sons, New Delhi
- Kleinert M, Barth T (2008) Towards a lignincellulosic biorefinery: direct one-step conversion of lignin to hydrogen-enriched biofuel. Energy & Fuels 22(2):1371–1379
- Pandey MP, Kim CS (2011) Lignin depolymerization and conversion: a review of thermochemical methods. Chem Eng Technol 34(1):29–41
- 89. Yan N, Zhao C, Dyson PJ, Wang C, Liu L-t, Kou Y (2008) Selective degradation of wood lignin over noble-metal catalysts in a two-step process. Chemsuschem 1(7):626–629
- Zakzeski J, Bruijnincx PCA, Jongerius AL, Weckhuysen BM (2010) The catalytic valorization of lignin for the production of renewable chemicals. Chem Rev 110(6):3552–3599

- 91. Hocking MB (1997) Vanillin: synthetic flavoring from spent sulfite liquor. J Chem Educ 74(9):1055
- 92. Bjørsvik H-R, Liguori L (2002) Organic processes to pharmaceutical chemicals based on fine chemicals from lignosulfonates. Org Process Res Dev 6(3):279–290
- Vanillin squeezed by cost pressures (2006) Reed Business Information Limited. http:// www.icis.com/Articles/2006/06/10/2014671/vanillin-squeezed-by-cost-pressures.html. Accessed 20 May 2011
- 94. Ramachandra Rao S, Ravishankar GA (2000) Vanilla flavour: production by conventional and biotechnological routes. J Sci Food Agric 80(3):289–304
- 95. Walton NJ, Mayer MJ, Narbad A (2003) Vanillin. Phytochemistry 63(5):505-515
- 96. Sandborn LR, Salvesen JR, Howard GC (1936) Process of making vanillin. United States patent 2057117
- Pearl IA (1958) Lignin as a raw material for the production of pure chemicals. J Chem Educ 35(10):502
- Hibbert H, Tomlinson GJ (1937) Manufacture of vanillin from waste sulphite pulp liquor. United States patent 2069185
- 99. Thiel L, Hendricks F (2004) Study into the establishment of an aroma and fragrance fine chemicals value chain in South Africa, Part III: Aroma Chemicals derived from petrochemical feedstocks, tender number T79/07/03. Government tender bulletins. National Economic Development and Labor Council, Available from: http://www.nedlac. org.za/research/fridge-studies/fine-chemicals.aspx
- 100. Priefert H, Rabenhorst J, Steinbuchel A (2001) Biotechnological production of vanillin. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 56(3–4):296–314
- Schrader J, Etschmann MMW, Sell D, Hilmer JM, Rabenhorst J (2004) Applied biocatalysis for the synthesis of natural flavour compounds—current industrial processes and future prospects. Biotechnol Lett 26(6):463–472
- 102. Rhodia web page (2011) http://www.rhodia.com/en/markets_and_products/leading_brands/ silcea_rhovanil_natural.tcm. Accessed 20 May 2011
- Manchand PS, Rosen P, Belica PS, Oliva GV, Perrotta AV, Wong HS (1992) Syntheses of antibacterial 2,4-diamino-5-benzylpyrimidines. Ormetoprim and trimethoprim. J Org Chem 57(13):3531–3535
- 104. Manchand P (1978) Process for preparing 2,4-diamino-5-(substituted benzyl)-pyrimidines
- 105. Erofeev YV, Afanas'eva VL, Glushkov RG (1990) Synthetic routes to 3,4,5trimethoxybenzaldehyde. Pharm Chem J 24(7):501–510 review
- 106. Pepper JM, MacDonald JA (1953) The synthesis of syringaldehyde from vanillin. Can J Chem 31:476–483
- 107. Pearl IA (1948) Synthesis of syringaldehyde. J Am Chem Soc 70(5):1746-1748
- Tripathi AK, Sama JK, Taneja SC (2010) An expeditious synthesis of syringaldehyde from para-cresol. Indian J Chem 49:379–381 Section B
- 109. Marshall HB, Vincent DL (1978) Production of syringaldehyde from hardwood waste pulping liquors. United States patent 4075248
- 110. Wu G, Heitz M, Chornet E (1994) Improved alkaline oxidation process for the production of aldehydes (vanillin and syringaldehyde) from steam-explosion hardwood lignin. Ind Eng Chem Res 33(3):718–723
- 111. Sales FG, Maranhão LCA, Lima Filho NM, Abreu CAM (2006) Kinetic evaluation and modeling of lignin catalytic wet oxidation to selective production of aromatic aldehydes. Ind Eng Chem Res 45(20):6627–6631
- 112. Sales FG, Abreu CAM, Pereira JAFR (2004) Catalytic wet-air oxidation of lignin in a threephase reactor with aromatic aldehyde production. Brazilian J Chem Eng 21:211–218
- 113. Santos SG, Marques AP, Lima DLD, Evtuguin DV, Esteves VI (2011) Kinetics of Eucalypt lignosulfonate oxidation to aromatic aldehydes by oxygen in alkaline medium. Ind Eng Chem Res 50(1):291–298
- 114. Lee CY, Sharma A, Cheong JE, Nelson JL (2009) Synthesis and antioxidant properties of dendritic polyphenols. Bioorg Med Chem Lett 19(22):6326–6330

- 115. Sales FG, Maranhão LCA, Filho NML, Abreu CAM (2007) Experimental evaluation and continuous catalytic process for fine aldehyde production from lignin. Chem Eng Sci 62(18–20):5386–5391
- Fargues C, Mathias A, Rodrigues A (1996) Kinetics of vanillin production from kraft lignin oxidation. Ind Eng Chem Res 35(1):28–36
- 117. Mathias AL, Lopretti MI, Rodrigues AE (1995) Chemical and biological oxidation of Pinus-Pinaster lignin for the production of vanillin. J Chem Technol Biotechnol 64(3):225–234
- 118. Mathias AL, Rodrigues AE (1995) Production of vanillin by oxidation of pine kraft lignins with oxygen. Holzforschung 49(3):273–278
- 119. Araújo JD (2008) Production of vanillin from lignin present in the Kraft black liquor of the pulp and paper industry, PhD thesis. University of Porto
- Araújo JDP, Grande CA, Rodrigues AE (2009) Structured packed bubble column reactor for continuous production of vanillin from kraft lignin oxidation. Catal Today 147:S330–S335
- 121. Araújo JDP, Grande CA, Rodrigues AE (2010) Vanillin production from lignin oxidation in a batch reactor. Chem Eng Res Des 88(8A):1024–1032
- 122. Sridhar P, Araujo JD, Rodrigues AE (2005) Modeling of vanillin production in a structured bubble column reactor. Catal Today 105(3-4):574–581
- 123. Villar JC, Caperos A, Garcia-Ochoa F (2001) Oxidation of hardwood kraft-lignin to phenolic derivatives with oxygen as oxidant. Wood Sci Technol 35(3):245–255
- 124. Zhang J, Deng H, Lin L (2009) Wet Aerobic Oxidation of Lignin into aromatic aldehydes catalysed by a Perovskite-type oxide: LaFe1-xCuxO3 (x = 0, 0.1, 0.2). Molecules 14(8):2747–2757
- 125. Xiang Q, Lee YY (2001) Production of oxychemicals from precipitated hardwood lignin. Appl Biochem Biotechnol 91–3:71–80
- 126. Voill T, von Rohr PR (2010) Demonstration of a process for the conversion of kraft lignin into vanillin and methyl vanillate by acidic oxidation in aqueous methanol. Ind Eng Chem Res 49(2):520–525
- 127. Labat G, Gonçalves A (2008) Oxidation in acidic medium of lignins from agricultural residues. Appl Biochem Biotechnol 148(1):151–161
- 128. Partenheimer W (2009) The aerobic oxidative cleavage of lignin to produce hydroxyaromatic benzaldehydes and carboxylic acids via metal/bromide catalysts in acetic acid/water mixtures. Adv Synth Catal 351(3):456–466
- Stark K, Taccardi N, Bosmann A, Wasserscheid P (2010) Oxidative depolymerization of lignin in ionic liquids. Chemsuschem 3(6):719–723
- Zakzeski J, Jongerius AL, Weckhuysen BM (2010) Transition metal catalyzed oxidation of Alcell lignin, soda lignin, and lignin model compounds in ionic liquids. Green Chem 12(7):1225–1236
- 131. Clark JH, Budarin V, Deswarte FEI, Hardy JJE, Kerton FM, Hunt AJ, Luque R, Macquarrie DJ, Milkowski K, Rodriguez A, Samuel O, Tavener SJ, White RJ, Wilson AJ (2006) Green chemistry and the biorefinery: a partnership for a sustainable future. Green Chem 8(10):853–860
- 132. Tarabanko VE, Pervishina EP, Hendogina YV (2001) Kinetics of aspen wood oxidation by oxygen in alkaline media. React Kinet Catal Lett 72(1):153–162
- 133. Borges da Silva EA, Zabkova M, Araujo JD, Cateto CA, Barreiro MF, Belgacem MN, Rodriques AE (2009) An integrated process to produce vanillin and lignin-based polyurethanes from kraft lignin. Chem Eng Res Des 87(9A):1276–1292
- 134. Zabkova M, Borges da Silva EA, Rodrigues AE (2007) Recovery of vanillin from kraft lignin oxidation by ion-exchange with neutralization. Sep Purif Technol 55(1):56–68
- 135. Zabkova M, Borges da Silva EA, Rodrigues AE (2007) Recovery of vanillin from lignin/ vanillin mixture by using tubular ceramic ultrafiltration membranes. J Membr Sci 301(1–2):221–237
- 136. Ibrahim MNM, Sipaut CS, Yusof NNM (2009) Purification of vanillin by a molecular imprinting polymer technique. Sep Purif Technol 66(3):450–456

- 137. Wang ZJ, Chen KF, Li J, Wang QQ, Guo J (2010) Separation of vanillin and syringaldehyde from oxygen delignification spent liquor by macroporous resin adsorption. Clean-Soil Air Water 38(11):1074–1079
- Zabkova M, Otero M, Minceva M, Zabka M, Rodrigues AE (2006) Separation of synthetic vanillin at different pH onto polymeric adsorbent Sephabeads SP206. Chem Eng Process 45(7):598–607
- 139. Tarabanko VE, Fomova NA, Kuznetsov BN, Ivanchenko NM, Kudryashev AV (1995) On the mechanism of vanillin formation in the catalytic oxidation of lignin with oxygen. React Kinet Catal Lett 55(1):161–170
- 140. Tarabanko VE, Petukhov DV, Selyutin GE (2004) New mechanism for the catalytic oxidation of lignin to vanillin. Kinet Catal 45(4):569–577
- 141. Tarabanko VE, Hendogina YV, Petuhov DV, Pervishina EP (2000) On the role of retroaldol reaction in the process of lignin oxidation into vanillin. Kinetics of the vanillideneacetone cleavage in alkaline media. React Kinet Catal Lett 69(2):361–368
- 142. Tarabanko VE, Kudryashev AV, Kuznetsov BN, Gulbis GR, Koropachinskaya NV, Ivanchenko NM (1996) Catalytic oxidation of lignosulfonates into vanillin and syringaldehyde in a flow-type setup. Russ J Appl Chem 69(4):559–563
- 143. Gierer J, Imsgard F (1977) The reactions of lignins with oxygen and hydrogen peroxide in alkaline media. Svensk Papperstidn 80:510–518
- 144. Kratzl K, Claus P, Lonsky W, Gratzl JS (1974) Model studies on reactions occurring in oxidations of lignin with molecular oxygen in alkaline media. Wood Sci Technol 8(1):35–49
- 145. Gierer J (1982) The chemistry of delignification—a general concept—part II. Holzforschung 36(2):55–64
- 146. Gierer J, Imsgard F, Norén I (1977) Studies on the degradation of phenolic lignin units of the β -aryl ether type with oxygen in alkaline media. Acta Chem Scand B 31:561–572
- 147. Tromans D (1998) Oxygen solubility modeling in inorganic solutions: concentration, temperature and pressure effects. Hydrometallurgy 50(3):279–296
- 148. Marshall HB, Sankey AC (1951) Method of producing vanillin. United States patent 2544999
- 149. Fargues C, Mathias A, Silva J, Rodrigues A (1996) Kinetics of vanillin oxidation. Chem Eng Technol 19(2):127–136
- 150. Collis BC (1954) Manufacture of vanillin from lignin. United States patent 2692291
- 151. Ji Y (2007) Kinetics and mechanism of oxygen delignification PhD, The University of Maine
- 152. Marshall HB, Sankey AC (1950) Method of producing vanillin. United States patent 2516827
- 153. Rodrigues AE, Araujo JDP (2002) Production of vanillin from lignin. Actualite Chimique 11–12:62–63
- 154. Pinto PC, Borges da Silva EA, Rodrigues AE (2010) Comparative study of solid-phase extraction and liquid–liquid extraction of lignin oxidation products for HPLC-UV quantification. Ind Eng Chem Res 49(23):12311–12318
- 155. Bjørsvik H-R, Minisci F (1999) Fine chemicals from lignosulfonates. 1. Synthesis of vanillin by oxidation of lignosulfonates. Org Process Res Dev 3(5):330–340
- 156. Tsutsumi Y, Kondo R, Sakai K, Imamura H (1995) The difference of reactivity between syringyl lignin and guaiacyl lignin in alkaline systems. Holzforschung 49(5):423–428
- 157. Sultanov VS, Wallis AFA (1991) Reactivities of guaiacyl and syringyl lignin model phenols towards oxidation with oxygen-alkali. J Wood Chem Technol 11(3):291–305
- 158. Bjørsvik H-R, Norman K (1999) Fine chemicals from lignosulfonates. 2. Synthesis of veratric acid from acetovanillon. Org Process Res Dev 3(5):341–346
- 159. Kuznetsov BN, Kuznetsova SA, Danilov VG, Kozlov IA, Tarabanko VE, Ivanchenko NM, Alexandrova NB (2002) New catalytic processes for a sustainable chemistry of cellulose production from wood biomass. Catal Today 75(1–4):211–217

- 160. Wong Z, Chen K, Li J (2010) Formation of vanillin and syringaldehyde in an oxygen delignification process. Bioresour Technol 5(3):1509–1516
- 161. Gierer J (1986) Chemistry of delignification. Wood Sci Technol 20(1):1-33
- 162. Sandborn L, Howard GC (1938) Process of making vanillin. United States patent 2104701
- 163. Bryan CC (1955) Propanol extraction of sodium vanillinate. United States patent 2721221
- 164. Bauer K, Brandt H-W, Schroter J (1978) Carrier-vapor distillation. United States patent 4090922
- 165. Kaygorodov KL, Chelbina YV, Tarabanko VE, Tarabanko NV (2010) Extraction of vanillin by aliphatic alcohols. J Siberian Fed Univ-Chem 3:228–233
- 166. Forss KG, Talka ET, Fremer KE (1986) Isolation of vanillin from alkaline oxidized spent sulfite liquor. Ind Eng Chem Product Res Dev 25(1):103–108
- 167. Forss KG, Talka ET, Fremer K-E (1981) Method for the isolation of vanillin from lignin in alkaline solutions. United States patent 4277626
- 168. Logan CD (1965) Cyclic process for recovering vanillin and sodium values from lignosulphonic waste liquors by ion exchange. United States patent 3197359
- 169. Evju H (1979) Process for preparation of 3-methoxy-4-hydroxybenzaldehyde. United States patent 4151207
- 170. Klemola A, Tuovinen J (1989) Method for the production of vanillin. United States patent 4847422
- 171. Coenen H, Konrad R (1990) Process for the extraction of vanillin. United States patent 4898990
- 172. Schoeffel EW (1962) Vanillin purification. United States patent 3049566
- 173. Makin EC (1984) Purification of vanillin. United States patent 4474994
- 174. Major FW, Nicolle FMA (1977) Vanillin recovery process. United States patent 4021493
- 175. Cateto CA, Barreiro MF, Rodrigues AE, Belgacem MN (2009) Optimization study of lignin oxypropylation in view of the preparation of polyurethane rigid foams. Ind Eng Chem Res 48(5):2583–2589

Chapter 13 Liquefaction of Softwoods and Hardwoods in Supercritical Methanol: A Novel Approach to Bio-Oil Production

J. Andres Soria and Armando G. McDonald

13.1 Introduction

The use of biomass resources as a renewable feedstock for producing liquid fuels has been dominated by the biochemical conversion of glucose polymers (i.e. starch, cellulose) into small molecular weight alcohols, most notably ethanol. The production capacity of ethanol in the US alone has reached levels of 15 billion gallons per year [1], but it is met with a limitation on how much ethanol conventional gasoline engines can accept without modifications or causing mechanical damage, the so-called blend wall [2]. In addition, the displacement of feed and food grade corn and soybeans for the production of liquid biofuels has socio-economic implications that affect the long-term viability of this feedstock as a sustainable source of food and energy [3, 4]. To make ethanol a viable biofuel then, a new vehicle fleet, fuel processing and transportation infrastructure is needed, which will come at an elevated financial and policy cost.

An alternative is to develop the next generation of biofuels that are capable of being produced from non-food based biomass resources, and that maximize the use of "waste biomass", or biomass that has no established market under

J. Andres Soria

Agricultural and Forestry Experiment Station, University of Alaska Fairbanks, Palmer, AK 99645, USA e-mail: jasoria@alaska.edu

J. Andres Soria School of Engineering, University of Alaska Anchorage, Palmer, AK 99645, USA

A. G. McDonald (⊠) Renewable Materials Program, College of Natural Resources, University of Idaho, Moscow, ID 83844-1132, USA e-mail: armandm@uidaho.edu current economic activities. These include non-food agricultural crops, grasses, non-merchantable timber, tree tops and limbs- and demolition-derived biomass, among others. By creating a hydrocarbon-based fuels rather than alcohols, the new generation of liquid biofuels will have less limitations in its application, maximizing the existing vehicle engine and logistics infrastructure, and have a greater chance of being fully adopted into the market without the need of mandates or subsidies.

Technologies capable of yielding high conversion rates and stable chemical platforms to produce these advanced biofuels are still in development, with the most promising pathways being those that employ thermochemical conversion techniques [5]. Thermochemical conversion has been successfully applied to biomass to yield new generation biofuels, particularly through pyrolysis [6–9] and gasification platforms with Fisher–Tropsch gas conversions [10].

In pyrolysis, high temperatures in excess of 500°C are used in an oxygendeficient atmosphere to thermally breakdown the biomass polymers (cellulose, hemicellulose and lignin) into smaller oligomers and monomers which are condensed from vapor phase into a liquid bio-oil [6–9]. Pyrolysis is capable of transforming hardwood and softwood species into a bio-oil with a maximum reported yield of 75 wt%, with a significant fraction of water and oxygenated species, which affect storage and processing [6, 7]. The prevalence of the oxygenated fractions of bio-oil result in the need to hydrotreat it in order to improve the stability and functionality of the product [11]. Hydrotreating bio-oil using transition metal and zeolite catalysts has been successfully done [12–15], and continues to attract significant interest as the promising pathway toward new generation biofuels.

Pyrolysis does suffer from a variety of problems, most prominently being that the biomass feedstock needs to be dry and reaction conditions must be carefully controlled in order to have a repeatable, consistent product [16]. Although these are process engineering issues that are generally resolved at the pilot scale, some aspects are more difficult to resolve such as the high energy requirement to conduct the transformation, and the low product stability of the pyrolysis-generated bio-oil [16]. Potential solutions to these problems involve using proprietary catalytic processes that are exothermic in nature (i.e. KiOR pyrolysis plant in MS, USA), and using chemical stabilizers in an attempt to extend the shelf life and viability of the bio-oil prior to upgrading into the final liquid biofuel [17].

One alternative approach is to employ a different thermochemical processing technique, where biomass is liquefied under less severe conditions than pyrolysis, employing supercritical fluids [18]. A supercritical fluid is a compressible gas that has reached its critical temperature and critical pressure, at which point, differences between the two phases disappear [19]. Specifically, supercritical methanol (SCM) allows for a net reduction of reaction times, improved solvent recovery, low char yield and selectivity of the reaction conditions through modification of pressure and temperature parameters [18, 20–24].

As it applies to biomass conversion, supercritical water [25], phenol [26], carbon dioxide [27] and methanol [18, 20, 24] have been used. Given the reaction

conditions of moderate temperature (238°C) and pressure (8.1 MPa), SCM has been shown to elicit the highest conversion rates and stable compounds when compared to pyrolysis bio-oil [18]. Biomass liquefaction in SCM stems from the changes in density, specific weight, polarity and viscosity of methanol as it interacts with the biomass ultrastructure components namely carbohydrates, lignin and extractives in the SCM environment. In the supercritical state, cleaving of selective phenolic bonds occurs [24, 28], resulting in a system that depolymerizes the biomass and maintains these monomeric, oligomeric and polymeric structures in solution when returned to ambient conditions. The degree of depolymerization was found to be influenced by SCM density which can be manipulated by temperature, pressure and ratio of methanol to reactor vessel volume. This enables SCM batch systems process flexibility to tune for final product attributes, which is unrivaled by pyrolysis systems, leading to production of a bio-oil in excess of 90 wt% [24]. Furthermore, the process conditions at a modest 367°C resulted in 92% liquefaction.

The current study focuses on the use of methanol under supercritical conditions to liquefy wood from Alaskan softwood and hardwood as models for nonmerchantable timber species, yielding a biochar and a liquid bio-oil product. The resultant bio-oils yields were determined and composition was determined by gas chromatography-mass spectrometry (GC-MS) analysis, while the solid biochar was characterized by Fourier transform infrared (FTIR) spectroscopy.

13.2 Materials and Methods

13.2.1 Supercritical Fluid Processing

Samples of Sitka spruce (*Picea sitchensis*) and Alaska birch (*Betula neoalaskana*) were dried to a moisture content of 4 wt% and processed in a Willey mill to pass through a 2 mm sieve. Approximately 4.5 g of each biomass stream were introduced into a 75 ml high-pressure reactor (Parr Instruments model 4740), where methanol (35 ml) was introduced to a volume ratio of 0.46 [18]. The reactor was placed inside a temperature-controlled heating block, where the internal reaction temperature was raised to 375°C. Both temperature and pressure gauge mounted directly to the reactor vessel. Given the batch nature of the reactor, the pressure increased to a bove the supercritical pressure point of methanol (8.1 MPa) and increased to a maximum of 42 MPa. At this maximum pressure, the reactor was removed from the heater block and quenched in an ice-water bath until cold. The solid material and liquid were separated by means of vacuum filtration through a glass fiber mat, creating a bio-oil fraction and an insoluble biochar component and yields determined.



Fig. 13.1 Supercritical methanol liquefaction reaction conditions

13.2.2 Chemical Characterization

Fourier transform infrared spectra were obtained on wood and biochar samples in the attenuated total reflectance (ATR) mode (ZnSe, single bounce) on an Avatar 370 spectrometer (ThermoNicolet). The collected spectra were ATR and baseline corrected using Omnic v7 software. Lignin condensation indices (CIs) were calculated according to Faix [29] with a slight modification to the method. The sum of all spectra minima intensity between 1,500 and 1,050 cm⁻¹ was divided by the sum of all spectra maxima intensity between 1,600 and 1,030 cm⁻¹ and was used to calculate the CI.

The volatile components in the bio-oil (methanol soluble fraction) were determined by GC-MS analysis on a Polaris Q instrument (ThermoQuest). An aliquot of the methanol soluble fraction (200 μ l) was transferred to a GC vial to which dichloromethane (1 ml containing 0.1 mg/ml anthracene as an internal standard) was added. Separation was achieved using a ZB-1 capillary column (Phenomenex, 30 m, 0.25 mm Ø) with helium as a carrier gas and a temperature program of 40 (2 min) to 300°C (10 min) at the ramp rate of 5°C/min. Data analysis was performed using the Xcalibur software v2 (Thermoscientific). The compounds were identified by comparison with standards, their corresponding mass spectra and NIST 2008 library.

13.3 Results and Discussion

The process of liquefying spruce and birch in SCM was achieved in a simple, single-step reaction that occurs in a batch system until the desired conditions are met, over a few minutes as shown in Fig. 13.1.



Fig. 13.2 FTIR spectra of Alaska birch and Sitka spruce

Under the batch system studied, methanol goes from a fluid density of 0.791 g/l to a density of 0.325 g/l under supercritical conditions, allowing for complete penetration and saturation of the wood particles in the reactor. As the SCM depolymerizes and solubilizes the major wood components, it reacts with the derived oligomers and monomers, by methanolysis [21, 25]. The mass balance calculations, based on Eq. 13.1, yielded a conversion constant of solid Sitka spruce into bio-oil of 92 wt%, while Alaskan birch yielded 95 wt%.

$$\operatorname{Residue}(\%) = W_1 / W_0 \times 100 \tag{13.1}$$

where W_0 is the original amount of biomass introduced into the reactor and W_1 is the insoluble solids left after supercritical methanol treatment.

13.3.1 Biochar Characterization

The original birch and spruce wood samples, as well as the biochar samples were analyzed by FTIR spectroscopy (Figs. 13.2, 13.3, respectively). Infrared band assignments for wood and biochar samples are given in Table 13.1 [30–32]. The spruce and birch biochar FTIR spectra were similar to those reported by Sharma et al. [32] of lignin-derived biochar, suggesting that the biochar was lignin derived.



Fig. 13.3 FTIR spectra of SCM biochar from Alaska birch and Sitka spruce

The band at ~1,390 cm⁻¹ was attributable to H-bonded hydroxyl groups (O–H stretch) in both wood and biochar samples. The OH peak intensity decreased after SCM treatment of both birch and spruce. The aliphatic bands (2,850–2,950 cm⁻¹) increased after SCM treatment due to dehydration reactions. The C=O ester band at 1,730–1,735 cm⁻¹ was eliminated after SCM treatment as a result of hemicellulose deacetylation. The presence of a new C=O signal at ~1,698 cm⁻¹ suggests the presence of a conjugated ketone (Hibbert's ketones) resulting from lignin demethylation of aromatic methoxy groups or β -O-4 cleavage after SCM treatment [33]. The new peak in the biochar samples at ~1,640 cm⁻¹ was assigned to a C=C bond. The increase in peak intensities of bands at 1,600 and 1,510 cm⁻¹ (aromatic skeletal vibrations) suggests that cleavage of the aliphatic side chains and condensation reaction occurred in lignin during biochar formation [31, 34]. Other bands in the biochar spectra correspond to a lone aryl C–H wag (~860 cm⁻¹). The band at 1,373 cm⁻¹ is probably due to both OH in-plane bending and CH bending [32].

To assess the level of lignin cross-linking during biochar formation lignin CIs were determined. For spruce and birch wood the CI was 0.511 and 0.433, respectively. The lower CI value for birch wood is due to the less condensed structure of hardwood lignin relative to the spruce softwood lignin [31]. The CI values for the SCM biochar from spruce and birch were respectively, 0.681 and 0.666 suggesting lignin cross-linking had occurred to a significant extent. For

Band assignment	Lignin (L) Saccharide (S)	Band frequency (cm ⁻¹)			
		Spruce	Spruce char	Birch	Birch char
O-H stretch	L, S	3360	3390	3360	3390
C-H _x stretch	L, S	2985	2947, 2926	2925	2952, 2926
C-H stretch	L, S		2868		2869
HC=O stretch (ester)	S	1730		1735	
HC=O stretch (ketone)	L		1698		1699
C=C stretch	L	1638		1640	
Aromatic C–C/C=C stretching modes	L	1602, 1509	1592, 1512	1593, 1504	1587, 1510
-CH ₂ scissor and aromatic ring vibrations	L	1452	1448	1456	1435
Aromatic ring vibrations and C–O–H in-plane bend	L, S	1423		1422	
O-H or C-H bending	L, S	1368	1373	1371	1375
C-O stretching		1314		1322	
C–C and C–O stretch in guaiacyl	L	1262	1256	1234	
C–O stretch H-bonded system	S	1155		1151	
C–OH stretch and C–H in-plane deformation in syringyl	S, L			1103	1111
C-OH stretch	S, L	1054	1089		
C-OH and O-CH ₃ stretch	S, L	1028	1032	1031	
C–H wag	L	897		897	
C–H wag	L		859		865

Table 13.1 FTIR spectral band assignments for spruce and birch wood and SCM biochar

comparison softwood kraft lignin (Indulin AT, Mead Westvaco) has a CI of 0.624 which is known to be highly condensed [29, 35].

13.3.2 Bio-Oil Characterization

Volatile SCM bio-oil products were characterized by GC-MS analysis and the chromatograms are shown in Fig. 13.4. The identified products and their yields are given in Table 13.2. The total yield of volatile components from spruce and birch were 19.8 and 27.1 mg/g (wood), respectively. Differences in volatile product profiles were mainly due to different lignin compositions between softwoods and hardwoods and therefore their derived products. Spruce yielded mainly guaiacyl derivatives (guaiacol, methyl guaiacol, eugenol, isoeugenol, etc.) from lignin while birch gave both guaiacyl and syringyl (syringol, 4-allyl syringol, 4-propenyl syringol, etc.) derivatives from lignin (Table 13.2, Fig. 13.4). In addition,



Fig. 13.4 Total ion chromatograms of the bio-oils produced from SCM treatment of Alaska birch (*top*) and Sitka spruce (*bottom*)

carbohydrate degradation products were also observed (such as 2,5-dimethylfuran and a series of organic acids as their methyl ester).

Reportedly, the process of lignocellulosic fragmentation begins with the cleavage of lignin β -O-4 linkages [21, 36]. The cleavage process results in oligomeric and monomeric phenolic structures that are stabilized by methylating reactive sites (phenols and carboxylic acids). This process, which occurs under elevated temperatures and pressures of SCM conditions, results in first-order product distributions for lignin marked by methoxy functionalities (Table 13.2), as well as traditional pyrolysis products such as guaiacol, homoguiacol, eugenol, syringol and other guaiacyl structures. For example, the presence of 3,4-dimethoxy toluene and 3,4,5-trimethoxy toluene suggests that this originated from methyl-guaiacol and methyl-syringol, respectively after methylation.

Lignin phenolic monomers exhibiting both guaiacyl and syringyl nuclei structures readily decompose in SCM [37]. Hardwood lignins contain less condensed inter-lignin linkages and more β -O-4 linkages due to the presence of syringyl units and therefore more readily cleaved during SCM than softwood lignins and thus a greater yield of volatile products [38]. This is evident from the GC-MS data listed in Table 13.2.

Peak	RT	Birch	Spruce	MW	Compound
No.	(min)	(mg/g)	(mg/g)	(m/z)	compound
1	2.42	0.10	0.20	104	2.2- dimethoxypropane
2	2.53	0.23	0.24	84	Methyl cylcopentane
3	2.69	0.08	0.12	102	Methyl isobutyrate
4	2.77	0.13	0.21	90	Methyl hydroxyacetate
5	2.98	0.21	0.39	96	2.5-dimethylfuran
6	3.14	0.17	0.19	102	Methyl butyrate
7	3.31	0.00	0.15	104	Methyl lactate
8	3.6	0.16	0.26	102	2- methoxy tetrahydrofuran
9	3.63	0.50	0.79	104	Methyl methoxyacetate
10	3.71	0.15	0.23	100	Methyl 2-butenoate
11	4.21	0.98	1.50	118	Methyl 2-Methoxypropionate
12	5.95	0.11	0.21	114	Methyl 2-methylene butyrate
13	6.10	0.51	0.42	102	3-methoxy pentane
14	6.48	0.08	0.16	128	Methyl 4-methyl-2-pentenoate
15	6.63	0.09	0.06	114	2.3- dimethylene-1.4-butanediol
16	7.06	0.05	0.11	128	Methyl 3-methyl-2-pentenoate
17	7.59	0.10	0.06	128	5-octen-1-ol
18	8.36	0.07	0.05	128	Unknown
19	9.46	0.23	0.20	112	1.6-heptadien-4-ol
20	10.02	0.00	0.12	112	Maple lactone
21	10.26	0.33	0.10	146	Dimethyl succinate
22	10.76	0.07	0.00	136	Monoterpene
23	10.99	0.42	0.46	126	3-ethyl-2-hydroxy-2-cyclopenten-1-one
24	11.16	0.11	0.10	124	2,3,4-trimethyl-2-cyclopenten-1-one
25	11.34	0.33	0.31	160	Dimethyl methylsuccinate
26	11.95	0.33	0.80	124	2-methoxy phenol (guaiacol)
27	12.23	0.11	0.11	140	4,4-diethyl-3-methylene-2oxetanone*
28	13.30	0.22	0.11	160	Dimethyl glutarate
29	14.46	0.05	0.06	174	Dimethyl 2-methyl-glutarate
30	14.61	0.15	0.23	138	4-methoxy-3methyl phenol
31	15.00	0.54	1.98	138	Methyl guaiacol
32	16.13	0.21	0.22	152	3,4-dimethoxytoluene
33	16.80	1.20	0.62	162	Glycerol-monobutyrate
34	17.42	0.93	2.75	152	p-ethyl guaiacol
35	18.12	0.08	0.00	168	3,4 dimethoxy benzyl alcohol
36	18.54	0.05	0.10	166	4-ethyl-1,2-dimethoxy benzene
37	18.84	0.04	0.07	166	Dimethyl 1,2-dimethoxy benzene*
38	19.03	2.21	0.00	154	Syringol
39	19.47	0.16	0.36	164	Eugenol (allyl guaiacol)
40	19.54	0.15	0.00	154	Dimethoxy phenol
41	19.66	0.41	0.50	166	Dimethyl 1,2 dimethoxy benzene
42	19.79	0.66	2.64	166	p-propyl guaiacol
43	20.56	0.07	0.00	182	Trimethoxy toluene

 Table 13.2
 Volatile products generated and determined by GC-MS analysis from SCM-treated

 Sitka spruce and Alaska birch

(continued)

Peak	RT	Birch	Spruce	MW	Compound
No.	(min)	(mg/g)	(mg/g)	(m/z)	
44	20.74	0.16	0.29	164	cis isoeguenol
45	21.06	0.00	0.05	180	Coniferyl alcohol
46	21.56	2.40	0.00	168	1,2,3-trimethoxy benzene
47	21.77	1.10	1.06	164	trans isoeugenol
48	21.86	0.00	0.42	180	1,2-dimethoxy-4-propyl benzene
49	22.38	0.00	0.07	180	Coniferyl alcohol*
50	23.54	2.47	0.00	182	3,4,5-trimethoxy toluene
51	23.94	0.50	0.00	182	Methyl-butyl-benzene triol
52	23.99	0.00	0.10	178	Unknown
53	24.38	0.09	0.00	180	Butyl-guaiacol*
54	24.60	0.08	0.00	196	Unknown
55	25.05	0.07	0.06	196	Unknown
56	25.29	0.58	0.00	194	4-allyl syringol
57	25.53	2.14	0.00	196	4-propyl syringol
58	26.38	0.62	0.00	194	cis-4-propenyl syringol
59	26.98	0.00	0.05	210	Unknown
60	27.45	1.76	0.00	194	trans 4-propenyl syringol
61	28.76	0.41	0.00	212	Methyl 3,5-dimethoxy-4-hydroxy- benzoate*
62	29.25	0.00	0.00	178	Anthracene IS
63	31.34	0.45	0.00	212	Unknown
64	32.72	0.30	0.00	270	Methyl hexadecanoate
65	35.91	0.25	0.00	294	Unknown fatty acid methyl ester
66	36.49	0.22	0.00	298	6-hydroxymethandienone*
67	39.50	0.00	0.05	312	Sterol derivative*
68	39.65	0.00	0.40	314	Methyl 13-isopropyl-podocara-8-11,13- trien-15-oicoate
69	39.94	0.25	0.00	326	Sterol derivative*
70	41.57	0.11	0.00	340	Sterol derivative*
71	43.14	0.27	0.00	354	sterol derivative*
72	50.76	0.11	0.00	396	Unknown
TOTAL		27.11	19.75		

Table 13.2 (continued)

Tentative compounds are identified by an asterisk (*)

Studies by Soria et al. [24] have also shown that (i) lignin oligomers and polymers were present in the bio-oil as determined by gel permeation chromatography and (ii) oligosaccharides and methyl glycosides by high performance liquid chromatography. Furthermore, they showed that lignin solubilization occurs first followed by hemicellulose degradation and then cellulose. This process combines thermochemical breakdown of the carbohydrate crystalline and amorphous regions into oligosaccharides. Lignin solubilization/degradation is similar to what occurs during organosolv pulping with ethanol as the solvent, but under milder thermal conditions around 180°C [39–41]. Under SCM processing, methanolysis reactions occur resulting in methyl glycosides and methyl ester

derivatives (Table 13.2) [20, 24]. Further decomposition of these oligomers into furfural and other dehydration products also occurs [20], leading to the production of methyl α - and β -D glucosides, levoglucosan and 5-hydroxymethyl-furfural from polysaccharides [24].

The methylated biomass SCM products are known to be more stable than comparable pyrolysis products [21], and hence provide a better platform for upgrading. The resulting bio-oil composition shows a volatile species distribution that enhances the stability of the bio-oil, as well as creates a methylated platform which can enhance the catalytic upgrading of the bio-oil into a new generation biofuel. For an application where the engine, logistical and processing infrastructure are limited to hydrocarbon-based fuels, such as the one we currently have, the SCM processing platform presents a unique opportunity to produce consistent bio-oils from different biomass streams. This is further enhanced by the reaction conditions which are a third to half less thermal energy intensive as traditional pyrolysis.

Issues with scalability and solids transfer due to the elevated pressures continue to be ongoing areas of development, and are the greatest shortcomings of this novel thermochemical technique at this time. The GC-MS results are limited to volatile compounds, with boiling points lower than 300°C. Depolymerized compounds can undergo rapid re-polymerization as a result of the low pH of bio-oil, the presence of water and the formation of reactive sites, promoting oligomers and polymers to form with elevated boiling points and molecular weights in excess of 20,000 g mol⁻¹ [24]. Evaluating the fractions of non-volatile compounds is a significant shortcoming of the current work, in particular the mass distribution of volatile versus non-volatile species.

13.4 Conclusion

Product consistency in the development of an alternative renewable biofuel is of paramount importance. Processing different biomass in a single step, often leads to inconsistent product streams. Supercritical methanol processing of both hardwoods and softwoods in a batch reactor show consistent product outputs and conversions greater than 92 wt%, surpassing traditional pyrolysis processing. The methylated products, generated by the SCM treatment process, show potential stability and great promise in catalytic upgrading into new generation biofuels. The results show a series of chemicals that have established markets and post new options for creating value added products, while providing fundamental knowledge on the chemical makeup of that biomass.

Acknowledgments This project was supported by USDA-CSREES Wood Utilization Research program grant #2008-34158-19486. The FTIR spectrometer was supported by a USDA-CSREES-NRI equipment grant #2005-35103–15243.

References

- EIA (U.S. Energy Information Administration) (2010) Annual Energy Review 2009. DOE/ EIA-0384 (2009). Department of Energy, Energy Information Administration, Washington, DC
- Tyner WE (2008) The U.S. ethanol and biofuels boom: its origins, current status, and future prospects. Bioscience 58(7):646–653
- Searchinger T, Heimlich R, Houghton RA, Dong F, Elobeid A, Fabiosa J, Tokgoz S, Hayes D, Yu T-H (2008) Use of U.S. croplands for biofuels increases greenhouse gases through emissions from land-use change. Science 319(5867):1238–1240
- Sheehan J (2009) Biofuels and the conundrum of sustainability. Curr Opin Biotechnol 20:318–324
- NAS-NAE-NRC (National Academy of Sciences, National Academy of Engineering, National Research Council) (2009) Liquid transportation fuels from coal and biomass: technological status, costs, and environmental impacts. The National Academies Press, Washington, DC
- Bridgwater AV, Peacocke GVC (1994) Engineering development in fast pyrolysis for biooils. In: Proceedings of biomass pyrolysis oil properties and combustion meeting, Estes Park, Co., Sept 26–28, pp 110–127
- Bridgwater AV, Czernik S, Piskorz J (2001) An overview of fast pyrolysis. In: Bridgwater AV (ed) Progress in thermochemical biomass conversion. IEA Bioenergy. Blackwell Sciences, Oxford, pp 977–997
- Czernik S, Bridgwater AV (2004) Overview of applications of biomass fast pyrolysis oil. Energy Fuel 18(2):977–997
- 9. Mohan D, Pittman CU, Steele PH (2006) Pyrolysis of wood/biomass: a critical review. Energy Fuel 20(3):848–889
- Perego C (2007) Development of a Fischer-Tropsch catalyst: from laboratory to commercial scale demonstration. Rend Fis Acc Lincea 18(9):305–317
- 11. Elliott DC (2007) Historical developments in hydroprocessing bio-oils. Energy Fuels 21:1792–1815
- 12. Diebold J, Scahill J (1988) Biomass to gasoline. In: Soltes EJ, Milne TA (eds) Pyrolysis oils from biomass, ACS Symposium Series 376
- Evans RJ, Milne T (1988) Molecular-beam, mass-spectrometric studies of wood vapor and model compounds over an HZSM-5 catalyst. In: Soltes EJ, Milne TA (eds) Pyrolysis oils from biomass, ACS Symposium Series 376
- 14. Horne P, Nugranad AN, Williams PT (1997) The influence of steam on the zeolite catalytic upgrading of biomass pyrolysis oils. In: Bridgewater AV, Boocock DGB (eds) Developments in thermochemical biomass conversion, vol 1. Blackie Academic and Professional, London, p 1648
- Sharma RK, Bakhshi NN (1993) Catalytic upgrading of fast pyrolysis oil over HZSM-5. Can J Chem Eng 71:383–391
- Hayes DJ (2009) An examination of biorefining processes, catalysts and challenges. Catal Today 145(1–2):138–151
- Diebold JP (2000) A review of the chemical and physical mechanisms of the storage stability of fast pyrolysis bio-oils. National Renewable Energy Laboratory Report NREL/SR-570-27613. U.S. Department of Energy, Office of Scientific and Technical Information
- Soria AJ, McDonald AG, Shook SJ (2008) Wood solubilization and depolymerization using supercritical methanol. Part 1: process optimization and analysis of methanol insoluble components (bio-char). Holzforschung 62:402–408
- Moldoveanu SC (1998) Analytical pyrolysis of natural organic polymers. Tech Instrum Anal Chem 20:3–31
- 20. Ishikawa Y, Saka S (2001) Chemical conversion of cellulose as treated in supercritical methanol. Cellulose 8:189–195

- Minami E, Saka S (2003) Comparison of the decomposition behaviors of hardwood and softwood in supercritical methanol. J Wood Sci 49:73–78
- 22. Clifford A (1998) Analytical supercritical fluid extraction techniques. Kluwer Academic Publishers, Pontypridd
- Johnson DK, Chum HL, Anzick R, Baldwin RM (1988) Lignin liquefaction in supercritical water. In: Bridgewater AV, Kuester JL (eds) Research in thermochemical biomass conversion. Elsevier Applied Science, Phoenix, Arizona, pp 485–496
- 24. Soria AJ, McDonald AG, He BB (2008) Wood solubilization and depolymerization by supercritical methanol. Part 2: analysis of methanol soluble compounds. Holzforschung 62:409–416
- 25. Ehara K, Takada D, Saka S (2005) GC-MS and IR spectroscopic analyses of the ligninderived products from softwood and hardwood treated in supercritical water. J Wood Sci 51:256–261
- Lee SH, Ohkita T (2003) Rapid wood liquefaction by supercritical phenol. Wood Sci Technol 37(1):29–38
- 27. Schacht C, Zetzl C, Brunner G (2008) From plant materials to ethanol by means of supercritical fluid technology. J Supercrit Fluids 46:299–321
- Saka S, Ueno T (1999) Chemical conversion of various celluloses to glucose and its derivatives in superscritical water. Cellulose 6:177–191
- Faix O (1991) Condensation indices of lignins determined by FTIR spectroscopy. Holz als Roh- und Werkstoff 49:356
- Herring AM, McKinnon JT, Gneshin KW, Pavelka R, Petrick DE, McCloskey BD, Filley J (2004) Detection of reactive intermediates from and characterization of biomass char by laser pyrolysis molecular beam mass spectroscopy. Fuel 83:1483–1494
- Faix O (1992) Fourier transform infrared spectroscopy. In: Lin SY, Dence CW (eds) Methods in lignin chemistry. Springer, Berlin, pp 83–132
- Sharma RK, Wooten JB, Baliga VL, Lin X, Chan WG, Hajaligol MR (2004) Characterization of chars from pyrolysis of lignin. Fuel 83:1469–1482
- 33. Shabaka AA, Nada AMA (1990) Infrared spectroscopic study of thermally treated lignin. J Mater Sci 25:2925–2928
- 34. Colom X, Carrillo F, Nogues F, Garriga P (2003) Structural analysis of photodegraded wood by means of FTIR spectroscopy. Polym Degrad Stab 80:543–549
- 35. Fox SC, McDonald AG (2010) Chemical and thermal characterizaion of three industrial lignins and their corresponding lignin esters. BioResources 5(2):990–1009
- Miller JE, Evans L, Littlewolf A, Trudell DE (1999) Batch microreactor studies of lignin and lignin model compound depolymerization by bases in alcohol solvents. Fuel 78:1363–1366
- Tsujino J, Kawamoto H, Saka S (2003) Reactivity of lignin in supercritical methanol studied with various lignin model compounds. Wood Sci Technol 37:299–307
- 38. Erickson M, Larsson S, Miksche GE (1973) Gaschromatographische analyse von ligninoxydations-produkten. VIII: Zur struktur des lignins der fichte. Acta Chem Scand 27(3):903–914
- Oliet M, Rodriguez F, Santos A, Gilarranz MA, Garcia-Ochoa F, Tijero J (2000) Organosolv delignification of *Eucalyptus globulus*: kinetic study of autocatalyzed ethanol pulping. Ind Eng Chem Res 39:34–39
- Kirci H, Akgul M (2002) Production of dissolving grade pulp from poplar wood by ethanolwater process. Turk J Agric For 26:239–245
- Sannigrahi P, Ragauskas AJ, Miller SJ (2010) Lignin structural modifications resulting from ethanol organosolv treatment of loblolly pine. Energy Fuels 24:683–689

Chapter 14 Bioextraction: The Interface of Biotechnology and Green Chemistry

Rakesh Kumar Sharma, Alok Adholeya, Aditi Puri and Manab Das

The interfacial face of bioextraction arises as it uses the technologies in which plants clean up the contaminated sites by immobilizing the contaminants in the soil. This technique is mostly applied to heavy metals in soil sediments and sludges. These metals are either trapped within the root system or taken up to the tissues by selected fast growing plant species. These species are grown under normal farming conditions until they reach their maximum size. Throughout the growth period, amendments are added to soil to increase availability of metals to plants. When the plants are mature, metal specific chelating agents are applied to the harvested biomass for the recovery of accumulated metals [1]. So, selection of plant materials is an important factor for this technique. Therefore, two main strategies are proposed to clean up toxic metals from soil. The first approach is the use of metal hyper-accumulator species for cleaning up of soil, as they can take up significant amount of metals from contaminated soils, but their low annual biomass production tends to limit its ability. This problem can be overcome by using high biomass plants that can be easily cultivated. So, the efficiency of this technique is determined by two key factors: metal hyperaccumulating capacity and biomass production [2].

Plant-based environmental remediation technology has been widely pursued in recent years as greener cost effective strategy to trap metals and radionuclide contaminants that are in mobile chemical forms which are most threatening to human and environmental health. Once the removal of contaminants is complete the soil generated from this process is fertile and is able to support the growth of plants [1].

R. K. Sharma (🖂) · A. Puri

Green Chemistry Network Centre, Department of Chemistry, University of Delhi, Delhi 110007, India e-mail: rksharmagreenchem@hotmail.com

A. Adholeya · M. Das Biotechnology and Management of Bioresources Division, The Energy and Resources Institute, New Delhi 110003, India This technology has been applied at a number of sites all over the world. Examples include Magic Marker site in New Jersey and a Daimler Chrysler site in Detroit, Michigan (induced accumulation of lead in soil); Argonne National Laboratory-West (mercury, silver, chromium in soil/sediment removed by whole plant harvesting). This technique can also be merged with other techniques, like it can be used in conjunction with electrochemical technology to remove contaminants (such as cesium-137), which bioextraction technology alone cannot remove and many more permutations and combinations can be tried [1].

14.1 Disadvantages of Metal Extraction Process, its Environmental Concerns and Need of Bioextraction

The tremendous increase in the use of heavy metals over the past few decades has inevitably resulted in an increased flux of metallic substances in the environment. Industrial processes like petroleum refining, metal refining, coal combustion, tanning, metal extraction, electroplating, paints and pigments, the manufacture of batteries etc. discharge effluents in solid, liquid, and gaseous forms. They contain heavy metals such as lead, chromium, cadmium, nickel, arsenic, etc. But the major sources of heavy metals in the environment are traditional chemical processes for extraction of heavy metals. There are various disadvantages of these metal extraction processes like requirement of sufficient concentrations of elements in ores, environmental unfriendliness as huge amount of waste is generated, economically noncompetitive, nonrecovery of metals from low grade deposits i.e. minerals and inefficient use of energy.

Also, lot of metal containing effluent is produced during these processes, which is discharged as such without any treatment. This causes heavily loaded metal contaminated sites due to metal toxicity and non-biodegradability. The heavy metals are easily percolated through the soil and further trapped and biomagnified along the food chain via consumption of affected plants and animals. The increased concern about the environment and stringent national and international regulations on water pollution and the discharge of heavy metals makes it essential to develop efficient and cost effective technologies for their removal. Hence, it is the utmost need to extract metal ions (not only from the low grade ores but also from the contaminated sites) by the methods which are eco-friendly and greener in nature. The answer is provided by the nature itself: bioextraction.

14.2 Brief Description of Bioextraction Process

Bioextraction incorporates a range of technologies that not only use plants to remove, reduce, degrade, or immobilize environmental pollutants from soil and water, for restoration of contaminated sites to a relatively clean, non-toxic environment but also use microbes to extract metals from the low grade ores. This relatively new and growing technology uses natural processes to break down, stabilize, or accumulate pollutants and for extraction of metals [3]. It basically incorporates two phenomena:

- Phytoextraction
- Biomining

Phytoextraction is the removal of pollutants by the roots of plants, followed by translocation to aboveground plant tissues, which are subsequently harvested. Biomining is the extraction of metals by the help of naturally growing thermal sensitive microbes.

14.2.1 Phytoextraction

Contamination of soils with toxic metals has often resulted from human activities, especially those related to mining, industrial emissions, disposal or leakage of industrial wastes, application of sewage sludge to agricultural soils, manure, fertilizer, and pesticide use. Excessive metal concentration in soil poses significant hazard to human, animal and plant health, and to the environment. The aim of phytoextraction is to reduce the concentration of metals in contaminated soils to regulatory levels within a reasonable time frame. This extraction process depends on the ability of selected plants to grow and accumulate metals under the specific climatic and soil conditions of the site being remediated.

It uses plants to remove metals from soils and to transport and concentrate them in above-ground biomass [4]. In this process, plant roots sorb the contaminants along with other nutrients and water. The contaminant mass is not destroyed but ends up in the plant's shoots and leaves. This method is used primarily for wastes containing metals where water-soluble metals are taken up by plant species selected for their ability to take up large quantities of metals. The metals stored in the plant's aerial shoots are harvested and smelted for potential metal recycling/ recovery which were earlier disposed off as a hazardous waste. As a general rule, readily bio-available metals for plant uptake include cadmium, nickel, zinc, arsenic, selenium, and copper. Moderately bio-available metals are cobalt, manganese, and iron. They can be made much more bio-available by the addition of chelating agents to soils.

Phytoextraction has been growing rapidly in popularity worldwide for the last 20 years or so. In general, this process has been tried more often for extracting heavy metals than for organics. The plants absorb contaminants through the root system and store them in the root biomass and/or transport them up into the stems and/or leaves. A living plant may continue to absorb contaminants until it is harvested. After harvest, a lower level of the contaminant will remain in the soil, so the growth/harvest cycle must usually be repeated through several crops to achieve a significant cleanup. After the process, the cleaned soil can support other vegetation.



Fig. 14.1 Nickel hyperaccumulator (*Alyssum Lesbiacum*)

There are two main categories of plants to clean up toxic metals from soil:

- Metal hyper-accumulator plants
- High biomass plants

14.2.1.1 Metal Hyper-Accumulator Plants

They take up significant amounts of metal from contaminated soil but their low biomass production tends to limit their phytoextraction ability. As these plants have natural ability to extract metal ions, so it is known as **natural phytoex-traction**. Hyper-accumulating plants have natural ability to extract high amounts of metals from soil, have efficient mechanism to translocate metals from roots to shoots, and can accumulate and tolerate high metal concentrations due to inherent mechanisms to detoxify metals in the tissues. Metal hyper-accumulators have the extraordinary capacity to accumulate high concentrations of heavy metals in the above-ground biomass. By virtue of this remarkable characteristic, phytoextraction is economically viable alternative to the extreme expense of conventional remediation methods [5].

Example: *Alyssum lesbiacum* as Ni hyper-accumulator, *Thlaspi caerulescens/* Alpine pennycress as Zn/Cd hyper-accumulator (Figs. 14.1, 14.2).

14.2.1.2 High Biomass Plants

They are fast growing plants that can be easily cultivated using established agronomic practices which compensate for their relatively low capacity of metal accumulation. Their metal uptake capacity can further be enhanced by adding



Fig. 14.2 a Zinc/Cadmium hyper-accumulator (*Thlaspi caerulescens*). b Fluorescence image of Zn hyperaccumulation in leaf of *Thlaspi caerulescens*





conditioning fluid containing a chelator or another agent to soil to upsurge metal solubility or mobilization so that the plants can absorb them more easily. This is known as **chemically induced/assisted phytoextraction**. Afterwards, the soluble metal (desorbed from soil particles) is easily transported to roots surface via diffusion and translocated from roots to shoots. Complexing with organic ligands, which may occur at any point along the transport pathway, converts the metal into less toxic form thus conferring high metal tolerance in biomass plants [5]. A wide range of synthetic chelates [e.g.Ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid (EDTA), 1,2-cyclohexylenedinitrilotetraacetic acid (CDTA), diethylenetriamine-pentaacetic acid (DTPA), EGTA, EDHA, hydroxyethylethylenediaminetriacetic acid (HEDTA), nitriloacetic acid (NTA), and organic acids (e.g. citric acid, oxalic acid, malic acid) are used for enhancing root uptake and translocation of metal contaminants from soil to biomass plants, thereby improving phytoex-traction [6] (Fig. 14.3, 14.4, 14.5).





Fig. 14.5 Poplars

Example: Indian mustard, sunflower, and maize as high biomass crop plants, willows, and poplars as high biomass trees

Advantages. The main advantage of phytoextraction is environmental friendliness. Traditional methods that are used for cleaning up heavy metal contaminated soil disrupt the soil structure and reduce its productivity, whereas phytoextraction can clean up the soil without causing any kind of harm to soil quality. Add on benefit of phytoextraction is that it is less expensive than any other clean-up process (Fig. 14.6) (Table 14.1).



Fig. 14.6 Phytoextraction

Table 14.1 Main characteristics of the two categories of plants for phytoextraction of metals [4]:

Chemically assisted phytoextraction	Natural phytoextraction
Plants are normally metal excluders	Plants naturally hyper-accumulate metals
Fast growing, high biomass plants	Slow growing, low biomass production
Synthetic chelators and organic acids are used to enhance metal uptake	Natural ability to extract high amount of metals from soils
Efficient translocation of metals from roots to shoots	Chemical amendments increase the metal transfer from roots to shoots
Low tolerance to metals, the increase in absorption leads to plant death	High tolerance, survival with high concentrations of metals in tissues
Risk of leaching of metal chelates to groundwater	No environmental drawback regarding leaching of metals

14.2.2 Biomining

For centuries people have been using microbes to their advantage, turning grapes into wine, milk into cheese, and cabbage into sauerkraut. People benefit from what microbes do naturally: They eat and digest organic compounds, changing the chemical makeup of one product and turning it into a completely different yet tasty food or drink. Now microbes, in form of biomining, are providing efficient helping hand for extraction of heavy metals from sub-graded ores and minerals (Fig. 14.7).

Biomining is the interaction between metals and microbes with the specific aim of converting insoluble metal sulfides to soluble metal sulfates. Bioleaching has been defined as the dissolution of metals from their mineral sources by certain naturally occurring microorganisms or the use of microorganisms to transform elements so that the elements can be extracted from a material when water is filtered through it. So, it is the application of microbial process in the mining industry for economic recovery on a large scale [7] (Fig. 14.8).



Fig. 14.7 Biomining

In short, biomining is a term that describes the processing of metal containing ores and concentrates of metal containing ores using microbiological technology. It is often called bioleaching.

By convention bioleaching has been divided into two approaches:

- Direct bioleaching
- Indirect bioleaching

Direct bioleaching entails an enzymatic attack by the bacteria on components of the mineral that are susceptible to oxidation. In the process of obtaining energy from the inorganic material the bacteria cause electrons to be transferred from iron or sulfur to oxygen. In many cases the more oxidized product is more soluble. It should be noted that the inorganic ions never enter the bacterial cell; the electrons released by the oxidation reaction are transported through a protein system in the cell membrane and then (in aerobic organisms) to oxygen atoms, forming water. The transferred electrons give up energy, which is coupled to the formation of adenosine triphosphate (ATP), the energy currency of the cell.

Indirect bioleaching, in contrast, does not proceed through a frontal attack by the bacteria on the atomic structure of the mineral. Instead the bacteria generate ferric iron by oxidizing soluble, ferrous iron; ferric iron in turn is a powerful oxidizing agent that reacts with other metals, transforming them into the soluble oxidized form in a sulfuric acid solution. In this reaction ferrous iron is again produced and is rapidly reoxidized by the bacteria. Indirect bioleaching is usually referred to as bacterially assisted leaching. In an acidic solution without the bacteria, ferrous iron is stable and leaching mediated by ferric iron would be slow. *T ferrooxidans* can accelerate such an oxidation reaction by a factor of more than a million.



Fig. 14.8 Electron micrographs of typical bacteria used in biomining a Leptospirillum ferrooxidans. b Thiobacillus ferrooxidans [7]

Biomining is applied using four different engineered methods:

- Dump bioleaching
- Heap bioleaching
- Heap minerals biooxidation
- Stirred-tank bioleaching
- Minerals biooxidation

Dump bioleaching extracts copper from sulfide ores that are too low grade to process by any other method. This process has been used since the mid-1950s.

Heap bioleaching, which has been used since the 1980s, extracts copper from crushed sulfide minerals placed on engineered pads.

Heap minerals biooxidation pretreats gold ores in which the gold particles are locked in sulfide minerals, significantly enhancing gold recovery.

Stirred-tank bioleaching extracts base metals from concentrates of metal containing sulfide ores.

Stirred-tank minerals biooxidation enhances gold recovery from mineral concentrates in which the gold is locked in sulfide minerals [8].

Advantages

The advantages of biomining process over chemical leaching are:

- (i) Biomining is a way to exploit low grade ores and mineral resources located in remote areas that would otherwise be too expensive to mine.
- (ii) It is more environmentally friendly than the conventional (smelting) method, since it uses less energy and does not produce SO_2 emissions. This also translates into profit, as the companies have to spend huge sums finding ways of limiting their SO_2 emissions.
- (iii) Less landscape damage occurs, since the bacteria grow naturally. Native bacteria can operate over a wide temperature range between 20 and 55°C. Other materials for the process are also natural such as air and water.

- (iv) The bacteria breed on their own, i.e. they are self-sustaining. Since there is no need to pay for heating and chemicals required in a conventional operation, companies may be able to reduce the price of metal production by nearly a half.
- (v) It is a less energy intensive process.
- (vi) It is simpler and therefore cheaper to operate and maintain, as no technical specialist is needed to operate complex chemical plants [9].
- (vii) Even the dumps left behind after traditional mining processes can be reprocessed to extract residual metal [10].

So, biomining is the process of extracting valuable metals from ores and mine tailings with the assistance of microorganisms. It is a green technology that can help mine valuable metals with minimal impact on the environment. It requires low energy, causes low gaseous emission and is not labor intensive.

14.3 Contribution of Microbes/Microorganisms in Bioextraction

The microbes are single-celled organisms that multiply by simple cell division and derive energy for growth and cell functioning by oxidizing iron and sulfur. Oxidation involves the removal of electrons from a substance. In biomining process, the microbes remove electrons from dissolved iron (ferrous iron) converting it to another form of iron (ferric iron); electrons are removed from sulfur converting it to sulfuric acid. They obtain carbon for their cellular bodies from carbon dioxide (CO_2) in the atmosphere and also require a sulfuric acid environment to grow. This acidic environment is helpful in growth of these microorganisms but acidity must be less than pH 2.5, which is more acidic than vinegar.

The biomining microorganisms do not cause diseases in humans, animals, or plants. Because their food source is inorganic (sulfur and iron) and because they must live in a sulfuric acid environment, they cannot survive in or on plants and animals. These microbes are conveniently grouped within temperature ranges at which they grow and where they are found in the natural environment:

- Ambient temperature bacteria (mesophiles)
- Moderately-thermophilic (heat-loving) bacteria
- Extremely-thermophilic (heat-loving) bacteria

Ambient temperature bacteria (mesophiles). These cylindrical-shaped biomining bacteria are about 1 μ m long and ½ μ m in diameter (1 μ m is 4/100,000 of an inch). About 1,500 of these bacteria could lay end-to-end across a pin head. They only grow and function from 10 to 40°C (50 to 104°F). If the temperature is too low, these bacteria become dormant. If the temperature exceeds 45°C (113°F), the organisms die as their proteins coagulate similar to cooking an egg. Acidithiobacillus ferrooxidans belong to this group of bacteria. Others include Leptospirillum ferrooxidans and species of Ferroplasma.

Moderately-thermophilic (heat-loving) bacteria. These bacteria are similar to the "mesophilic" biomining bacteria, except they are somewhat larger in length — about 2–5 μ m long and they only grow and perform when the temperature exceeds 40°C (104°F). The moderate thermophiles die when the temperature exceeds 60°C (140°F). Examples of moderate thermophiles are species of Sulfobacillus and Acidithiobacillus caldus.

Extremely-thermophilic *Archaea*. While similar in size (one micrometer in diameter) to ambient temperature bacteria, *Archaea* have a different molecular organization. In the tree of life, *Archaea* occupy the lowest branch and are extant members of an offshoot of primitive microbes. They have a spherical shape and characteristically lack a rigid cell wall, rather the contents of the single cell are enclosed by a membrane. These microbes, nevertheless, are extremely robust growing and performing only at temperatures between 60 (140°F) and 85°C (185°F). Examples of extremely-thermophilic *Archaea* used in biomining are *Acidianus brierleyi*, *Sulfolobus metallicus* and *Metallosphaera sedula* [8].

14.3.1 Role of Microbes in Biomining

Some microbes float freely in the solution around the minerals and some attach themselves to the mineral particles forming a biofilm. The microbes, whether they are freely floating or whether they are in the biofilm, continuously devour their food sources—iron (chemically represented as Fe^{2+}) and sulfur. The product of the microbial conversion of iron is "ferric iron", chemically represented as " Fe^{3+} ". Ferric iron is a powerful oxidizing agent, corroding metal sulfide minerals (for example, pyrite, arsenopyrite, chalcocite, and sphalerite) and degrading them into a dissolved metal, such as copper, zinc, and more iron—the latter is the food source for the microbes.

The reaction of the biological oxidation involved in leaching of a mineral sulfide is

$$MS + 2O_2 \rightarrow MSO_4$$

where, M is a bivalent metal.

There are two major mechanisms involved in microbial metal solubilization of sulfide minerals. One is a direct mechanism that involves physical contact of the organism with the insoluble sulfide.

Microorganisms oxidize the metal sulfides obtaining electrons directly from the reduced minerals. Another, indirect mechanism, involves the ferric-ferrous cycle. The oxidation of reduced metals is mediated by the ferric (III) ion and this is formed by microbial oxidation of ferrous (II) ion present in the minerals. Ferric (III) ion acts as an oxidant and oxidizes metal sulfides and is reduced to ferrous (II) ion that, in turn, can be microbially oxidized. Both direct and indirect mechanisms of bacterial leaching are shown schematically in Fig. 14.9.



Fig. 14.9 Schematic diagram of pyrite leaching showing both mechanisms [7]

14.3.2 Role of Fungi in Biomining

Several species of fungi like *Aspergillus niger*, *Penicillium simplicissimum* are used for bioleaching. This form of leaching does not rely on microbial oxidation of metal, but rather uses microbial metabolism as source of acids which directly dissolve the metal.

Microfungi are heterotrophic organisms. They exist in all ecological niches, e.g. supporting the weathering of rocks as well as the mineralization of materials containing metals. Their development is encouraged by the acidic reaction, the presence of sugars, and the appropriate humidity. These microorganisms can produce large amounts of organic acids, such as citric, glycolic, oxalic, and other acids which work as chemical solvents, can be used on an industrial scale in bioleaching processes and impact the change of the environment's reaction. The microfungi, due to their biochemistry and relatively high immunity to hostile factors (pH, temperature, etc.), provide an excellent alternative in the bioleaching of metals, since the classical chemical methods of acidic bioleaching cannot be used for environmental reasons. The extraction through microfungi consists mainly of producing metabolites like organic acids, amino acids, and peptides that serve as leaching agents for the dissolution of metals [11].

The metabolic process of fungi is similar to a great extent to those of higher plants with the exception of carbohydrate synthesis. The glycolytic pathway converts the glucose into variety of products including organic acids. So, these biomining processes are mediated due to the chemical attack by the extracted organic acids on the ores. The acids usually have dual effect of increasing metal dissolution by lowering the pH and increasing the load of soluble metals by complexion/chelating into soluble organic-metallic complexes [12].

14.4 Various Chemical Processes for Extraction of Heavy Metals

Various physical and chemical processes are involved in the extraction of metals from their ores. Ores generally occur in the form of compounds of metal oxides, sulfides, carbonates, or halides.

These processes are:

14.4.1 Concentration of the Ore (Removal of Unwanted Metals and Gangue to Purify the Ore)

- Hydraulic washing: This process separates the heavier ore particles from the lighter gangue particles. This is done by washing them in a stream (jet) of water over a vibrating, sloped table with grooves. Denser ore particles settle in grooves. Lighter gangue particles are washed away (Fig. 14.10).
- Froth floatation: In this process, separation of the ore and gangue particles is done by preferential wetting. This process is generally used for sulfide ores of copper, lead, and zinc. The finely powdered ore is mixed with water and suitable oil in a large tank. A current of compressed air agitates the mixture. The ore particles are wetted by oil and form froth at the top, which is removed. The gangue particles wetted by water settle down. Ore preferentially wetted by oil is removed as froth. Gangue wetted by water is removed after it settles down (Fig. 14.11).
- Magnetic separation: This process is used in the extraction of metals which exhibit magnetic properties. For example, in the extraction of iron, crushed magnetite ore (iron) particles are separated using their magnetic property. The pulverized ore is moved on a conveyor belt. Electromagnetic wheel of the conveyor attracts only the magnetic particles into a separate heap. Only the magnetic particles are attracted by the magnetic wheel. These particles fall separately into a different heap (Fig. 14.12).
- Chemical separation: This process utilizes the difference in some chemical properties of the metal and gangue particles for their separation. For example, in the Bayer's process of aluminium extraction, the bauxite ore is treated with hot sodium hydroxide solution. Water-soluble sodium aluminate formed is filtered to separate the undissolved gangue particles. Sodium aluminate (NaAlO₂) is further processed to get aluminium oxide (Al₂O₃).

14.4.2 Conversion into Metal Oxide

- Calcination for carbonate ore: In this process carbonate ores when heated in absence of air get converted into into oxides.
- Roasting for sulfide ore: In this process sulfide ores converted into oxides on heating in the presence of air.



14.4.3 Reduction of Metal Oxide to Metal

- Reduction: The process can be done by either heating the metal oxide or chemically reducing the metal oxide using chemical reducing agents such as carbon, aluminium, sodium, or calcium.
- Electrolytic reduction: Electrolytic reduction is the process used to extract oxides (or chlorides) of highly reactive metals like sodium, magnesium, aluminium, and calcium. Molten oxides (or chlorides) are electrolyzed. The cathode acts as a powerful reducing agent by supplying electrons to reduce the metal ions into metal. For example: Fused alumina (molten aluminium oxide) is electolysed in a carbon lined iron box. The box itself is the cathode.


14.4.4 Refining of Impure Metal into Pure Metals

- Electrolytic refining: The process of electrolysis is used to obtain very highly purified metals. It is very widely used to obtain refined copper, zinc, tin, lead, chromium, nickel, silver, and gold metals. In this process, the anode is made as impure slab of metal and cathode as pure thin sheet of same metal and a salt solution of the metal is used as the electrolyte. On passing current, pure metal from the electrolyte is deposited on the cathode. The impure metal dissolves from the anode and goes into the electrolyte. The impurities collect as the anode mud below the anode (Fig. 14.13).
- Liquation process: In this process, the block of impure metal is kept on the sloping floor of a hearth and heated slowly. The pure metal liquefies (melts) and flows down the furnace. The non-volatile impurities are infusible and remain behind (Fig. 14.14).
- Distillation process: In this process, metals with low boiling point, such as zinc, calcium, and mercury are vaporized in a vessel. The pure vapor are condensed into pure metal in a different vessel. The non-volatile impurities are not vaporized and so are left behind.
- Oxidation process: In this process, the impurities are oxidized instead of the metal itself. Air is passed through the molten metal. The impurities like phosphorus, sulfur, silicon, and manganese get oxidized and rise to the surface of the molten metal, which are then removed.

All these methods are effective but result in the generation of toxic chemical sludges and waste products.

Another approach which involves aqueous chemistry for the recovery of pure metals from ores is termed as hydrometallurgy. It is typically divided into three general areas:

- Leaching
- Solution concentration and purification
- Metal recovery



Leaching

Leaching involves the use of aqueous solutions containing a lixiviant is brought into contact with a material containing a valuable metal. The lixiviant in solution may be acidic or basic in nature. In the leaching process, oxidation potential, temperature, and pH of the solution are important parameters, and are often manipulated to optimize dissolution of the desired metal component into the aqueous phase. The three basic leaching techniques are in situ leaching, heap leaching, and vat leaching.

After leaching, the leached solids and pregnant solution are usually separated prior to further processing.

Solution concentration and purification

After leaching, the leach liquor must normally undergo concentration of the metal ions that are to be recovered. Additionally, some undesirable metals may have also been taken into solution during the leach process. The solution is often purified to eliminate the undesirable components. The processes employed for solution concentration and purification include:

- Precipitation
- Cementation
- Solvent Extraction
- Ion Exchange

Metal Recovery

Metal recovery is the final step in a hydrometallurgical process. Metals suitable for sale as raw materials are often directly produced in the metal recovery step. Sometimes, however, further refining is required if ultra-high purity metals are to be produced. The primary types of metal recovery processes are electrolysis, gaseous reduction, and precipitation.

14.5 Development of Metal Specific Chelating Resins to Extract Metal Ions

There are number of ligands capable of binding metal ions through multiple sites, usually because they have lone pairs on more than one atom. Ligands that bind via more than one atom are often termed chelating ligands. The organic moiety that can trap or encapsulate the metal ion, forming coordinate bond through two or more atoms, to form a chelate is known as chelating agent/ligand. So, "chelate" denotes a complex between a metal and a chelating agent. A chelating agent can be chemically anchored on various inorganic polymeric solid supports to form "chelating resin". The ligand/agent attached to chelating resin makes it specific and selective for extraction of a particular metal ion (Fig. 14.15).

Various solid supports that are used for scavenging of metal ion are: Chelamine, Silica gel, Amberlite, XAD, Polyurethane foam, Polyacrylonitrile, and Activated Carbon.

The tremendous amount of biomass which is produced after phytoextraction is rich source of heavy metals drawn from the soil which are otherwise the major environmental concern. This biomass is digested and a particular metal specific chelating resin, which possesses high selectivity to the targeted metal ion in a particular pH- range, is used for separation of metal ion. An assortment of novel metal specific chelating resin has been designed which can be easily recovered and reused several times making the process environmentally benign and green (Table 14.2).

Extraction of metal ions from biomass using specifically designed chelating resin has numerous advantages [26]:

- Selective extraction of metal ions is possible by using a chelating resin having multidentate ligand as it possesses high selectivity to the targeted metal ion.
- The chelating sorbent method is an economical method since it uses only a small amount of resin and is free from difficult phase separation and extraction solvent.
- As the target ion specific chelating agent is enriched on solid phase, even ppb level concentrations can also be extracted.
- The chelating resin can be recycled and reused several times as they can be easily recovered merely by filtration and have high physical and chemical stability.

14.6 Applications of Bioextraction

Biomining of copper. Copper was the first metal extracted by biomining. During the period 1950–1980, as compared to conventional metallurgical techniques, biomining appeared as economically viable and potential technology to recover Cu



Fig. 14.15 Metal specific chelating resin

S.No.	Solid support	Functional group	Metal ions (s)	References
1.	XAD-16	Quercetin	Cr(III), Mn(II), Fe(III), Co(II), Ni(II), Cu(II)	[13]
2.	XAD-16	Gallic acid	Cr(III), Mn(II), Fe(III), Co(II), Ni(II), Cu(II)	[14]
3.	XAD-16	1,5-diphenyhydrazone	Cr(VI)	[15]
4.	XAD-2	Chromotopic acid	Pb(II)	[<mark>16</mark>]
5.	XAD-4	Calixerene Tetrahydroxamate	Cu(II), Mn(II), Zn(II)	[17]
6.	XAD-4	Polydithiocarbamate	Mn(II)	[18]
7.	XAD-7	Picolinic acid amide	Hg(II)	[19]
8.	Polyacrylonitrile	8-Hydroxyquinoline	Cr(III)	[20]
9.	Chelamine	Dithiocarbamate	Hg(II), MeHg	[21]
10.	Naphthalene	Acenaphthenequinone monoxime	Co(II)	[22]
11.	Silica gel	3-hydroxy-2-methyl-1,4- naphthoquinone	Fe(II), Co(II), Cu(II), Zn(II)	[23]
12.	Silica gel	o-vanillin	Cu(II), Co(II), Fe(II), Zn(II)	[24]
13.	Silica gel	Pyrocatechol-violet	Al(III), Fe(III)	[25]

 Table 14.2
 Various organic polymeric supports used for metal ion extraction:

from low grade ore, like copper sulfide. It has been reported that the Lo Aguirre mine in Chile processed about 16,000 t ore per day between 1980 and 1996 using biomining [27].

Fungal leaching of manganese ore. Recovery of Mn from low grade ore of Mn by using pyrometallurgical and hydrometallurgical methods is expensive because of high energy and capital inputs. Besides, it also contributes a lot to environmental pollution. On the other hand biomining of Mn from manganiferous ores using microbial leaching is cost effective as well as environment friendly. It has

been reported that a fungus *Penicillium citrium* can solubilize or extract 64.6% of Mn from the low grade ore [28].

Biomining of gold. Using cyanide method, it is very much difficult to extract gold, when gold is covered with insoluble metal sulfides. Biomining of these sulfide films is the best option to achieve satisfactory gold recovery. Gold extraction plants of Sao Benzo in Brazil, Ashanti in Ghana, Tamboraque in Peru are known to have such biomining facilities. A series of demonstration plants was also commissioned during 2002 in the Hutti Gold Mines in Karnataka [27].

Recovery of chromium from tannery sludge. About 40% of total Cr used in tanning industry end up in the sludge. Cr is non-biodegradable and can easily accumulate in food chain causing serious health effects to human beings. Use of microfungi due to their biochemistry and relatively high immunity to hostile conditions such as pH, temperature etc. provide a better alternative to commercial leaching processes. It has been demonstrated that chromium from tannery sludge can be bioleached up to 99.7% using indigenous acidophilic fungi, *A. thiooxidans* [29]. Another Cr recovery option from tannery waste is to grow potential Cr accumulating fungi in tannery waste and subsequent extraction of Cr from the harvested biomass. In an extensive study on Cr accumulation by fungal biomass, the author identified a fungal strain, *Paeciomyces lilacinus* which can accumulate Cr up to 18.9% of their dry biomass [30].

Bioleaching of economical metals from electronic and galvanic waste. These contain various valuable metals. Microbial process involving both bacteria and fungi, which produce inorganic and inorganic acids, can mobilize these metals from the waste. Metals such as Al, Ni, Pb, and Zn have been reported to be extracted by this process. Microbial leaching has also been found effective to recover Ni and Cd from spent batteries [31].

Phytoextraction of metal. Phytoextraction of metals from low or moderately contaminated soil or waste material is recommended but not an option for highly contaminated soil. In later case, it may take decades or even centuries to reduce the contaminant concentration to an acceptable limit. Instead of using low biomass hyperaccumulator plants, high yielding plants along with addition of chelating agent proved to be better method to phytoextract metal from soil. Uses of different plants in chelant-induced phytoextractiopn are summarized in Table 14.3.

However, often application of chelants can result in residual toxicity in soil on which it is applied. Thus, natural accumulation of metals would be the best option provided application of mycorrhizal fungi, plant growth promoting rhizobacteria and other beneficial microbes in soil that can enhance the efficiency of extraction processes [32]. It has also been reported that plants colonized by the AM fungi not only enhance growth, but also significantly increase Pb uptake in root and higher translocation to the shoot at all given treatments [33]. It has also been seen that three mycorriza inoculated plant glomus species namely *G. lamellosum*, *G. intraradices*, *G. proliferum* and their consortia greatly enhance accumulation of Cr from tannery waste to plants.

Metal	Chelant	Plant species
Pb	EDTA	Cabbage, A. elatius, mungbean, wheat, B. juncea, corn
	HEDTA	Pea, corn
	CDTA	H. annus, Red top, corn
	DTPA	B. juncea
Cd	NTA, citric acid, EGTA, EDTA, CDTA	B. juncea
U	Citric acid, malic acid, acetic acid	B. juncea
	Citric acid	H. annus
Мо	Citric acid	B. juncea, H. annus
As	Citric acid	B. juncea, H. annus

Table 14.3 Different chelants and plants used in phytroextraction of metal [5]

14.7 Economization of Bioextraction

For cost effective phyto-extraction, it is essential to create stabilizing plants which produce high levels of root and shoot biomass, high tolerance and resistance for heavy metals. This can be done by mycorrhizal association.

Mycorrhizal association: It is a symbiotic association between a fungus and the roots of a plant. The fungus colonizes the host plants' roots, either intracellularly or extracellularly. This mutualistic association provides the fungus with relatively constant and direct access to carbohydrates, such as glucose and sucrose supplied by the plant. The carbohydrates are translocated from their source (usually leaves) to root tissue and on to fungal partners. In return, the plant gains the benefits of the mycelium's higher absorptive capacity for water and mineral nutrients (due to comparatively large surface area of mycelium: root ratio), thus improving the plant's mineral absorption capabilities. These fungi have a protective role for plants rooted in soils with high metal concentrations. The trees inoculated with fungi displayed high tolerance to the prevailing contaminant, survivorship and growth in several contaminated sites. This was probably due to binding of the metal to the extramatricial mycelium of the fungus, without affecting the exchange of beneficial substances.

So, Mycorrhizal Association enhances plant growth on severely disturbed sites, including those contaminated with heavy metals and plays an important role in metal tolerance and accumulation [34, 35].

14.8 Flow Diagram to Summarize the Chapter and the Process of Bioextraction



14.9 Conclusion

Bioextraction has been identified as a potential technology for effective extraction and removal of metals in metal overburdened sites, hence relieving the environmentally stressed ecosystem. Integration of bioextraction and solid phase extraction methodology helps to recover the heavy metal back by encapsulating precious metals from biomass using metal selective chelating resin, making this approach greener and constructive for mankind. The chapter presents the simplistic understanding of this environmentally benign alternative approach.

References

- 1. Technology fact sheet; peconic river remedial alternatives; Phytoextraction. Brookheaven National Laboratory. http://www.bnl.gov/erd/Peconic/Factsheet/Phytoextract.pdf
- 2. Zhuang P, Yang QW, Wang HB, Shu WS (2007) Phytoextraction of heavy metals by eight plant species in the field. Water Air Soil Pollut 184:235–242
- 3. Smits EAHP, Freeman JL (2006) Environmental cleanup using plants: biotechnological advances and ecological considerations. Front Ecol Environ 4(4):203–210
- Nascimento CWAD, Xing B (2006) Phytoextraction: a review on enhanced metal availability and plant accumulation. Sci Agric (Piracicaba, Braz.) 63(3):299–311
- 5. Mahmood T (2010) Phytoextraction of heavy metals—the process and scope for remediation of contaminated soils. Soil Environ 29(2):91–109
- 6. Song J, Luo YM, Wu LH (2005) Biogeochemistry of chelating agents. In: Nowack B, VanBriesen JM(ed) Chelate-enhanced phytoremediation of heavy metal contaminated soil, American Chemical Society, Washington DC
- Hoque ME, Philip OJ (2011) Biotechnological recovery of heavy metals from secondary sources—an overview. Mater Sci Eng C 31(2):57–66
- 8. Brierley CL (2008) Biomining: extracting metals with microorganisms. Brierley Consultancy LLC
- 9. Swamy KM, Narayana KL, Misra VN (2005) Bioleaching with ultrasound. Ultrason Sonochem 12:301–306
- 10. Joubert TM (2008) Towards a genetic system for the genus: Sulfobacillus. Dissertation, University of Stellenbosch
- Kisielowska E, Kasińska-Pilut E (2005) Copper bioleaching from after-flotation waste using microfungi. Acta Montan Slovaca Ročník 10, číslo 1:156–160
- 12. Ghorbani Y, Oliazadeh M, Shahvedi A, Roohi R, Pirayehgar A (2007) Use of some isolated fungi in biological leaching of aluminum from low grade bauxite. Afr J Biotechnol 6(11):1284–1288
- Sharma RK, Pant P (2009) Solid phase extraction and determination of metal ions in aqueous samples using quercetin modified Amberlite XAD-16 chelating polymer as metal extractant. Int J Environ Anal Chem 89(7):503–514
- 14. Sharma RK, Pant P (2009) Preconcentration and determination of trace metal ions from aqueous samples by newly developed gallic acid modified Amberlite XAD-16 chelating resin. J Hazard Mater 163(1):295–301
- Tucker AR (2002) Speciation of Cr(III) and Cr(VI) in water after preconcentration of its 1,5diphenylcarbazone complex on amberlite XAD-16 resin and determination by FAAS. Talanta 57:1199–1204

- Tewari PK, Singh AK (2002) Preconcentration of lead with Amberlite XAD-2 and Amberlite XAD-7 based chelating resins for its determination by flame atomic absorption spectrometry. Talanta 56:735–744
- Hutchinson S, Kearney GA, Horne E, Lynch B, Glennon JD, McKervey MA, Harris SJ (1994) Solid phase extraction of metal ions using immobilised chelating calixarene tetrahydroxamates. Anal Chim Acta 291:269–275
- Bkjrrijn MCY, Dopazo MCG, Barrera AB, Barrer MPB (1992) Preconcentration of trace amouts of manganese from natural waters by means of a macroreticular poly (dithiocarbamate) resin. Talanta 39(6):671–674
- 19. Sengupta B, Das J (1989) Preconcentration of trace amounts of mercury(II) in water on picolinic acid amide-containing resin. Anal Chim Acta 219:339–343
- Wen B, Shan XQ, Lian J (2002) Separation of Cr(III) and Cr(VI) in river and reservoir water with 8-hydroxyquinoline immobilized polyacrylonitrile fiber for determination by inductively coupled plasma mass spectrometry. Talanta 56:681–687
- 21. Minagawa K, Takizawa Y, Kifune I (1980) Determination of very low levels of inorganic and organic mercury in natural waters by cold vapor atomic absorption spectrometry after preconcentration on a chelating resin. Anal Chim Acta 115:103–110
- 22. Sharma RK (1995) Column chromatographic preconcentration and separation of cobalt in a vitamin, an alloy and an ore using chelating resin containing acenaphthenequinone monoxime supported over naphthalene. Anal 120(8):2203–2205
- Garg BS, Bist JS, Sharma RK, Bhojak N (1996) Solid-phase extraction of metal ions and their estimation in vitamins, steel and milk using 3-hydroxy-2-methyl-1,4-naphthoquinoneimmobilized silica gel. Talanta 43:2093–2099
- 24. Garg BS, Sharma RK, Bist JS, Bhojak N, Mittal S (1999) Separation and preconcentration of metal ions and their estimation in vitamin, steel and milk samples using o-vanillinimmobilized silica gel. Talanta 48(1):49–55
- 25. Sharma RK, Dhingra S (2011) Fuctionalized silica gel as metal scavenger, sensor and catalyst. LAP Lambert Academic Publishing GmbH & Co, Germany
- Garg BS, Sharma RK, Bhojak N, Mittal S (1999) Chelating resin and their applications in the analysis of trace metal ions. Microchem J 61:94–114
- Acevedo F (2002) Present and future of bioleaching in developing countries. Electron J Biotechnol 5(2):196–199
- Acharya C, Kar RN, Sukla LB, Misra VN (2004) Fungal leaching of manganese ore. Trans Indian Inst Met 57(5):501–508
- 29. Wang YS, Pan ZY, Lang J M, Xu JM, Zheng YG (2007) Bioleaching of chromium from tannery sludge by indigenous Acidithiobacillus thiooxidants. J Hazard Mater 147, 1-2(17):319-324
- 30. Sharma S, Adholeya A (2011) Detoxification and accumulation of chromium from tannery effluent and spent chrome effluent by *Paecilomyces lilacinus* fungi. Int Biodeterior Biodegrad 65:309–317
- Mishra D, Kim DJ, Ahn JG, Lee JC (2004) Bacterial leaching of metals from sulfide minerals and industrial wastes. KIGAM Bulletin 9(1):48–57
- 32. Vivas A, Vörös A, Biró B, Barea JM, Ruiz-Lozano JM, Azcón R (2003) Beneficial effects of indigenous Cd-tolerant and Cd-sensitive Glomus mosseae associated with a Cd-adapted strain of *Brevibacillus* sp. in improving plant tolerance to Cd contamination. Appl Soil Ecol 24(2):177–186
- Punamiya P, Datta R, Sarkar D, Barber S, Patel M, Das P (2010) Symbiotic role of Glomus mosseae in phytoextraction of lead in vetiver grass [*Chrysopogon zizanioides* (L.)]. J Hazard Mater 177:465–474
- 34. Gaur A, Adholeya A (2004) Prospects of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi in phytoremediation of heavy metal contaminated soils. Curr Sci 86(4):528–534
- 35. Adholeya A, Sharma RK (2010) Patent: CBR 4171 1146/del/2010

About the Editors

Dr. Chinnappan Baskar is an Associate Professor of Chemistry and Academic In-charge, THDC Institute of Hydropower Engineering and Technology, Uttarakhand Technical University, Dehradun, India. He has received his M.Sc. Chemistry from the Indian Institute of Technology Madras and PhD in Organic and Materials Chemistry from the Department of Chemistry, National University of Singapore (NUS), Singapore under the direction of Prof. Suresh Valiyaveettil. He has joined the faculty in the Department of Chemistry, Lovely Professional University (LPU) as a Reader then promoted to Head of the Department (2006-2009). He moved to the Department of Environmental Engineering and Biotechnology, Myongji University, South Korea in September 2009 as a Brain Korean 21 (BK21) Research Professor and co-researcher in Energy and Environmental Fusion Technology Center, Myongji University. He has worked as Director (Academic Affairs), Dev Bhoomi Group of Institutions, Dehradun, Uttarakhand. Dr. Baskar research interests include synthetic organic chemistry. conducting polymers, green chemistry, production of biofuels and fine chemicals from biomass, ionic liquids, and membrane science separation. He has published several research papers in reputed international journals and conference proceedings. He was invited to attend and deliver lectures/seminars in international and national conferences & workshops. He serves on the Editorial Advisory Board member and referee for many international chemistry, materials science, biotechnology and energy journals.

Dr. Shikha Baskar obtained her PhD in Organic Chemistry from the Department of Biochemistry and Chemistry, Punjab Agricultural University, Ludhiana, Punjab, India under the guidance of Prof. Ranjit S. Dhillon and received postdoctoral training at Myongji University. She has joined as Sr. Lecturer/Assistant Professor and Head of Laboratory in the Department of Chemistry, Lovely Professional University, Phagwara, Punjab. She is currently Visiting Faculty of Chemistry at THDC Institute of Hydropower Engineering and Technology, Tehri, Uttarakhand. Her current research interests are in the areas of synthetic organic chemistry, green chemistry, ionic liquids, and production of biofuels. She has authored few peer-reviewed journal articles and attended many national and international conferences and workshop.

Dr. Ranjit S. Dhillon is a retired Professor of Organic Chemistry at the Punjab Agricultural University (PAU), Ludhiana, Punjab, India. He received his PhD from PAU under the direction of Prof. P. S. Kalsi. He spent three years as a Post-doctoral Fellow with Nobel Laureate Prof. Akira Suzuki at Hokkaido University, Sapporo, Japan. Dr. Dhillon has supervised 12 PhD students and 20 M.Sc. students in the areas of chemoselective green methodologies, natural products and their bioactive studies, and synthesis of eco-friendly Agrochemicals. His research work mainly "versatile boranes and borohydrides" carried out at PAU was cited by Nobel Laureate Late Prof. Herbert C. Brown in his research articles and many other eminent scientists. Professor Dhillon has published over 60 peer-reviewed papers and one book chapter. He is the author of Hydroboration and Organic Synthesis (Springer-Verlag Heidelberg, 2007).

Index

A

ABE fermentation, 222 Acid hydrolysis, 152, 294, 295 Acidogenesis, 228 Aerobic fermentation, 39 Agricultural residue-based biorefinery, 60 Alaskan birch, 423, 425-427 Alcoholic fermentation, 43 Algal biomass, 53 Algae diesel, 260 Alkali hydrolysis, 296 Alkali metal, 190 Alkaline medium, 393, 394, 399-401, 402, 405.407 Ambient temperature bacteria, 444 Ammonia pretreatment, 153-154 Anaerobic digestion, 40, 109 Antioxidant, 353 Apple pomace, 256, 257, 287-289 Applications of bioextraction, 451 Aquaculture-based biorefinery, 70

B

Banana waste, 258, 290, 291 Barley, 292 Biobutanol, 222 Bio-char, 423, 425–427 Biochemical conversion processes, 38 Biodiesel, 119, 200 Bioenergy, 123 Bioethanol, 200, 237–239, 246–248, 251 Bioethanol production, 237 Bioethanol refinery, 300 Bioextraction, 436 Biohydrogen, 314, 320, 323, 326, 331–333 Biofuels, 4, 5 Bioleaching, 441 Bio-oil, 422-424, 427-431 Biomass, 2, 123, 421, 423 Biomass applications, 173 Biomass and electricity generation, 79 Biomass conversion, 187, 188 Biomass conversion methods, 6, 7 Biomass conversion processes, 95 Biomass dissolution, 147 Biomass energy, 91 Biomass feedstock, 239 Biomass liquefaction, 423 Biomass production techniques, 94 Biomass solubility, 146 Biomass of plants, 237 Biomining, 441 Biorefinerv. 56 Biorefinery based on agriculture sector feedstock, 59 Biorefinery feedstock, 58 Biorefinery platform, 78, 80 Biorefinery products, 57 Biostil fermentation, 285 Biotechnological approaches, 245-247 Bleaching, 349, 351, 360, 361, 369 Briquetting, 104

С

Candida lusitance, 262 Candida pseudotropicalis, 261 Candida shehatae, 261 Carbonization, 99 Carbohydrates, 263, 264, 342, 346, 347, 351, 358, 369, 370 Cassava roots, 293 Catalytic pyrolysis, 192 C (cont.) Catalytic liquefaction, 101 Catalyst, 188, 388, 394-399, 405, 406 Cellulase deactivation, 165, 205, 211 Cellulase stabilization, 167-170 Cellulose, 268, 341, 345, 347, 349-352, 356, 358, 360, 361, 365, 367, 369, 370 Cellulose crystallinity, 160-161 Cellulosic ethanol, 237, 238, 246, 247 Cheese whey, 259, 292 Chelating agent, 451 Chelating ligand, 451 Chelating resin, 451 Chemical separation, 447 Chemical structure of lignin, 382, 385 Chemically induced/assisted phytoextraction, 439 Clostridium, 314, 317, 318, 320, 321, 331 Clostridium acetobutylicum, 222 Clostridium cellulolyticum, 262 Clostridium cellulovorans, 262 Clostridium thermosaccharolyticum, 262 Co-Firing, 96 Coenzyme-A-dependent fermentative pathways, 272 Coffee waste, 259 Combustion, 187 Combustion forms, 11 Combustion process, 11 Combustion systems, 13 Commercial gasifiers, 37 Compaction characteristics, 107 Comparison, biorefinery and petroleum refinery, 75, 79 Composites, 352, 353, 360, 363 Composite fibers, 174, 176 Continuous fermentation, 284 Continuous lignin oxidation, 407 Conversion, 383, 390-392, 394, 406, 407 Conventional batch fermentation, 283 Coppicing, 94 Crabtree effect, 280 Cracking, 201, 214

D

Dark fermentation, 313–315, 317–321, 327, 330–332 Decarbonylation, 209 Delignification, 346, 351, 367, 369 Deoxygenation, 199, 209 Direct bioleaching, 442 Direct combustion, 8 Direct Combustion Processes, 96 Distillation process, 449 Dissolving pulp, 360, 361 Dolomite, 189 Downstream processing in gasification, 36 Dump bioleaching, 443

Е

Effect of anion on dissolution of biomass, 149 Energy Plantation, 93 Enhancement of biomass, 239 Enzymatic hydrolysis, 296, 297, 347, 350, 351 Electrolytic reduction, 448 Electrolytic refining, 449 Ethanol, 251, 343 Ethanol Fermentation, 117 *Escherichia coli*, 262, 276 *Eucalyptus*, 386–388, 381 Extremely-thermophilic bacteria, 445

F

Facultative anaerobes, 318 Fatty acid, 199 Fatty acid biosynthesis pathway, 275 Fed-batch fermentation, 285 Feedstock for biochemical conversion processes, 38 Fermentation, 279, 347, 360, 361 Fermentation inhibitors, 52 Fine chemicals, 388, 390 First-Generation Technologies, 120 Fischer–Tropsch, 189 Forest biorefinery, 65 Fourier transform infra-red spectroscopy (FTIR), 424-427 Fractionation, 341, 342 Froth floatation, 447 Functional genomics, 244 Furfural, 347, 348, 354, 358, 359 Fusarium oxysporum, 260

G

Gas chromatography-mass spectrometry (GC-MS), 424, 427–429 Gas stripping, 230 Gasification, 25, 100, 190 Gasification reactions, 27, 28 Gasifier designs, 30 Gasifiers Types, 102 Index

Counter Current, 102 Updraught, 102 Co-Current, 102 Downdraught, 102 Cross-Draught, 103 Fluidized Bed, 103 Gasohol, 252 Genetic modification, 243–247 Genetically modified microorganisms, 275 Glucose, 264, 347, 350, 352, 358, 368, 369 Glycolysis, 317 Guaiacyl lignin, 145–147

H

Hardwood, 381–389, 393, 394, 399, 400, 402, 404, 405 Heap bioleaching, 443 Heap minerals biooxidation, 445 Hemicellulose, 270, 271, 347–349, 361 Hydrodeoxygenation, 200, 201 Hydrogen bonding, 161 Hydrogenase, 314, 315, 317, 324, 325 Hydrolysis, 343, 346–348, 350, 351, 353, 355, 358, 361, 364, 368, 369 *p*-hydroxybenzaldehyde, 398, 400, 406 High biomass plants, 438 Hydraulic washing, 447 Hyper-accumulator plants, 438

I

Indirect bioleaching, 442 Infrared spectroscopy, 157 Integrated biorefinery, 74 Integrated process, 387, 411, 412 Ion exchange process, 408–410 Ionic liquids, 124, 130, 132, 145–177 Ionic liquid biodegradability, 173 Ionic liquid impurities, 156 Ionic liquid recycling, 171 Ionic liquid toxicity, 165 Ionic liquid viscosity, 151 Imadazolium based ionic liquids, 147, 148 Isoprenoid pathway, 275

K

Keto acid pathways, 274 Kinetic, 394, 398, 402–404 Kloeckera oxytoca, 277 Kraft liquor, 384, 395

L

Lactose, 265 Leaching, 451 Levulinic acid, 347, 354, 355 Lignin, 343, 352, 355, 362, 381–412, 424–427 Lignin models, 159 Lithium catalysts, 153 Lignocellulose, 123, 130 Lignocellulosic biomass, 66–68 Lignocellulosic materials, 223 Lignosulfonate, 385–389, 391, 392, 398, 400, 403, 405, 409 Liquation process, 449 Lopping, 95

М

Magnetic separation, 447 Market, 390, 392 Mass spectrometry, 158 Methanol, 364 Melting point of ionic liquid, 149 Metabolic engineering, 272 Metal recovery, 450 Microbes, 444 Microwave heating, 154 Minerals biooxidation, 443 Mixed cultures, 318–322 Methane Production in Landfills, 116 Mesophilic, 113 Moderately-thermophilic bacteria, 447 Monosaccharides, 347 Monosugars, 130, 132 Mutants, 240, 242-244 Mycorrhizal association, 454

N

Nanocatalyst, 194 Natural phytoextraction, 438 Nickel, 190 Nitrogenase, 324–327 Non-grain biomass, 238 Nuclear magnetic resonance, 158

0

Oilseed biorefinery, 62 Olivine, 189 Optical absorption spectroscopy, 157, 158 Orange peel waste, 258, 291 Organosolv, 386, 388, 389, 391, 398, 399 O (*cont.*) Oxygen, 394, 395, 399, 401–403, 405–408, 410 Oxidation, 392–395, 399–411 Oxidation process, 449

Р

Pachysolen tannophilus, 260–262 Palladium catalyst, 207 Petroleum refinery platform, 78, 81 Photofermentation, 313, 314, 324-328, 330-333 Phytoextraction, 437 Pichia stiptis, 277 Pinch technology, 359 Pineapple waste, 258 Piston Press, 104 Plant architecture, 239, 241-243 Pollarding, 95 Populus trichocarpa, 146 Pore size, 193 Potato peel waste, 258, 291 Precipitation, 348, 353, 358 Pretreatment, 123, 126, 130, 145, 347, 360, 361, 364, 369 Profiles of phenolic products, 399 Pruning, 95 Pulping, 342 Pulp and paper industry, 392 Purified cellulose, 159 Pyrolysis, 17, 97, 191 Pyrolysis processes, 20 Phytohormonesignaling intermediates, 240

R

Raman spectroscopy, 157, 158, 176 Reactor configuration, 321, 323, 329, 330, 332 Reduction, 450 Reducing sugars, 150 Reinforcement, 352, 360, 364 Resins, 352, 362, 367 Resistant cellulases, 166 Rice husk, 292 Rice straw, 256, 291

S

Saccharomyces cerevisae, 260, 261, 278, 288 Saccharomyces ellipsoideus, 261 Schizosaccharomyces pombe, 260 Screw Press, 105 Second-Generation Technologies, 120 Selectivity, 398, 399, 409 Simulation, 348, 359, 367 Sitka spruce, 423, 425 Stirred-tank bioleaching, 443 Softwood, 381, 382, 384-386, 388, 389, 393, 394, 398, 399 Solid support, 451 Solvent polarity, 163-164 Solventogenesis, 227 Spent sulfite liquor, 259 Starch. 267 Stearic acid, 209 Straw, 238, 245, 247 Strict anaerobes, 317 Structure, 343, 355 Structured packed bubble column reactor, 397, 406-408 Sucrose, 265 Sugar molasses, 286 Sugarcane Bagasse, 255, 256 Sulfided catalyst, 202 Sulfite Liquor, 392, 398, 410 Supercritical extraction, 408, 411 Supercritical methanol, 422, 423, 430, 431 Switchgrass and Miscanthus, 238, 239, 244, 245 Syringyl lignin, 145-147 Syngas, 263 Synthesis gas, 188 Synthetic chelates, 439 Syringaldehyde, 381, 393, 394, 398, 399, 400, 402, 406, 408, 409

Т

Tall oil fatty acid, 212 Technology of bioethanol production, 286 Temperature effects in dissolution, 150 Thermal pretreatment, 299 *Thermoanaerobacter ethanolicus*, 262 Thermochemical processes, 7, 97, 390, 391 Thermophilic, 113 Thinning, 95 Torrefaction, 98 *Torula cremoris*, 261 Trichoderma reesei, 150 Two-stage conversion, 313

U

Ultra-filtration, 348, 350, 353, 387, 410–412 Ultrasound pretreatment, 154 Unit Operations, 109 Index

V

Vanadium catalysts, 153 Vanillin, 381, 387, 388, 390–394, 398–410

W

Water adsorption in ionic liquid pretreatment, 155 Waste biorefinery, 70 Wheat straw, 254, 291 Wet oxidation, 300 Whole crop biorefinery, 61 Wood Chemistry, 128 Wood density, 151 Wood swelling, 160 X

Xylan, 358, 360 Xylose, 347, 358, 361

Y

Yield, 389, 393-395, 399-408, 410

Ζ

Zymomonas mobilis, 260-262, 276, 286